
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 

City of Port Orchard Council Meeting Agenda 
June 13, 2023 

 6:30 p.m. 
 

Pursuant to the Open Public Meetings Act, the City Council is conducting its public 
meeting in the Council Chambers at City Hall. Members of the public may view and 
provide public comment during the meeting in person at City Hall, via the online 
platform zoom (link below), or via telephone (number below). The public may also view 
the meeting live on the City’s YouTube channel. 
 

Remote access 
Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85371160506 

Zoom Meeting ID: 85371160506 
Zoom Call-In: 1 253 215 8782 

 
Guiding Principles 

• Are we raising the bar? 
• Are we honoring the past, but not living in the past? 
• Are we building connections with outside partners? 
• Is the decision-making process positively impacting diversity, equity, and 

inclusion? 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
3. CITIZENS COMMENTS  
(Please limit your comments to 3 minutes for items listed on the Agenda and that are not for a 
Public Hearing. Please keep your comments respectful and no personal attacks. This is a 
comment period and not a question-and-answer session. When recognized by the Mayor, please 
state your name for the official record. If you are attending remotely via telephone, enter *9 
from your keypad to raise your hand.  
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA 
(Approval of Consent Agenda passes all routine items listed below, which have been distributed 
to each Councilmember for reading and study. Consent Agenda items are not considered 
separately unless a Councilmember so requests. In the event of such a request, the item is 
returned to Business Items.) 

A. Approval of Vouchers and Electronic Payments 
B. Approval of Payroll and Direct Deposits 
C. Adoption of an Ordinance Delaying the Effective Date of Ordinance No. 

013-23 Due to Action Taken by the State Building Code Council to Delay 
the Effective Date for the 2021 Codes (Bond) Page 4 

D. Adoption of a Resolution Adopting Personnel Policies Related to Military 
Family Leave and the Washington Family Care Act (Lund) Page 7 

E. Adoption of a Resolution Declaring Certain Personal Property as Surplus 
and Authoring its Disposition Thereof (Wallace) Page 12 

F. Adoption of an Ordinance Amending Port Orchard Municipal Code 
Chapter 2.20 Planning Commission (Bond) Page 14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Mayor: 
Rob Putaansuu 
Administrative Official 
 

Councilmembers: 
Mark Trenary (Mayor Pro-Tempore) 
E/D & Tourism Committee, Chair   
Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee 
Transportation Committee 
KRCC-alt 

 
 

Shawn Cucciardi  
Finance Committee 
E/D & Tourism Committee 
Lodging Tax, Chair  

 

Fred Chang 
Economic Development & Tourism Committee 
Land Use Committee 
Transportation Committee 
 

Jay Rosapepe  
Finance Committee,  
Land Use Committee 
KRCC, PSRC-alt, PSRC Transpol-alt, KRCC Transpol-
alt, KRCC Planpol-alt,  
 

John Clauson 
Finance Committee, Chair 
Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee 
Kitsap Public Health District-alt 

 

Cindy Lucarelli  
Festival of Chimes & Lights Committee, Chair 
Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee, Chair 
Kitsap Economic Development Alliance 

 

Scott Diener 
Land Use Committee, Chair 
Transportation Committee 

 

Department Directors: 
Nicholas Bond, AICP  
Development Director 

 

Tony Lang 
Public Works Director 
 

Tim Drury 
Municipal Court Judge 
 

Noah Crocker, M.B.A.  
Finance Director 
 

Matt Brown 
Police Chief 

 

Brandy Wallace, MMC, CPRO  
City Clerk 

 
 

Meeting Location: 
Council Chambers, 3rd Floor 
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 
 
 

Contact us: 
(360) 876-4407 
cityhall@portorchardwa.gov 
 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85371160506


Please turn off cell phones during meeting and hold your questions for staff until the meeting has been adjourned. 
The Council may consider other ordinances and matters not listed on the Agenda, unless specific notification period is required. 

June 13, 2023, Meeting Agenda      Page 2 of 3 

G. Adoption of a Resolution, Approving Amendment No. 4 to Contract No. 024-15 with Waste
Management of Washington Inc. for Solid Waste Disposal Services (Lang) Page 22

H. Approval of Amendment No. 3 to Contract No. 036-20 with Krazan & Associates, Inc. for On-Call
Professional Materials Testing, Inspection, and Geotechnical Services (Lang) Page 34

I. Adoption of a Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to Execute a Nonexclusive Perpetual Easement with
Puget Sound Energy for the East Fifteen (15) feet of a City-Owned Property, Kitsap County Tax Parcel
No. 4625-000-003-0103 (Lang) Page 54

J. Adoption of a Resolution Approving the Purchase of a Towmaster Trailer for the Equipment Rental
Revolving Fund 500 (Lang) Page 60

K. Adoption of a Resolution Authorizing an Interlocal Agreement with Kitsap County Fire Marshal for
Fireworks Display Permitting and Inspection Services (Archer) Page 71

L. Approval of a Change Order No. 4 to Contract No. 125-22 with KR Homes, LLC for the Sroufe Water
Main Replacement Project (Lang) Page 80

M. Excusal of Councilmember Diener due to a Personal Obligation

5. PRESENTATION
A. Citizen Award (Chief Brown)
B. Proposed Kitsap Bank Headquarters Building Located at 625 Bay Street (Bond) Page 121
C. South Kitsap Fire and Rescue Services and Levy (Chief Faucett) Page 122

6. PUBLIC HEARING
A. An Ordinance Authorizing the Mayor to Execute a Development Agreement with Kitsap Bank for a New

Headquarters Building in Downtown Port Orchard (Bond) Page 124

7. BUSINESS ITEMS
A. Adoption of an Ordinance Authorizing the Mayor to Execute a Development Agreement with Kitsap

Bank for Development Agreement (Bond) Page 126
B. Adopt of a Resolution Accepting a Housing Action Plan (Bond) Page 202
C. Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Contract with Lincoln Construction, Inc. for the City Hall

Renovations Project (Lang) Page 586
D. Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Contract with KCI Technologies, Inc. for Asset Management

Program Development and On-Call Consulting Support (Lang) Page 625
E. Adoption of a Resolution Authoring the Mayor to Sign a Sublease Agreement with the Port of

Bremerton for the Marina Pump Station (Lang) Page 660
F. Approval of Amendment No. 11 to Contract No. 066-20 with Rice Fergus Miller, Inc. for the Community

Event Center Project (Bond) Page 729
G. Approval of Amendment No. 4 to Contract No. 053-19 with Robinson Noble, Inc. for the 2019-2020

ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project Services (Lang) Page 736

8. DISCUSSION ITEMS (No Action to be Taken)

9. REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES

10. REPORT OF MAYOR

11. REPORT OF DEPARTMENT HEADS

12. CITIZEN COMMENTS



Please turn off cell phones during meeting and hold your questions for staff until the meeting has been adjourned. 
The Council may consider other ordinances and matters not listed on the Agenda, unless specific notification period is required. 

June 13, 2023, Meeting Agenda      Page 3 of 3 

(Please limit your comments to 3 minutes for any items not up for Public Hearing. When recognized by the Mayor, please state 
your name for the official record. If you are attending remotely via telephone, enter *9 from your keypad to raise your hand.) 

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110, the City Council may hold an executive session. The topic(s) and the
session duration will be announced prior to the executive session.

14. CITY COUNCIL GOOD OF THE ORDER

15. ADJOURNMENT

COMMITTEE MEETINGS Date & Time Location 

Economic Development and 
Tourism  

June 19, 2023: 9:30am Remote Access 

Utilities  June 13, 2023; 5:00pm Remote Access 

Finance June 14, 2023; 5:00pm Remote Access 

Transportation TBD, 2023; 4:30pm Remote Access 

Festival of Chimes & Lights June 26, 2023; 3:30pm Remote Access 

Land Use  June 21, 2023; 4:30pm Remote Access 

Lodging Tax Advisory  TBD, 2023 Remote Access 

Sewer Advisory  TBD, 2023; 5:00pm Remote Access* 

Outside Agency Committees Varies Varies 

*South Kitsap Reclamation Facility, 1165 Beach Drive Port Orchard



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029

Agenda Staff Report 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4C Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: An Ordinance Delaying the Effective Date Prepared by: Nicholas Bond, AICP 

of Ordinance 013-23 Due to Action Taken DCD Director 
by the State Building Code Council to Delay     Atty Routing No.:  
the Effective Date for the 2021 Codes Atty Review Date: 5/26/2023 

Summary:  Pursuant to guidance from the Washington State Building Code Council, on May 23rd, 2023, the 
City of Port Orchard approved Ordinance 013-23 adopting the 2023 Washington State Building codes.  On 
May 24th, the Washington State Building Code Council unexpectedly voted to delay the effective date of the 
new building codes from July 1, 2023 until October 29, 2023.  As such, City staff has prepared an ordinance to 
delay the effective date of the new codes as recently approved. 

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: N/A 

Recommendation: City staff recommends approval of an ordinance delaying the effective date of Ordinance 
013-23 as presented.

Motion for consideration: “I move to approve an ordinance delaying the effective date of Ordinance 013-
23 as presented.” 

Fiscal Impact: None foreseen.   

Alternatives: Do not approve the contract as presented. 

Attachments: Ordinance, Ordinance 013-23 

Page 4 of 779



 
 

               
     

ORDINANCE NO. ______-23 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, 
AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 013-23, AMENDING CHAPTER 20.200, CITY 
CONSTRUCTION CODE, OF THE PORT ORCHARD MUNICIPAL CODE TO 
CONFORM WITH UPDATES TO THE STATE BUILDING CODE UNDER 
CHAPTER 19.27 OF THE REVISED CODE OF WASHINGTON AND THE REVISED 
WASHINGTON STATE BUILDING CODE ACT; ADOPTING THE CURRENT 
STATE BUILDING CODES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND 
CORRECTIONS; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.   
  

 WHEREAS, the Washington State Building Code Council (Code Council) periodically 
recommends and adopts uniform codes of statewide applicability, collectively referred to as the 
State Building Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Washington state legislature has updated Chapter 19.27 of the Revised 
Code of Washington (RCW), the Washington State Building Code Act, to adopt the 2021 
versions of the State Building Code; and  

 
WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 013-23, the City of Port Orchard adopted by reference the 

State Building Codes as required by state law, to locally enforce said rules for the health, safety, 
and welfare of the public, with an effective date of July 1, 2023, consistent with state direction 
at the time of adoption; and  

 
WHEREAS, since the adoption of Ordinance No. 013-23, the State Building Code Council 

exercised its delegated authority to delay the implementation of the State Building Code by 120 
days, until October 29, 2023; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to amend Ordinance No. 013-23 to extend the 

effective date concurrent with the action by the State Building Code Council; and 
 

WHEREAS, the SEPA Responsible Official for the City determined that adoption of this 
ordinance is categorically exempt from environmental review as a procedural action under 
WAC 197-11-800(20); now therefore 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 

Page 5 of 779



Ordinance No. _____-23 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 SECTION 1.  Amendment. Section 5 of Ordinance No. 013-23 is hereby amended to read as 
follows:  
 

This ordinance shall be in full force five days after posting and publication, provided 
following publication the amendments to the POMC set forth herein shall be effective 
October 29, 2023.  
 
SECTION 2. Severability. If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance should 

be held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity of constitutionality of any other section, sentence, 
clause or phrase of this ordinance. 

 
SECTION 3. Corrections. Upon approval of the city attorney, the city clerk and the 

codifiers of this ordinance are authorized to make necessary technical corrections to this 
ordinance, including, without limitation, the correction of clerical errors; references to other 
local, state, or federal laws, codes, rules, or regulations; or section/subsection numbering. 

 
SECTION 4. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force five days after posting 

and publication. A summary of this ordinance may be published in lieu of publishing the 
ordinance in its entirety. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, Washington at its regular meeting 

on the 13th of June 2023, and approved by the Mayor and attested by the Clerk in authentication 
of such passage this date here. 
 

          
        ____________________________ 

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
    ______  
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY:   Sponsored by:   
 
 
   ____________   ____________________________  
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney   Jay Rosapepe, Council Member   

Page 6 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4D Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Adopting Prepared by: Debbie Lund 

 Personnel Policies Related to Military Family  HR Director 
 Leave and the Washington Family Care Act     Atty Routing No.: 366922-0008 
  Atty Review Date: 05/22/2023 

 
Summary: Human Resources continues to review existing City personnel policies and, when 
appropriate, make recommendations for revisions and adoption of new policies. In a review of 
authorized uses of leave, staff determined that—although City practices comply with all applicable laws, 
two state laws were not reflected in the personnel policies. Staff recommends modification to the 
policies to identify these leaves for both employees and managers so that  all leave situations are 
outlined in the personnel policies to aid their navigation of what can be a complex web of intersecting 
laws and options for the employee to consider.  
 
As such, staff is requesting to add references to additional leaves provided by state law to the personnel 
policies. The first has to do with Military Family leave for situations in which an employee’s family 
member is called to active duty or deployed. The other relates to an employee’s right to use available 
paid leave for reasons covered by the Washington Family Care Act.   
 
These proposed policies were shared with City staff and representatives of our bargaining units in May 
for review and comment.  
 
Recommendation: In support of the Council’s guiding principal to “positively impact diversity, equity 
and inclusion,” staff recommends that the City Council adopt the attached resolution establishing 
personnel policies reiterating the City’s support for employees with military family members and family 
members needing assistance with medical conditions.   
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: N/A 
 
Motion for consideration: “I move to adopt a Resolution, establishing new City personnel policies 
related to Military Family Leave and the Washington Family Care Act.” 
 
Fiscal Impact: n/a 
 
Alternatives: Do not approve the Resolution and provide alternative guidance. 
 
Attachments:  Resolution and Exhibit A 

Page 7 of 779



RESOLUTION NO.  ______ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, 
ADOPTING PERSONNEL POLICIES RELATED TO MILITARY FAMILY LEAVE 
AND FAMILY CARE LEAVE UNDER WASHINGTON LAWS. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Human Resources Department continues to review and, where appropriate, 
recommend modifications and additions to personnel policies; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 49.77 RCW provides for eligible employees to take limited unpaid leave 
in the event a qualified family member is called to active duty or deployed; and 
  
 WHEREAS, RCW 49.12-265-.295 provides for eligible employees to take accrued paid leave 
benefits to care for qualified family members experiencing certain medical situations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City wishes to address all types of potential employee leaves into the City’s 
personnel policies; now, therefore; 
 
  THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above are 
hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 
 
THAT: Personnel policies related to Military Family Leave and the Washington Family Care 
Act are hereby adopted in substantially the same form as attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
The Mayor is directed to incorporate these new policies into the City’s existing Personnel 
Policy Manual and take all necessary steps to implement these policies.  
 
THAT: In accordance with Resolution 034-10, the Mayor has the authority to amend the 
personnel policies and procedures, including those adopted by this Resolution, as needed, 
with notification to the City Council.  
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 

by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 
 
 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
    
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk  
 

Page 8 of 779



New policy to address Chapter 49.77 RCW not currently included in City personnel policies. 

8.16 Military Family Leave 

During a period of military conflict, an employee who works an average of 20 or more 
hours per week is entitled to leave under this section when a spouse or registered domestic partner 
who is a member of the armed forces of the United States, national guard, or reserves has been 
notified of an impending call or order to active duty or has been deployed.  

A. The employee shall be granted a total of fifteen (15) days of unpaid leave per
deployment after the military spouse or state registered domestic partner has been
notified of an impending call or order to active duty and before deployment or when
the military spouse or domestic partner is on leave from deployment.

B. An employee who seeks to take leave under this chapter must provide the City with
notice, within 5 business days of receiving official notice of an impending call or
order to active duty or of a leave from deployment, of the employee’s intention to
take leave under this policy.

C. Employees are not required to exhaust all other applicable paid leave before using
unpaid leave for this purpose. An employee who takes leave under this section may
elect to substitute any of the accrued leave to which the employee may be entitled for
any part of the leave under this section.

D. “Period of Military Conflict” means a period of war declared by the United States
Congress, declared by executive order of the president, or in which a member of a
reserve component of the armed forces is ordered to active duty pursuant to either
sections 12301 and 12302 of Title 10 of the United States Code or Title 32 of the
United States Code.

E. An employee returning from military family leave shall be restored to a position of
employment in the same manner as an employee returning after Family and Medical
Leave pursuant to Section 8.13 of the city’s personnel policies. An employee may
continue benefits in the same manner as an employee on leave without pay.

F. In the event of a conflict between this policy and applicable law as outlined in Chapter
49.77 RCW, the applicable law shall govern.

Exhibit "A"

Page 9 of 779



NEW POLICY to incorporate RCW 49.12.265-.295 and WAC 296-130 regarding the Washington Family 
Care Act into City Policy.  

8.17 Washington Family Care Act 

Employees may use their choice of accrued paid leave benefits to care for a qualified family 
member, subject to the terms and limitations of this policy. This policy is intended to comply with 
Washington’s Family Care Act, paid sick leave laws and any other applicable law. In the event of 
a conflict between any applicable law and this Policy, the applicable law shall govern.  

Employees are entitled to use their paid leave benefits, including sick leave, vacation leave, 
compensatory time, floating holiday, etc. to care for a qualified family member including:  

• A child under the age of 18 with a health condition that requires treatment or
supervision.

• A spouse/domestic partner, parent, parent-in-law, or grandparent with a serious or
emergency health condition.

• A child 18 years or older if the child is incapable of self-care due to a mental or physical
disability; or

• A spouse, domestic partner or child who is incapacitated or disabled as a result of
pregnancy/childbirth, which may include the employee’s prenatal and postpartum
examinations, hospitalization, and recovery.

A. Definitions applicable to this policy:
1) “Health condition” that requires treatment or supervision for a child includes a medical

condition requiring treatment or medication that the child cannot self-administer, a
medical or mental health condition which would endanger the child’s safety or recovery
without the presence of a parent or guardian, or a condition warranting treatment or
preventive health care such as physical, dental, optical or immunization services, when
a parent must be present to authorize the treatment.

2) “Incapable of self-care” is defined as a disabling condition that prevents an individual
from engaging in one or more “activities of daily living” such as bathing, dressing,
eating, cooking, shopping, or using public transportation without active assistance.

3) “Qualified family member” includes the employee’s:
• Child, including a biological child, adopted child, foster child, stepchild, child

of a domestic partner, legal ward, or a child for which the employee is acting in
loco parentis. The child must be under 18 years of age or, if 18 or older,
incapable of self-care due to a mental or physical disability;

• Spouse;
• Washington state registered domestic partner;
• Parent, including a biological parent or adopted parent or a person who acted in

loco parentis to the employee when they were a child;
• Parent-in-law, including the parent of a domestic partner; or
• Grandparent.

4) “Serious or emergency health condition” for a spouse/domestic partner, parent, parent-
in-law, or grandparent is a condition that:

• Requires an overnight stay in a hospital or other medical care facility, or

Page 10 of 779



• Results in a period of incapacity or treatment or recovery following inpatient 
care, or  

• Results in continuing treatment under the care of a health care service provider 
that includes any period of incapacity to work or attend to regular daily 
activities; or  

• Involves an emergency situation, i.e., demanding immediate action. 
 

B. Documentation 
1) Reasonable documentation or statement of qualifying relationship may be required. 
2) Employees who request leave to care for a qualified family member may be required 

to provide medical certification of the condition. Employees have 15 days from the 
time the City requests the medical certification to submit a complete certification. If 
complete and sufficient medical certification is not submitted by the due date, the leave 
may be delayed or denied. 

 
C. Upon Return from Approved Leave 

1) Upon returning from an approved leave, employees will be restored to the same 
position they previously held or to a substantially similar position with equivalent 
employment benefits, pay and other terms or conditions of employment. However, an 
employee on leave under the Washington Family Care Act does not have any greater 
right to reinstatement or other benefits and conditions of employment than if the 
employee had been continuously employed during the leave period. 

 

Page 11 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4E Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Declaring Certain Prepared by: Brandy Wallace, MMC 

 Personal Property as Surplus and   City Clerk 
 Authorizing its Disposition Thereof     Atty Routing No.: N/A 
  Atty Review Date: N/A 

 
Summary: Assets of the City that are no longer useable, are no longer of value to the City, or are surplus to 
City needs, may be removed from City ownership, sold, or in any other way disposed with a declaration of 
surplus by the City Council.  
 
Staff is asking the Council to surplus a White Frigidaire refrigerator/freezer belonging to the police 
department. The item has reached the useful life of the department but is still in working condition.  The 
Finance department has estimated the current value of the property to be $100. As this item was not 
acquired for public utility purposes, a public hearing is not required, pursuant to RCW 35.94.040(2). 
 
Although the City’s internal asset value of the item has been determined to be of low value, any monies 
from the sale of surplus property will be deposited into the Fund(s) which owned the item. When disposal is 
to the general public through direct sale, sealed bid or auction, final determination of value shall be the 
highest responsible bid or offer.  The City may transfer a surplus asset to another public agency upon written 
request and a determination that it is in the public interest. Staff will dispose the item in a manner that 
reflects the best interest of the City. 

 
Recommendation: Staff is recommending adoption of a resolution declaring personal property as surplus 
and allowing for its disposition. 
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: N/A 
 
Motion for consideration: I move to adopt a resolution declaring personal property, White Frigidaire 
refrigerator/freezer belonging to the police department, as surplus and authorizing its disposition. 
 
Fiscal Impact: Money received from the disposition of surplus item will be deposited into the Fund of 
ownership.  
 
Alternatives: Do not adopt. 
 
Attachments: Resolution 

Page 12 of 779



RESOLUTION NO.  ________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, DECLARING 
CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY AS SURPLUS AND AUTHORIZING ITS 
DISPOSITION THEREOF 

 
 WHEREAS, certain personal property owned by the police department of the City of 
Port Orchard has become surplus to the needs of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that the current asset value of the item 
to be $100; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the item was not acquired for public utility purposes, therefore no public 
hearing is required, pursuant to RCW 35.94.040(2); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council has, pursuant to the requirements of POMC 1.30.020, 
considered the possible future requirements of the City, the present value of the personal 
property, the likelihood of locating a buyer, possible intergovernmental cooperation, and the 
general welfare of the citizens of Port Orchard in determining whether it is in the best interest 
of the City to dispose of such personal property; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council desires to dispose the White Frigidaire refrigerator/freezer 
belonging to the police department, in the best interest of the City; now, therefore, 

 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT: Personal property White Frigidaire refrigerator/freezer belonging to the police 
department is declared as surplus to the needs of the City. Staff is instructed to 
dispose of the item in a manner that reflects the best interest of the City. 
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 

by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 
 

 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
    
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 13 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4F Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of an Ordinance Amending Port  Prepared by: Nicholas Bond, AICP 

 Orchard Municipal Code Chapter 2.20  DCD Director 
 Planning Commission     Atty Routing No.: NA 
  Atty Review Date: NA 

 
Summary:  Port Orchard Municipal Code (POMC) 2.20, Planning Commission, provides guidance for the 
Planning Commission in their role as an advisory body to the City Council. In March the Planning Commission 
asked staff to create clearer guidance and regulations for the Planning Commission. City Staff shared several 
examples of nearby jurisdictions’ code regarding Planning Commission regulations and the City’s existing 
POMC 2.20 to the Commission for review. Staff gathered feedback on how the Planning Commission would 
like to proceed with the code amendment and after reviewing the proposed redline changes, the Planning 
Commissioners recommended staff draft an ordinance amending POMC 2.20 and schedule a public hearing 
for the June 6, 2023 Planning Commission meeting.  
 
The proposed amendment to POMC 20.20 is summarized as the removal of gender-specific pronouns, 
grammatical corrections, the establishment of meeting conduct and the rules governing Planning Commission 
meetings, establishing attendance, and clarifying quorum may be achieved through remote attendance. 
 
Public notice for the June 6, 2023 public hearing was properly noticed consistent with the requirements of 
POMC 20.25 on May 22, 2023. As of the date of Report preparation, the Department of Community 
Development has not received comments regarding the proposed code amendment. The Planning 
Commission, after conducting a properly noticed public hearing on the proposed ordinance on June 6, 2023, 
recommended that the City Council approve an Ordinance amending POMC 2.20.  
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval of the proposed amendments to POMC 2.20.010, 2.20.020, 
2.20.025, 2.20.30, 2.20.035, 2.20.040, 2.20.050, and 2.20.060, 2.20.065, 2.20.070, and 2.20.080. 
 
Motion for consideration: “I move to approve an ordinance amending Port Orchard Municipal Code 2.20, 
as presented.” 
 
Fiscal Impact: None foreseen.  
 
Alternatives: Do not approve the proposed amendment or provide staff direction to develop alternatives. 
 

Page 14 of 779



 
 

 2 

Attachments: Ordinance 
     

 

Page 15 of 779



 
ORDINANCE NO. _______-23 

           
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, 
ADOPTING REVISIONS TO PORT ORCHARD MUNICIPAL CODE (POMC) 
2.20 TO PROVIDE UPDATED GUIDANCE TO THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION TO CARRY OUT THEIR DUTIES; AMENDING POMC 
SECTIONS 2.20.010, 2.20.020, 2.20.030, 2.20.050 AND 2.20.080 TO 
MAKE HOUSEKEEPING CHANGES, AMENDING 2.20.080 TO UPDATE 
QUORUM REQUIREMENTS INCLUDING REMOTE PARTICIPATION, 
ADDING NEW SECTION POMC 2.20.025 TO OUTLINE REQUIREMENTS 
AND PROCEDURES FOR COMMISSION MEETINGS, ADDING NEW 
SECTION POMC 2.20.035 REGARDING ATTENDANCE TO ADDRESS 
REMOTE PARTICIPATION PROCEDURES, AND NEW SECTION POMC 
2.20.065 REGARDING RECORDS OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION, 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CORRECTIONS, AND PUBLICATION; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend POMC Chapter 2.20 (Planning 

Commission) in order to provide updated guidance to the Planning Commission to carry out 
their duties, including amending or adopting procedures to address remote participation by 
Planning Commission Members; and 

 
WHEREAS, on May 9, 2023, the City’s SEPA official issued a determination of non-

significance for the proposed adoption of revisions POMC 2.20, and there have been no 
appeals; and 

 
WHEREAS, on June 6, 2023, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing 

on the proposed adoption of revisions to POMC 2.20, and the Planning Commission 
recommended approval of the proposed ordinance to the City Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council, after careful consideration of the recommendation from the 

Planning Commission, all public comment, and the Ordinance, finds that this Ordinance is 
consistent with Chapter 35.63 RCW, and that the amendments herein are in the best interests 
of the residents of the City and further advance the public health, safety and welfare; now, 
therefore, 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council adopts all of the “Whereas” sections of this ordinance as 

findings in support of this ordinance.  
 
SECTION 2.  Section 2.20.010 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code is hereby amended to 

Page 16 of 779



Ordinance No. _________ 
Page 2 of 6 

 
 
read as follows: 
 

2.20.010 Planning Ccommission created. 
Pursuant to Chapter 35.63 RCW, there is created a Ccity Pplanning Ccommission, which 
shall consist of seven members appointed by the Mmayor and confirmed by the Ccity 
Ccouncil; six shall be residents of the Ccity and one may be a nonresident of the Ccity 
except the Mmayor and Ccity Ccouncil may, by council resolution, temporarily extend 
the term of a Planning Ccommissioner who, during their his or her term, moves out of 
the Ccity, to provide for continuity of specific projects or planning processes.  

 
SECTION 3.  Section 2.20.020 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code is hereby amended to 

read as follows: 
 

 
2.20.020 Planning Ccommission positions, terms, and term ending dates. 
(1) Planning Ccommissioner terms shall be four years in length. There shall be seven 
Pplanning Ccommissioner positions to be known as Position 1, Position 2, Position 3, 
Position 4, Position 5, Position 6, and Position 7, respectively. The current term 
expiration for each of the respective Pplanning Ccommission positions as of the date of 
the ordinance codified in this chapter is as follows: 
 
Position  Term Expiration 
 
Position 1 December 31, 2020 
Position 2 December 31, 2020 
Position 3 December 31, 2021 
Position 4 December 31, 2022 
Position 5 December 31, 2023 
Position 6 December 31, 2023 
Position 7 December 31, 2023 
 
(2) Upon expiration of the terms of each position as provided in subsection (1) of this 
section, reappointments or successors shall be appointed by the Mmayor for thea term 
of four years each. When an appointment by the Mmayor is to fill an open position prior 
to the end of the term, then the person so appointed shall serve out the term of the 
position into which they have he or she has been appointed.  

 
SECTION 4.  A new Section 2.20.025 is hereby added to the Port Orchard Municipal Code 

to read as follows: 
 

2.20.025 Conduct of meetings. 
The following standards shall apply to Planning Commission meetings: 

Page 17 of 779



Ordinance No. _________ 
Page 3 of 6 

 
 

(1) Planning Commission meetings will be held consistent with the Open Public 
Meetings Act, Chapter 42.30 RCW and the Public Records Act, Chapter 42.56 RCW. 

(2) The rules contained in the current edition of Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised 
shall govern the Planning Commission in all cases to which they are applicable and in 
which they are not inconsistent with any special rules of order the Planning 
Commission may adopt. 

(3) Planning Commission meetings must have a physical location for the public to 
attend, however, members of the Planning Commission may attend the meeting 
remotely. The means of remote access shall allow real-time verbal communication. 

(4) A Planning Commission quorum shall be required for passage of any matter before 
the Planning Commission.  

(5) The minutes of the meeting shall reflect the ayes and nays cast on a particular 
measure as well as the vote of each member present.  

(6) Whenever a tie vote occurs, such a vote shall be considered no decision concluded. 
In such a case, the Chairperson shall call for a new motion, or hearing no new 
motion and determining the matter under consideration cannot be resolved during 
the current meeting, shall announce and direct the matter to be carried over to the 
next Planning Commission agenda, at which time it shall be scheduled for further 
consideration; or, the Chairperson may forward the request to the City Council with 
no recommendation accompanied by the minutes of the request. 

 
SECTION 5.  Section 2.20.030 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code is hereby amended to 

read as follows: 
 

2.20.030 Powers and duties. 
The Pplanning Ccommission shall have all of the powers and perform each and all of the 
duties specified by Chapter 35.63 RCW, together with any other duties or authority 
which may hereafter be conferred upon them by laws of the state of Washington, the 
performance of such duties and the exercise of such authority to be subject to each and 
all the limitations expressed in Chapter 35.63 RCW.  

 
SECTION 6.  A new Section 2.20.035 is hereby added to the Port Orchard Municipal Code 

to read as follows: 
 

2.20.035 Attendance. 
Planning Commissioners shall attend Planning Commission meetings in the physical 
location where the meeting is held. Planning Commissioners may attend meetings 
remotely if necessary. If the Chair is unable to be present in the physical location where 
the meeting is held, the Vice Chair, if physically present, shall chair the meeting. If 
neither the Chair nor Vice Chair are present, another commissioner who is physically 
present, shall chair the meeting. Such selection shall be as voted on by the membership.  

 

Page 18 of 779



Ordinance No. _________ 
Page 4 of 6 

 
 

SECTION 7.  Section 2.20.040 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 

2.20.040 Recommendations to City Ccouncil. 
The Ccity Ccouncil may refer to the Pplanning Ccommission for its recommendation and 
report, any ordinance, resolution, or other proposal relating to any of the matters and 
subjects referred to in Chapter 35.63 RCW, and the Planning Ccommission shall 
promptly report to the City Ccouncil thereon, making such recommendations and giving 
such counsel as it may deem proper.  
 
SECTION 8.  Section 2.20.060 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code is hereby amended to 

read as follows: 
 
2.20.060 Meetings of Planning Ccommission – Records. 
The Planning Ccommission shall elect its own Cchairpersonman and create and fill such 
other offices as it may determine it requires. In general, the Planning Ccommission shall 
hold a regular meeting once per month; however, during any month, the Cchair of the 
Planning Ccommission or the Ccity’s Department of Community Development planning 
Ddirector may determine that there are no review items requiring the Pplanning 
Ccommission to hold a regular meeting and conduct business during that month; or, 
that there are review items requiring the Pplanning Ccommission to hold a regular 
meeting and conduct business more often than once during that month. All meetings 
shall be open to the public and shall be noticed in accordance with Chapter 42.30 RCW. 
It shall adopt rules of transaction of business and shall keep a written record of its 
meetings, resolutions, transactions, findings and determinations, which record shall be 
of public record.  

 
SECTION 9.  A new Section POMC 2.20.065 is hereby added to the Port Orchard 

Municipal Code to read as follows: 
 

2.20.065 Recordkeeping. 
The City shall provide a recording of all Planning Commission meetings by electronic 
means. The City shall furnish a copy of a recording of any meeting upon written request 
of any interested party. The party requesting the copy of the recording must bear the 
costs of producing a copy of the recording. The Planning Commission will also keep a 
written record of its meetings, resolutions, transactions, findings, and conclusions. That 
record shall be a public record.  

 
SECTION 10.  Section 2.20.070 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code is hereby amended 

to read as follows: 
 

2.20.070 Quorum. 

Page 19 of 779



Ordinance No. _________ 
Page 5 of 6 

 
 

(1) A simple majority Four members of the Pplanning Ccommission shall constitute a 
quorum for the transaction of business. Any action taken by a majority of those present 
at any regular meeting of the Pplanning Ccommission shall be deemed and taken as the 
action of the Planning Ccommission. 
(2) Planning Commissioners attending meetings remotely will count in the quorum. 
In the case of a meeting being interrupted by the loss of a quorum during the taking of 
public comments or testimony, the Planning Commission may continue to accept and 
record all the public comments that are offered but may not take any action on that 
agenda item, nor may continue to another agenda item, other than to adjourn. 
(3) When a quorum does not exist at a regularly scheduled or special meeting, a 
member of the Planning Commission may announce to all present that any public 
hearings are continued to a time, date, and location certain, thereby avoiding the need 
to re-advertise such public hearings. 

 
SECTION 11.  Section 2.20.080 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code is hereby amended 

to read as follows: 
 

2.20.080 Annual report to City Ccouncil. 
The Pplanning Ccommission, at or before its first regular meeting in February of each 
year, shall make a full report in writing to the Ccity Ccouncil of its transactions and 
expenditures, if any, for the preceding year, with such general recommendations as to 
matters covered by its prescribed duties and authority as may to it seem proper. 
 
SECTION 12.  Severability.  If any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance 

should be held to be unconstitutional or unlawful by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of any other 
section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance.   

 
SECTION 13.  Corrections.  Upon the approval of the city attorney, the city clerk and/or 

code publisher is authorized to make any necessary technical corrections to this ordinance, 
including but not limited to the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance 
numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any reference thereto. 

 
SECTION 14.  Publication.  This Ordinance shall be published by an approved summary 

consisting of the title.  
 

SECTION 15.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and 
effect five days after publication, as provided by law.    

 
 PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, APPROVED by the Mayor and 
attested by the Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 
 

Page 20 of 779



Ordinance No. _________ 
Page 6 of 6 

 
 
 
              

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      SPONSOR: 
 
 
              
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk Jay Rosapepe, Councilmember 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:     
 
 
       
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney 
 
PUBLISHED: 
EFFECTIVE DATE: 
 

Page 21 of 779



 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
            

 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4G Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution, Approving Prepared by: Tony Lang 

 Amendment No. 4 to Contract C024-15   Public Works Director 
 with Waste Management of Washington       Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 
 Inc. for Solid Waste Disposal Services  Atty Review Date: 06/07/2023 

 
Summary: To provide solid waste disposal services for the residents and businesses within City limits, 
following a procurement process that complied with state law and the City’s procurement processes, the 
City and Waste Management executed Contract C024-15 for Solid Waste Disposal Services, effective July 
1, 2015 (the “Agreement”).  C024-15 had an original expiration date of June 30, 2020, and two (2) options 
to extend the term by mutual agreement, with the first option to extend for three (3) years and the 
second option to extend for two (2) years. Per City Council authorization, the parties executed the First 
Amendment to the Agreement on March 14, 2017, which added a revised Exhibit A, List of City Facilities.  
With Council approval, the parties executed a Second Amendment to the Agreement on July 25, 2017, 
effectuating another revision to Exhibit A, List of City Facilities.  On December 3, 2019, with Council 
approval, the parties executed a Letter of Understanding setting forth the Third Amendment to the 
Agreement to extend the services for a period of three (3) years to June 30, 2023.  To provide for a more 
effective recycling service aligned with Kitsap County Solid and Hazardous Waste Management Plan dated 
May 2018, as amended on June 14, 2021, and to further the goal of directing recyclable resources away 
from landfills, the City and Waste Management have agreed to revise the definition for Recyclable 
Materials set out in the Agreement.  Staff also recommends that Exhibit A, List of City Facilities, is 
replaced in its entirety to reflect the current list of operable facilities. The modifications to the Agreement 
are set out in tracked changes in an attachment to this Staff Report.  Staff also recommends an 
amendment to extend the term of the Agreement for a period of two (2) years to June 30, 2025.   
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Section 7.3 Non-City Managed Utilities 
  
Recommendation: Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a Resolution, thereby authorizing the 
Mayor to execute Amendment No. 4 to Contract No. C024-15 with Waste Management of Washington, 
Inc..   
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 7.3 – Non-City Managed Utilities 
 
Motion for Consideration:  I move to adopt a Resolution, thereby authorizing the Mayor to execute 
Amendment No. 4 to Contract No. C024-15 with Waste Management of Washington, Inc..   
 
Fiscal Impact:        N/A 
 

Page 22 of 779



 
 

 

Alternatives:    N/A 
 
Attachments:        Resolution 
   Amendment No. 4 Agreement (Clean, for adoption) 
   Amendment No. 4 Agreement (Redline to assist with review) 

Page 23 of 779



 
RESOLUTION NO. ____________ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE 
MAYOR TO EXECUTE AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO CONTRACT C024-15 WITH WASTE 
MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. FOR SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICES 

 
  WHEREAS, to provide solid waste disposal services for the residents and businesses 
within city limits, the City and Waste Management executed Contract C024-15 for Solid Waste 
Disposal Services, effective July 1, 2015; and 
 

WHEREAS, C024-15 has an original expiration date of June 30, 2020, and two (2) options 
to extend the term by mutual agreement, with the first option to extend for three (3) years and 
the second option to extend for two (2) years; and 
     

WHEREAS, the First Amendment to the Agreement was executed on March 14, 2017, 
which comprised of a revised Exhibit A, List of City Facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Second Amendment to the Agreement was executed on July 25, 2017, 
effectuating another revision to Exhibit A, List of City Facilities; and 
  

WHEREAS, on December 3, 2019, a Letter of Understanding was executed effectuating 
the Third Amendment to the Agreement in which it was mutually agreed to exercise the first 
option to extend the services for a period of three (3) years, with a revised Agreement expiration 
date of June 30, 2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, to provide for a more effective recycling service aligned with Kitsap County 
Solid and Hazardous Waste Management Plan dated May 2018, as amended on June 14, 2021, 
and to further the goal of directing recyclable resources away from landfills, the City and Waste 
Management have agreed to revise the definition for Recyclable Materials; and 

 
WHEREAS, additionally, to clarify the current status of facilities, Exhibit A, List of City 

Facilities, is amended and replaced in its entirety as included herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties also wish to exercise the second and final extension of the term 
of the Agreement for a period of two (2) years, for a revised Agreement expiration date of June 
30, 2025, on the same terms and conditions of the existing Agreement except as previously 
amended and amended herein; Now, Therefore, 

  
  THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 

 
THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth 
above are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this 
Resolution. 
 

Page 24 of 779



   
THAT: The City Council authorizes the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 4 with 
Waste Management of Washington, Inc. as attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
incorporated herein by this reference, for the continued collection and disposal of 
garbage and recyclable materials as required for all residential and commercial 
customers.  
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 
by the Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 
  
 
 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
     
Brandy Wallace, City Clerk, MMC  

Page 25 of 779



 
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT FOR                                                                               Page 1 of 5 
SOLID WASTE SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF  
PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON AND WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. 

10663265.2 - 366922 - 0001 

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE 
CONTRACT FOR SOLID WASTE SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON 

AND 
WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. 

 
 THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE SOLID WASTE CONTRACT BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD AND WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. 
(this “Amendment”) is dated June 13, 2023 by the City of Port Orchard, a municipal corporation 
of the State of Washington (the “City”), and Waste Management of Washington, Inc. 
(“Contractor”).  Each of Company and Contractor is sometimes referred to herein as a “Party” and 
together as the “Parties”. Capitalized terms used in this Amendment and not otherwise defined 
shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement. 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. WHEREAS, City and Contractor are parties to that certain Contract for Solid 
Waste Services, effective July 1, 2015, having an original expiration date of June 30, 2020, and 
two (2) options to extend the term by mutual agreement, with the first option to extend for three 
(3) years and the second option to extend for two (2) years (the “Agreement”); and 

B. WHEREAS, The Parties signed the First Amendment to the Agreement on March 
14, 2017, which amendment was comprised of a revised Exhibit A, List of City Facilities; and 

C. WHEREAS, The Parties signed the Second Amendment to the Agreement on July 
25, 2017, effectuating another revision to Exhibit A, List of City Facilities; and 

D. WHEREAS, The Parties signed a Letter of Understanding dated December 3, 
2019, effectuating the form of Third Amendment to the Agreement in which it was mutually agreed 
to exercise the first option to extend the services for a period of three (3) years, with a revised 
Agreement expiration date of June 30, 2023; and  

E. WHEREAS, In order to provide for a more effective recycling service aligned with 
Kitsap County Solid and Hazardous Waste Management Plan dated May 2018, as amended on 
June 14, 2021, and to further the goal of directing recyclable resources away from landfills, the 
Parties have agreed to revise the definition for Recyclable Materials; and 

F. WHEREAS, Exhibit A, List of City Facilities, is amended and replaced in its 
entirety as included herein; and 

G. WHEREAS, The Parties also wish to exercise the second extension of the term of 
the Agreement for a period of two (2) years, for a revised Agreement expiration date of June 30, 
2025, on the same terms and conditions of the existing Agreement except as previously amended 
and amended herein;  

Page 26 of 779



 
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT FOR                                                                               Page 2 of 5 
SOLID WASTE SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF  
PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON AND WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. 

10663265.2 - 366922 - 0001 

 
AGREEMENT 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties mutually agree to amend 
the Agreement as follows: 

 
1. Definitions.   The definition for “Recyclable Material” is hereby deleted in its 

entirety and replaced with the following:   
 

“Recyclable Material:  Clear, amber, and green glass food and beverage 
containers; Tin-coated steel cans; Aluminum cans; Newspaper including glossy advertisements 
and inserts that are delivered with the newspaper; Mixed paper including mail, magazines, 
catalogs and phone books, paperback books, computer paper, white and colored ledger, file 
folders, and file cards; Paper food containers including paper bags, dry food boxes, and egg 
cartons; Corrugated cardboard; Plastic bottles, jugs, and dairy tubs (no lids).  This list may be 
revised from time-to-time according to the following factors, as agreed by the Kitsap County 
Solid Waste Division, Contractor, and City: (1) potential for significant waste stream diversion, 
(2) market conditions, including market risk, and/or (3) new technologies and innovative 
program approaches.” 

 
2. Agreement References to “Recyclables”.  In the Agreement, all references to the 

term “Recyclables,” are hereby amended and restated to be read as, “Recyclable Material”.  
 

3. Exhibit A.  Exhibit A, List of City Facilities, is amended and replaced in its entirety 
as attached to this Amendment and included herein by this reference. 

 
4. Extension of Term.  The Parties hereby exercise the second extension of the Term 

pursuant to Section 1.2 of the Agreement, as amended, for an additional two (2) years.  The revised 
Agreement expiration date is June 30, 2025. 
 

5. Full Force and Effect.  Except as otherwise provided in this Amendment, all other 
terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
6. Counterparts; Signatures.  This Fourth Amendment may be executed in two (2) 

or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same instrument.  Signatures transmitted electronically shall be deemed 
valid execution of this Fourth Amendment and binding on the Parties. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties execute this Fourth Amendment on the dates set 
forth below.  Each person signing this Fourth Amendment represents and warrants that he or she 
has been duly authorized to enter into this Fourth Amendment by the Party on whose behalf it is 
indicated that the person is signing. 

Signatures on the following page. 

Page 27 of 779



 
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT FOR                                                                               Page 3 of 5 
SOLID WASTE SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF  
PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON AND WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. 

10663265.2 - 366922 - 0001 

 
 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
 

 WASTE MANAGEMENT OF  
WASHINGTON, INC. 

 
 

By:        By:        
Name:  Robert Putaansuu     Name:  Jason S. Rose      
Title:  Mayor      Title:    President     
Date:        Date:       
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:       
Name: Brandy Rinearson, MMC, CPRO 
Title:   City Clerk    
Date:         
 
APPROVED TO AS FORM: 
 
By:       
Name: Charlotte Archer      
Title:   City Attorney    
Date:         
  

Page 28 of 779



 
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT FOR                                                                               Page 4 of 5 
SOLID WASTE SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF  
PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON AND WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. 

10663265.2 - 366922 - 0001 

EXHIBIT A 
LIST OF CITY FACILITIES  

CITY FACILITY NAME 
WM ACCOUNT #  ADDRESS                        SERVICE LEVEL AS OF JUNE 30, 2023 

FIRE DEPT  
200 TREMONT ST W QTY 1:   3 -YD Garbage, 1x/per week 

QTY 1:   2-YD Recycle, 1x/per week 

LIBRARY  
87 SIDNEY AVE QTY 1:   2 YD Garbage, 1x/per week 

QTY 1:   2-YD Recycle, 1x/per week 
 
ACTIVE CLUB  

1 KENDAL AND 
CLINE 

QTY 1:   6-YD Garbage, 2x/per week 

 
POLICE DEPT 
 

216 PROSPECT ST 
 
  

QTY 1:   3-YD Garbage, 1x/per week 
QTY 1:   96-GAL CART Garbage, 1x/per week 
QTY 1:   64-GAL CART Recycle, 1x/per week  

PUBLIC WORKS – SHOP  

 
1535 VIVIAN CT QTY 1:    6-YD Garbage,  1x/per week  

QTY 1:    4-YD Recycle,  1x/per week 

PUBLIC WORKS- DECANT 
FACILITY 

 
1260 LLOYD 
PARKWAY QTY 1:   30-YD Garbage ROLLOFF BOX, on call 

SEWER TREATMENT 
PLANT  1165 BEACH DR QTY 1:    3-YD Garbage,  2x/per week 

QTY 1:    2 YD Recycle,  1x/per week 
CITY HALL  216 PROSPECT ST QTY 2:  64-GAL CART Recycle, every other week 
DEPARTMENT OF 
COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT & 
POLICE  

 
 
600 KITSAP ST QTY 1:  64-GAL CART Recycle, every other week  

DEPARTMENT OF 
COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT.   

 
720 PROSPECT ST QTY 1:  64 GAL Garbage, 1x/per week 

QTY 1:  64-GAL CART Recycle, every other week  

CITY STREET CANS  

 
837 BAY STREET 
834 BAY STREET 
802 BAY STREET  
801 BAY STREET 
742 BAY STREET 
702 BAY STREET 
701 BAY STREET 
739 BAY STREET  
 
817 BAY STREET 
820 BAY STREET 
714 BAY STREET 
715 BAY STREET 
 (Garbage Only)  

QTY 12: 32-GAL *Garbage Cans, 2x/week  
QTY 8:  32-GAL *Recycle Cans, 1x/per week 
 
*City-owned Cans 

Page 29 of 779



 
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT FOR                                                                               Page 5 of 5 
SOLID WASTE SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF  
PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON AND WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. 

10663265.2 - 366922 - 0001 

 
MCCORMICK PARK 3201 Old Clifton Rd QTY 1: 4YD Garbage 1x/per week 

Page 30 of 779



Demonstrative Redline for City Council – Showing Proposed Amendments to original Contract 
for Solid Waste Services with Waste Management 

 
 
 

 
  The definition for “Recyclable Material” is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced 
with the following:   

 
  “Recyclable Material:  Clear, amber, and green glass food and beverage containers; Tin-
coated steel cans; Aluminum cans; Scrap metal with dimensions less than 2 foot by 2 foot and 
less than 35 pounds Newspaper including glossy advertisements and inserts that are delivered 
with the newspaper; -Mixed paper including mail, magazines, catalogs and phone books, 
paperback books, computer paper, white and colored ledger, file folders, and file cards, and 
chipboard;-Paper food containers including paper bags, dry food boxes, frozen food boxes,  and 
egg cartons;, milk cartons, and juice boxes; Corrugated cardboard; Plastic bottles, jugs, and dairy 
tubs (no lids).  This list can may be revised over timefrom time-to-time according to the 
following factors, as determined agreed by the Kitsap County Solid Waste Division, Contractor 
and City: (1) Potential potential for significant waste stream diversion, (2) Market market 
conditions, including market risk, and/or (3) New new technologies and innovative program 
approaches.” 

 
Agreement References to “Recyclables”.  In the Agreement, all references to the term 

“Recyclables,” are hereby amended and restated to be read as, “Recyclable Material”.  
 

  

Page 31 of 779



Demonstrative Redline for City Council – Showing Proposed Amendments to original Contract 
for Solid Waste Services with Waste Management 

 
 
 

CITY FACILITY NAME 
WM ACCOUNT #  ADDRESS                        SERVICE LEVEL AS OF JUNE 30, 2023 

FIRE DEPT  
200 TREMONT ST W QTY 1:   -1.53 -YD Garbage, 1x/per week 

QTY 1:   2-YD Recycle, 1x/per week 
  

 
2 - 64 GAL CART Recycle EOW 

LIBRARY  
87 SIDNEY AVE QTY 1:   - 96 GAL CART2 YD Garbage, 1x/per 

week 
QTY 2:   2-YD Recycle, 1x/per week 

  
 

2 -– 64 GAL CART2 YD Recycle 1x/weekEOW 
 
ACTIVE CLUB  

1 KENDAL AND 
CLINE 

QTY 1:   - 6- YD Garbage, 2x/per week 

 
 
POLICE DEPT 
 

546216 PROSPECT 
ST 
 
  

 
 
QTY 1:   - 3- YD Garbage, 1x/per week 
 
QTY 1:   96-GAL CART Garbage, 1x/per week 
QTY 1:   64-GAL CART Recycle, 1x/per week 
  

PUBLIC WORKS – SHOP  
 
1535 VIVIAN CT 

QTY 1:   - 30- YD Garbage ROLLOFF BOX, on 
call  QTY 1:    6-YD Garbage,  1x/per week  
QTY 1:    4-YD Recycle,  1x/per week 

PUBLIC WORKS- DECANT 
FACILITY 

 
1260 LLOYD 
PARKWAY 

QTY 1:   30-YD Garbage ROLLOFF BOX, on call 

SEWER TREATMENT 
PLANT  1165 BEACH DR QTY 21:    - 3- YD Garbage,  2x/per week 

QTY 1:    2 YD Recycle,  1x/per week 

CITY HALL  
216 PROSPECT ST QTY 2:  – 64- GAL CART Recycle, every other 

week EOW 
DEPARTMENT OF 
COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT  and& 
POLICE  

 
600 KITSAP ST QTY: 1:  64- GAL CART Recycle, every other 

week EOW 

DEPARTMENT OF 
COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT.   

 
720 PROSPECT ST 

QTY 1 –:  64 GAL Garbage, 1x/per week 
QTY 1:   – 64- GAL CART Recycle, every other 
week EOW 

CITY STREET CANS  

 
 
837 BAY STREET 
834 BAY STREET 
802 BAY STREET  
801 BAY STREET 
742 BAY STREET 
702 BAY STREET 
701 BAY STREET 
739 BAY STREET  
 

QTY 12: 32-GAL *Garbage Cans, 2x/week  
QTY and; 811:  32-GAL  * Recycle Cans,     
21x/per week 
 
QTY 12: 32-GAL *Garbage Cans, 2x/week  
QTY 8:  32-GAL *Recycle Cans, 1x/per week 
 
*City-owned Cans *City-owned Cans 

Page 32 of 779



Demonstrative Redline for City Council – Showing Proposed Amendments to original Contract 
for Solid Waste Services with Waste Management 

 
 
 

 
 

817 BAY STREET 
820 BAY STREET 
714 BAY STREET 
715 BAY STREET 
 (Garbage Only) 
834 BAY STREET 
802 BAY STREET  
801 BAY STREET 
742 BAY STREET 
702 BAY STREET 
701 BAY STREET 
739 BAY STREET  
714 BAY STREET 
715 BAY STREET 
817 BAY STREET 
820 BAY STREET 
 
837 BAY STREET 
(Garbage Only)  

MCCORMICK PARK 3201 Old Clifton Rd QTY 1: - 34YD Garbage 1x/per week 

Page 33 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4H Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 

Subject: Approval of Amendment No. 3 to  Prepared by: Tony Lang 
 Contract No. C036-20 with Krazan &  Public Works Director 
 Associates, Inc. for On-Call Professional     Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 
 Materials Testing, Inspection, and  Atty Review Date: 06/07/2023 
 Geotechnical Services  

 

Summary: On March 16, 2020, following a procurement process consistent with Ch. 39.80 RCW and the 
City’s Procurement Policies, the City executed Contract C036-20 with Krazan & Associates (“Consultant”) 
for On-Call Materials Testing, Inspection, and Geotechnical Service (the “Agreement”). Amendments 1 
and 2 to the Agreement were approved by the Council, increasing the Agreement’s “Not to Exceed” 
amount to a total “Not to Exceed” of $45,000. The City has identified additional services needed for on-
call professional materials testing, inspection, and geotechnical tasks which exceed the current value of 
the Agreement, as previously amended. These additional tasks are required to support inspection of 
development projects and City improvement projects.  Before the Council for approval is Amendment 
No. 3 to the Agreement, which would increase the total Agreement amount by an additional $25,000, for 
a new “Not to Exceed” total of $70,000, inclusive of all compensation paid after execution of the 
Agreement and Amendments 1 and 2.   The 2023-2024 Budget includes funding for these services. 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends the City Council authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 
3 to Contract No. 036-20 with Krazan & Associates for On-Call Professional Materials Testing, Inspection, 
and Geotechnical Services increasing the total contract amount by $25,000.00, for a total amended 
contract amount of $70,000.00. 

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 8-Transportation 

Motion for Consideration:  I move to authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 3 to Contract No. 
C036-20 with Krazan & Associates for On-Call Professional Materials Testing, Inspection and 
Geotechnical Services. 

Fiscal Impact: The 2023-2024 Biennial Budget includes $25,000 in 2023.  (GL Codes 001.05.518.20.40 
and 002.05.543.30.40).  

Alternative:   Do not approve and provide alternative guidance. 

Attachments: Amendment No. 3 
 Amendment Authorization  
 Exhibit A (Revised) 
 Courtesy Copy of Contract No. C036-20 

Page 34 of 779



CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

Authorization for Amendment No. 3 

Date: June 13, 2023 Contractor: Krazan & Associates, Inc 
Project: On-Call Professional Material 1230 NW Finn Hill Rd #A 

Testing, Inspection, & Poulsbo, WA  98370 
Geotechnical Services 

Contract / Job # C036-20 
   

Amount Sales Tax Total Date Appvd by
Original Contract $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00 16-Mar-20 Council
Amendment 1 $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00 27-Apr-21 Council
Amendment 2 $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00 21-Dec-21 Council
Amendment 3 $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00 13-Jun-23 Council

Total Contract $70,000.00 $0.00 $70,000.00

Contract History

I have reviewed the Change Order information above and certify that to the best of my knowledge 
descriptions and costs are true and accurate. 

Contractor Approval Signature Public Works Director/City Engineer 

Tony Lang 
Printed Name & Title Printed Name 

 
      Approved: 
      Mayor 

Attest: 
      City Clerk 
 

Council Approval Date 

THIS AMENDMENT AUTHORIZES THE FOLLOWING CHANGES TO THE AGREEMENT: 
Section 1. Services by Consultant:  Revised Exhibit A 
Section 4. Compensation: Compensation for services for all Task Orders shall not exceed $70,000.00 
(inclusive of all compensation paid after execution of the Agreement but prior to this Amendment), 
without written authorization and will be based on the list of hourly billing rates and reimbursable 
expenses set forth in Exhibit A (revised), attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 
Section 5a. Payment:  Increase time and materials Not to Exceed to $70,000.00. 
In all other respects the Underlying Agreement between the parties shall remain in full force and effect, 
amended as set forth herein, but only as set forth herein. 
Continued on-call professional material testing, inspections and geotechnical services is necessary to 
support inspection of development and City Improvement projects. 
 

Change Orders that do not exceed 10%, with a maximum of 
$50,000, of either legally authorized budget limit or contract 
amount established by City Council can be approved by the Public 
Works Director. 

Change Orders that do not exceed 10%, with a maximum of 
$100,000, of either legally authorized budget limit or contract 
amount established by City Council are to be approved by the 
Mayor. 

Change Orders over $100,000 or exceed a total of 10% require 
Council Action. 

Page 1 of 8

Wes Mahan -  Operations Manager 

Page 35 of 779



 
Amendment No. 3 to Agreement between City of Port Orchard and Krazan & Associates 
Contract No.C036-20 
Page 1 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR 
 

Amendment No. 3 to Contract No. C036-20 
 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
Krazan & Associates 

 

THIS AMENDMENT No. 3 to Contract No. 036-20 (“Amendment”) is entered into between the City of Port 
Orchard, a Washington municipal corporation (“City” or “Port Orchard”) and Krazan & Associates, a 
Washington corporation (“Consultant”). City and Consultant are each a “Party” and together “Parties” to this 
Amendment. 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, on the 16th day of March 2020, the City executed a Professional Services Agreement for On Call 
Materials Testing, Inspection and Geotechnical Service with the Consultant (“Underlying Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, Amendments 1 and 2 were approved by Council, increasing the underlying Agreements “not to 
Exceed” amount to a total “Not to Exceed” amount of $45,000; and  

WHEREAS, additional services for on-call professional materials testing, inspection, and geotechnical 
services are required by the City in 2023 that will exceed the current value of the Underlying Agreement, 
as amended; and 
 
WHEREAS, requested funding is budgeted in the 2023-2024 biennial budget, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Consultant and the City have conferred and agreed to increase the amount of the contract 
by $25,000 in anticipation of additional work in 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the parties wish to memorialize their agreement and so extend the Underlying Agreement;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual benefits accruing, it is agreed by and between the parties 
thereto as follows: 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT: 

1.   Amendment.   The Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

A. Section 4. Compensation.  Compensation under this Agreement will be on a “time and 
materials, not to exceed” basis.  Compensation for services for all Task Orders shall not 
exceed $70,000.00 (inclusive of all compensation paid after execution of the Agreement 
but prior to this Amendment), without written authorization and will be based on the list 
of hourly billing rates and reimbursable expenses set forth in Exhibit A (revised), attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 

B. Section 5a. Payment.   This Agreement does not guarantee any amount of work for the 
Consultant.  Task Orders will be developed as determined by the City and as provided for 

Page 2 of 8Page 36 of 779



 
Amendment No. 3 to Agreement between City of Port Orchard and Krazan & Associates 
Contract No.C036-20 
Page 2 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR 
 

in this Agreement.  The City shall pay the Consultant an amount based on time and 
materials, not to exceed Seventy Thousand Dollars ($70,000.00) for the services described 
in Section 1 herein. This is the maximum amount to be paid under this Agreement for the 
work described in this Agreement and shall not be exceeded without the prior written 
authorization of the City in the form of a negotiated and executed supplemental 
agreement. PROVIDED, HOWEVER, the City reserves the right to direct the Consultant’s 
compensated services under the time frame set forth in Section 3 herein before reaching 
the maximum amount. 

 
2. Severability.   The provisions of this Amendment are declared to be severable. If any provision of this 

Amendment is, for any reason, held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of any 
other provision. 
 

3. Entire Agreement.   The written provisions and terms of this Amendment shall supersede all prior 
verbal statements of any officer or other representative of the parties, and such statements shall 
not be effective or be construed as entering into or forming a part of or altering in any manner 
whatsoever, this Amendment.  The entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the 
subject matter hereunder is contained in the Agreement and exhibits thereto, any prior executed 
amendments and this Amendment. Should any language in any of the Exhibits to the Agreement 
or prior amendments conflict with any language contained in this Amendment, then this 
Amendment shall prevail. Except as modified by this Amendment, all other provisions of the 
original Agreement and any amendments thereto not inconsistent with this Amendment shall 
remain in full force and effect. 
 

4.  Effective date.  This Amendment shall be effective as of June 13, 2023.  
 

DATED this 13th day of June, 2023. 

Page 3 of 8Page 37 of 779



 
Amendment No. 3 to Agreement between City of Port Orchard and Krazan & Associates 
Contract No.C036-20 
Page 3 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR 
 

 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

 
_______________________________ 
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________________ 
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney 

CONSULTANT 
 
_______________________________ 
Signature 
 
_______________________________ 
Printed Name and Title 
 

Page 4 of 8

Wes Mahan -  Operations Manager 

Page 38 of 779



 
 

G E O T E C H N I C A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      E N V I R O N M E N T A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      C O N S T R U C T I O N   T E S T I N G   A N D   I N S P E C T I O N S  
 

 

 

With Offices Serving the Western United States 
1230 Finn Hill Rd NW STE A  Poulsbo, WA 98370  (360) 598‐2126  Fax: (360) 598‐2127  www.krazan.com 

OLYMPIC PENINSULA DIVISION 
2023 FEE SCHEDULE 

PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL SERVICES 
Professional   
Senior Engineer, Engineering Geologist (PE, PEG) …………………………….......................................  $150.00/hr. 
Project Manager ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………  $135.00/hr. 
Staff Professional (Engineer, Geologist) ………………………………………………………………………………...  $95.00/hr. 
           
Technicians & Inspection               
Engineering Technician I (Soil, Concrete, Asphalt) …………………………………………………………………  $75.00/hr. 
Special Inspector (ICC Certified) …………………………………………………………………………………………….  $82.00/hr. 
Structural Steel Inspection (ICC Certified) …………………………………………………………………………….  $95.00/hr.   
Certified Welding Inspector (CWI) …………………………………………………………………………………………  $110.00/hr.  
NDT Technician (Level II ‐UT, MT, PT) ……………………………………………………………………………………  $110.00/hr. 
GPR Technician (Includes equipment) ………………………………………………………………………………….   $95.00/hr. 
Anchor/Dowel Pull Testing (includes equipment) …………………………………………………………………  $75.00/hr. 
               
Travel and Administrative Support 
Round Trip Charge …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………  $0.65/per mile   
Project Administrator …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….  $65.00/hr. 
 
Laboratory 
Soils & Aggregate 
Abrasion (LA 100 & 500 cycles), ASTM C131, C535; AASHTO T96) ………………………………………….  $350.00/each 
Absorption (ASTM C127, C128; AASHTO T84, T85)  ………………………………………………………………..  $125.00/each  
Atterberg Limits (ASTM D4318; AASHTO T89 & T90 ……………………………………………………………….  $150.00/each    
Degradation of Aggregate (WSDOT T113) ………………………………………………………………………………  $250.00/each  
Material Finer than No. 200 Sieve (ASTM C117) …………………………………………………………………......  $80.00/each  
Moisture Content – Aggregate & Soils (ASTM D2216, AASHTO T255, T365) ……………………………  $35.00/each  
Moisture‐Density Relations of Soils, ASTM D 698, D 1557 ………………………………………………………  $250.00/each   
Moisture‐Density Relations of Soils, ASTM D 698, D 1557, (Check Point) ……………………………....  $125.00/each  
Organic Content, Loss by Ignition (ASTM D2974) …………………………………………………………………….  $175.00/each 
Sand Equivalent (ASTM D2419; AASHTO T176) ……………………………………………………………………….  $135.00/each 
Sieve Analysis ‐ Processed (Each Size), ASTM C 136 ……………………………………………………………….  $125.00/each 
Sieve Analysis – ASTM D6913 ………………………………………………………………………………………………….  $145.00/each 
Soundness Coarse/Fine – Sodium or Magnesium, 5 cylces (ASTM C88) ………………………………….  $300.00/each 
Specific Gravity – Coarse/Fine Aggregate (ASTM C128; AASHTO T85, AASHTO T84) ……………….  $125.00/each 
Concrete, Shotcrete, & Gunite  
Compression Test, 4" x 8" (set of 5) or 6" x 12" Cylinders, ASTM C 39 …………………………………….  $25.00/each 
Compression Test, Cores, (Does not include special pre time (ASTM C42……………………………….  $60.00/each 
Coring Cutting (In Laboratory) ……………………………………………………………………………………………….  $75.00/each 
Flexural Test, 6” x 6” beam, Center or Third Point Loading (ASTM C293, ASMT C78) …………….  $125.00/each 
Shotcrete Test Panel – 4 cores (ASTM C1604; AASHTO T24 ……………………………………………………  $300.00/panel 
ACI Core Grading Report (ACI 506.2‐95) …………………………………………………………………………………  $150.00/each  
Masonry  
Moisture Content (as received, ASTM C140) ………………………………………………………………………….  $40.00/each 
Absorption, Unit Weight (ASTM C140) ……………………………………………………………………………………  $100/00/each 
Compression (ASTM C140) …………………………………………………………………………………………………....  $100.00/each 
Compression Test, Grouted Prisms (ASTM C1388) ………………………………………………………………….  $150.00/each 

Page 5 of 8Page 39 of 779



 
 

G E O T E C H N I C A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      E N V I R O N M E N T A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      C O N S T R U C T I O N   T E S T I N G   A N D   I N S P E C T I O N S  

 

 
 

Krazan & Associates, Inc. 
With Offices Serving The Western United States 

 

 
Masonry (continued)  
Compression Test, 3.75” x 7.5” Grout Sample (ASMT C1019) …………………………………………………  $30.00/each 
Compression Test, 2” Cubes (ASTM C109) …………………………………………………………………………….  $30.00/each 
Asphalt Concrete 
Ignition Furnace Correction Factor (WSDOT SPT728) …………………………………………………………….  $360.00/each 
D5444 ‐ Mechanical Size Analysis of Extracted Aggregate) ……………………………………………………  $145.00/each 
Extraction/Gradation (AASHTO T308, T11 & T27) ………………………………………………………………….  $350.00/each 
Maximum Theoretical Unit Weight (Rice, ASTM D2041; WSDOT/AASHTO T209) ……………………  $150.00/each 
 
Terms & Conditions  
 
Terms of Payment 
Invoices shall be deemed delinquent if not paid within 30 days of the invoice date and will be subject to a late 
payment charge of 1.5% per month or the maximum percentage allowed by law, whichever is the lesser, on the 
unpaid balance from the invoice date, including the undisputed portions of invoices with disputed charges, until 
the same is paid, as liquidated damages for additional credit and collection expenses incurred by Krazan. 
 
Basis of Charges 
Minimum Charges 
Field services performed by our technicians are subject to a three‐hour minimum charge for each day of service, 
with services in excess of three hours will be billed in one‐hour increments. Services in excess of eight hours per 
day are billed in hourly increments. Field and office‐based engineering and administrative services have a one hour 
minimum charge and are billed in hourly increments. Expert Witness and Deposition services are billed on 
half‐ and full day (4 and 8 hour) basis and hourly after 8 hours. Sample pick‐up services are subject to a 2‐hour 
minimum charge. 
 
Regular Time Charges 
Regular time charges are applicable to services‐initiated Monday through Friday (excluding holidays), between 
7:00 am and 4:00 pm. Premium charges are applicable on holidays and weekends. 
 
Night Shift Differential 
For services initiated after 4:00 PM or before 7:00 am during any twenty‐four (24) hour period commencing at 
12:01 am shall be subject to a twenty (20) percent premium above the regular rate. 
 
Time and One‐Half Charges 
Time and one‐half charges will be rendered on Regular Time weekdays for services extending beyond eight hours 
and not exceeding 12 hours of total service that day. Services rendered on Saturdays will be charged at one and 
one‐half (1.5) times the Regular Time rate for the first eight hours. 
 
Double Time Charges 
Services rendered on holidays, Sunday, in excess of eight hours on Saturday, or in excess of 12 hours on 
weekdays, will be charged at double the regular time rate. 
 
 
Reimbursable Expenses and Subcontractor Charges 

Page 6 of 8Page 40 of 779



 
 

G E O T E C H N I C A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      E N V I R O N M E N T A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      C O N S T R U C T I O N   T E S T I N G   A N D   I N S P E C T I O N S  

 

 
 

Krazan & Associates, Inc. 
With Offices Serving The Western United States 

 

Direct expenses, including but not limited to shipping, overnight or expedite delivery beyond standard postage, 
photo processing, sublet reproduction, and consumable materials used in field services will be charged to the 
client at cost plus 20 percent. Subcontractor, Subconsultant and equipment rental charges, including but not 
limited to backhoe rental or backhoe services, subcontracted drilling services, concrete pumping services, and 
subcontracted specialty laboratory testing and inspection services, will be charged to the client at cost plus 20 
percent. 
 
Travel Time and Mileage Charges 
Field services are billed based on time charged portal‐to‐portal from the closest Krazan office providing the 
required services. 
 
Travel and Subsistence 
On remote jobs or projects, travel and subsistence, when not furnished, will be charged to the client at cost plus 
20 percent; the minimum per diem rate for subsistence is $120.00. 
 
Clerical and Engineer Review Charges 
All projects will incur clerical preparation and engineering review charges. 
 
Supervisor Charges 
Supervisor charges are above and beyond hourly and unit rates quoted for testing and inspection services. 
 
Cancellation 
All cancellations without a four hour notice of cancellation will be subject to two hour minimum charges per day 
canceled. Notice of cancellation must be received by our office during our office hours of 7:00 am to 5:00 pm 
Monday through Friday (excluding holidays) and cannot be left on the voice mail system. 
 
Cost of Services 
Unless expressly stated in a project‐specific Proposal or Agreement, services are provided on a time‐and‐expense 
basis, subject to the Basis of Charges presented above. Where provided, cost estimates are provided in good 
faith based on the scope of work and assumptions outlined in the Proposal. The term “Cost Estimate” does 
not imply a maximum contract amount, but only the extension value of our unit prices at the time of proposal 
preparation. 
 
Insurance 
Krazan carries in excess of all insurance required by law. Additional costs of extra insurance certificates, coinsurance 
endorsements or additional insurance will be charged to the client at cost plus 20 percent. 
 
Prevailing Wage Rates 
The rates presented in this Fee Schedule are not applicable for projects where Prevailing Wage or other collective 
bargaining labor and benefits rates apply. Our past experience on government funded projects in the Northwest 
Region (Washington/Oregon/Idaho), including those subject to Davis‐Bacon and related Acts (DBRA) wage 
requirements is that there is no existing determination for the professional services that we provide and that 
our services are NOT subject to those wage provisions. In the event that you as our client believe we are subject 
to Prevailing Wage requirements, it is your responsibility to submit a request to the Lead Agency so that they 
can obtain a determination from the U.S. Secretary of Labor. In the event that your project is a Prevailing Wage 
project please notify Krazan so we can provide you with applicable rates. 

Page 7 of 8Page 41 of 779



 
 

G E O T E C H N I C A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      E N V I R O N M E N T A L   E N G I N E E R I N G      C O N S T R U C T I O N   T E S T I N G   A N D   I N S P E C T I O N S  

 

 
 

Krazan & Associates, Inc. 
With Offices Serving The Western United States 

 

 
Cost‐Of‐Living Adjustment 
The rates presented in this Fee Schedule are applicable only through December 31 of the year published. Krazan 
should be contacted to obtain rates applicable for your project area and the year in which our services are to be 
provided. Where projects are on‐going beyond December 31 of the year the services were initiated, the rates 
presented in this fee schedule are subject to an annual cost of living adjustment based on the consumer price 
index for the geographic area where our services are being provided, but in no case less than 2 percent. For non‐
prevailing wage projects rates may be fixed for the duration of a project where the duration is one year or less 
where so specified in a project‐specific proposal or rate table; project rates will then be negotiated on an annual 
basis. Should a DBRA determination be made and where there is an automatic escalation of the rate during the 
term of the agreement the escalation rate (in percent increase) shall apply to our billing rates. 
 
Full Fee Schedule provided upon request.    
                          
  
 
 

Page 8 of 8Page 42 of 779



CITY OF PORT ORCHARD (ON CALL) PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS Agreement ("Agleement") is nrade effective as of the l6rr'day of March 2020, by and

between the City of Port Olchard. a municipal corporation, organized under the laws of the State of
Washington, whose address is:

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD. WASHINGTON (hereinafter the "CITY")
2l 6 Plospect Stleet
Port Orchald. Washington 98366

Corrtact: Mayor Robert Putaansnu Phone: 360.8'76.4407 Fax: 360.895.9029

and Krazan & Associates, a corporatiou, organized under the la'rvs of tlre State of Washington,
doing business at:

KRAZAN & ASSOCIATES, INC
1230 NW Finn Hill Rd #A
PoLrlsbo, WA 98370

(hereinafter the "CONSULTANT")

Contact: Wes Mahan Phone: 360.598.2126 Email:wesmahan@krazan.corn

For on-call professional material testing, inspection and geotechnical services.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

l. Services by Consultant

The Consultant shall perform the on-call professional seruices set forth on Exhibit A attached
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, and genelally described as follows: material testing,
inspection, and geotechnical seryices. Performance of such services will be on an on-call, Task Order basis.

2. Description of Work

The Ciry slrall issue a written Task Order for each project assigned to the Consultant. The wlitten
Task Order shall include the following information: (l) Task Order Title (project name); (2) technical
approach to tlre task (if necessary); (3) specific deliverables sought; (4) schedule with milestones and

deliverables; (5) cost/hour estimate to be supplied by the Consultant, in accordance with Exhibit A hereto;
(6) due date of work. All of these items may be brief, but will be sufficiently detailed forthe Consultant to
understand the work being authorizedand the amount it will cost. Written Task Orders and Notices to
Proceed may be issued as e-mail documents,

The City does not permit subconsultants fol those iterns of work necessary forthe completion of
any Task Order on any project. The Consultant shall not subcontract with subconsultants for the
perforrnance of any work under this Agreement without prior wrilten perrnission of the City.

3. Duration of Work

('itt, o/ Port Orchard and Kra:an & Associules
Ptbl ic Il'orks Projecr No.PLY2A20-005

On Call Pro./bssionol Service Agreenent Contract No. 036-20_,.,_
U\A$i Eng\On-CallillalenalTcsring\2010-:0:0\:0lqi\,l^STEROnCdlProfS\6Tenrplah(\yidrCt,mdStrCcdirs)lt:8lr)doc\

lof ll
Rev 8/28/20 I 9

Page 43 of 779



The Consultant slrall not begin any work under this Agreenrent until an authorized 'lask Order has
been agreed upon by the parties, and the City has issued a Notice to Proceed. This Agreemenr shall expire
on Decetnber 31,2023, unless earlier ternrinated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or
extended by an amendrnent executed by the duly authorized representatives ofthe parties.

4. Compensation

Corrtpensation under this Agreenrent rvill be on a "tiure and nraterials, not to exceed"'basis.
Contpensation for services for all Task Ordels shall not exceed S15i000,0q without written authorization
and will be based on the list of hourly billing rates and reimbursable expenses set fotth in Exhibit A, attached
hereto and incorporated herein by this ref'erence.

5. Payment

A, This Agleement does not gual'antee any amount of work fol the Consultant. Task Orders
will be developed as detetmined by the City and as provided for irr tlris Agreement. 'fhe City shall pay the
Consultant an amount based on time and materials, not to exceed Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00)
fbr the services described in Section I herein. This is the maximum amount to be paid under this Agreement
for the work described in this Agreement. and shall not be exceeded without the prior written authorization
of thc City in the form of a negotiated and executed supplemental agreement. PROVIDED, HOWEVER,
the City reserves the right to direct the Consultant's compensatcd services under the time frame set forth in
Section 3 herein before reaching the maximum amount.

B. The Consultant shall be paid by the City for completed services rendered nnder each
approved individual Task Order. Such payment shall be full conrpensation for work performed or services
rendered and for all labor. materials, supplies equipment and incidentals necessary to complete the work.
The Consultant shall subrnit an itenrized invoice to the City for each separate Task Order after the services
have been performed.

C. The anrount paid by the City fol all invoices shall not, collectively, exceed the amount in
Section 4 above and the hourly billing rates set forth in Exhibit A. The City shall pay the full amount of an
invoice within sixty (60) days of receipt. If the City objects to all or any portion of any invoice, it shall so
notiry the Consultant of the sanre r.vithin fltteen (15) days from the date of receipt and shall pay that portion
of the invoice not in dispute. and the parties shall immediately make every effort to settle the disputed
portion.

D. The Consultant will not undeftake any work or otherwise financially obligate the City in
excess of said not-to-exceed amount in Section 4 without a duly authorized amendment to this Agreement.
In the event services are required beyond those specified in Section I and not included in the compensation
listed in this Agreement, a written contract amendment shall be negotiated and approved by the Cify before
any effort is expended on such selvices.

E. The Consultant shall keep cost l'ecords and accounts pertaining to this Agreement available
for inspection by City representatives for three (3) years after final payment unless a longer period is
required by a third-parry agreement. Copies shall be made available on request.

F. For the entirety of this Agreement. the Consultant shall conrply with all federal and state
laws applicable to independent contractors. including, but not limited to, the maintenance of a separate set
of books and records that reflect all items ol income and expenses of the Consultant's business, pursuant to
Revised Code of Washinston (RCW) 51.08.195. as requiled by law, to show that the services performed
City oJ Port Orchard ond Krazan & Ass<tciutes
Pahlic ll orks Project No.PW2020-005
On Call Professional Service Agreenretrt Contract No. 036-20_
tli\A$t Enc\On-Call illat.rial T6sling\20 | c"f,020110 I 9 l\IASTER On Call Prof S\ (s rrnrpl ats (widr Cl' md SEC cdi6) 8 18 I q docy

2ofll
Rev 8/28/20 I 9

Page 44 of 779



by the Consultant under this Agreement shall not give rise to an employer-employee relationship between
the parties, which is subject to Title 5 | RCW, Industrial Insurance.

G. If the services rendered do not nreet the requirernents of tlris Agreernent or any Task Order
issued pusuant thereto. the Consultant will con'ect or rnodifu the work to comply r,vith this Agreentent or
Task Order. The City may withhold payment for such work until the work rneets the requirernents of this
Agreenrent or Task Order.

6. Discrimination and Compliance with Laws

A, The Consultant agrees not to discriminate against any employee or applicant lor
employment ot' any other person irr the performance of this Agreerneut because of race, creed, color,
national origin, rnarital status, sex, age, disabilify, or other circumstance prohibited by fbderal, state, or
local law ol orditrance, except for a bona fide occupational qualification.

B. Even though the Consultant is an independent contractor with the authority to control and
direct the performance and details of the r.volk authorized under this Agreement, the work must meet the
approval of the City and shall be subject to the City's general right of inspection to secure the satisfactory
completion thereof. The Consultant agrees to comply with all federal, state and municipal laws, rules and
regulations that are now effective or become applicable within the terms of this Agreement to the
Consultant's business, equiprnent and personnel engaged in operations covcred by this Agreement or
accluing out ofthe performance ofsuch operations.

C. The Consultant shall obtain a City of Port Orchard business license prior to conrnrencing
work pursuant to a written Notice to Proceed.

D. Violation of this Paragraph 6 shall be a material breach of this Agreernent and grounds for
cancellation, terntination, or suspension of the Agreement by the Ciry, in whole or in part, and may result
in ineligibility for furthel work fbr the City.

7, Relationship of Parties

The parties intend that an independent contractor-client relationship will be created by this
Agreement. As the Consultant is customarily engaged in an independently established trade lvhich
encompasses the specific service provided to the City hereunder, no agent. employee, representative or sub-
consultant of the Consultant shall be or shall be deemed to be the employee. agent, representative or sub-
consultant of,the City. In the performance of the lvork, the Consultant is an independent contractor with
the ability to control and direct the performance and details of the work, the City being interested only in
the results obtained under this Agreenrent. None of the benefits provided by the City to its employees,
including but not limited to compensation, insurance, and unemployment insurance, are available from the
City to the employees, agents, representatives or sub-consultants of the Consultant. The Consultant will be
solely and entirely responsible for its acts and for the acts of its agents, employees, representatives and sub-
consultants during the performance of this Agreement. The City may, during the terrn of this Agreement,
engags other independent contractors to perform the same or sirnilar work that the Consultant performs
hereunder.

8. Suspension and Termination of Agreement

(ity o/ Port Orchard and Krazun & Associates
P u b I i c lt'orks I' roj ec't N a. P IV 2020-00 5
On Cell Profe,rsional Sensice Agreentent ('ontroct No. 036-20
UiA55l li's\On-Call\lnrerialTeslin!\201q-lolouotgNa.ts-fltt.lnCallProfsrcsTenrplaf,fiiiict'o,tSt:cer.lrrs,d]8laJor\

3ofll
Rev 8/28/20 I 9

Page 45 of 779



A. Terntination without cause, This Agreement nray be ternrinated by the City at any tirre for
public convenience, for the Consultant's insolvency or bankruptcy. or the Consultant's assignment for the
benefit of creditors.

B, Termination with cause, This Agreernent nray be terrninated upon the def'ault of the
Consultant and the failure of the Consultarlt to cure such delault within a reasonable tinre after receiving
written notice of the default.

C. Rights Upon Telmination.
I . With or Witltoul Cruse. Upon termination for any reason, all finished or unfinished

documents, repolts, or othcr material ol rvork of the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement shall
be submitted to the City, and the Consultant shall be entitled to just and equitable compensation for
any satisfactory work completed prior to the date of termination, not to exceed the total
compensation set forth herein. The Consultant shall not be entitled to any reallocation of cost,
profit or overhead. The Consultant shall not in any event be entitled to anticipated profit on work
not performed because of such termination. The Consultant shall use its best efforts to minimize
the compensation payable undel this Agreement in the event of such termination. Upon
termination, thc City may take over the work and prosecute the sarne to cornpletion, by contract or
otherwise.

2. Default. If the Agreernent is terminated for default, the Consultant shall not be
entitled to receive any further payments under the Agreement until all work called for has been
fully performed. Any extra cost or damage to the City resulting from such defaul(s) shall be
deducted from any money due or conring due to the Consultarrt. The Consultant shall bear any extra
expenses incurred by the Ciry in completing the work, including all increased costs for completing
the work, and all damage sustained, or which may be sustained, by the City by reason of such
default.

D. Suspension. The City rnay suspend this Agreement, at its sole discretion. Any
reimbursement for expenses incured due to the suspension shall be limited to the Consultant's reasonable
expenses, and shall be subjecttoverification. The Consultant shall resume performance of services under
this Agreernent without delay when the suspension period ends.

E. No-tiqg_gl.'l'elnrirration or Suspcrrsion. If delivered to the Consultant in person, termination
shall be effective imrnediately upon the Consultant's receipt of the City's written notice or such date as

stated in the City's notice of ternrination. whichever is later. Notice of suspension shall be given to the
Consultant in writing upon one week's advance notice to the Consultant. Such notice shall indicate the
anticipated period of suspension. Notice may also be delivered to the Consultant at the address set forth in
Section l5 herein.

9, Standard ofCare

The Consultant represents and warrants that it has the requisite training, skill and experience
necessary to provide the services undel this Agreement and is appropriately accredited and licensed by all
applicable agencies and governmental entities, Services provided by the Consultant under this Agreement
will be performed in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members
of the same profession currently practicing in sirnilal circumstances.

10. Ownership of Work Product

Ciry o.[ Port Orchut'd ancl Krozan & Associutes
Prtblic lYorks Project No.P1il2020-005
On (all Professional Service Agreenent Contmct ,y"o. 036-20 -, *U:\Ast Eng\On-Call lllaterial l csting\20 I q-10?0U0 I I i\.|.\STER On Call Prof Sr cs 1'enDlate lNid' (lP and SE( cdi rs) I 18 I q (lo(r

4ofll
Rev 8/28/20 I 9

Page 46 of 779



A. All data, materials, reports. tnemoratrda, and other docunrents developed under this
Agreetnent whether finished or not shall becorne the ploperfy ol'the City, shall be forwarded to the City at
its request and ntay lre used by the City as it sees fit. tJpon telrnination of this Agreernent pursuant to
paraglaplr 8 above, all finished or unt'inished documents. reports, or other material or rvolk of the Consultant
pursuanttothisAgreententslrall besubmittedtotheCity. Anyreuse ormodificationofsuchdocurnents.
reports or other ntaterial ol work ofthe Consultant for purposes other than those intended by the Consultant
in its scope of seruices under this Agreenrent shall be at the City's risk.

B, All wlitten informatiorr submitted by the City to the Consultarrt irr conrrection with the
selvices perfolrned by the Consultant under this Agreement rvill be safeguarded by the Consultant to at
least the salre extent as the Consultant safeguards like information relating to its own busincss. If sr,rch

information is publicly available ol is already in the Consultant's possession ol known to it, or is rightfulty
obtained by the Consultant from third pafties, the Consultant shall bear no responsibility for its disclosure,
inadvertent ot'otherwise. Thc Consultant is permitted to disclose any such information only to the extent
required by law, subpoena or other court order.

ll. Work Performed at the Consultant's Risk

The Consultant shall take all precautions necessary and shall be responsible for the safery of its
employees, agents and sub-consultants in the perflormance of the work hel'eunder, and shall utilize all
protection necessary for that purpose. All work shall be done at the Consultant's own risk, and the
Consultant shall be responsible for any loss of or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or held
by the Corrsultant for use in connection with the work.

12. Indemnification

The Consultant shall deferrd. indemnify and hold the City, its officers, officials, ernployees, agents
and volunteers harmless from any and all clairns, injuries, damages, losses or suits, including all legal costs
and afforneys' fees, arising out of or resulting from the acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant in
petfonnance of this Agreernent, except for injuries or damages caused by the sole negligence of the City.

Should a cour-t of competent jurisdiction detemrine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24. I 15,
then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to property
caused by or lesulting fi'om the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the City, its officers, officials,
employees, agents and volunteers, the Consultant's liability lrereunder shall be only to the extent of the
Consultant's negligence. The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this
Agreement.

IT IS FURTHER SPECIFICALLY AND EXPRESSLY UNDERS'TOOD THAT THE
INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED HEREIN CONSTITUTES THE CONSULTANT'S WAIVER OF
IMMUNITY LINDER INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE, TITLE 5I RCW, SOLEL,Y FOR THE PURPOSES
OF THIS INDEMNIFICATION. THE PARTIES FURTHER ACKNOWLEDCE THAT].HEY HAVE
MUTUALLY NECOTIATED THIS WAIVER.

13. Insurance

The Consultant shall procure and nraintain for the duration of this Agreernent. insurance against
claints for injuries to persons or damage to propcrty which nray arise fi'om or in connection with the
perfonnance of the work hereunder bv the Consultant, its agents, repl€sentatives, or employees. Before
City of Port Orchard and Kt'qzan & Associutes
I'ublic W orks I'rojecr No.PW2020-005
On Call Prolessiortol Service Ag,reenrent Contract No. 036-20
U:\Assl En-q\On.Call i\laleriil feslr Dgi20 | 

q.:0:0\10 
I 9 MAS I E R On Cnll Prof S\cs Tcn|Plarc 1 $idt CP an(l Stjc cdirel 8 !8 I 9 rlocr

5ofll
Rcv 8/28/20 I 9

Page 47 of 779



beginning work on the project described in this Agreernent. the Consultant shall providc cvidence. in the
form of a Certificate of Insurance, of the following insurance coverage and limits (at a nrinimum):

A. Mirrimum Scope of Insurance

Consultant shall obtain insurance o1'the types desctibed below:

Automobile Liabilitv insulance covelirrg all orvned. rron-owned. hired and leased
vehicles. Coverage shall be written on Insurance Services Office (lSO) form CA 00 0l
or a substitute fbrm providing equivalent liability coverage, If necessary, the policy
shall be endolsed to ptovide contractual liability coverage.

2. Cornmercial General Liability insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence forrn CG
00 0l or a substitute forrn providing equivalent liability coverage and shall cover
liability arising flonr prernises, operations, independent contlactors and personal injury
and advertising injury. The City shall be named by endorsement as an additional
insured urrder the Consultant's Commelcial General Liabiliry insulance policy with
respect to the rvork perforrned for the Ciry.

3. Workers'Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the
State of Washington.

4. Professional Liability insurancc appropriate to the Consultant's profession.

B. Minirnunr Arnounts of Insurance

Consultant shall maintain the following insurance limits

l. Automobile Liability insnrance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily
injury and properly damage of $ I ,000,000 per accident.

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written 
"vith 

limits no less than
$1,000,000 each occulrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate.

3. Workers' Compensation Employer's Liability each accident $1,000,000. Enrployer's
Liability Disease each ernployee $1,000,000, and Employer's Liability Disease -
Pol icy L.inrit S 1.000,000.

4. Professional Liabililv insurance shall be wriften with lirnits no less than $1,000,000
per claim and $1,000,000 policy aggregate limit.

C. Other Insurance Provisions

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following plovisions for
Automobile Liability. ProfessionalLiabiliry and Commercial GeneralLiability insurance:

l. The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respect the City.
Any insurance. self-insurance, or insulance pool coverage maintained by the City shall
be excess of the Consultant's insulance and shall not contribute with it.

City tl Port Orchard and Krazan & ,lssociates
I' u bl i c Works I' roj ec t N o. P W2 020-00 5
On Call Professional Service tlgt'eeilent (.ontract N"o. 036-20..,._-..._.
Ur\,{$ ErB\On-Call Nlater ial T.stirg\lD I 

q-10:0\:0 I 9 N{AS'n:R On CaJl laol S\ cs 'frnDl arr 1ri th CP and SEC edi b) I :8 | q (locl

6ofll

Rev 8/2lll2019

Page 48 of 779



2. The Consultant's insurance shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be
cancelled by either party, except after thi1ty (30) days prior written notice by certified
mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the City.

3. The City will not waive its right to subrogation against the Consultant. The
Consultant's insurance shall be endorsed acknowledging that the City will not waive
their right to subrogation. The Consultant's insurance shal I be endorsed to waive the
right of subrogation against the City, or any self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage
maintained by the City.

4. lf any coverage is written on a ·'claims made" basis, then a minimum of a three (3) year
extended reporting period shall be included with the claims made policy, and proof of
this extended reporting period provided to the City.

D. Acceptability ofrnsurers

Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best rating of not less than A:Vll.

E. Verification of Coverage

The Consultant shall furnish the City with original certificates and a copy of the amendatory 
endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the additional insured endorsement, 
evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before commencement of the work. 

14. Assigning or Subcontracting

The Consultant shall not assign, transfer, subcontract or encumber any rights, duties, or interests
accruing from this Agreement without the express prior written consent of the City, which consent may be 
withheld in the sole discretion of the City. 

15. Notice

Any notices required to be given by the City to the Consultant or by the Consultant to the City shall be
in writing and delivered to the parties at the following addresses: 

Robert Putaansuu 
Mayor 
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 

Phone: 360.876.4407 
Fax: 360.895.9029 

16. Resolution of Disputes and Governing Law

Krazan & Associates Attn: 
Wes Mahan 
1230 NW Finn Hill Rd #A
Poulsbo, WA 98370

             360 598 2126
        N/A
Phone:--------
Fax: ________ � 

A. Should any dispute, misunderstanding or conflict arise as to the terms and conditions
contained in this Agreement the matter shall first be referred to the Mayor, who shall determine the term 

City of Port Orchard and Krazan & Associates 
Public Works Project No PW:2020-005 
011 Call Professional Service Agreement Contract No. 036-20 __ 
LT 1Assl E11g\011-Catl l\la1�11al T o::Slmt;\,!0\(.l.:!020\2019 M,·\S l ER On Ct1II P,of S, i.:s I c111µla1i: 1wi1l1 CP a11J Sl:C cclil.S) It 2H I ti Jon 

7 of 11 

Rev 8/28/2019 

Page 49 of 779



or provision's true intcnt oI mcaning. The Mayor shall also decide all questions which nray alise between
the parties relative to the actual services provided or to the sufficiency ofthe peltbrrnancc hereunder.

B. lf any dispute arises between thc City and the Clonsultant under any of the provisions of
this Agrcetnent rvhich cannot be resolvcd by the Mayor's detelmination in a reasonable time. or if the
Consultant does not agree tvith the Mayor's decision on a disputed matter. jurisdiction of any resulting
litigation shall be filed in Kitsap County Superiol Courl. Kitsap Courrty, Washington.

C. This Agreernent shall be governed by and construed in accoldance with the larvs of the
State of Washington. In any sLrit or action instituted to enforce any right glanted in this Agreement, the
substantially prevailirrg palty shall be entitled to l'ecover its costs, disbursements, and reasonable attorneys'
f'ees from the other party.

17. General Provisions

A. NS!:lVAlygLSf-BIBgh. The failure of eithel party to insist upon strict performance of any
ofthe covenants and agrecments containcd herein, or to exercise any option herein contained in one or more
inslances, shall not be construed to be a waivel or relinquishment of said covenants, agreements, or options,
and the same shall be in full force and effect,

B. Modification. No waiver, alteration, modification of any of the provisions of this
Agreement shall be binding unless in r.vriting and signed by a duly authorized representative of the City and

tlre Consultant.

C. Severabiliw. The provisions of this Agreement are declared to be severable. If any
provision of this Agreement is for any reason held by a court of conrpetent jurisdiction to lre invalid or
unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validify or constitutionality of
any other provision,

D. Entire Aereement. The written provisions of this Agreement, togethel rvith any Exhibits
and Appendices attached hercto, shall supcrscdc all prior verbal staternents of any officer or other
replesentative of the City. and such statements shall not be effective or be construed as entering into or
formingapartoforalteringinarrymannerwhatsoever,tlreAgreenrentortheAgreementdocunrents. The
entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereunder is contained in this
Agreement and the Exhibits and Appendices attached hereto, which may or may not have been dated prior
to the execution of this Agreement. All of the above documents are hereby made a part of this Agreement
and form the Agreement document as fully as if the same lvere set forth herein. Should any language in
any of the Exhibits or Appendices to this Agreement conflict with any language contained in this
Agreement, then this Agreement shall prevail.

18. Title VI

The City of Port Orchard. irr accordance with Title VI of the CivitRights Act of 1964,78 Stat.252"
42 U.S.C, 2000d to 2000d-4 and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations. Department of Transportation
subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, nondiscrimination in federally assisted progranrs of the
Departrnent of Transportation issued pursuant to such Act, rnust affirmativcly insure that its contracts
comply rvith these regulations.

(ity of Port Orchard and Krazan & tlssociates
[' u h I ic ll'orks P rojec t No. P 1V2020-005

On Call Professionol Senic:e Agreeuent ('ontrnct No. 036-20_
l l i,,\*st Erg\On-Call Nlaleri al Tcsting\l0 l c.:l)20\:0 l 9 NlASTIR On L 0ll llol Svcs 'l'eDplflte ( (i dr Ct' od SEC cdrls) 8 :S l c doc\

Sofll
Rcv 8/28/20 I 9

Page 50 of 779



Therefore. duringthe perfornrance of tlris Agreetnent, the Consultant, for itself, its assignees, and
successors in interest agrees as follows:

Compliance with Regulations: The Consultant'uvill comply with the Acts and the Regulations
re lative to Nondisclirnination in Federally-assisted prograrns of the U.S. Depaltment of
Transpoftation, Federal Flighway Adrninistration (FHWA), as they may be amended from tirne to
tirne, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement.

2. Nondiscrimination: The Consultant, with regard to the work perf,ormed by it during this
Agreernerrt, will not discrintinate orr the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex. age,
disability. income-level, or LEP in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including
procurenrents of materials and leases olequipnrent. The Consultant will not participate directly or
indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the Acts and the Regulations as set forth in
Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, including enployment
practices rvhen tlris Agreement covers any activity, project, or progrant set fbrth in Appendix B of
49 C.F.R. pail 2l .

3, Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment: In all
solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the Consuhant for work to be
performed under a subcontract. including procurements of materials, or leases of equiprnent, each
potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the Consultant of the Consultant's
obligations under this Agreement and the Acts and the Regulations relative to Non-discrimination
on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age. disability, income-level. or LEP.

4. Information and Reports: The Consultant will provide all information and reports required by
the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto and rvill permit access to its
books, records, accounts, other sources ofinformation, and its facilities as nray be deternrined by
the City or the FHWA to be pertinent to asceftain compliance r.vith such Acts. Regulations, and
instructions, Where any information required of the Consultant is in the exclusive possession of
another who fails or l'efuses to furnish the infomnation, the Consultant will so certiff to the City
ol the FHWA, as appropriate, and will set forth rvhat effolts it has made to obtain the information

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of the Consultant's noncompliance with the Non-
discrimination provisions of this Agreement. the City will irnpose such contract sanctions as it or
the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, including, but not linrited to:

L withholding payments to the Consultant under the Agreement until the contractor
complies; and/or

2. cancelling, terminating. or suspending the Agreement. in whole or in part.

6. lncorporation of Provisions: Tlre Consultant will include the provisions of paragraplrs one
through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of equiprnent,
unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto. The Consultant
lvill take action witlr respect to any subcontracl or procurement as the Cify ol the FHWA may
direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance. Prnvided,
that if the Consultant becomes involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or
supplier because of such direction, the Consultant may request the City to enter into any litigation
to protect the interests of the City. In addition, the Consultant may request the United States to
enter into the litigation to protect the interests ofthe United States,

City o/'Port Orchard and Krazan & Associates
l>uhlic l(orks Prcjecr No.P142020-005
On Coll Professional Ser-vice ilgreenen! Contracl No. 036-20
Ll:'A<t Eng\On-Call Nlaterial Testins\-201q.10?0\:Olg MAS'rHR On Call )'rofSvcs I rnrpla;lil;tp Md Sl:C ediB) I -18 lc (lo(l

9ofll
Rev 8/28/2019

Page 51 of 779



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have exeeuted this Agrsement on the day and year set forth
above.

CITY OF rcRTORCHARD,
WASHINGTON

CONSULTANT

'LJ^ {n
iJ€"rr )rra

(Jorro-1r...-*t ffJo.r*--o

By:
By;

Name:

Title:

Rsherr Putaansuu, Mayor

-- -{-

ATTEST

By

Byr

City Clelk

TE:

MMC

TO FORM:

,d, Archer, City

City of Port Orchord and Krazan & Associates
Public Workr Praject No.P192020-005
On Call Pro[essional Semice Agreensfi! Corrrract No. 0J6-20_
U;\Asl Utt\Or"toll Mltarid f6lingt:01F2020u019 MASTER qn Crll p6f Srs t nFlrtG t$i$(P.'d SEC €dirr) ! :s t9 docx

l0ofll
Rev 8/28/2019

Page 52 of 779



APPENDIX A

During the pertbrruance olthis Agleenrerrt. thc Consultarrl". tbr itsell. its assignees. arrd sLrccessors irr

intet'est asrees to cortrplv rvith the fbllorving nori-discrinrirration statutes arrd autholitics: irrcluding but not
linrited to:

Pertinent Non-f)iscrimination Authorities:

a I'itle Vlolthe L-ivilRiglrts Act of 1961142 U.S.C. d 2000d L't ser'i..78 stat. 2-52), (prohibits
discrirtrirtation ort thc'basis of race, color. national origirrl: arrd -19 C.F.R. Part 21.
The LJnitolnr Relocatiorr Assistarrce and Real Propert-v Acquisitiou Policies,Act ol 1970,(42
U.S.C. $ 460 I ). ( proh ibits urr la ir treatrn errt of pelsorrs d isp laced or u'hose property lras lreeu
accluired becaLtse of Fc'delal or'ltedelal-aid prosrauls and pro.iects):
Federal-Aid Highrvay Act ot 197:i. (2i tJ.S.C. S 324 et seq.). (prohibits disclirnirration ou the
basis ot'sex):
Sectiorr 504 of the Rehabilitatiorr Act ot'1973,(29 U.S.C. $ 794 etseq.), as anrended, (plohibits
disclinrination on the basis of disability): and 49 C.F.R. Part 27:
-fhe 

Age Discrirnination Act of 1975. as anrended, (42 U.S.C. $ 6l0l et seq.), (prohibits
disclinrinalion on the basis o1'age);
Ailport and Airwal.lrnprovernent Act of 19U2. (49 USC:$ 471. Section 471?'3). as arnended,
(prohibits disclirnination bascd on racc, creed, color. national origin. or se.r);
The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987. (PL 100-?09). (Broadeued the scope. coverage and
applicability of 'Iitle Vl of the Civil Riglrts Act of 1964.'Ihe Age Discrirnirration Act of 1975 and
Sectiou 504 of the Relralrilitatiou Act of 1973, by expanding thc definitiou o1'the tenns "progralns
or activities" to include all of the progranl.s or activities of the Federal-aid recipients. sub-
recipients antl contractors. whetlrer such proglanrs or activities ale Federally furrded or not);
l-itles II and lll of the Anrericans with Disabilities Act" which prohibit discliniination on the basis
of disability irr the operation of,public entities, public and private trallsportation systerus, places

olpLrblic acconrrrrodation, and certain testing entities (42 U.S.C. S$ l2l3l-12189) as

inrplenrented b), Department of Transportation legulations at 49 C,P,R, pafts 37 and 38;
The Fccleral Aviation Adnrinistlation's Non-discrinrinatiorr statute (49 tJ.S.C. N 47121) (prohibits
discrirnination on the basis of race, color. r'lational oligin, and sex);
Executive Order 12898. Federal Actiorrs to Adclress Environnrental Justice in Mirrority
Populatious and [.,orv-[nconre Populations, rvhich ensures disclirnination agairrst nrinotiry
populations b.u" discoura-9ing proglarns, policies, and activities u,ith disproportionatcly high and
adverse hurnarr health ol environrlrental effects on minority and low-inconte populatiotts:
Exc'cutive Oldt-'r' 13166, Irnprovirrg Access to Ser.vice.s 1bl Pelsons n'ith l-inrited English
Pt'oliciency. and resultirrg agency guidance, national origin disclirnination includes disclinrination
because of lirrrited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure cornpliance with'fitle VI. you must take
leasonable steps to -ensure that LEP persons lrave nreaningfirl access to your progralns (70 Fed.

Reg, at 74087 to 71 100)r

Title lX of'the Edr-rcation Anrendrnents of 1972. as amended, rvhich prohibits you fi'om
discrirninating because o{'sex in educatiorr progranrs or activities (20 U.S.C. 168 I et seq).

a

o

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

Cirv oJ Port Orchard atttl Kra:an & Associates
P u b I i t I4:o rks P roj ect N o. P LV2 02 0-00 5

On Cutl f'roJessiornl Senice Agreentetrt Contvct No. 036-20_-*
ll i$r lirli{O'r-Calt\lal.rrAl'f.sriflg.l0lq.:010'10l9illASIliR0n('alllr4fS\cj-li'nr['lare(wirhCl'atdSt:Cedr$)8.l8lgdoc\

llof ll

Rev 8/28/20 I 9

Page 53 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4I Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 

Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Authorizing  Prepared by: Tony Lang 
 the Mayor to Execute a Nonexclusive   Public Works Director 
 Perpetual Easement with Puget Sound  Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 
 Energy for the East Fifteen (15) Feet of  Atty Review Date: 6/7/2023 
 a City-Owned Property, Kitsap County    
 Tax Parcel No. 4625-000-003-0103   

Summary: The City of Port Orchard owns a parcel of land parallel and adjacent to Bethel Rd SE, Kitsap 
County Tax Parcel No. 4625-000-003-0103 (hereinafter the “Property”). Puget Sound Energy (PSE) has 
requested from the City of Port Orchard a nonexclusive perpetual easement over, along, across and 
through that portion of the east fifteen (15) feet of the above-described property, lying parallel with and 
adjacent to Bethel Rd SE.  The easement is needed to ensure access to enable PSE to provide efficient 
power for the residents of the City of Port Orchard.  The Agreement would provide PSE the right to use the 
identified area to construct, operate, maintain, repair, replace, improve, remove or upgrade one or more 
guy wires, anchor poles and anchors together with any and all necessary or convenient appurtenances 
thereto, including but not limited to the following: Overhead Facilities, including poles and other support 
structures with crossarms, braces, guys and anchors; electric transmission and distribution lines; fiber optic 
cable and other lines, cables and facilities for communications; transformers, street lights, meters, fixtures, 
attachments; and any and all other facilities or appurtenances necessary or convenient to any or all of the 
foregoing.  The grant of easements over and across City-owned property requires authorization by the City 
Council.  The City Council finds that the grant of the requested Easement is in the best interests of the 
residents of Port Orchard.  

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 7.3- Non-City Managed Utilities 

Recommendation: Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a Resolution authorizing the Mayor to 
execute a Nonexclusive Perpetual Easement with Puget Sound Energy for the east 15 feet of Kitsap County 
Parcel No. 4625-000-003-0103, lying parallel and adjacent to Bethel Rd SE. 

Motion for Consideration: I move to adopt a Resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute a Nonexclusive 
Perpetual Easement with Puget Sound Energy. 

Fiscal Impact:  None.  

Alternatives:  Do not approve and provide alternative guidance. 
 

Attachments: Resolution 
 PSE Easement 

Page 54 of 779



 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  _______ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A NONEXCLUSIVE 
PERPETUAL EASEMENT WITH PUGET SOUND ENERGY (PSE) FOR 
THE EAST FIFTEEN (15) FEET OF KITSAP COUNTY TAX PARCEL NO. 
4625-000-003-0103, LYING PARALLEL WITH AND ADJACENT TO 
BETHEL RD SE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Port Orchard owns a parcel of land located adjacent to Bethel Rd SE, 
Kitsap County Tax Parcel No. 4625-000-003-0103 (hereinafter the “Property”); and 
  
 WHEREAS, Puget Sound Energy has requested from the City of Port Orchard a 
nonexclusive perpetual easement over, along, across and through that portion of the east 
fifteen (15) feet of the Property, lying parallel with and adjacent to Bethel Rd SE; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement would provide Puget Sound Energy the right to use the 
identified area to construct, operate, maintain, repair, replace, improve, remove or upgrade 
one or more guy wires, anchor poles and anchors together with any and all necessary or 
convenient appurtenances thereto, including but not limited to the following: Overhead 
Facilities, including poles and other support structures with crossarms, braces, guys and 
anchors; electric transmission and distribution lines; fiber optic cable and other lines, cables 
and facilities for communications; transformers, street lights, meters, fixtures, attachments and 
any and all other facilities or appurtenances necessary or convenient to any or all of the 
foregoing; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the easement is needed to ensure access to enable PSE to provide efficient 
power for the residents of the City of Port Orchard; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the grant of easements over and across City-owned property requires 
authorization by the City Council; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the City Council desires to grant the easement to Puget Sound Energy under the 
terms and conditions contained therein; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the grant of the requested Easement is in the best 
interests of the residents of Port Orchard; Now, Therefore, 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Page 55 of 779



Resolution No. _______ 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

THAT:   It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above are 
hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of the Resolution.  

 
THAT:  The Port Orchard City Council approves of and authorizes the Mayor to execute a 
nonexclusive perpetual easement with Puget Sound Energy for the east fifteen (15) feet 
of Kitsap County Tax Parcel No. 4625-000-003-0103, lying parallel with and adjacent to 
Bethel Rd SE, in a form acceptable to the City Attorney. 
 
THAT: This Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 
hereon. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 

by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 
 

 
   ___     
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
    
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk  
 
 
 

Page 56 of 779



City of Port Orchard Bethel & Lincoln Intersection Improvement Project – (P13 & P15)                                                                                     Page 1 of 3 
WO #101144788 / RW- 129921 / Not. 11929897                                                                                            

 

 
 
RETURN ADDRESS: 
Puget Sound Energy, Inc. 
ROW Department  
Attn:  Michelle Koch 
3130 South 38th Street 
Tacoma, WA 98409 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

EASEMENT 
 
 

REFERENCE #:  
GRANTOR:     CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
GRANTEE:   PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC. 
SHORT LEGAL:  PTN LOT 3, PORT ORCHARD VILLA TRACTS / PTN NE ¼ SE ¼ 35-24N-01E 
ASSESSOR’S TAX #: 4625-000-003-0103 
 
 
For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, CITY OF PORT 
ORCHARD, a Washington municipal corporation (“Owner"), hereby grants and conveys to PUGET SOUND ENERGY, 
INC., a Washington corporation ("PSE"), for the purposes hereinafter set forth, a nonexclusive perpetual easement 
over, along, across and through the following described real property in KITSAP County, Washington (the "Property"): 

 
THE SOUTH HALF OF THE SOUTH HALF OF LOT 3, OF PORT ORCHARD VILLA 
TRACTS, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN VOLUME 4 OF PLATS, PAGE 100, 
RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY AUDITOR;  
 
EXCEPT THE EAST 30 FEET; 
 
SITUATE IN THE COUNTY OF KITSAP, STATE OF WASHINGTON. 
 

Except as may be otherwise set forth herein, PSE's rights shall be exercised upon that portion of the Property the 
("Easement Area") described as follows: 
 

THE EAST FIFTEEN (15) FEET OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED PROPERTY, LYING PARALLEL 
WITH AND ADJACENT TO BETHEL RD SE. 

 
1. Purpose.  PSE shall have the right to use the Easement Area to construct, operate, maintain, repair, 

replace, improve, remove or upgrade one or more guy wires, anchor poles and anchors together with any and all 
necessary or convenient appurtenances thereto, including but not limited to the following; 

 
Overhead facilities.  Poles and other support structures with crossarms, braces, guys and anchors; 
electric transmission and distribution lines; fiber optic cable and other lines, cables and facilities for 
communications; transformers, street lights, meters, fixtures, attachments and any and all other facilities 
or appurtenances necessary or convenient to any or all of the foregoing. 

  

Page 57 of 779



City of Port Orchard Bethel & Lincoln Intersection Improvement Project – (P13 & P15)                                                                                     Page 2 of 3 
WO #101144788 / RW- 129921 / Not. 11929897                                                                                            

 

Following the initial construction of all or a portion of its systems, PSE may, from time to time, construct such additional 
facilities as it may require for such systems. 
 

2.  Access.  PSE shall have a reasonable right of access to the Easement Area over and across the Property 
to enable PSE to exercise its rights granted in this easement. 

 
3.  Easement Area Clearing and Maintenance.  PSE shall have the right to cut, remove and dispose of any 

and all brush, trees or other vegetation in the Easement Area and in the immediate area adjacent to the Anchor, guy-
wire or pole.  PSE shall also have the right to control, on a continuing basis and by any prudent and reasonable means, 
the establishment and growth of brush, trees or other vegetation in the Easement Area. 
 

5.  Restoration.  Following the initial installation, repair or extension of its facilities, PSE shall, to the extent 
reasonably practicable, restore landscaping and surfaces and portions of the Property affected by PSE’s work to the 
condition existing immediately prior to such work.  PSE shall use good faith efforts to perform its restoration obligations 
under this paragraph as soon as reasonably possible after the completion of PSE’s work. 

 
6.  Owner’s Use of Easement Area.  Owner reserves the right to use the Easement Area for any purpose 

not inconsistent with the rights herein granted, provided, however, Owner shall not perform the following activities 
without PSE’s prior written consent: (1) excavate within or otherwise change the grade of the Easement Area; (2) 
construct or maintain any buildings, structures or other objects on the Easement Area; and/or (3) conduct any blasting 
within 300 feet of PSE's facilities. 

 
7.  Indemnity.  PSE agrees to indemnify Owner from and against liability incurred by Owner as a result of 

PSE’s negligence, or the negligence of PSE’s employees, agents or contractors in the exercise of the rights herein 
granted to PSE, but nothing herein shall require PSE to indemnify Owner for that portion of any such liability attributable 
to the negligence of Owner, its employees, agents or contractors or the negligence of third parties. 

 
8.  Attorneys’ Fees.  The prevailing party in any lawsuit brought to enforce or interpret the terms of this 

Easement shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in said suit, including on appeal. 
 
9.  Successors and Assigns.  This Easement is binding upon and will inure to the benefit of the successors 

and permitted assigns of the parties.  PSE may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights, obligations or interest 
under this Easement without the prior written consent of Owner, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, PSE may assign this Easement to an affiliate or in connection with a merger, acquisition, 
corporate reorganization, sale of assets or other change in control. 

 
10. Complete Agreement; Amendment; Counterparts.  This Easement contains the entire agreement of 

the parties with respect to this subject matter and supersedes all prior writings or discussions relating to the Easement.  
This Easement may not be amended except by a written document executed by the authorized representatives of 
Owner and PSE.  This Easement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be treated as an original for all 
purposes and all executed counterparts shall constitute one agreement. 

11.  Warranty and Representation of Authority.  The parties each represent to the other that the person or 
persons executing this Easement have authority to do so and to bind the parties hereunder.  All consents, permissions 
and approvals related to this Easement, and the obligations hereunder, have been obtained.  Owner further warrants 
to PSE that it has the necessary right, title and interests in the Property to grant the easement rights set forth herein. 

12. Severability.  Invalidation of any of the provisions contained in this Easement, or of the application thereof 
to any person, by judgment or court order, shall in no way affect any of the other provisions thereof or the application 
thereof to any other person and the same shall remain in full force and effect.  If a provision is found to be unenforceable 
or invalid, that provision shall be modified or partially enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law to effectuate 
the purpose of this agreement. 

13.  Non-Waiver.  The failure of any party to insist upon strict performance of any of the terms, covenants or 
conditions hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of any rights or remedies which that party may have hereunder or at 
law or equity and shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default in any of such terms, covenants 
or conditions. 

 
 

Page 58 of 779



City of Port Orchard Bethel & Lincoln Intersection Improvement Project – (P13 & P15)                                                                                     Page 3 of 3 
WO #101144788 / RW- 129921 / Not. 11929897                                                                                            

 

 
 

 
DATED this ______ day of_______________________, 2023. 

 
 

 
OWNER:       CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, a Washington municipal corporation 
 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
 
 
Title: __________________________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON  ) 
    ) SS 
COUNTY OF _________________  ) 
 
 On this _______ day of ______________________, 2023, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and 
for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared ___________________________, to 
me known to be the person who signed as __________________________, of the CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, the 
Washington municipal corporation that executed the within and foregoing instrument, and acknowledged said 
instrument to be his/her free and voluntary act and deed and the free and voluntary act and deed of the CITY OF PORT 
ORCHARD for the uses and purposes therein mentioned; and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute 
the said instrument on behalf of said municipal corporation. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF I have hereunto set my hand and official seal the day and year first above written. 
 
 _______________________________________ 
 (Signature of Notary) 
 _______________________________________ 
 (Print or stamp name of Notary) 
 NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of   
 Washington, residing at ___________________ 
 My Appointment Expires: __________________ 
 
 
 
Notary seal, text and all notations must not be placed within 1” margins 
 

Page 59 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 

 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4J Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving the  Prepared by: Tony Lang 

 Purchase of a Towmaster Trailer for the   Public Works Director 
 Equipment Rental Revolving Fund 500     Atty Routing No.: 366922-0009 
  Atty Review Date: 06/07/2023 

 
 

Summary:  The City requires a larger, heavy-duty trailer for transporting large and heavy equipment to 
project sites.  The expense for the trailer is budgeted in the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget, which includes 
$50,000 in the Equipment Rental Revolving Fund 500 (ER&R) for the purchase.  
 
The City has an interlocal agreement with purchasing cooperative Sourcewell (City Contract No. C075-14). 
Pursuant to the City’s fleet standardization policies, staff identified a trailer manufactured by Towmaster 
Trailers as the desired equipment for purchase. The City’s Public Works Department identified Peak 
Machinery dba Bobcat of Olympia (“Bobcat”), as an authorized dealer of Towmaster Trailers and as an 
approved vendor for the desired equipment, awarded via Sourcewell Contract No. 092922-MNR. Staff 
reviewed the procurement process utilized by Sourcewell for this contract, confirming the procurement 
requirements were met and obtained necessary documentation regarding procurement. On May 24, 2023, 
pursuant to the City’s Procurement Procedures Policies adopted as Resolution No. 036-22, as amended, 
Public Works staff requested and received a quote of $53,895.59 (applicable tax included) from Bobcat for 
a T-30T Towmaster Trailer.    
 
On May 25, 2023, the City’s Public Works Department completed the Interlocal Agreement Purchase 
Checklist for Bobcat. Staff confirmed the quoted price is consistent with the pricing set out in the 
Sourcewell contract and that all applicable statutory procurement requirements were met.  The ER&R 
equipment listed in the quote meets the City’s fleet standardization policies.  The City’s Procurement 
Policies require City Council authorization for purchasing items costing $35,000 or more.  The Vendor 
Quote is for the purchase of a trailer in an amount that exceeds the $35,000 authorization limit.   
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approving a Resolution approving the purchase of a T-30T 
Towmaster Trailer in accordance with the City’s fleet standardization policies and the 2023-2024 Biennial 
Budget. 
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  N/A 

Page 60 of 779



 
 

 

Motion for consideration: “I move to approve a Resolution authorizing the purchase of a T-30T Towmaster 
Trailer in accordance with the City’s fleet standardization policies and the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget.” 
 
Fiscal Impact:  $50,000 is budgeted in the 2023-2024 Budget (GL Code 500.10.594.76.60) for the trailer.  

A budget adjustment may be needed. 
 
Alternatives:      Do not approve and provide alternative guidance. 
 
Attachment:       Resolution  
           Exhibit A:  ER&R Purchase Request including Vendor quote. 
            ILA Checklist 
 

Page 61 of 779



RESOLUTION NO. ______-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, APPROVING 
THE PURCHASE OF A TOWMASTER TRAILER FOR THE EQUIPMENT RENTAL 
REVOLVING FUND 500 (ER&R) AND DOCUMENTING PROCUREMENT 
PROCEDURES.  
  
WHEREAS, the City requires a larger, heavy-duty trailer for transporting large and heavy 

equipment to project sites; and     
 
WHEREAS, the City has an interlocal agreement with purchasing cooperative Sourcewell 

(City Contract No. C075-14) which allows the City to utilize the contracts procured by 
Sourcewell for services and purchases, so long as the City confirms the contract complies with 
all applicable statutory procurement requirements for the purchase or service, per RCW 
39.34.030; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the City’s fleet standardization policies, staff identified a trailer 

manufactured by Towmaster as the desired equipment for purchase; and 
 
WHEREAS, consistent with City Contract No. C075-14 and the City’s Procurement 

Procedures Policies, adopted as Resolution No. 036-22, as amended, the City’s Public Works 
Department identified Peak Machinery dba Bobcat of Olympia (“Bobcat”) as an Authorized 
Dealer of Towmaster Trailers and as an approved vendor for the desired equipment, awarded 
via Sourcewell Contract No. 092922-MNR; and 

 
WHEREAS, Staff reviewed the procurement process utilized by Sourcewell for this 

contract to confirm the procurement requirements were met and obtained necessary 
documentation from Sourcewell and the vendor to confirm statutory procurement 
requirements were met; and  
 

WHEREAS, on May 24, 2023, Public Works staff requested and received a quote from 
Bobcat of $44,431.65 (plus applicable tax) for a total purchase price of $53,895.59; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on May 25, 2023, the City’s Public Works Department completed the 
Interlocal Agreement Purchase Checklist for the selected vendor and confirmed the quoted 
price was consistent with Sourcewell Contract No. 092922-MNR; and 

 
WHEREAS, the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget includes funding in Equipment Rental and 

Revolving Fund 500 (ER&R) for the purchases of the trailer, respectively; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Procurement Policies require City Council authorization for 

purchasing items costing $35,000 or more; and 
 

Page 62 of 779



Resolution No. ____-23 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Bobcat quote attached as Exhibit A is for the purchase of ER&R 
Equipment in an amount that exceeds the $35,000 authorization limit; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council, at the 2015 recommendation of the State 
Auditor's Office, wishes to document their selection/procurement process as described herein 
for this purchase by Resolution; Now, Therefore, 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS:   
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 
are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 

 
 THAT: The City Council approves the purchase from Peak Machinery dba Bobcat of 

Olympia in the amount of $53,895.59 (applicable tax included). The Mayor or his designee 
is authorized to take all actions necessary to effectuate the purchase consistent with this 
authorization. 

 
THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 
hereon. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and 

attested by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage on this 13th day of June 2023.   
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Robert Putaansuu, Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________  
City Clerk, Brandy Wallace, MMC 
 
 

Page 63 of 779



RCW 43.19.648 – Requires all local governments to convert their vehicle fleets to electricity or 

biofuel. Local governments are required to transition all vehicles to electricity or biofuels to the 

extent practicable. WAC 194-29-030 provides further guidance regarding this issue. If it is not 

practical for local governments to use electricity or biofuel for police, fire or emergency response 

vehicles, including utility vehicles frequently used for emergency response, it is encouraged to 

consider alternate fuels and vehicle technologies to displace gasoline and diesel fuel use.  

Please attach the quote for vehicle / equipment. 

Description of item: 

Procurement method: 

Department 

  Water  Sewer   Storm  Street      Public Works   DCD   Police   Admin 

Addition or Replacement 

Addition to Fleet - Please state business case for addition: 

Replacement Vehicle / Equipment being replaced: 

Fleet Standardization 

Requested Vehicle / Equipment follows fleet standardization 

Requested Vehicle / Equipment DOES NOT follow Standardization.  List items that are 
not fleet standard and reason for addition. 

ER&R 

Replacement or Addition 
Purchase Request

B

X

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Ex. A

Page 64 of 779

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


Requested Vehicle / Equipment does not have a standard 

Cost 

Fleet standard cost 
Additional cost for consideration and business case: 

TOTAL 

STANDARDS FOR VEHICLES 

Police Department Standard Vehicle 

Model Chassis Drive Train Color Graphics Accessories 

Ford Sedans Automatic Black City Decal Lights 

SUV 2WD Vehicle Number Radios 

4WD Antennas 

AWD 

Public Works and Planning Standard Truck 

Model Chassis Cab Size Drive Train Color Graphics Accessories 

Ford 1/2 Ton Regular Automatic White City Logo Lights 

3/4 Ton Extended 2WD Truck Number Radios 

1 Ton Crew Cab 4WD Antennas 

Tool Boxes 

Administration and Planning Standard Vehicle 

Type Chassis Drive Train Color Graphics Accessories 

Electric Sedans Automatic White City Logo Lights 

Biofuel SUV 2WD Vehicle Number Radios 

4WD Antennas 

AWD 

I have reviewed the vehicles / equipment listed above and request approval for purchase. 

_____________________________ _________________________ 

Department Director Date 

5/25/2023

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 65 of 779

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


Approved for purchase by: 

_Gretchen Isaksson____________________5/31/23________ _______
__________________

 

ER&R Representative  Date 

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 66 of 779

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


Product Quotation 
Quotation Number: 42535D042797 
Date: 2023-05-24 15:50:13 

Ship to Bobcat Dealer Bill To 
Public Works Dept 
Attn: Jeff Heglund 
1535 Vivian Court 
67EA8F4270 9.3% 1802 
Port Orchard, WA  98366 
Phone: (360) 876-4407 
Email: 
jheglund@portorchardwa.gov 

Peak Machinery dba Bobcat of 
Olympia 
3121 Pacific Ave. SE 
Olympia WA 98502 
Contact: Brent Pawson 
Phone: (253) 345-8315 
E Mail: brentpawson@peak-
machinery.com 

City of Port Orchard 
Attn: Jeff Heglund 
216 Prospect St. 
Port Orchard, WA  98366 
Phone: (360) 876-4407 

Description Part No Qty Price Ea. Total 
Towmaster T-30 MONROE TOWMASTER (SOURCEWELL) 
CONTRACT# 092922-MNR  ***See attached Build Sheet from 
Towmaster*** 

1 $44,292.40 $44,292.40 

Total of Items Quoted $44,292.40 
Other Charges: Title/Registration $139.25 
Sales total before Taxes $44,431.65 
Taxes: FET Tax over 26,000 GVWR $5,331.80 
Taxes: 9.3% $4,132.14 
Added Charge Documentation Fee (Waived for a Cash Sale) $0.00 
Added Charge ***Pricing includes all Discounts and/or Applicable 

Rebates*** 
$0.00 

Added Charge **FREIGHT CHARGES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE 
WITHOUT NOTICE** Final cost will be determined at the 
time of delivery 

$0.00 

Quote Total - US dollars $53,895.59 

Notes: 
Net 30 - with Purchase Order made out to Peak Machinery dba Bobcat of Olympia 

Dealer will register trailer prior to delivery 

All prices subject to change without prior notice or obligation.  This price quote supersedes all preceding price quotes. 

Customer Acceptance: Purchase Order: ___________________________ 

Authorized Signature: 

Print:_________________________  Sign:_________________________   Date: ________ 5/25/2023Tony Lang

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 67 of 779

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


TRLQF00

Ship To:               Cust:            Phone: Bill To:                                     Phone:

ATTN:

Reference No.

Discounts:

Accepted by Date

PO# Salesman Created Last Revised Appx CompTerms

Serial No.

Price:
Total Discounts:

Net Cost:

Freight

Total Due:

FET required on all trailers with a GVWR OF 26,000 lbs or more.

Material Surcharge:

Fuel Surcharge:

QUOTATION

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
216 PROSPECT ST

PORT ORCHARD

MONROE TOWMASTER (SOURCEWELL)
CONTRACT# 092922-MNR
61381 US HWY 12

LITCHFIELD

Brent Pawson

ANNA JOHNSON

QT   79614

CASH IN ADVANCE 5/18/23 5/18/23

16%    %    %    %

11

 Build Instructions  City of Port Orchard

216 Prospect St

Port Orchard, WA 98366-5304

ID# 26305

JEFF HEGLUND 360-519-9984

JHEGLUND@PORTORCHARDWA.COM

 Qty Feature Description List

   1 Base Model - T-30T $49,500.00

  24 Deck Length - In Feet

  24 Decking Type - 2'' Nominal Oak

   1 Overall Width - 102" Wide

   1 Stationary Deck - 4' stationary deck

   2 Axles - 15k Oil Bath, Spring Ride, 49" Spread

   2 Brakes - Electric

   8 Tires - 215/75Rx17.5(H)

   8 Wheels - 8 Bolt, Outboard, Hub Piloted, Steel

   1 Jack - 25K 2 Speed

   1 Lights - L.E.D.

   1 Plug - 7 Pole Round

   1 Hitch/Neck - 3'' Pintle Ring

  *--- Continued ---*

WA 98366 USA MN   55355

NOTE:  If changes are made to an order after a P.O. has

been issued, a fee may be assessed and a revised or new

P.O. MUST BE submitted to reflect changes.

0/00/00

5/25/2023

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 68 of 779

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


TRLQF00

Ship To:               Cust:            Phone: Bill To:                                     Phone:

ATTN:

Reference No.

Discounts:

Accepted by Date

PO# Salesman Created Last Revised Appx CompTerms

Serial No.

Price:
Total Discounts:

Net Cost:

Freight

Total Due:

FET required on all trailers with a GVWR OF 26,000 lbs or more.

Material Surcharge:

Fuel Surcharge:

QUOTATION

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
216 PROSPECT ST

PORT ORCHARD

MONROE TOWMASTER (SOURCEWELL)
CONTRACT# 092922-MNR
61381 US HWY 12

LITCHFIELD

Brent Pawson

ANNA JOHNSON

QT   79614

CASH IN ADVANCE 5/18/23 5/18/23

16%    %    %    %

11

$50,360.00
$8,057.60

 Qty Feature Description List

   1 Trailer Color - Equipment Black

  12 Tie Downs - D-Rings $70.00

2 per side of stat and 4 per side of tilt

   1 Option - Spare Tire Mounting Bracket, mount flat on tongue $165.00

   1 Loose Items - Spare Tire & Wheel 215/75Rx17.5(H) $625.00

Freight $1,990.00

$42,302.40

WA 98366 USA MN   55355

NOTE:  If changes are made to an order after a P.O. has

been issued, a fee may be assessed and a revised or new

P.O. MUST BE submitted to reflect changes.

0/00/00

$1,990.00

$44,292.40

5/25/2023

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 69 of 779

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
PURCHASES THROUGH INTERLOCAL AGREEMENTS 

 

City Contract No.: 075-14   
Interlocal Agreement with the Host Agency (government agency or Purchasing Co-Op name):  Sourcewell 
 

Item Description: _______Towmaster Trailer T-30T_________        
               
               
 

Do you have an Interlocal agreement signed with the Contract (host) Agency? 
☒  If yes, where is it filed:  __City Clerk______  
  If no, get a mutually signed Agreement in place before you continue. 

 

State OSP Contract No.#: Sourcewell #092922-MNR     
If you have an Office of State Procurement (OSP) contract number you may skip the remainder of this test 
because the OSP contracts comply with remaining requirements and retain the documentation on hand for 
SAO to review in the OSP offices. 
 

Is this a technology contract?     
  If yes, do your own rules allow for technology contracts to be negotiated? 
  If your own rules allow for negotiated IT contracts, you can skip this test. 

 

Is this a services contract?     
  If yes, do your own rules allow services to be negotiated? 
  If your own rules allow for negotiated services, you can skip the remainder of the test. 
 

Are you using this as only one of multiple quotes, for a small purchase?     
  If yes, you can skip the remainder of the test.  Your purchase will not mandate the sealed bid rules. 
 
 

Checklist for Required Compliance 
Is the Host agency a public agency1?  ☒  Yes ☐ No If Yes, what state laws apply to Host Agency: 

Minnesota 
Does the host agency have a requirement 
to run a newspaper ad in their local paper 
and did they comply 

☒  Yes ☐ No Federal and State contract rules usually don’t 
require a newspaper ad.  For others, attach the 
ad or place into the file 

Did they list on the public agency’s 
website?  

☒  Yes ☐ No If Yes, state when and the address, and proof 
of date, address shall be attached or placed into 
the file. If No, you cannot use the bid. 

Did the bid & award comply with the 
Host agency’s state procurement laws? 

☒  Yes ☐ No If Yes, obtain documentation to support answer 
from Host Agency.  If No, you cannot use the 
bid. 

 

 
1 RCW 39.34.020 (1), “public agency” means any agency, political subdivision, or unit of local government of this state including, but 
not limited to, municipal corporations, quasi municipal corporations, special purpose districts, and local service districts; any agency 
of the state government; any agency of the United States; any Indian tribe recognized as such by the federal government; and any 
political subdivision of another state 

Page 70 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
Agenda Staff Report 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4K Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Authorizing Prepared by: Charlotte Archer, Atty 

 an Interlocal Agreement with Kitsap  Angela Garcia, DCD 
 County Fire Marshal for Fireworks     Atty Routing No: 366922-0011 
 Display Permitting and Inspection Services  Atty Review Date: 6/7/2023 

 
Summary:  Consistent with chapter RCW 70.77, the City of Port Orchard regulates “Display Fireworks” 
and the “Public Display” of fireworks through Port Orchard Municipal Code (“POMC”) Chapter 5.60, 
which sets forth permitting and inspection requirements for these types of events. City staff lacks the 
resources and expertise to review and inspect Display Fireworks, while the Kitsap County Fire Marshal 
has the necessary expertise. Accordingly, staff and Kitsap County have negotiated an Interlocal 
Agreement between the two agencies to provide for the Kitsap County Fire Marshal to assist with 
permitting and to perform necessary inspections for Display Fireworks and the associated events.  The 
County is requiring the City to pay the Fire Marshal’s hourly rate for these services.  However, the 
current fee for Display Fireworks set by POMC 5.60.010 is $100 per event and will not cover the cost 
associated with this public service for 2023 but will be amended for future years’ events.  
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends adoption of a Resolution, authorizing the Mayor to execute a 
Contract with KCI Technologies, Inc. for Asset Management Program Development and On-Call 
Consulting Support in an amount not to exceed $150,000 and documenting the Professional Services 
procurement procedures.    
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: N/A  
  
Motion for Consideration: I move to adopt a Resolution, authorizing the Mayor to execute an 
Interlocal Agreement with Kitsap County for Fireworks Display Inspection and Oversight.  
 
Fiscal Impact: A portion of the cost is paid by the applicant, while the unsubsidized cost of the 

County’s services is anticipated to be approximately $300.00 per event. The City is in the 
process of amending POMC 5.60.010 to ensure the total cost is paid by the applicant in 
future years.  

 
Alternatives:  Do not authorize and provide alternative guidance. 
 
Attachments: Resolution  
 Interlocal Agreement 
  

Page 71 of 779



10687717.1 - 366922 - 0001 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN INTERLOCAL 
AGREEMENT WITH KITSAP COUNTY FOR FIREWORKS DISPLAY 
PERMITTING AND INSPECTIONS CONTRACT WITH KCI 
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES FOR ASSET 
MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL 
CONSULTING SUPPORT AND DOCUMENTING PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES 

 
WHEREAS, consistent with chapter RCW 70.77, the City of Port Orchard regulates 

“Display Fireworks” and the “Public Display” of fireworks through Port Orchard Municipal Code 
(“POMC”) Chapter 5.60, which sets forth permitting and inspection requirements for these 
types of events; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has identified a need for an Asset Management Plan to assess, 

document, and track the City’s infrastructurespecialized expertise in the permitting and 
associated inspections of “Display Fireworks” and associated “Public Display” events; and 

 
WHEREAS, in 2022 the City hired retained a consultant to help develop an Asset 

Management Plan, and to plan propose for the type of asset management software programs 
to implement the Plan  that would best meet the needs of the Citythe Kitsap County Fire 
Marshal has the necessary expertise to review these types of permits and to conduct the 
necessary inspections; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to the limited resources and expertise of staff, the City wishes to retain a 

qualified consultant to develop procedures for the program management and implementation 
of the Asset Management Plan, in conjunction with City staffand Kitsap County desire to enter 
into an Interlocal Agreement whereby Kitsap County will provide these services, pursuant to 
the Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 39.34 RCW; and 

 
WHEREAS, on April 11, 2023, pursuant to the City’s Procurement Policies Resolution No. 

036-22, as amended, the City’s Public Works Department established a list of qualified 
consultants for the project from the MRSC 2023 Consultant Roster for the Main Category – 
Financial Services-Information Technology Services and Sub-Category – Asset Management, 
Data Infrastructure Management; and  

 
 WHEREAS, on April 11, 2023, the City’s Public Works Department selected three 

(3) qualified consultants from the MRSC 2023 Consultant Roster and reviewed their Statements 
of Qualification; and 

 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5", Widow/Orphan control,
Tab stops: Not at  0.5"

Page 72 of 779



10687717.1 - 366922 - 0001 

 WHEREAS, after reviewing the Statement of Qualifications and independently 
scoring the three (3) selected consultants, Public Works Staff verified the consultant’s 
information and determined KCI Technologies, Inc., met the requirements and criteria for the 
project and was a qualified, responsible and responsive consultant for the project; and  

 
WHEREAS, on May 5, 2023, Public Works Staff met with KCI Technologies, Inc., to 

discuss, clarify and develop the project understanding and the associated contract terms; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on May 9, 2023, the City received a defined Scope of Work, Budget 

and Project Timeline for the Project; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council believes KCI Technologies, Inc. to be the most 

highly qualified consulting firm for this Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council, at the 2015 recommendation of the State 
Auditor’s Office, wishes to document their consultant selection process as described above for 
this particular contract by Resolutionfinds it is in the best interests of the residents of Port 
Orchard to execute the Interlocal Agreement with Kitsap County for these services to ensure 
fireworks display events are able to occur safely within the City; Now, Therefore,  

 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 
are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 
 
 THAT:  The City Council approves and authorizes the Mayor to execute a Contract with 
KCI Technologies, Inc. for consultant services for the Project, including asset management 
program development and on-call consulting support for the Projecn Interlocal Agreement with 
Kitsap County for Fireworks Display Inspection and Oversight, as attached hereto as Exhibit A 
and incorporated herein by this referencet.  

 
THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 

hereon. 
 
 
 
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 
by the Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June, 2023. 

 
 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5", Adjust space between
Latin and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and
numbers

Formatted: Adjust space between Latin and Asian text,
Adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5", Adjust space between
Latin and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and
numbers

Formatted: Adjust space between Latin and Asian text,
Adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Page 73 of 779



10687717.1 - 366922 - 0001 

 
 
 
 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk, Brandy Wallace, MMC  

Page 74 of 779



   
 

KC-____-23 
PO-____-23 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD AND KITSAP COUNTY  
REGARDING FIREWORKS DISPLAY INSPECTION AND OVERSIGHT 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into between the City of Port Orchard 
(“the City) and Kitsap County (“the County”) under the authority of the Interlocal Cooperation 
Act, RCW 39.34. Individually they are “Party” and together they are “Parties.” 

WHEREAS, consistent with chapter RCW 70.77, the City regulates “Display Fireworks” 
and the “Public Display” of fireworks through Port Orchard Municipal Code (“POMC”) Chapter 
5.60, which sets forth permitting and inspection requirements for these events;  

WHEREAS, the Kitsap County Fire Marshal has specific expertise regarding the 
permitting and inspection requirements for the Public Display of fireworks, while the City does 
not currently have staffing with that necessary expertise;  

WHEREAS, the City desires to utilize the expertise of the County for these purposes, and 
the County has agreed to perform these duties as further described herein within the City;  

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to set forth an agreement regarding their cooperation and 
the is Agreement is made pursuant to the authority granted by s; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties have come to a mutual understanding as to their responsibilities 
and wish to set forth that understanding in writing.  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES HERETO AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Purpose of Agreement.  The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the mutual 
understanding of the Parties as to their respective roles, responsibilities, and duties regarding 
public fireworks displays located within the City. 

2. Parties’ Duties and Responsibilities. For Public Displays of fireworks occurring 
within the City of Port Orchard, as defined at POMC 5.60.005, the Parties agree to perform the 
following tasks:  

2.1. Permitting. Using an application form generated by the City in consultation 
with the County, the County will review and comment on all necessary permits for Public Display 
that are required under POMC 5.60.015 and any applicable state or local regulation. The City will 
be the point of initial contact and will receive complete applications. The City will then submit the 
applications to the County for processing. The Parties commit to develop a Standard Operating 
Procedure for the exchange of application materials and information, consistent with this Interlocal 
Agreement. Upon completing an application review, the County will recommend approval or 
denial of the permit and convey to the City the recommendation and all application materials as 

Page 75 of 779



Page 2 of 5 

set forth in the Standard Operating Procedures.  It shall be the City’s decision to either approve or 
deny permit applications.  

2.2 Inspections.  For each approved application, the County will coordinate and 
perform all necessary inspections for the Public Display, including but not limited to site 
inspections on the day of the event. The County will use appropriate and qualified employees for 
the inspections. The County will coordinate directly with the applicant, but the County will provide 
notice to the City that the inspection has been scheduled, providing email notification is sufficient. 
Following the event, the County will provide copies of all reports generated regarding the Public 
Display to the City.  

2.3 Post-Event Debrief. Following each event, the Parties will participate in a 
post-event debrief meeting at a time and location mutually agreeable.  

 3.  Payment. The City will pay the County for the County’s services under this 
Agreement at the County’s hourly rate at the time services are rendered. For each month services 
are rendered, the County will submit monthly invoices to the City, summarizing the hours spent 
on each application and total cost therefor. The City shall remit payment to the County within 
thirty (30) days of the invoice in accordance with the Standard Operating Procedures.  

4.  General Provisions:  The duties herein establish the parties’ mutual understanding 
of the duties and responsibilities the County is agreeing to perform within the City.  Nothing in the 
preceding list or in any other provision of this Agreement is intended to establish or acknowledge 
the existence of any duty or responsibility to any third party to perform any of the activities set 
forth herein.  This agreement creates no rights in third parties.  

4.1 Duration of Agreement.  This Agreement shall take effect upon mutual 
execution (which may be executed in counterparts) and shall continue in full force and effect 
thereafter for five (5) years, unless or until terminated as provided in herein. 

4.2 Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement at any time by 
giving the other party sixty (60) days’ written notice of the intent to terminate; PROVIDED that 
the provisions of Paragraphs 4, 5 and 6.3 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. All 
services rendered prior to termination under this Section shall be paid; services rendered after 
termination shall not be paid. 

4.3 Insurance/Mutual Indemnification.  Each party shall carry appropriate 
liability and property damage insurance to cover any loss occasioned by the negligent actions of 
the acting party during the performance of any obligation pursuant to this Agreement.  Each party 
also agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the other party and its elected and appointed 
officials, officers, employees and agents, from and against all claims, losses, damages, suits and 
expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, to the extent they arise out of, or result 
from, the negligence or willful misconduct of the indemnitor or its elected or appointed officials, 
officers, employees or agents in the performance of this Agreement. Solely for purposes of this 
indemnification provision, each party waives the immunity it would otherwise enjoy under RCW 
Title 51 (Industrial Insurance) and acknowledges that this waiver was mutually negotiated by the 
parties.  

Page 76 of 779



Page 3 of 5 

Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 
4.24.115, then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or 
damages to property caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the County and the 
City, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the City’s and/or County’s liability 
hereunder shall be only to the extent of the City’s and/or County’s negligence. The provisions of 
this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  

    4.4 No Joint Entity or Property.  No joint entity or enterprise is created by 
this Agreement and no property is to be acquired by the parties under this Agreement. Each party 
will retain independent title to any property acquired by that party and used in the performance of 
the duties and responsibilities provided herein. 

4.5 Administration.  This Agreement shall be administered by the City’s 
Mayor or designee and the County’s Fire Marshal or designee.  

4.6 Notice.  Any notices to be given under this Agreement shall be delivered in 
person or mailed to the parties at the following addresses or to such other persons or addresses as 
may be provided, from time to time, by the parties: 

 To the City:  Mayor Robert Putaansuu 
    City of Port Orchard 

216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 

 
 To the County: Fire Marshal 
    Kitsap County 
    614 Division Street, MS-36 
    Port Orchard, WA 98366 
 

Notices given by mail shall be deemed received three (3) days after the same are placed in the U.S. 
Mail, postage prepaid, addressed as provided in this section. 

4.7 Severability.  In the event that any section, sentence, clause, or paragraph 
of this Agreement is held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of 
this Agreement shall not be affected and shall remain in full force and effect. 

4.8 No Waiver.  Any party’s failure to insist upon strict performance of another 
party’s covenants or agreements, or to exercise any rights, shall not be deemed a waiver or 
relinquishment by such party, and such covenants, agreements and rights shall continue in full 
force and effect. 

4.9 Records. Both parties shall maintain records to document obligations 
performed under this Agreement. Both parties shall have the right to review the other party’s 
records with regard to the subject matter of this Agreement, upon reasonable notice and without 
fee.   

4.10 Contingency. The obligations of the City in this Agreement are contingent 
on the availability of funds through local legislative appropriation and allocation in accordance 

Page 77 of 779



Page 4 of 5 

with law. If funding is withdrawn, reduced, or limited in any way after the effective date of this 
Agreement, the City may terminate the contract consistent with Section 4.2 of this Agreement.  

4.11 Privileges and Immunities. All privileges and immunities from liability, 
exemption from ordinances, rules, laws, all pension, disability, workers compensation, and other 
benefits which apply to the activities of the County employees while performing their functions 
consistent with this Agreement within the territorial limits of the City of Port Orchard shall apply 
to the same degree and extent while they were engaged in the performance of any of their 
authorized functions and duties within the County.  

4.12 Integrated Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
and understanding between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof and may be modified 
only by a written instrument signed by both parties hereto, and duly authorized by the governing 
body for each party.  There are no other verbal or other agreements that modify or affect this 
Agreement.   

4.13 Cooperation / Disputes. The parties shall strive to cooperate with one 
another in all reasonable respects and at all reasonable times so the terms and spirit of this 
Agreement may be fully implemented for the benefit of both parties and their constituents. 

4.14 Filing of Agreement.  In order to carry out the requirements of RCW 
39.34.040, the parties shall file a copy of this interlocal agreement with the Kitsap County Auditor 
or, alternatively, list the same by subject on each party’s website before the same becomes 
effective. 

4.15 Reasonable Interpretation.  For the reason that both parties hereto have 
had ample opportunity to provide input for the preparation of this Agreement, it shall not be 
interpreted in favor of or against either party.  Rather, it shall be provided with a reasonable 
interpretation to the end that its terms and intent may be fully and reasonably implemented. 

DATED this ___ day of _____, 2023 
 
 

 DATED this ____ day of _____, 2023 
 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
Kitsap County, Washington 

 BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
Kitsap County, Washington 
 
 
 

Mayor Robert Putaansuu   
    
 

 CHARLOTTE GARRIDO, Chair 
 
 
 

ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED:  KATHERINE T. WALTERS, Commissioner 
 
 
 

Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk  District 1, Commissioner 
 

Page 78 of 779



Page 5 of 5 

              
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney   Dana Daniels, Clerk of the Board 

Page 79 of 779



 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
Agenda Staff Report 

 
   Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4L Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 

Subject: Approval of Change Order No. 4 to Contract Prepared by: Tony Lang 
 No. C125-22 with KR Homes, LLC for the Sroufe  Public Works Director 
 Water Main Replacement Project       Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 
  Atty Review Date: 6/7/2023 

Summary: On March 28, 2023, following a procurement process consistent with state law and the City’s 
Procurement Policies adopted by Resolution 036-22, as amended, the City executed Contract No. C125-22 
with KR Homes, LLC for the Sroufe Water Main Replacement Project (the “Project”).  During construction, 
the contractor discovered a sewer main that was not known prior to design.  Additional materials and labor 
are required to provide separation between the water and sewer main.  This amendment also extends the 
contract duration by one working day to accommodate the additional work. In addition, an unlocated water 
main was damaged and required repairs by City staff.  Consequently, KR Homes crew was unable to work on 
the Project during the time the damage was being repaired by City staff.  The contractor is requesting 
standby time for the period their crew was unable to work, which is consistent with the terms of Contract 
No. C125-22.  
 
This Change Order would increase the contract, as amended, by $19,604.44 for a contract total of 
$362,688.23 and would add one working day to the duration, for a total of 68 working days. There is 
funding in the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget to accommodate this Change Order. 

 
Recommendation: Staff recommends the City Council authorize the Mayor to Execute Change Order No. 4 
to Contract No. C125-22 with KR Homes, LLC for the Sroufe Water Main Replacement Project to increase 
the contract, as amended, by $19,604.44, for a contract total of $362,688.23 (applicable taxes included).  

 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 7- Utilities 

 
Motion for Consideration: I move to authorize the Mayor to execute Change Order No. 4 to Contract 
C125-22 with KR Homes, LLC to extend the term and to add an amount of $19,604.44 for a new contract 
total of $362,688.23 (applicable taxes included). 

 
Fiscal Impact: Sroufe Water Main Replacement is budgeted in the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget.  

(413.05.594.34.60) 
  

Alternatives:      Do not approve and provide alternative guidance 
 

Attachments:     Change Order No. 4 
         Courtesy Copy - Contract No. C125-22    

Page 80 of 779



Page 81 of 779



Page 82 of 779



Page 83 of 779



Page 84 of 779



CONTRACT

CIW OF PORT ORCHARD

SROUFE WATER MAIN REPTACEMENT

CoNTRACT NO. C125-22

THIS CONTRACT ("Contract") is made and entered into this 14th day of March 2023, by and
between the City of Port Orchard, a municipality incorporated and existing under the laws
of the State of Washington, hereinafter called the "City," and KR Homes, LLC hereinafter called
the "Contractor."

WITNESSETH:

l. General Provisions.

A. Desription of Work.
The Contractor, in consideration of the covenants, agreements and payments to be performed
and made by the City, hereby covenants and agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials,
equipment and supplies required for, and to execute, construct and finish in full compliance
with the Contract Documents, SROUFE WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT. The Contractor further
agrees to perform all such work for the Contract Price stated in the Contractor's Bid Proposal
dated January L6,2023, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as if set
forth in full. Contractor further represents that the services furnished under this Agreement will
be performed in accordance with and as described in the attached plans and specifications and
with the Port Orchard Municipal Code, the City's Public Works Standards, which includes (but is
not limited to) the 2023 edition of the WSDOT Standard Specifications for Road, Bridge, and
Municipal Construction (which shall apply except where noted otherwise). All of these
standards are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof. Contractor further
represents that the services furnished under this Agreement will be performed in accordance
with generally accepted professional practices within the Puget Sound region in effect at the
time such services are performed.

The Contract Documents include

Exhibit A -a confirmed copy of the Proposal made by the Contractor on January t6,2023,
together with the lnstructions to Bidders.
Exhibit B - The Project Manual for the SROUFE WATER MAIN REPTACEMENT.
Exhibit C - Retainage Options

All Exhibits to this Contract are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof as

if set forth in full.

B. Time of Completion

Time is of the essence of this Contract. lt is agreed that the work covered by this Contract shall
start within 14 calendar days after Notice to Proceed is issued and that all construction shall be

complete within 65 working days after the Notice to Proceed Date.

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Project No. PW2O22-024, Contract No. C125-22 Page 1

Page 85 of 779



C. Liquidated Damages

It is further agreed that the City will suffer damage and be put to additional expense in the
event that the Contractor shall not have the specified portions of the work completed in all its
parts in the time specified, and as it may be difficult to accurately compute the amount of such
damage, the Contractor expressly covenants and agrees to pay to the City liquidated damages,
the sum as calculated by the equation shown in Section 1-08.9 of the WSDOT Standard
Specifications, for each and every working day said work is not complete beyond the time
shown in the Proposal,

ll. Non-Discrimination.

During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors
in interest agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities;
including but not limited to compliance with the following Pertinent Non-Discrimination
Authorities:

a

a

a

a

a

a

Title Vl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 {42 U .S.C. S 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); and 49 C.F.R. Part2L.
The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of L970,
(42 U.S.C. 5 4601), (prohibits unfairtreatment of persons displaced or whose property
has been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);
Federal-Aid Highway Act of t973, (23 U.S.C. 5 324 et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on
the basis of sex);

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of t973, (29 U.S,C. g 794 et seq.), as amended,

{prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 C.F.R. Part27;
The Age Discrimination Act of L975, as amended, (42 U .S.C. 5 6101 et seq.), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of age);

Airport and Airway lmprovement Act of 1982, (49 USC$ 471, Section 47t23), as

amended, (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);
The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 7987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage
and applicability of Title Vl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of
1975 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of t973,by expanding the definition of
the terms "programs or activities" to include all of the programs or activities of the
Federal-aid recipients, sub- recipients and contractors, whether such programs or
activities are Federally funded or not);
Titles ll and lll of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibit discrimination on
the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private
transportation systems, places of public accommodation, and certain testing entities (42

U.S.C. 5S L2131-1-2189) as implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at
49 C.P.R. parts 37 and 38;
The FederalAviation Administration's Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. 5 47L23\
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex);

a

Rev3l1Bl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

aD^?'D?Y
Project No. PW-, contract *". I dJ- EQ Page2

Page 86 of 779



a

a

Reu3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

a

Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address EnvironmentalJustice in Minority
Populations and Low-lncome Populations, which ensures discrimination against minority
populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately
high and adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income
populations;
Executive Order 13166, lmproving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English

Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes
discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure compliance with
Title Vl, you must take reasonable steps to -ensure that LEP persons have meaningful
access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100);
Title lX of the Education Amendments of t972, as amended, which prohibits you from
discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq).

Title Vl of,the civil Bishts Act of 1-964

The City of Port Orchard, in accordance with Title Vl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,78 Stat. 252,

42 U.S.C. 2000d to 2000d-4 and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of
Transportation subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Parl 21, nondiscrimination in federally
assisted programs of the Department of Transportation issued pursuant to such Act, must
affirmatively ensure that its contracts comply with these regulations.

Also, in accordance with Title Vl, the City is required to include the following clauses in every
contract subject to Title Vl and its related regulations.

Therefore, during the performance of this Contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and

successors in interest agrees as follows:

t. Compliance with Regulations: The Contractor will comply with the Acts and the
regulations relative to Nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S.

Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), as they may be

amended from time to time, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a

part of this Contract.

2. Nondiscrimination: The Contractor, with regard to the work performed by it during this
Contract, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age,

disability, income-level, or LEP in the selection and retention of subcontractors,
including procurements of materials and leases of equipment. The Contractor will not
participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the Acts and the
Regulations as set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this
reference, including employment practices when this Contract covers any activity,
project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 C.F.R. part 21.

3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, lncluding Procurements of Materials and Equipment: ln

all solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the Contractor
for work to be performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or

6Pa?'t>21 ^A
ProjectNo.PW-,contractrur l? 5 A& Page 3

Page 87 of 779



leases of equipment, each potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the
Contractor of the Contractor's obligations under this Contract and the Acts and the
Regulations relative to Non-discrimination on the grounds of race, color, national origin,
sex, age, disability, income-level, or LEP.

4. Information and Reports: The Contractor will provide all information and reports
required by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto and will
permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its
facilities as may be determined by the City or the FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain
compliance with such Acts, Regulations, and instructions. Where any information
required of the Contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses
to furnish the information, the Contractor will so certify to the City or the FHWA, as

appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance: ln the event of the Contractor's noncompliance with the
Non-discrimination provisions of this Contract, the City will impose such contract
sanctions as it or the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited
to:

t. withholding payments to the Contractor under the Contract until the Contractor
complies; and/or

2. cancelling, terminating, or suspending the Contract, in whole or in part.

6. lncorporation of Provisions: The Contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs

one through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of
equipment, unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant
thereto. The Contractor will take action with respect to any subcontract or procurement
as the City or the FHWA may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including
sanctions for noncompliance. Provided, that if the Contractor becomes involved in, or is
threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such direction, the
Contractor may request the City to enter into any litigation to protect the interests of
the City. ln addition, the Contractor may request the United States to enter into the
litigation to protect the interests of the United States.

tll. Public Records Act Chapter 42.56 RCW

Contractor understands that her/his bid response documents, and any contract documents may
be subject to release under the Public Records Act Chapter 42.56 RCW and the City may be

required to disclose such documents upon a request. Contractor acknowledges that s/he has

been advised to mark any records believed to be trade secrets or confidential in nature as

"confidential." lf records marked as "confidential" are found to be responsive to the request
for records, the City as a courtesy to the Contractor, ffi?v elect to give notice to Contractor of
the request so as to allow Contractor to seek a protective order from a Court. Contractor
acknowledges and agrees that any records deemed responsive to a public records request may

be released at the sole discretion of, and without notice by, the City.

6rtrA'D?Y
Rev3l1Bl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Project No. PW_, Contract No. ia7 aa Page 4

Page 88 of 779



lV. Termination

The City may terminate this contract for cause or for convenience

L. Termination for Cause. The City may, upon 7 days written notice to Contractor and to
its surety, terminate (without prejudice to any right or remedy of the City) the contract,
or any part of it, for cause upon the occurrence of any one or more of the following
events: Contractor fails to complete the work or any portion thereof with sufficient
diligence to ensure substantial completion of the work within the contract time;
Contractor is adjudged bankrupt, makes a general assignment for the benefit of its
creditors, or a receiver is appointed on account of its insolvency; Contractor fails in a
material way to replace or correct work not in conformance with the Contract
Documents, Contractor repeatedly fails to supply skilled workers or proper materials or
equipment; Contractor materially disregards or fails to comply with laws, ordinances,
rules, regulations, or orders of any public authority having jurisdiction; or Contractor is
otherwise in material breach of any provision of the contract. Upon termination, the
City may, at its option, take possession of or use all documents, materials, equipment,
tools, and construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by Contractor to
maintain the orderly progress of, and to finish, the work, and finish the work by
whatever other reasonable method it deems expedient.

2. Termination for Convenience. The City may, upon written notice, terminate (without
prejudice to any right or remedy of the City) the contract, or any part of it, for the
convenience of the City.

3. Settlement of Costs. lf the City terminates for convenience, Contractor shall be entitled
to make a request for an equitable adjustment for its reasonable direct costs incurred
prior to the effective date of the termination, plus a reasonable allowance for overhead
and profit on work performed prior to termination, plus the reasonable administrative
costs of the termination, but shall not be entitled to any other costs or damages,
whatsoever, provided however, the total sum payable upon termination shall not
exceed the Contract Sum reduced by prior payments.

V. Corporate Suretv Bond

With this Contract, Contractor is furnishing a Corporate Surety Bond in the amount of

this Contract by the Contractor in accordance with all its terms and provisions.

T-lrr.hunlrrJ +L,, ,, ,l F,, hrJ,J $\ oonar, (s ql?',444 60 ) with
fllwl<r,l hn"uran,. as Surety, to ensuTHtull compliance, executioh anO performance of

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

aD*8{
Project No. PW-, contract *" la5' T& Page 5

Page 89 of 779



Vl. lndependent Contractor

The parties intend that an lndependent Contractor-Employer Relationship will be created by
this Agreement and that the Contractor has the ability to control and direct the performance
and details of its work, the City being interested only in the results obtained under this
Agreement.

Vll. Emplovment of State Retirees.

The City is a "DRS-covered employer" which is an organization that employs one or more
members of any retirement system administered by the Washington State Department of
Retirement Systems (DRS). Pursuant to RCW 41.50.139(L) and WAC 4L5-02-325(1), the City is
required to elicit on a written form if any of the Contractor's employees providing services to
the City retired using the 2008 Early Retirement Factors (ERFs), or if the Contractor is owned by
an individual who retired using the 2008 ERFs, and whether the nature of the service and
compensation would result in a retirement benefit being suspended. Failure to make this
determination exposes the City to significant liability for pension overpayments. As a result,
before commencing work under this Agreement, Contractor shall determine whether any of its
employees providing services to the City or any of the Contractor's owners retired using the
2008 ERFs, and shall immediately notify the City and shall promptly complete the form provided

by the City after this notification is made. This notification to DRS could impact the payment of
retirement benefits to employees and owners of Contractor. Contractor shall indemnify,
defend, and hold harmless the City from any and all claims, damages, or other liability,
including attorneys'fees and costs, relating to a claim by DRS of a pension overpayment caused

by or resulting from Contractor's failure to comply with the terms of this provision. This
provision shall survive termination of this Agreement.

Vlll. Chqnees.

The City may issue a written change order for any change in the Contract work during the
performance of this Agreement. lf the Contractor determines, for any reason, that a change
order is necessary, Contractor must submit a written change order request to the person listed
in the Notice provision section of this Agreement, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the
date Contractor knew or should have known of the facts and events giving rise to the requested
change. lf the City determines that the change increases or deoeases the Contractor's costs or
time for performance, the City will make an equitable adjustment. The City will attempt, in
good faith, to reach agreement with the Contractor on all equitable adjustments. However, if
the parties are unable to agree, the City will determine the equitable adjustment as it deems
appropriate. The Contractor shall proceed with the change order work upon receiving either a

written change order from the City or an oral order from the City before actually receiving the
written change order. lf the Contractor fails to require a change order within the time specified
in this paragraph, the Contractor waives its right to make any claim or submit subsequent
change order requests for that portion of the contract work, lf the Contractor disagrees with
the equitable adjustment, the Contractor must complete the change order work; however, the

Rev3/18/22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

tu?e'Dav
Project No. PW-, contr".lt t" ?Af 'A?- Page 6

Page 90 of 779



Contractor may elect to protest the adjustment as provided in subsections A through E of
Section lX entitled, "Claims," below.

The Contractor accepts all requirements of a change order by: (1) endorsing ir, (2l,writing a

separate acceptance, or (3) not protesting in the way this section provides. A change order that
is accepted by Contractor as provided in this section shall constitute full payment and final
settlement of all claims for contract time and for direct, indirect and consequential costs,
including costs of delays related to any work, either covered or affected by the change.

lX. Claims. lf the Contractor disagrees with anything required by a change order, another
written order, or an oral order from the City, including any direction, instruction, interpretation,
or determination by the City, the Contractor may file a claim as provided in this section. The
Contractor shall give written notice to the City of all claims within fourteen (14) calendar days
of the occurrence of the events giving rise to the claims, or within fourteen (14) calendar days
of the date the Contractor knew or should have known of the facts or events giving rise to the
claim, whichever occurs first. Any claim for damages, additional payment for any reason, or
extension of time, whether under this Agreement or otherwise, shall be conclusively deemed to
have been waived by the Contractor unless a timely written claim is made in strict accordance
with the applicable provisions of this Agreement.

At a minimum, a Contractor's written claim shall include the information set forth in
subsections A, items l through 5 below.

FAITURE TO PROVIDE A COMPLETE, WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF CTAIM WITHIN THE TIME
ATLOWED SHALT BE AN ABSOLUTE WAIVER OF ANY CLAIMS ARISING IN ANY WAY FROM THE

FACTS OR EVENTS SURROUNDING THAT CTAIM OR CAUSED BYTHAT DEIAY.

A. Notice of Claim. Provide a signed written notice of claim that provides the following
information:

L. The date of the Contractor's claim;

2. The nature and circumstances that caused the claim;

3. The provisions in this Agreement that support the claim;

4. The estimated dollar cost, if any, of the claimed work and how that estimate was
determined; and

5. An analysis of the progress schedule showing the schedule change or disruption
if the Contractor is asserting a schedule change or disruption.

B. Records. The Contractor shall keep complete records of extra costs and time incurred as

a result of the asserted events giving rise to the claim. The City shall have access to any of the
Contractor's records needed for evaluating the protest.

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Q>#'PeV
Project No. PW-, Contr-act *". 1A 5 - X+ Page 7

Page 91 of 779



The City will evaluate all claims, provided the procedures in this section are followed. lf the City
determines that a claim is valid, the City will adjust payment for work or time by an equitable
adjustment, No adjustment will be made for an invalid protest.

C. Contractor's Duty to Complete Protested Work. ln spite of any claim, the Contractor
shall proceed promptly to provide the goods, materials and services required by the City under
this Agreement.

D. Failure to Protest Constitutes Waiver. By not protesting as this section provides, the
Contractor also waives any additional entitlement and accepts from the City any written or oral
order (including directions, instructions, interpretations, and determination).

E. Failure to Follow Procedures Constitutes Waiver. By failing to follow the procedures of
this section, the Contractor completely waives any claims for protested work and accepts from
the City any written or oral order (including directions, instructions, interpretations, and
determination).

X. Limitation Of Actions.

CONTRACTOR MUST, IN ANY EVENT, FILE ANY LAWSUIT AR]SING FROM OR CONNECTED WITH

THIS AGREEMENT WITHIN 120 CALENDAR DAYS FROM THE DATE THE CONTRACT WORK IS
COMPLETE OR CONTRACTOR'S ABILITY TO FILE THAT CLAIM OR SUIT SHALL BE FOREVER

BARRED. THIS SECTION FURTHER LlMITS ANY APPLICABLE STATUTORY LIMITATIONS PERIOD.

Xl. Warrantv.

Upon acceptance of the contract work, Contractor must provide the City a two-year warranty
bond in the amount of twenty percent (2O%) of the contract price a form and amount
acceptable to the City. The Contractor shall correct all defects in workmanship and materials
within two (2) years from the date of the City's acceptance of the Contract work, including
replacing vegetation that fails to thrive. ln the event any parts are repaired or replaced, only
original replacement parts shall be used-rebuilt or used parts will not be acceptable. When
defects are corrected, the warranty for that portion of the work shall extend for one (1)

additional year from the date such correction is completed and accepted by the City. The

Contractor shall begin to correct any defects within seven (7) calendar days of its receipt of
notice from the City of the defect. lf the Contractor does not accomplish the corrections within
a reasonable time as determined by the City, the City may complete the corrections and the
Contractor shall pay all costs incurred by the City in order to accomplish the correction.

Xll. lndemniflcation.

Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City, its officers, officials, employees, agents

and volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses or suits, including all

legal costs and attorney fees, arising out of or in connection with the Contractor's performance

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

pp'D*1
Project No. PW-, contract *". l?5 'AV Page 8

Page 92 of 779



of this Agreement, except for that portion of the injuries and damages caused by the sole
negligence of the City.

The City's inspection or acceptance of any of Contractor's work when completed shall not be
grounds to avoid any of these covenants of indemnification.

Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW

4.24.LI5, then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or
damages to property caused by or relsulting from the concurrent negligence of the Contractor
and the City, its officers, officials, employees, agents and volunteers, the Contractor's liability
hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Contractor's negligence.

It is further specifically and expressly understood that the indemnification provided herein
constitutes the contractor's waiver of immunity under lndustrial lnsurance, Title 51 RCW, solely
for the purposes of this indemnification. The parties further acknowledge that they have
mutually negotiated this waiver.

THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION SHALL SURVIVE THE EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION OF THIS

AGREEMENT.

Xlll. Insurance.

The Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, insurance against
claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connection
with the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representative,
employees or subcontractors.

No Limitation. Contractor's maintenance of insurance as required by the agreement shall not
be construed to limit the liability of the Contractor to the coverage provided by such insurance,
or otherwise limit the City's recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity.

A. Minimum Scope of lnsurance. Contractor shall obtain insurance of the types described
below:

t. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased
vehicles. Coverage shall be written on lnsurance Services Office (lSO)form CA 00 0L or a

substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage. lf necessary, the policy shall be

endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage.

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form
CG 00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, stop gap liability,
independent contractors, products-completed operations, personal injury and
advertising injury, and liability assumed under an insured contract. The Commercial
General Liability insurance shall be endorsed to provide the Aggregate Per Project
Endorsement ISO form CG 25 03 11 85. There shall be no endorsement or modification

Rev3l18122
Cig of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Project No. r*ry.m??f ' aa- Page 9

Page 93 of 779



of the Commercial General Liability insurance for liability arising from explosion,
collapse or underground property damage. The City shall be named as an insured under
the Contractor's Commercial General Liability insurance policy with respect to the work
performed for the City using ISO Additional lnsured endorsement CG 20 LO 10 01 and
Additional lnsured-Completed Operations endorsement CG 20 37 10 01 or substitute
endorsements providing equivalent coverage.

3. Workers' Compensation coverage as required by the lndustrial lnsurance laws of
the State of Washington.

4. Builders Risk insurance covering interests of the City, the Contractor,
Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors in the work. Builders Risk insurance shall be on
a all-risk policy form and shall insure against the perils of fire and extended coverage
and physical loss or damage including flood and earthquake, theft, vandalism, malicious
mischief, collapse, temporary buildings and debris removal. This Builders Risk insurance
covering the work will have a deductible of 55,000 for each occurrence, which will be
the responsibility of the Contractor. Higher deductibles for flood and earthquake perils
may be accepted by the City upon written request by the Contractor and written
acceptance by the City. Any increased deductibles accepted by the City will remain the
responsibility of the Contractor. The Builders Risk insurance shall be maintained until
final acceptance of the work by the City.

B. Minimum Amounts of lnsurance. Contractor shall maintain the following insurance
limits:

L. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily
injury and property damage of S1,000,000 per accident.

Z. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than

S1,000,000 each occurrence, 52,000,000 general aggregate and a $2,000,000 products-
completed operations aggregate limit.

3. Builders Risk insurance shall be written in the amount of the completed value of
the project with no coinsurance provisions.

C. Other lnsurance Provisions. The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to
contain, the following provisions for Automobile Liability, Commercial General Liability and
Builders Risk insurance:

L. The Contractor's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respect the
City. Any insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage maintained by the City
shall be excess of the Contractor's insurance and shall not contribute with it.

Rev3llBl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

eDTa't)"U
ProjectNo. PW-, Contract *" LW'Ra Page 10

Page 94 of 779



2. The Contractor's insurance shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be
cancelled by either party, except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified
mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the City.

D. Contractor's lnsurance for Other Losses. The Contractor shall assume full responsibility
for all loss or damage from any cause whatsoever to any tools, Contractor's employee-owned
tools, machinery, equipment, or motor vehicles owned or rented by the Contractor, or the
Contractor's agents, suppliers or contractors as well as to any temporary structures, scaffolding
and protective fences.

E. Waiver of Subrogation. The Contractor and the City waive all rights against each other
any of their Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, agents and employees, each of the other, for
damages caused by fire or other perils to the extend covered by Builders Risk insurance or
other property insurance obtained pursuant to the lnsurance Requirements Section of this
Contract or other property insurance applicable to the work. The policies shall provide such
waivers by endorsement or otherwise.

F. Acceptability of lnsurers. lnsurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M
Best rating of not less than A:Vll.

G. Verification of Coverage. Contractor shall furnish the City with original certificates and a

copy of the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the additional
insured endorsement, evidencing the Automobile Liability and Commercial General Liability
insurance of the Contractor before commencement of the work. Before any exposure to loss
may occur, the Contractor shall file with the City a copy of the Builders Risk insurance policy
that includes all applicable conditions, exclusions, definitions, terms and endorsements related
to this Project.

H. Subcontractors. Contractor shall ensure that each subcontractor of every tier obtain at
a minimum the same insurance coverage and limits as stated herein for the Contractor (with
the exception of Builders Risk insurance). Upon request the City, the Contractor shall provide
evidence of such insurance.

XlV. WORK PERFORMED AT CONTRACTOR'S RISK. Contractor shall take all necessary
precautions and shall be responsible for the safety of its employees, agents, and subcontractors
in the performance of the contract work and shall utilize all protection necessary for that
purpose. All work shall be done at Contractor's own risk, and Contractor shall be responsible
for any loss of or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or held for use in connection
with the work.

XV. Miscellaneous Provisions.

A. Non-Waiver of Breach. The failure of the City to insist upon strict performance of any of
the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, or to exercise any option
conferred by this Agreement in one or more instances shall not be construed to be a waiver or

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

aD?a'Da\
Project No. PW-, contract t". 7? 5 -7A Page 11

Page 95 of 779



relinquishment of those covenants, agreements or options, and the same shall be and remain in

full force and effect.

B. Resolution of Disputes and Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. lf the parties are unable to
settle any dispute, difference or claim arising from the parties' performance of this Agreement,
the exclusive means of resolving that dispute, difference or claim, shall only be by filing suit
exclusively under the venue, rules and jurisdiction of the Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap
County, Washington, unless the parties agree in writing to an alternative dispute resolution
process. ln any claim or lawsuit for damages arising from the parties' performance of this
Agreement, each party shall pay all its legal costs and attorney's fees incurred in defending or
bringing such claim or lawsuit, including all appeals, in addition to any other recovery or award
provided by law; provided, however, nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to limit the
City's right to indemnification under Section Xll of this Agreement.

C. Written Notice. All communications regarding this Agreement shall be sent to the
parties at the addresses listed on the signature page of the Agreement, unless notified to the
contrary. Any written notice hereunder shall become effective three (3) business days after the
date of mailing by registered or certified mail, and shall be deemed sufficiently given if sent to
the addressee at the address stated in this Agreement or such other address as may be

hereafter specified in writing.

D. Assignment. Any assignment of this Agreement by either party without the written
consent of the non-assigning party shall be void. lf the non-assigning party gives its consent to
any assignment, the terms of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect and no

further assignment shall be made without additional written consent.

E. Modification. No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the provisions of this
Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of
the City and Contractor,

F. Entire Agreement. The written provisions and terms of this Agreement, together with
any Exhibits attached hereto, shall supersede all prior verbal statements of any officer or other
representative of the City, and such statements shall not be effective or be construed as

entering into or forming a part of or altering in any manner this Agreement. All of the above

documents are hereby made a part of this Agreement. However, should any language in any of
the Exhibits to this Agreement conflict with any language contained in this Agreement, the
terms of this Agreement shall prevail.

G. Compliance with Laws. The Contractor agrees to comply with all federal, state, and

municipal laws, rules, and regulations that are now effective or in the future become applicable
to Contractor's business, equipment, and personnel engaged in operations covered by this
Agreement or accruing out of the performance of those operations.

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

eDaS-tfr't
Project No. PW-, contract ir..taO'?a Page 12

Page 96 of 779



H. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall constitute an original, and all of which will together constitute this one
Agreement.lN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused these presents to be duly
executed.

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

By:

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor

CONTRACTOR

By l&, tlr", . An + [Jli,
Title: lr.stl"h

Address: ls'l F-ol- R/ 5
G

ATTEST:

Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

cha rlotte Archer, City Attorney

NOTICES TO BE SENT TO:

CONTRACTOR: CIW:

NAME K K. Chris Hammer, P.E., City Engineer
216 PROSPECT STREET, PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366ADDRESS 15

TELEPHONE 9(o q,r-r 1lto (360) 876-4ee1
Email l($RT e\ KP Hor4Es. OPq publicworks@portorchardwa.gov

With a copy to the City Clerk at the same address

I

Rev3llBl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

ao"?'DTt
ProjectNo. PW-, Contract N".lQj A7 Page 13

Page 97 of 779



DocuSign Envelope lD: D6910MD-CCB1-4D66-8708-FS0FA209D012

H. Counterpafts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall constitute an original, and all of whlch will together constitute this one
Agreement.lN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused these presents to be duly
executed.

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

By:

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor

CONTRACTOR

_(( ILnn , [,,+ RJlr,

?r.qluh
I

l<1 F-.,1- RJ 5
I

by:

|00dlarL

Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk

TO FORM:

Charlotte Archer, City Attorney

NOTICES TO BE SENT TO:

CONTRACTOR: CIW:

NAME K I K. Chris Hammer, P.E., City Engineer
216 PROSPECTSTREET, PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366ADDRESS 15

TETEPHONE ?(O qOI ??rlo (360) 875-4e91
Email ICURr eb KP llpmE3. OPE publlcworks@portorchardwa.gov

Wlth e copy to the City Clerk at the same address

Rav3hBl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

By:

Title:

Address:

G

Project No. PW_, Contract No. Page 13

Page 98 of 779



EXHIBIT C

5% RETAINAGE INVESTMENT OPT|ONI

/(R }h,n.sContractor:

Project Name

Date:

SROUFE WATER MAIN REPTACEMENT

Project Number: PW2022-024

Pursuant to RCW 60.28.01-0, as amended, you may exercise an option as to how the 5% retainage under this
contract will be invested. Please complete and sign this form indication your preference. lf you fail to do so
you will miss the benefit of any interest earned. Select one of the following options:

L. Savingg Account: Money will be placed in an interest-bearing account. The interest will be
paid to you directly, rather than kept on deposit. lf this is your choice, then please complete
attached SAVINGS ACCOUNT AGREEMENL Please state the name of your bank.

Bank:

2. Escrodlnvestments: The City will deliver retainage checks to a selected bank,
pursuant to an escrow agreement. The bank will then invest the funds in securities or bonds
selected by you, and lnterest will be paid to you as it accrues. lf this is your choice then please

complete attached ESCROW AGREEMNT.

Preferred Bank:

Securities/Bondsr

3. Guarantee Deposit: Retainage will be held by the City. No interest is payable to the Contractor

Retainage is normally released 45 days after final acceptance of the work or following receipt of Labor and
lndustries/Department of Revenue clearance, whichever date is the later. Retainage on landscaping work
may be longer, due to its seasonal nature. However, if this project is subject to grant funding then the
retainage may also be held until such time as the Contractor meets its obligations to City to provide

required information and documentation for compliance with the grant funding

State law allows for limited early release of retainage in certain

Title

t Ifthe Contractor opts to post a retainage bond under RCW 60.28.011, such bond shall be in a form acceptable to
the City, shall be with a surety with a minimum of A.M. Best financial strength rating of a minimum of A-.

Rev3l1Bl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

'aDaa'Dav
Project No. PW-, Contract 'i 

p5 'T7 Page 14

Page 99 of 779



SAVING ACCOUNT AGREEMENT

TO BANK: SAVINGS ACCOUNT NO:

BANKS ADDRESS:

AGENCY CIW OF PORT ORCHARD

216 Prospect Street
Port Orchard WA 98356

CONTRACT NO:

PROJECT TITLE

The estimated completion date of contract is:

The undersigned, , herein referred to as

theCoNTRAcron,r',hington,hereinafterreferredtoasthe
AGENCY, to deliver to you its warrants which shall be payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly. Such

warrants are to be held and disposed of by you in accordance with the following instructions and upon the
terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

INSTRUCTIONS

1. Warrants or checks made payable to you and the CONTRACfOR jointly upon delivery to you shall be

endorsed by you and forwarded for collection. The moneys will then be placed by you in an

interest-bearing savings account.

2. When and as interest on the savings account accrues and is paid, you shall collect such interest and

foruvard it to the CONTRACIOR at its address designated below unless otherwise director by the
CONTRACTOR.

3. You are not authorized to deliver to the CONTRACfOR all or any part of the principal held by you
pursuant to this agreement, except in accordance with written instruction from the AGENCY.

Compliance with such instructions shall relieve you of any further liability related thereto,

4. The CONTRACTOR agrees to pay you as compensation for your services hereunder as follows:

Payment of all fees shall be the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR and shall not be deducted
from any moneys placed with you pursuant to this agreement until and unless the AGENCY directs
the release to the CONTRACTOR, whereupon you shall be granted a first lien upon such moneys
released and shall be entitled to reimburse yourself from such moneys for the entire amount of
your fees as provided for herein above. ln the event that you are made a party to any litigation with
respect to the moneys held by you hereunder, or in the event that the conditions of this agreement
are not promptly fulfilled, or that you are required to render any service not provided for in these
instructions, or that there is any assignment of the interests of this agreement, or any modification

ADM'D71
Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Prolect No. PW_, Conhact No. la,.?7 Page 15

Page 100 of 779



hereof, you shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for such extraordinary seruices from the
CONTRACIOR and reimbursement from the CONTRACTOR for all costs and expenses, including
attorney fees occasioned by such default delay, controversy or litigation.

5. This agreement shall not be binding until executed by the CONTRACIOR and the AGENCY and
accepted by you.

5. This instrument contains the entire agreement between you, the CONTRACIOR and the AGENCY.

You are not a party to nor bound by any instrument or agreement other than this. You shall not be

required to take notice of any default or any other matter nor be bound by nor required to give

notice or demand, nor required to take any action whatever except as herein expressly provided.
You shall not be liable for any loss or damage not caused by your own negligence or willful
misconduct.

7. The foregoing provisions shall be binding upon the assigns, successors, personal representative and
heirof the Parties hereto.

Controctor

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

Agency

Title:

Date: Date:

Address:

The above savings account agreement and instruction received and accepted this _ day of
2n_

Bank Name

Authorized Bank Officer

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

ProjectNo. ,ffi,".rubv>- Page 16

Page 101 of 779



ESCROWAGREEMENT

TO BANK: ESCROW NO

BANKS ADDRESS:

AGENCY: CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

216 Prospect Street

Port Orchard WA 98355

CONTRACT NO.

PROJEgTTITLE: SROUFE WATER MAIN,REPTACEMENT

The estimated completion date of contract is

The undersigned, herein referred to as

theCoNTRAcToR,hWashington,hereinafterreferredto
as the AGENCY, to deliver to you its warrants which shall be payable to you and the CONTRACTOR
jointly. Such warrants are to be held and disposed of by you in accordance with the following
instructions and upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

INSTRUCTIONS

1. Warrants or checks made payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly upon delivery to
you shall be endorsed by you and forwarded for collection. The moneys will then be used

by you to purchase, as directed by the CONTRACTOR, bonds or other securities chosen by
the CONTRACIOR and approved by the AGENCY. Attached is a list of such bonds, or other
securities approved by the AGENCY. Other bonds or securities, except stocks may be

selected by the CONTRACTOR, subject to express written approval of the AGENCY.

Purchase of such bonds or other securities shall be in a form which shall allow you alone to
reconvert such bonds or other securities into money if you are required to do so by the
AGENCY as provided in Paragraph 4 of this Escrow Agreement.

2. When and as interest on the securities held by you pursuant to this agreement accrues and
is paid, you shall collect such interest and forward it to the CONTRACTOR at its address

designated below unless othenruise directed by the CONTRACTOR.

3. You are not authorized to deliver to the CONTRACTOR all or any part of the securities held

by you pursuant to this agreement (or any moneys derived from the sale of such securities,
or the negotiation of the AGENCY'S warrants) except in accordance with written

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

fr?a*onr-t
Project No. PW-, cont,'lt 

^f. rc 5 M-- Page 17

Page 102 of 779



instructions from the AGENCY. Compliance with such instruction shall relieve you of any
further liability related thereto.

4. ln the event the AGENCY orders you to do so in writing, you shall within thirty-five (35)

days of receipt of such order, reconvert into money the securities held by you pursuant to
this agreement and return such money together with any other moneys held by you

hereunder, to the AGENCV.

5. The CONTRACTOR agrees to pay you as compensation for your services hereunder as

follows:

Payment of all fees shall be the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR and shall not be
deducted from any property placed with you pursuant to this agreement until and unless

the AGENCY directs the release to the CONTRACTOR of the securities and moneys held
hereunder whereupon you shall be granted a first lien upon such property released and
shall be entitled to reimburse yourself from such property for the entire amount of your
fees as provided for herein above. ln the event that are made a party to any litigation with
respect to the property held by you hereunder, or in the event that the conditions of this
escrow are not promptly fulfilled or that you are required to render any service not
provided for in these instructions, or that there is any assignment of the interest of this
escrow or any modification hereof, you shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for
such extraordinary services from the CONTRACTOR and reimbursement from the
CONTRACIOR for all costs and expenses, including attorney fees occasioned by such

default, delay, controversy or litigation.

6. This agreement shall not be binding until executed by the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY

and accepted by you.

7. This instrument contains the entire agreement between you, the CONTRACTOR and the
AGENCY with respect to this escrow and you are not a party to nor bound by any
instrument or agreement other than this; you shall not be required to take notice of any

default or any other matter nor be bound by nor be bound by nor required to give notice
or demand , nor required to take action whatever except as herein expressly provided; you

shall not be liable for any loss or damage not caused by your own negligence or willful
misconduct.

Revll18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

&eDaH
Project No. PW-, contract ; IQ.5 A'& Page 18

Page 103 of 779



The foregone provision shall be binding upon the assigns, successors, personal representative, and
heir of the Parties hereto.

Contractor

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

Agency

By:By:

Title:

Date: Date:

Address:

The above escrow agreement and instruction received and accepted this
20_.

Bonk Nome

Authorized Bank Officer

SECURIT]ES AUTHORIZED BY AGENCY

L. Bills, certificates, notes or bonds of the United States;

2. Other obligations of the United States or its agencies;

3. Obligation of any corporation wholly-owned by the government of the United States;

4. lndebtedness of the Federal Nation Mortgage Association; and

5. Time deposits in commercial banks.

day of

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

ADtr*tb1_V
Project No. PW-, contoct *:t l?5 A€- Page 19

Page 104 of 779



ISSUE IN DUPLICATE

PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BOND

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

SROUFE WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT PROJECT

PW PROJECT NO. PW2O22-024

Bond to City of Port Orchard, Washington
Bond No. 445167'J-

We KR Ho LLC n Markel lnsurance ComPanY

(Principal) (Surety)

3 lllinois Corporation, and as a surety corporation authorized

to become a surety upon Bonds of Contractors with municipal corporations in Washington

State, are jointly and severally bound to the City of Port Orchard, Washington ("Owner"), in the

p"nri sum o1' Three Hundied Seventeen Thousand Five Hundred Forty-Two 68/100 Dollars

(S g1Z,S+Z.OS ), the payment of which sum, on demand, we bind ourselves and our

successors, heirs, administrators, executors, or personal representatives, as the case may be.

This performance Bond is provided to secure the performance of Principal in connection with a

contract dated 2O-., between Principal and Owner for a project entitled

S roufe Water Main Replacement ("Project") Public Works Project No PW2022-024

("Contract"). The initial penal sum shall equal 100 percent of the Total Bid Price, inclu ding all

applicable state sales tax, as specified in the Proposal submitted by Principal.

NOW, THEREFORE, this Performance and Payment Bond shall be satisfied and released only

upon the condition that PrinciPal:

Faithfully performs all provisions of the Contract and changes authorized by Owner in

the manner and within the time specified as may be extended under the Contract;

pays all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material-

persons, and all other persons or agents who supply labor, equipment, or materials to

the Project;

pays the taxes, increases and penalties incurred on the Project under Titles 50, 51 and

82 RCW on: (A) projects referred to in RCW 60.28.011(1)(b); and/or (B) Projects for

which the bond is conditioned on the payment of such taxes, increases and penalties;

and

posts a two-year warranty/maintenance bond to secure the project. Such bond shall be

in the amount of twenty percent (2O%\ of the project costs.

provided, further that this bond shall remain in fullforce and effect until released in writing by

the City at the request of the Surety or Principal.

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Project No. PW?3'?2"a, Contract |116. c12s-22 Page 20

Page 105 of 779



The surety shall indemnify, defend, and protect the Owner against any claim of direct or

indirect loss resulting from the failure:

Of the Principal (or any of the employees, subcontractors, or lower tier subcontractors

of the Principal)to faithfully perform the Contract, or

Of the Principal (or any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor of the Principal) to pay

all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material person, or

any other person who provides supplies or provisions for carrying out the work.

The liability of Surety shall be limited to the penal sum of this Performance and Payment Bond.

No change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the

Work to be performed under the Contract shall in any way affect Surety's obligation on the

Performance Bond. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, extension of time, alteration, or

addition to the terms of the Contract or the Work, with the exception that Surety shall be

notified if the Contract time is extended by more than twenty percent (2O%).

lf any modification or change increases the total amount to be paid under the Contract,

Surety's obligation under this Performance and Payment Bond shall automatically increase in a

like amount. Any such increase shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the original

amount of the Performance and Payment Bond without the prior written consent of Surety.

This Performance and Payment Bond shall be governed and construed by the laws of the State

of Washington, and venue shall be in Kitsap County, Washington.

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument in two (2) identical

counterparts this 23td day of Fe lAtl/ 2023.

KR Homes LLC Markel lnsurance ComPa NV

Su

ignature of or ized Official s re of Authorized Official

By Justin Cumnock

Printed Name a d Title Attorney in Fact (Attach Power of Attorney)

Name and address of local office of
Agent and/or Surety Company:

Surety companies executing bonds must appear onriheicu

'ln

id Spec

11'

& rety, lnc

oR 97208

lnsurance List in the

State of Washington per Section L-02.7 of the Stan da

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Project No. PWry Contract No.c12s-22 Page 21

Page 106 of 779



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Corporation, Partnership, or lndividual

ukah,o*Lo,,.STATE OF

COUNTY OF

appea

)

0,1., /!-U )ss.
)

on this '28v1ld"y or&Lwory, zp-,before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in

and for the St.tJ of WShington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally

to me known to be the (check one of the following

boxes):
o J<-+ R.dcl, a of A R t-iot,ne ( . the

corporation, LLC- J
A the

pa rtnership,

O individual,

that executed the foregoing instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said A
corporation, O partnership, A individual for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on

oath stated that O he Oshe was authorized to execute said instrument.

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the d r first above written

r type name

NOTARY PUBIIC,
in and for the State of Washington

Residing at C(c, L

of

g
My Commission expires "Ll 23

Reu3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

I-ETICIA ROMANO
Notary Public

State of Washington
License Number2010064
My Commission Expiree

September 27 ,2023

Notary Seal with Ink Stamp

Project No. Pldpjryj', Contract Nosl2s-22 Page 22

Page 107 of 779



SURETY ACKNOWLEDG EM ENT

STATE OF Washinston

COUNTY OF Clark

On this 23rd d2y of February , 20 23 , before me, the undersigned, a Notary

Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally

app eared Justin Cumnock to me known to be the Attorney-l n-Fact

of Markel lnsurance Companv the corporation that executed the foregoing

instrument, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of
said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that O he

O she was authorized to execute said instrument.

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first above written.

nt or type name Leticia Romano

NOTARY PUBLIC,

in and for the State of Washington
Residing Clark County

My Commission expires September 27,2023

Reu3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

)ss

)

of Washington
Number 20100641
mission
mber27

Expires
2023

IA ROMA NO
Public

LE

My Co

sr
Lice

Notary Seal With Ink Stamp

Project No. Pn@ Contract No. c12s-22 Page 23

Page 108 of 779



POA#_3710009 _

JOINT LIMITED POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL M EN By THESE pRES ENTS: That SureTec I nsura nce Compa ny, a Corporation duly orga nized and existing under the laws of the State of Texas a nd having its

principal office in the County of Harris, Texas and Markel lnsurance Company (the "Company"), a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the state

of lllinois, and having its principal admlnistrative office ln Glen Allen, Virginia, does by these presents make, constitute and appoint:

Brent Olson, Gail A. Price, Gloria Bruning, Vicki Mather, Joel Dietzman, Andrew Choruby, Casey Geske, Richard Kowalski,

Sterling Drew Roddan, Justin Cumnock, ChristopherA. Reburn, Leticia Romano, Chloe Lyons, Philip O. Forker, Patrick Dooney

Their true and lawful agent(s) and attorney(s)-in-fact, each in their separate capacity if more than one is named above, to make, execute, seal and deliver for and on

their own behalf, individually as a surety or jointly, as co-sureties, and as their act and deed any and all bonds and other undertaking in suretyship provided, however,

that the penal sum of any one such instrument executed hereunder shall not exceed the sum of:

Fifty Million and 00/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00)

This power of Attorney is gra nted a nd is signed a nd sea led under a nd by the authority of the following Resolutions adopted by the Boa rd of Directors of S ureTec

lnsurance Company and Markel lnsurance Company:

"RESOLVED, Thatthe president, any senior vice president, vice President, Assistant vice President, secretary, Assistantsecretary,Treasurer or AssistantTreasurer

and each of them hereby is authorlzed to execute powers of attorney, and such authority can be executed by use of facsimile signature, whlch may be attested or

acknowledged by any officer or attorney, of the company, quallfying the attorney or attorneys named inthe glven power ofattorney, to execute in behalf of, and

acknowledge as the act and deed of the SureTec lnsurance Company and Markel lnsurance company, as the case may be, all bond undertakings and contracts of

suretyship, and to affix the corporate seal thereto."

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, Markel lnsurance Company and SureTec lnsurance Company have caused their official seal to be hereunto affixed and these presents to be

signed by thelr duly authorized officers on the 11th day of october ,2022,

SureTec I nsurance Company ar

8y By:

Michael C. Keimig, President Vlce President

State of Texas

County of Harris:

on this r r tn day of ocrober , 2022 A. D,, before me, a Nota ry public of the State of Texas, in a nd fol the County of Ha rris, duly commissioned a nd qua lified, came

THE ABOVE O FFICERS O F THE CO M pANlES, to me personally known to be the individua ls a nd officers described in, who executed the preceding instrument, a nd they

acknowledged the execution of sa me, a nd being by me duly sworn, disposed a nd said that they are the officers of the said compa nies aforesaid, a nd that the seals

affixed to the proceeding instrument are the corporate Seals of said companies, and the said corporate Seals and their signatures as officers were duly affixed and

subscrlbed to the sald Instrument by the authorlty and dlrection ofthe sald companies, and that Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of said Companies

referred to in the preceding Instrument is now in force.

lN TESTI M ONy WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand, and affixed my Official Seal at the County of Harris, the day and year first above written.

By:

Notary Public

expires

We, the undersigned Officers of SureTec lnsurance company and Markel lnsurance company do herby certify that the oriSinal POWER oF ATTORNEY ofwhich the

foregoing is a full. true and correct copy is still in full force and effect and has not been revoked.

tNWtTNEssWHEREOF,wehavehereuntosetourhands,andaffixedtheSealsof saidCompanies,ontne 23fd dayof-IgbfuaIy--,2023

nce ny I nsurance Company

By:

Beaty, nt Secretary

Any lnstru me nt tssued in ex@$ of the pemlty stated above ls totally void and withrut an'yvalldity. 37 1 0009

For ve rification of the authority of this Power yd may call (713)812{8OO on any busire$ Cay between L?:30 AM and 5:m PM csT

t. r"' r, ,.-)1'r'i i_/ .iM

SEAL

Noldry Public, Stale ol Texas

Notary lD#'12911765-9
My Corimission Explres

EPTEMBER 10,2024S

VEZ

ew Marquis, nt

Page 109 of 779



ISSUE IN DUPLICATE

PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BOND

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

SROUFE WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT PROJECT

PW PROJECT NO. PW2O22-024

Bond to City of Port Orchard, Washington
Bond No 445

We KR an Markel lnsurance CompanY

(Principal) (Surety)

3 lllinois Corporation, and as a surety corporation authorized

to become a surety upon Bonds of Contractors with municipal corporations in Was hington

State, are jointly and severally bound to the City of Port Orchard, Washington. ("Owner"), in the

^o^"t .,,- nf Three Hundied Seventeen Thousand Five Hundred Forty-Two 68/100 Dollars
lJLr rqr

(5 g!Z.S+Z.OA ), the payment of which sum, on demand, we bind ourselves and our

,ra."rtort, heirs, administrators, executors, or personal representatives, as the case may be.

This Performance Bond is provided to secure the performance of Principal in connection with a

contract dated 2O--, between Principal and Owner for a project entitled

Sroufe Water Main Replacement ("Project") Public Works Project No PW2022-024

("Contract"). The initial penal sum shall equal 100 percent of the Total Bid Price, inclu ding all

applicable state sales tax, as specified in the Proposal submitted by Principal.

NOW, THEREFORE, this Performance and Payment Bond shall be satisfied and released only

upon the condition that PrinciPal:

Faithfully performs all provisions of the Contract and changes authorized by Owner in

the manner and within the time specified as may be extended under the Contract;

pays all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material-

persons, and all other persons or agents who supply labor, equipment, or materials to

the ProjecU

pays the taxes, increases and penalties incurred on the Project under Titles 50, 51 and

82 RCW on: (A) Projects referred to in RCW 60.28.0L1(1)(b); and/or (B) Projects for

which the bond is conditioned on the payment of such taxes, increases and penalties;

and

posts a two-year warranty/maintenance bond to secure the project. Such bond shall be

in the amount of twenty percent (2O%l of the project costs.

provided, further that this bond shall remain in fullforce and effect until released in writing by

the City at the request of the Surety or Principal.

Reu3l18122
Gity of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main RePlacement

Project No. PW'z''?;'l'zA, Contract f!6.c12s-22 Page 20

Page 110 of 779



The surety shall indemnify, defend, and protect the Owner against any claim of direct or
indirect loss resulting from the failure:

Of the Principal (or any of the employees, subcontractors, or lower tier subcontractors
of the Principal)to faithfully perform the Contract, or

Of the Principal (or any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor of the Principal) to pay

all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material person, or

any other person who provides supplies or provisions for carrying out the work.

The liability of Surety shall be limited to the penalsum of this Performance and Payment Bond.

No change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the

Work to be performed under the Contract shall in any way affect Surety's obligation on the

Performance Bond. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, extension of time, alteration, or

addition to the terms of the Contract or the Work, with the exception that Surety shall be

notified if the Contract time is extended by more than twenty percent (20%\.

lf any modification or change increases the total amount to be paid under the Contract,

Surety's obligation under this Performance and Payment Bond shall automatically increase in a

like amount. Any such increase shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%l of the original

amount of the Performance and Payment Bond without the prior written consent of Surety.

This Performance and Payment Bond shall be governed and construed by the laws of the State

of Washington, and venue shall be in Kitsap County, Washington.

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument in two (2) identical

counterparts this 23rd d February _,20 23

KR Homes Markel lnsurance Compa NV

S

Sign Authorized Official S re of Authorized Official

Justin Cumnock

nted Name a Title Attorney in Fact (Attach Power of Attorney)

''.,ili/r
Name and address of local office of
Agent and/or Surety Company:

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Anchor I pcbl& lnc

PO R

-t_- i jl

Surety companies executing bonds must appear on the cfidrit nuthOrillgd l4sulirnce List in the

State of Washington per Section L-02.7 of the Standard Sfi:-61fi'cations' - ""', 
1" .'ttrr. :'ii;.;' r 

.

r/ t,,|;1.,,.,.\'.

Proiect No. PW2022'024, Contract 116.c12s-22 Page 21

Page 111 of 779



STATE OF ll0cn<h,

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Corporation, Partnership, or lndividual

I
)ss

ZO23 , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in

ington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally

c.{ , to me known to be the (check one of the following
J

of kt tlo *.u5

COUNTY OF e lr^" l.-
-rr r6t

On this /-o ' day of
the State of
kr,^r* R.dd,

and for
appeared
boxes)
o {-<

ofa

. the

corporation,
the

partnership,

A individual,

that executed the foregoing instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said O

corporation, A partnership, O individual for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on

oath stated that O he Oshe was authorized to execute said instrument.

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day ar first above written

or type name

NOTARY PUBLIC,

in and for the State of Washington

Residing at Cu*V-
My Commission expires llzt I

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Li-

1

s

oNoMARATIE cL
ubP cNota

nhas
ry
Woflota$

20bmN usnHee
E xn pom smocM v 237 20re 2bt9ms

Notary Seal with Ink StamP

Project No. Pwor2-o24, Contract No.c12s-22 Page 22

Page 112 of 779



SU RETY ACKNOWLEDGEM ENT

STATE OF Washington

)ss,

COUNTy OF Clark

On this 23rd d3y of Februa 20 23 , before me, the undersigned, a Notary
public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally

appeare Justin Cumnock to me known to be thg Attorney-ln-Fact

of Markel lnsurance CompanV the corporation that executed the foregoing

instrument, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of

said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that O he

O she was authorized to execute said instrument.

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and r first above written

nt or type name Leticia Romano

NOTARY PUBLIC,

in and for the State of Washington
Residing Clark Countv

My Commission expires September 27.2023

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

CIA ROMANO
Notary Public

of Washington
Number 20100641

Expires
2023

t6

mmigsion
mber27

L

Lice
My

Notary Seal With Ink Stamp

Project No. PV1@lContract No. crzs-zz Page 23

Page 113 of 779



POA#_371 0009

JOINT LIMITED POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOWALLMENByTHESEpRESENTS:ThatSureTeclnsurancecompany,acorporationdulyorganizedandexisting underthelawsof thestateof Texasandhavingits

principal office in the county of Harris, Texas and Markel lnsurance company (the "company"), a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the state

of illinois, and having lts prlncipal admlnistrative office in Glen Allen, Virginia, does by these presents make, constitute and appoint:

Brent Olson, Gail A. Price, Gloria Bruning, Vicki Mather, Joel Dietzman, Andrew Choruby, Casey Geske, Richard Kowalski,

Sterling Drew Roddan, Justin Cumnock, ChristopherA. Reburn, Leticia Romano, Chloe Lyons, Philip O. Forker, Patrick Dooney

Their true and lawful agent(s) and attorney(s)-in-fact, each in their separate capacity if more than one ls named above, to make, execute, seal and deliver for and on

their own behalf, individually as a surety or jointly, as co-sureties, and as their act and deed any and all bonds and other undertaking in suretyship provided, however,

that the penal sum of any one such instrument executed hereunder shall not exceed the sum of:

Fifty Million and 00/'t00 Dollars ($50,000'000.00)

This power of Attorney is gra nted a nd is signed a nd sealed under a nd by the a uthority of the following Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of SureTec

lnsurance Company and Markel lnsurance Company:

,,RESOLVED, Thatthe president, any senior Vice president, Vice presiden! Assistant vice President, secretary, Assistantsecretary,Treasurer or AssistantTreasurer

and each of them hereby is authorlzed to execute powers of attorney, and such authority can be executed by use of facsimile siSnature, which may be attested or

acknowledged by any officer or attorney, of the company, quallfying the attorney or attorneys named in the given power of attorney, to execute in behalf of, and

acknowledge as the act and deed of the sureTec lnsurance company and Markel lnsurance company, as the case may be, all bond undertakings and contracts of

suretyship, and to affix the corporate seal thereto."

lN WITNESS WHEREO F, M a rkel lnsurance compa ny and s ureTec lnsura nce compa ny have ca used their official seal to be hereunto affixed a nd these presents to be

signed by their duly authorized officers on the 1 1th day of october ' 2022 '

SureTec I nsurance companY nce ny

By
By:

Michael C. Keimig, President Vice President

state of Texas

County of Harris:

o n this 11th day of october , 2022 A, D., before me, a Notary public of the state of rexas, in a nd for the county of Ha r ris, duly commissioned a nd qua llfied, ca me

THE ABOVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANIES, to me personally knownto be the individuals and officers described in' who executed the preceding instrument, and they

acknowledged the execution of same, and being by me'duly sworn, disposed and said that they are the officers ofthe said companies aforesaid, and that the seals

afflxed to the proceedlng instrument are the corporate seals of said companies, and the said corporate seals and their signatures as officers were duly affixed and

subscrlbed to the sald lnstrument by the authorlty and dlrection of the said companies, and that Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of said companies

referred to ln the preceding instrument is now ln force.

INTESTIMONyWHEREOF, lhavehereuntosetmy hand, andaffixed myOfficial Sealatthe County of Harris, the day and year firstabovewritten'

By:

Notary Public

expires

we, the undersigned officers of sureTec lnsurance company and Markel lnsurancecompany do herby certify that the orlSinal PowER oF ATToRNEY ofwhich the

foregoing is a full, true and correct copy is still in full force and effect and has not been revoked'

tN WITNESS WHEREO F, we have hereunto set our ha nds, a nd affixed the Sea ls of said Companies, on the f$d-day Febru 2023

.,,\\1i
) ',ltl

' oj'.'r

lr,

lnsurance CompanY
nce ny

By:

Secreta ryBeaty,

SEAL

Noldry Public, Slale ol Texas
NIA'CHAVEZ

Any lnstru me nt lssued in exes of the pe mlty stated above is totally void

For ve rification of the authorlty of this Powe r you may call (7 13)8 12{8O0
and'lyithili ;nyvaliaiir. SZiSO0g
on a6y' btsires'day betrget'A d:30 AM

''t i l ''
and 5:00 PM csT

Marquis, Assistant S

Page 114 of 779



CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

MAINTENANCE/WARRANTY BON D

Project #: . PW2O22-024
Surety Bond #:

Date Posted:

Expiration
RE: Project Name SROUFE WATER MA N REPTACE MENT

Ow n e r/Deve lope r/Contra cto r
Project Address:

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: That we, (hereinafter
called the "Principal"), and , a corporation organized under the laws of
the State of , and authorized to transact surety business in the State of
Washington (hereinafter called the "Surety"), are held and firmly bound unto the City of Port
Orchard, Washington, in the sum of
dollars(s-|2a%ofthetotalcontractamount,lawfulmoneyoftheUnited
States of America, for the payment of which sum we and each of us bind ourselves, our heirs,
executors, administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and severally, by these presents. THE

CONDITIONS of the above obligation are such that:

WHEREAS, the above named Principal has constructed and installed certain
improvements on public property in connection with a project as described above within the
City of Port Orchard; and

WHEREAS, the Principal is required to post a bond for the twenty-four (24) months
following written and final acceptance of the project in order to provide security for the
obligation of the Principal to repair and/or replace said improvements against defects in
workmanship, materials or installation during the twenty-four (24) months after written and
final approval/acceptance of the same by the City;

NOW, THEREFORE, this Maintenance Bond has been secured and is hereby submitted to
the City. lt is understood and agreed that this obligation shall continue in effect until released

in writing by the City, but only after the Principal has performed and satisfied the following
conditions:

A. The work or improvements installed by the Principal and subject to the terms and

conditions of this Bond are as follows: (insert complete description of work here)

B. The Principal and Surety agree that the work and improvements installed in the above-
referenced project shall remain free from defects in material, workmanship and installation (or,

in the case of landscaping, shall survive,) for a period of twenty-four (24) months after written
and final acceptance of the same and approval by the City. Maintenance is defined as acts

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Project No. PW_, Contract No. Page 24

Page 115 of 779



carried out to prevent a decline, lapse or cessation of the state of the project or improvements
as accepted by the City during the twenty-four (24) month period after final and written
acceptance, and includes, but is not limited to, repair or replacement of defective
workmanship, materials or installations,

C. The Principal shall, at its sole cost and expense, carefully replace and/or repair any
damage or defects in workmanship, materials or installation to the City-owned real property on
which improvements have been installed and leave the same in as good condition or better as it
was before commencement of the work.

D. The Principal and the Surety agree that in the event any of the improvements or
restoration work installed or completed by the Principal as described herein, fail to remain free
from defects in materials, workmanship or installation (or in the case of landscaping, fail to
survive), for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of approval/acceptance of the
wor:k by the City, the Principal shall repair and/replace the same within ten (10) days of demand
by the City, and if the Principal should fail to do so, then the Surety shall:

1. Within twenty (20) days of demand of the City, make written commitment to the
City that it will either:

a). remedy the default itself with reasonable diligence pursuant to a time
schedule acceptable to the City; or

b). tender to the City within an additional ten (10) days the amount
necessary, as determined by the City, for the City to remedy the default,
up to the total bond amount.

Upon completion of the Surety's duties under either of the options above, the Surety
shall then have fulfilled its obligations under this bond. lf the Surety elects to fulfill its
obligation pursuant to the requirements of subsection D(1)(b), the City shall notify the
Surety of the actual cost of the remedy, upon completion of the remedy. The City shall

return, without interest, any overpayment made by the Surety, and the Surety shall pay

to the City any actual costs which exceeded the City estimate, limited to the bond
amount.

Z, ln the event the Principal fails to make repairs or provide maintenance within
the time period requested by the City, then the City, its employees and agents shall have

the right at the City's sole election to enter onto said property described above for the
purpose of repairing or maintaining the improvements. This provision shall not be

construed as creating an obligation on the part of the City or its representatives to
repair or maintain such improvements.

E. Corrections. Any corrections required by the City shall be commenced within ten (L0)

days of notification by the City and completed within thirty (30) days of the date of notification.
lf the work is not performed in a timely manner, the City shall have the right, without recourse

to legal action, to take such action under this bond as described in Section D above.

Rev3l1Bl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Maln Replacement

Project No. PW_, Contract No. Page25

Page 116 of 779



F. Extensions and Changes. No change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the
work to be performed by the Principal shall affect the obligation of the Principal or Surety on
this bond, unless the City specifically agrees, in writing, to such alteration, addition, extension
or change. The Surety waives notice of any such change, extension, alteration or addition
thereunder.

G. Enforcement. lt is specifically agreed by and between the parties that in the event any
legal action must be taken to enforce the provisions of this bond or to collect said bond, the
prevailing party shall be entitled to collect its costs and reasonable attorney fees as a part of
the reasonable costs of securing the obligation hereunder. ln the event of settlement or
resolution of these issues prior to the filing of any suit, the actual costs incurred by the City,
including reasonable attorney fees, shall be considered a part of the obligation hereunder
secured. Said costs and reasonable legal fees shall be recoverable by the prevailing party, not
only from the proceeds of this bond, but also over and above said bond as a part of any
recovery (including recovery on the bond) in any judicial proceeding. The Surety hereby agrees
that this bond shall be governed by the laws of the State of Washington. Venue of any litigation
arising out of this bond shall be in Kitsap County Superior Court.

H. Bond Expiration. This bond shall remain in full force and effect until the obligations
secured hereby have been fully performed and until released in writing by the City at the
request of the Surety or Principal.

DATED this _ day of _,2Q_.
SURETY COMPANY
(Signature must be notarized)

By:

Its:

Business Name: Business Name:

Business Address: Business Address

DEVELOPER/OWNER
(Signature must be notarized)

City/State/Zip Code:

Telephone Number:

CHECK FOR ATTACHED NOTARY SIGNATURE

fndividual (Forrn P-1)

-Corporation 

(Form P-2)

Surety Company {Form P-2)

By:

Its

City/State/Zip Code:

Telephone Number:

vilt.

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

Project No. PW_, Contract No. Page 26

Page 117 of 779



FORM P-ll NOTARY BLOCK

(Use For lndividual/Sole Proprietor Only)

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COUNTY OF KITSAP

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that 

- 

is the
person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this
instrument, and acknowledged it to be (his/her) free and voluntary act for the uses and

purposes mentioned in the instrument.

Dated:

(print or type name)

NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the
State of Washington, residing

My Commission expires:-

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

ss

Project No. PW_, Contract No. Page 27

Page 118 of 779



FORM P.2 / NOTARY BLOCK

(Use For Partnership or Corporation Only)

(Developer/Owner)
STATE OF WASHINGTON

COUNTY OF

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence th s the
person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged as the

of that
(he/she) signed this instrument, on oath stated that (he/she)was authorized to execute the

instrument and acknowledged it to be (his/her) free and voluntary act for the uses and

purposes mentioned in the instrument.

Dated:

(print or type name)

NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the
State of Washington, residing
at:

My Commission expires:

Rev3l1Bl22
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

ss.

Project No. PW-, Contract No. Page 28

Page 119 of 779



FORM P-2INOTARY BTOCK

{Surety Company}
STATE OF WASHINGTON

COUNTY OF

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that s the
person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged as the

of that
(he/she) signed this instrument, on oath stated that the/she) was authorized to execute the
instrument and acknowledged it to be (hislher) free and voluntary act for the uses and
purposes mentioned in the instrument.

Dated

(print or type name)

NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the
State of Washington, residing

at:
My Commission expires:

Rev3l18122
City of Port Orchard
Sroufe Water Main Replacement

ss.
)

)

)

Project No. PW_, Contract No. Page 29

Page 120 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Presentation 5B Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: A Presentation Showing the Proposed   Prepared by: Nicholas Bond 

 Kitsap Bank Headquarters Building to be   DCD Director 
 Located at 625 Bay Street     Atty Routing No.: NA 
  Atty Review Date: 5/23/23 

 
Summary:  The architecture firm working for Kitsap Bank, GGLO Inc., will be making a presentation about the 
proposed Kitsap Bank project in downtown Port Orchard.  This presentation is related to a proposed 
development agreement also on the June 13, 2023, City Council Agenda. 

 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: The proposed project as presented is generally consistent with the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan and is specifically identified in the Port Orchard Downtown Subarea Plan. 
 
Recommendation:  N/A 
 
Motion for consideration:  N/A 
 
Fiscal Impact:  The proposed project has significant economic benefits to the city and the building permit and 
plan review fees for the proposed building will be significant.  Costs include lost impact fee, CFC, and GFF 
revenues due to the issuance of credits for existing and previous uses of the site.   
 
Alternatives: N/A   
 
Attachments: Presentation to be provided at the City Council meeting. 

     
 

Page 121 of 779



360-871-2411
360-895-6502

info@skfr.org
www.skfr.org

1974 Fircrest Dr SE
Port Orchard, WA 98366

FIRE LEVY

17%

+55%

+12%

83
Levy Key Components SOUTH KITSAP IS GROWING!

IMPACT

PEOPLE

Additional Firefighter/EMT's and 
Firefighter/Paramedics on duty every day 
Improved Community and Firefighter Safety 
24-hour personnel at Station 10- Banner Road

Quality of life knowing your home and family are
protected 24/7
Ensures fast response times for all emergency calls
Positively impacts property values and insurance
rating
Allows Mutual Aid to continue giving support to and
receiving support from other emergency response
entities.

Join us on Tuesday June 13th at 6:30 PM

The information you need to 

VOTE on August 1

Call volume 
increase since 

2013

Increase in 
emergency calls 

from 2020

Population 
growth since 

2013

Fires in 2022, 32 
of them having 

over $20k in 
damages

+

Fire District Levies are NOT new taxes

Chief Faucettwith

Page 122 of 779



FIRE LEVIES ARE NOT 
NEW TAXES

We responded to 12,708 calls in 
2022, or 35 per day, and 1.5 per 
hour. A CPR call requires 4 of our 9 
in service units and a fire requires 
at least 7.

Minimal staffing slows response 
times and rescue efforts.

Call volume has increased by 55% 
since 2013, while daily staffing 
levels have remained the same.

By law, SKFR cannot enter a 
structure fire with only two people 
arriving on one fire engine.

 

Additional Firefighter EMTs and
Firefighter Paramedics on duty
every day
24-hour personnel at Station 10
Faster response times
Improved Community & Firefighter
Safety

Levies generate the majority of our 
budget and SKFR does not receive 
separate funding from the city, county, 
or state.

Assessed 
Home 
Value

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

Current 
Fire 
Levy 

Annual 
Rate

 
$327 

$436

$545

$654

New
Fire
Levy

Annual
Rate

 
$450

$600

$750

$900

Find your homes assessed value at

*Based on 2023 assessed valuations

Total 
Increase 
per year

$123 / yr

$164 / yr

$205 / yr

$246 / yr

This 2023 fire levy lid lift maintains a 6 year
levy recurring levy which passed in 2004,
2010, and 2017. 

Total 
Increase 

per month

$10.25 / mo

$13.67 / mo

$17.08 / mo

We need the levy
restored and 
here's why! 

South Kitsap Fire & Rescue 
Quick Facts

Vote August 1st

The $0.41 from this renewal will
provide our community with:

$20.50 / mo

Projected cost* for a property owner

https://psearch.kitsapgov.com/pdetails/Default

Page 123 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Public Hearing 6A Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: A Public Hearing on an Ordinance  Prepared by: Nicholas Bond 

 Authorizing the Mayor to Execute a   DCD Director 
 Development Agreement with Kitsap Bank      Atty Routing No.: NA 
 for a New Headquarters Building in  Atty Review Date: 5/23/23 
 Downtown Port Orchard   

 
Summary:  The City has negotiated a development agreement with Kitsap Bank for a new Kitsap Bank 
Corporate Headquarters Building to be located at 625 Bay Street. This project is part of a four-year planning 
process to redevelop the west end of downtown Port Orchard that has been coordinated with the adjacent 
Community Event Center, Marina Sewer Lift Station, and Bay Street reconstruction project.  The project was 
identified in the Port Orchard downtown subarea plan and planned action Environmental Impact Statement. 
 
The proposed building would contain approximately 43,000 square feet and be three stories in height.  It is 
anticipated that the project will add 50 new jobs in downtown Port Orchard in addition to the existing jobs in 
the current Kitsap Bank Building. The proposed agreement covers a variety of development requirements 
summarized as follows: 
 

• Public frontage improvements along Bay Street and Frederick Street including a fee in lieu of 
construction of improvements along Frederick Street. 

• Providing impact fee credits for previous uses of the site and for buildings to be demolished. 
• Providing water capital facility charge credits based on previous uses of the site and for buildings to be 

demolished. 
• Providing for sewer general facility fee credits for previous uses of the site and for buildings to be 

demolished 
• Providing for use off an existing off-site parking lot to serve the project. 
• Providing flexibility from the City’s design standards and resulting in superior design outcomes. 
• Granting concurrency approval for water, sewer, and transportation. 
• Providing for cooperation to allow the location of the bank’s proposed generator on public property. 
• Recognizing the economic benefits of this project to the City. 
 

POMC 20.26 (Development Agreements) outlines the process for development agreement approval.  In this 
case, the application for the development agreement was filed by Kitsap Bank on May 18, 2023. The City 
determined the application to be complete on May 19, 2023. The City of Port Orchard’s SEPA Responsible 
Official has determined that SEPA review is not required for this project because the project is part of a planned 
action and was reviewed under a Final Environmental Impact Statement issued on April 26, 2021.  The City 
provided notice of application and advertised the Public Hearing consistent with the requirements of Port 

Page 124 of 779



 
 

 

Orchard Municipal Code 20.26.050. The Department of Community Development has received two comments 
in response to the Notice of Hearing which are attached to this staff report. 

 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: The project referenced in the proposed development agreement is 
consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is specifically identified in the Port Orchard Downtown 
Subarea Plan. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommend that the City Council conduct a public hearing on the proposed 
development agreement and ordinance. 
 
Motion for consideration:  N/A 
 
Fiscal Impact:  The proposed project has significant economic benefits to the city and the building permit and 
plan review fees for the proposed building will be significant.  Costs include lost impact fee, CFC, and GFF 
revenues due to the issuance of credits for existing and previous uses of the site.   
 
Alternatives: None.   
 
Attachments: The attachments (Ordinance, Development Agreement (including Exhibits A-F), Public 
Comments) are attached to the staff report for the corresponding business item. 

     
 

Page 125 of 779



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7A Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of an Ordinance Authorizing the  Prepared by: Nicholas Bond 

 Mayor to Execute a Development Agreement  DCD Director 
 With Kitsap Bank for a New Headquarters      Atty Routing No.: NA 
 Building in Downtown Port Orchard Atty Review Date: 5/23/23 

 
Summary:  The City has negotiated a development agreement with Kitsap Bank for a new Kitsap Bank 
Corporate Headquarters Building to be located at 625 Bay Street. This project is part of a four-year planning 
process to redevelop the west end of downtown Port Orchard that has been coordinated with the adjacent 
Community Event Center, Marina Sewer Lift Station, and Bay Street reconstruction project.  The project was 
identified in the Port Orchard downtown subarea plan and planned action Environmental Impact Statement. 
 
The proposed building would contain approximately 43,000 square feet and be three stories in height.  It is 
anticipated that the project will add 50 new jobs in downtown Port Orchard in addition to the existing jobs in 
the current Kitsap Bank Building. The proposed agreement covers a variety of development requirements 
summarized as follows: 
 

• Public frontage improvements along Bay Street and Frederick Street including a fee in lieu of 
construction of improvements along Frederick Street. 

• Providing impact fee credits for previous uses of the site and for buildings to be demolished. 
• Providing water capital facility charge credits based on previous uses of the site and for buildings to be 

demolished. 
• Providing for sewer general facility fee credits for previous uses of the site and for buildings to be 

demolished 
• Providing for use of an existing off-site parking lot to serve the project. 
• Providing flexibility from the City’s design standards and resulting in superior design outcomes. 
• Granting concurrency approval for water, sewer, and transportation. 
• Providing for cooperation to allow the location of the bank’s proposed generator on public property. 
• Recognizing the economic benefits of this project to the City. 
 

POMC 20.26 (Development Agreements) outlines the process for development agreement approval.  In this 
case, the application for the development agreement was filed by Kitsap Bank on May 18, 2023. The City 
determined the application to be complete on May 19, 2023. The City of Port Orchard’s SEPA Responsible 
Official has determined that SEPA review is not required for this project because the project is part of a planned 
action and was reviewed under a Final Environmental Impact Statement issued on April 26, 2021.  The City 
provided notice of application and advertised the Public Hearing consistent with the requirements of Port 
Orchard Municipal Code 20.26.050. The Department of Community Development has received two comments 
in response to the Notice of Hearing which are attached to this staff report. 

Page 126 of 779



 
 

 

 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: The project referenced in the proposed development agreement is 
consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and is specifically identified in the Port Orchard Downtown 
Subarea Plan. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommend approval of an ordinance authorizing the mayor to execute a 
development agreement with Kitsap Bank as presented. 
 
Motion for consideration:  “I move to adopt an ordinance authorizing the mayor to execute a development 
agreement with Kitsap Bank as presented.” 
 
Fiscal Impact:  The proposed project has significant economic benefits to the city and the building permit and 
plan review fees for the proposed building will be significant.  Costs include lost impact fee, CFC, and GFF 
revenues due to the issuance of credits for existing and previous uses of the site.   
 
Alternatives: Do not approve the development agreement, modify the development agreement.   
 
Attachments: Ordinance, Development Agreement (including Exhibits A-F), Public Comments 

     
 

Page 127 of 779



ORDINANCE NO. __  -23 
           

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE 
MAYOR TO EXECUTE A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH KITSAP BANK FOR THE 
KITSAP BANK HEADQUARTERS DEVELOPMENT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND 
CORRECTIONS; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to RCW 36.70B.170, the City Council has the authority to review and 
enter into development agreements that govern the development and use of real property within 
the City; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted standards and procedures governing the City’s 

use of development agreements, codified at Chapter 20.26 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code 
(POMC); and  

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 20.26 POMC is consistent with State law; and 

WHEREAS, Kitsap Bank, a bank corporation organized under the law of the State of 
Washington (“Kitsap Bank”), applied for a Development Agreement under Chapter 20.26 POMC 
on May 19, 2023 and such Agreement has been processed consistently with the POMC and State 
law; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Development Agreement by and between the City of Port Orchard and 

Kitsap Bank relates primarily to the development of property owned by Kitsap Bank, which is 
located at: 625 Bay Street and 639 Bay Steet (Kitsap County Tax Parcels #4650-012-001-0009 and 
#4650-012-003-0007); and 

 
WHEREAS, the development also related to additional property owned by Kitsap Bank at 

620 Bay Street, Port Orchard, WA (Kitsap County Tax Parcel #4650-009-001-0005) which is and 
will be used by Kitsap Bank for parking; and 

  
WHEREAS, Kitsap Bank’s current headquarters is located at 619 Bay Street in Port Orchard 

on the property the City intends to be part of the City’s Downtown Waterfront and it is in both 
parties’ interest for Kitsap Bank to vacate its current headquarters as soon as practicable; and 

 
WHEREAS, Kitsap Bank’s project will help to activate the City’s Downtown Waterfront and 

will bring many jobs to the area thus will create economic development in the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, it is in the City’s and the public’s interest to facilitate the expedited 

Page 128 of 779



  Ordinance No. __-23 
  Page 2 of 4 

     
 
 
development of Kitsap Bank’s project in order to make way for the City’s Community Events 
Center which will be located on the property that Kitsap Bank currently is occupying; and 

 
WHEREAS, in order to facilitate the Kitsap Bank Headquarters Project having superior 

design principles, some flexibility on applicable code provisions is appropriate and is off set by 
the public benefit of having a building with superior design; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is undertaking a significant improvement project in the area called the 

“Bay Street Project” which will include roadway, utilities, and waterfront amenities, such project 
to be undertaken in phases as funding allows; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Bay Street Project will increase the elevation of the City Rights-of-Way 

adjacent to Kitsap Bank’s project and Kitsap Bank’s project will be built to the grade of the Bay 
Street Project, not the existing grade; and  

 
WHEREAS, the components of the Bay Street Project surround Kitsap Bank’s property and 

thus the City’s Bay Street Project and Kitsap Bank’s project will need to coordinate development; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, Kitsap Bank demolished one building at 639 Bay Street and plans to demolish 

another at 625 Bay Street to facilitate Kitsap Bank’s Project and seeks credit for the previously 
existing traffic, water, and sewer trips and connections existing on the site previously; and  

 
WHEREAS, under POMC 20.26.020, the City Council has the authority to modify 

development standards as they deem appropriate; and  
 
WHEREAS, in consideration of the benefits conferred by this new Agreement, which 

reflect the current plans of both the City and Kitsap Bank, the Parties deem it in their best 
interests to enter into this Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, in consideration of the benefits conferred by this new Agreement, which 

reflect the current plans of both the City and Kitsap Bank and include a transportation impact fee 
credit calculation, the Parties deem it in their best interests to enter an Agreement and the City 
Council finds that approving the Agreement is in the public interest; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed development agreement and associated project action was 

reviewed as a Planned Action (Ordinance 031-21) and Determination of Significance issued on 
August 14, 2020; 

Page 129 of 779



  Ordinance No. __-23 
  Page 3 of 4 

     
 
 

WHEREAS, on April 26, 2021, the City issued a Final Environmental Impact Statement on 
the Downtown Subarea Plan and Planned Action and no appeals were filed in a timely manner; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council accepted written comments during a public comment period 

and held a public hearing on June 13, 2023 regarding this Agreement and comments were 
received by the city prior to the close of the hearing; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council, after careful consideration of the Development Agreement 

and all public comments and testimony, finds that the Development Agreement is consistent with 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan and development regulations, the Growth Management Act, 
Chapter 36.70A RCW, and that the Agreement in the best interests of the residents of the City; 
now, therefore,  

 
WHEREAS, after a public hearing, by Ordinance No. [xxx], the City Council authorized the 

Mayor to sign this Agreement with Kitsap Bank. 
 

 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1.  Findings. The City Council adopts all of the “Whereas” sections of this 
ordinance and all “Whereas” sections of the Development Agreement as findings in support of 
this ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2.  Authorization. The City Council approves of and authorizes the Mayor to 

execute a Development Agreement with Kitsap Bank substantially as provided in “Exhibit A” of 
this Ordinance.  

 
SECTION 3.  Severability.  If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance 

should be held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity of constitutionality of any other 
section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance. 
 

SECTION 4.  Corrections.  Upon the approval of the city attorney, the city clerk and/or 
code publisher is authorized to make any necessary technical corrections to this Ordinance 
including but not limited to the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, Ordinance 
numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any reference thereto. 

 

Page 130 of 779



  Ordinance No. __-23 
  Page 4 of 4 

     
 
 

SECTION 5.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be published in the official newspaper 
of the city and shall take full force and effect five (5) days after posting and publication as required 
by law.  A summary of this Ordinance may be published in lieu of publishing the entire Ordinance, 
as authorized by state law. 
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, APPROVED by the Mayor and 
attested by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 

 
 
 

                ____       
Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
       _______  
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:       Sponsored by: 
 
 
                       
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney    John Clauson, Council Member 
 
PUBLISHED:   
 
EFFECTIVE DATE:   
 
 
EXHIBIT A:   DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

AND KITSAP BANK FOR THE KITSAP BANK HEADQUARTERS DEVELOPMENT 
 
 

Page 131 of 779



1 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

[PROPOSED] DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD AND  KITSAP BANK, 

FOR THE KITSAP BANK HEADQUARTERS DEVELOPMENT 
 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is made and entered into this   day of  
 , 2023, by and between the City of Port Orchard, a noncharter, optional code Washington 
municipal corporation, hereinafter the “City,” and Kitsap Bank, a bank corporation organized 
under the laws of the State of Washington, hereinafter the “Developer” (individually, a “Party” 
and collectively, the “Parties”).  The Parties hereby agree as follows: 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Legislature has authorized the execution of a 
development agreement between a local government and a person having ownership or control of 
real property within its jurisdiction (RCW 36.70B.170(1)); and 

 
WHEREAS, a development agreement must set forth the development standards and other 

provisions that shall apply to, govern and vest the development, use and mitigation of the 
development of the real property for the duration specified in the agreement (RCW 
36.70B.170(1)); and 
 

WHEREAS, for the purposes of this development agreement, “development standards” 
includes, but is not limited to, all of the standards listed in RCW 36.70B.170(3); and 
 

WHEREAS, a development agreement must be consistent with the applicable 
development regulations adopted by a local government planning under chapter 36.70A RCW 
(RCW 36.70B.170(1)); and 

 
WHEREAS, Port Orchard adopted Chapter 20.26 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code 

(“POMC”) which establishes the standards and procedures for Development Agreements in Port 
Orchard; and 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 20.26 POMC is consistent with State law; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Developer applied for a Development Agreement on May 19, 2023 under 

Chapter 20.26 POMC and such Agreement has been processed consistently with the POMC and 
State law; and 

 
WHEREAS, this Development Agreement by and between the City of Port Orchard and 

the Developer (hereinafter the “Development Agreement”), relates to the development known as 
the Kitsap Bank Headquarters Building, which is located at: 625 Bay Street and 639 Bay Steet 
(Kitsap County Tax Parcels #4650-012-001-0009 and #4650-012-003-0007) (hereinafter the 
“Subject Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer also owns property at 620 Bay Street, Port Orchard, WA 

(Kitsap County Tax Parcel #4650-009-001-0005) which is used by the Developer for parking 

Page 132 of 779

javascript:showParcelPopup(APP.featSet_ALL_TAXACCTS.features%5B1%5D);


2 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

(hereinafter “Parking Property”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Developer’s current headquarters is located at 619 Bay Street in Port 

Orchard on the property the City intends to be part of the City’s Downtown Waterfront and it is in 
both parties’ interest for the Developer to vacate its current headquarters as soon as practicable; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer’s project will help to activate the City’s Downtown Waterfront 

and will bring many jobs to the area thus will create economic development in the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, it is in the City’s and the public’s interest to facilitate the expedited 

development of the Developer’s project in order to make way for the City’s Community Event’s 
Center which will be located on the property that the Developer currently is occupying; and 

 
WHEREAS, in order to facilitate the project having superior design principles, some 

flexibility on applicable code provisions is appropriate and is off set by the public benefit of having 
a building with superior design; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is undertaking a significant improvement project in the area called 

the “Bay Street Project” which will include roadway, utilities, and waterfront amenities, such 
project to be undertaken in phases as funding allows; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Bay Street Project will increase the elevation of the City Rights-of-Way 

adjacent to the Developer’s project and the Developer’s project will be built to the grade of the 
Bay Street Project, not the existing grade; and  

 
WHEREAS, the components of the Bay Street Project surround the Developer’s property 

and thus the City’s Bay Street Project and the Developer’s project will need to coordinate 
development; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Developer demolished one building at 639 Bay Street and plans to 

demolish another at 625 Bay Street to facilitate the Developer’s Project and seeks credit for the 
previously existing traffic, water, and sewer trips and connections existing on the site previously; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, under POMC 20.26.020, the City Council has the authority to modify 

development standards as they deem appropriate; and  
 
WHEREAS, in consideration of the benefits conferred by this new Agreement, which 

reflect the current plans of both the City and the Owner, the Parties deem it in their best interests 
to enter into this Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on June 13, 2023 regarding this 
Agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, after a public hearing, by Ordinance No. [xxx], the City Council authorized 
the Mayor to sign this Agreement with the Owner. 

Page 133 of 779



3 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

AGREEMENT 
 

Section 1. The Project. The Project is the development and use of the Property, consisting 
of 0.49 acres in the City of Port Orchard. The Project consists of a bank headquarters building 
within the development of a three-story office building located between Orchard Ave and Fredrick 
Ave on the north side of Bay Street. The building may include the following: ground floor retail 
bank, retail lease space, building amenity spaces, guest parking, and upper-level office space 
(“Project”).   
 

Section 2.  Developer’s Property.  The Project site is legally described in Exhibit “A” 
and is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (“Subject Property” or 
“Property”). 

 
The Developer also owns property which is used by the Developer for parking. Such 

property is located at 620 Bay Street, Port Orchard, WA (Kitsap County Tax Parcel #4650-009-
001-0005) and is legally described as Exhibit “B” and is attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference ( “Parking Property”). 

 
 

Section 3. Definitions. As used in this Development Agreement, the following terms, 
phrases and words shall have the meanings and be interpreted as set forth in this Section. 
 

a) “Adopting Ordinance” means the Ordinance which approves this Development 
Agreement, as required by RCW 36.70B.200 and Chapter 20.26 POMC. 
 

b) “Certificate of occupancy” means either a certificate issued after inspections by the 
City authorizing a person(s) in possession of property to dwell or otherwise use a specified building 
or dwelling unit, or the final inspection if a formal certificate is not issued. 
 

c) “Council” means the duly elected legislative body governing the City of Port Orchard. 
 

d) “Design Guidelines” means the design requirements contained in the Port Orchard 
Municipal Code. 
 

e) “Director” means the City’s Community Development Director or Director of 
Planning and Building. 

 
f) “Effective Date” means the effective date of the Adopting Ordinance. 

 
g) “Existing Land Use Regulations” means the ordinances adopted by the City Council 

of Port Orchard in effect on the Effective Date, including the adopting ordinances that govern the 
permitted uses of land, the density and intensity of use, and the design, improvement, construction 
standards and specifications applicable to the development of the Subject Property, including, but 
not limited to the Comprehensive Plan, the City’s Official Zoning Map and development standards, 
the Design Manual, the Public Works Standards, SEPA, Concurrency Ordinance, and all other 

Page 134 of 779

javascript:showParcelPopup(APP.featSet_ALL_TAXACCTS.features%5B1%5D);
javascript:showParcelPopup(APP.featSet_ALL_TAXACCTS.features%5B1%5D);


4 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

ordinances, codes, rules and regulations of the City establishing subdivision standards, park 
regulations, building design guidelines. Existing Land Use Regulation does not include non-land 
use regulations, which includes taxes, impact fees, utility connection fees, and storm water control 
regulations. 
 

h) “Project” means the anticipated development of the Subject Property, as specified in 
Section 1 and as provided for in all associated permits/approvals, and all incorporated exhibits. 
 

Section 4.   Exhibits.  Exhibits to this Agreement are as follows: 
 

a) Exhibit A – Legal description of the Subject Property. 
b) Exhibit B – Legal description of the Parking Property. 
c) Exhibit C – Site Plan showing public improvements on Bay Street and Fredrick 

Avenue as well as showing the City’s Bay Street Project Phases. 
d) Exhibit D – Schematic Design Plan set for Kitsap Bank. 
e) Exhibit E – Bank Preliminary Civil Engineering Plans. 
f) Exhibit F – Engineering Study for Bay Street Improvements. 

These exhibits are each attached to this Agreement and incorporated herein by this reference as if 
set forth in full. 

 
Section 5.  Parties to Development Agreement.  The Parties to this Agreement are: 
 
a) The “City” is the City of Port Orchard, 216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 

98366. 
 

b) The “Developer” or “Property Owner” is a private enterprise which owns the Subject 
Property in fee, and whose principal office is located at 619 Bay Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366-
5397. 
 

Section 6. Project is a Private Undertaking. It is agreed among the parties that the Project 
is a private development and that the City has no interest therein except as authorized in the 
exercise of its governmental functions. 
 

Section 7. Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall commence upon the effective date 
of the Adopting Ordinance approving this Agreement, and shall continue in force for a period of 
ten (10) years unless extended or terminated as provided herein. Following the expiration of the 
term or extension thereof, or if sooner terminated, this Agreement shall have no force and effect, 
subject however, to post-termination obligations of the Developer.   
 

Section 8.  Vested Rights of Developer.  During the term of this Agreement, unless sooner 
terminated in accordance with the terms hereof, in developing the Subject Property consistent with 
the Project described herein, Developer is assured, and the City agrees, that the development rights, 
obligations, terms and conditions specified in this Agreement, are fully vested in the Developer 
and may not be changed or modified by the City, except as may be expressly permitted by, and in 

Page 135 of 779



5 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

accordance with, the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the Exhibits hereto, or as 
expressly consented thereto by the Developer. Provided, however, that, consistent with state law, 
this Agreement does not vest the Developer to standards which are not considered “land use control 
ordinances.”  
 

Section_9. Permitted Uses and Development Standards. The permitted uses, the density 
and intensity of use, the maximum height and size of proposed buildings, provisions for reservation 
and dedication of land or payment of fees in lieu of dedication for public purposes, the 
construction, installation and extension of public improvements, development guidelines and 
standards for development of the Subject Property shall be those set forth in this Agreement, the 
permits and approvals identified herein, and all exhibits incorporated herein. 
 

Section 10. Minor Modifications. Minor modifications from the approved permits or the 
exhibits attached hereto may be approved in accordance with the provisions of the City’s code, 
and shall not require an amendment to this Agreement, provided however, that amendments to 
related plats shall be processed under Chapter 20.88 POMC. 
 

Section 11. Further Discretionary Actions. Developer acknowledges that the Existing 
Land Use Regulations contemplate the exercise of further discretionary powers by the City. These 
powers include, but are not limited to, review of additional permit applications under SEPA. 
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit the authority or the obligation of the City to 
hold legally required public hearings, or to limit the discretion of the City and any of its officers 
or officials in complying with or applying Existing Land Use Regulations. 
 

Section 12.  Required Public Improvements, Payment in Lieu of Fredrick Avenue 
Improvements.  
 

A. Developer acknowledges and agrees that as a condition of permit approval as required 
by Chapters 20.180 and 20.202 POMC, Developer is required to install public improvements on 
both Bay Street and Fredrick Avenue. These public improvements include: 

 
1. For Bay Street: Concrete sidewalks with a width of 12 feet from back of curb, 

including tree planting areas. (See Exhibit “C” improvement for details.) 
 

2. For Fredrick Avenue: Concrete sidewalks, curbs, lighting, street trees and all of 
the street improvements as shown on Exhibit “C”, including pavement lanes.  

 
A site plan showing the improvements on Bay Street and Fredrick Avenue is attached hereto as 
Exhibit “C” and incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full. 

 
B. The Developer will install the sidewalks on Bay Street and the City will install curbs, 

lighting, and street trees as part of the City’s Bay Street Project. 
 
C. In order to better integrate the projects in both timing and scope, the Developer has 

requested that the City to install the Fredrick Avenue improvements (frontage improvements plus 
street improvements as shown on Exhibit “C”) on its behalf as part of the City’s Bay Street 

Page 136 of 779



6 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

Project.  This will ensure that the public is only inconvenienced once, as the projects will be done 
together. This will also ensure better matching of materials and connections. Therefore, in lieu of 
the Developer constructing the public improvements on Fredrick Avenue, Developer will transfer 
the necessary funds to the City in the amount of $51,160.00 (“Funds”). The Developer shall 
transfer these funds to the City no later than the date of building permit issuance and the building 
permit shall not issue until such payment is made. 

 
D. The City agrees that this payment in lieu of construction of the public improvements 

for Fredrick Avenue will satisfy the public improvement conditions for Fredrick Avenue to be 
required under the development permits. Developer authorizes and directs the City to utilize the 
Funds towards planning, design, permitting and/or construction of the Fredrick Avenue Public 
Improvements listed in this Section, at the City’s sole direction regarding timing, as referenced 
above.   

 
E. The City agrees to accept the Funds as financial security in lieu of construction of the 

public improvements for Fredrick Avenue listed above. Upon receipt of the Funds, the requirement 
for building the Fredrick Avenue public improvements is deemed fulfilled. Developer shall remain 
obligated to perform and comply with any and all other obligations and conditions required by the 
City for the Project and this Agreement shall not relieve Developer of those obligations and/or 
conditions, except as provided herein.  

 
F. Developer acknowledges and accepts that the City may utilize the Funds for the 

purposes described herein at any time after the Funds are deposited with the City, at the City’s sole 
discretion, and Developer affirmatively disclaims any interest in the Funds.  

 
G. To the extent the City determines that planning, design, permitting and/or construction 

of the Fredrick Avenue public improvements listed herein requires additional cooperation from 
Developer, including but not limited to granting the City with a temporary construction easement 
at no cost, Developer shall reasonably provide the City with the cooperation sought, provided the 
City is not entitled to further payment for the Fredrick Avenue public improvements beyond what 
is required in this Agreement. 

 
H. The Bay Street concrete sidewalks shall be completed by the Developer no later than 

twelve (12) months following the City’s completion of the Bay Street Improvement project TIP 
1.16 as funded through grant agreements (1) State Route 166 / Bay Street Reconstruction DEMP 
ID #: WA340 and CDFA #: 20.205 Project (design) and (2) SR 166 / Bay Street Improvements – 
Preservation FHWA PSRC Project (construction) or prior to the issuance of a final certificate of 
occupancy to the Developer’s Project, whichever is later. If the Bay Street Improvement Project is 
delayed, the Developer may apply to the City to install a temporary solution. It is the intent of this 
section that the temporary nature of the Bay Street concrete sidewalks prior to the completion of 
the Bay Street Improvement project not delay the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy 
issued to the Developer.   

 
I. The City will provide the Developer with preliminary plans for the Bay Street 

Improvement project before they are finalized and sent out to bid. The Developer will have an 
opportunity to provide the City with comments on the plans. The City will use its best efforts, at 

Page 137 of 779



7 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

no cost to the Developer, to mitigate temporary elevation differences between the Developer’s 
project and the City’s adjacent rights-of-way to minimize impacts to Developer’s business and 
ensure the Developer’s project is accessible to foot and vehicular traffic after the Bay Street Project 
is complete. If a temporary access to Developer’s Property is needed prior to or during the City’s 
construction of the Bay Street Improvement Project, then the Developer shall be responsible for 
providing that temporary improvement for access to its Property.  

 
J. As part of the Bay Street Improvement project the City will provide utility stub-outs 

to the Developer’s property line at required locations as determined by Kitsap Bank as shown 
generally in Exhibit C. 
 

Section 13.  Existing Fees and Charges; Credits for Prior Development. 
 

A. Impact fees, permit fees, capital facilities charges, and other similar fees which are 
adopted by the City as of the Effective Date of this Agreement may be increased by the City from 
time to time, and applicable to permits and approvals for the Subject Property, as long as such fees 
and charges apply to similar applications and projects in the City. Provided, however, that the 
Parties agree that Developer shall be entitled to Water CFC, Sewer GFF, and Sewer Wastewater 
Treatment Facility fee credits for Tax Parcels 4650-012-003-0007 and 4650-012-001-0009. Such credits 
shall be based on the number of Equivalent Residential Units (“ERUs”) for water and sewer, and 
Peak P.M. Trips for transportation impact fees, previously existing on the property that were 
connected to the City’s systems. The prior development consisted of a demolished building 
containing 4,200 square feet of retail, 2,400 square feet of tavern/restaurant, and seven apartment 
units as well as the existing 437 square foot Kitsap bank drive-thru.   
 

B. All impact fees shall be paid as set forth in the approved permit or approval, or as 
addressed in chapter 20.182 of the Port Orchard Municipal Code. Nothing in this Agreement 
restricts or prohibits the City from raising its fees and the Developer agrees to pay the impacts fees 
that are in effect at the time when payment is due. Provided, however, that nothing in this 
Agreement will prohibit the Developer obtaining any credit for previously paid impact fees on the 
Property. 
 

Section 14.  Parking. 
 
 The Developer’s existing off-site parking located on the Parking Property is adequate to 
meet the requirements for on-site parking that would otherwise be applicable to this Development. 
Nothing in this Development Agreement shall preclude the future redevelopment of 620 Bay 
Street, provided however that the parking spaces currently existing thereon and which are required 
to support the Project shall be replaced in the new structure or at another location.  
 

This provision will survive the expiration of this Agreement. 
 
Section 15. Design Flexibility; Departures Granted. 

 
A. Elevator or Stairway Roof and Mechanical Screening Projection Setback.  Currently 

POMC 20.38.640 allows a stairwell and mechanical screening to project up to ten feet above 

Page 138 of 779



8 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

maximum height if the stairwell is setback ten feet from the exterior wall of the building. The City 
will allow this stairwell and mechanical screening to project up to 10 feet above the maximum 
height of the building and will not be subject to the required ten foot setback provided that the 
projection is entirely outside of the designated shoreline.  

 
B. Building Placement; Entrance Location. Currently POMC 20.127.120, 20.127.150, and 

20.127.170 require certain building placement and entrance location. POMC 20.127.150(3) allows 
departures from this requirement. Minor building setback increases will be allowed to 
accommodate grade changes. In response to the City sea level rise study, the primary building 
entry is approximately 18 – 36 inches above the future Bay Street and Fredrick Avenue sidewalk 
grade. Under the Bay Street Project, the frontage along Bay Street will be increased to provide a 
landscape planter to soften the exposed low concrete wall. The southwest (Fredrick Avenue) 
corner of the building is set back to provide an elevated building entry plaza to the proposed retail 
entry. 

 
1. Entrance Location – the City will allow for primary building entrance to be located 

on future Orchard Plaza with the entry near the corner of Orchard Street and Bay 
Street. The proposed site and building grades constraints in the POMC do not allow 
for the primary building entry to be located on Bay Street. The proposed primary 
entry location at the Orchard Plaza and Bay Street corner activates the future 
Orchard Plaza entry and responds to the entry of the proposed Community Event 
Center and aligns well with the City’s planned Hill Climb midblock crossing. A 
retail entry will be located such that it faces Bay Street near the intersection of 
Fredrick Avenue. This proposed flexibility will better work with the City’s planned 
Downtown Waterfront redevelopment and helps to activate pedestrian areas. 
 

C. Façade Transparency on Fredrick Avenue Side. Currently POMC 20.127.120, 20.127.150, 
20.127.170 and 20.127.170(2) require forty percent transparency between 30 inches and 10 feet 
height for nonresidential uses in the ground floor within 10 feet of the sidewalk. POMC 
20.127.150(3) allows departures from this requirement. The City will allow a reduction in façade 
transparency at Frederick Avenue (east elevation) and allow for the bottom of transparency to be 
located above 30 inches. Due to grading constraints a portion of the windows will be higher than 
30 inches where the floor level is more than 30 inches above adjacent grades. This deviation will 
allow for the small parking garage that is proposed for the northeast site corner and to prioritize 
transparency and activation on Bay Street, Orchard Plaza, and the Waterfront Park. The retail 
facade along Fredrick Avenue will be transparent from the corner of Bay Street to the start of the 
stair and the garage. Where building service needs allow, the garage facade will include 
architectural metal screening façade treatments that simulate windows or glazing per 20.127.140.  

 
D. Weather Protection. Currently POMC 20.127.120 and 20.127.150 require certain weather 

protection. Due to the site grading constraints and multiple building frontages, the development 
will be better served by installing the weather protection adjacent to the Orchard Plaza to connect 
Bay Street with the primary building entry and the waterfront trail and such weather protection 
will provide an equivalent weather protection benefit to the public. The building will include a 20 

Page 139 of 779



9 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

foot overhang along the Orchard Plaza frontage which is reminiscent of the current downtown 
marquee. In addition, a three foot deep overhang will also be provided at the retail entry located 
on the raised plaza at the corner of Bay Street and Fredrick Avenue. These departures are allowed 
under POMC 20.127.420(2). In addition, other articulation features may be used, provided they 
meet the purpose of the standards and the design criteria set forth in POMC 20.127.420(4). 

 
E. Building Massing and Articulation. Currently POMC 20.127.430 requires both provision 

of a minimum of three articulation features every forty feet to create a pattern of small storefronts 
and requires the provision of vertical building modulation at least twenty feet deep and thirty feet 
wide. The Developer will provide an alternative vertical building modulation design that meets the 
purpose of the code as follows:  

 
1. Due to the site grading constraints and building use the street frontage does not 

include individual storefronts as prescribed in the code. The proposed design 
incorporates the following proposed articulation elements to break down the facade 
pattern: vertical column elements approximately every twenty to twenty-four feet, 
low stormwater plantings adjacent to the foundation wall, changing upper-level 
window patterns, vertical window fins, and a second floor building overhang. The 
longest continuous straight building façade along Bay Street is approximately 
eighty five (85) feet. This departure will provide appropriate articulation features 
to break down the building façade where storefronts do not exist along Bay Street. 

2. At approximately one hundred twelve (112) feet long, the Fredrick Avenue building 
façade is only slightly longer than the one hundred (100) foot distance requiring 
articulation. The vertical stair tower measures approximately twenty-two feet wide 
with an approximate four foot depth is provided to break up the façade. The full 
height vertical stair element divides the parking garage from the retail cafe and 
allows the facade to appear as two distinct buildings.  

 
F. Building Massing and Articulation. Currently POMC 20.127.434 requires provision of a 

minimum of one detail element from each of the three detail categories for each forty feet 
articulation to encourage the incorporation of design details and small-scale elements into building 
facades that are attractive at a pedestrian scale. The Developer will provide an alternative building 
detail that meets the purpose of the code as follows:  

 
1. Due to the site grading constraints and building use the street frontage does not 

include individual storefronts articulation as prescribed in the code. The proposed 
design incorporates the following proposed detail elements: approximately 14’ tall 
windows, vertical column elements every twenty to twenty-four feet, low 
stormwater plantings adjacent to the foundation wall, changing upper-level window 
patterns, vertical window fins, and a second-floor building overhang.  
 

G. Landscape Site Design Standards. Currently POMC 20.128.070 requires a 
minimum three foot wide foundation planting with three-gallon shrubs. This departure will allow 
for two foot wide linear stormwater planter adjacent to the building façade along Bay Street and 

Page 140 of 779



10 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

Fredrick Avenue. The purpose for the departure is to create consistency with the Downtown Water 
Front redevelopment with the Developer’s building being located to be as close to the sidewalk as 
possible while also allowing foundation landscaping to soften the building edge. Street facing 
plantings will be located in planters that are consistent with the urban downtown context. 

 
H. Except as provided in Section 14 and Section 15 of this Agreement, the 

Development shall otherwise comply with the City code in effect at the time of application of the 
applicable building permit(s). 

Section 16. Waiver of Permitting Deadlines.  
 

The Bank will waive the 120 day permit processing deadline contained in POMC 20.24.110.3. 
 

Section 17. Concurrency.  

This City has granted concurrency for water, sewer, transportation for the Project as described 
in Section X above. Such concurrency shall be valid for the duration of this Agreement. 

 
Section 18. Cooperation in Locating Developer’s Generator.  
 
The City will support Developer’s efforts to locate the Developer’s generator on the City’s 

DNR lease property which is located adjacent to the Subject Property. Developer understands and 
agrees that such permission is a DNR decision and may require rental payments from the 
Developer to the City or DNR. If DNR does not permit the Developer’s generator to be placed in 
such location, then the City will assist the Developer to identify another nearby off-site location 
suitable to Developer that is controlled by the City that would be a leased pad site for the 
Developer’s generator. In such case, the Developer agrees that it will pay the City fair market rent 
and that such location will require a subsequent long-term lease agreement between the Parties for 
such use with options to extend sufficient to meet the needs of the Developer.  Alternatively, the 
Developer may choose to install the generator on the Developer’s property. If this option is selected 
by the Developer, the City must allow access to the generator from the property to the north, Tax 
Parcel 262401-1-007-2008, and provide for adequate clearance from the generator on the property 
to the north. 

Section 19. Default. 
 

A. Subject to extensions of time by mutual consent in writing, failure or delay by either 
party or Landowner not released from this Agreement, to perform any term or provision of this 
Agreement shall constitute a default. In the event of alleged default or breach of any terms or 
conditions of this Agreement, the party alleging such default or breach shall give the other party 
or Landowner not less than thirty (30) days’ notice in writing, specifying the nature of the alleged 
default and the manner in which said default may be cured. During this thirty (30) day period, the 
party or Landowner charged shall not be considered in default for purposes of termination or 
institution of legal proceedings. 
 

B. After notice and expiration of the thirty (30) day period, if such default has not been 

Page 141 of 779



11 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

cured or is not being diligently cured in the manner set forth in the notice, the other party or 
Landowner to this Agreement may, at its option, institute legal proceedings pursuant to this 
Agreement. In addition, the City may decide to file an action to enforce the City’s Codes, and to 
obtain penalties and costs as provided in the Port Orchard Municipal Code for violations of this 
Development Agreement and the Code. 

 
Section 20. Termination. This Agreement shall expire and/or terminate as provided 

below: 
 

A. This Agreement shall expire and be of no further force and effect if the development 
contemplated in this Agreement and all of the permits and/or approvals issued by the City for such 
development are not substantially underway prior to expiration of such permits and/or approvals. 
Nothing in this Agreement shall extend the expiration date of any permit or approval issued by the 
City for any development. 

 
B. This Agreement shall expire and be of no further force and effect if the Developer 

does not construct the Project as contemplated by the permits and approvals identified in this 
Agreement, and submits applications for development of the Property that are inconsistent with 
such permits and approvals. 

 
C. This Agreement shall terminate upon the expiration of the term identified in Section 

7, which expiration date is at 11:59 p.m. on June 12, 2033 or when the Subject Property has been 
fully developed, which ever first occurs, and all of the Developer’s obligations in connection 
therewith are satisfied as determined by the City.  Upon termination of this Agreement, the City 
shall record a notice of such termination in a form satisfactory to the City Attorney that the 
Agreement has been terminated. This Agreement shall automatically terminate and be of no further 
force and effect as to any single-family residence, any other residential dwelling unit or any non- 
residential building and the lot or parcel upon which such residence or building is located, when it 
has been approved by the City for occupancy. 

 
D.       Termination and Modification. Upon termination, any further development of the 

property shall conform to the development regulations applicable to the property at the time of 
permit application. The Developer understands that under POMC 20.25.020(7), the City is 
prohibited from modifying this development agreement by extending the termination date. The 
Developer further understands that any request for a modification shall be consistent with the city’s 
development regulations applicable to the property at the time of the request, not the original 
execution date of this Development Agreement. 
 

Section 21. Effect upon Termination on Developer Obligations.  Termination of this 
Agreement as to the Developer of the Subject Property or any portion thereof shall not affect any 
of the Developer’s obligations to comply with the City Comprehensive Plan and the terms and 
conditions or any applicable zoning code(s) or subdivision map or other land use entitlements 
approved with respect to the Subject Property, any other conditions of any other development 
specified in the Agreement to continue after the termination of this Agreement or obligations to 
pay assessments, liens, fees or taxes. 
 

Page 142 of 779



12 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

Section 22. Effects upon Termination on City. Upon any termination of this Agreement 
as to the Developer of the Subject Property, or any portion thereof, the entitlements, conditions of 
development, limitations on fees and all other terms and conditions of this Agreement shall no 
longer be vested hereby with respect to the property affected by such termination (provided that 
vesting of such entitlements, conditions or fees may then be established for such property pursuant 
to the then existing planning and zoning laws). 
 

Section 23.  Assignment and Assumption.  The Developer shall have the right to sell, 
assign or transfer this Agreement with all their rights, title and interests therein to any person, firm 
or corporation at any time during the term of this Agreement with a sale of the underlying property.  
Developer shall provide the City with written notice of any intent to sell, assign, or transfer all or 
a portion of the Subject Property, at least 30 days in advance of such action. 
 

Section 24. Binding on Successors; Covenants Running with the Land. The conditions 
and covenants set forth in this Agreement and incorporated herein by the Exhibits shall run with 
the land and the benefits and burdens shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties. The 
Developer and every purchaser, assignee or transferee of an interest in the Subject Property or the 
Parking Property, or any portion thereof, shall be obligated and bound by the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement, and shall be the beneficiary thereof and a party thereto, but only with respect 
to the Subject Property or the Parking Property, or such portion thereof, sold, assigned or 
transferred to it. Any such purchaser, assignee or transferee shall observe and fully perform all of 
the duties and obligations of a Developer contained in this Agreement, as such duties and 
obligations pertain to the portion of the Subject Property and/or the Parking Property sold, assigned 
or transferred to it. 
 

Section 25. Amendment to Agreement; Effect of Agreement on Future Actions. 
Modifications to this Agreement shall be in writing, signed by the duly authorized representatives 
of the parties, be consistent with chapter 20.26 POMC, and, where considered substantive as 
determined by the director, follow the same procedures set forth in chapter 20.26 POMC. 
However, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the City Council from making any amendment 
to its Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Code, Official Zoning Map or development regulations 
affecting the Subject Property during the next five years, as the City Council may deem necessary 
to the extent required by a serious threat to public health and safety.  Nothing in this Development 
Agreement shall prevent the City Council from making any amendments of any type to the 
Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Code, Official Zoning Map or development regulations relating to 
the Subject Property five years from the anniversary date of the Effective Date of this Agreement. 
 

Section 26. Releases. Developer, and any subsequent Landowner, may free itself from 
further obligations relating to the sold, assigned, or transferred property, provided that the buyer, 
assignee or transferee expressly assumes the obligations under this Agreement as provided herein. 
 

Section 27.  Notices. Notices, demands, correspondence to the City and Developer shall 
be sufficiently given if dispatched by pre-paid first-class mail to the addresses of the parties as 
designated in Section 5. Notice to the City shall be to the attention of both the City Administrator 
and the City Attorney. Notices to subsequent Landowners shall be required to be given by the City 
only for those Landowners who have given the City written notice of their address for such notice. 

Page 143 of 779



13 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

The parties hereto may, from time to time, advise the other of new addresses for such notices, 
demands or correspondence. 
 

Section 28. Reimbursement for Agreement Expenses of the City. Developer agrees to 
reimburse the City for actual expenses incurred over and above fees paid by Developer as an 
applicant incurred by City directly relating to this Agreement, including recording fees, publishing 
fess and reasonable staff and consultant costs not otherwise included within application fees. This 
development agreement shall not take effect until the fees provided for in this section, as well as 
any processing fees owed to the City for the project are paid to the City. Upon payment of all 
expenses, the Developer may request written acknowledgement of all fees. Such payment of all 
fees shall be paid, at the latest, within thirty (30) days from the City’s presentation of a written 
statement of charges to the Developer. 
 

Section 29. Applicable Law and Attorneys’ Fees. This Agreement shall be construed and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. If litigation is initiated to enforce 
the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and costs from the non-prevailing party. Venue for any action shall lie in Kitsap 
County Superior Court or the U.S. District Court for Western Washington. 

 
Section 30. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise provided herein, this 

Agreement shall not create any rights enforceable by any party who is not a party to this 
Agreement.  

 
Section 31. City’s right to breach. The parties agree that the City may, without incurring 

any liability, engage in action that would otherwise be a breach if the City makes a determination 
on the record that the action is necessary to avoid a serious threat to public health and safety, or if 
the action is required by federal or state law. 

 
Section 32. Developer’s Compliance.  The City’s duties under the agreement are 

expressly conditioned upon the Developer’s or Property Owner’s substantial compliance with each 
and every term, condition, provision and/or covenant in this Agreement, including all applicable 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations and the Developer’s/Property Owner’s obligations as 
identified in any approval or project permit for the property identified in this Agreement. 

 
Section 33. Limitation on City’s Liability for Breach.  Any breach of this Agreement by 

the City shall give right only to damages under state contract law and shall not give rise to any 
liability under Chapter 64.40 RCW, the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. 
Constitution, or similar state constitutional provisions. 
 

Section_34. Third Party Legal Challenge. In the event any legal action or special 
proceeding is commenced by any person or entity other than a Party to challenge this Agreement 
or any provision herein, the City may elect to tender the defense of such lawsuit or individual 
claims in the lawsuit to Developer. In such event, Developer shall hold the City harmless from and 
defend the City from all costs and expenses incurred in the defense of such lawsuit or individual 
claims in the lawsuit, including but not limited to, attorneys’ fees and expenses of litigation, and 
damages awarded to the prevailing party or parties in such litigation. The Developer shall not settle 

Page 144 of 779



14 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

any lawsuit without the consent of the City. The City shall act in good faith and shall not 
unreasonably withhold consent to settle. 
 

Section 35. Specific Performance. The Parties specifically agree that damages are not an 
adequate remedy for breach of this Agreement, and that the parties are entitled to compel specific 
performance of all material terms of this Development Agreement by any Party in default hereof. 

 
Section 36. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded against the Subject Property and 

the Parking Property with the real property records of the Kitsap County Auditor. During the term 
of the Agreement, it is binding upon the owners of the property and any successors in interest to 
such property.  
 

Section 37.  Severability.  If any phrase, provision or section of this Agreement is 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, or if any provision 
of this Agreement is rendered invalid or unenforceable according to the terms of any statute of the 
State of Washington which became effective after the effective date of the ordinance adopting this 
Development Agreement, and either party in good faith determines that such provision or 
provisions are material to its entering into this Agreement, that party may elect to terminate this 
Agreement as to all of its obligations remaining unperformed. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Development Agreement 
to be executed as of the dates set forth below: 
 
KITSAP BANK: CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
 
 
By  
   
Its      

By  
     Robert Putaansuu   
Its Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
              
       Brandy Wallace, CMC, City Clerk 
    
APPROVED AS TO FORM   APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 
          
David Horton   Jennifer Robertson 
Attorney for Kitsap Bank   City Attorney’s Office 
 
 
  

Page 145 of 779



15 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

NOTARY BLOCK FOR PORT ORCHARD 
 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON  ) 
)  ss. 

COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that Robert Putaansuu is the person 
who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he signed this instrument, on oath 
stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the Mayor of Port 
Orchard to be the free and voluntary act of such Party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the 
instrument. 
 

Dated:     , 2023. 
  
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at: 

          
My Commission expires:   

  

Page 146 of 779



16 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

NOTARY BLOCK FOR KITSAP BANK 
 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON  ) 
)  ss. 

COUNTY OF     ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that     is the person who 
appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this instrument, on oath 
stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the 
 TITLE  of Kitsap Bank, a Washington bank corporation, to be the free and 
voluntary act of such Party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 

Dated:     , 2023. 
 
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at:  

        
 

My Commission expires:  
  

Page 147 of 779



17 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

Exhibit A 
 

Legal description of the Subject Property 
  

Page 148 of 779



18 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

 
Exhibit B  

 
Legal description of the Parking Property 

  

Page 149 of 779



19 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

 
Exhibit C 

 
Site Plan showing public improvements on Bay Street and Fredrick Avenue 

and the City’s Bay Street Project Phases 
 

 
 
NOTE: This document, not being suitable for recording, is on file with the 
City of Port Orchard under File No. LU23-Dev Agreement-02 Kitsap Bank 
  

Page 150 of 779



20 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

Exhibit D 
 

Schematic Design Plan set for Kitsap Bank  
 
 

 
 
NOTE: This document, not being suitable for recording, is on file with the 
City of Port Orchard under File No. LU23-Dev Agreement-02 Kitsap Bank 
 
  

Page 151 of 779



21 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

Exhibit E 
 

Bank Preliminary Civil Engineering Plans 
 

 
 
 
NOTE: This document, not being suitable for recording, is on file with the 
City of Port Orchard under File No. LU23-Dev Agreement-02 Kitsap Bank 
 

 
  

Page 152 of 779



22 

 

 
Development Agreement – Kitsap Bank 
IMANAGE\366922\0048\10681081.v1-5/24/23 

Exhibit F 
 

Engineering Study for Bay Street Improvements 
 
 

 
 
NOTE: This document, not being suitable for recording, is on file with the 
City of Port Orchard under File No. LU23-Dev Agreement-02 Kitsap Bank 
 

 

Page 153 of 779



Exhibit A 

 Legal Description of New Bank Project Site

Tax Parcel ID - 4650-012-001-0009 

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA 98366 

LOTS 1 AND 2, BLOCK 12, S.M. STEVENS' TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 
OF PLATS, PAGE 1, RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY; TOGETHER WITH TIDELANDS FRONTING; ALSO 
TOGETHER WITH VACATED ROAD. 

Tax Parcel ID - 4650-012-003-0007 

639 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA 98366 

LOT 3, BLOCK 12, S.M. STEVENS TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT RECORDED IN 
VOLUME 1 OF PLATS, PAGE 1, RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON AND LOT 3, BLOCK 12, MAP 
OF THE SHORE AND TIDELANDS OF SIDNEY, AS ESTABLISHED MAY 3, 1892 AND FILED IN THE OFFICE OF 
THE COMMISSIONER OF PUBLIC LANDS AT OLYMPIA, WASHINGTON. 

LU23-Dev Agreement-02
Page 154 of 779

jkrukoff
New Stamp



Exhibit B 

Legal Description of Kitsap Bank Parking Lot

Tax Parcel ID - 4650-012-001-0009 

620 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA 98366 

PARCEL I: LOTS 1 AND 2, BLOCK 9, S.M. STEVEN'S TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY, ACCORDING TO PLAT 
RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF PLATS, PAGE 1 OF KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON. PARCEL II: LOTS 3 AND 
4, BLOCK 9, S.M., STEVEN'S TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY, ACCORDING TO PLAT RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF 
PLATS, PAGE 1, RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON; EXCEPT THOSE PORTIONS OF SAID LOT 3 
CONVEYED TO THE TOWN OF PORT ORCHARD FOR STATE ROAD NO. 14 BY DEEDS RECORDED IN 
VOLUME 149 OF DEEDS, PAGES 505 AND 558, UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NOS. 147447 AND 147666, WHICH 
EXCEPTED PORTIONS ARE DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
LOT 3 A DISTANCE OF 45.0 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT; THENCE SOUTH 
ALONG SAID WEST LINE 29.87 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT; THENCE 
EAST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 7.0 FEET; THENCE NORTH PARALLEL WITH SAID WEST LINE TO A POINT 
EAST OF THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE EAST PARALLEL WITH SAID SOUTH LINE 0.5 FEET; THENCE 
NORTH PARALLEL WITH SAID WEST LINE 7.5 FEET; THENCE EAST PARALLEL WITH SAID SOUTH LINE 3.0 
FEET; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE, THE RADIUS OF WHICH BEARS EAST PARALLEL 
WITH SAID SOUTH LINE 105.8 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT, 13.17 FEET 
SOUTHWESTERLY FROM THE MOST NORTHERLY CORNER THEREOF; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG 
SAID NORTHWESTERLY LINE 29.0 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT; THENCE SOUTH 
ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 45.0 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF SAID EXCEPTED 
PORTIONS. 

LU23-Dev Agreement-02
Page 155 of 779

jkrukoff
New Stamp



SD

SD

SD

SS

FS

OR
CH

AR
D S

TR
EE

T

BUILDING FIRST
FLOOR OUTLINE, TYP

PROPERTY LINE,
TYP

ELECTRICAL BLDG SERVICE
(X) - 4" CONDUITS
PER ELECTRICAL

COMM VAULT, 444-LA
FOR BUILDING

SERVICES, TYP

3" DOMESTIC WATER
SERVICE & METER

6" FIRE SERVICE & METER

COMMUNICATION
SERVICES

TRANSFORMER
ROOM

CONNECT TO  8" WATER

CONNECT TO 24"
SANITARY, REFER
TO NOTE 6.

BAY STREET

FR
ED

ER
ICK

 AV
E

SINCLAIR INLET

WALL MOUNTED FDC

PIV AND BACKFLOW
PREVENTION WITHIN
FIRE/SPRINKLER ROOM

SANITARY SEWER
LIFT STATION

PORT ORCHARD COMMUNITY
EVENT CENTER

ASPHALT OVERLAY WITH FULL
DEPTH REPLACEMENT AT
UTILITY TRENCHES.

SIDEWALK AND LANDSCAPE
IMPROVEMENTS, REFER TO
NOTE 1 AND 2.

BAY ST ROADWAY AND UTILITY
IMPROVEMENTS, REFER TO
NOTE 1, 2 AND 6.

8" WATER MAIN,
RELOCATED BY LIFT
STATION PROJECT.

6" STORM SERVICE
6" SANITARY
SEWER SERVICE

EX FIRE HYDRANT

EX FIRE HYDRANT

CONNECT TO CB,
REFER TO NOTE 6.

BUILDING OVERHANG

BUILDING OUTLINE

PROPERTY LINE

STORM DRAIN PIPE

SANITARY SIDE SEWER PIPE

WATER SERVICE PIPE

FIRE SERVICE PIPE

WATER METER & VAULT

ELECTRICAL SERVICE

COMMUNICATION SERVICE

CATCH BASIN

MANHOLE

CLEANOUT

POST INDICATOR VALVE

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

LEGEND

SS

SD

W

FS

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

PL
OT

 D
AT

E/
TI

M
E:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:
GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:
PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/02/2023 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

AP
PR

OV
AL

 S
TA

MP
S

6/
27

/2
02

2 
10

:3
9:

16
 A

M

MP
JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA
98366

KITSAP BANK
HEADQUARTERS

KITSAP BANK
619 BAY STREET
PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

0

1 inch = 20 feet

10' 20' 40'

NOTES:
1. CIVIL BASIS OF DESIGN ASSUMES THAT THE BAY ST IMPROVEMENTS AND ASSOCIATED

UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURE WILL BE INSTALLED AND FUNCTIONAL PRIOR TO KITSAP BANK HQ

CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION.

2. BAY STREET IMPROVEMENTS BETWEEN ROBERT GEIGER STREET AND FREDERICK AVENUE

ARE BEING DEVELOPED BY THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD.

2.A. BAY STREET IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE KBHQ MAY EXTEND FROM THE

FUTURE BACK OF CURB ALIGNMENT TO THE PROJECT PROPERTY LINE.

IMPROVEMENTS ANTICIPATED INCLUDE NEW SIDEWALK AND ASSOCIATED

LANDSCAPE. FINISHES, AMENITIES AND SCORING WILL BE DETAILED BY THE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

2.B. ORCHARD AVENUE WILL BE CONVERTED TO A PEDESTRIAN PLAZA THAT WILL

PROVIDE ACCESS TO THE PRIMARY ENTRY OF THE COMMUNITY EVENT CENTER AND

LIBRARY.

3. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FOR THE SITE WILL REQUIRE THE FOLLOWING MITIGATION:

3.A. SINCE THE SITE DISCHARGES TO A SALTWATER BODY,  FLOW CONTROL IS NOT

ANTICIPATED. THE PROJECT DRAINAGE IS ANTICIPATED TO CONNECT TO THE BAY ST

STORM DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS.

3.B. WATER QUALITY TREATMENT IS NOT ANTICIPATED AS THE PROJECT DOES NOT

PROPOSE 5,000-SF OF POLLUTION GENERATING HARD SURFACE OR 3/4-ACRE OF

POLLUTION GENERATING PERVIOUS SURFACE.

3.C. PER THE 2019 SWMMWW, THIS PROJECT IS ANTICIPATED TO BE FLOW CONTROL

EXEMPT AND THEREFORE DOES NOT HAVE TO ACHIEVE THE LID PERFORMANCE

STANDARD, NOR CONSIDER BIORETENTION, RAIN GARDENS, PERMEABLE PAVEMENT,

OR FULL DISPERSION FOR ON-SITE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT. THE PROJECT SITE

IS NOT LARGE ENOUGH TO PROVIDE THE REQUIRED FLOWPATHS FOR DISPERSION

BMPS AND DOES NOT HAVE ADEQUATE SOILS FOR INFILTRATION.

3.D. CONVEYANCE OF STORMWATER ON-SITE WILL OCCUR THROUGH SHEET FLOW,

TRENCH DRAINS, AND PLUMBING'S ROUTING. ALL SURFACE RUNOFF WILL BE

ROUTED TO THE FUTURE BAY ST STORM SYSTEM.

4. UTILITY SERVICE SIZES AND POINTS OF CONNECTION ARE PRELIMINARY AND WILL BE

COORDINATED AS DESIGN PROGRESSES.

5. GREASE INTERCEPTOR, IF REQUIRED, WILL BE PROVIDED BY MECHANICAL AND WILL NEED

TO BE LOCATED ON-SITE AND WITH VEHICLE ACCESS.

6. UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURE WITHIN BAY ST AND SURROUNDING THE PROJECT IS A PART OF

THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD UPGRADES AND ARE ASSUMED TO BE CONSTRUCTED AT THE

TIME OF KITSAP BANK CONSTRUCTION AND SERVICE CONNECTIONS.

C1.00

CIVIL SITE PLAN

1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



UP

UP
"

4
8

48

4
8

4
8

48

C
B
1

C
B
1

CB
1

CB
1

44
4-

LA

575-LA

4"(575)

SEE SHEETS

L-111
L-141
L-151

SEE SHEETS

L-112
L-142
L-152

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

BAY ST

F
R

E
D

E
R

IC
K

 A
V

E

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 A

V
E

MARINA LIFT STATION 
UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

3
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-100

LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1" = 10'-0"
A1

LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN

PLAN
NORTH

0' 5' 10' 20'

WEST EAST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION



DN

UP

4
8

4
8

C
B
1

C
B
1

UP

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

1
2

WG

VA

WC

US

US

WG

WC

VA

VA

VB

VB

VB

VB

HR

ST

WG

WM

STRUCTURAL COLUMN, 
SEE ARCH, TYP

RD

RD

RD

US

WC

RD

9 8 7 6

5

B

A

C

C.8

D

F

G

8.1

7.1

6.1

5.1

E

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 A

V
E

BAY ST

STREET TREE, 
BY OTHERS, TYP

STEP UP, SIM TO

TYP

8'-0"

TYP

22'-0"

TY
P7'
-0

"
TY

P5'
-0

"

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

ADA ACCESSIBLE ROUTE, 
1:50 MAX SLOPE

ENTRY PLAZA

RD

WM

WM

WM

VA

ALIGN

PG
CURB, SEE CIVIL, TYP

PLAZA

/A1 L-501

SIGNAGE LOCATION

ORCHARD AVE UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

TYP

30'-0"

TY
P2'
-8

"
TY

P6"

24
'-0

"

6'-4"

16'-4 1/2"

13
'-1

1 
1/

2"

12'-2"

13'-1"

8'
-1

0"

6'
-1

0 
1/

2"

8'-11"

1'
-1

0 
1/

2"

15'-0 1/2"

1'
-8

 1
/2

"

12'-5"

6 '
-0

"

7'
-5

 1
/2

"

2'-3 1/2"

ADA ACCESSIBLE ROUTE, 
1:50 MAX SLOPE

B

B

3

3

4

4

A

A

14'-10 1/2"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

6'
-3

 1
/2

"

9'-8 1/2"

BAY ST UNDER SEPARATE 
PERMIT

CR

PG

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 M
IN

12
'-0

"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 MAX SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

TYP

5'-0"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR 
SPACE, 1:20 MAX SLOPE 
IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

M
IN2'

-6
"

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS LEGEND
TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION

SEE CIVIL

WG

WC

WM

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

PG

VA

US

RD

ST

HR

/C1 L-501

/E4 L-501

/D1 L-501

/A1 L-501

/B3 L-501

/B4 L-501

/- ---/D4 L-501

/E3 L-501

CIP CONCRETE WALL ON GRADE

CIP CONCRETE SEAT WALL ON GRADE

METAL PLANTER WALL

CIP CONCRETE STAIR

HANDRAILS

CIP CONCRETE PAVING ON GRADE

PLANTING AREA

SAND-SET PAVERS

DECORATIVE ROCK

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

CONTROL JOINT

EXPANSION JOINTEJ

/E5 L-501

/E5 L-501

/B5 L-501CIP CONCRETE VEHICULAR PAVING ON GRADEPV

CR CIP CONCRETE STREET CURB

/A3 L-501ACCESSIBLE RAMP

BIORETENTION PLANTING AREAVB

DETAIL

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

5
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-111

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT

AND MATERIALS PLAN -

WEST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - WEST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

WEST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION



UP

UP

48

4
8

CB
1

CB
1

44
4-

LA

575-LA

4"(575)

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS LEGEND
TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION

SEE CIVIL

WG

WC

WM

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

PG

VA

US

RD

ST

HR

/C1 L-501

/E4 L-501

/D1 L-501

/A1 L-501

/B3 L-501

/B4 L-501

/- ---/D4 L-501

/E3 L-501

CIP CONCRETE WALL ON GRADE

CIP CONCRETE SEAT WALL ON GRADE

METAL PLANTER WALL

CIP CONCRETE STAIR

HANDRAILS

CIP CONCRETE PAVING ON GRADE

PLANTING AREA

SAND-SET PAVERS

DECORATIVE ROCK

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

CONTROL JOINT

EXPANSION JOINTEJ

/E5 L-501

/E5 L-501

/B5 L-501CIP CONCRETE VEHICULAR PAVING ON GRADEPV

CR CIP CONCRETE STREET CURB

/A3 L-501ACCESSIBLE RAMP

BIORETENTION PLANTING AREAVB

DETAIL

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

1
1

5 4 3 2 1

B

A

C

C.8

D

F

G

5.1

E

BAY ST

F
R

E
D

E
R

IC
K

 A
V

E

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

PROPOSED UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

TY
P7'
-0

"
TY

P5'
-0

"

WG

CUSTOM BENCH

HR

WG

VA

RD

CURB, SEE CIVIL, TYP

TYP

5'-0"

MIN

6'-0 1/2"

5'-3"

7'-4"6'
-0

"

PV

PG

PROPOSED UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

PROPOSED UTILITY, SEE CIVIL

VA

VA

VA

VA

VA

US

PGVA

VA

VA

VA

VB

RD

VA

VA

WG

WG

HR

ST

WG

WM

15'-3 1/2"

8'
-0

"

1'
-1

1 
1/

2"

15'-3"

7'-6"

1:12 M
A

X
 S

LO
P

E
 

PROPOSED UTILITY 
VAULT, SEE CIVIL

VB

VB

PG

PLAZA

US

PG

STREET TREE, 
BY OTHERS, TYP

5'
-0

"
5'

-0
"

4'
-6

"

7'-0"

3'-0
"

4'
-6

"

3'-0"

5'
-0

"
24

'-9
"

2'
-1

0 
1/

2"

2'
-1

0 
1/

2"

PROPOSED UTILITY, SEE CIVIL

T
Y

P

8 '-0"
10'-0"

STREET TREE, BY OTHERS, TYP

STREET TREE, BY OTHERS, TYP

20
'-1

1"

12'-6"

8'-0"
11'-0 1/2"

13'-6"

8'-0"

8'-3"

10'-7 1/2"

5'-0
"

4'-6"

11'-6 1/2"

9'
-0

 1
/2

"

FREDERICK AVE UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

TYP

30'-0"

TYP

8'-0"

TYP

22'-0"

4'-0"4'-0"

2'
-1

0"

20'-0"

9'
-1

1 
1/

2"

EXISTING UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

VA

RD

TYP
6"

1'-0"

23'-4 1/2"

37'-7 1/2"

8'- 10 1/ 2"

4'
-1

1"

WM

12
'-5

"

12'-10"

BAY ST UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

CR

CR

10'-9 1/2"

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 M
IN

12
'-0

"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 MAX 
SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 
MAX SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

M
IN

2'
-6

"

TYP

4'-6"

T
Y

P

5'
-0

"

M
IN

2'-6"

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

5
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-112

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT

AND MATERIALS PLAN -

EAST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - EAST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

EAST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION



KITSAP BANK

OWNER:

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

Phone: (360) 876-0237

Contact: LARRY GROHN

Email: lgrohn@kitsapbank.com

GGLO

ARCHITECT:

1301 FIRST AVENUE, SUITE 300

SEATTLE, WA 98101

Phone: (206) 467-5828

Contact: JEFF FOSTER

Email: JFoster@GGLO.com

GGLO

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

1301 FIRST AVENUE, SUITE 300

SEATTLE, WA 98101

Phone: (206) 467-5828

Contact: MARK SINDELL

Email: MSindell@GGLO.com

GEOENGINEERS, INC.

GEOTECHNICAL:

17424 NE UNION HILL ROAD, SUITE 250

REDMOND, WA 98052

Phone: (425) 861-6099

Contact: ROBERT METCALFE

Email: rmetcalfe@geoengineers.com

AES CONSULTANTS

SURVEYOR:

3472 NW LOWELL STREET

SILVERDALE, WA 98383

Phone: 360.692.6400

Contact: STEVE OTTMAR

Email: aes@bainbridge.net

KPFF

CIVIL:

1601 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 1600

SEATTLE, WA 98101

Phone: 206-926-0519

Contact: ALBERTO CISNEROS

Email: alberto.cisneros@kpff.com

KPFF

STRUCTURAL:

1601 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 1600

SEATTLE, WA 98101

Phone: 206.926.0608

Contact: AMIE SULLIVAN

Email: amie.sullivan@kpff.com

GGLO

INTERIOR DESIGN:

1301 FIRST AVENUE, SUITE 300

SEATTLE, WA 98101

Phone: (206) 467-5828

Contact: KIMBERLY FRANK

Email: KFrank@GGLO.com

GLUMAC

MEP:

900 SW 5TH AVE

PORTLAND, WA 97212

Phone: 206.262.1010

Contact: SCOTT VOLLMOELLER

Email: svollmoeller@glumac.com

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L
 S

T
A

M
P

S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:0
8
:5

1
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

G-001

COVER SHEET

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

KITSAP BANK

GGLO PROJECT NUMBER: 

SD SET 

02/23/2022

2020016.01

PROJECT ADDRESS: 624 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

SHEET INDEX

PROJECT DIRECTORY

GENERAL INFORMATION

G-001 COVER SHEET

G-002 PROJECT INFORMATION

G-004 PRESPECTIVE VIEWS

G-005 PRESPECTIVE VIEWS

SURVEY

1 OF 1 SURVEY

CIVIL

C1.00 CIVIL SITE PLAN

LANDSCAPE

L-100 LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN

L-111 LANDSCAPE LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - WEST

L-112 LANDSCAPE LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - EAST

L-141 IRRIGATION PLAN - WEST

L-142 PLANTING PLAN - EAST

L-151 PLANTING PLAN - WEST

L-152 PLANTING PLAN - EAST

L-501 LANDSCAPE DETAILS

L-541 IRRIGATION DETAILS

L-551 PLANTING DETAILS

L-641 IRRIGATION SCHEDULE AND NOTES

L-651 PLANTING SCHEDULE

STRUCTURAL

S-100 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 1

S-112 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 2

S-113 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 3

S-113 ALT ALTERNATE FRAME PLAN - LEVEL 3

S-300 OVERALL ROOF PLAN

ARCHITECTURAL

A-100 SITE PLAN

A-111 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 1

A-112 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 2

A-113 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 3

A-120 OVERALL ROOF PLAN

A-200 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS - SOUTH / EAST

A-201 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS - NORTH / WEST

A-300 BUILDING SECTIONS

PLUBMING

MECHANICAL

M-111 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 1

M-112 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 2

M-113 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 3

M-120 OVERALL ROOF PLAN

ELECTRICAL

E-111 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 1

E-112 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 2

E-113 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 3

E-120 OVERALL ROOF PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

P-100           PLUMBING SCHEDULES
 PLUMBING S

E-501            ELECTRICAL SINGLE-LINE DIAGRAM

P-200 SITE PLAN

P-201 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 1

P-202 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 2

P-203 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 3

P-204 OVERALL ROOF PLAN

P-300 BUILDING SECTIONS

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



EARTH, UNDISTURBED

EARTH, COMPACTED FILL

SAND, GROUT

POROUS FILL

CONCRETE

BRICK COMMON / FACE

CONCRETE MASONRY UNITS

ASHLAR STONE

ALUMINUM

STEEL, OTHER METALS

PLYWOOD

WOOD BLOCKING OR SHIM

WOOD FRAMING, CONTINUOUS

GLUED-LAMINATED WOOD

ORIENTED STRAND BOARD

PARTICLEBOARD

FINISHED WOOD

BATT INSULATION, SECTION

RIGID INSULATION

SEMI-RIGID INSULATION

MINERAL WOOL INSULATION

CEMENTITIOUS UNDERLAYMENT

BATT INSULATION, FACE

E

4

X

X

+144.25'

NEW COLUMN GRIDS

EXIST / ADJ BLDG COLUMN GRIDS

NORTH ARROW

BUILDING ELEVATION
DRAWING NUMBER
SHEET NUMBER

INTERIOR ELEVATION
DRAWING NUMBER
SHEET NUMBER

BUILDING SECTION
DRAWING NUMBER
SHEET NUMBER

WALL SECTION
DRAWING NUMBER
SHEET NUMBER

DETAIL
DRAWING NUMBER
SHEET NUMBER

SPOT ELEVATION

MATCHLINE
DRAWING SHEET SHOWING ADJ CONDITION

DATUM / DIMENSION / CONTROL POINT

NEW WALL

EXISTING WALL

WALL TO BE REMOVED

FINISH TAG

CEILING ASSEMBLY & HEIGHT TAG

ROOM TAG

DOOR TAG

WINDOW TAG

ASSEMBLY TAG (WALL, FLOOR, CEILING, ROOF)

REVISION TAG / REVISION CLOUD

EXIT SIGN

FIRE EXTINGUISHER

SMOKE DETECTOR

8'-0"

JXX

A-210

A1

A2

A3

A4

A1

A-301

A1

A-301

A1

A-310

A1

A-501

A01

0

01

MATCH LINE

SEE XX/X-XXX

PLAN
NORTH

F
E

C

A1

A-201

101

PT-1

ROOM NAME
00000

L-XX LIGHTING FIXTURE TAG

GENERAL NOTES

1. IT IS THE INTENT OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS THAT ALL WORK COMPLY WITH THE 
INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE, WASHINGTON STATE BUILDING CODE, THE WASHINGTON STATE 
ENERGY CODE, AND OTHER APPLICABLE CODES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS OF JURISDICTIONS 
HAVING AUTHORITY.

2. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ANY PORTION OF THE WORK, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY 
THE ARCHITECT OF ANY DISCREPANCIES NOTED AMONG OR BETWEEN THE CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS, OWNER-PROVIDED INFORMATION, SITE CONDITIONS, MANUFACTURER 
RECOMMENDATIONS, OR CODES, REGULATIONS, OR RULES OF JURISDICTIONS HAVING 
AUTHORITY.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE AND PAY FOR ALL GOVERNMENTAL PERMITS, FEES LICENSES, 
AND INSPECTIONS NECESSARY FOR PROPER EXECUTION AND COMPLETION OF THE WORK, 
EXCEPT FOR THE GENERAL BUILDING PERMIT.

4. THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS ARE COMPLEMENTARY AND WHAT IS REQUIRED BY ONE SHALL BE 
BINDING AS IF REQUIRED BY ALL.

5. REPETITIVE FEATURES NOT INDICATED IN THE DRAWINGS EVERYWHERE THAT THEY OCCUR 
SHALL BE PROVIDED AS IF DRAWN IN FULL.

6. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF FRAMING OR FACE OF CONCRETE, UNLESS OTHERWISE 
NOTED.  CONTACT ARCHITECT FOR CLARIFICATIONS.

7. DO NOT SCALE THE DRAWINGS.

8. WHERE CONFLICTS ARISE BETWEEN DOCUMENTS OR AUTHORITY AND ANOTHER, CONTACT THE 
ARCHITECT FOR CLARIFICATIONS.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY LOCATION OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. CARE SHOULD BE TAKEN TO 
AVOID DAMAGE TO OR DISTURBANCE OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

PROJECT INFORMATION

SITE ADDRESS: 625 BAY ST 
PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

PARCEL NUMBER(S): 4650-012-001-0009 & 4650-012-003-0007

BASE ZONE: DOWNTOWN MIXED USE (DMU)

OVERLAY ZONES:
ADJACENT ZONES:

DOWNTOWN HEIGHT OVERLAY DISTRICT (DHOD 3)
DOWNTOWN MIXED USE (DMU)

LOT SIZE: 0.49 ACRES (21,345 SF) = 0.31 (13,504 SF) + 0.18 ( 7,841 SF ) 

STREET FRONTAGE: 75' ON BAY STREET
62' ON FREDERICK AVENUE

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

APPLICABLE ZONING CODE: PORT ORCHARD MUNICIPAL CODE, TITLE 20 LAND USE CODE

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

4650-012-001-0009 (PER TITLE REPORT E2022-418331 BY LAND TITLE 
COMPANY  OF KITSAP COUNTY DATED JANUARY 20, 2022. )
PARCEL I (4650-012-001-0009) 
LOTS 1 AND 2, BLOCK 12, S.M. STEVENS TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF PLATS, PAGE 
1, RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON AND LOT 1 & 2, 
BLOCK 12, MAP OF THE SHORE AND TIDELANDS OF SIDNEY, AS 
ESTABLISHED MAY 3, 1892 AND FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COMMISSIONER OF PUBLIC LANDS AT OLYMPIA, WASHINGTON.
TOGETHER WITH VACATED STREET ADJOINING AS IN CITY OF PORT 
ORCHARD ORDINANCE NO.850.
PARCEL II (4650-012-003-0007)
LOT 3, BLOCK 12, S.M. STEVENS TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF PLATS, PAGE 
1, RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON AND LOT 3, BLOCK 
12, MAP OF THE SHORE AND TIDELANDS OF SIDNEY, AS 
ESTABLISHED MAY 3, 1892 AND FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COMMISSIONER OF PUBLIC LANDS AT OLYMPIA, WASHINGTON.

NEW 3 STORY OFFICE BUILDING FOR KITSAP BANK 
HEADQUARTERS AND KITSAP BANK RETAIL BRANCH

APPLICABLE CODES: • PORT ORCHARD MUNICIPAL CODE, TITLE 20 LAND USE CODE
• 2018 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE w/

WASHINGTON STATE AMENDMENTS. ADDITIONALLY, APPENDIX B 
OF THE 2018 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE IS ADOPTED BY 
REFERENCE BY THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

• 2018 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE w/
WASHINGTON STATE AMENDMENTS. 

• 2018 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE. ADDITIONALLY,
APPENDIX B OF THE INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE IS ADOPTED BY
REFERENCE BY THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD AND PORTIONS OF 
APPENDIX D ARE ADOPTED AS SHOWN IN POMC 20.200.016

• 2018 EDITION OF THE UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE w/ WASHINGTON 
STATE AMENDMENTS.

• 2018 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION
CODE, COMMERCIAL w/ WASHINGTON STATE AMENDMENTS.

DELEGATED DESIGN ELEMENTS

PERMITS THAT ARE ESSENTIAL TO THIS PERMIT. THE CONSTRUCTION TEAM WILL SUBMIT AS OVER-
THE-COUNTER PERMITS OR SUBMITTALS FOR REVIEW DURING CONSTRUCTION.

1. DESIGN-BUILD FIRE PROTECTION

2. DESING-BUILD FIRE ALARM

3. ELEVATOR BRACING AND REACTIONS

4. PREFABRICATED METAL STAIRS

5. CURTAIN WALLS

6. GUARDRAIL SYSTEMS

DEFERRED PERMIT SUBMITTALS

ITEMS THAT ARE RELATED TO THIS BUILDING, BUT REQUIRE STANDALONE PERMITS.

1. PLUMBING DRAWINGS (TO INCLUDE ROOF DRAINAGE)

2. DESIGN-BUILD SIGNAGE

UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

PERMITS THAT ARE COMPLETELY INDEPENDENT OF THIS BUILDING.

1. EXISTING BUILDING DEMOLITION

2. CLEARING AND GRADING SUBMITTAL

3. SITE STORM AND WATER VAULTS

4. WRAP BUILDING PERMIT

SPECIAL INSPECTIONS

SEE STRUCTURAL GENERAL NOTES FOR ELEMENTS REQUIRING SPECIAL INSPECTIONS
OTHER SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS REQUIRED PER IBC CHAPTER 1704:

1. SPRAY FIRE-RESISTANT MATERIALS

2. MASTIC AND INTUMESCENT COATINGS

3. SMOKE CONTROL

4. COLD-FORMED STEEL FRAMING

5. ARCHITECTURAL COMPONENTS IN SEISMIC ZONES D, E OR F

A. ERECTION AND FASTENING OF EXTERIOR CLADDING
B. INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR NONBEARING WALLS
C. INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR VENEER

6. PLUMBING, MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL COMPONENTS

A. ANCHORAGE OF ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT FOR EMERGENCY AND STANDBY POWER IN 
SEISMIC ZONES D, E OR F

B. INSTALLATION AND ANCHORAGE OF PIPING SYSTEMS DESIGNED TO CARRY HAZARDOUS 
MATERIALS AND THEIR ASSOCIATED MECHANICAL UNITS IN STRUCTURES ASSIGNED TO 
SEISMIC DESIGN CATEGORY C, D, E OR F

C. INSTALLATION AND ANCHORAGE OF DUCTWORK DESIGNED TO CARRY HAZARDOUS 
MATERIALS IN STRUCTURES ASSIGNED TO SEISMIC DESIGN CATEGORY C, D, E OR F

D. INSTALLATION AND ANCHORAGE OF VIBRATION ISOLATION SYSTEMS IN STRUCTURES 
ASSIGNED TO SEISMIC DESIGN CATEGORY C, D, E OR F WHERE THE APPROVED 
CONTRUCTIONS DOCUMENTS REQUIRE A NOMINAL CLEARANCE OF 1/4 INCH (6.4 mm) OR 
LESS BETWEEN THE EQUIPMENT SUPPORT FRAME AND RESTRAINT.

MATERIAL LEGEND

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
8
:0

3
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

G-002

PROJECT INFORMATION

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

SYMBOL LEGENDABBREVIATIONS

MACH RM MACHINE ROOM WRB WEATHER RESISTIVE BARRIER

LTG LIGHTING WR WEATHER RESISTANT, WATER...

LT LIGHT WDW WINDOW

LRG LARGE WD WOOD,  WOOD DOOR

LR LIVING ROOM WC WATER CLOSET

LOC LOCATION W/O WITHOUT

LNDSCP LANDSCAPE W/D WASHER / DRYER

LH LEFT HAND W/ WITH

LB POUND W WEST, WIDE, WASHER

LAV LAVATORY VRF VAPOR RETARDER FILM

LAU LAUNDRY VIN VINYL

LAM LAMINATE(D) VIF VERIFY IN FIELD

L LONG VERT VERTICAL

KIT KITCHEN VEH VEHICLE

JAN JANITOR VCT VINYL COMPOSITION TILE

INT INTERIOR UTIL UTILITY

INSUL INSULATION UON UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

INFO INFORMATION UNFIN UNFINISH(ED)

INCL INCLUDING (ED) TYP TYPICAL

IIC IMPACT ISOLATION CLASS TV TELEVISION

ID INSIDE DIAMETER TOW TOP OF WALL

IBC INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE TOC TOP OF CURB

AIR CONDITIONING TOB TOP OF BEAM

HVAC HEATING, VENTILATION, AND THRU THROUGH

HTR HEATER THK THICK (NESS)

HT HEIGHT TFF TOP OF FINISH FLOOR

HR HOUR TEMP TEMPORARY

HORIZ HORIZONTAL TEL TELEPHONE

HO HOLD OPEN TB TOWEL BAR

HM HOLLOW METAL T&G TONGUE AND GROOVE

HLDN HOLDDOWN T TREAD

HDWD HARDWOOD SYS SYSTEM

HDW HARDWARE SV SHEET VINYL

HDR HEADER SUSP SUSPEND(ED)

HC HANDICAPP STRUCT STRUCTURE (AL)

HB HOSE BIBB STOR STORAGE

H HIGH STD STANDARD

GWB GYPSUM WALL BOARD STC SOUND TRANSMISSION  CLASS

GYP GYPSUM ST STAIRS, STREET

GOVT GOVERNMENT SST STAINLESS STEEL

GLU LAM GLUED LAMINATED WOOD SS SANITARY SEWER, STANDING SEAM

GL GLASS SQ IN SQUARE INCH

GEN GENERAL SQ SQUARE

GB GRAB BAR, GYPSUM BOARD SPKLR SPRINKLER

GAR GARAGE SPEC SPECIFICATION

GALV GALVANIZED, GALVANIC SP STANDPIPE

GA GAGE SIM SIMILAR

FUT FUTURE SHV SHELVES (ING)

FURN FURNITURE SHTHG SHEATHING

FTG FOOTING SHT SHEET

FT FOOT, FEET SF SQUARE FOOT (FEET)

FRT FIRE RETARDANT TREATED SD STORM DRAIN

FRMG FRAMING SCHED SCHEDULE

FRHR FIRE RATED HIGH RESILIENT SBC SEATTLE BUILDING CODE

FPL FIREPLACE SAM SELF ADHERED MEMBRANE

FOS FACE OF STUDS S SOUTH

FOM FACE OF MASONRY RT RIGHT

FOF FACE OF FINISH ROW RIGHT OF WAY

FOC FACE OF CONCRETE RO ROUGH OPENING

FLR FLOOR RM ROOM

FL FLASHING RH ROOF HATCH, RIGHT HAND

FIN FINISH (ED) RFG ROOFING

FF FINISH FLOOR REV REVISION (S), REVISED

FE FIRE EXTINGUISHER RESIL RESILIENT

FDN FOUNDATION RESID RESIDENTIAL

FD FLOOR DRAIN REQS REQUIREMENTS

FCTY FACTORY REQD REQUIRED

FAM FLUID APPLIED MEMBRANE REINF REINFORCE (D), (ING)

EXT EXTERIOR REF REFER (ENCE), REFRIGERATOR

EXP EXPANSION REC RECESSED

EXIST EXISTING RD ROOF DRAIN, ROAD

EXH EXHAUST RCP REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

EW EACH WAY RC REINFORCED CONCRETE

EST ESTIMATE (D) R RADIUS, RISER

ESMT EASEMENT PVG PAVING

EQUIP EQUIPMENT PTN PARTITION

EQ EQUAL PRESSURE TREATED

ENCL ENCLOSE (URE) PT POST-TENSIONED,

ELEV ELEVATOR PROP PROPERTY

ELEC ELECTRIC (AL) PROJ PROJECT

EL ELEVATION PRKG PARKING

FINISH SYSTEM PRELIM PRELIMINARY

EIFS EXTERIOR INSULATION AND PREFAB PREFABRICATED

EA EACH PRCST PRECAST

E EAST PR PAIR

DWR DRAWER PLWD PLYWOOD

DWH DOMESTIC WATER HEATER PLAM PLASTIC LAMINATE

DWG DRAWING PL PROPERTY LINE

DW DISHWASHER PH PHASE

DS DOWNSPOUT PERP PERPENDICULAR

DR DINING ROOM, DOOR PERM PERMANENT

DN DOWN PERIM PERIMETER

DIM DIMENSION PERF PERFORATED

DIA DIAMETER PED PEDESTAL

DF DRINKING FOUNTAIN PCP PORTLAND CEMENT PLASTER

DET DETAIL PBD PARTICLE BOARD

DEPT DEPARTMENT PAT PATTERN

DEMO DEMOLISH, DEMOLITION OVHD OVERHEAD

D DRYER, DEEP OTS OPEN TO STRUCTURE

CT CERAMIC TILE ORD OVERFLOW ROOF DRAIN

CSMT CASEMENT OPP OPPOSITE

CPT CARPET (ED) OPNG OPENING

CORR CORRIDOR OPH OPPOSITE HAND

COORD COORDINATE OH OVERHANG

CONTR CONTRACT (OR) OFF OFFICE

CONT CONTINUOUS OWNER INSTALLED

CONC CONCRETE OF/OI OWNER FURNISHED;

COL COLUMN CONTRACTOR INSTALLED

CO CLEAN OUT OF/CI OWNER FURNISHED;

COM CUSTOMER OWN MATERIAL OF OUTSIDE FACE

CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT OD OUTSIDE DIAMETER, DIMENSION

CLR CLEAR OC ON CENTER

CLG CEILING OA OVERALL

CL CENTERLINE NTS NOT TO SCALE

CIP CAST-IN-PLACE (CONCRETE) NOM NOMINAL

OWNER INSTALLED NO NUMBER

CF/OI CONTRACTOR FURNISHED; NIC NOT IN CONTRACT

CB CATCH BASIN NA NOT APPLICABLE

CAB CABINET MULT MULTIPLE

C CHANNEL MULL MULLION

BUR BUILT UP ROOFING MTL METAL

BSMT BASEMENT MR MOISTURE RESISTANT

BR BEDROOM MO MASONRY OPENING

BOT BOTTOM MISC MISCELLANEOUS

BO BOTTOM OF MIRR MIRROR

BM BEAM MIN MINIMUM, MINUTE

BLKG BLOCKING MFR MANUFACTURE (R)

BLDG BUILDING MF MILL FINISH

BITUM BITUMINOUS MFD MANUFACTURED

BD BOARD MEZZ MEZZANINE

ARCH ARCHITECT (URAL) MEMB MEMBRANE

APT APARTMENT MECH MECHANICAL

APPROX APPROXIMATE MC MEDICINE CABINET

ALT ALTERNATE MBR MASTER BEDROOM

AFF ABOVE FINISH FLOOR MB MAILBOX

ADJ ADJUSTABLE MAX MAXIMUM

ADDL ADDITIONAL MATL MATERIAL

ACST ACOUSTICAL MAS MASONRY

AB ANCHOR BOLT MAG MAGNET(IC)

SITE

MAP NOT TO SCALE

VICINITY MAP

PLAN
NORTH

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
8
:0

4
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

G-004

PRESPECTIVE VIEWS

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

OVERALL BUILDING  VIEW

VIEW FROM THE WEST 

VIEW FROM THE EAST 

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
8
:0

4
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

G-005

PRESPECTIVE VIEWS

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

SOUTH  VIEW -
NTS

NORTHWEST VIEW 
NTS

EAST  VIEW
NTS

NORTH VIEW
NTS

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



LU23-Dev Agreement-02



FS

FS

W

W

SD

SD

SD

FS
FS

FS
FS

SS

FSFS

OR
CH

AR
D S

TR
EE

T

BUILDING FIRST
FLOOR OUTLINE, TYP

PROPERTY LINE,
TYP

ELECTRICAL BLDG SERVICE
(X) - 4" CONDUITS
PER ELECTRICAL

COMM VAULT, 444-LA
FOR BUILDING

SERVICES, TYP 3" DOMESTIC WATER
SERVICE & METER

6" FIRE SERVICE & METER,
REFER TO NOTE 7.

COMMUNICATION
SERVICES

TRANSFORMER
ROOM

ALTERNATE LOCATION
FOR SEWER SERVICE

CONNECT TO EX 6"
WATER, REFER TO
NOTE 7.

CONNECT TO 24"
SANITARY, REFER
TO NOTE 6.

BAY STREET

FR
ED

ER
ICK

 AV
E

SINCLAIR INLET

WALL MOUNTED FDC

PIV AND BACKFLOW
PREVENTION WITHIN
FIRE/SPRINKLER ROOM

SANITARY SEWER
LIFT STATION

PORT ORCHARD COMMUNITY
EVENT CENTER

ASPHALT OVERLAY WITH FULL
DEPTH REPLACEMENT AT
UTILITY TRENCHES.

SIDEWALK AND LANDSCAPE
IMPROVEMENTS, REFER TO
NOTE 1 AND 2.

BAY ST ROADWAY AND UTILITY
IMPROVEMENTS, REFER TO
NOTE 1, 2 AND 6.

8" WATER MAIN,
RELOCATED BY LIFT
STATION PROJECT.

6" STORM SERVICE
6" SANITARY
SEWER SERVICE

ALTERNATE LOCATION FOR
WATER SERVICES AND
CONNECTION TO 8" WATER
MAIN. REFER TO NOTE 7.

EX FIRE HYDRANT

EX FIRE HYDRANT

CONNECT TO CB,
REFER TO NOTE 6.

BUILDING OVERHANG

BUILDING OUTLINE

PROPERTY LINE

STORM DRAIN PIPE

SANITARY SIDE SEWER PIPE

WATER SERVICE PIPE

FIRE SERVICE PIPE

WATER METER & VAULT

ELECTRICAL SERVICE

COMMUNICATION SERVICE

CATCH BASIN

MANHOLE

CLEANOUT

POST INDICATOR VALVE

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

LEGEND

SS

SD

W

FS

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

PL
OT

 D
AT

E/
TI

M
E:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:
GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:
PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 02/16/2023 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

AP
PR

OV
AL

 S
TA

MP
S

6/
27

/2
02

2 
10

:3
9:

16
 A

M

MP
JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA
98366

KITSAP BANK
HEADQUARTERS

KITSAP BANK
619 BAY STREET
PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

0

1 inch = 20 feet

10' 20' 40'

NOTES:
1. CIVIL BASIS OF DESIGN ASSUMES THAT THE BAY ST IMPROVEMENTS AND ASSOCIATED

UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURE WILL BE INSTALLED AND FUNCTIONAL PRIOR TO KITSAP BANK HQ

CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION.

2. BAY STREET IMPROVEMENTS BETWEEN ROBERT GEIGER STREET AND FREDERICK AVENUE

ARE BEING DEVELOPED BY THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD.

2.A. BAY STREET IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE KBHQ MAY EXTEND FROM THE

FUTURE BACK OF CURB ALIGNMENT TO THE PROJECT PROPERTY LINE.

IMPROVEMENTS ANTICIPATED INCLUDE NEW SIDEWALK AND ASSOCIATED

LANDSCAPE. FINISHES, AMENITIES AND SCORING WILL BE DETAILED BY THE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

2.B. ORCHARD AVENUE WILL BE CONVERTED TO A PEDESTRIAN PLAZA THAT WILL

PROVIDE ACCESS TO THE PRIMARY ENTRY OF THE COMMUNITY EVENT CENTER AND

LIBRARY.

3. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FOR THE SITE WILL REQUIRE THE FOLLOWING MITIGATION:

3.A. SINCE THE SITE DISCHARGES TO A SALTWATER BODY,  FLOW CONTROL IS NOT

ANTICIPATED. THE PROJECT DRAINAGE IS ANTICIPATED TO CONNECT TO THE BAY ST

STORM DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS.

3.B. WATER QUALITY TREATMENT IS NOT ANTICIPATED AS THE PROJECT DOES NOT

PROPOSE 5,000-SF OF POLLUTION GENERATING HARD SURFACE OR 3/4-ACRE OF

POLLUTION GENERATING PERVIOUS SURFACE. THE PROJECT MAY ELECT TO

INCLUDE.

3.C. PER THE 2019 SWMMWW, THIS PROJECT IS ANTICIPATED TO BE FLOW CONTROL

EXEMPT AND THEREFORE DOES NOT HAVE TO ACHIEVE THE LID PERFORMANCE

STANDARD, NOR CONSIDER BIORETENTION, RAIN GARDENS, PERMEABLE PAVEMENT,

OR FULL DISPERSION FOR ON-SITE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT. THE PROJECT SITE

IS NOT LARGE ENOUGH TO PROVIDE THE REQUIRED FLOWPATHS FOR DISPERSION

BMPS AND DOES NOT HAVE ADEQUATE SOILS FOR INFILTRATION.

3.D. CONVEYANCE OF STORMWATER ON-SITE WILL OCCUR THROUGH SHEET FLOW,

TRENCH DRAINS, AND PLUMBING'S ROUTING. ALL SURFACE RUNOFF WILL BE

ROUTED TO THE FUTURE BAY ST STORM SYSTEM.

4. UTILITY SERVICE SIZES AND POINTS OF CONNECTION ARE PRELIMINARY AND WILL BE

COORDINATED AS DESIGN PROGRESSES.

5. GREASE INTERCEPTOR, IF REQUIRED, WILL BE PROVIDED BY MECHANICAL AND WILL NEED

TO BE LOCATED ON-SITE AND WITH VEHICLE ACCESS.

6. UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURE WITHIN BAY ST AND SURROUNDING THE PROJECT IS A PART OF

THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD UPGRADES AND ARE ASSUMED TO BE CONSTRUCTED AT THE

TIME OF KITSAP BANK CONSTRUCTION AND SERVICE CONNECTIONS.

7. PROJECT  WILL CONSIDER MOVING WATER AND FIRE SERVICES TO WATER MAIN NORTH OF

THE PROJECT SITE DUE TO LIMITATIONS OF EXISTING MAIN SIZE.

C1.00

CIVIL SITE PLAN

1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



UP

UP
"

4
8

48

4
8

4
8

48

C
B
1

C
B
1

CB
1

CB
1

44
4-

LA

575-LA

4"(575)

SEE SHEETS

L-111
L-141
L-151

SEE SHEETS

L-112
L-142
L-152

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

BAY ST

F
R

E
D

E
R

IC
K

 A
V

E

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 A

V
E

MARINA LIFT STATION 
UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

3
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-100

LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1" = 10'-0"
A1

LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN

PLAN
NORTH

0' 5' 10' 20'

WEST EAST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



DN

UP

4
8

4
8

C
B
1

C
B
1

UP

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

1
2

WG

VA

WC

US

US

WG

WC

VA

VA

VB

VB

VB

VB

HR

ST

WG

WM

STRUCTURAL COLUMN, 
SEE ARCH, TYP

RD

RD

RD

US

WC

RD

9 8 7 6

5

B

A

C

C.8

D

F

G

8.1

7.1

6.1

5.1

E

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 A

V
E

BAY ST

STREET TREE, 
BY OTHERS, TYP

STEP UP, SIM TO

TYP

8'-0"

TYP

22'-0"

TY
P7'
-0

"
TY

P5'
-0

"

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

ADA ACCESSIBLE ROUTE, 
1:50 MAX SLOPE

ENTRY PLAZA

RD

WM

WM

WM

VA

ALIGN

PG
CURB, SEE CIVIL, TYP

PLAZA

/A1 L-501

SIGNAGE LOCATION

ORCHARD AVE UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

TYP

30'-0"

TY
P2'
-8

"
TY

P6"

24
'-0

"

6'-4"

16'-4 1/2"

13
'-1

1 
1/

2"

12'-2"

13'-1"

8'
-1

0"

6'
-1

0 
1/

2"

8'-11"

1'
-1

0 
1/

2"

15'-0 1/2"

1'
-8

 1
/2

"

12'-5"

6 '
-0

"

7'
-5

 1
/2

"

2'-3 1/2"

ADA ACCESSIBLE ROUTE, 
1:50 MAX SLOPE

B

B

3

3

4

4

A

A

14'-10 1/2"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

6'
-3

 1
/2

"

9'-8 1/2"

BAY ST UNDER SEPARATE 
PERMIT

CR

PG

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 M
IN

12
'-0

"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 MAX SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

TYP

5'-0"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR 
SPACE, 1:20 MAX SLOPE 
IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

M
IN2'

-6
"

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS LEGEND
TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION

SEE CIVIL

WG

WC

WM

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

PG

VA

US

RD

ST

HR

/C1 L-501

/E4 L-501

/D1 L-501

/A1 L-501

/B3 L-501

/B4 L-501

/- ---/D4 L-501

/E3 L-501

CIP CONCRETE WALL ON GRADE

CIP CONCRETE SEAT WALL ON GRADE

METAL PLANTER WALL

CIP CONCRETE STAIR

HANDRAILS

CIP CONCRETE PAVING ON GRADE

PLANTING AREA

SAND-SET PAVERS

DECORATIVE ROCK

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

CONTROL JOINT

EXPANSION JOINTEJ

/E5 L-501

/E5 L-501

/B5 L-501CIP CONCRETE VEHICULAR PAVING ON GRADEPV

CR CIP CONCRETE STREET CURB

/A3 L-501ACCESSIBLE RAMP

BIORETENTION PLANTING AREAVB

DETAIL

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

5
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-111

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT

AND MATERIALS PLAN -

WEST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - WEST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

WEST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



UP

UP

48

4
8

CB
1

CB
1

44
4-

LA

575-LA

4"(575)

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS LEGEND
TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION

SEE CIVIL

WG

WC

WM

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

PG

VA

US

RD

ST

HR

/C1 L-501

/E4 L-501

/D1 L-501

/A1 L-501

/B3 L-501

/B4 L-501

/- ---/D4 L-501

/E3 L-501

CIP CONCRETE WALL ON GRADE

CIP CONCRETE SEAT WALL ON GRADE

METAL PLANTER WALL

CIP CONCRETE STAIR

HANDRAILS

CIP CONCRETE PAVING ON GRADE

PLANTING AREA

SAND-SET PAVERS

DECORATIVE ROCK

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

CONTROL JOINT

EXPANSION JOINTEJ

/E5 L-501

/E5 L-501

/B5 L-501CIP CONCRETE VEHICULAR PAVING ON GRADEPV

CR CIP CONCRETE STREET CURB

/A3 L-501ACCESSIBLE RAMP

BIORETENTION PLANTING AREAVB

DETAIL

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

1
1

5 4 3 2 1

B

A

C

C.8

D

F

G

5.1

E

BAY ST

F
R

E
D

E
R

IC
K

 A
V

E

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

PROPOSED UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

TY
P7'
-0

"
TY

P5'
-0

"

WG

CUSTOM BENCH

HR

WG

VA

RD

CURB, SEE CIVIL, TYP

TYP

5'-0"

MIN

6'-0 1/2"

5'-3"

7'-4"6'
-0

"

PV

PG

PROPOSED UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

PROPOSED UTILITY, SEE CIVIL

VA

VA

VA

VA

VA

US

PGVA

VA

VA

VA

VB

RD

VA

VA

WG

WG

HR

ST

WG

WM

15'-3 1/2"

8'
-0

"

1'
-1

1 
1/

2"

15'-3"

7'-6"

1:12 M
A

X
 S

LO
P

E

PROPOSED UTILITY 
VAULT, SEE CIVIL

VB

VB

PG

PLAZA

US

PG

STREET TREE, 
BY OTHERS, TYP

5'
-0

"
5'

-0
"

4'
-6

"

7'-0"

3'-0
"

4'
-6

"

3'-0"

5'
-0

"
24

'-9
"

2'
-1

0 
1/

2"

2'
-1

0 
1/

2"

PROPOSED UTILITY, SEE CIVIL

T
Y

P

8 '-0"
10'-0"

STREET TREE, BY OTHERS, TYP

STREET TREE, BY OTHERS, TYP

20
'-1

1"

12'-6"

8'-0"
11'-0 1/2"

13'-6"

8'-0"

8'-3"

10'-7 1/2"

5'-0
"

4'-6"

11'-6 1/2"

9'
-0

 1
/2

"

FREDERICK AVE UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

TYP

30'-0"

TYP

8'-0"

TYP

22'-0"

4'-0"4'-0"

2'
-1

0"

20'-0"

9'
-1

1 
1/

2"

EXISTING UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

VA

RD

TYP
6"

1'-0"

23'-4 1/2"

37'-7 1/2"

8'- 10 1/ 2"

4'
-1

1"

WM

12
'-5

"

12'-10"

BAY ST UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

CR

CR

10'-9 1/2"

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 M
IN

12
'-0

"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 MAX 
SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 
MAX SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

M
IN

2'
-6

"

TYP

4'-6"

T
Y

P

5'
-0

"

M
IN

2'-6"

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

5
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-112

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT

AND MATERIALS PLAN -

EAST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - EAST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

EAST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

4
2

ROW IRRIGATION UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT, TYP

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

6
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-141

IRRIGATION PLAN - WEST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

IRRIGATION PLAN - WEST

WEST

KEY PLAN

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



ROW IRRIGATION UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT, TYP

ROW IRRIGATION UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT, TYP

CONTROLLER

POINT OF CONNECTION

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

4
1

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

6
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-142

IRRIGATION PLAN - EAST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

EAST

KEY PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

IRRIGATION PLAN - EAST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



DN

4
8

4
8

C
B
1

C
B
1

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

5
2

ACVM

CBPM

RPCA

ACVM

CBPM

RPCA

WEPM

WEPM

STREET TREES AND ROW 
PLANTING UNDER 

SEPARATE PERMIT, TYP

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

7
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-151

PLANTING PLAN - WEST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

TAG BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME

ACVM ACER CIRCINATUM VINE MAPLE

RPCA RHAMNUS PURSHIANA CASCARA

PLANTING LEGEND

1. IMPROVEMENTS IN THE RIGHT OF WAY UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT, ALL TREE LOCATIONS SUBJECT TO CHANGE

TREES:

NOTES:

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

PLANTING PLAN - WEST

WEST

KEY PLAN

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

TAG BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME

CBPM COASTAL BLUFF PLANTING MIX COASTAL BLUFF PLANTING MIX

WEPM WETLAND & ESTUARY PLANTING MIX WETLAND & ESTUARY PLANTING MIX

PLANTING MIXES:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02

mptacek
Snapshot



48

4
8

CB
1

CB
1

44
4-

LA

575-LA

4"(575)

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

5
1

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

ACVM

CBPM

RPCA

CBPM

RPCA

WEPM

ACVM

ACVM

RPCA

WEPM

CBPM

STREET TREES AND ROW 
PLANTING UNDER SEPARATE 
PERMIT, TYP

STREET TREES AND ROW 
PLANTING UNDER 

SEPARATE PERMIT, TYP

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

8
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-152

PLANTING PLAN - EAST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

EAST

KEY PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

PLANTING PLAN - EAST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

TAG BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME

ACVM ACER CIRCINATUM VINE MAPLE

RPCA RHAMNUS PURSHIANA CASCARA

PLANTING LEGEND

1. IMPROVEMENTS IN THE RIGHT OF WAY UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT, ALL TREE LOCATIONS SUBJECT TO CHANGE

TREES:

NOTES:

TAG BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME

CBPM COASTAL BLUFF PLANTING MIX COASTAL BLUFF PLANTING MIX

WEPM WETLAND & ESTUARY PLANTING MIX WETLAND & ESTUARY PLANTING MIX

PLANTING MIXES:

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



NOTE:
1. SEE PLANS FOR LAYOUT

EXPANSION JOINT CAP W/ 
REMOVABLE CASTING TOP

1/4" R

EXPANSION JOINT FILL MATERIAL

1/
4"

 T
Y

P

SANDED SEALANT, COLOR TO 
MATCH ADJACENT PAVEMENT

3/8" TYP

1/4" WIDE TOOLED CONTROL JOINT 
(NO TOOL MARK) 1/4 OF SLAB DEPTH 
WITH RADIUSED EDGES)

1/8" WIDE SAW CUT CONTROL 
JOINT 1/4 SLAB DEPTH, TYP 

CIP CONCRETE SLAB

OR

COMPACTED CRUSHED ROCK 

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

COMPACTED CRUSH ROCK

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

NOTES: 
1. SEE DETAIL ____ FOR JOINTS
2. PROVIDE EXPANSION JOINT AT ALL

VERTICAL ELEMENTS, CURBS AND 
CHANGE IN CONCRETE PAVING

CIP CONCRETE SLAB

4"
4"

W
H

E
R

E
 I N

D
IC

A
T

E
D

8"
 @

 E
D

G
E

1/2" R TOOLED EDGE AT 
PERIMETER

135°

1'-0"

COMPACTED CRUSHED ROCK 

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

NOTES: 
1. SEE DETAIL _______ FOR JOINTS
2. SEE CIVIL OR STRUCTURAL FOR REINFORCING
3. PROVIDE EXPANSION JOINT AT ALL VERTICAL

ELEMENTS CURBS AND CHANGE IN CONCRETE 
PAVING.

CIP CONCRETE SLAB

6"

@
 E

D
G

E

1'
-0

"

1'-0"

8"

1/2 R TOOLED EDGE AT 
PERIMETER

135°

PLANTING SOIL

1/2" R TOOLED EDGE, ALL 
EXPOSED EDGES

# 4 REBAR BOTH DIRECTIONS, 
VERTICALS AT 18" OC TIE AT 
CORNERS.  2" CLEAR ALL FACES. 

1'-0" x 1'-0" x 6"H CIP CONCRETE 
DEADMAN, SEE PLANS FOR SPACING

1%

DAMPPROOFING

WATERPROOFING ASSEMBLY, 
SEE _ _ _ _ _

SEE
PLANS 2"

FLOORING ASSEMBLY

SEE PLANS

VARIES

NOTE:
PROVIDE DRAINAGE BLOCKOUTS UNDER
WALL WHERE PERPENDICULAR TO FLOW.
ENSURE BLOCKOUTS ARE NOT VISIBLE
ABOVE FINISHED GRADE.

ADJACENT PAVING, SEE PLANS

DRAIN BLOCK OUT, SEE _ _ _ _ _

HIGH COMPRESSIVE-STRENGH 
DRAIN MAT, EXTEND MIN 12" 
BEYOND WALL IN ALL DIRECTION 

2" DIA X 4" DEPTH CORE-
DRILLED HOLE FILLED WITH 
NON-SHRINK GROUT, TYP

#4 REBAR AT STAIR NOSINGS
MIN 2" CLEAR, TYP

#4 REBAR AT 12" OC BOTH WAYS 
MIN 2" CLEAR ALL SIDES

1% SLOPE, TYP

EXP JOINT AT TOP AND BOTTOM 
OF STAIRS, TYP

HANDRAIL, SEE DETAIL _ _ _ _ _

COMPACTED CRUSHED ROCK

COMPACTED FILL OR SUBGRADE

ALIGN CHEEKWALL TO EXPANSION JOINT

SECTION ELEVATION

1/4" "V" GROOVES, 
PERPENDICULAR TO 
DIRECTION OF TRAVEL 

BROOM 
FINISH

1/2" R

1/2" R 
MAX

NOTE:
1. HANDRAIL TO BE MOUNTED 1 1/2" CLEAR OF

CHEEK WALL.
2. EXPANSION JOINT TO BE LOCATED BETWEEN

STAIRS AND CHEEKWALLS.
3. SEE PLANS FOR ADDITIONAL STAIR/HANDRAIL

INFORMATION.
4. ON VANISHING STAIRS, THE LEADING EDGE

SHALL HAVE A DISTINCTIVE STRIPE WITH A
SLIP RESISTANT SURFACE VISIBLE IN
DESCENT OF STAIR.

SLIP DOWELS, TYP

THICKENED EDGE, 
SEE DETAIL _ _ _ _ _

CIP CONCRETE CHEEK 
WALL, SEE PLANS FOR
OCCURENCE

4"
 M

IN

1'-0"

1" 

5"
 M

IN

A
LI

G
N

 C
H

E
E

K
W

A
LL

W
/ 

H
A

N
D

R
A

IL

TYP

1'-0"

T
Y

P

6"

F
R

O
S

T
 L

IN
E

 D
E

P
T

H
, M

IN

F
R

O
S

T
 L

IN
E

 D
E

P
T

H
, M

IN

1'-0"

1'-4"

SEE 
PLANS CIP CONCRETE SEATWALL, 

SLOPE TOP TO DRAIN, SEE 
PLANS FOR FINISH

1/2" R TOOLED EDGE AT ALL 
EXPOSED EDGES

EXP JOINT 

ADJACENT PAVING OR PLANTING, 
SEE PLANS FOR TYPE AND GRADING 

#4 REBAR BOTH WAYS AT 18" OC 
EACH FACE, VERTICAL TIE AT 
CORNERS, 3" CLEAR FROM ALL 
SIDES

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

1%

M
IN

 F
R

O
S

T
 L

IN
E

 D
E

P
T

H

1'-6"

1/2" RADIUS TOOLED EDGE, ALL 
EXPOSED EDGES

(2) #4 REBAR AT TOP OF WALL, 2"
CLEAR

WHEN WALL HEIGHT EXCEEDS 4'-0", 
REINFORCEMENT PER STRUCTURAL. 
IF BELOW 4'-0" HT. #4 REBAR BOTH 
DIRECTIONS AT 18" OC, TIE AT 
CORNERS.  2" CLEAR FROM ALL 
FACES OF WALL.

CONTINUOUS BACK DRAIN: DRAIN 
ROCK WRAPPED COMPLETELY W/ 
FILTER FABRIC,  4" PERF PIPE WITH 
SILT SOCK CONNECTED TO STORM

EXPANSION JOINT AT PAVING

FOOTING

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

ADJACENT PAVING OR 
PLANTED AREA, SEE PLANS

3:1 MAX

DAMPROOFING

1%2"
 M

IN
6"

6"

11
"

3'-6" MIN.

1/3 FOOTING WIDTH

W
A

LL
 H

E
IG

H
T

M
IN

 F
R

O
S

T
 L

IN
E

 D
E

P
T

H

CIP CONCRETE WALL, SMOOTH TOP, 
PATCHED AND SACKED VISIBLE 
VERTICAL FACES

3"
 C

LR
. T

Y
P

(3) #4 REBAR
HORIZONTAL 
CONTINUOUS 
#4 REBAR AT 18" OC

6"

RAMP SECTION

1'-4"

1'-4"

T
Y

P6"

T
Y

P4"

THICKENED EDGE AT OF RAMPS

EXPANSION JOINT AT TOP AND 
BOTTOM OF RAMP, TYP

SLIP DOWEL AT TOP AND 
BOTTOM OF RAMP, TYP

FLUSH

FLUSH

30
" 

M
A

X
 R

IS
E

8% MAX SLOPE

SCORING TO ALIGN AND FINISH TO 
MATCH ADJACENT PAVING

HANDRAIL, SEE _ _ _ _ _ 

NOTES:
1. 2% CROSS SLOPE MAXIMUM
2. 5'-0" MINIMUM DEPTH LANDING

AT TOP AND BOTTOM OF
RAMP, TYP

THICKENED EDGE

1"

2"

METAL PLANTER WALL

METAL ANGLE WELDED
TO PLANTER WALL

BOLT / NUT MECHANICAL
ATTACHMENT, 12" OC
SPACING

3/8" ANGLE CROSS BAR
SUPPORT

SECTION

METAL PLANTER CORNER CONNECTION

CROSS BAR MECHANICAL
ATTACHMENT TO METAL
ANGLE

SECTION

PLANTER CORNER CONNECTIONPLANTER PANEL CONNECTION

DECORATIVE STONE

WATERPROOFING 
ASSEMBLY, 
SEE _ _ _ _ _

STRAIGHT BACK AND SIDES
(WELDED TOGETHER)

DRAINMAT (APPLY 
VERTICALLY TO WITHIN 3" 
OF TOP OF SOIL AND 
HORIZONTALLY AT BOTTOM 
OF PLANTER FOR 6")

ROOF SLOPE - VARIES

BASE PLATE

STRUCTURAL FOAM, SHIM AS NEEDED,
RUN CONTINUOUS UNDER BASE PLATE

FLOOR ASSEMBLY

1 1/2"x1/4" STEEL CROSS BAR 

METAL PLANTER: 3/8" STEEL, CONTINUOUS 
WELDS AT CORNERS, GRIND SMOOTH, FIELD 
PAINT, COLOR: TBD

TOP OF PLANTER

TOP OF PAVING

CROSS BAR SUPPORT(S)

LIGHTWEIGHT FILLER

METAL PLANTER WALL

1-1/2" X 1/4" SST CROSS BAR,
SEE _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ FOR SPACING

BOLT/NUT MECHANICAL
ATTACHMENT

WT4 X 5  BOLTED TO
PLANTER WALL

1/4" JOINT TYP EQUALLY
SPACED AND MAX 5'-0" OC

O
N

 P
LA

N
T

E
R

 P
LA

N
S

V
A

R
IE

S
, A

S
 IN

D
IC

A
T

E
D

LIGHTWEIGHT PLANTING SOIL

FILTER FABRIC TO WRAP 
ENTIRE PLANTER 
(VERTICALLY TO WITHIN 1" 
OF TOP OF SOIL AND 100% 
COVERAGE ALONG BOTTOM 
OF PLANTER)

NOTES:
1. PROVIDE SHOP DRAWINGS, OF ALL METAL PLANTERS, FOR

REVIEW BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.
2. PROVIDE A MOCK-UP METAL PLANTER, FOR REVIEW BY

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.
3. HOLES FOR FASTENERS ON INTERIOR BRACING SHALL BE

SLOTTED.
4. FASTENERS TO BE S.S., PAINTED TO MATCH PLANTERS.

1/2" ROUNDHEAD BOLT, 
NUT, AND WASHER, SEE 
FOR SPACING

2'
-0

" 
M

A
X

.

*

IF GREATER THAN 6", ADD CONTINUOUS STRUCTURAL FOAM 
SHEETS WITH 4"X4" DRAIN CUTOUTS AT 4'-0" OC MAX

4"6"

METAL PLANTER

MITER JOINT, WELDED 
AND GROUND SMOOTH

PER P
LA

NS

C
R

E
A

T
E

 P
LA

N
T

E
R

 
S

C
H

E
D

U
LE

 P
LA

N
S

HIGH COMPRESSIVE-STRENGH DRAIN MAT, 
EXTEND MIN 12" BEYOND WALL IN ALL 
DIRECTION 

18" HT. PLANTER 42" HT. METAL PLANTER

NOTES:
1. ALL METAL PARTS TO BE PAINTED XXXXXXX.
2. PLANTERS SHOULD BE 2" TALLER THAN STATED HEIGHT BEFORE
INSTALLATION.
3. BOTTOM OF PLANTERS SHOULD NOT BE EXPOSED AT ADJACENT PAVING
SURFACE.

1'
-6

"

1/2" 3'
-6

"

1/2"

T-BAR BEHIND

ROUNDHEAD BOLTS,
SEE XXXXXXXXXXX
FOR ATTACHMENT

3"
1'

-0
"

1'
-0

"
1'

-0
"

3"

3"
6"

6"
3"

1"

1"

METAL PLATE

CROSS BAR HERE

CROSS BAR HERE

CROSS BAR HERE

CROSS BAR HERE

12" HT. PLANTER

1'
-0

"

1/2"

3"
5"

1"

2" 2" 2"

LEVEL OF 
ADJACENT PAVING

ADJACENT SURFACE, SEE PLANS, 
OMIT EDGING AT PAVED AREAS

METAL LANDSCAPE EDGING 
AT OUTSIDE EDGE AND 
ENDS, W/ STAKES AT 12" OC

2"-4" DIA WASHED DRAIN ROCK, HOLD 
1/2" BELOW EDGING

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

FILTER FABRIC, WRAP UP 
SIDES OF EDING AND VERTICAL 
SURFACES

TYP

1'-0"

BUILDING FACADE

FF

2"

METAL PLANTER WALL,
SEE _ _ _ _ _ _ _

DECORATIVE STONE

WATERPROOFING ASSEMBLY,
SEE _ _ _ _ _

FACE OF EXTERIOR CLADDING

1'-0"

1"

FLOOR ASSEMBLY

STRUCTURAL FOAM IF STONE 
DEPTH GREATER THAN 4"

FILTER FABRIC

HIGH COMPRESSIVE-STRENGH 
DRAIN MAT, EXTEND MIN 12" 
BEYOND PLANTER IN ALL 
DIRECTION 

FLOOR ASSEMBLY

WATERPROOFING SYSTEM UNDER PEDESTAL SET PAVERS AND DECKING:
1) WATERPROOF MEMBRANE
2) PROTECTION BOARD / DRAINAGE MAT

WATERPROOFING SYSTEM AT REMAINING LOCATIONS:
1) WATERPROOF MEMBRANE
2) PROTECTION BOARD / DRAINAGE MAT (EXTEND 12" MIN
INTO DECKING OR PEDESTAL SET PAVERS)
3) ROOT BARRIER AND FILTER FABRIC (IN PLANTING AREAS
ON STRUCTURE)

2

3

1

NOTE:

1. SEE ENVELOPE / WATERPROOFING
CONSULTANT FOR WATERPROOF MEMBRANE.

EXPANSION JOINT

ADJACENT PAVING, SEE PLANS

CIP CONCRETE CURB W/ TROWEL 
FINISH, 1/2" R TOOLED EDGE, 
SEALED AND SANDED 
EXPANSION JOINTS AT 6'-0" OC 
W/ COLOR TO MATCH.

PLANTING SOIL

(2) #4 REBAR HORIZONTAL
CONTINUOUS, 2" CLEAR ALL
SIDES

2"

WATERPROOFING ASSEMBLY, 
SEE _ _ _ _ _

FLOOR ASSEMBLY

SEE
PLANS

NOTE:
PROVIDE 2" x 4" DRAINAGE BLOCKOUTS 
UNDER CONCRETE BAND WHERE 
PERPENDICULAR TO FLOW. ENSURE 
BLOCKOUTS ARE NOT VISIBLE ABOVE 
FINISHED GRADE.

8"
 M

A
X

6"

HIGH COMPRESSIVE-STRENGH 
DRAIN MAT, EXTEND MIN 12" 
BEYOND WALL IN ALL DIRECTION 

1 1/2" DIA STEEL HANDRAIL, BOTH 
SIDES CONTINUOUS WELDS, GRIND 
SMOOTH

2" DIA X 4" DEPTH CORE-DRILLED HOLE 
FILLED WITH NON-SHRINK GROUT, TYP

1" X 1 1/2" STEEL FLAT BAR

3" X 3" ESCUTCHEON PLATE TO
COVER HOLE IN CONCRETE, TYP
EPOXIED IN PLACE, COLOR TO
MATCH HANDRAIL.

HANDRAIL

STEEL FLAT BAR

ROUND EDGES OF
BAR TO MATCH CURVE
OF HANDRAIL

STAIR HANDRAIL SECTION/ELEVATION

NOTES:
1. HANDRAIL TO BE MOUNTED 1 1/2" CLEAR OF CHEEK WALL.
2. SEE PLANS FOR ADDITIONAL STAIR/HANDRAIL

INFORMATION.
3. OMIT LOWER RAIL IF HANDRAIL IS ADJACENT TO CURB OR

WALL ALONG FULL RAMP LENGTH.
4. HANDRAILS LONGER THAN 30'-0" SHALL HAVE AN

EXPANSION JOINT PLACED WITHIN 2'-0" OF THE CENTER OF
THE HANDRAIL LENGTH, SEE _ _ _ _ _ _.

90
°

R 6", TYP

CIP CONCRETE STAIRS

(1) TREAD DEPTH

MIN

EQ. EQ.

34
"-

36
"

HANDRAIL 
TERMINATIONTYP

1'-0"

R 6", TYP

R 6", TYP

RAMP HANDRAIL SECTION/ELEVATION

34
" 

M
IN

 -
 3

8"
 M

A
X

M
A

X

4"

1 1/2" DIA STEEL HANDRAILS, BOTH 
SIDES CONTINUOUS WELDS, GRIND 
SMOOTH

2" DIA X 4" DEPTH CORE-DRILLED 
HOLE FILLED WITH NON-SHRINK 
GROUT, TYP

1" X 1 1/2" STEEL FLAT BAR

90
°

TOP RAIL

LOWER RAIL

5'-0" MAX TYP

SET POSTS PLUMB

5'-0" MAX TYP

4'-1 1/2"

1'-0"

3" X 3" ESCUTCHEON PLATE TO
COVER HOLE IN CONCRETE, TYP
EPOXIED IN PLACE, COLOR TO
MATCH HANDRAIL.

GRADE BREAK

GRADE BREAK

MATCH STAIR PROFILE 
USED ON PROJECT

1'-0" FLAT EXTENSION

1'-0" FLAT EXTENSION

ADJACENT PLANTING BED

METAL EDGE RESTRAINT W/ 
12" STAKES AT 12" OC

PAVERS, SEE PLAN FOR TYPE 
AND PATTERN

SAND SETTING BED

SWEEP JOINTS WITH SAND, 
VIBRATE IN LIFTS UNTIL FILLED 

COMPACTED CRUSHED ROCK

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

NOTE:
FINISH GRADE PER PLANS, SLOPE TO 
DRAIN 1.5% MIN AND 2% MAX

4"
1"

6"

45°

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

8
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-501

LANDSCAPE DETAILS

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
E5

CIP CONCRETE JOINTS

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
B4

CIP CONCRETE PED. PAVING

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
B5

CIP CONCRETE VEHIC. PAVING

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
C1

CONCRETE PLANTER WALL

1" = 1'-0"
A1

CIP CONCRETE STAIRS

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
E4

CIP CONCRETE SEATWALL

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
B6

CIP CONCRETE RETAINING WALL

1" = 1'-0"
A3

CIP CONCRETE ACCESSIBLE RAMP

1" = 1'-0"
D1

METAL PLANTER

1" = 1'-0"
E1

METAL PLANTER PANEL JOINT ELEVATION
1 1/2" = 1'-0"

E3
DECORATIVE STONE BAND

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
D5

DEC STONE AT PLANTER/BLDG

3" = 1'-0"
A5

WATERPROOFING ASSEMBLY

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
C2

CIP CONCRETE PLANTER CURB

1" = 1'-0"
B3

HANDRAILS

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
D4

SAND-SET PAVERS

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



SCH. 40 MAINLINE

SCH. 40 TEE OR ELL., TYP

BRICK OR CONC BLOCK

SCH. 40 ELL.

SCH. 80 NIPPLE

DRAIN ROCK MIN 3" DEEP OVER 
GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

SCH. 80 NIPPLE

SCH. 80 PVC

FINISH GRADE

FLUSH WITH FINISH GRADE

COMPRESSION FITTING

NOTES:
1. ASSEMBLY SIZE DETERMINED BY

VALVE INLET SIZE.
2. ALL THREADED FITTINGS TO

RECEIVE TEFLON TAPE (3 WRAPS
MIN).

3. ALL VALVES TO RECEIVE
CHRISTY'S 2 1/4" X 2 3/4" YELLOW
I.D. TAGS WITH BLACK LETTERS
(BOTH SIDES) WITH CONTROLLER
STATION NUMBER, OR APPROVED
EQUAL.

REMOTE CONTROL VALVE
WITH 18"  COIL OF WIRE AND
MALE REDUCER

ISOLATION VALVE WITH 
MALE REDUCER

VALVE BOX WITH LOCKABLE LID

LOOPED AND ZIP TIED 14 GA 
COMMON (WHITE), LEAD (BLACK) 
AND SPARE WIRES (ORANGE) 
PLACE ALL SPLICES IN DBY SPLICE 
KIT -PROVIDE A MIN 48" OF SLACK 
COILED WITHIN BOX

AR

PERIMETER LATERALS
2" TO 4" FROM EDGE

DRIPLINE START CONNECTION, 
SEE _ _ _ _ 

EMISSION POINT

DRIPLINE

AUTOMATIC FLUSH VALVE
PLUMBED TO PVC W/ GRAVEL
SUMP, SEE _ _ _ _ _

EXHAUST HEADER

SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROW 
AND EMITTER SPACING

SUPPLY HEADER

AIR/VACUUM RELIEF VALVE
(AT HIGH POINT), SEE _ _ _ _ 

NOTES:
DRIPLINE RUNS SHALL NOT EXCEED 200' IN LENGTH.FINISH GRADE

DRIPLINE TUBING

6" ROUND
VALVE BOX

AIR / VACUUM
RELIEF VALVE

3/4"M X 1/2"F
REDUCTION BUSHING

2-WAY ADAPTER TEE

BRICK SUPPORTS (3)

3/4" CRUSHED GRAVEL SUMP 
OVER GEOTEXTILE

AF

AUTOMATIC FLUSH VALVE 
PLUMBED TO PVC, SEE _ _ _ _

DRIPLINE START CONNECTION 
MALE ADAPTER, SEE _ _ _ _

AREA PERIMETER

DRIPLINE

DRIP CONTROL VALVE, SEE _ _ _ _

SUPPLY HEADER

DRIPLINE TEE

EXHAUST HEADER

AR

BLANK DRIPLINE CENTERED ON 
MOUND OR BERM

AIR/VACUUM RELIEF VALVE 
(PLUMBED TO DRIPLINE AT EACH 
HIGH POINT), SEE _ _ _ _

NOTES:
1. DRIPLINE RUNS SHALL NOT
EXCEED 200' IN LENGTH.

AF

DRIP CONTROL VALVE, SEE _ _ _ _

DRIPLINE START CONNECTION, 
SEE _ _ _ _

AREA PERIMETER

DRIPLINE, SEE SPECIFICATIONS 
FOR ROW SPACING

AUTOMATIC FLUSH VALVE
PLUMBED TO PVC, SEE _ _ _ _

SUPPLY HEADER

DRIPLINE TEE

EXHAUST HEADER

AR

AIR/VACUUM RELIEF VALVE 
(PLUMBED TO DRIPLINE AT EACH 
HIGH POINT), SEE _ _ _ _

BLANK DRIPLINE CENTERED ON 
MOUND OR BERM

NOTES:
DRIPLINE RUNS SHALL NOT EXCEED 200' IN LENGTH.

TRIPLE SWING JOINT

LATERAL LINE

THREADED PVC RISER

ADJACENT PAVING

CIP CONC PLANTER

SHRUB ROOT BALL

PLANTING SOIL

COUPLER

12" DRIPLINE LOOP (12" INTERVAL 
TUBING) OR BUBBLER CONNECTED 
TO PVC RISER WHERE OCCURS

FLOOR ASSEBMLY

MULCH

SLEEVE THROUGH 
WALL, SEE _ _ _ _ _

LOOPED AND ZIP TIED 14 GA 
COMMON (WHITE), LEAD (BLACK) 
AND SPARE WIRES (ORANGE) 
PLACE ALL SPLICES IN DBY SPLICE 
KIT -PROVIDE A MIN 48" OF SLACK
COILED WITHIN BOX

CONTROL VALVE

1" SCH 80 PVC TxT UNION, TO
LOOSEN OUTWARD AWAY FROM
VALVE

1" SCH 80 PVC TxT 90

1" SCH 80 PVC NIPPLE,
LENGTH AS REQUIRED

SCH 80 PVC SxT BUSHING

LATERAL LINE

SCH 40 PVC SxS 90

1" SCH 80 PVC BALL VALVE

1" SCH 80 PVC CLOSE NIPPLE
(3 TOTAL ACROSS ASSEMBLY)

COMPACT NATIVE SOIL

1" SCH 80 PVC TxT 90

1" SCH 80 PVC NIPPLE,
LENGTH AS REQUIRED

SCH 80 PVC SxT BUSHING

SCH 40 PVC SxSxS TEE

MAINLINE

1" PRF-100-RBY FILTER

(4) PAVING BRICKS AT CORNERS

4"-6" DEPTH 3/8" GRAVEL BACKFILL 
FOR DRAINS

FINISH GRADE TO BE 1",
OR SPECIFIED DEPTH OF

MULCH PLUS 1", BELOW TOP
OF VALVE BOX, TYP

14 GA INSULATED LOCATOR WIRE 
(BLUE) FROM LATERAL LINE WITH 
TERMINAL END IN DBY SPLICE KIT

VALVE BOX

4"
 T

Y
P

6"
 M

A
X

4"
 M

IN

DRIP CONTROL VALVE, SEE _ _ _ _

DRIPLINE START CONNECTION 
MALE ADAPTER, SEE _ _ _ _

AREA PERIMETER

SEE SPECIFICATIONS
FOR ROW SPACING

PERIMETER LATERALS
2" TO 4" FROM EDGE

DRIPLINE

AUTOMATIC FLUSH VALVE
PLUMBED TO PVC, SEE _ _ _ 
_ 

EXHAUST HEADER

SUPPLY HEADER

AF

AR

BLANK DRIPLINE (CENTERED 
ON MOUND OR BERM)

AIR/VACUUM RELIEF VALVE 
(PLUMBED TO DRIPLINE AT EACH 
HIGH POINT), SEE _ _ _ _

NOTES:
1. DRIPLINE RUNS SHALL NOT EXCEED 200' IN LENGTH.

FINISH GRADE

DRIPLINE

COMPRESSION RING

6" ROUND VALVE BOX

LINE FLUSHING VALVE

BRICK SUPPORTS (3)

1 CUBIC FOOT DRY SUMP LINED 
WITH FILTER FABRIC AND FILLED 
WITH 3/8" GRAVEL BACKFILL FOR 
DRAINS

3"
-6

" 
T

Y
P

OPERATION INDICATOR

FINISH GRADE

MULCH

DRIP LINE

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL OR EX
SOIL COMPACTED TO 85% DRY
DENSITY; VERIFY POSITIVE 
DRAINAGEPRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION

3"

FINISH GRADE

2-WAY TEE

DRIPLINE

3/4" SCH 80 PVC NIPPLE

PVC TEE (SxSxT)

PVC PIPING / LATERAL LINE

S
E

E
 S

P
E

C
S

S
E

E
 S

P
E

C
S

SEE SPECIFICATIONS  FOR 
DRIPLINE ROW SPACING

FINISH GRADE

SEE SPECS
FOR DEPTH

FINISH GRADE

M
IN

 D
E

P
T

H
 O

F
 T

O
P

 O
F

 S
LE

E
V

E
 T

O
 B

E
 B

E
LO

W
 T

H
E

 B
A

S
E

 C
LE

A
R

A
N

C
E

 
E

LE
V

 A
S

 E
S

T
A

B
LI

S
H

E
D

 B
Y

 T
H

E
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

 O
F

 R
E

C
O

R
D

DETECT-A-TAPE SHALL BE 6" 
BELOW TOP OF TRENCH GRADE

ALL BACKFILL SHALL BE MINERAL

DUCTILE IRON SLEEVE WITH MAIN 
OR LATERAL LINES AND CONTROL 
WIRES IN CONDUIT AND IN SLEEVE

NOTES:
SLEEVE ID SIZE SHALL BE AT 
LEAST 2 TIMES GREATER THAN OD 
SIZE OF THE PIPES.

ROADWAY

6"
 T

Y
P

-

LA
T

E
R

A
L

M
A

IN
LI

N
E

EXISTING OR NEW PAVEMENT

CLEAN, COMPACTED SUITABLE
NATIVE BACKFILL

TRACKING TAPE 6" BELOW
PAVEMENT

SCH 40 SLEEVE

SAND OR APPROVED BEDDING
MATERIAL

ROOFING NAIL TO MARK SLEEVE

4"
 T

Y
P

18
" 

T
Y

P

24
" 

T
Y

P

FINISH GRADE

CLEAN, COMPACTED SUITABLE 
NATIVE BACKFILL

TRACKING TAPE 6" BELOW GRADE

3" MIN SEPARATION BETWEEN PIPE 
SHARING COMMON TRENCHES, 
ORIENTED SIDED BY SIDE (NO 
STACKING)

MAINLINE PIPE

BUNDLE CONTROL WIRES BELOW 
MAINLINE IN SNAKE LIKE FASHION 
TO PROVIDE SLACK COVER WITH 2" 
OF CLEAN SUITABLE BACKFILL 
PRIOR TO PLACING MAINLINE TAPE 
WIRES TOGETHER, BUT DO NOT 
TAPE BUNDLED WIRES TO MAINLINE 
LEAD=BLACK, COMMON=WHITE, 
SPARE=ORANGE

SAND OR APPROVED BEDDING 
MATERIAL

LA
T

E
R

A
L

M
A

IN
LI

N
E

4"
2'

-0
"

1'
-6

"

3" MIN.

NOTES:
1. SLEEVING MATERIAL SHALL BE SCH 40 PVC PIPE AND SHALL BE LARE ENOUGH TO ALLOW IRRIGATION

PIPE AND ASSOCIATED COUPLINGS TO EASILY SLIP THROUGH SLEEVING MATERIAL, TYPICALLY 2x
DIAMETER OF IRRIGATION PIPE.

2. ONLY 1 IRRIGATION PIPE PER SLEEVE, TYP
3. USE DUCTILE IRON WHEN CROSSING UNDER HEAVILY TRAVELED ARTERIAL ROADWAYS.
4. EXTEND SLEEVING MATERIAL 18" BEYOND EDGE OF PAVEMENT.
5. PROVIDE 48" COILED SLACK WHERE CONTROL WIRES ENTER AND EXIT THE SLEEVE.

FINISH GRADE

UNDISTURBED NATIVE MATERIAL

SCH 40 PVC LATERAL LINE WITH
BLUE LOCATOR WIRE IN SLEEVE

SCH 40 PVC MAINLINE IN SLEEVE

RUN CONTROL WIRES 
SEPARATELY IN 2" ELECTRICAL 
CONDUIT, TYP

HARDSURFACE PAVEMENT PER 
SPECIFICATIONS

COMPACT CSTS OR CONTROLLED 
DENSITY FILL PER WSDOT 2-09.3(1), 
OR AS APPROVED BY THE CITY 
INSPECTOR

24
" 

M
IN

. -
 3

6"
 M

A
X

18
" 

M
IN

. -
 2

4"
 M

A
X

.

LATERAL LINE

SCH. 40 TEE

POLY SWING PIPE, MAX 18" 
LENGTH

POP-UP SPRINKLER

TOP OF SPRINKLER FLUSH WITH 
FINISH GRADE

PAVEMENT OR CURB

BARBED MARLEX INSERT ELL AND 
STREET ELL

BARBED MARLEX INSERT ELL AND 
STREET ELL

6" MAX

3" MIN

SWING JOINT

LATERAL PIPE

FINISH GRADE

LATERAL TEE OR ELL

MULCH

CHECK VALVE

0.25 or 0.50 GPM BUBBLER

GRATED CAP

ROOT INTRUSION BARRIER

ROOT BAFFLE ASSEMBLY

NOTE: INSTALL FILTER
FABRIC SLEEVE

CONCRETE WALL

TOPSOIL

SCH 40 PVC SLEEVE COORDINATE 
WITH GENERAL CONTRACTOR

TEE OR ELBOW

NOTES:
1. ONLY 1 IRRIGATION PIPE PER SLEEVE, TYP
2. EXTEND SLEEVING MATERIAL 18" BEYOND EDGE OF WALL.
3. PROVIDE 48" COILDED SLACK WHERE CONTROL WIRES EVTER AND EXIT THE

SLEEVE.

DRAIN SLEEVE PIPE W/ INSDIE 
DIAMETER 2X THE OUTSIDE 
DIAMETER OF THE WATERLINE

AUTOMATIC CONTROLLER WITH 
LOCKABLE DOOR

HARD-WIRE 120 VOLT ELECTRICAL 
SERVICE WITH JUNCTION BOX

2" DIA CONDUIT TO 6" BELOW 
GRADE, TRENCH WIRES TO 
MAINLINE TRENCH

FINISH GRADE

NOTES:
1. ALL WIRE TO BE INSTALLED PER LOCAL 

ELECTRICAL CODE.
2. VERIFY LOCATION PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
3. INSTALL CONTROLLER PER MANUFACTURER'S 

INSTRUCTIONS.

42
" 

M
IN

.

10" ROUND VALVE BOX

3M ULG CONNECTORS. (SPLICE 
ALL WIRE PAIRS)

WATERPROOF WIRE SPLICE KIT

PE-89 SHIELDED CABLE

3/4" GRAVEL BACKFILL FOR 
DRAINAGE OVER GEOTEXTILE 
FABRIC

BRICK SUPPORTS (3)

NOTES:
A MINIMUM OF 36" OF EXCESS CONDUCTOR 
SHALL BE LEFT AT ALL SPLICES.

DRIP CONTROL VALVE, SEE _ _ _ _

DRIPLINE START CONNECTION 
MALE ADAPTER, SEE _ _ _ _

AREA PERIMETER

PERIMETER LATERALS
2" TO 4" FROM EDGE

DRIPLINE

EXHAUST HEADER

EXHAUST HEADER

SUPPLY HEADER

DRIPLINE START CONNECTION 
MALE ADAPTER

AUTOMATIC FLUSH VALVE
PLUMBED TO PVC OR POLY (TYP), 
SEE _ _ _ _

DRIPLINE AT START CONNECTION

AF

AF

AR
BLANK DRIPLINE (CENTERED 
ON MOUND OR BERM)

AIR/VACUUM RELIEF VALVE 
(PLUMBED TO DRIPLINE AT EACH 
HIGH POINT), SEE _ _ _ _

SEE SPECIFICATIONS
FOR ROW SPACING

NOTES:
DRIPLINE RUNS SHALL NOT EXCEED 200' IN LENGTH.

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:2

0
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-541

IRRIGATION DETAILS

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1" = 1'-0"
B2

CONTROL VALVE

12" = 1'-0"
C4

DRIPLINE ACCESSORIES LAYOUT
1" = 1'-0"

C2
DRIPLINE AIR VACUUM RELIEF VALVE

12" = 1'-0"
D3

DRIPLINE AT IRREGULAR ANGLES
12" = 1'-0"

D2
DRIPLINE AT IRREGULAR CURVES

1" = 1'-0"
C5

CONC PLANTER IRRIGATION

1" = 1'-0"
A5

DRIPLINE CONTROL VALVE

1" = 1'-0"
D5

DRIPLINE END FEED LAYOUT

1" = 1'-0"
C1

DRIPLINE FLUSH VALVE

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
D1

DRIPLINE OPERATION INDICATOR

1" = 1'-0"
B4

DRIPLINE START CONNECTION

1" = 1'-0"
C3

DRIPLINE SUBGRADE INSTALLATION

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
B1

DUCTILE IRON ROADWAY IRRIGATION SLEEVE

1" = 1'-0"
A1

IRRIGATION SLEEVE
1" = 1'-0"

A3
IRRIGATION TRENCH

1" = 1'-0"
A4

IRRIGATION TRENCH UNDER PAVEMENT

1" = 1'-0"
E1

POP-UP SPRINKLER
3" = 1'-0"

E2
ROOT WATERING SYSTEM

1" = 1'-0"
A2

SLEEVING DETAIL THROUGH WALL

1" = 1'-0"
B5

WALL MOUNTED IRRIGATION CONTROLLER LAYOUT
1" = 1'-0"

B3
WIRE SPLICE

12" = 1'-0"
D4

DRIPLINE CENTER FEED LAYOUT

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



TYPICAL GROUND COVER 
PLANTED AT NURSERY LEVEL

MIN 2" MULCH

FINISH GRADE

REMOVE ALL BURLAP, WIRE, 
STRING, AND CONTAINERS. 
SPREAD ROOTS

PLANTING SOIL

SCARIFIED SUBGRADE

SEE LANDSCAPE DRAWINGS

SPACING VARIES

B AND B OR 
CONTAINERIZED SHRUB

SET ALL PLANTS AT NURSERY 
LEVEL

3" MULCH

SHRUB PLANTING PIT 
PREPARATION = ROOTBALL DEPTH 
AND WIDTH PLUS 1' - 0" ADDITIONAL 
ALL SIDES

REMOVE CONTAINER OR 
REMOVE BURLAP FROM TOP 2/3 
OF ROOTBALL. REMOVE ALL 
WIRE AND STRING

ADDITIONAL PLANTING AREA 
PREPARATION PER DRAWINGS

NATIVE BACKFILL SOIL AMENDED 
PER SPECS

UNDISTURBED SUBGRADE 
(PROVIDES FIRM BASE SO 
ROOTBALL WILL NOT SINK)

FINISH GRADE

ROW TO ROW SPACING
EQUAL TO 
D  + 1/2D 

2 2

ALL SHRUB AND 
GROUNDCOVER SPACING 
TO BE EQUILATERAL 
TRIANGLES UNLESS 
OTHERWISE NOTED

ON CENTER SPACING 
SPECIFIED ON PLANS
OR PLANT SCHEDULE IS 
EQUAL TO "D"

EDGE OF PLANTED AREA

D

D

D 60°

60°

60°
EDGE OF PLANTING BED OR PAVEMENT

CONTINUOUS OUTER ROW AT X 
FEET ON CENTER. 2/3X FEET SETBACK 
FROM EDGE OF PLANTING BED WITH 
TRIANGULAR SPACING INSIDE BED, TYP

2/
3X

X = RECOMMENDED SPACING
(SEE PLANTING SCHEDULE)

= ACTUAL PLANT LOCATION

AREA

FOR

SPACING

ADJUSTMENT

X X
X

3'-6" MIN2'-0" MIN

SEE NOTE 1

SIDEWALK

DRIVE STAKES 6" TO 1'-0" INTO
UNDISTURBED SOIL BELOW
ROOTBALL

TREE PIT DEPTH = ROOTBALL DEPTH
(MEASURE BEFORE DIGGING TO AVOID 
OVEREXCAVATION)

DRIVE STAKE AT ROOTBALL EDGE (TYP)

UNDISTURBED SUBGRADE (PROVIDES 
FIRM BASE SO THAT ROOTBALL WILL 
NOT SINK)

NATIVE BACKFILL SOIL AMENDMENT
WITH 25% (AT1/3 CU YD) 
DECOMPOSED ORGANIC MULCH 
AMENDMENT FOR ENTIRE TREE PIT 
AREA X ROOTBALL DEPTH

REMOVE ALL WIRE AND STRING, AND 
REMOVE ALL BURLAP FROM TOP 2/3 
OF ROOTBALL

18" DEEP ROOT BARRIER TYP
WITHIN 10' OF PAVING

ROUGHEN SIDES OF PLANTING HOLE 
MAXIMIZE EXCAVATED AREA WITHOUT 
UNDERMINING ADJACENT PAVING/CURB

MULCH TREE PIT MIN 5'-0" LENGTH X 
FULL PLANTING STRIP WIDTH BETWEEN 
CURB AND SIDEWALK (FOR PLANTING 
STRIPS LESS THAN 6'-0" WIDE.) PROVIDE 
5'-0" MULCH RING FOR PLANTING STRIPS 
WIDER THAN 6'-0"

2"-3" MULCH DEPTH (TAPERED AT 
TRUNK)

"CHAINLOCK" OR EQUAL TREE TIE
MATERIAL (1" WIDTH) NAIL OR STAPLE
TREE TIE MATERIAL TO STAKE TO
HOLD VERTICALLY. LOOP EACH TIE 
AROUND HALF TREE LOOSELY TO
PROVIDE 1" SLACK FOR TRUNK
GROWTH

STAKE TREE WITH (2) TREATED 2" DIAMETER
LODGEPOLE PINE DOWELED TREE STAKES
(8'-0" LENGTH) LOOP EACH TIE AROUND HALF
TREE LOOSELY TO PROVIDE 1" SLACK FOR 
TRUNK GROWTH

NOTES:
1. INSTALLATION INCLUDES REMOVAL OF STAKES

ONE YEAR AFTER INSTALLATION
2. SHAPE SOIL SURFACE TO PROVIDE 3' DIAMETER

WATERING RING
3. TREE CLEARANCES SHALL BE PER STD PLAN NO.

030
4. SEE STD PLAN NO. 424 FOR TREE PIT DETAIL

SET TOP OF ROOT CROWN 2" ABOVE
ADJACENT CURB AND SIDEWALK GRADE

C
L

NOTE 2

1'-6", SEE

*
*

DIAMETER OR 5'-0", WHICHEVER IS GREATER

MIN WIDTH OF TREE PIT = 2TIMES ROOTBALL

ETC. TO REDUCE COMPETITION WITH TREE ROOTS

MULCH AREA TO BE CLEAR OF GRASS, WEEDS,

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:2

1
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-551

PLANTING DETAILS

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

3/4" = 1'-0"
A4

GROUND COVER PLANTING
1" = 1'-0"

A3
SHRUB PLANTING

1/4" = 1'-0"
B3

TRIANGULAR PLANT SPACING

1 1/2" = 1'-0"
A5

TYP PLANTING PATTERN
3/4" = 1'-0"

A1
DECIDUOUS TREE IN PLANTER STRIP

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



1. ALL PROPOSED PLANTING AREAS WILL BE WATERED WITH A COMPLETE IN-GROUND 
AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION SYSTEM AS SHOWN.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY WATER PRESSURE PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  REPORT
INSUFFICIENT MEASURED WATER PRESSURE TO THE ARCHITECT.

3. DO NOT WILLFULLY INSTALL THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM AS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS WHEN IT
IS OBVIOUS IN THE FIELD THAT OBSTRUCTIONS, GRADE DIFFERENCES, OR DIFFERENCES THE 
AREA DIMENSIONS EXIST THAT MIGHT NOT HAVE BEEN CONSIDERED IN THE DESIGN. SUCH 
OBSTRUCTIONS OR DIFFERENCES SHOULD BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE 
ENGINEER.  IN THE EVENT THIS NOTIFICATION IS NOT PERFORMED, THE IRRIGATION 
CONTRACTOR SHALL ASSUME FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY REVISIONS NECESSARY. 

4. WHERE THE FIELD CONDITIONS REQUIRE ADJUSTMENTS, IRRIGATION SHALL BE ADDED OR
DELETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE IRRIGATION LEGEND OR MANUFACTURER'S
SPECIFICATIONS.  PIPE SIZING SHALL BE ADJUSTED ACCORDINGLY, AND WATER VELOCITY
SHALL NOT EXCEED 5 FEET PER SECOND.

5. THE IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR SHALL FLUSH AND ADJUST ALL LINES FOR OPTIMUM
PERFORMANCE.

6. INSTALL BACKFLOW PREVENTION DEVICE AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL CODES AND HEALTH
DEPARTMENT REQUIREMENTS.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SLEEVES, CHASES AND PENETRATIONS UNDER
PAVING, THROUGH WALLS, ETC., UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED PRIOR TO PAVING AND
FORMING.

8. THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM IS DESIGNED TO BE WINTERIZED THROUGH THE DRAIN VALVE AT
THE POINT OF CONNECTION. COMPRESSED AIR CAN ALSO BE USED THROUGH THE QUICK 
COUPLER VALVE AT THE POINT OF CONNECTION TO BLOW-OUT THE SPRINKLER ZONE.

9. FOR DRIPLINE ZONES, USE 3/4-INCH PVC PIPE IN SLEEVES TO CONNECT PLANTING AREAS.
10. COORDINATE ALL BUILDING PENETRATIONS WITH ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND

WATERPROOFING REQUIREMENTS.

IRRIGATION NOTES:

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:2

1
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-641

IRRIGATION SCHEDULE

AND NOTES

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:2

2
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-651

PLANTING SCHEDULE

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

PLANT SCHEDULE

QTY. TAG BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME CAL. MIN. HT CONT. REMARKS

8 ACVM ACER CIRCINATUM VINE MAPLE 0" 10'-0" B&B 3-5 MULTI-STEM

8 RPCA RHAMNUS PURSHIANA CASCARA 2 1/2" 0" B&B STRONG CENTRAL LEADER

QTY TAG BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE OC SPACING REMARKS

253 CBPM COASTAL BLUFF PLANTING MIX COASTAL BLUFF PLANTING MIX 1 GAL 24" 30% FESTUCA ROEMERI - ROEMERI'S FESCUE, 20% POLYSTICHUM MUNITUM -
SWORD FERN, 20% GAULTHERIA SHALLON - SALAL, 20% TELLIMA GRANDIFLORA -
FRINGECUP, 10% FRAGARIA CHILOENSIS - BEACH STRAWBERRY,

175 WEPM WETLAND & ESTUARY PLANTING MIX WETLAND & ESTUARY PLANTING MIX 1 GAL 24" 50% JUNCUS PATENS - CALIFORNIA GRAY RUSH, 20% CAREX OBNUPTA - SLOUGH
SEDGE, 20% DESCHAMPSIA CESPITOSA - TUFTED HAIRGRASS, 10% PTERIDIUM
AQUILINUM - BRACKEN FERN

TREES

GROUNDCOVER MIXES

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



DN

BAY STREET 

F
R
E
D
E
R
IC
K
A
V
E

O
R
C
H
A
R
D
 P
LA
Z
A
 

27
'-6
"

16'-0"

SIDEWALK

12'-0"
19'-0"

P
A

R
K

IN
G

E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

PARKING
ENTRANCE

B
A

N
K

E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

EGRESS

CAFE
ENTRANCE

E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

STAIR
EGRESS

KITSAP BANK

LINE OF LEVEL 2 
ABOVE

LINE OF LEVEL 2 
ABOVE

MARINA LIFT STATION -
UNDER SEPARATE 

PERMIT 

PROPERTY LINE S 84°36'30" E

176.91'

PROPERTY LINE

N
 0
1°
42
'2
3"
 E

88
.2
8'

N
 0
1°
42
'2
3"
 E

13
9.
83
'

S 65°21'22" E

187.11'

N
 2
4°
38
'3
8"
 E

10
.8
5'

S
ID
E
W
A
LK

12
'-0
"

ADDITIONAL PARKING LOT FOR 
KITSAP BANK AT 620 BAY STREET. 
WITH DISTANCE OF  230' FROM 
BUILDING ENTRACE  

BAY
 ST
RE
ET 

FUTURE WATERFRONT 
PARKING - UNDER
SEPARATE PERMIT 

FUTURE WATERFRONT 
PARK - UNDER 

SEPARATE PERMIT 

6" DETECATION FOR SIDEWALK 
AND PLANTING STRIP PER 
STOREFRONT BLOCK 
FRONTAGE  STANDARDS

A-200

C1

A-201

A1

A-201

C1

A

B

C

E

F

543 987621

A-200

A1

D

5A

4A

3A

2A

G

C.1

15'-6"

15'-6"

15'-6"

16'-6"

PLANTING 

PLANTING 

PLANTING 

PLANTING 

R
A

M
P

 U
P

200' FROM 
SHORELINE 

13'-3"

15'-6"

15'-6"

16'-6"

WP1

1A

8.16.1

160'-0" 4'-2"

20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 15'-0" 5'-0" 20'-0" 5'-0" 15'-0"

10
6'
-0
"

5'
-8
"

20
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

6'
-4
"

17
'-8
"

24
'-0
"

24
'-0
"

GENERAL SITE PLAN NOTES

1. SITE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, DIMENSIONS AND 
LOCATIONS OF EXISTING UTILITIES, IS BASED ON THE SURVEY ON SHEET V-001 AND IS PROVIDED 
FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY. THE ARCHITECT TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR ITS 
ACCURACY.

2. VERIFY LOCATION OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. DO NOT DAMAGE OR DISTURB EXISTING UTILITIES.

STALL SIZE
S = STANDARD
C = COMPACT
A = ADA

ACCESSIBLE STALL

ELECTRIC VEHICLE 
CHARGING STATION

PARKING LEGEND

STANDARD

COMPACT

ADA

ADA VAN

 8
'-
0
"

 8
'-
0
"

 18'-0"

 18'-0"

 20'-0"

 5
'-
0
"

 8
'-
0
"

 8
'-
0
"

 9
'-
0
"

 16'-0"

WHEEL STOP

VAN STALL ADA VAN

NOTE: 98" VERTICAL CLEARANCE 

REQUIRED AT VAN STALL, ACCESS 

AISLE, AND VEHICLE ROUTE FROM 

GARAGE ENTRY TO STALL, PER 

ANSI 117.1 SECTION 502.6.

SIGNED PUBLIC PARKING

NOTE: STALL USE/SIZE ARE FOR 

DOCUMENTATION PURPOSES ONLY, NOT 

STRIPED ON STALL.

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:1

4
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-100

SITE PLAN

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1" = 10'-0"
A1

SITE PLAN
0' 5' 10' 20'

PLAN
NORTH

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



UP

UP

DN

C1
A-300

C1
A-300

A1
A-300

A1
A-300

OPEN TO 
ABOVE

OPEN TO 
ABOVE

13.85'7 %

SLOPE UP

2
 %

14.75'

BAY STREET 

F
R
E
D
E
R
IC
K
 A
V
E

O
R
C
H
A
R
D
  P
LA
Z
A
 

15.0'

A-200

C1

A-201

A1

A-201

C1

A

B

C

E

F

543 987621

A-200

A1

ELEC.

PARKING
GARAGE

STAIR 2

D

RESTROOM

?C

?C

UNISEX UNISEX

TRANSFORMER

MDF

MACHINE
ROOM

2,399 SF

RETAIL BANK

RETAIL/ CAFE

ELEVATOR

?S

COMMUNITY
HUB

ELEC.

16'-6"

LOCKER ROOM

SHOWER

SHOWER

TRASH ROOM

FIRE
SPRINKLER

?C

?A

?A

?S

5A

4A

3A

2A

?S

UTILITY

16'-6"

G

C.1

20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 15'-0" 5'-0" 20'-0" 5'-0" 15'-0"

160'-0" 4'-2"

109°

161°

BUILDING OUTLINE 
ABOVE 

BUILDING OUTLINE 
ABOVE 

15'-6"

13'-0"

15'-6"

15'-6"

15'-6"

15'-6"

15'-6"

PLANTING 

PLANTING 

PLANTING 

PLANTING 

R
A

M
P

 U
P

34
'-6
"

23
'-0
"

51
'-1
 1
/2
"

5'-8 43/64"

80'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

10
6'
-0
"

5'
-8
"

WP1

20
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

6'
-4
"

17
'-8
"

24
'-0
"

24
'-0
"

1A

80'-0"

90°

9'-10"

6'
-3
"

WP2

86
'-0
"

80'-0" 61'-0"

8.16.1

TYP

4'-0"

TYP

4'-0"

TYP

4'-0"

TYP

4'-0"

INTERIOR LAYOUT SHOWN 
FOR REFERENCE ONLY - NIS
CORE AND SHELL ONLY 

INTERIOR LAYOUT SHOWN 
FOR REFERENCE ONLY - NIS
CORE AND SHELL ONLY 

18'-6" 24'-5" 16'-0" 10"

STORAGE

GENERAL FLOOR PLAN NOTES

1. PLAN DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF STUD, FACE OF CONCRETE WALL, CENTERLINE OF COLUMN, OR 
CENTERLINE OF ROUGH OPENINGS, UON. CONTACT ARCHITECT FOR CLARIFICATIONS.

2. DOORS AND CASED OPENINGS INDICATED ADJACENT TO WALL INTERSECTIONS SHALL BE LOCATED 
WITH THE EDGE OF FINISH OPENING SIX INCHES FROM THE ADJACENT WALL AT EXTERIOR DOORS, 
INTERIOR COMMON AREA DOORS, AND UNIT ENTRY DOORS, AND FOUR INCHES FROM THE ADJACENT 
WALL AT INTERIOR DOORS OF UNITS, UON.

3. HANDRAILS SHALL RETURN TO A WALL, GUARD OR THE WALKING SURFACE OR SHALL BE 
CONTINUOUS TO THE HANDRAIL OF AN ADJACENT STAIR FLIGHT OR RAMP RUN, PER IBC 1012.5.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL FURRING, SHIMS AND ADDITIONAL LAYERS OF GYPSUM BOARD AS 
NECESSARY TO ACHIEVE FLUSH FINISH WHERE SURFACES OF ADJACENT WALL OR SHAFT 
ASSEMBLIES ARE NOT, BUT ARE INTENDED TO BE, ALIGNED.

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:1

6
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-111

OVERALL FLOOR PLAN -

LEVEL 1

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN
0' 4' 8' 16'

PLAN
NORTH

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02

mptacek
Length Measurement
14'-0"

mptacek
PolyLine

mptacek
Length Measurement
16'-8 1/2"

mptacek
Length Measurement
23'-0"

mptacek
PolyLine



C1
A-300

C1
A-300

A1
A-300

A1
A-300

IDF STAIR 2

220 SF

STAIR 1

JANITOR
CLOSET

RESTROOMS

UNISEX

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO BELOW

FITNESS /
WELNESS
ROOM

TRAINING
ROOM

OFFICE SUITE 2

TRAINING

STORAGE

OFFICE SUITE 1

TERRACE

A-200

C1

A-201

A1

A-201

C1

A

B

C

E

F

543 987621

A-200

A1

D

5A

4A

3A

2A

G

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

C.1

WOOD FINS - SEE 
ELEVATIONS 

STORAGE

UNISEX

SHOWER SHOWER

2'-0" 1'-2"

101'-2" 65'-2"

53
'-8
"

23
'-0
"

37
'-8
"

83'-2"
80'-0"

WP1

20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 15'-0" 5'-0" 20'-0" 5'-0" 15'-0"

160'-0"

10
6'
-0
"

5'
-8
"

20
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

6'
-4
"

17
'-8
"

24
'-0
"

24
'-0
"

1A

T
Y
P

4'
-0
"
1'
-2
"

2'
-0
"

TYP

4'-0"

3'
-2
"
2'
-0
"

1'-2"2'-0"

2'
-0
"

3'
-2
"

12
'-0
"

12
'-0
"

12
'-0
"

4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0"

4'
-0
"

4'
-0
"

4'
-0
"

TYP

4'-0"
TYP

4'-0"

8.16.1

3'
-2
"

4'
-0
"

T
Y
P

4'
-0
"

TYP

4'-0" 4'-0" 3'-2"

2'
-0
" 
T
Y
P

6" TYP

1'
-2
"

3"

2'-0"

WP2

9'-10"

INTERIOR LAYOUT SHOWN 
FOR REFERENCE ONLY - NIS
CORE AND SHELL ONLY 

GENERAL FLOOR PLAN NOTES

1. PLAN DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF STUD, FACE OF CONCRETE WALL, CENTERLINE OF COLUMN, OR 
CENTERLINE OF ROUGH OPENINGS, UON. CONTACT ARCHITECT FOR CLARIFICATIONS.

2. DOORS AND CASED OPENINGS INDICATED ADJACENT TO WALL INTERSECTIONS SHALL BE LOCATED 
WITH THE EDGE OF FINISH OPENING SIX INCHES FROM THE ADJACENT WALL AT EXTERIOR DOORS, 
INTERIOR COMMON AREA DOORS, AND UNIT ENTRY DOORS, AND FOUR INCHES FROM THE ADJACENT 
WALL AT INTERIOR DOORS OF UNITS, UON.

3. HANDRAILS SHALL RETURN TO A WALL, GUARD OR THE WALKING SURFACE OR SHALL BE 
CONTINUOUS TO THE HANDRAIL OF AN ADJACENT STAIR FLIGHT OR RAMP RUN, PER IBC 1012.5.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL FURRING, SHIMS AND ADDITIONAL LAYERS OF GYPSUM BOARD AS 
NECESSARY TO ACHIEVE FLUSH FINISH WHERE SURFACES OF ADJACENT WALL OR SHAFT 
ASSEMBLIES ARE NOT, BUT ARE INTENDED TO BE, ALIGNED.

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:1

8
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-112

OVERALL FLOOR PLAN -

LEVEL 2

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LEVEL 2 FLOOR PLAN

0' 4' 8' 16'

PLAN
NORTH

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



R
E

F

C1
A-300

C1
A-300

A1
A-300

A1
A-300

A-200

C1

A-201

A1

A-201

C1

A

B

C

E

F

543 987621

A-200

A1

STAIR 1

D

IDF

MECH

RESTROOMS

48 SF

UNISEX
48 SF

UNISEX

116 SF

ELEVATOR

OFFICE

STAIR 2

TERRACE

5A

4A

3A

2A

G

C.1

ROOF OUTLINE 
ABOVE 

ROOF OUTLINE 
ABOVE 

WP1

1A

2'-0" 1'-2"

101'-2" 2'-0"

53
'-8
"

23
'-0
"

80'-0"

20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 15'-0" 5'-0" 20'-0" 5'-0" 15'-0"

160'-0"

10
6'
-0
"

5'
-8
"

20
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

6'
-4
"

17
'-8
"

24
'-0
"

24
'-0
"

T
Y
P

4'
-0
"
1'
-2
"

2'
-0
"

TYP

4'-0"

3'
-2
"
2'
-0
"

1'-2"

2'
-0
"

3'
-2
"

12
'-0
"

12
'-0
"

12
'-0
"

4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0"

4'
-0
"

4'
-0
"

4'
-0
"

4'
-0
"

T
Y
P

4'
-0
"

TYP

4'-0" 4'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

8.16.1

4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0"

2'
-0
" 
T
Y
P

6" TYP

1'
-2
"

3"

2'-0"

OPEN TO BELOW

53
'-8
"

23
'-0
"

37
'-8
"

83'-2"
TYP

4'-0"
TYP

4'-0"

WP2

9'-10"

INTERIOR LAYOUT SHOWN 
FOR REFERENCE ONLY - NIS 
CORE AND SHELL ONLY 

GENERAL FLOOR PLAN NOTES

1. PLAN DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF STUD, FACE OF CONCRETE WALL, CENTERLINE OF COLUMN, OR 
CENTERLINE OF ROUGH OPENINGS, UON. CONTACT ARCHITECT FOR CLARIFICATIONS.

2. DOORS AND CASED OPENINGS INDICATED ADJACENT TO WALL INTERSECTIONS SHALL BE LOCATED 
WITH THE EDGE OF FINISH OPENING SIX INCHES FROM THE ADJACENT WALL AT EXTERIOR DOORS, 
INTERIOR COMMON AREA DOORS, AND UNIT ENTRY DOORS, AND FOUR INCHES FROM THE ADJACENT 
WALL AT INTERIOR DOORS OF UNITS, UON.

3. HANDRAILS SHALL RETURN TO A WALL, GUARD OR THE WALKING SURFACE OR SHALL BE 
CONTINUOUS TO THE HANDRAIL OF AN ADJACENT STAIR FLIGHT OR RAMP RUN, PER IBC 1012.5.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL FURRING, SHIMS AND ADDITIONAL LAYERS OF GYPSUM BOARD AS 
NECESSARY TO ACHIEVE FLUSH FINISH WHERE SURFACES OF ADJACENT WALL OR SHAFT 
ASSEMBLIES ARE NOT, BUT ARE INTENDED TO BE, ALIGNED.

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:2

0
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-113

OVERALL FLOOR PLAN -

LEVEL 3

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LEVEL 3 FLOOR PLAN

0' 4' 8' 16'

PLAN
NORTH

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

OPERABLE / NANA WALL

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



DN

C1
A-300

C1
A-300

A1
A-300

A1
A-300

A-120

C6

PV  SOLAR 
PANELS

1
/4

" / 1
2
'

A-200

C1

A-201

A1

A-201

C1

A

B

C

E

F

543 987621

A-200

A1

D

5A

4A

3A

2A

1
/4

" 
/ 
1
2
"

1
/4

" 
/ 
1
2
"

1/4" / 12'

HIGHER ROOF - SEE 
ELEVATIONS 

C.1

1A

8.16.1

10
6'
-0
"

5'
-8
"

20
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

6'
-4
"

17
'-8
"

24
'-0
"

24
'-0
"

5'-9"

160'-0" 4'-2"

20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 15'-0" 5'-0" 20'-0" 5'-0" 15'-0"

80'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

83'-2"

WP1

WP2

9'-10"

83
'-1
0 
3/
4"

72'-6 1/2"

64'-6 1/2"

200' FROM 
SHORELINE 

ALTERNATE OPTION: 
GREENROOF 

PV  SOLAR 
PANELS

C

9

D 6"
23
'-0
"

6"

24
'-0
"

4'-9" 4'-9"

5'
-0
"

11
'-0
"

5'
-0
"

LOWER ROOF 
ACCESS 

C.1

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:2

1
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-120

OVERALL ROOF PLAN

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

ROOF PLAN 0' 4' 8' 16'

PLAN
NORTH

1/4" = 1'-0"
C6

STAIR 2 FLOOR PLAN AT ROOF

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



LEVEL 1
15.50'

LEVEL 2
33.50'

TO PLATE
63.50'

LEVEL 3
49.50'

ABCEF D C.1

AVG GRADE PLANE
14.53'

2'
-0
"

8'
-0
"

14
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

58
'-0
"

2'
-0
"

14
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

10
'-0
"

TIMBER FRAMED CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM W/ 1" MULLION CAP
METAL MESH PANEL 

WOOD PANEL

MASS TIMBER COLUMN

TIMBER FRAMED CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM W/ 1" MULLION CAP

WOOD FINS

CONCRETE WALL WITH CUSTOM 
ARCHITECTURE TEXTURE FINISH 

METAL GARAGE 
DOOR

CONC. CURB -
TYP. 

WOOD FINS

CURTAIN WALL GLAZING SYSTEM 
W/ WOOD INFILL PANEL

LEVEL 1
15.50'

LEVEL 2
33.50'

TO PLATE
63.50'

LEVEL 3
49.50'

543 987621

AVG GRADE PLANE
14.53'

10
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

58
'-0
"

MASS TIMBER COLUMN

TIMBER FRAMED CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM W/ 1" MULLION CAP

WOOD PANEL

MASS TIMBER COLUMN

8.16.1

SEE ALTERNATE FOR 
CANTILEVER OPTION 
SHEET G-005

OPEN TO 
BEYOND 

WOOD FINS

CURTAIN WALL GLAZING SYSTEM 
W/ WOOD INFILL PANEL

CONC. CURB - TYP.

CONCRETE WALL WITH CUSTOM 
ARCHITECTURE TEXTURE FINISH 

EXTERIOR WOOD SOFFIT 
WITH INTEGRATED VENT 
LOUVERS AS REQUIRED - TYP. 

WOOD FRAME 

WOOD FRAME/ 
PARAPET 

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:3

8
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-200

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS -

SOUTH / EAST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

EAST ELEVATION - FREDERICK AVE

1/8" = 1'-0"
C1

SOUTH ELEVATION - BAY STREET

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



LEVEL 1
15.50'

LEVEL 2
33.50'

TO PLATE
63.50'

LEVEL 3
49.50'

5 4 39 8 7 6 2 1

AVG GRADE PLANE
14.53'

50
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

2'
-0
"

18
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

14
'-0
"

8'
-0
"

2'
-0
"

58
'-0
"

FLOOR MOUNTED FRAMELESS GLASS RAILING W/ WD TOP RAILING

MASS TIMBER COLUMN

TIMBER FRAMED CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM W/ 1" MULLION CAP

WOOD PANEL

FLOOR MOUNTED FRAMELESS GLASS RAILING W/ WD TOP RAILING

WOOD FINS

METAL MESH PANEL 

8.1 6.1

1- 6 PIECE AT ENDS

CURTAIN WALL GLAZING SYSTEM 
W/ WOOD INFILL PANEL

SEE ALTERNATE FOR CANTILEVER 
OPTION - SHEET G-005

OPEN TO 
BEYOND

OPERABLE  NANA WALL WOOD FRAME/ PARAPET

WOOD FRAME 

GLASS DOOR CONC. CURB 

EXTERIOR WOOD SOFFIT WITH INTEGRATED 
VENT LOUVERS AS REQUIRED - TYP.  

LEVEL 1
15.50'

LEVEL 2
33.50'

TO PLATE
63.50'

LEVEL 3
49.50'

A B C E FDC.1

AVG GRADE PLANE
14.53'

2'
-0
"

14
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

2'
-0
"

8'
-0
"

14
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

58
'-0
"

FLOOR MOUNTED FRAMELESS GLASS RAILING W/ WD TOP RAILING

MASS TIMBER COLUMN

TIMBER FRAMED CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM W/ 1" MULLION CAP

CURTAIN WALL GLAZING SYSTEM 
W/ WOOD INFILL PANEL

50
'-0
"

SEE ALTERNATE FOR 
CANTILEVER OPTION 
SHEET G-005

GLASS DOOR - TYP.

WOOD FINS

WOOD PANEL

WOOD FRAME/ 
PARAPET

CONC. CURB - TYP.

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:5

0
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-201

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS -

NORTH / WEST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
C1

NORTH ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

WEST ELEVATION - ORCHARD PLAZA

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

METAL GARAGE 
DOOR

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



LEVEL 1
15.50'

LEVEL 2
33.50'

TO PLATE
63.50'

LEVEL 3
49.50'

A1
A-300

A1
A-300

14
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

FITNESS /
WELNESS
ROOM

543 987621

5'
-0
"

AVG GRADE PLANE
14.53'

8.16.1

LEVEL 1
15.50'

LEVEL 2
33.50'

TO PLATE
63.50'

LEVEL 3
49.50'

C1
A-300

C1
A-300

14
'-0
"

16
'-0
"

18
'-0
"

OFFICE SUITE 2

A B C E FDC.1

OFFICE SUITE 1

OFFICE OFFICE

RETAIL BANK

LOCKER ROOM

AVG GRADE PLANE
14.53'

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/01/2022 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

A
P
P
R
O
V
A
L 
S
T
A
M
P
S

B 02/23/2023 SD PRICE SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 1

:5
3
:5

2
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

A-300

BUILDING SECTIONS

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

3
 -

S
D

 S
E

T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
C1

BUILDING SECTION E/W

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

BUILDING SECTION N/S

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



SD

SD

SD

SS

FS

OR
CH

AR
D S

TR
EE

T

BUILDING FIRST
FLOOR OUTLINE, TYP

PROPERTY LINE,
TYP

ELECTRICAL BLDG SERVICE
(X) - 4" CONDUITS
PER ELECTRICAL

COMM VAULT, 444-LA
FOR BUILDING

SERVICES, TYP

3" DOMESTIC WATER
SERVICE & METER

6" FIRE SERVICE & METER

COMMUNICATION
SERVICES

TRANSFORMER
ROOM

CONNECT TO  8" WATER

CONNECT TO 24"
SANITARY, REFER
TO NOTE 6.

BAY STREET

FR
ED

ER
ICK

 AV
E

SINCLAIR INLET

WALL MOUNTED FDC

PIV AND BACKFLOW
PREVENTION WITHIN
FIRE/SPRINKLER ROOM

SANITARY SEWER
LIFT STATION

PORT ORCHARD COMMUNITY
EVENT CENTER

ASPHALT OVERLAY WITH FULL
DEPTH REPLACEMENT AT
UTILITY TRENCHES.

SIDEWALK AND LANDSCAPE
IMPROVEMENTS, REFER TO
NOTE 1 AND 2.

BAY ST ROADWAY AND UTILITY
IMPROVEMENTS, REFER TO
NOTE 1, 2 AND 6.

8" WATER MAIN,
RELOCATED BY LIFT
STATION PROJECT.

6" STORM SERVICE
6" SANITARY
SEWER SERVICE

EX FIRE HYDRANT

EX FIRE HYDRANT

CONNECT TO CB,
REFER TO NOTE 6.

BUILDING OVERHANG

BUILDING OUTLINE

PROPERTY LINE

STORM DRAIN PIPE

SANITARY SIDE SEWER PIPE

WATER SERVICE PIPE

FIRE SERVICE PIPE

WATER METER & VAULT

ELECTRICAL SERVICE

COMMUNICATION SERVICE

CATCH BASIN

MANHOLE

CLEANOUT

POST INDICATOR VALVE

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

LEGEND

SS

SD

W

FS

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

PL
OT

 D
AT

E/
TI

M
E:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:
GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:
PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 03/02/2023 CONCEPT DESIGN PRICE SET

AP
PR

OV
AL

 S
TA

MP
S

6/
27

/2
02

2 
10

:3
9:

16
 A

M

MP
JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA
98366

KITSAP BANK
HEADQUARTERS

KITSAP BANK
619 BAY STREET
PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

0

1 inch = 20 feet

10' 20' 40'

NOTES:
1. CIVIL BASIS OF DESIGN ASSUMES THAT THE BAY ST IMPROVEMENTS AND ASSOCIATED

UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURE WILL BE INSTALLED AND FUNCTIONAL PRIOR TO KITSAP BANK HQ

CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION.

2. BAY STREET IMPROVEMENTS BETWEEN ROBERT GEIGER STREET AND FREDERICK AVENUE

ARE BEING DEVELOPED BY THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD.

2.A. BAY STREET IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE KBHQ MAY EXTEND FROM THE

FUTURE BACK OF CURB ALIGNMENT TO THE PROJECT PROPERTY LINE.

IMPROVEMENTS ANTICIPATED INCLUDE NEW SIDEWALK AND ASSOCIATED

LANDSCAPE. FINISHES, AMENITIES AND SCORING WILL BE DETAILED BY THE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

2.B. ORCHARD AVENUE WILL BE CONVERTED TO A PEDESTRIAN PLAZA THAT WILL

PROVIDE ACCESS TO THE PRIMARY ENTRY OF THE COMMUNITY EVENT CENTER AND

LIBRARY.

3. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FOR THE SITE WILL REQUIRE THE FOLLOWING MITIGATION:

3.A. SINCE THE SITE DISCHARGES TO A SALTWATER BODY,  FLOW CONTROL IS NOT

ANTICIPATED. THE PROJECT DRAINAGE IS ANTICIPATED TO CONNECT TO THE BAY ST

STORM DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS.

3.B. WATER QUALITY TREATMENT IS NOT ANTICIPATED AS THE PROJECT DOES NOT

PROPOSE 5,000-SF OF POLLUTION GENERATING HARD SURFACE OR 3/4-ACRE OF

POLLUTION GENERATING PERVIOUS SURFACE.

3.C. PER THE 2019 SWMMWW, THIS PROJECT IS ANTICIPATED TO BE FLOW CONTROL

EXEMPT AND THEREFORE DOES NOT HAVE TO ACHIEVE THE LID PERFORMANCE

STANDARD, NOR CONSIDER BIORETENTION, RAIN GARDENS, PERMEABLE PAVEMENT,

OR FULL DISPERSION FOR ON-SITE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT. THE PROJECT SITE

IS NOT LARGE ENOUGH TO PROVIDE THE REQUIRED FLOWPATHS FOR DISPERSION

BMPS AND DOES NOT HAVE ADEQUATE SOILS FOR INFILTRATION.

3.D. CONVEYANCE OF STORMWATER ON-SITE WILL OCCUR THROUGH SHEET FLOW,

TRENCH DRAINS, AND PLUMBING'S ROUTING. ALL SURFACE RUNOFF WILL BE

ROUTED TO THE FUTURE BAY ST STORM SYSTEM.

4. UTILITY SERVICE SIZES AND POINTS OF CONNECTION ARE PRELIMINARY AND WILL BE

COORDINATED AS DESIGN PROGRESSES.

5. GREASE INTERCEPTOR, IF REQUIRED, WILL BE PROVIDED BY MECHANICAL AND WILL NEED

TO BE LOCATED ON-SITE AND WITH VEHICLE ACCESS.

6. UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURE WITHIN BAY ST AND SURROUNDING THE PROJECT IS A PART OF

THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD UPGRADES AND ARE ASSUMED TO BE CONSTRUCTED AT THE

TIME OF KITSAP BANK CONSTRUCTION AND SERVICE CONNECTIONS.

C1.00

CIVIL SITE PLAN

1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



UP

UP
"

4
8

48

4
8

4
8

48

C
B
1

C
B
1

CB
1

CB
1

44
4-

LA

575-LA

4"(575)

SEE SHEETS

L-111
L-141
L-151

SEE SHEETS

L-112
L-142
L-152

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

BAY ST

F
R

E
D

E
R

IC
K

 A
V

E

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 A

V
E

MARINA LIFT STATION 
UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

3
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-100

LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1" = 10'-0"
A1

LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN

PLAN
NORTH

0' 5' 10' 20'

WEST EAST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION



DN

UP

4
8

4
8

C
B
1

C
B
1

UP

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

1
2

WG

VA

WC

US

US

WG

WC

VA

VA

VB

VB

VB

VB

HR

ST

WG

WM

STRUCTURAL COLUMN, 
SEE ARCH, TYP

RD

RD

RD

US

WC

RD

9 8 7 6

5

B

A

C

C.8

D

F

G

8.1

7.1

6.1

5.1

E

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 A

V
E

BAY ST

STREET TREE, 
BY OTHERS, TYP

STEP UP, SIM TO

TYP

8'-0"

TYP

22'-0"

TY
P7'
-0

"
TY

P5'
-0

"

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

ADA ACCESSIBLE ROUTE, 
1:50 MAX SLOPE

ENTRY PLAZA

RD

WM

WM

WM

VA

ALIGN

PG
CURB, SEE CIVIL, TYP

PLAZA

/A1 L-501

SIGNAGE LOCATION

ORCHARD AVE UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

TYP

30'-0"

TY
P2'
-8

"
TY

P6"

24
'-0

"

6'-4"

16'-4 1/2"

13
'-1

1 
1/

2"

12'-2"

13'-1"

8'
-1

0"

6'
-1

0 
1/

2"

8'-11"

1'
-1

0 
1/

2"

15'-0 1/2"

1'
-8

 1
/2

"

12'-5"

6 '
-0

"

7'
-5

 1
/2

"

2'-3 1/2"

ADA ACCESSIBLE ROUTE, 
1:50 MAX SLOPE

B

B

3

3

4

4

A

A

14'-10 1/2"

20'-0"

20'-0"

20'-0"

6'
-3

 1
/2

"

9'-8 1/2"

BAY ST UNDER SEPARATE 
PERMIT

CR

PG

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 M
IN

12
'-0

"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 MAX SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

TYP

5'-0"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR 
SPACE, 1:20 MAX SLOPE 
IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

M
IN2'

-6
"

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS LEGEND
TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION

SEE CIVIL

WG

WC

WM

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

PG

VA

US

RD

ST

HR

/C1 L-501

/E4 L-501

/D1 L-501

/A1 L-501

/B3 L-501

/B4 L-501

/- ---/D4 L-501

/E3 L-501

CIP CONCRETE WALL ON GRADE

CIP CONCRETE SEAT WALL ON GRADE

METAL PLANTER WALL

CIP CONCRETE STAIR

HANDRAILS

CIP CONCRETE PAVING ON GRADE

PLANTING AREA

SAND-SET PAVERS

DECORATIVE ROCK

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

CONTROL JOINT

EXPANSION JOINTEJ

/E5 L-501

/E5 L-501

/B5 L-501CIP CONCRETE VEHICULAR PAVING ON GRADEPV

CR CIP CONCRETE STREET CURB

/A3 L-501ACCESSIBLE RAMP

BIORETENTION PLANTING AREAVB

DETAIL

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

5
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-111

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT

AND MATERIALS PLAN -

WEST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - WEST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

WEST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION



UP

UP

48

4
8

CB
1

CB
1

44
4-

LA

575-LA

4"(575)

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS LEGEND
TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION

SEE CIVIL

WG

WC

WM

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

PG

VA

US

RD

ST

HR

/C1 L-501

/E4 L-501

/D1 L-501

/A1 L-501

/B3 L-501

/B4 L-501

/- ---/D4 L-501

/E3 L-501

CIP CONCRETE WALL ON GRADE

CIP CONCRETE SEAT WALL ON GRADE

METAL PLANTER WALL

CIP CONCRETE STAIR

HANDRAILS

CIP CONCRETE PAVING ON GRADE

PLANTING AREA

SAND-SET PAVERS

DECORATIVE ROCK

TAG VISUAL DESCRIPTION DETAIL

CONTROL JOINT

EXPANSION JOINTEJ

/E5 L-501

/E5 L-501

/B5 L-501CIP CONCRETE VEHICULAR PAVING ON GRADEPV

CR CIP CONCRETE STREET CURB

/A3 L-501ACCESSIBLE RAMP

BIORETENTION PLANTING AREAVB

DETAIL

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 LIN
E

PROPERTY LINE

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

S
E

E
/

A
1

L
-1

1
1

5 4 3 2 1

B

A

C

C.8

D

F

G

5.1

E

BAY ST

F
R

E
D

E
R

IC
K

 A
V

E

CANOPY OVERHEAD, SEE ARCH, TYP

PROPOSED UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

TY
P7'
-0

"
TY

P5'
-0

"

WG

CUSTOM BENCH

HR

WG

VA

RD

CURB, SEE CIVIL, TYP

TYP

5'-0"

MIN

6'-0 1/2"

5'-3"

7'-4"6'
-0

"

PV

PG

PROPOSED UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

PROPOSED UTILITY, SEE CIVIL

VA

VA

VA

VA

VA

US

PGVA

VA

VA

VA

VB

RD

VA

VA

WG

WG

HR

ST

WG

WM

15'-3 1/2"

8'
-0

"

1'
-1

1 
1/

2"

15'-3"

7'-6"

1:12 M
A

X
 S

LO
P

E
 

PROPOSED UTILITY 
VAULT, SEE CIVIL

VB

VB

PG

PLAZA

US

PG

STREET TREE, 
BY OTHERS, TYP

5'
-0

"
5'

-0
"

4'
-6

"

7'-0"

3'-0
"

4'
-6

"

3'-0"

5'
-0

"
24

'-9
"

2'
-1

0 
1/

2"

2'
-1

0 
1/

2"

PROPOSED UTILITY, SEE CIVIL

T
Y

P

8 '-0"
10'-0"

STREET TREE, BY OTHERS, TYP

STREET TREE, BY OTHERS, TYP

20
'-1

1"

12'-6"

8'-0"
11'-0 1/2"

13'-6"

8'-0"

8'-3"

10'-7 1/2"

5'-0
"

4'-6"

11'-6 1/2"

9'
-0

 1
/2

"

FREDERICK AVE UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

TYP

30'-0"

TYP

8'-0"

TYP

22'-0"

4'-0"4'-0"

2'
-1

0"

20'-0"

9'
-1

1 
1/

2"

EXISTING UTILITY VAULT, SEE CIVIL

VA

RD

TYP
6"

1'-0"

23'-4 1/2"

37'-7 1/2"

8'- 10 1/ 2"

4'
-1

1"

WM

12
'-5

"

12'-10"

BAY ST UNDER 
SEPARATE PERMIT

CR

CR

10'-9 1/2"

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 M
IN

12
'-0

"

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 MAX 
SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

ADA CLEAR FLOOR SPACE, 1:20 
MAX SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION, TYP

M
IN

2'
-6

"

TYP

4'-6"

T
Y

P

5'
-0

"

M
IN

2'-6"

A

B

C

E

A

B

C

E

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

P
LO

T
 D

A
T

E
/T

IM
E

:

6

6

D

D

COPYRIGHT GGLO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
ORIGINAL SHEET SIZE IS 30"x42"

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE

GGLO PROJECT MANAGER:

GGLO PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE:

PROJECT NO.:

OWNER APPROVAL:

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE INFORMATION

REVISIONS

PROJECT:

OWNER:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

A 01/13/2023 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING SET

A
P

P
R

O
V

A
L 

S
T

A
M

P
S

B 02/23/2023 SCHEMATIC DESIGN SET

2
/2

3
/2

0
2
3
 3

:4
0
:1

5
 P

M

MP

JF

2020016.01

625 BAY ST PORT ORCHARD WA

98366

L-112

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT

AND MATERIALS PLAN -

EAST

KITSAP BANK

HEADQUARTERS

0
2

.2
3

.2
0
2

2
 -

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
 S

E
T

KITSAP BANK

619 BAY STREET

PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

1/8" = 1'-0"
A1

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - EAST

PLAN
NORTH

0' 4' 8' 16'

EAST

KEY PLAN

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION



Subarea plan
2022-05-20

Bay Street Civil Documents
Preliminary Concept Docs

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



b ay  s t r e e t  &  a d j a c e n t  I m p r o v e m e n t s
date: April 2022

0 20' 40'
N

 Bay Street and Adjacent Projects
Project Funding Extents Exhibit

Port PortCEC Shoreline

CEC

Bay St APE

Kitsap Bank

Orchard Plaza

?
Port

?

LU23-Dev Agreement-02



1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



1601 5th Avenue, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101
206.622.5822
www.kpff.com



From: Stephanie Trudel
To: Jim Fisk
Cc: Dennis Lewarch; Jolivette, Stephanie (DAHP)
Subject: Suquamish Tribe requests archaeological construction monitoring during construction of the proposed Kitsap

Bank Office Headquarters Project
Date: Wednesday, May 31, 2023 12:47:22 PM
Attachments: SEPA-Checklist_LU23-Dev Agreement-02.pdf

NOA_SEPA_NOH_LU23-Dev Agreement-02 Kitsap Bank.pdf

You don't often get email from strudel@suquamish.nsn.us. Learn why this is important

Hi James,
 
The SEPA checklist for the proposed Kitsap Bank Office Headquarters Project fails to mention that
the proposed project is about 600 feet north of the Bay Street Shell Midden Site (45KP115), a
hunter-fisher-gatherer shell midden site eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places. 
The proposed project could also disturb historic artifacts.  Due to the proximity of the Bay Street
Shell Midden Site and the potential for disturbing potentially significant historic artifacts, the
Suquamish Tribe requests archaeological construction monitoring during ground disturbing activities
for the proposed Kitsap Bank Office Headquarters Project.
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this application,
Stephanie
 
Stephanie Trudel
Archaeologist
Suquamish Tribe
PO Box 498
Suquamish, WA  98392-0498
360-394-8533
strudel@suquamish.nsn.us
 
 

From: Jackie Krukoff <jkrukoff@portorchardwa.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 24, 2023 10:10 AM
To: Permit Center <permitcenter@portorchardwa.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] City of Port Orchard - LU23-Dev Agreement-02 Kitsap Bank NOA_SEPA_NOH
 
Please see the attached SEPA Checklist and DNS for the LU23-Dev Agreement-02 Kitsap Bank
NOA_SEPA_NOH
 
The comment Deadline is Tuesday, June 13, 2023 at 4:00 PM.
 
Regards,
Jackie Krukoff
Planning Permit Clerk
City of Port Orchard
Office Located at 720 Prospect St.

mailto:strudel@Suquamish.nsn.us
mailto:jfisk@portorchardwa.gov
mailto:dlewarch@Suquamish.nsn.us
mailto:stephanie.jolivette@dahp.wa.gov
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
mailto:strudel@suquamish.nsn.us


360-874-5533 ext 130
jkrukoff@portorchardwa.gov. 
 

mailto:jkrukoff@portorchardwa.gov


 

 

State of Washington • Department of Archaeology & Historic Preservation 

P.O. Box 48343 • Olympia, Washington  98504-8343 • (360) 586-3065 

www.dahp.wa.gov 

 

 
James Fisk          June 7, 2023 
Senior Planner 
City of Port Orchard 
 
In future correspondence please refer to: 
Project Tracking Code:        2023-06-03686 
Property: City of Port Orchard LU23-DEV AGREEMENT-02 Kitsap Bank Office Headquarters 
Re:       Archaeology – Desktop Survey and Monitoring & Inadvertent Discovery Plan Recommended 
 
Dear James Fisk: 
 
Thank you for contacting the Washington State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO) and 
Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation (DAHP) and providing documentation 
regarding the above referenced project. As a result of our review, our professional opinion is that the 
project area has the potential to contain archaeological resources. The project is in an area 
determined to be at very high risk of containing archaeology according to the DAHP predictive model 
and is located along the historic shoreline (Bay Street). A previous project along the historic 
shoreline just south of the project area encountered intact precontact period archaeology and human 
remains. Therefore, we recommend that a desktop survey (overview report) be conducted by a 
professional archaeologist to determine what portions of the project area, and at what depths 
archaeology may be encountered. The archaeologist should then develop a site-specific Monitoring 
& Inadvertent Discovery Plan (MIDP) to be followed during all ground disturbing activities. The MIDP 
can be submitted as an addendum to the desktop survey to expedite review.  
 
We also recommend consultation with the concerned Tribes' cultural committees and staff regarding 
cultural resource issues.   
 
These comments are based on the information available at the time of this review and on behalf of 
the SHPO in conformance with Washington State law. Should additional information become 
available, our assessment may be revised. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this project and we look forward to receiving the 
desktop survey report and MIDP. The survey report should be uploaded directly into the DAHP 
Online WISAARD system by the cultural resource consultant to expedite DAHP review. Please 
ensure that the DAHP Project Number (a.k.a. Project Tracking Code) is shared with any hired 
cultural resource consultants and is attached to any communications or submitted reports. Should 
you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Stephanie Jolivette 
Local Governments Archaeologist 
(360) 628-2755 
Stephanie.Jolivette@dahp.wa.gov 



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7B Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Accepting a Prepared by: Nicholas Bond, AICP 

 Housing Action Plan  DCD Director 
      Atty Routing No.: NA 
  Atty Review Date: NA 

 
Summary:  Over the past year, the City has worked with the Planning Commission, stakeholders, and public 
to prepare a Housing Action Plan (HAP).  The HAP aims to identify strategies, actions, and policy tools to 
create enough housing options to meet community needs. The HAP is a policy document with a set of steps 
for the City to support and encourage new housing production that meets local housing needs for residents 
of all income levels. The HAP uses an equity lens to develop clear, actionable strategies to meet current and 
future housing needs. Port Orchard received a grant from the Washington State Department of Commerce to 
develop this HAP to address current and future housing needs. 
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed HAP on May 2, 2023 and continued the 
hearing to June 6, 2023 to allow City staff and consultants time to make suggested revisions to the plan and 
to ensure that the Public had an opportunity to review and provide comments on these revisions.  The City 
Council also weighed in on the HAP through the Land Use Committee and during a full City Council discussion 
of the draft Hap at the May 16, 2023 work study meeting.   
 
The City carefully considered the public comments received as well as input from the Planning Commission 
and City Council and on May 24, released a revised draft HAP.  Since the publication of this revised draft, the 
City has received one public comment in support of the proposed HAP.  The Planning Commission did not 
receive further testimony on the HAP during the reopened public hearing at their June 6, 2023, meeting and 
after closing the public hearing voted with unanimous consent to recommend that the City Council accept the 
May 24 HAP as written. 
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: The Housing Action Plan will inform the Housing Element of the City of 
Port Orchard Comprehensive Plan as part of the 2024 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval of a Resolution accepting the May 24, 2023 Housing Action 
Plan, presented. 
 
Motion for consideration:  “I move to approve a Resolution accepting the Housing Action Plan dated May 
24, 2023, as presented.” 
 
Fiscal Impact:  None foreseen. 



 
 

 2 

 
Alternatives: Do not approve the proposed Resolution or provide staff direction to develop alternatives. 
 
Attachments: Housing Action Plan dated May 24,2023, Redline Version of May 24, 2023 Housing Action Plan 
Resolution, Public Comments 

     
 



RESOLUTION NO.  _______ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, 
ADOPTING THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD HOUSING ACTION PLAN (HAP) 
DATED MAY 24, 2023 

 
WHEREAS, on April 21, 2022, the City was awarded a State-funded grant of $75,000 

from the Washington State Department of Commerce under the authority granted by Chapter 
39.34 RCW for the development of a Housing Action Plan (HAP); and 
 

WHEREAS, on April 12, 2022 the City of Port Orchard approved a grant agreement, 
Contract 056-22, between the City and the Washington State Department of Commerce for the 
Housing Action Plan Implementation Grant to adopt a HAP in the amount of $75,000; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has recently completed City of Port Orchard HAP in accordance with 
Contract C069-22 and state guidelines; and 
 

WHEREAS, the HAP quantifies existing and projected housing needs for all income 
levels, including extremely low-income households, with documentation of housing and 
household characteristics, and cost-burdened households; and 
 

WHEREAS, the HAP identifies strategies to increase the supply of housing, and variety of 
housing types, needed to serve the housing; and 
 

WHEREAS, the HAP analyzes population and employment trends and documents 
projections; and 
 

WHEREAS, the HAP considers strategies to minimize displacement of low-income 
residents resulting from redevelopment; and 

 
WHEREAS, the HAP evaluates the current housing element adopted pursuant to RCW 

36.70A.070; and 
 

WHEREAS, the development of the HAP provided participation and input from 
community members, community groups, local builders, local realtors, nonprofit housing 
advocates, and local religious groups; and 
 

WHEREAS, the HAP includes a schedule of programs and actions to implement the 
recommendations of the HAP; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City utilized a variety of approaches to ensure public involvement, 
including direct mailings, public meetings, and online surveys; and 

 



Resolution No. _______ 
Page 2 of 2 

WHEREAS, the City has incorporated the input of the community to produce a HAP that 
will address the City’s priorities and needs in order to promote housing opportunities for all City 
residents; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the HAP was reviewed under the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) and 
the City’s SEPA Official issued a Determination of Nonsignificance (DNS) on April 14, 2023; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Port Orchard Planning Commission conducted an open record 
public hearing on the Housing Action Plan on May 2, 2023, and continued the hearing to June 6, 
2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, on June 6, 2023 after closing the public hearing, the Planning Commission 
voted to recommend acceptance of the HAP by the City Council; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the City has complied with the substantive, 
procedural and notice requirements for this action, and that it is in the best interests of the City 
and its residents to approve the City of Port Orchard Housing Action Plan; now, therefore, 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth 
above are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this 
Resolution. 
 
THAT: The Planning Commission’s Recommendation is hereby adopted and 
ratified by the Port Orchard City Council as its decision herein. The City Council 
adopts the findings of the Planning Commission as its own findings herein.  
 
THAT: The City Council, after reviewing all the evidence and the Planning 
Commission’s recommendation, hereby approves and accepts the City of Port 
Orchard Housing Action Plan dated May 24, 2023. 
 
THAT: This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested by the 
City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 
 
 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
    
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk  



 Housing Action Plan 
FIRST DRAFT October 20, 2022 

 

 

  

Port Orchard  
Housing Action Plan 

Second Draft – April 25, 2023 
 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 2 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Thank You 
Special thanks to the Port Orchard community for sharing your time, knowledge, and energy to 

shape this housing action plan that meets your needs and interests. 

Mayor 

Robert Putaansuu 

 

City Council 

Fred Chang 

John Clauson 

Shawn Cucciardi 

Scott Diener 

Cindy Lucarelli 

Jay Rosapepe 

Mark Trenary 

 

City Staff 

Nick Bond, Director of the Community Development Department 

Jim Fisk, Senior Planner 

Josie Rademacher, Assistant Planner 

Stephanie Andrews, Senior Planner 

 

Consultant Team 

MAKERS Architecture & Urban Design: Bob Bengford, Scott Bonjukian, Markus Johnson 

Leland Consulting Group: Chris Zahas, Andrew Oliver 

 

Stakeholder Organizations Interviewed 

Port Orchard City Council and Mayor 

Kitsap Housing Authority 

Disney & Associates 

Port Orchard Chamber of Commerce 

Tarragon 

Contour Construction 

McCormick Communities 

 

Washington State 

This plan was supported by a Department of Commerce grant for cities to support housing 

affordability.   



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 3 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Contents 
Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................... 4 

1 – Background Information ............................................................................................................. 6 

2 – Regulatory Strategies ................................................................................................................ 18 

3 – Programmatic Strategies ......................................................................................................... 34 

4 – Citywide Planning Strategies ................................................................................................... 50 

5 – Funding Strategies .................................................................................................................... 59 

6 – Implementation ......................................................................................................................... 71 

 

Abbreviations 

ACS. American Community Survey, an annual product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

ADU. Accessory dwelling unit. 

AMI. Area median income. 

CHAS. Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy, a product of the U.S. Department of 

Housing and Urban Development. 

GIS. Geographic information system. 

GFC. General facilities charge. 

HAP. Housing Action Plan. 

HUD. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

LEHD. Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics, a product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

MFTE. Multifamily tax exemption program. 

MSA. Metropolitan Statistical Area. 

OFM. Washington State Office of Financial Management. 

POMC. Port Orchard Municipal Code (city law). 

RCW. Revised Code of Washington (state law). 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 4 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Executive Summary 
The Port Orchard Housing Action Plan (HAP) defines strategies and implementing actions that 

promote greater housing diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity for residents of all 

income levels. The process to develop the HAP included a review of Port Orchard's system of 

policies, programs, and regulations which shape opportunities for housing development and 

which impact the affordability of existing and new housing.  

The purpose of this effort is to identify ways to encourage construction of additional affordable 

and market rate housing in a greater variety of housing types and at prices accessible to a 

greater variety of incomes. The priorities for the HAP were informed by an existing conditions 

and housing needs assessment, public engagement, discussion with the City Council and 

Planning Commission, and City staff. 

The HAP is intended to inform updates to the Port Orchard Comprehensive Plan (most notably 

the Land Use and Housing elements) and to guide implementation strategies such as 

development regulations, housing programs, and infrastructure spending priorities. The City is 

not obligated to adopt any of the recommended changes contained within this report except 

where specific requirements exist within state law in which case the City may consider the 

recommendations found in this report as an option for complying with the law. The report is 

intended to provide a menu of options for consideration as the City works to address housing 

diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity. 

It is recognized that Port Orchard has taken significant steps to promote greater housing 

diversity, affordability, and access to opportunities through regulatory updates in recent years.  

Because of this, many of the recommendations contained in this report are focused on fine 

tuning zoning regulations rather than suggesting significant zoning changes. Port Orchard has 

comparatively few recommended zoning changes compared to other similarly sized 

jurisdictions due to recent actions taken by the City Council. The programmatic strategies and 

citywide planning strategies contained within the report are generally more significant changes 

to city policies that require careful consideration. 

Research Questions 
These research questions developed at the beginning of the project drove the housing analysis 

and the subsequent actions and strategies. 

1. What are the most pressing housing needs in Port Orchard for each segment of the 
population? 

2. What are we most concerned about and most hopeful about for residential development 
in Port Orchard over the next 10 years? 

3. What code updates can be made to meet the needs of all economic segments of the 
Port Orchard community? 

4. What are the biggest longstanding or new barriers to affordable and diverse residential 
development in Port Orchard? 

5. What new or updated tools, policies, staff capacity, and funding are most likely to meet 
Port Orchard’s housing goals?  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 5 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Housing Actions and Strategies 
The housing actions are organized by broader strategy sections of this plan. The 

implementation timeline is an estimate of how long it will take to implement an action. There 

are also many sub-sections which may require different timelines if additional community 

outreach is needed, alignment with the City’s annual budget process is necessary, or there is a 

desire to roll policy updates into the next major Comprehensive Plan update. See Section 6 for 

more details on implementation priorities. 

Strategy Description Priority Time 

Regulatory Strategies 

2.1 Expand the allowed uses High 0-6 months 

2.2 Streamline the building type standards Medium 0-6 months 

2.3 Adjust form and intensity standards High 0-6 months 

2.4 Adjust other standards Medium 0-6 months 

Programmatic Strategies 

3.1 Anti-displacement strategies Medium Ongoing 

3.2 Homelessness strategies High Ongoing 

3.3 Support staffing needs Medium Ongoing 

Citywide Planning Strategies 

4.1 Housing Element updates Medium 12-24 months 

4.2 Land Use Element updates High 12-24 months 

4.3 Public land for affordable housing Low Ongoing 

4.4 McCormick East Neighborhood Planning Medium 12-24 months 

Funding Strategies 

5.1 Adjust the multifamily tax exemption program High 0-6 months 

5.2 Development fee adjustments Low 0-6 months 

5.3 Local bank funding Low Ongoing 

5.4 Tax increment financing Medium 6-12 months 

5.5  Funding for ADU development Medium 6-12 months 

5.6 State advocacy Low Ongoing 

Next Steps 
The scope of Port Orchard’s housing challenges demand that a variety of strategies and actions 

be pursued immediately and simultaneously. This plan informs and recommends high priorities 

for 2023 and beyond, such as code updates (Strategy 2) and refinements to the multifamily tax 

exemption program (Strategy 5.1). A housing coordinator staff position should be created and 

hired to implement all HAP strategies and serve as the City’s lead on housing policy and 

coordination. Updates and evaluation are recommended in the next Comprehensive Plan update 

in 2024, and other programmatic, funding, and planning actions can begin as soon as resources 

are allocated. See Section 6 – Implementation for detailed next steps. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 6 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1 – Background Information 
1.1 – Project Purpose 
Port Orchard is a great place to live, but it is getting more expensive. As the population grows 

and diversifies, the supply of homes and variety of homes is not keeping pace. As a result, it is 

getting harder for people of average means and different family structures to find and afford a 

home across all areas of the city. The supply of housing is closely linked to the price of housing.  

The purpose of the Housing Action Plan is to identify strategies that promote more housing 

options for current and future residents at all income levels and support increases in the 

housing supply. Port Orchard’s residents are diverse and each household has its own 

preferences and experiences in how they live. This plan is intended to help guide City actions 

over the next several years to promote more housing choices for current and future residents. 

The City is able to undertake this project thanks to grant funding provided by Washington State 

through the Department of Commerce. This grant program allocated funds for cities with the 

goal of supporting housing affordability through regulatory and planning actions. 

1.2 – Housing Needs 
A brief summary of Port Orchard’s current and future housing needs is provided below. For 

more detail, refer to the complete HAP Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report 

in Appendix B, which contains detailed information on the full range of Port Orchard’s 

demographics, household incomes, employment trends, housing inventory and production 

statistics, housing affordability considerations, existing housing funding and policy frameworks, 

and a discussion of buildable land capacity in the city.  

Port Orchard is a fast-growing community with a 2022 population estimate of 16,400 and a 

2044 population target of 26,087 residents.1 The city has grown on average 4 percent annually 

since 2000 and is expected to grow at a rate of close to 3 percent over the next 20 years 

(excluding possible annexations), potentially exceeding countywide growth targets. Some of the 

city’s growth has been due to annexations in the 2000s, but the continued forecast for rapid 

growth, as well as decreasing vacancy rates over the past decade, suggests an ongoing 

demand for housing in Port Orchard.2 

Current permitting data indicates that housing in Port Orchard is being produced at a rapid 

rate. In total, 5,198 units are in some stage of permitting citywide, and 2,482 of those units are 

planned to be completed between 2022 and 2024, of which 45 percent will be multifamily units.3 

This permit data reflects all potential housing production currently permitted, including all 

proposed development throughout McCormick Woods. Although not all units that have been 

permitted will necessarily be constructed, this number demonstrates the continued high rate of 

 
1 2022 Population: Washington Office of Financial Management Postcensal Population Estimate. 2044 Population 
Target: Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policy Update, 2022. 
2 Census-reported rental vacancy rates have declined from 7.8% to 5.8% between 2010-2020. CoStar, a commercial 
real estate database, showed multifamily rental vacancy rates declining from 6.5% to 3.5% between 2012 and 2022. 
3 City of Port Orchard Permit Data 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 7 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

housing production and demand in the city. Even with this high rate of production, prices are still 

increasing as detailed below.  

About 60 percent of Port Orchard households are homeowners and 40 percent are renters. 

Nearly 70 percent of households are family households, and the average household size is 2.4 

people.4 As shown below in Figure 1, there is a mismatch between household size and housing 

unit size, with larger housing units available compared to household sizes. This shows a need 

for increased supply of smaller housing units to better serve the variety of household sizes in 

the city. 

  

Figure 1. Household Size and Housing Unit Size in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, DP04 

Port Orchard’s median household income (MHI) was $71,789 in 2020. This is $7,250 less than 

the Kitsap County median, though it has increased 21 percent since 2010 – a higher rate than 

county and statewide income increases over the same period. However, this increase was 

much more pronounced for homeowner households than renter households, as shown below in 

Figure 25 Overall, about eight percent of Port Orchard residents earn under $10,000 per year, 

compared to four percent countywide, and over a quarter of renters earn under 30 percent of the 

median family income (MFI).6 

 
4 2020 American Community Survey Five-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, DP04. 
5 American Community Survey 2020 Five-Year Estimates, Table S2503, CPI Inflation Index 
6 The Median Family Income for the Bremerton-Silverdale Metropolitan Statistical Area, as determined by HUD, was 
$102,500 in 2022. 

1-person 
household

22%

2-person 
household

34%

3-person 
household

16%

4+ person 
household

27%

Household Size

Studio / 1 
bedroom

10%

2 
bedrooms

27%

3 
bedrooms

41%

4+ 
bedrooms

20%

Housing Unit Size



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 8 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

 
Figure 2. Inflation-Adjusted Median Household Income in Port Orchard and Region, 2010-2020. Source: 
2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, CPI Inflation Index 

Figure 3 below shows a detailed breakdown of Port Orchard and Kitsap County household 

incomes, showing the range of income levels found throughout the city. The largest share of 

households earn between $75,000 and $100,000 per year. Port Orchard has smaller shares of 

high-income earners making over $150,000 per year than Kitsap County, and a much larger 

share of the lowest-income households earning less than $10,000 per year than countywide 

averages. 

 

Figure 3. Household Income in the Past 12 Months, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table B19001 

$59,325

$75,600

$44,074

$70,268
$67,548

$71,719

$97,524

$46,209

$78,969 $77,006

Port Orchard
(All Households)

Port Orchard
(Ownership Households)

Port Orchard
(Renter Households)

Kitsap County Washington

2010 2020

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

<
 $

1
0
k

$
1
0
k
-K

2
0
k

$
2
0
k
-$

3
0
k

$
3
0
k
-$

4
0
k

$
4
0
k
-$

5
0
k

$
5
0
k
-$

6
0
k

$
6
0
k
-$

7
5
k

$
7
5
k
-$

1
0
0
k

$
1
0
0
k
-$

1
2
5
k

$
1
2
5
k
-$

1
5
0
k

$
1
5
0
k
-$

2
0
0
k

$
2
0
0
k
+

Port Orchard

Kitsap County



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 9 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Lower-income Port Orchard residents face significant challenges paying for housing –70 

percent of households earning under 30 percent of the MFI spend more than half of their 

income on housing costs, and 75 percent of households earning between 30 and 50 percent of 

the MFI spend over 30 percent of their income on housing costs.7 This shows a need for deeply 

subsidized housing for Port Orchard’s lower-income residents, corroborated by stakeholders 

who described over 1,000 people on the waiting list for housing vouchers administered by the 

Kitsap Housing Authority. 

Family size and composition can also affect housing needs, particularly when correlated with 

incomes. In Port Orchard, 69 percent of households are family households. Of these, most are 

married-couple families, nearly 3,000 households. The remaining 824 are classified as “other 

family,” which includes single-parent households. Census data indicates about 250 Port Orchard 

households are single mothers earning less than the federal poverty level. This is about five 

times higher than the number of married-couple households below the poverty level.8 Kitsap 

County statistics are similar. This data shows another group of Port Orchard residents who 

potentially have needs for deeply subsidized housing. 

In recent years, housing prices have risen rapidly in Port Orchard when compared with incomes, 

as shown below in Figure 4. Rents increased 28 percent and home values increased 56 percent 

between 2015 and 2020, compared to only a 15 percent increase in incomes over the same 

period. This shows that housing has become more difficult to afford for the average Port 

Orchard resident in recent years, a trend also seen across the country. As of 2020, the average 

Port Orchard household could afford a home worth about $303,012, but the typical home in the 

city was worth 1.5 times as much, $468,702.9 

 

Figure 4. Change in Home Prices, Rents, and Incomes in Port Orchard, 2010-2020. Source: Zillow, American 
Community Survey 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, DP04, Leland Consulting Group 

 
7 HUD Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS), 2015-2019 
8 2021 American Community Survey, Table B17010 
9 Home affordability calculated using Freddie Mac interest rate as of December 2022, Zillow home price data, income 

data from 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Median Gross Rent Zillow Home Value Index Median Household Income



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 10 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

A housing affordability chart illustrating home prices which would be affordable to a variety of 

income levels is shown below in Figure 5. Port Orchard’s median incomes and sales prices are 

both shown. This data illustrates the degree to which ownership housing has become out of  

each for many Port Orchard residents, even those earning more than the city’s median 

household income.10 

 

 

Figure 5. Housing Prices Affordable to Various Incomes with Port Orchard Median Income and Sales Price, 
2021. Source: Zillow, Freddie Mac, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Leland Consulting 
Group 

Preliminary Kitsap County housing targets indicate that Port Orchard will see a demand for up to 

4,804 new housing units by 2044. This is fewer housing units than are currently in the 

permitting pipeline and indicate that Port Orchard may exceed its housing and/or population 

growth targets prior to 2044. Figure 6 shows the breakdown of these units by household income 

level, based on Port Orchard’s current income distribution. The breakdown of units by income is 

relatively even. It includes about 1,000 units over the next two decades for the lowest-income 

households which can only be met through regulated affordable (i.e., subsidized) housing, and 

nearly 1,000 units for households earning between 50 and 80 percent of the AMI (often 

referred to as “workforce” housing) which can be provided through a variety of channels 

 
10 Note that housing price data from Zillow is used for this analysis, whereas other data comes from the US Census 

American Community Survey. Although the Census does collect data on the value of homes, Census home value 
data reflects the occupants’ assessment of their home’s value when surveyed, rather than the market realities of 
how much people are currently paying for housing. Zillow’s Home Value Index is a well-researched dataset which 
aggregates current sales values to reflect up-to-date market prices and therefore is a more accurate representation 
of what Port Orchard households would currently need to pay in order to purchase new housing in the city. 

$25 

$50 
$75 

$100 

$150 

$200 

$96 

$192 

$287 

$383 

$575 

$766 

 $-

 $100

 $200

 $300

 $400

 $500

 $600

 $700

 $800

 $900

Household Income ($1,000s) House Price ($1,000s)

Median Sales Price ($468)

Median Household 
Income ($71)

A household earning $100,000 
could not afford the median Port 
Orchard sales price of $468,000 
even though they are earning 
nearly $30,000 more than the 
median household income.



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 11 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

including subsidized units, vouchers, other incentive programs such as MFTE, and filtering11 of 

existing units as new housing stock is built. There will also remain a demand for about 1,200 

market rate housing units targeting households earning more than 120 percent AMI over the 

next 20 years. 

 
Figure 6. Housing Demand by Income Bracket in Port Orchard, 2022-2044. Sources: Leland Consulting 
Group, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policies 

  

 
11 “Filtering” refers to the process by which new housing units depreciate over time, becoming more affordable to 

lower-income households as other new units are added to the supply. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

0-30 30-50 50-80 80-100 100-120 120+

N
e

w
 U

n
it

s
 N

e
e

d
e

d
 b

y 
2

0
2

4

% AMI



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 12 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.3 – Geographic Equity within Port Orchard 
Port Orchard is becoming increasingly stratified based on geography and income levels.  The 

areas of Port Orchard located west of SR-16 have higher median incomes, higher property 

values, and housing costs.  Areas east of SR-16 have median incomes that are lower than 

average, and property values and housing costs are typically lower.  There are growing concerns 

of equity in investment and opportunity among Port Orchard residents based on where a person 

lives.   

Increasingly, affordable housing types are being constructed in areas where incomes are lower 

and less affordable housing types are being constructed in areas where incomes are higher.  

New schools (including a new second high school) are planned in the areas west of SR-16 and 

add to concerns of unequal investment.   

 
Figure 7. Median Income and Median Home Value of Owner-occupied Unit in Port Orchard, 2021. Sources: 
2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Census Reporter Profile 

This housing strategy includes recommendations that seek to encourage greater geographic 

equity and opportunities for people at all income levels to live in all areas of the city.   



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 13 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.4 – Racially Disparate Impacts 
“Racially disparate impacts” occur when policies, practices, rules or other systems result in a 

disproportionate effect on one or more racial groups. Many past and present zoning policies 

used in cities across the nation have racially disparate impacts, reflecting a systemic issue as a 

result of federal laws, programs, and economic and housing policies dating back half a century 

or more. 

Under RCW 36.70A.070(2), cities in their comprehensive plans must identify “local policies and 

regulations that result in racially disparate impacts, displacement, and exclusion in housing.” 

While this HAP does not complete this mandatory work, instead deferring to the next major 

comprehensive plan update due in 2024, one brief example of this concept applied to household 

tenure statistics is provided below. In Port Orchard 40% of all households are occupied by 

renters. About 35% of White households are renters, while 58% of Hispanic and Latino 

households and 88% of Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander households are renters.12 Therefore, 

policies that restrict the supply and price of rental housing can have a disproportionate impact 

on people of color. Further, almost half of all renter-occupied households are considered cost-

burdened, while just one in 10 owner-occupied households are considered cost-burdened. 

 
Figure 8. Share of Household Tenure By Race/Ethnicity. Source: ACS 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table B25003 
series 

 

 
12 Source: American Community Survey 2020 5-Year Estimates, B25003 Tables. 

88%

63%

58%

57%

49%

35%

40%

12%

37%

42%

43%

51%

65%

60%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Native Hawaiian / Pacific Islander…

Other / Two or more race households

Hispanic and Latino households

Black households

Asian households

White Households

All households

Rent Own



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 14 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Figure 9 below shows the same data by total number of households. 

 
Figure 9. Household Tenure by Race/Ethnicity. Source: ACS 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table B25003 series 

 

A common form of rental housing is multifamily 

(apartment) buildings, which are more limited in 

where and how they can be built in Port Orchard 

compared to where and how single-family homes 

are regulated. 

Zoning matters for social welfare because where 

people live makes a difference. Neighborhood 

quality can have significant effects on long-term 

outcomes like school performance, income, labor 

mobility, and health. It also contributes to the multi-

generational wealth gap if some people are not able 

to purchase quality homes that increase in value as much over time as homes in higher-priced 

neighborhoods, resulting in smaller inheritances for descendants.  

People of color generally pay higher shares of their income for housing costs and have less 

savings for down payments, meaning the home prices they can afford are lower or they are 

forced to rent. Smaller homes which have lower costs are needed not only for people of color, 

but also Port Orchard’s large share of small households (56% of households are made up of one 

or two people but only 37% of housing units are studio, one- or two-bedroom units). 

Occasionally, larger multi-bedroom homes are good options for people who want to split costs 

with extended family members or roommates, but apartments with three or more bedrooms are 

rare and there are few shared-living options like cottage clusters or triplexes available. 

Common racially disparate policies and practices at the local level include the following: 

• Minimum lot sizes 

193

242

283

98

95

1,417

27

143

206

73

99

2,864

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000

Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander

One/Two or more races

Hispanic or Latino origin

Black or African American

Asian

White alone

Households
Rent Own

Figure 10. Example of multifamily housing. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 15 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Lack of available land zoned for multifamily housing and middle housing (like duplexes 

and townhomes) 

• Multifamily housing only allowed in busy 

commercial districts, polluted industrial 

areas, in hazardous areas like floodplains, 

and/or near loud and auto-oriented arterial 

roads 

• Multifamily housing not being allowed near 

amenities like parks, schools, grocery 

stores, and healthcare facilities 

• Excessive minimum setbacks, building 

height limits, parking standards, historic 

preservation standards, and other 

restrictions that limit the housing capacity on individual sites, especially for multifamily 

and middle housing 

• Excessive fees, complicated processes, and unclear regulations, especially for small 

projects commonly undertaken by local homeowners and small investors like adding an 

accessory dwelling unit or building a duplex 

• Complete prohibitions on low-cost building materials 

• Lack of trees and park space in areas near multifamily housing or neighborhoods with 

lower incomes 

• Lack of low-cost transportation options like pedestrian/bike routes and transit service 

connecting multifamily housing to jobs and services 

Racially disparate impacts has been gaining much-needed attention across the state and 

country, even earning a statement on zoning from the White House. Other types of racially 

disparate impacts have historically included: redlining, where people of color were not able to 

access loans and credit in certain neighborhoods; highways built through communities of color; 

and disinvestment in infrastructure like transit, schools, and parks in communities of color. 

It should be noted that some of the least racially diverse census tracts in the city are those that 

were primarily developed while in unincorporated Kitsap County and which were only annexed 

by the City of Port Orchard over the past 15 years (see Section 1.3). These are also areas where 

the City is seeing significant development of multi-family and middle housing.   

This Housing Action Plan provides a number of strategies to address most of these issues, 

which focus on easing regulations and streamlining standards to make it easier to build middle 

housing and multifamily housing in more locations. 

  

Middle housing refers to housing choices 

like duplexes, triplexes, townhomes, 

accessory dwelling units (ADU’s), and 

cottage housing that fit between the scale 

of apartment buildings and single-family 

homes. This type of housing has 

historically been prohibited in many cities 

and towns. It has regained appeal because 

it can be economical to build and thus 

have lower costs, providing more 

affordable housing options. 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2021/06/17/exclusionary-zoning-its-effect-on-racial-discrimination-in-the-housing-market/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 16 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.5 – Military Population 
A unique characteristic of the Port Orchard population is the presence of military personnel, 

families, and contractors. The military provided countywide data on its civilian population for 

this report, but provided no data on active duty population nor data specific to personnel living 

in Port Orchard. Census data shows approximately 645 Port Orchard residents, representing 

5.5% of the employed population of the city, employed in the Armed Forces overall, with a 

moderate margin of error.13 This likely reflects enlisted personnel rather than civilian employees 

but provides a general picture of the extent of military employment in the city.  

In addition, anecdotal information provided by stakeholders, appointed and elected officials 

suggests that the City houses a significant military population in Port Orchard due to 

employment opportunities both at the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard and Naval Station Kitsap. A 

significant portion of this population is transient and may only live in Port Orchard for short 

periods of time.  The military population is diverse, potentially more so than Port Orchard’s non-

military population, and some of these residents receive housing stipends which are not 

reflected in household income data.  Housing stipends in 2023 (known as Basic Allowance for 

Housing) vary from $2,136 (E01) to $3,372 (O07) per month for personnel with dependents.14 

When reviewing the data collected for this report and in considering recommendations on to 

increase housing diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity, it is important to consider 

that some important information about the City’s military population was not able to be 

considered when formulating recommendations. 

1.6 – Public Engagement 
The Housing Action Plan was informed by early and continuous public engagement. 

Engagement was conducted to create a plan that meets the needs and interest of the Port 

Orchard community. Key activities included: 

• One-on-one interviews with 14 stakeholders  

• Housing survey with 140 responses 

• Public kickoff meeting and presentation at City Council (July 26, 2022) 

• Check-in meeting with existing conditions and housing needs analysis at City Council 

(January 10, 2023) and Planning Commission (February 7, 2023) 

• Draft plan presentations at Planning Commission (April 4, 2023)  

• Public hearing at Planning Commission (May 2, 2023) 

  

 
13 2021 American Community Survey, Table DP03 
14 Personnel can decide how to allocate the BAH without a penalty for deciding to conserve some dollars on rent to 

pay other expenses. Therefore, actual out-of-pocket expense for an individual may be higher or lower than the 
prescribed rate based on choice of housing. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 17 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.7 – State Law Updates 
In April 2023 the Washington State Legislature passed several 

housing-related preemptions and other housing regulations. 

The following may affect Port Orchard the most significantly. 

Cross-references to HAP strategies are provided where 

preliminary review finds there are actions Port Orchard should 

take to meet new requirements. 

Direct effects to City government 

• HB 1110 – Reduces other zoning and permitting barriers to middle housing. See 

Strategy 2.4.2, Strategy 2.4.10, and Strategy 4.2.4 for recommendations to comply. 

• HB 1337 – Preempts common regulations on accessory dwelling units (ADU). See 

Strategy 2.1.7 for development regulation changes needed to comply. 

• SB 5412 – Housing developments in urban growth areas that comply with a 

Comprehensive Plan which has undergone an environmental analysis are exempt from 

additional environmental review under the State Environmental Policy Act. 

• SB 5258 – Cities must provide a short plat procedure for unit lot subdivisions, which is a 

division of a parent lot into separately owned unit lots (this is often a useful tool for 

middle housing). See Strategy 2.4.9 for recommendations to comply. 

• SB 5258 – Also, impact fees for residential development must be lower for smaller units; 

see Strategy 5.2 for recommendations to comply. 

• SB 5491 – Cities are encouraged to allow single-stairway residential buildings up to six 

stories tall and with up to four units per floor (currently such buildings can only be up to 

three stories tall). See Strategy 2.4.7 for recommendations. 

• HB 1042 – Cities cannot use development regulations (such as density limits or parking) 

to prevent additions of housing with an existing building envelope in a zone that allows 

multifamily use. 

• HB 1181 – Comprehensive Plans must include a Climate Change & Resiliency Element 

 

Indirect effects to City government 

• HB 1771 and SB 5198 – Rules are strengthened for giving mobile home park residents 

an opportunity to purchase the property when it is proposed for closure or conversion, 

and for displaced residents receive relocation assistance. 

• SB 5258 and SB 5058 – Encourages construction of small condominium buildings by 

modifying the procedures for construction defect actions and warranty claims and 

exempts buildings with 12 or fewer units and two or less stories from condo defect 

provisions such as extra inspections. There is a new exemption to the real estate excise 

tax for first-time homebuyers of condominiums (including townhouses). 

• HB 1474 – Creates statewide down payment assistance program for first-time 

homebuyers with income less than the area median who were themselves, or are 

descendants of someone who was, excluded from homeownership in Washington by a 

racially restrictive real estate covenant prior to 1968. 

• HB 1074 and SB 5197 – Strengthened tenant protections upon move-out or eviction.  

State preemption is the 

invalidation of some action 

by, or the wresting of power 

from, a local government by 

the state legislature. 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1337&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5412&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?billnumber=5258&year=2023&initiative=False
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?billnumber=5258&year=2023&initiative=False
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5491&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1042&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1181&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1771&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5198&Chamber=Senate&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?billnumber=5258&year=2023&initiative=False
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5058&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1474&Chamber=House&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1074&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5197&Initiative=false&Year=2023


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 18 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2 – Regulatory Strategies 
While the City of Port Orchard does not directly supply or control the private housing market, it 

does shape what is possible on Port Orchard’s land through zoning and development 

regulations.  

2.1 – Expand the Allowed Uses 
Action: Allow more housing types in more zones to promote middle housing and 

affordable housing. 

Providing more flexibility to integrate a variety of housing options is an important tool to 

expanding housing supply and land capacity. In the HAP community survey, 70% of respondents 

support the concept to “Allow more housing types like duplexes, cottages, and townhouses in 

single-family neighborhoods if they're compatibly sized and designed.” This concept was also 

supported by most stakeholders when it came up in interviews.  

It should be noted that the recommended changes in this section mostly omit the McCormick 

Woods area from consideration. McCormick Woods (also McCormick Trails and McCormick 

Village) has entitlements established in the 1980s and 1990s and are subject to a variety of 

development agreements inherited from Kitsap County and subsequently modified by the City 

of Port Orchard. Most of these agreements have terms of 20 years with the possibility of 

extensions. The area also lacks fixed route transit service and commercial services which 

makes middle housing and affordable housing more difficult to accommodate. As such, the City 

and this HAP have focused on other parts of Port Orchard where increasing the supply of 

housing to people of all income levels is more viable.  

With that said, the City should still allow for middle housing types in the McCormick Woods area 

even if they are unlikely to be constructed soon, and there are some smaller unentitled 

properties in the area which are opportunities for more diverse lot configurations and building 

types (for example, see Strategies 4.2.3 and 4.4). Consider the following changes to allowed 

uses. 

2.1.1 – R5 Zone 
Consider eliminating this zone from the code, as there are no current mapped R5 zones and the 

proposed changes to R4 (including height bonuses) likely make this zone unnecessary. If 

implemented, the R6 zone could be renamed to R5 to avoid a gap in zone naming. 

2.1.2 – NMU Zone 
The use table in POMC 20.39.040 allows multi-family of 5+ units in Neighborhood Mixed Use 

(NMU) zones, but the apartment building type is not permitted in NMU. 

Allow the apartment building type in the NMU zone to correct the inconsistency. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 19 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.3 – Congregate Living Housing 
Streamline the standards for congregate living housing. This type of housing operates, also 

known as single-room occupancy (SRO), dorms, or hostels, provides a dignified housing option 

for people with the lowest incomes. This form of housing historically served as an invaluable 

affordable housing option, but these buildings were mostly zoned and demolished out of 

existence starting in the 1970’s.15 Conversions of existing buildings (such as aging hotels) may 

be more likely than new ground-up congregate living developments, but in either case the zoning 

code must be supportive for it to occur. 

Congregate living facilities are restricted, being a conditional use in almost every zone they are 

allowed. This use has supplemental standards inserted within the definition () that include: 

• Residents must have leases of at least 30 days 

• The use must be in a center and within one-quarter mile of transit service 

• The facility must have 24-hour resident management 

• The facility is prohibited from having medical care or social welfare services on-site (as 

this could categorize the use as permanent supportive housing, see Strategy 2.1.4 

below) 

Specific recommendations and considerations: 

• Providing land use standards within a definition is not best code practice. Move the 

standards to POMC 20.39.100. 

• Allow congregate living housing in some non-residential zones by-right, notably in the 

CMU zone.  

• Clarify the parking requirements. Section POMC 20.124.130 should be amended to 

clarify whether congregate living is considered a multifamily residential use, and if not, it 

should have a parking requirement of 0.5 spaces per bedroom/resident or less. Under 

Table 20.124.140, clarify the blank cell for congregate living by entering “none” (and for 

other uses with no parking requirements). See Strategy 4.2.4 for related actions. 

• Amend the standards to allow more flexible lease arrangements by deleting “at a time” 

after “30 days.” This allows a minimum stay to still be required but avoids requiring that 

residents have monthlong leases. 

• Consider renaming uses. There is some confusion between “Congregate Living” and 

“Congregate Care”; the latter is differentiated by having on-site medical and/or social 

services for residents but it is undefined in code and regulated as a sub-use of “Group 

Living.” 

 

2.1.4 – Adult Family Homes 
New state legislation passed in 2020, RCW 70.128.066, provides a way for adult family homes 

to have seven or eight beds. The standards and definition under POMC 20.39.100(10) should be 

updated accordingly.  

 
15 “The Hotel-Spirit.” Slate. July 2022. https://slate.com/business/2022/07/hotels-rental-market-housing-prices-

shortage-solution.html 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=70.128.066
https://slate.com/business/2022/07/hotels-rental-market-housing-prices-shortage-solution.html
https://slate.com/business/2022/07/hotels-rental-market-housing-prices-shortage-solution.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 20 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.5 – Supportive Housing 
Under RCW 35A.21.430 (2021), Washington cities may not prohibit permanent supportive 

housing or transitional housing in areas where multifamily housing or hotels are permitted 

(other parts of state law define “multifamily” as four or more units). This supersedes a similar 

2019 law, RCW 35A.21.305. Similarly, emergency shelter and emergency housing may not be 

prohibited in any zones in which hotels are allowed.  

Port Orchard is mostly in compliance, except emergency shelter and emergency housing must 

also be allowed in the GMU zone, where hotels are allowed. 

Consider providing definitions which reference state law:  

• Emergency housing: RCW 36.70A.030 

• Emergency shelter: RCW 36.70A.030 

• Permanent supportive housing: RCW 36.70A.030 

• Transitional housing: RCW 84.36.043 

 

Some jurisdictions require operational plans and information-sharing on supportive housing 

uses. For example, the City of Bellevue requires registration information from applicants prior to 

certificate of occupancy with the following information (and it must be updated when it 

changes):16 

• Name and contact information of property manager(s) and/or owner(s) who may be 

contacted in case of emergency or code violations 

• Name and contact information for on-site facility staff (if applicable) 

• Standard operating procedures plan for the facility, including: 

o The number of residents intended to be housed in the facility 

o A description of the supportive services provided to the residents of the facility, 

on site and off site, including names and contact information of service providers 

• A safety and security plan describing measures that the operator will employ to promote 

the safety of Supportive Housing occupants and surrounding residents; and 

• A code of conduct that applies to all individuals granted access to the proposed 

Supportive Housing use. 

Seattle has more limited requirements. The code offers a number of waivers and modifications 

for parking and design standards that are reviewed administratively. A community relations plan 

is required.17 

  

 
16 Bellevue Municipal Code LUC 20.20.845.E.2, https://bellevue.municipal.codes/LUC/20.20.845.E.2 
17 Seattle Municipal Code 23.42.057, 

https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH
23.42GEUSPR_23.42.057PESUHO 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430
https://bellevue.municipal.codes/LUC/20.20.845.E.2
https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR_23.42.057PESUHO
https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR_23.42.057PESUHO


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 21 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.6 – Tiny Homes 
Consider defining and permitting tiny homes in as another relatively affordable housing option 

but doing so in a limited number of lower intensity zones, such as R1 and R2 zones. Because 

tiny homes are uncommon or unknown in Port Orchard, the City could potentially create a pilot 

program that allows limited construction on one or two sites in partnerships with the property 

owners (such as at a religious facility).  

There are currently several building code limitations that the City would have to address to 

make tiny homes viable to build. Other regulatory considerations and potential categories of tiny 

homes are shown in the following table. 

 

Tiny Home 

Type Considerations Photo Example 

Permanent 

ADU 

When a permanent tiny home is placed on a lot with 

a principal structure, treat the tiny home as any 

other type of detached ADU. Such homes must be 

on permanent foundations with all required utility 

connections. 

 

 

 

Permanent 

cluster 

When more than one permanent tiny home is placed 

on a lot, apply permanent tiny home cluster 

standards. Such homes must be on permanent 

foundations with all required utility connections. 

Consider density provisions, such as limiting tiny 

homes to 250-400 square feet of floor area and 

counting each home as one-fifth of a dwelling unity 

for density purposes. Consider providing basic 

design standards similar to cottage housing. 

Explore reasonable parking requirements that 

balance affordability with neighborhood integration; 

consider one space per two or three tiny homes as a 

starting point. Do not allow tiny homes to be used 

for short-term rentals. Consider whether tiny homes 

should be able to use a unit lot subdivision to create 

homeownership opportunities. See some example 

standards from Langley.18 

 

Consider limiting permanent clusters to lower 

intensity residential zones such as R1 and R2. 

 
18 Langley Municipal Code 18.22.290. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Langley/#!/Langley18/Langley1822.html#18.22.290 

 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Langley/#!/Langley18/Langley1822.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 22 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Tiny Home 

Type Considerations Photo Example 

Mobile When a tiny home is on wheels, apply the same 

standards for parking, sanitation, and other 

provisions that the City would apply to recreational 

vehicles. Allow mobile tiny homes to transition to 

permanent status. 

 
Temporary 

transitional 

housing 

Create standards for temporary tiny homes intended 

as transitional housing for homeless residents. 

These would primarily be intended for location on 

vacant land and parking lots and focused on 

religiously-owned land and commercial areas with 

transit access. Consider standards such as the 

maximum number of tiny homes in one location, 

community structures allowed, and required 

sanitation services. Discussions with potential 

operators of tiny home villages are recommended, 

such as the Low Income Housing Institute. Seattle’s 

standards for “transitional encampments” could 

also be consulted.19 

 

Figure 11. Tiny home options 

 

  

 
19 Seattle Municipal Code 23.42.054 and 23.42.056. 

https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH
23.42GEUSPR 

 

https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR
https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 23 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.7 – Backyard Cottages and Accessory Dwelling Units 
New state law in 2023 (under House Bill 1337) preempts some types of accessory dwelling unit 

(ADU) regulations by cities. The Growth Management Act is amended to preempt local ADU 

regulations which conflict with the following: 

• Cities must adopt at least three of these four options: 

o No requirement for off-street parking 

o No requirement for property owner occupancy 

o No limitations of less than two ADUs per lot 

o Limiting ADU impact fees to no more 50% of the fees for princpal units.20  

• In addition, cities must allow ADUs to contain at least 1,000 square feet in floor area and 

for detatched ADUs to be at least 24 feet tall 

• Cities may not impose setbacks, lot coverage limits, tree rention requirements, 

restrictions on entry door locations, or other design standards which are more restrictive 

than for principal units 

• ADUs cannot be restricted from being sold as a condominimum unit 

• No restrictive covenants or deeds may prohibit ADUs after the effective date of the bill 

 

Port Orchard must make the following code changes within six months after the adoption of the 

2024 Comprehensive Plan. Public health, safety, building code, and environmental permitting 

requirements may continue to apply to ADUs. 

Building Type Standards 

These standards under POMC 20.32.030 govern the design of backyard cottages (detached 

ADUs). 

• Under subsection (3)(i), the option for backyard cottages to be limited to 40 percent of 

the total square footage of the primary dwelling must be removed 

• Under subsection (4), the maximum number of backyard cottages allowed per lot must 

be increased to at least two; alternatively, the City can adopt reductions to its impact 

fees so that the maximum fee for an ADU is no more than 50% of the fees that would be 

applicable to the principal unit. See also new state law requirements under Strategy 5.2. 

 

ADU Standards – General Requirements 

These standards under POMC 20.68.100 govern the general approval criteria for ADUs. 

• Under subsection (2), the maximum number of ADUs allowed per lot must be increased 

to at least two; alternatively, the City can adopt reductions to its impact fees so that the 

maximum fee for an ADU is no more than 50% of the fees that would be applicable to 

the principal unit 

 
20 The city is currently compliant with the 2 of 4 requirements because there is no off-street parking requirement, and 

no requirement for owner occupancy. Except for school impact fees, the city’s park and transportation impact fee 
structures are also compliant. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 24 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• The City may wish to add a new subsection clearly stating that ADUs may be created 

from existing structures, including but not limited to detached garages, even if said 

structure violates current code requirements for setbacks or lot coverage 

• The City may wish to add a new subsection clearly stating the ADUs may be sold or 

conveyed as a condominium unit independently of the principal unit 

• The City may wish to add a new subsection clearly stating that ADUs do not trigger any 

requirements for public street improvements as a condition of permitting. 

ADU Standards – Bulk, Location, and Design 

These standards under POMC 20.68.110 govern additional design requirements for ADUs. 

• Under subsection (1), detached ADUs must be allowed in at least the NMU and BPMU 

zones where single-family detached houses are also allowed 

• Under subsection (3), the option for backyard cottages to be limited to 40 percent of the 

total square footage of the primary dwelling must be removed 

• Under subsections (7) and (9), the restrictions on the placement of entry doors for ADUs 

must be removed 

 

Zoning Standards 

Chapters 20.34 and 20.35 POMC govern lot standards for backyard cottages. Where they are 

allowed, the primary street setback for detached ADUs must match the same setback for 

principal buildings or be removed (note that POMC 20.68.110(5) already requires that detached 

ADUs be located in rear yards, which is a permissible requirement under state law).  

Similarly, the minimum lot size for a backyard cottage must match the same size for detached 

houses (applicable in the NMU and BPMU zones). 

The rear setback for a detached ADU abutting an alley must be zero feet. 

Subdivision Standards 

The City may wish to add a new subsection in its subdivision regulations clearly stating that no 

new restrictive covenants or deeds may prohibit ADUs. Other protections can also be added, 

such as not allowing the development of ADUs to trigger requirements for private street 

improvements, not allowing restrictions on renter occupation, and not allowing restrictions on 

the development of other building types and land uses permitted by City zoning.21 

See related recommendations for middle housing in Strategy 2.4.10. 

 

  

 
21 Example of City preemptions of homeowner associations from Ridgefield, WA: RMC 18.401.140.C. 

https://library.municode.com/wa/ridgefield/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CO_TIT18DECO_CH18.401PLUND
E_18.401.140HOAS 

 

https://library.municode.com/wa/ridgefield/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CO_TIT18DECO_CH18.401PLUNDE_18.401.140HOAS
https://library.municode.com/wa/ridgefield/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CO_TIT18DECO_CH18.401PLUNDE_18.401.140HOAS


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 25 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.2 – Streamline the Building Types 
The permitted building types are unique additional 

layer of form-based regulation. Some stakeholders 

identified code interpretations and comprehension 

as a barrier to middle housing development. This 

may be driving most builders and developers to 

follow the path of least resistance and continuing to 

produce what they know best, which are detached 

single-family homes and garden apartments. 

Reducing the complexity of the middle housing building types is a strategy to increase their 

chances of being produced.  

The simplest approach would be removing building types and consolidating their standards 

elsewhere (such as POMC Chapter 20.39, Article II Residential Uses). Short of that, this section 

suggests modifications to reduce duplication and streamline the building type standards. 

2.2.1 – Adjust Cottage Court Standards 
Under POMC 20.32.040, the minimum site size for a cottage court development is 22,500 

square feet and an additional 4,500 square feet is needed per unit when there are six or more 

cottages. These standards apply regardless of the location, and have an unclear relationship to 

the separate minimum unit lot area of 1,200 square feet. Stakeholders have identified the 

minimum site size standards as a challenge, and it is unique among cottage housing standards 

in the region. Consider the following changes to provide flexibility. 

Remove or reduce the minimum site size. Building footprints, setbacks, parking, and required 

open space largely dictate how much land area is needed for a cottage court. The preferred 

approach is to remove the minimum site size standard. If the standard remains necessary, 

consider 12,000 square feet for standard front-loaded lots and 10,000 square feet for lots with 

alley access. 

Reduce the minimum number of cottages from five to four. A minimum of four cottages is 

standard among other codes in the region. This provides greater flexibility for cottage court 

design on smaller sites. 

Adjust the minimum courtyard size standards. The minimum courtyard area is 3,000 square 

feet (minimum width 40 feet) with an extra 600 square feet per unit required when there are six 

or more cottages. This should be replaced by a simpler approach which requires a minimum of 

400 square feet of common courtyard space per cottage cluster regardless of number of units, 

and with minimum dimensions of 15-20 feet. These dimensions are more common across the 

region and have been shown to provide adequate levels of open space in built projects. 

Allow duplex cottages in all zones where cottage courts are allowed to enable more efficient 

use of land and materials. This may require a clear statement in the code, since duplex cottages 

are generally impractical currently with a maximum building footprint of 1,200 square feet.  

  

In the HAP Housing Survey, 51% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Streamline zoning standards to 

encourage more "middle housing" like 

attached duplexes, triplexes, and 

townhomes.” 25% were not sure or need 

more information, and 11% were opposed. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2032.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 26 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.2.2 – Consolidate Duplex Types and Standards 
Of the approximately 2,200 units built in Port Orchard over the past decade (2012-2022), a total 

of ten units (0.4%) were in duplex buildings. While the building type standards are relatively new 

(adopted in 2019), it is possible that complex regulations are one reason duplexes are not being 

produced in greater numbers. It is recommended to simplify the duplex standards. 

Consolidate the building types “Duplex: Side-by-Side” and “Duplex: Back-to-Back” into one 

type called “Duplex.”  

The land use term “duplex” could replace “Two-family” in Chapter 20.39 POMC to provide 

consistency in naming. Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot 

size and width standards.  

The type “Attached House” could remain if there is a desire to clearly distinguish this option for 

fee-simple ownership. However, from a design standpoint, a duplex on one lot and a duplex on 

two lots can have the same appearance. An option to further consolidate “Attached House” 

could be to provide a building type definition that addresses all forms of duplexes. Example: 

Definition. A building type that accommodates two dwelling units sharing a common wall and 

arranged side-to-side, front-to-back, or top-to-bottom. Duplex units may be placed on a single lot or 

two separate units; units intended homeownership may require a subdivision, short subdivision, or 

condominium. 

Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot size and width standards. 

2.2.3 – Rename the Fourplex Type 
Rename the Fourplex building type to Triplex/Fourplex. This type is described as allowing 3-4 

units, but its misleading name and may cause some code users to conclude triplex buildings are 

not allowed. Triplexes should be promoted similarly to duplexes as a middle housing option. 

2.2.4 – Adjust Townhouse Type Standards 
Remove the minimum site size and width and let other zoning standards and market factors 

dictate the land area needed for townhouse development. While 5,000 square feet is a small site 

to begin with, this would remove duplication in code and would improve flexibility in where and 

how townhouse units can be developed. Standards for open space, parking, setbacks, and 

landscaping would continue to apply and influence required land area and how townhouses are 

placed on a site. Also see related lot size and width suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1.  

Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot size and width standards. 

2.2.5 – Consolidate the Live-Work Type 
Live-work has limited feasibility outside of the strongest urban markets and could be de-

emphasized in the code. It is relatively uncommon since a small number of households are self-

employed in businesses which can also be in their home in a separate space (excluding 

standard office work-from-home setups). Additionally, live-work units are often expensive since 

they need to be relatively large to accommodate the workspace. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 27 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

There is an opportunity to retain the live-work standards while streamlining the code; current 

code illustrations and the limitation of “six units in a row” indicate live-work is intended to be 

integrated into townhouse-style buildings.  

Amend the Townhouse building type section to note where standards differ for Live-Work 

configurations. The separate site area and width standards for Live-Work are proposed to be 

removed. Notations could also be added to explain Townhouses are allowed in the DMU, CC, 

and IF zones only if the development includes space designed for live-work use. 

 

Minimum ground floor 

standards  

Building Type Height Transparency Unit width 

Townhouse 

Townhouse w/ Live-Work 

None 

12 feet 

20% 

20% 

20 feet min. 

15 feet min. and 30 feet max. 

Live-Work 12 feet 20% 15 feet min. and 30 feet max. 

 

A related option is to allow or encourage the Apartment building type to be designed with 

ground floor units that are convertible and usable as commercial space. One option to 

incentivize this may be providing a height bonus for such designs. 

Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot size and width standards. 

2.2.6 – Adjust Shopfront House Standards 
This building type requires a minimum of two dwellings per lot and a maximum of two dwellings 

per lot, providing no flexibility in configuration options. It appears no developments have 

employed this building type. More design options should be allowed. 

Allow a range of 2-4 units per lot with this building type. 

2.2.7 – Building Height 
All of the building types in Chapter 20.32 POMC have a maximum building height specified, but 

this standard is either duplicated or overridden by zone-specific maximum building heights in 

Chapters 20.34 and 20.35 POMC. Maximum building height is a critical and sensitive zoning 

tool, so it should have clear and consistent standards across the code. A unique case is 

backyard cottages and cottage courts which are intended to be small. 

Remove the maximum building height from all building types, except for backyard cottages 

and cottage courts. Regulate accessory structure height limits in the zoning chapters. 

2.2.8 – Minimum Private Useable Open Space 
Integrating multiple dwelling units onto relatively small lots requires careful planning to 

integrate the buildings, access and parking, and usable open space in a way which works for the 

site residents and the neighborhood. The Design Standards in Chapter 20.127 POMC require 

usable open space for multifamily uses but not middle housing types.  

Coupled with Strategy 2.3.1 for relaxing minimum lot size standards, it is recommended to add 

requirements for minimum private usable open space for duplexes (multiple types), 

triplexes/fourplexes, townhouses, and shopfront houses. Specific recommend standards: 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 28 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Minimum private usable open space per unit: 300 square feet (50% of the required 

usable open space may be satisfied through a rooftop patio or balcony) 

• Minimum dimensions: 10 feet for each unit, except 6 feet for rooftop patio or balcony. 

• Spaces shared between two or three units are permitted, provided the shared open 

space dimension is 15 feet and the space is located adjacent to each unit. For 

townhouses with four or more units, shared open spaces must comply with 

20.127.350(2)(b), On-site open space. 

• The front yard may be used as private usable open space, provided a low fence (between 

16” and 48”) demarcates the space 

• Private usable open space cannot be parked or driven on, except for emergency access 

 

2.2.9 – Ground Floor Elevation 
Nearly all of the building types require a minimum ground floor elevation of two feet. This adds 

significant cost to construction by requiring a taller foundation and the addition of ramps for 

ADA wheelchair access on buildings with four or more units.  

The purpose behind this type of standard is usually to promote a transition between the public 

and private realms and improve security and privacy for ground-floor residents. This is already 

addressed by the block frontage standards under POMC 20.127.230, which requires a 

combination of setbacks and/or raised elevation for ground floor residential units, depending on 

the context. The block frontage standards apply to all building types except single-family and 

duplexes. 

Recommendation: Apply this standard only to detached houses and duplex types, and reduce 

the minimum elevation from two feet to 16 inches. 

2.2.10 – Blank Walls 
Blank walls are regulated in the design standards in POMC 20.127.460, which applies to 

commercial uses and multifamily uses with five or more units. To reduce duplication or 

conflicts, the blank wall standards can be removed for at least the apartment, single-story 

shopfront, mixed use shopfront, and general building types. For the smaller building types where 

blank walls are regulated, consider applying a standard consistent with POMC 20.127.460. 

2.2.11 – Transparency 
POMC 20.139.025(3) provides transparency standards for detached houses, cottage courts, 

duplex types, and townhouses. The minimum transparency standard of 8% should be moved to 

the building types in Chapter 20.32 POMC for consistency, where other building types like 

fourplexes and apartments have transparency standards listed. The measurement method of 

transparency could be retained in Chapter 20.139.  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20127.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20127.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20139.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 29 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.3 – Adjust Form & Intensity Standards 
Action: Adjust the form and intensity (dimensional) standards to improve the physical 

and economic feasibility of building small homes, multifamily housing, and affordable 

housing. 

Following public interest and an analysis of the 

situation by the consultant team, some changes to 

dimensional standards are proposed.  

2.3.1 – Adjust Minimum Lot Dimensions 
Consider relaxing the minimum lot size and width 

provisions for “middle” housing/building types to 

reduce barriers to those housing/building types. 

Such action should occur in concert with requiring a 

minimum amount of private usable open space (see Strategy 2.4.2). Specific recommendations: 

R2 zone: 

• Retain the current minimum lot dimensions for detached houses 

• For cottage courts, see Strategy 2.2.1 for updated suggestions for minimum site area 

• Exempt other “middle” building types from both minimum lot area and width standards. 

This includes duplexes (all types), attached houses, triplexes/fourplexes, and 

townhouses. 

 

R3 zone: 

• Retain the current minimum lot dimensions for detached houses 

• For cottage courts, see Strategy 2.2.1 for updated suggestions for minimum site area. 

• Exempt other “middle” building types from both minimum lot area and width standards. 

This includes backyard cottages, duplexes (both types), attached houses, fourplexes, 

and townhouses. 

• For apartments, reduce the current 10,000 square foot lot size minimum to 7,000 square 

feet, with the option for 5,000 square foot lots where alley access is available. Reduce 

minimum lot width from 80 feet to 70 feet, with the option for 50-foot wide lots where 

alley access is available. 

 

R4 zone: 

• Consider eliminating lot dimension standards entirely, particularly as detached houses 

are not allowed and there are enough other standards in place to help ensure that the 

form and intensity of development meets community objectives. 

 

R5 zone: 

• If not eliminating this zone (see Strategy 2.1.6), consider eliminating lot dimension 

standards entirely for same reasons as in R4 zone noted above. 

 

 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 51% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Streamline zoning standards to 

encourage more "middle housing" like 

attached duplexes, triplexes, and 

townhomes.” 25% were not sure or need 

more information, and 11% were opposed. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 30 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

R6 zone: 

• Retain the current 4,000 square foot minimum lot size and 40-feet lot width for a 

detached house, but exempt other “middle” building types from both minimum lot area 

and width standards. This includes duplexes (both types), attached houses, 

triplexes/fourplexes, and townhouses. 

 

Commercial and mixed-use zones: 

• Retain any existing minimum lot size and width provisions for detached house, but 

eliminate such standards for all other building types to maximize flexibility. This includes 

the McCormick Village Overlay District. Many standards are in place to help ensure that 

such building types are integrated in a compatible manner. 

 

2.3.2 – Adjust Height Limits and Add Affordable Housing Bonuses 
The City should consider building height limit increases to increase the economic feasibility of 

multifamily and mixed-use development. Constrained height regulations have a large negative 

impact on housing affordability, particularly in urbanizing areas with increasing land prices such 

as Port Orchard.22  

Several of the zones where Port Orchard allows 

multifamily housing and mixed-use development 

have relatively low height limits in the 35-45 feet 

range, which creates feasibility challenges for light 

wood frame construction (the most common 

material for multifamily buildings in the Puget 

Sound region). Construction costs per square foot 

for wood buildings between three and seven stories 

are relatively constant, regardless of building 

height.23 Another key cost item is elevators, which cost at least $100,000 each and are required 

for buildings four stories and taller.  

Allowing more height enables developments to create additional dwelling units that help spread 

out of the cost of construction. The economic benefits of light wood frame construction are 

maximized with height limits in the 65-85 feet range; taller structures in this range are often a 

hybrid with the lower floors being built of concrete and include structured parking. Also note 

that many jurisdictions assume residential floor-to-floor heights are 10 feet, but 11-12 feet is 

oftentimes preferred by designers and builders for accommodating mechanical systems and 

energy code ventilation requirements, especially for taller buildings. Commercial ground floors 

are often desired to be 15-20 feet tall. 

The cost and risk of developing mixed-use structures and leasing ground-floor commercial 

space typically can be offset by a higher amount of residential floor area. Since the COVID-19 

 
22 Eriksen, & Orlando, A. W. (2022). Returns to Scale in Residential Construction: The Marginal Impact of Building 

Height. Real Estate Economics, 50(2), 534–564. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6229.12357 
23 Ibid. 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 58% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Modest increase in building height 

limits (1-2 floors) in multifamily and/or 

commercial areas.” 27% were not sure or 

need more information, and 15% were 

opposed. 

https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6229.12357


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 31 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

pandemic, developers are indicating increased risk associated with commercial development 

due to continued uncertainty about the retail and particularly office markets. This further 

increases the attractiveness of developments with a higher share of residential floor area. 

Port Orchard allows height increases through the use of a transfer-of-development-rights (TDR) 

ordinance adopted in 2019 in partnership with Kitsap County (Chapter 20.41 POMC). TDR 

programs facilitate the exchange of zoned dwelling units from incorporated resource lands to 

eligible “receiving sites” in the city limits. TDR programs are complex and require savvy 

participants and willing rural landowners to participate. No project has yet used Port Orchard’s 

TDR program, and other Washington jurisdictions have found it difficult to attract participants to 

TDR programs outside of the highest-priced markets like Seattle and King County. The proposed 

height changes below would decrease the attractiveness of Port Orchard’s TDR program with 

the tradeoff of incentivizing affordable (subsidized) housing. However, TDR would continue to 

be the only way to achieve the tallest allowed buildings in certain locations (up to eight stories 

or 88 feet). 

Increased height limits and potentially larger buildings will be mitigated by the broad set of 

multifamily and commercial design standards Port Orchard already has in place. These include 

standards to provide high-quality building massing, light and air access, useable open space, 

attractive materials, windows and entries, and other provisions. 

The table below shows recommend height increases to explore in Port Orchard’s key 

multifamily and commercial zones. These include modest changes to base height limits (up to 

one floor).  

In addition, new bonus height limits allowing up to an additional two floors are proposed for 

developments participating in the City’s multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) program, 

incentivizing greater production of multifamily housing in general and also affordable 

(subsidized) housing. The MFTE bonus should be limited to the Type 1, 12-year affordability 

program, and it could be expanded to the 20-year affordability program if the City adopts one. 

See other recommendations for the MFTE program in Strategy 5.1.1. 

Zone 

Current Base 

Height Limit 

Proposed Base 

Height Limit 

Proposed Bonus Height Limit 

with 12 or 20 Year MFTE 

Participation 

R3 35 45 55 

R4 45 -- 55 

R5 (if zone is not deleted per strategy 2.1.1) 55 -- 65 

Commercial Corridor (CC) 35 45 65 

Commercial Mixed Use (CMU) 40 55 75 

Neighborhood Mixed Use (NMU) 35 45 55 

Business Professional Mixed Use (BPMU) 40 55 -- 

Ruby Creek Overlay District 55 -- 65 

Figure 12. Recommended height limits 

 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2041.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 32 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.3.3 – Minimum Residential Density 
Comprehensive Plan policies LU-11, HS-9, and HS-16 call for minimum residential densities at 

least in centers. In addition, any locations where a multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 12-year 

and 20-year program is available must allow at least 15 units per acre. Development at 15 units 

per acre is also the rough threshold where fixed-route transit service becomes more 

sustainable. Minimum density standards can help provide consistency with state law and a level 

of expectation to leverage public infrastructure investments and maximize the efficiency of land 

where compact and walkable development is desired. 

In order to reduce complications for small infill 

development and promote economies of scale, the 

minimum density requirement could apply only to 

new development on sites above a certain site size 

such as a ¼ acre or ½ net acre; a “net acre” could 

use the same measurement as applied in the MFTE 

chapter, which is defined to exclude critical areas 

and buffer, and other land that is undevelopable 

such as shoreline buffers and tidelands.  

Another option is to apply the standard only to sites within designated centers, where the City is 

seeking to direct growth most intensely.  

Based on public feedback and where the MFTE program typically applies, a limited number of 

zones is proposed to have a minimum residential standard. 

Zone 

Proposed Minimum 

Residential Density 

(dwelling units/gross acre) 

Apply only to sites above a certain size as a ¼ or ½ net acre 

R3 12 

R4 15 

R5  (if zone is not deleted per strategy 2.1.2) 15 

CC 20 

CMU 25 

GMU 25 

DMU 25 

Figure 13. Recommended minimum density standards 

 

 

 

 

 

  

In the HAP Housing Survey, 47% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Enact a minimum density requirement 

in one or more zones, to encourage a 

greater variety of home types in new 

subdivisions.” 51% were not sure or need 

more information, and 11% were opposed. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 33 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.3.4 – Religiously-Owned Land Density Bonus 
Under state law RCW 35A.63.300 (2019), upon request from a religious organization, cities 

planning under the GMA must allow an increased density bonus on such properties consistent 

with local needs for affordable housing development. The density bonus must be contingent 

upon the religious organization’s land being used for housing occupied exclusively by low-

income households for at least 50 years. The density bonus can be used for any type of 

housing, ranging from single-family to multifamily. 

Port Orchard is home to a number of churches. Most are on properties ranging from 0.5 to 5 

acres and are located in residential or mixed-use neighborhoods. They are mostly zoned Civic 

and Institutional, which does not allow any types of residential uses. The state requirements 

could be implemented in several ways, such as an update to underlying zoning, creation of a 

new overlay zone, or development agreements. 

Development agreements are preferred option since use of this bonus could be relatively rare. 

Port Orchard should consider adding a religiously-owned affordable housing policy in the 

Comprehensive Plan that allows religious organizations to partner with the city to develop 

affordable housing through a development agreement. The policy could stipulate a minimum 

density, such as 30 dwelling units per net acre. Port Orchard can also begin proactively reaching 

out to religious organizations to see if they are interested in developing affordable housing on 

their properties (this could be a role of the Housing Coordinator staff position described in 

Strategy 3.3). 

  

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.63.300


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 34 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.4 – Adjust Other Standards 
Action: Adjust other development regulations to help reduce barriers to housing 

production. 

A miscellaneous set of other standards can be updated to streamline the development 

regulations and potentially reduce construction costs. 

2.4.1 – Residential Design Standards 
Chapter 20.139 POMC provides some supplemental design standards to the building types 

including for driveways, architectural details and variety, roof design, and walls fences. Some 

minor adjustments are recommended to improve the function of these standards. 

• The building type standards (Chapter 20.32 POMC) should have additional cross-

references to the residential design standards for ease of code use 

• The duplex garage configuration standards in section 20.139.015 will need to be 

consolidated consistent with Strategy 2.2.2. It is recommended to use the 40-feet lot 

width threshold for all configurations. 

• The transparency standards in subsection 20.139.025(3) for some building types should 

be placed in the building type standards for consistency (also see Strategy 2.2.11) 

• The minimum 4:12 roof pitch in subsection 20.139.045(2) for detached houses and 

duplexes prevents modern architectural styles with flat roofs and roof decks (particularly 

on small infill lots) and creates a de facto prohibition on typical manufactured homes. 

The first sentence of the standard could be deleted, and the roof elements standard 

could continue but remove the word “pitched.” 

• Section 20.139.055 for duplexes has repetitive driveway standards and conflicting 

transparency standards from other sections in the chapter, which should be resolved. 

Further, the allowed porch projection standard in subsection (2) is duplicative of POMC 

20.122.060 

 

 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20139.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 35 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.4.2 – Significant Tree Standards 
There is a long history of protecting significant trees in Port Orchard. Significant trees provide 

numerous benefits to the environment, climate resiliency, livability, and aesthetic qualities in 

Port Orchard but can also make the development of affordable housing more challenging.  

The current standards of Chapter POMC 20.129 can reduce housing capacity on individual sites 

and can also result in unsafe situations where a lone remaining significant tree is exposed to 

wind and erosion subsequent to development. In addition, under House Bill 1110 middle 

housing cannot have stricter design and development standards than detached homes. 

Currently detached homes are exempt from the requirement to prepare a significant tree 

retention plan (but they must comply with other significant tree standards). An architect’s 

analysis of similar proposed tree preservation standards in Seattle found that tree retention 

plans can add tens of thousands of dollars in soft costs and government staff costs.24 

The City should explore alternative approaches for tree standards which are easier to 

administer and have less impact on soft costs and housing capacity. One option is not focusing 

on individual trees and instead requiring a minimum tree canopy coverage at the time of tree 

species maturity (allowing both newly planted and existing trees to contribute). This is similar to 

the method Port Orchard applies to the McCormick Village Overlay District, where many trees 

are being removed to make way for new development, under POMC 20.38.280. 

Recommendation: The City should weigh the benefits and costs of its significant tree code. In 

the near-term, exempt middle housing developments or mixed housing developments 

containing a significant number of middle housing types (all types of duplexes, cottage housing, 

townhouses, and triplexes/fourplexes) from the requirement to prepare a significant tree 

retention plan. 

2.4.3 – Family Definition 
Amend the definition of “family” under POMC 20.12.010 to be consistent with state law RCW 

35A.21.314 (2021). Cities may not regulate or limit the number of unrelated persons that may 

occupy a household or dwelling unit. A simple approach is shown below. 

“Family” means any number of persons related by blood, marriage or legal adoption and including 

foster children and exchange students living together as a single housekeeping unit. “Family” also 

means the following when living together as a single, not-for-profit housekeeping unit: 

(1) A group of not more than four related and unrelated adults and their related minor children, but 

not to exceed a total of eight related and unrelated persons; or 

… 

 

  

 
24 “Does Money Grow on Trees?” Neiman Taber Architects. April 2023. 

http://neimanarchitects.blogspot.com/2023/04/does-money-grows-on-trees.html 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/html/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20129.html
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2038.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2012.html
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.314
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.314
http://neimanarchitects.blogspot.com/2023/04/does-money-grows-on-trees.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 36 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.4.4 – Elevator Penthouse 
As more multifamily and mixed-use housing is built in Port Orchard, details like elevator design 

are important factors for livability and functionality. Ten-feet tall elevator cabs are desirable for 

residents to move the largest pieces of furniture which cannot fit through stairwells. Also 

popular are elevator-accessible roof decks that help meet developments meet residential open 

space requirements. 

However, these two features are difficult to combine due to the limitations of POMC 

20.40.050(2)(c)(i). This subsection limits structures screening elevators to 10 feet in height 

where the elevator is accessing a roof deck.  

Elevator technology is evolving. Over the past decade the “Machine Room-Less” elevator has 

become a cost-effective option for buildings over four stories tall and it avoids the 

environmental impacts of hydraulic piston designs which penetrate deep into the ground below 

the building (a technology which was previously typical for buildings up to eight stories). The 

Machine Room-Less design uses a hoistway and mounts mechanical equipment on top of the 

cab, which increases the overrun above the roof level beyond that assumed by the code. 

Recommendation: To achieve a 10-feet interior cab dimension and accounting for the assembly 

of the penthouse structure, it is recommended to increase the code allowance to 17 feet. 

2.4.5 – Parking Lot Landscaping 
Under POMC 20.128.070(3), reduce and simplify minimum planting area widths to allow more 

efficient use of land. This is critical for smaller lots where infill multifamily and townhouse 

development may occur, but still meet the purpose of parking lot landscaping. 

Consider reducing the minimum width of landscaping along public streets to 7.5 feet regardless 

of the block frontage designation, and to five feet along internal lot lines. 

Also, consider making parking lot landscaping its own code section so it is easier to find in 

tables of contents and because it is frequently used. For example, convert subsection (3) to new 

20.128.075. 

2.4.6 – Service Areas and Mechanical Equipment 
Under POMC 20.127.360, some minor clarifications can be made about applicability to offer 

some more flexibility. 

Subsection (2) currently acts as a title but could be expanded with examples to replace the 

parenthetical in subsection (2)(a), to read: “(2). Location of ground related service areas and 

mechanical equipment. Ground-level building service areas and mechanical equipment includes 

loading docks, trash collection and compactors, dumpster areas, storage tanks, electrical panels, 

HVAC equipment, and other utility equipment. If any such elements are outside the building at 

ground level, the following location standards apply:” 

Under subsection (3)(a)(iv), say collection points must be located and configured “to the extent 

practical” to help moderate construction costs in certain situations. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20128.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20127.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 37 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Under subsection (5)(b), consider removing the prohibition on perforated metal as a rooftop 

equipment screening material since it is cost effective and has a variety of design options. 

2.4.7 – Single-Stair Buildings 
New state law in 2023 (under Senate Bill 5491) provides model code language for cities to 

adopt the Seattle version of stairway regulations through July 2026. Up to two buildings per 

property may feature single-stairway designs. There are several conditions for fire safety, such 

as requiring minimum one-hour fire ratings, automatic sprinkler systems, maximum walking 

distances to exits, and minimum water flow capacity availability at the site. Certain group 

residential uses cannot be located in single-staircase buildings. By July 2026, the State Building 

Council will provide statewide standards for single-staircase buildings which local jurisdictions 

can choose to adopt. 

Recommendation: Examine updating Port Orchard’s locally-adopted version of the International 

Building Code (POMC 20.200.012) to allow single-stair multifamily buildings up to six stories 

where there are four or less units per floor. By default, the International Building Code limits this 

condition to three floors. Seattle has allowed it since 1977.25 This could be an opportunity to 

reduce construction costs and increase design flexibility for small apartment buildings on infill 

lots, especially in conjunction with height limits recommendations under Strategy 2.3.2. 

2.4.8 – Apply the International Residential Code to Middle Housing 
Examine updating Port Orchard’s locally-adopted version of the International Building Code 

(POMC 20.200.012) and the International Residential Code (POMC 20.200.014) to allow small 

residential structures with less than 5,000 square feet of floor area (e.g. triplexes, townhouses, 

and small multifamily buildings) to be designed and built under the less-strict provisions of the 

International Residential Code. Normally, structures with three or more units are considered 

commercial and fall under the International Building Code which requires fire sprinklers. In 

exchange, applicable structures would be required to have a higher 2-hour fire rating for wall 

and floor/ceiling assemblies. 

Since sprinklers can cost up to $15,000 per unit to install, this can help reduce the costs of 

attached middle housing while still ensuring fire safety. Other opportunities for streamlining 

include revisions to egress requirements in common spaces and allowing combined 

mechanical, electrical, and plumbing drawings.26 

Demonstrated success in at least one community (Memphis, TN) suggests the topic may be 

worth further discussion.27 Making a change for only three- or four-unit buildings may still 

provide cost benefits.  

In 2023, House Bill 1167 would have advanced this change statewide; it did not pass but will be 

on the docket for the 2024 session of the Washington Legislature. Port Orchard could be a 

 
25 “Second Egress: Building a Code Change”. https://secondegress.ca/Seattle 
26 “A Trailblazing Reform Supports Small-Scale Development in Memphis.” Strong Towns. January 2022. 

https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2022/1/26/a-trailblazing-reform-supports-small-scale-development-in-
memphis 

27 “Memphis, TN Amends Local Building Code to Allow up to Six Units Under Residential Building Code (IRC) to Enable 
Missing Middle Housing.” Opticos Design. January 2022. https://opticosdesign.com/blog/memphis-tn-amends-
local-building-code-to-allow-up-to-six-units-under-residential-building-code-irc-to-enable-missing-middle-housing/ 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5491&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1167&Year=2023
https://secondegress.ca/Seattle
https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2022/1/26/a-trailblazing-reform-supports-small-scale-development-in-memphis
https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2022/1/26/a-trailblazing-reform-supports-small-scale-development-in-memphis
https://opticosdesign.com/blog/memphis-tn-amends-local-building-code-to-allow-up-to-six-units-under-residential-building-code-irc-to-enable-missing-middle-housing/
https://opticosdesign.com/blog/memphis-tn-amends-local-building-code-to-allow-up-to-six-units-under-residential-building-code-irc-to-enable-missing-middle-housing/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 38 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

leader on this issue by working with legislators and coordinating with the design and 

development community on the best path forward, along with stakeholders such as building 

officials, the fire district, and others. 

2.4.9 – Create Standards for Unit Lot Subdivisions 
Senate Bill 5258, adopted in 2023 and 

codified in RCW 58.17.060, now requires 

all local jurisdictions to provide unit lot 

subdivision procedures for short plats (up 

to 9 lots). It is recommended that Port 

Orchard comply with this statue and also 

make the option available for regular plats 

(10 or more lots). Unit lot subdivisions 

follow the procedures for the underlying 

plat type. 

Unit lot subdivisions facilitate the 

development of homeownership options for middle housing like side-by-side duplexes, triplexes, 

and fourplexes, townhomes, and cottage housing. Zoning regulations such as setbacks and lot 

coverage are applied to the overall “parent parcel” existing before the subdivision, allowing the 

individual “unit lots” upon which dwelling units are placed to be arranged and sized in almost 

any configuration. Remaining pieces of the parent lot are owned in common or managed by a 

homeowners’ association. 

There is no template for unit lot subdivision provisions in Washington State, but many cities 

allow them. Examples of code language can be found in Anacortes, Everett, Port Angeles, and 

Wenatchee. 

2.4.10 – Prohibit Subdivision Covenants on Middle Housing 
New state law in 2023 under House Bill 1110 prohibits new restrictive covenants or deeds from 

prohibiting middle housing (defined as duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, fiveplexes, sixplexes, 

townhouses, stacked flats, courtyard apartments, and cottage housing). In other words, private 

agreements are not allowed to exercise zoning-like powers that are the domain of City 

government. Existing restrictive covenants or deeds are unaffected. 

It is recommended that Port Orchard update Title 20, Article V POMC to implement this 

restriction. Other protections can also be added, such as not allowing restrictions on renter 

occupation. See similar recommendations for ADU’s under Strategy 2.1.7. 

  

Figure 14. Diagram of the unit lot subdivision concept 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5258&Year=2023
https://anacortes.municipal.codes/AMC/19.32.050(D)
https://www.everettwa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/26672/Ch-1927-Unit-Lot-Subdivisions-11-4-20
https://library.municode.com/wa/port_angeles/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT16SU_CH16.09UNLOSU&showChanges=true
https://www.co.chelan.wa.us/files/community-development/codes/Wenatchee%20UGA/WenatcheeUGA_Subdivision_Title%2011_eff_11302021.pdf#page=38
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 39 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

3 – Programmatic Strategies 
In addition to regulatory considerations, this section discusses strategies which Port Orchard 

can consider for increasing housing opportunities through programs addressing displacement, 

tenant protections, and strategies for reducing homelessness.  

3.1 - Anti-Displacement Strategies 
Action: Adopt local tenant protections and consider other regulatory and 

programmatic anti-displacement actions to improve the stability of renter households. 

As discussed above in Section 1.4, exclusionary zoning practices have led to numerous facets 

of housing inequity across the U.S. Additionally, redevelopment programs implemented in 

earlier decades resulted in both intentional and unintentional displacement of lower-income 

residents and people of color in many communities. Therefore, strategies to mitigate or prevent 

displacement have gained much attention in recent years, and a variety of approaches have 

emerged. Overall, the effectiveness of anti-displacement strategies is highly neighborhood- and 

community-specific, and recent academic research has found decidedly mixed results of many 

approaches.28  

While most strategies have focused on minimizing displacement pressures, it should be noted 

that not all displacement is involuntary (there is always some movement in the housing market), 

and displacement can sometimes mean moving “up” to a higher opportunity neighborhood. 

Increasing housing production overall, including market-rate housing production, is an important 

tool to moderate price increases and therefore make housing more affordable to low and 

moderate income families and prevent displacement.29 This is particularly true in hot housing 

markets and if the new housing units are comprised of a variety of housing types. A study in 

California found that both market-rate and subsidized housing production reduced 

displacement rates in San Francisco, but subsidized housing production decreased 

displacement risk more significantly.30 The same study also found that the positive effects of 

production on displacement at a hyperlocal neighborhood scale may differ depending on the 

complex neighborhood context.  

One downside of increased production is the time it takes to build new housing, which can be 

lengthy not only for construction, but also design and permitting. The most comprehensive 

academic survey of anti-displacement strategies to date suggests that in addition to production, 

neighborhood stabilization and tenant protection policies have the most immediate impact on 

 
28 Chapple, Karen and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. “White Paper on Anti-Displacement Strategy Effectiveness.” 
Prepared for the California Air Resources Board, February 2021. 
29 Been, Vicki, Ingrid Gould and Katherine O’Regan. “Supply Skepticism: Housing Supply and Affordability.” New York 
University Furman Center, August 2018. 
30 Zuk, Miriam and Karen Chapple. “Research Brief. Housing Production, Filtering, and Displacement: Untangling the 
Relationships.” UC Berkeley Institute of Governmental Studies. May 2016. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 40 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

mitigating displacement.31 The following are suggestions for proactive policies that Port 

Orchard can adopt to further prevent displacement. 

A study from Common Good Labs analyzed data on thousands of U.S. neighborhoods over 15 

years (2000 to 2015) to understand how poverty is reduced without community displacement.32 

It found eight indicators that are associated with inclusion, increased prosperity, and decrease 

in poverty. Three of the indicators can be most directly affected by municipal policies, noted in 

the table below. 

Inclusion Indicator How Port Orchard Can Affect This Indicator 

Increased housing density Zoning standards that directly regulate the density of residential development. 

Higher rates of 

homeownership 

Zoning and subdivision standards that allow and encourage a greater variety of small 

and attached housing types (e.g., small single-family, cottages, townhomes, flats, 

condos). A New York Times report finds that the production of entry/starter homes 

has never been lower than today (particularly homes smaller than 1,400 square 

feet).33 

Presence of community 

organizations 

Financial and/or staffing support for community organizations.  

 

Zoning standards that provide low-cost commercial space and/or municipal facilities 

with space for community organizations to have offices, host events, run recreation 

and cultural programs, etc. 

Figure 15. Inclusion indicators 

3.1.1 – Local Tenant Protections 
Washington State sets the baseline for the landlord-tenant relationship through the State 

Residential Landlord-Tenant Act, RCW 59.18. Washington State regularly amends the Act as 

summarized in the HAP Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report. According to 

the Attorney General’s Office, there is no centralized enforcement mechanism for the RCW, and 

so it is incumbent upon landlords and tenants to either self-remedy violations, seek counseling 

or low-cost legal help from non-profit organizations, and/or resolve disputes through the courts. 

Local ordinances are enforced by the local 

jurisdiction. Cities are free to adopt additional or 

more stringent regulations than those provided by 

the state (with the exception of market-rate rent 

control), and numerous Washington communities 

have done so. Port Orchard has not enacted any 

local tenant protection ordinances.  

The King County Bar Association (KCBA) provides a 

model tenant protection ordinance within the 

framework of Washington State law. This is summarized in the table below.  

 
31 Chapple and Loukaitou-Sideris. 
32 “Reducing poverty without community displacement: Indicators of inclusive prosperity in U.S. neighborhoods.” 

Brookings. September 2022. https://www.brookings.edu/research/reducing-poverty-without-community-
displacement-indicators-of-inclusive-prosperity-in-u-s-neighborhoods/ 

33 “Whatever Happened to the Starter Home?” The New York Times. September 2022. 
https://www.nytimes.com/2022/09/25/upshot/starter-home-prices.html 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 54% of survey 

respondents are supportive of “Stronger 

renter protections such as more notice 

time for rent increases or options to 

manage move-in fees.” 18% were not sure 

or need more information and 29% were 

opposed. Note that renters represented 

about 16% of survey participants.  

https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=59.18
https://www.brookings.edu/research/reducing-poverty-without-community-displacement-indicators-of-inclusive-prosperity-in-u-s-neighborhoods/
https://www.brookings.edu/research/reducing-poverty-without-community-displacement-indicators-of-inclusive-prosperity-in-u-s-neighborhoods/
https://www.nytimes.com/2022/09/25/upshot/starter-home-prices.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 41 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Local Tenant Protection Option Other Considerations and Notes 

Rents and Payments  

Notice of monthly rent increases 90-180 

days before the effective date, with more 

notice required for larger increases 

The state law default is 60 days notice per RCW 59.18.140. Upon 

receipt of notice, allow tenants to terminate tenancy early without 

further payment except pro rata rent. 

No increase in rent allowed if the property 

is in poor condition 

Poor conditions means the dwelling unit has defective conditions 

making it unlivable, a request for repairs has not been completed, or 

the property is otherwise in violation of RCW 59.18.060. 

Increases over 10% of monthly rent over a 

12-month period requires landlord to pay 

relocation assistance for economically-

displaced tenants. 

The tenant must be notified this is an option in every rent increase 

notice regardless of the increase amount. The assistance can be 

valued in a number of ways – the KCBA model bases it on three 

times the monthly rent amount. Optionally, this tool could require 

relocation assistance for physical displacement as well (due to 

property renovations or demolition). 

Move-in fees capped at one month’s rent 

and require offer of installment plans 

Allow up to a six month installment plan which commences upon 

move-in. This helps lower income tenants manage move-in fees that 

can be many thousands of dollars. 

Caps on rent payment late fees  The KCBA approach is a cap of $10 per month and the tenant is not 

responsible for any legal fees or other services. 

Leases must allow rent to be paid on 

different days of the month 

This allows tenants to adjust the due date of rent payments if the 

tenant has a fixed income source (e.g. a paycheck lag after the first 

of the month or a social security payment). A landlord shall not 

refuse to lease to tenants who request this. 

Evictions and Discrimination  

Require cause to evict as specified in the 

lease agreement 

Only allow for evictions for: 1) failure to pay rent after receiving all 

notices required; 2) substantial breach of a non-monetary term of the 

lease and all steps to resolve it have failed within the time required; 

or 3) the landlord seeks to remove the unit from the market with 

honest intent (with 120 days notice). 

Banning discriminatory, deceptive, and 

unfair practices in the rental market 

Prohibits inquiries or verification requirements based on immigration 

or citizenship status, using social security numbers as a method of 

proving financial eligibility, and representing that a unit is not 

available when it is in fact available. Also prohibits requiring that a 

lease be signed by children and deceptive omissions and practices 

like confusing lease terms or taking advantage of a lack of 

understanding by tenants. 

Administration  

Rental unit registration and inspection 

programs 

The purpose of such programs is to ensure rental housing meets 

standard living conditions. Registration includes property address, 

contact information, list of rental units, and condition of the housing 

units. Fees may be imposed and re-registration is required with new 

ownership. 

Figure 16. Tenant protection options 

No particular set of tenant protections is recommended as part of this HAP. The Port Orchard 

community and decision makers are encouraged to use this “menu” of options as a basis for 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 42 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

continued discussion. Port Orchard can look to other communities like Burien and Kenmore that 

have adopted some of these protections. 34, 35, 36  

Longer rent increase notice time, move-in fee caps, and economic/physical relocation 

assistance are some of the strongest anti-displacement strategies available for low-income 

residents forced to move, giving them an opportunity to find new housing in the same 

community within a reasonable amount of time.  

Any new regulatory action would require some degree of effort, ranging from education and 

outreach to increased staffing and resources for monitoring and enforcement. Regulatory 

action could also be considered at the regional level to provide consistency for landlords and 

property management companies working across multiple Kitsap County jurisdictions. 

3.1.2 - Other Anti-Displacement Strategies 
Strategic Acquisition of Existing Multifamily Housing 

To better retain affordable housing, the City of Port Orchard should work with Housing Kitsap, 

land trusts, and other non-profit providers to identify naturally occurring affordable housing and 

multifamily housing with income restrictions or covenants that are close to expiration. Funds 

should be identified to acquire as many such properties as possible to avoid displacement of 

low- or moderate-income residents. This practice preserves existing communities and retains 

long-term affordable housing stock at a lower cost than development of new affordable 

housing. 

Tenant Legal Services 

Eviction rates have been shown to drop when tenants facing eviction have access to legal 

representation. The Washington State Office of the Attorney General has a comprehensive list 

of resources for tenants facing legal issues, including free phone assistance from the 

Northwest Justice Project for low-income tenants statewide.37 Contacts and guidance could be 

provided alongside or in addition to the homeless services directory (see Section 3.2). 

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase  

A tenant opportunity to purchase program, such as the one instituted in Washington, D.C. in 

1980, gives tenants the first right to purchase their unit if it is being converted into a 

condominium. In D.C., a study of the program showed this helped 58% of eligible tenants 

purchase their unit.38 The D.C. program has also resulted in the creation of many limited equity 

 
34 “City of Burien, Washington, Ordinance No. 804.” October 2022. 

https://burienwa.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/33975/?preview=76250 
35 City of Kenmore, Washington, Ordinance No. 22-0545.” March 2022. 

https://kenmore.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/118191/?preview=119244 
36 “Five Seattle suburbs added new landlord-renter laws this year. Here’s what they do.” The Seattle Times. December 

15, 2022. https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/politics/five-seattle-suburbs-added-new-landlord-renter-
laws-this-year-heres-what-they-do/ 

37 “Residential Landlord-Tenant Resources.” Washington State Office of the Attorney General. 
https://www.atg.wa.gov/residential-landlord-tenant-resources 

38 Chapple, Karen and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. “White Paper on Anti-Displacement Strategy Effectiveness.” 
Prepared for the California Air Resources Board, February 2021. 

https://burienwa.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/33975/?preview=76250
https://kenmore.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/118191/?preview=119244
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/politics/five-seattle-suburbs-added-new-landlord-renter-laws-this-year-heres-what-they-do/
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/politics/five-seattle-suburbs-added-new-landlord-renter-laws-this-year-heres-what-they-do/
https://www.atg.wa.gov/residential-landlord-tenant-resources


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 43 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

cooperatives when tenants work together to purchase a building being converted to 

condominiums.39 

Rental Assistance Programs 

Rental assistance programs help low-income tenants pay rent in moments of hardship. Such a 

program can be very helpful in preventing families and individuals from becoming homeless and 

help stave off eviction and displacement. However, rental assistance programs are also 

relatively expensive and may have limited reach in a city of Port Orchard’s size. One option 

would be to investigate a temporary rental assistance fund for eligible low-income renters which 

can provide assistance for 1-3 months when a tenant is experiencing a financial crisis. 

Housing Rehabilitation 

Some low-income households are unable to afford ongoing maintenance on their homes, 

particularly older housing units. This can lead to displacement if the homes become 

uninhabitable or the home is sold at a low price. Many cities and counties in Washington, 

including Vancouver, Spokane, and Pierce County for example, provide no- or low-interest loans 

to qualifying low-income homeowners to help repair and rehabilitate their homes.40, 41, 42 

Some programs do not require repayment of the loan until after the house is sold, and others 

defer payments if residents cannot afford them, or waive interest for disability modifications. 

These programs are funded by a variety of sources, including city or county affordable housing 

funds, CDBG block grants from HUD, or HOME Investment Partnership programs. 

Community Control of Land 

There are several models of cooperative or shared land ownership which have been used to 

remove land speculation and market pressures from ownership housing and provide affordable 

and stable ownership opportunities for lower- and moderate-income households. Such 

organizations have mostly taken the form of cooperatives and community land trusts (CLT), or a 

combination of both approaches.  

In a community land trust, the land is held in trust by a nonprofit or city and only the housing unit 

is bought and sold, usually with permanent affordability restrictions in the covenant. Although 

this can reduce the amount of equity which can be built by buying and selling a home in a CLT, it 

does create opportunity for households whose incomes would typically exclude them from 

homeownership.  

In a co-op model, residents own shares in the land or buildings (depending on the model) and 

pay affordable monthly payments with limited equity to residents. One Oregon model showed 

 
39 “Tenant/Community Opportunity to Purchase.” PolicyLink. https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/tools/all-in-
cities/housing-anti-displacement/topa-copa  
40 “Housing Rehabilitation Loan Program.” City of Vancouver. https://www.cityofvancouver.us/eph/page/housing-

rehabilitation-loan-program 
41 “Home Rehabilitation.” City of Spokane. https://my.spokanecity.org/housing/affordable/ 
42 “Home Rehabilitation Loan Program.” Pierce County. https://www.piercecountywa.gov/3093/Home-Rehabilitation-

Loan-Program 

https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/tools/all-in-cities/housing-anti-displacement/topa-copa
https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/tools/all-in-cities/housing-anti-displacement/topa-copa
https://www.cityofvancouver.us/eph/page/housing-rehabilitation-loan-program
https://www.cityofvancouver.us/eph/page/housing-rehabilitation-loan-program
https://my.spokanecity.org/housing/affordable/
https://www.piercecountywa.gov/3093/Home-Rehabilitation-Loan-Program
https://www.piercecountywa.gov/3093/Home-Rehabilitation-Loan-Program


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 44 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

that combining a CLT and co-op yielded opportunities for homeownership for households 

earning 30-60% of the AMI.43 

Overall, the largest barrier to community land control models is lack of funding for ownership 

affordable housing to jumpstart these types of organizations.44 

Foreclosure Assistance 

Foreclosure assistance can take the form of financial support to homeowners facing 

foreclosure, similar to the rental assistance programs described above. Additionally, foreclosure 

assistance can take the form of technical assistance and counseling to households at risk. A 

study conducted by the Urban Institute during the Great Recession found that households that 

received counseling were more likely to avoid default and modify their loans to be able to keep 

making payments.45 Such a program could be provided by the city or in partnership with another 

organization.  

Living Wage Ordinance 

In the Port Orchard area, the hourly wage needed to afford the average two-bedroom apartment 

is $32.69 an hour.46 The minimum wage in Port Orchard is the default Washington State 

minimum wage of $15.74 per hour. 

A living wage ordinance requires a higher minimum wage than that required by state law, which 

can help reduce housing cost burden. Local ordinances are not widespread in Washington; only 

the cities of Seattle, SeaTac, and Tukwila currently have minimum wages higher than the 

statewide minimum.47 

Childcare and Early Education Subsidies 

Subsidizing early education is another way to help lower-income households who are unable to 

afford housing, as well as improving lifelong outcomes for children. Washington State provides 

financial assistance for child care for low-income families through the Working Connections 

Child Care subsidy. Other municipalities in Washington also provide childcare subsidy, such as 

Seattle’s Child Care Assistance Program and the King/Pierce County Child Care Resources 

subsidy program for families experiencing homelessness.  

 
43 “A Case for Public Investment in Shared-Equity Homeownership.” SquareOne Villages. September 2020. 

https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2021R1/Downloads/PublicTestimonyDocument/20717 
44 Gabobe, Nisma. “How Can Cities Move The Needle on Community Land Trusts?” Sightline Institute. August 2021. 

https://www.sightline.org/2021/08/23/how-can-cities-move-the-needle-on-community-land-trusts/ 
45 Chapple, Karen and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. “White Paper on Anti-Displacement Strategy Effectiveness.” 

Prepared for the California Air Resources Board, February 2021. 
46 National Low Income Housing Coalition, “Out of Reach: The High Cost of Housing.” 2022.    

    https://nlihc.org/oor/zip?code=98367 
47 “Minimum Wage”, Washington State Department of Labor & Industries. https://www.lni.wa.gov/workers-

rights/wages/minimum-wage/ 

https://dcyf.wa.gov/services/earlylearning-childcare/getting-help/wccc
https://dcyf.wa.gov/services/earlylearning-childcare/getting-help/wccc
https://www.seattle.gov/education/for-parents/child-care-and-preschool/child-care-assistance-program
https://www.childcare.org/ckfinder/userfiles/files/HCCP%20flyer%20FINAL%20ENG(1).pdf
https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2021R1/Downloads/PublicTestimonyDocument/20717
https://www.sightline.org/2021/08/23/how-can-cities-move-the-needle-on-community-land-trusts/
https://www.lni.wa.gov/workers-rights/wages/minimum-wage/
https://www.lni.wa.gov/workers-rights/wages/minimum-wage/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 45 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

3.2 – Homelessness Strategies 
Action: Strengthen coordination between the City and local homelessness support 

services and adopt a Housing First approach. 

Homelessness is a government concern because it relates to the health, safety, and welfare of 

individuals and the community at-large.48 This housing action plan addresses homelessness 

because the production and price of housing, which is affected by City policy, is directly 

correlated to the rate of homelessness.49 At the national level, every $100 increase in median 

rent is associated with a nine percent increase in the estimated homelessness population, even 

after accounting for demographic and economic characteristics.50 

Kitsap County conducts a point-in-time count of people experiencing homelessness countywide 

each year, typically in January. In 2022, the count was conducted in February instead. The count 

encompasses both sheltered and unsheltered people and is conducted during one 24-hour 

period each year. Therefore, the number is generally considered to be an undercount of the true 

population experiencing homelessness. In February 2022, 563 individuals were experiencing 

homelessness countywide, of which 136 were in transitional housing, 244 in emergency 

shelters, and 183 unsheltered. Of the 183 unsheltered residents surveyed, 23 percent, or 42 

people, were in Port Orchard. Countywide, 67 percent of those surveyed reported becoming 

homeless due to health or mental health issues, 58 percent due to job loss, 40 percent due to 

loss of housing, 35 percent due to family conflict, and 25 percent due to substance use.51  

Port Orchard staff should continue to monitor the annual point-in-time count and support the 

county as necessary to ensure consistent data collection on the extent and changes in the 

homeless population in the city. 

3.2.1 – Coordination 
The City does not directly offer any homeless shelters or transitional housing. Continue working 

with Kitsap County and service providers to provide outreach and offers for service and shelter 

for homeless individuals.  

This could include creation of a standardized directory of support services with available times 

and contact information (such as food banks, shelters, counseling, public transit, etc.), and 

distribute it on the City website and in print with local service providers. Assign a City staff 

person to contact each service at least monthly to maintain and update the directory. 

3.2.2 – Adopt a “Housing First” Approach 
Decades of research have found that helping homeless people move off the street and into a 

home of their own is the most effective way to reduce long-term (chronic) homelessness for the 

 
48 “Homelessness – Common Questions & Answers.” Washington State Department of Commerce. January 2019. 

https://www.skagitcounty.net/HumanServices/Documents/Housing/Homelessness%20FAQs%2001-2019.pdf 
49 “Homelessness is a Housing Problem.” Greg Colburn and Clayton Page Aldern. 

https://homelessnesshousingproblem.com/ 
50 “How COVID-19 Could Aggravate the Homelessness Crisis?” August 2020. United States Government 

Accountability Office. https://www.gao.gov/blog/how-covid-19-could-aggravate-homelessness-crisis 
51 Kitsap County Point In Time Count. https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx  

https://www.skagitcounty.net/HumanServices/Documents/Housing/Homelessness%20FAQs%2001-2019.pdf
https://homelessnesshousingproblem.com/
https://www.gao.gov/blog/how-covid-19-could-aggravate-homelessness-crisis
https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 46 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

most vulnerable people.52 This is because it is extremely difficult or impossible to address the 

personal, financial, mental, or physical problems that underlie homelessness while simply trying 

to stay alive. 

The “housing first” approach eliminates bureaucratic steps and places no criteria on sobriety, 

employment, criminal history, or completing a religious program before individuals are moved 

into a home. When someone is drowning, it doesn’t help if a rescuer insists the victim learn to 

swim before bringing them to shore. They can address their issues once they are on solid 

ground with private space, a stable address, and the dignity of meeting basic needs like food, 

warmth, and bathing. 

This approach is less costly to taxpayers than the combined costs of roving service contacts, 

emergency room visits, jail and shelter stays, towed vehicles, and maintenance of public 

spaces. Success stories and lessons abound from places as varied as Houston, TX, Columbus, 

OH and Salt Lake City, UT. 

The provision of homes can be done indirectly through vouchers, in which public funding 

directly subsidizes the cost of a market-rate rental unit, or directly through publicly owned 

housing. The type of housing is oftentimes and preferably in the form of apartments which are 

the cheapest type of housing to build and operate per unit. Sometimes existing apartment or 

motels are purchased, or a warehouse can be renovated for residential use. “Tiny home 

villages”, which are rapidly constructed on vacant sites or parking lots, may be appropriate but 

only on a temporary basis since they are not as durable, weather-proof, or livable as permanent 

structures. 

“Housing first” includes intensive wraparound social services and case management for the 

residents, either on-site or off-site. These services usually include support for people living with 

complex and disabling behavioral health or physical health conditions, addiction treatment, and 

employment assistance. Research has found that an overwhelming majority of permanent 

supportive housing residents eventually stabilize their lives and health enough to move to 

market-rate housing. 

The “housing first” policy has its limitations. It can only work if housing and service providers 

agree on the approach, if there is enough supply of housing available to work with at different 

income levels, and there is adequate long-term funding. All three requirements will require 

strategic planning and time to develop. To that end, this HAP recommends the following: 

• Convene a meeting of all relevant homelessness stakeholders to discuss the “housing 

first” approach 

• Adopt a “housing first” policy in the Comprehensive Plan 

• Regularly survey and monitor the scale of the homeless population 

• Provide or seek new funding for supportive housing such as rent vouchers or a City-

owned supportive housing development 

• Study alternatives for providing supportive housing with City funding or grant funding 

 
52 “Homelessness research: A guide for economists (and friends).” 2019. 

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137718302109 

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137718302109


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 47 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Inventory hotels/motels which could be candidates for purchase and conversion to 

permanent supportive housing 

• Explore programs and partnerships that could enable more social, health, and human 

care services to establish branch locations in Port Orchard. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 48 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

3.3 - Support Staffing Needs 
Action: Fund, recruit, and hire a housing coordinator to help implement this Housing 

Action Plan, connect and collaborate with housing stakeholders, and promote more 

market-rate and affordable housing development in Port Orchard. 

A housing coordinator would be a specialized 

position in the Community Development 

Department that promotes implementation of the 

Housing Action Plan and provides long-term policy 

support and relationship-building among Port 

Orchard’s residents, landlords, developers, human 

service providers, and City staff. 

This could be a permanent position or, at a 

minimum, a two year position focused on 

implementing the Housing Action Plan. 

Key responsibilities for the position should include:  

• Implement the actions and strategies of the Housing Action Plan  

• Plan, organize, coordinate, and implement the work plan and policies related to the City’s 

housing policies, projects, and programs. Study, evaluate, and recommend housing 

policies and procedures.  

• Serve as the City liaison to other departments and advisory boards on housing issues 

related to housing policy and provide citywide leadership and coordination on housing 

policy issues.  

• Apply for housing grants including from County sales tax housing set asides and 

Community Development Block Grant funds and manage grant implementation. Monitor 

other state funding and grant opportunities and write applications for funding, including 

joint applications with partner agencies. 

• Administer and monitor the MFTE program and provide guidance for property owners 

• Monitor housing production, the number and location of affordable housing units, and 

the number of unhoused people in Port Orchard and support department reports on 

housing and demographic trends 

• Build relationships with community partners in the non-profit, public, and private sectors, 

including acting as liaison to Housing Kitsap, Habitat for Humanity, and others. 

• Market Port Orchard to the residential real estate industry and manage inquiries, with a 

focus on promoting the qualities of the town, economic development opportunities, the 

friendly regulatory environment, and any financial incentives available 

• Recruit human service providers and senior housing developers to locate and build 

facilities in Port Orchard 

• Connect businesses and prospective residents to housing listings and providers 

• Connect tenants and landlords to resources help resolve disputes 

• Educate property owners and developers on development regulations and site-specific 

opportunities and share resources such as case studies, best practices, property 

maintenance standards, and property tax resources 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 57% of survey 

respondents are supportive of “Hiring a 

city housing coordinator to assist renters 

and support local homeless service.” 24% 

were not sure or need more information 

and 29% were opposed. Note that renters 

represented about 16% of survey 

participants.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 49 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Monitor changes to the Growth Management Act and related state laws on housing  

Qualifications for the position should include: 

• Bachelor’s degree in planning, real estate, public administration, finance, economics, 

business, or other fields where the knowledge and skills can translate to the 

responsibilities of the position. 

• Considerable (3-5 years) experience in program management, affordable housing policy, 

community planning, public policy, real estate finance or development, business 

administration, or economic development. 

• Proficiency with Microsoft Office and other software related to planning operations. 

The ideal candidate will: 

• Have a creative, open-minded, and pragmatic attitude. 

• Thrive in a fast-paced, team-based environment while also being able to work 

independently. 

• Clearly communicate ideas and concepts. 

• Have strong organizational and data analysis skills. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 50 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4 – Citywide Planning Strategies 
These actions relate to the City’s budget and updating the Comprehensive Plan. 

4.1 – Housing Element Updates 
Action: In the next Comprehensive Plan update, update the Housing Element to 

support the actions of this Housing Action Plan and integrate new provisions required 

by state law. 

Recent updates to the Growth Management Act require some updates on data and 

goals/policies for the Comprehensive Plan’s Housing element. Many of these required updates 

overlap with the data and objectives provided in this Housing Action Plan, though some 

additional work may be needed. 

In addition to statements of goals, policies, objectives, and mandatory provisions for the 

preservation, improvement, and development of housing, updated RCW 36.70A.070(2) (2021) 

now requires: 

• An inventory and analysis of existing and projected housing needs that identifies the 

number of housing units necessary to manage projected growth including: 

o Units for moderate, low, very low, and extremely low-income households 

o Emergency housing, emergency shelters, and permanent supportive housing 

• Goals and policies for moderate density housing options including, but not limited to, 

duplexes, triplexes, and townhomes 

• Identify sufficient capacity of land for housing including, but not limited to, government-

assisted housing, housing for moderate, low, very low, and extremely low-income 

households, manufactured housing, multifamily housing, group homes, foster care 

facilities, emergency housing, emergency shelters, permanent supportive housing, and 

consideration of duplexes, triplexes, and townhomes 

• Makes adequate provisions for all economic segments of the community, including: 

o Low, very low, extremely low, and moderate-income households 

o Documenting programs and actions needed to achieve housing availability 

including gaps in local funding, barriers such as development regulations, and 

other limitations 

o Consideration of housing locations in relation to employment location 

o Consideration of the role of accessory dwelling units in meeting housing needs 

• Identify local policies and regulations that result in racially disparate impacts, 

displacement, and exclusion in housing, including: 

o Zoning that may have a discriminatory effect 

o Disinvestment 

o Infrastructure availability 

• Identify and implement policies and regulations to address and begin to undo racially 

disparate impacts, displacement, and exclusion in housing caused by local policies, 

plans, and actions 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.070


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 51 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Identify areas that may be at higher risk of displacement from market forces that occur 

with changes to zoning development regulations and capital investments; and 

• Establish anti-displacement policies, with consideration given to the preservation of 

historical and cultural communities as well as investments in low, very low, extremely 

low, and moderate-income housing; equitable development initiatives; inclusionary 

zoning; community planning requirements; tenant protections; land disposition policies; 

and consideration of land that may be used for affordable housing. 

In the annual amendment cycle or the next major update (due in 2024), the Housing Element 

could be updated with specific policies relating to the many strategies and actions of this 

Housing Action Plan. Relevant HAP actions to acknowledge at the comprehensive planning 

level may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Development regulation streamlining that provides more housing options 

• Guidance on homelessness reduction and prevention 

• Support for a multifamily tax exemption program, tax increment financing for 

infrastructure and affordable housing, and transit funding to support housing and 

economic development 

• Policies for the acquisition and disposition of surplus public land for affordable housing  

(see Strategy 4.4), especially City-owned land in downtown. 

• Support for new anti-displacement policies 

4.2 – Land Use Element Updates 
The Comprehensive Plan Land Use element should be reviewed for potential updates on these 

issues. 

4.2.1 – Corridor Zoning 

Action: In the next major Comprehensive Plan Update, review the balance between 

residential and commercial land capacity and adjust the future land use map. 

Some of Port Orchard’s major transportation corridors are targeted for transit investments by 

Kitsap Transit. The Comprehensive Plan update should consider whether land use regulations 

and infrastructure plans are supportive of transit-oriented development, particularly in 

designated centers.  

The City’s primary commercial corridor (also consisting of several designated centers), Bethel 

Road, is planned to have an upgraded roadway with roundabouts and bike and pedestrian 

infrastructure in the next few years. At the same time, Kitsap Transit plans a bus rapid transit 

route in the corridor (between Downtown and approximately Sedgwick Road).53  

However, there is room for improvement in land use and amenities in the transit walkshed (a 

quarter to half mile walking distance). The corridor has a patchwork of zoning with few clear 

patterns and low building height limits, including low-density residential zoning both inside and 

 
53 “Long-Range Transit Plan 2022-2042.” Kitsap Transit. December 2022. https://www.kitsaptransit.com/agency-

information/planning/lrtp 

https://www.kitsaptransit.com/agency-information/planning/lrtp
https://www.kitsaptransit.com/agency-information/planning/lrtp


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 52 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

outside the city limits. Existing development is largely not pedestrian-oriented, being 

characterized by large parking lots, low-scale commercial buildings, residential cul-de-sacs, and 

a discontinuous street grid. The Commercial Heavy zone does not allow general residential 

development, potentially locking in suburban-style strip malls and shopping centers on large 

parcels. There are no public parks, schools, community centers, or other civic amenities in the 

corridor that can help attract residential development and serve affordable housing residents. 

Opportunities for infill and mixed-use redevelopment, including affordable housing, should be 

explored in the Comprehensive Plan and a future Bethel subarea plan. 

The Mile Hill corridor has similar challenges but at a smaller scale. Incentives could be adjusted 

to support redevelopment of strategic sites like self-storage facilities and infilling underutilized 

parking lots. Explorations should consider the proximity to Downtown, South Kitsap High 

School, and Blackjack Creek. 

The Tremont, Pottery, and Sidney corridors are generally characterized by R2 or BPMU zoning 

and proximity to parks and schools. Kitsap Transit plans transit service enhancements in some 

of these areas. Upzones to allow at least moderate-scale multifamily development in more 

areas should be considered. 

The Lund and Jackson corridors in the unincorporated urban growth area could also be 

explored for near-term annexation and subsequent zoning that incentivizes infill middle housing 

and multifamily housing which helps pay for infrastructure and services. These areas are mostly 

developed with a mix of low-to-medium density housing and have an identity linked to Port 

Orchard. Proximity to South Kitsap Regional Park and several schools is an asset to be 

leveraged. 

4.2.2 – Neighborhood Commercial Uses 

Action: Review the opportunity for allowing small neighborhood commercial uses in 

residential neighborhoods. 

Residential zones are not permitted to have restaurants, cafes, convenience stores, or other 

types of small commercial uses. The City uses the NMU zone for this purpose, which allows the 

shopfront house building type (also see Strategy 2.2.6) but not single-purpose apartment 

buildings. Consider adding more nodes of NMU zoning in residential neighborhoods, particularly 

on corner lots. Forest Park Grocery and Deli near the intersection of West Avenue and South 

Street is a good example of the types of development that may occur with this zoning over time, 

providing more neighborhood services within walking distance of housing.  

Review other NMU zoning standards to ensure commercial uses are well-integrated into 

residential neighborhoods. This could include limitations on the size of commercial uses (e.g. 

1,000 to 2,500 square feet, with clarity on gross or net), reduced or eliminated off-street parking 

requirements for businesses, and prohibiting incompatible activities such as outdoor storage.  

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 53 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.2.3 – Park-Oriented Development  

Action: Consider increasing zoning capacity around Port Orchard’s major parks. 

Port Orchard’s parks are major assets of the community, and access to outdoor recreation is 

important for public health and well-being. Allowing more housing near major parks and 

recreation uses (such as within a quarter-mile) can have several benefits, including allowing 

more people to walk and bike to parks for healthy recreation and encouraging a long-term 

increase in park users and community ownership of parks. Park access is particularly important 

for families with children. Notable rezoning opportunities are in the areas around Givens 

Playfield (which is also adjacent to a community center), McCormick Village Park, and Clayton 

Park. Most parks are also near transit stops. 

Part of the area north of Givens Playfield is also near the Kitsap County campus and zoned 

BPMU. This area consists mostly of detached homes and some vacant lots. The zoning 

encourages a transition to commercial uses over time, though little such activity has occurred. 

Rezoning this area for park-oriented development could also have the dual benefits of 

increasing the feasibility of mixed-use development with commercial space and multifamily 

housing. 

 
Figure 17. The vicinity of Givens Playfield (Google Maps) 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 54 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Another large park which Port Orchard residents utilize is South Kitsap Regional Park. This is 

currently outside the city limits but contained in the urban growth area. When this area is 

annexed the City should consider park-oriented zoning that allows for a wider range of housing 

types near the park. 

Recently adopted development regulations for the area near the planned west entrance to 

McCormick Village Park allow middle housing development and a proposed mixed housing 

neighborhood is in permitting review. However, there are other unentitled properties near 

McCormick Village Park and the golf course clubhouse that may be candidates for multifamily 

and middle housing uses. These changes would ensure that all areas of the city provide 

opportunities for people of different economic means with the opportunity to live and work (see 

further discussion in the introduction to Strategy 2.1). 

 
Figure 18. A concept for a mix of housing including middle housing from the recently adopted McCormick 
Village Subarea Plan in a location adjacent to McCormick Village Park. 

 

   
Figure 19. Examples of parcels highlighted in green that could be zoned for multifamily or middle housing 
due to their proximity to parks and recreation amenities.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 55 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.2.4– Parking  

Action: In the next major Comprehensive Plan Update, review the need for minimum 

parking requirements citywide and review national case studies for best practices. 

Parking is an issue that should be revisited in the next Comprehensive Plan update. Consider 

policy support for removing minimum requirements entirely, as is increasingly being done in 

cities and states across the country and called for by professional planning and engineering 

organizations.54, 55 A related option is to add maximum parking requirements, especially for the 

most intense uses such as retail.56 

Removing parking requirements does not have any immediate effect on housing supply or 

prices or neighborhood design. Related requirements such as parking lot landscaping and 

stormwater treatment for impervious surfaces would remain. Over time, it gives the power of 

parking design back to property owners and businesses to decide how much parking they need 

to attract tenants and customers.57 New development will still include parking spaces, but the 

number of spaces will be decided based on what owners need based on their experience and 

budget rather than government rules.58 

Removing the minimum requirement can also ease the 

renovation of older vacant buildings and allow new small 

businesses to open in commercial spaces where they 

couldn’t before. Removing parking requirements 

significantly reduces the red tape and studies that are 

required to justify modifications, reductions, or cooperative 

parking agreements, the costs of which may exceed the 

budgets of local property owners or small investors. Starter 

homes like townhomes and condos may become easier to 

build and improve homeownership opportunities. 

Removing parking standards would complement increased 

transit service, as discussed in Strategy 5.6. 

At the minimum, new state law adopted in 2023 (House Bill 1110) sets maximum limits on the 

minimum parking spaces for middle housing (duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, fiveplexes, 

sixplexes, townhouses, stacked flats, courtyard apartments, and cottage housing). This 

preemption must be codified within six months of the major Comprehensive Plan update being 

adopted. Up to one parking space per unit may be required on lots smaller than 6,000 SF (before 

any zero lot line subdivisions or lot splits) and up to two 2 spaces per unit may be required on 

larger lots. 

 
54 “Parking Reform Network.” https://parkingreform.org/resources/mandates-map/ 
55 “Rethinking Parking Minimums.” Institute of Transportation Engineers. February 2019. 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/1becvgm8ebznwj2/ITE%20journal.pdf?dl=0 
56 “Parking Maximums.” Sustainable Development Code. https://sustainablecitycode.org/brief/parking-maximums-7/ 
57 “End Parking Mandates & Subsidies.” Strong Towns. https://www.strongtowns.org/parking 
58 “Save Anchorage from Parking Mandates.” Sightline. September 2022. 

https://www.sightline.org/2022/09/30/save-anchorage-from-parking-mandates/ 

The costs of building and 

maintaining parking are a major 

factor in housing costs. Parking 

costs are passed on to renters, 

homeowners, and business 

tenants. Surface parking spaces 

can cost up to $30,000 and a 

structured parking space can cost 

$50,000 or more. Studies have 

shown this can add $200-500 per 

month to new apartment rents. 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://parkingreform.org/resources/mandates-map/
https://www.dropbox.com/s/1becvgm8ebznwj2/ITE%20journal.pdf?dl=0
https://sustainablecitycode.org/brief/parking-maximums-7/
https://www.strongtowns.org/parking
https://www.sightline.org/2022/09/30/save-anchorage-from-parking-mandates/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 56 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.3 – Public Land for Affordable Housing 
Actions: Consider rezonings, environmental assessments, pre-development activities, 

and partnerships to promote use of surplus public land for affordable housing. 

The City has a modest amount of surplus publicly-owned land. Some of it is well-located or 

positioned to merit consideration for housing development. Considerations for key properties 

and strategies are described in this section. Other public lands (such as those owned by Kitsap 

County, the Port of Bremerton, and other agencies) could be reviewed in the future. 

4.3.1 – Disposition Policy 
Formally adopt a surplus land disposition policy that gives the right-of-first-refusal to affordable 

housing developers or other community-determined uses, consistent with the allowances of 

RCW 39.33.015 (note that some modifications to the affordability provisions of the statue were 

made in 2023 under House Bill 1695). The policy could be adopted by City Council resolution 

and embedded within the Comprehensive Plan’s Housing Element (also see Strategy 4.2). 

4.3.2 – Land Acquisition 
The cost of land can be a major cost for any housing development, and providing a discounted 

land lease or sale can help some projects become economically viable. Since the City does not 

have much surplus land, the City can identify and purchase underutilized or vacant properties 

that can be developed as affordable housing. Land assembly can be a powerful tool for putting 

together larger sites that can be redeveloped at a more economically feasible scale.  

This strategy could be focused on close-in locations (e.g. Downtown and the Bethel Avenue and 

Mile Hill Drive corridors) where land ownership is fragmented. Port Orchard may also focus on 

vacant, abandoned, or tax-delinquent properties. These sites usually have negative impacts on 

surrounding properties and the City’s role would include resolving ownership issues and/or 

addressing tax liens or land encumbrances that otherwise deter developers from pursuing these 

properties.59 

Once acquired and assembled, Port Orchard would lease or sell the land for affordable housing.  

See the related need for a land disposition policy in Strategy 4.4.1 

4.3.3 – Tremont/Pottery Roundabout Property (Parcel 342401-4-016-2001 & 342401-

4-015-2002) 
This is a one-acre vacant site within the Tremont Center and zoned Commercial Mixed Use. The 

site could be viable for townhomes or multifamily development with a small commercial 

component, potentially leveraging new single stair provisions (see Strategy 2.4.7). It is eligible 

for the Type 1 and Type 3 MFTE programs, which could improve the feasibility of affordable 

housing on the site. 

While Tremont Street is newly rebuilt with pedestrian and bike infrastructure, the general area is 

not walkable to services besides gas stations, medical offices, and schools. This and parking 

 
59 “Support the Reuse of Abandoned, Vacant, & Delinquent Properties.” Family Housing Fund. 

https://www.fhfund.org/report/reuse-of-abandoned-properties/ 

 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=39.33.015
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1695&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://www.fhfund.org/report/reuse-of-abandoned-properties/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 57 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

requirements will require a significant portion of the site be dedicated to surface parking, 

limiting the housing capacity of the site. Some amount of structured parking might be 

economically feasible with the savings from a discounted land transfer, though the site’s 

irregular shape could make efficient parking layouts a challenge. Parking could potentially be 

shared with the healthcare facility directly behind the site to the north. 

Development could fully or partially vacate Alder Lane, which is City right-of-way and does not 

serve any other properties (any utilities may need to be relocated). The site could also 

potentially expand by acquiring part of the adjacent healthcare facility site if there is 

underutilized parking there; that site is zoned as Public Facilities which does not allow any 

residential land uses. 

 
Figure 20. City owned property at the Tremont and Pottery Roundabout 

4.3.4 – Mitchell Avenue Property (Parcel 252401-3-045-2009) 
This is a 1.7 acre forested site within the Lower Mile Hill Center and it is zoned R4, which allows 

up to four-story buildings. The site boundary has a small cutout of R3 zoning where there is a 

cell phone tower. The site could be viable for townhomes or multifamily development. The site 

is across the street from South Kitsap High School and could be an ideal location for family 

housing (units with two or more bedrooms). It is eligible for the Type 1 MFTE program, which 

could improve the feasibility of affordable housing on the site.  

The site is moderately sloped, with a 70 feet elevation difference between the top and bottom of 

the property (a horizontal distance of 240 feet). Significant tree standards and topography may 

add construction costs and reduce housing capacity, but the economic feasibility may also be 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 58 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

improved with the savings from a discounted land transfer. A recent study by Portland State 

University suggested an increase of 40-50% in development costs for affordable housing built 

on sites of 20% slope or more.60 The site could potentially be configured with two separate 

clusters of buildings at the top and bottom of the hill. The site is bordered to the west and north 

by strips of undeveloped City right-of-way, which could be vacated to expand the site and/or 

provide access solutions. 

The site could also potentially expand by acquiring one or more of the adjacent parcels, 

particularly off Bethel Avenue, to increase circulation options and improve economies of scale. 

The adjacent commercial properties are either vacant or have low-value improvements, they are 

zoned Gateway Mixed Use, and they are within the Downtown Height Overlay District 5 which 

allows up to five-story buildings. 

 
Figure 21. City owned property off of Mitchell Avenue 

 

 
60”Impact of Slope on Housing Development Costs.” Portland State University. 2010.  

https://www.pdx.edu/realestate/sites/g/files/znldhr3251/files/2020-
10/01_impact_of_slope_on_development_SU20_p2.pdf 
Note: This study also has other useful data on the impact of slope on development costs for various building types 

https://www.pdx.edu/realestate/sites/g/files/znldhr3251/files/2020-10/01_impact_of_slope_on_development_SU20_p2.pdf
https://www.pdx.edu/realestate/sites/g/files/znldhr3251/files/2020-10/01_impact_of_slope_on_development_SU20_p2.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 59 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.4 – McCormick East Future Neighborhood Planning 
Action: In the next Comprehensive Plan update, identify the McCormick East area as a 

future mixed housing and commercial area and/or local center. Develop a subarea plan 

to shape this area as a mixed housing and mixed income development. 

4.4.1 – McCormick East Overview  
The McCormick East area is a large unentitled area located in the southwest area of Port 

Orchard near the intersection of Glenwood Road and McCormick Woods Drive. The area is 

currently zoned R2. 

 
Figure 22. Location of McCormick East. 

4.4.2 – McCormick East Summary 
The McCormick East area was annexed by the City of Port Orchard during the Great Recession.  

Unlike other areas of west Port Orchard such as McCormick Woods, McCormick Trails, and 

McCormick Village, McCormick East remains unentitled. It is also identified as a future planning 

area in the City’s utility plans. As described in Section 1.3 regarding geographic equity and the 

introduction to Strategy 2.1 for allowed uses, the City must be cognizant of the geographic 

inequities located in areas east and west of SR-16.   

The McCormick East area includes approximately 108 acres of recently logged undeveloped 

land with relatively few critical areas.  The recent logging that took place means that there are 

few significant trees present and that the site is a blank slate for development. Under the 

current zoning, it is likely that this property would develop with detached homes. Some ADUs or 

duplexes would be possible in this area but are unlikely. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 60 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Due to the previous entitlements and development agreements governing the development of 

most other areas in McCormick Woods, McCormick Trails, and McCormick Village, there are 

few opportunities to increase the presence of affordable housing types west of SR-16. Kitsap 

Transit is planning a large park-and-ride facility in the nearby Ruby Creek Neighborhood. This 

transit investment along with planned transit routes makes McCormick East ripe for a new 

master plan. 

4.4.3 – McCormick East Recommendations 
The City should work to develop a subarea plan to guide the development of the McCormick 

East area. This plan should seek to provide zoning to allow a mix of commercial development 

and middle housing. The area could be designated as a local or countywide center and should 

be designed to promote transit access. The timing of a McCormick East subarea plan is likely 

not feasible until after the City’s 2024 Comprehensive Plan Update. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 61 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5 – Funding Strategies 
These actions relate to the financing and funding of affordable housing and related issues like 

taxes, fees, and state law. 

5.1 - Multifamily Tax Exemption Program 
Action: Update the MFTE program based on increased developer interest in 

multifamily and mixed-use projects to streamline requirements, balance affordability 

and foregone tax revenue, and take advantage of increased flexibility in statewide 

legislation. 

5.1.1 – MFTE Overview  
A multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) program is authorized by a 1995 state law, RCW 84.14. 

Cities can grant an 8-year property tax exemption for any multifamily development or a 12-year 

exemption for multifamily developments that reserve at least 20 percent of units for low- and 

moderate-income households.  

The state made several changes to the MFTE program in 2021. The 12-year tax exemption and 

affordability covenants can now be renewed for 12 more years if the property owner continues 

to provide units affordable to low-income families. Cities may now also offer a 20-year tax 

exemption for ownership units if at least 25 percent of these condominium units are sold as 

permanently affordable ownership housing.61  

A MFTE program can be used for new buildings or existing buildings that require major 

rehabilitation. For cities under 20,000 residents, both the 12-year and the 20-year programs 

require the development to be in a zone that allows at least 15 dwelling units per acre. 

Land, existing site improvements, and non-residential improvements are not exempt and are 

subject to normal property taxes. At the local government's discretion, the exemption’s basis 

may be limited to the value of affordable units or other criteria. The local government has 

latitude in many aspects. It can require certain public benefits, change what types of 

development apply, and can map specific areas where the exemption is available. Cities can 

also set lower maximum rent prices than the statute allows and other lease stipulations such as 

requiring the participating units to be pet-friendly. 

The MFTE program can have complex fiscal implications due to Washington’s “levy lid” 

restrictions which limit the rate of increase of total regular property tax revenue to 1% per year 

for communities of 10,000 or more. In theory, the value of the tax exemption granted to 

developers would represent foregone revenue for the city. However, the reality is more 

complicated. Construction of MFTE projects often takes place over multiple years and county 

assessors are required to factor in the portion of new projects which are completed by July 31 

each year. However, the tax exemption itself does not take effect until January 1 after the year 

in which the project is completed. Theoretically, the assessor should remove the value of the 

partially-constructed MFTE properties which were previously added at this point, however, in 

 
61 “Overview of 2021 Changes to the Multifamily Housing Tax Exemption Program.” Washington State Department of 

Commerce. https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=84.14
https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 62 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

reality this happens inconsistently. As a result, the value of the portion of the property which 

was completed in years prior to the final year of construction can result in a “tax shift” where 

taxes on that portion of the project’s property value are shifted to the citywide tax base if that 

portion is not removed from the assessor’s table of total taxable property value.62 This complex 

situation can obfuscate whether the tax exemption results in foregone revenue to the city or 

whether it merely shifts taxes to the citywide tax base. In most cases, both are occurring to 

some degree. The Washington Joint Legislative Audit and Review Committee’s 2019 audit of 

the MFTE program found that they could not determine the amount of local tax savings which 

was shifted to other taxpayers as a result of the complex situation around the “levy lid.”63 

5.1.2 – Port Orchard MFTE Summary 
Port Orchard has had an MFTE program in place since 2016, which is codified under Chapter 

3.48 POMC, and which provides three types of exemptions. The “Type 1” program is a 12-year 

exemption available to properties zoned for multifamily or mixed-use near transit or ferry and 

requires 20 percent of units to be rented at affordable rates based on HUDs fair market rent. 

The “Type 2” program is an 8-year exemption available to abandoned or underutilized properties 

within local centers of importance which are encouraged to redevelop. The “Type 3” program is 

an 8-year exemption available to properties within local centers of importance and zoned for 

multifamily or mixed-use with requirements for denser, “urban” style development: a minimum 

density of 50 units per acre and at least 50 percent structured parking, shopfronts equal to 40 

percent of all building footprints, or additional height purchased through the city’s transfer of 

development rights program.  

A total of four projects totaling 332 units (including 20 affordable units) have been built using 

Port Orchard’s MFTE program, and four more projects totaling 427 more units (including 45 

affordable units) are currently in progress. For a full summary of Port Orchard’s MFTE program, 

see Section 5 of the Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report in the Appendix. 

Port Orchard’s method of setting subsidized rents in MFTE projects at 10 percent below HUD 

fair market rents is unusual, as most jurisdictions in Washington rent subsidized MFTE units to 

families earning between 80 and 115 percent of HUD’s MFI for their area, and cap the rent at 30 

percent of the household’s income, adjusted for household size. 64 However, Port Orchard’s 

system meets legal state requirements and, based on a preliminary analysis, seems to result in 

rents which are lower than those based on the larger Bremerton-Silverdale MSA HUD MFI. 

5.1.2 – Recommendations 
Port Orchard has seen an increase in proposed downtown residential-commercial mixed-use 

projects in recent years. Since these types of projects would be eligible for MFTE funding, it is 

important to revisit and potentially update some aspects of the program to balance the benefit 

 
62 This concept is very complex and more information can be found in Commerce’s “What is Tax Shift?” guidesheet 

here https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/9jg7p2ebm467ddpmb1c5u3d4ei22cs1n as well as starting on p. 37 of 
Commerce’s MFTE guidebook here: https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/ij5o80ne5e1740mmh6u05qrjk047g3cw  
63 The JLARC audit’s findings can be found at: https://leg.wa.gov/jlarc/taxReports/2019/MFTE/f_ii/default.html  
64 Following HUD’s definition of a “cost-burdened” household 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/9jg7p2ebm467ddpmb1c5u3d4ei22cs1n
https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/ij5o80ne5e1740mmh6u05qrjk047g3cw
https://leg.wa.gov/jlarc/taxReports/2019/MFTE/f_ii/default.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 63 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

and foregone tax revenue of affordable units to ensure the program’s goals are being met and 

to address recent changes in the program allowed under state law.65 

Clarify map and zoning of areas of MFTE eligibility. MFTE projects must be in urban centers as 

defined by RCW 84.14.010, which describes compact districts with a variety of shops, a mix of 

uses, and public facilities. Port Orchard’s municipal code contains maps of parcels eligible for 

MFTE funding, but they are difficult to read and are not updated with the latest parcel lines, as 

shown below in Error! Reference source not found.. An improved map which shows both the c

ity’s established “centers” and the outline of areas eligible for MFTE development at a larger 

scale would streamline the process for potential developers. 

 
Figure 23. Maps of parcels currently eligible for the Type 1, Type 2, and Type 3 MFTE programs. Source: City 
of Port Orchard Municipal Code 

Correct definition of underutilized buildings. POMC 3.48.040(2)(a)(iii) states that underutilized 

buildings have an “assessed building value to land ratio of two-to-one or more.” This appears to 

be backwards, as underutilized buildings are defined by a low building to land-value ratio. The 

code should be revised to state “building value to land ratio of two-to-one or less,” or land value 

to building value ratio of two-to-one or more.” 

Add minimum density in units per acre to multifamily and mixed-use zones. State law requires 

that 12-year and 20-year MFTE programs which contain affordable rental or homeownership 

units be located in areas zoned for a minimum average density of 15 units per acre in cities with 

populations under 20,000. Port Orchard does not currently define minimum unit densities in its 

code, although the allowed zoning in MFTE areas likely meets this threshold based on allowed 

height, setbacks, FAR, etc. However, to better comply with state law, considering quantifying 

minimum densities in the zoning code for mixed-use and multifamily zones. See Section 2.3.3 

for considerations. 

Consider changes to the method of income calculations for affordable units and conduct an 

audit of the program. Port Orchard’s program is unusual in that it uses HUD fair market rent to 

calculate rents for subsidized units. Although the system seems to be working and is allowed 

under state law, it may be more complex for developers or property managers who are 

accustomed to methods used in most other cities where MFTE programs are tied to the HUD 

median family income. If the City wishes to ensure a deeper level of affordability compared to 

the MFI, the program could be calibrated to a lower level (such as 60 percent rather than 80 

 
65 A comprehensive list of 2021 legislative changes to the MFTE program can be found here: 
https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf 

https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 64 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

percent MFI). Regardless of the method used, the city should audit the MFTE program annually 

to ensure that the cumulative benefit to income-restricted residents is greater than the foregone 

revenue from the tax exemption. This audit should be conducted by the Community 

Development or Finance department and should result in an annual report presented to city 

council. Additionally, consider partnering with Housing Kitsap for MFTE administration and to 

reduce city staff’s workload when verifying incomes of subsidized unit residents, since housing 

authorities have infrastructure and skills in place to conduct such income verifications. 

Consider removing transit proximity for affordable units. Port Orchard’s Type 1 program 

currently requires projects to be within ½ mile of a transit stop or ferry terminal. Although this 

provides benefits to lower-income residents who do not own vehicles, the quality and availability 

of transit service in Port Orchard is low and is a recent study by WSDOT indicates that transit in 

the city is not at the level or frequency which encourages residents to own fewer vehicles.66  

It is also not clear that transit proximity has any practical effect, since the maps for the Type 1 

and Type 3 programs are nearly identical. Removing this requirement could expand eligible 

projects and the distribution of affordable units across the city. 

Consider a height bonus for MFTE developments. Currently Port Orchard allows a height bonus 

for Type 3 MFTE developments through the Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) program. 

Such programs are rarely used. Numerous cities in Washington, including Port Angeles and 

Kirkland, allow height bonuses in exchange for the provision of affordable units in their MFTE 

programs. Consider adding such a bonus to the MFTE to improve development feasibility. Such 

a program could have separate height bonus allowances based on zoning and MFTE program 

type. See Strategy 2.3.2 for more details. 

Streamline requirements for Type 3 program. The Type 3 program currently has somewhat 

stringent requirements to create denser, urban-style buildings through various criteria. Although 

the intention to stimulate higher density development in centers is an important component of 

the program, recent projects suggest that the share of structured parking, density, and 

commercial square footage required may be disincentivizing use. Each of the three 

requirements could be streamlined to increase viability of participating in the program: 

• The requirement for 50 percent structured parking combined with 50 units per acre of 

density may be redundant since the only way to achieve higher densities is by putting 

parking into structures. Eliminating the structured parking requirement but retaining a 

relatively high-density requirement (40-50 units per acre) would effectively require that 

the project either include structured parking or that surface parking ratios are relatively 

low. 

• Reducing the requirement for 40 percent of all building footprints to contain 

commercial use or replacing this requirement with a required minimum percentage of 

the frontage being commercial would be appropriate given the exiting amount of 

 
66 “Frequent Transit Service Study.” Washington State Department of Transportation. 

https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/  

https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 65 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

commercial zoning in Port Orchard. The design requirements in the MFTE ordinance 

may also be superfluous given the existing block frontage standards in POMC 20.127. 

• Finally, an overall height bonus for MFTE developments as discussed above may be 

more effective than the TDR height bonus option currently in the Type 3 program. 

Reduce minimum number of units required for participation. Port Orchard’s program currently 

requires a minimum of 10 units in a project to qualify for the MFTE program. State law only 

requires a minimum of four units. Updating the Port Orchard program to require a minimum of 

four units would bring the program in line with statewide standards as well as potentially 

providing added feasibility for smaller “missing middle” housing types. 

Consider adding a requirement for affordable units to be distributed within a 

development/building. This promotes principles of mixed-income communities and avoids real 

or perceived concentrations of pover 

Consider adding a 20-year MFTE program. Since 2021, cities under 20,000 residents such as 

Port Orchard can add a 20-year ownership MFTE program under RCW 84.14.021(1)(b) where at 

least 25 percent of units must be sold to a qualified nonprofit or local government partner that 

will ensure permanent affordable homeownership. Providing affordable homeownership 

opportunities to low- and moderate-income households can help build wealth for households 

which otherwise could not afford to own a home.  

Allow a 12-year extension for Type 1 participating property owners. Since 2021, cities are 

allowed to grant a 12-year extension to existing MFTE programs within 18 months of expiration. 

Multifamily housing approved for a 12-year extension must maintain 20% of units as affordable 

for low-income households (during the extension period moderate-income households are no 

longer included in the affordable unit counts). Tenant notice and relocation assistance are 

required in the 10th and 11th years of projects receiving a 12-year extension (see more detail 

below). Port Orchard should consider adding this provision to its MFTE program to ensure 

continued affordability of units created through this program. 

Require relocation assistance for low-income tenants whose rent subsidy is expiring. The 

2021 changes to the MFTE program which allow the 12-year extension described above also 

require that landlords provide notice in the 10th and 11th years of the program that it will expire in 

the 12th year and provide one month’s rent as relocation assistance to qualified tenants in their 

final month of tenancy. Best practices in line with the anti-displacement strategies in Strategy 

3.1 would also extend these tenant protections to any Type 1 property, regardless of whether it 

is an extension or not. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 66 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.2 – Development Fee Adjustments 
Action: Consider adjusting development fees for 2-4 unit buildings and some fee 

discounts for affordable housing while continuing to offer sewer and water exemptions 

for small ADUs. Some adjustments may be needed to impact fee structure to comply 

with 2023 state legislative changes. 

Port Orchard, like many municipalities, levies impact and development fees on new construction 

to fund improvements in infrastructure for schools, parks, and other services, as well as hookup 

and general facilities charges for water and sewer connections to new developments. 

Stakeholders interviewed by the HAP project team in 2022 indicated that Port Orchard’s fees are 

considered to be high, particularly in relation to Kitsap County’s fees and other nearby 

jurisdictions. A full breakdown of Port Orchard’s impact fees can be found in the appendices of 

the Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report. 

Water and sewer hookup fees and general facilities charges are difficult to compare due to 

different structures across municipalities, but Port Orchard’s fees seem to be at the higher end 

of the Kitsap region, at $11,571 per water hookup and $12,788 per sewer hookup per ERU 

(defined in the code as one single-family dwelling unit of any type, attached or detached). By 

comparison, Bremerton charges $4,245 for water hookups and Poulsbo charges $5,065 for 

water hookups and $11,211 for sewer hookups per ERU. 

Port Orchard does prorate its impact fees by unit type. This is a best practice in encouraging a 

diversity of housing types and sizes. However, the margins of discount for 2-4 unit buildings 

could be increased to incentivize more “middle housing” development. Senate Bill 5258, 

adopted in 2023 and codified in RCW 82.02.060, now requires that impact fees for residential 

development have proportionally lower fees for smaller housing units. The method of 

calculating the proportional impact fees must be “based on the square footage, number of 

bedrooms, or trips generated” by the new housing unit. The new legislation takes the best 

practice of prorating impact fees by housing unit type and size, and makes it a requirement 

across the State. Port Orchard will need to study its impact fee structure and potentially make 

adjustments or demonstrate that the existing fees comply with this new legislation.  

In addition, some cities reduce impact fees for affordable housing units and are allowed to 

reduce such fees by up to 80% under RCW 82.02.060. Port Orchard could consider some 

reductions for affordable housing units to incentivize more development of subsidized units. 

House Bill 1326, passed in 2023, now also authorizes waivers for utility connection charges for 

nonprofits and housing authorities building affordable housing. Finally, Port Orchard currently 

exempts small ADUs from sewer and water hookup fees as discussed in Section 5.4, another 

best practice in encouraging infill housing. 

Any reduction in impact or hookup fees or GFCs would need to be rebalanced elsewhere for 

market-rate development. 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 67 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.3 – Local Bank Funding 
Action: Encourage local banks to create a fund for affordable housing finance 

Under the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA), banks are required to meet the credit needs of 

low- and moderate-income households in communities in which they operate. Many banks meet 

their CRA requirements by investing in Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC), providing 

capital to nonprofit affordable housing providers who use the capital to build regulated 

affordable housing, usually for households earning under 60-80 percent of the AMI. Outside of 

LIHTC, some banks are also working with cities across the country to fund other types of 

affordable housing, including “workforce” housing for households earning between 80 and 120 

percent AMI, through non-tax credit programs.67 For example, the Charlotte Housing Opportunity 

Fund combines city bond money with private investment from banks to provide gap funding for 

affordable housing projects. The fund has doubled the city’s affordable housing finance pool 

since 2019, creating or preserving 1,047 housing units in the city.68 The Washington Housing 

Initiative Impact Pool is a similar nonprofit-run fund which targets housing for low- and 

moderate-income African American residents of Washington D.C.69 

Port Orchard could consider working with local banks to create a such housing fund which 

could be used for gap financing of affordable housing projects and which would encourage 

local banks to invest in the Port Orchard community. Outreach to and coordination with the local 

lending community could be part of the work of the housing coordinator position described in 

section 3.3. 

5.4 – Tax Increment Financing 
Action: Explore the potential to use Tax Increment Financing (TIF) for identified sites 

and projects in the Downtown and Waterfront areas. 

In 2021, Washington State granted new powers of tax increment financing (TIF) to the state’s 

cities, counties, and port districts.70 This funding mechanism allows municipalities to establish 

a geographic district (called the increment area) that is expected to benefit the most from a 

proposed new infrastructure investment. Typically, bonds are issued at the outset and the 

additional tax revenue resulting from the increased land and property values are then captured 

to pay for the new infrastructure and pay off the bonds.  

TIF is widely used in other states across the country, but Washington’s new program has some 

specific guidelines which differ from other states. In Washington, the state school levy and 

some other local taxes used to repay general obligation bonds are exempt. Additionally, TIF 

financing can only be used for specific authorized public improvements which are expected to 

 
67 Mattson-Teig, Beth. “Banks Focus CRA Dollars on Affordable Housing.” WealthManagement.com, Jan 2, 2020. 
https://www.wealthmanagement.com/finance-lending/banks-focus-cra-dollars-affordable-housing  
68 “Charlotte Housing Opportunity Investment Fund creates affordablew housing and model for the future.” LISC 
Strategic Investments, June 14, 2022. https://www.liscstrategicinvestments.org/post/choif-three-year-impact-report  
69 “Washington Housing Initiative Impact Pool: 2021 Impact Report.” JBG Smith. 
https://www.washingtonhousinginitiative.com/_files/ugd/36926a_182d6b3b6e814466a17bf33ec1616407.pdf  
70 “Tax Increment Financing (TIF)”. Municipal Research Service Center. https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-

Topics/Economic-Development/Financing-Economic-Development/Tax-Increment-Financing.aspx 

https://www.wealthmanagement.com/finance-lending/banks-focus-cra-dollars-affordable-housing
https://www.liscstrategicinvestments.org/post/choif-three-year-impact-report
https://www.washingtonhousinginitiative.com/_files/ugd/36926a_182d6b3b6e814466a17bf33ec1616407.pdf
https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Economic-Development/Financing-Economic-Development/Tax-Increment-Financing.aspx
https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Economic-Development/Financing-Economic-Development/Tax-Increment-Financing.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 68 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

encourage private development and increased assessed valuation which would not otherwise 

happen without the improvements. These improvements may be located inside or outside the 

increment area and include streets, water and sewer systems, sidewalks, streetlights, parking 

facilities, parks and recreational areas, broadband service, or brownfield mitigation. TIF can also 

be used to pay for long-term affordable housing, childcare service, providing maintenance and 

security for public improvements, and acquiring property for historic preservation. Unlike in 

other states, TIF funding in Washington can only be used for the specified projects or 

improvements set forth in the initial application, and project lists cannot be modified later. Thus, 

TIF is only applicable to existing and well-defined projects with specific infrastructure needs. 

The TIF district must have a maximum sunset date of 25 years and not have an assessed 

valuation greater than $20 million, and each city may not have more than two districts.71 

Explore the possibility of using TIF in Downtown to continue to catalyze redevelopment 

projects, street or active transportation investments. TIF could support infrastructure or utility 

investments to support denser mixed-use developments such as the proposed development at 

640 Bay Street72 could help support increasing housing supply downtown. TIF funds could also 

be used for identified projects in the Downtown Subarea Plan such as a concept plan to “break 

down the scale of existing large scale sites to provide a more walkable land-use pattern”, or for 

streetscape and pedestrian improvements to enhance livability of potential waterfront or 

downtown redevelopment sites, particularly if or when such sites have development proposals. 

73  

TIF funding could also be considered for the Bethel/Sedgewick Corridor, which was the subject 

of a corridor study in 2018 recommending changes to the road design which could be financed 

through this funding mechanism. 

  

 
71 “Washington State's Expanded TIF Authority Creates Powerful Catalyst for Public-Private Partnerships.” Denis 

Wright Tremaine. May 2022. https://www.dwt.com/insights/2021/05/washington-state-tax-increment-financing-
law 

72 Detailed in the “Project Spotlights: Downtown Mixed Use” section of the Existing Conditions and Housing Needs 
Analysis Report. 

73 City of Port Orchard. “Downtown Port Orchard Subarea Plan.” 
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/portorchardwa/uploads/2021/07/FINAL-ADOPTED-Downtown-Subarea-
Plan-and-Regs-reduced.pdf  

https://www.dwt.com/insights/2021/05/washington-state-tax-increment-financing-law
https://www.dwt.com/insights/2021/05/washington-state-tax-increment-financing-law
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/portorchardwa/uploads/2021/07/FINAL-ADOPTED-Downtown-Subarea-Plan-and-Regs-reduced.pdf
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/portorchardwa/uploads/2021/07/FINAL-ADOPTED-Downtown-Subarea-Plan-and-Regs-reduced.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 69 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.5 – Funding for ADU Development 
Action: Explore the possibility of partially financing or streamlining ADU development 

and permitting processes, particularly for lower-income homeowners. 

Cities across the U.S. have adopted a variety of programs designed to reduce the cost of ADU 

development for homeowners, including minimizing design review, waiving permit or utility fees, 

providing technical assistance, and providing sources of financing.74 Port Orchard currently 

allows ADUs of less than 1,000 square feet to be served by the same water and sewer 

connections as the primary residence, a significant savings.75 In addition, Port Orchard 

amended its ADU standards with Ordinance 038-22 in October 2022 which removes owner 

occupancy and parking requirements for ADUs, two of the most common barriers to ADU 

construction and feasibility. 

Numerous municipalities including Boston, Los Angeles, Montpelier, VT, and Santa Cruz County, 

CA have established programs which incorporate equity and loan assistance as well as 

technical assistance and simplified permitting processes.76 Funding sources for these 

programs include Community Development Block Grants, cities, philanthropists, and 

partnerships with nonprofits such as Habitat for Humanity. Many of these programs are 

targeted at lower-income renters, requiring either that the ADU be made available to households 

earning 80% AMI or lower, or to households using Housing Choice (Section 8) Vouchers. 

Onerous income reporting requirements can be a disincentive. 

In some cases, these programs have been targeted at lower-income homeowners as well, such 

as the Small Homes Northwest community ADU demonstration project implemented by 

Hacienda CDC in Portland and funded by the Oregon legislature, which helps income eligible 

homeowners develop ADUs in neighborhoods at risk of gentrification. 

  

 
74 Chapple, Karen, Wegmann, Jake, Mashood Farzad, and Coleman, Rebecca. “Jumpstarting the Market for Accessory 

Dwelling Units.” Urban land Institute. https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-
content/uploads/pdfs/Jumpstarting_the_Market_--_ULI.pdf 

75 Port Orchard Municipal Code 13.04.030(1)(e)(i), 13.04.040(1)(e)(i) 
76 ADU Aid Programs Across the U.S.” Villa. https://villahomes.com/blog/adu-aid-programs/ 

https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/Jumpstarting_the_Market_--_ULI.pdf
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/Jumpstarting_the_Market_--_ULI.pdf
https://villahomes.com/blog/adu-aid-programs/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 70 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.6 – State Advocacy 
Action: Advocate for additional state investment in the Housing Trust Fund, 

condominium law reform, and Growth Management Act updates. 

Surveying done for this HAP found strong community support for “City advocacy for more 

county, state, or federal funding for affordable housing projects.” Primarily, this should involve 

lobbying the Legislature for more funds in the state’s Housing Trust Fund, which provides 

capital funding.77 The trust has helped build or preserve more than 50,000 affordable housing 

units statewide since 1986. The Legislature appropriates funding to the trust every biennium. 

More money in the trust would help smaller communities like Port Orchard (and the affordable 

housing providers who work in Port Orchard) have a greater chance of receiving funding. 

Port Orchard could also update its legislative agenda with condominium legislation reform. 

Condos are a highly in-demand type of ownership housing, especially for first-time homebuyers 

and seniors seeking to downgrade, but they are rarely built in Washington State due to the 

liabilities placed on developers under state law.78, 79 The main barriers are a requirement for a 

10-year warranty against construction defects and additional building code and inspection 

requirements that do not apply to rental apartments. 

The City may comment on reform to the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), which can add 

significant delay and complications to approval of residential development. Advocacy might 

involve exempting all residential development from SEPA review if the development intensity is 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

In addition, the City may comment on updates to state law that affect land use, housing, zoning, 

and transportation (as noted in Section 1.6). The City should provide input on proposals that 

affect the implementation of the Housing Action Plan, either independently or through its 

involvement in statewide organizations like the Association of Washington Cities. 

Continued coordination and involvement with regional partners (such as Kitsap County) and the 

federal government is also recommended to promote and fund affordable housing.  

 
77 “Housing Trust Fund.” Washington State Department of Commerce. https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-

infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/ 
78 “Washington state’s condo law changes could ease restrictions.” Spokane Journal of Business, November 2021. 

https://www.spokanejournal.com/special-report/washington-states-condo-law-changes-could-ease-restrictions/ 
79 “As Gen X and Boomers Age, They Confront Living Alone.” The New York Times. November 2022. 

https://www.nytimes.com/2022/11/27/us/living-alone-aging.html 

https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/
https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/
https://www.spokanejournal.com/special-report/washington-states-condo-law-changes-could-ease-restrictions/
https://www.nytimes.com/2022/11/27/us/living-alone-aging.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 71 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

6 – Implementation 
The planning matrix below organizes the actions of this Housing Action Plan. The City Council 

and Mayor will be involved in most or all action implementation through ordinances, resolutions, 

budgeting, and partnerships with other agencies. This matrix should be used as a framework for 

regular progress reports on implementation and could be a live document on the City website. 

# Description Priority 

Lead 

Department Time Cost Method 

Regulatory Strategies 

2.1 Expand the allowed 

uses 

High Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

2.2 Streamline the building 

type standards 

Medium Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

2.3 Adjust form and 

intensity standards 

High Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

2.4 Adjust other standards Medium Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

Programmatic Strategies 

3.1 Anti-displacement 

strategies 

Medium City Council Ongoing $$ Tenant Protection 
Ordinance and future 
amendments as 
needed 
  
Other strategies: 

Further study, City 

budget, and future 

ordinances  

3.2 Homelessness 

strategies 

High City Council Ongoing $$ Intermediate actions 

 

Other actions: Further 

study and City Budget 

3.3 Hire a housing 

coordinator 

Medium City Council 0-6 

months 

$$ City Budget 

Citywide Planning Strategies 

4.1 Housing Element 

updates 

Medium Planning 

Services 

12-24 

months 

$$ Comprehensive Plan 

annual amendment 

and major periodic 

update 

4.2 Land Use Element 

updates 

High Planning 

Services 

12-24 

months 

$$ Comprehensive Plan 

annual amendment 

and major periodic 

update 

4.3 Public land for 

affordable housing 

Low City Council 

(with Planning 

Services) 

Ongoing $$$ Partnerships, City 

budget, policy in 

resolution or 

Comprehensive Plan, 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 72 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

# Description Priority 

Lead 

Department Time Cost Method 

and future 

ordinances 

4.4 McCormick East 

Future Neighborhood 

Planning 

Medium Planning 

Services 

12-24 

months 

$$ Comprehensive Plan 

major periodic 

update 

Funding Strategies 

5.1 Adjust the multifamily 

tax exemption 

program 

High Planning 

Services (with 

City Treasurer 

and City 

Council) 

0-6 

months 

$ MFTE ordinances 

5.2 Development fee 

adjustments 

Low Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Fee schedule 

updates 

5.3 Local bank funding Low City Council 

(with Planning 

Services) 

Ongoing $ Partnerships 

5.4 Tax increment 

financing 

Medium Planning 

Services (with 

City Treasurer) 

6-12 

months 

$ Further study and 

future ordinance  

5.5  Funding for ADU 

development 

Medium Planning 

Services (with 

City Treasurer) 

6-12 

months 

$$ City Budget 

5.6 State advocacy Low City Council Ongoing $ Legislative agenda 

and engagement with 

American Planning 

Association WA and 

Association of 

Washington Cities 

Figure 24. Implementation matrix 

6.1 – High Priority Implementation 
Given the limited resources of government, it is important to set priorities. The following items 

are high priority for implementation within the next 12 months. 

• Adjust the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) program 

• Comprehensive Plan Land Use and Housing element updates 

• Development regulation updates 

6.2 – Monitoring 
The only way to know if housing actions are successful is to measure and report on outcomes. 

By developing a monitoring program, Port Orchard can track progress toward achieving housing 

goals and identify where more work or changes are needed. Interviews with housing developers 

one year after HAP adoption (or at other regular intervals) can also be helpful to get feedback 

on what HAP actions are working well and where there may still be barriers. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 73 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Monitoring will be a key role of the new Housing Coordinator staff position. Even so, integrating 

monitoring into existing work and activities could help preserve limited staff time. Monitoring 

the HAP implementation could be merged into:  

• DCD’s annual or monthly reports to the City Council 

• Monitoring of population growth and development permits 

• Comprehensive plan monitoring 

• Buildable lands reports 

Potential performance metrics based on the HAP Existing Conditions and Housing Needs 

Analysis Report are listed below. 

 

HAP Objective Performance Metric Target 
Greater housing diversity 

with a greater variety of 

housing types accessible 

to a greater variety of 

incomes, for both rental 

and homeownership 

opportunities 

Number of duplex, triplex, fourplex, ADUs, 

and small apartment units permitted 

10-20% of new housing units are in 

projects with 2-20 units 

Number of mixed-use and urban style 

apartment with structured parking 

permitted 

One development every two years 

Slow down and stabilize 

the rise in housing prices 

Home price increases Annual median home price increases 

are lower than regional, state, or 

national increases 

Rental price increases Annual median rental price increases 

are lower than regional, state, or 

national increases 

Vacancy rate Rental unit vacancy rates reach 6-8% 

Refine regulatory 

standards to reduce 

barriers to housing 

development 

Overall housing production Average annual production rate within 

± 20% of that needed to meet the 

Comprehensive Plan 20-year target 

Housing diversity 10-20% of new housing units are in 

projects with 2-20 units 

Adopt new financial tools 

to support and promote 

development of affordable 

housing 

Affordable housing production for cost-

burdened low-income households (80% 

AMI and below) 

Average annual production rate within 

± 20% of that needed to meet the 

Comprehensive Plan income-based 20-

year targets 

MFTE program participation 25-50 new affordable units per year 

added from MFTE projects 

Figure 25. Monitoring matrix 



 
DRAFT – APRIL 25, 2023 

Appendix A 
Downtown Height Limit Considerations 

There is a long history of protecting views in the Downtown area. However, Downtown is also 

one of the most favorable locations for affordable mixed-use and infill housing due to its transit 

connections and walkability. This creates a conflict between the objectives of view protection 

and Comprehensive Plan goals for expanded housing affordability and choice.  

The compromise currently in place is the Downtown Height Overlay District (DHOD), which 

provides greater height limits than the underlying Downtown zoning (Downtown Mixed Use and 

Gateway Mixed Use). The DHOD is divided into three sub-zones, and there were slightly 

modified with adoption of the 2021 Downtown Subarea Plan.80 

Zone Height Limits 

Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) 38 feet, three stories 

Gateway Mixed Use (GMU) 38 feet, three stories 

Downtown Height Overlay District (DHOD) DHOD 3: 48 feet, three stories 

DHOD 4: 58 feet, four stories 

DHOD 5: 68 feet, five stories 

Figure 26. Height limits in Downtown 

While Downtown would also be an ideal location for affordable (subsidized) housing under the 

MFTE program, no height limit changes or bonus incentive is proposed in Downtown zones to 

avoid conflict with the existing 10-feet bonus height available for a mixed-used development 

which includes a grocery store (POMC 20.38.640). Locating a grocery in Downtown has also 

been a longstanding objective; however, it is only likely to occur when the market demand for 

such a store is stimulated by a larger Downtown resident population, which can be enabled 

through more housing development. Further, the benefits of a height bonus would accrue to the 

developer, not the grocery tenant, which creates development risk of a grocer expecting a rent 

subsidy and the City not allowing any other tenants if the original grocer leaves. In any case, a 

grocery tenant is not likely to locate in Downtown until there is a strong enough market. These 

are additional tradeoffs to consider. 

The View Protection Overlay District (VPOD), which covers several blocks uphill from Bay Street, 

has current height limits of 15 and 27 feet. Uniquely, in the VPOD these height limits are 

measured from the uphill property line, so these relatively low limits could still allow relatively 

large multi-story buildings that are built into the hillside. Further modifications to the VPOD 

could consider that private view easements are an alternative mechanism for property owners 

to preserve views. 

 
80 Downtown Subarea Plan, City of Port Orchard. https://portorchardwa.gov/downtown-subarea-plan/ 

 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2038.html
https://portorchardwa.gov/downtown-subarea-plan/


Appendix B 
Existing Conditions Report & Housing Needs 

Analysis 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 1 

Port Orchard Housing Action Plan 
Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report   
April 14, 2023 
 

Introduction 
The Port Orchard Housing Action Plan (HAP) defines strategies and implementing actions that 
promote greater housing diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity for residents of all 
income levels. The process to develop the HAP included a review of Port Orchard's system of 
policies, programs, and regulations which shape opportunities for housing development.  

The purpose of this effort is to define strategies and actions that promote greater housing 
diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity for residents of all income levels. 

The HAP is intended to inform updates to the Port Orchard Comprehensive Plan (most notably 
the Land Use and Housing elements) and to guide implementation strategies such as 
development regulations, housing programs, fee structures, and infrastructure spending 
priorities. 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

Section 1 – Community Profile ............................................................................................... 3 

Section 2 – Housing Inventory and Production Trends ........................................................ 3 

Section 3 – Cost Trends ........................................................................................................ 32 

Section 4 – Housing and Service Needs .............................................................................. 37 

Section 5 – Housing Funding and Monetary Tools ............................................................. 43 

Section 6 – Housing Policies ................................................................................................ 48 

Section 7 – Land Capacity Analysis ..................................................................................... 65 

Appendix A – Kitsap County Impact Fee Comparison ........................................................ 65 

Appendix B – Comprehensive Plan Policies ........................................................................ 69 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 2 

Abbreviations 

ACS. American Community Survey, an annual product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

AMI. Area median income. 

BIPOC. Black, Indigenous, (and) People of Color. 

CHAS. Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy, a product of the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development. 

GIS. Geographic Information System. 

HAP. Housing Action Plan. 

HUD. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

LEHD. Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics, a product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

MFI. Medium family income. 

MFTE. Multifamily tax exemption program. 

MHI. Medium household income. 

MSA. Metropolitan Statistical Area. 

POMC. Port Orchard Municipal Code (city law). 

OFM. Washington State Office of Financial Management. 

RCW. Revised Code of Washington (state law). 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 3 

Section 1 – Community Profile 
The Community Profile discusses Port Orchard’s current and future population and the age, 
race, and ethnicity of residents. It also discusses the size, income, and characteristics of the 
City’s households, as well as households with specific needs and risks such as cost-burdened 
households, older adults, and adults with disabilities. These demographic and household 
characteristics provide background and context for the types of housing required to better serve 
all of Port Orchard’s residents. 

Population and Demographics 
Historic and Future Population 
Port Orchard’s population in 2020 was 15,587 according to the U.S. Census. The Washington 
Office of Financial Management Postcensal 2022 population estimate for the city is 16,400. 
Figure 1 shows the city’s population trends since 1960, average annual growth rates by decade, 
and the latest Port Orchard 2044 population target of 26,087 residents as detailed in the Kitsap 
County Countywide Planning Policy Update.  

Port Orchard is a fast-growing community that has historically grown more rapidly than national 
and statewide averages. The city grew at an average annual rate of about 2.8 percent since 
1960, but growth accelerated around 2000. Since 2000 the city has grown on average 4.0 
percent annually, an increase of 9,442 residents. By comparison, Kitsap County grew at a rate of 
0.9 percent per year over the same period and national population growth was 0.7 percent in the 
2000-2020 period. The 2020 census and 2044 population target represent an expected annual 
growth rate of 2.2 percent per year, though recent trends have suggested higher growth rates 
closer to 3 percent indicating that Port Orchard may exceed its planning target. 

Figure 1.  Port Orchard Population, Historic Through 2020 and Projected Through 2044 with Annual Growth 
Rates. Sources: WA OFM (Historic Population), Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policy Update 
10/4/2022 (Projections) 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2044

An
nu

al
 G

ro
w

th
 R

at
e

Po
pu

la
tio

n

Population Annual Growth Rate



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 4 

The City of Port Orchard annexed a large amount of acreage between 2010 and 2012, which 
contributed to the comparatively rapid population growth in the 2010s. During this period, the 
City annexed 1,400 acres comprising 515 parcels. Together, the newly annexed areas make up 
19.5% of Port Orchard’s total acreage. Without granular population numbers at a parcel level, it 
is difficult to assess exactly how many new residents are represented by this area, but these 
annexations have certainly affected the rapid growth rates seen over the past 20 years. 

Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Language  
Figure 2 shows the racial and ethnic breakdown of the Port Orchard and Kitsap County 
populations. Port Orchard is about 67 percent White, compared with 76 percent in Kitsap 
County. The city has a higher share of Hispanic/Latino and mixed-race residents than the 
county and similar shares of Asian and Black/African-American residents. 

 

Figure 2. Racial and Ethnic Distribution in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American 
Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05 

The Port Orchard population is somewhat younger than regional and statewide populations, as 
shown in Figure 3. Over half the population is under 35 years old, and 14 percent of residents 
are over 65, compared with 18 percent countywide. This younger population suggests a current 
need for smaller or more affordable housing units, and the potential for larger units as younger 
residents age and form households in coming decades. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County

Hispanic / Latino

Other / Two or More Races

Native Hawaiian /  Pacific Islander

Asian

American Indian / Alaska Native

Black / African American

White



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 5 

 

Figure 3. Age Distribution in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05 

The chart below shows the age distribution of Port Orchard residents by sex. Generally, there 
are more males in the 25 to 54 age group and more females in older age cohorts. 

 

Figure 4. Age Distribution by Sex in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American 
Community Survey, Table S0101 

Most Port Orchard residents are citizens born in the United States. About a third of Port 
Orchard’s residents were born in the state of Washington. About half were born in another state 
(including U.S. territories). Almost five percent were born in Asia, with small numbers born in 
other regions of the world, as seen in Figure 5. 

25% 22% 24%

26%
22% 22%

12%
12% 13%

11%
12% 12%

11%
14% 13%

14% 18% 15%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County Washington

65 and older

55 to 64

45 to 54

35 to 44

20 to 34

19 and younger

-1,400 -1,200 -1,000 -800 -600 -400 -200 0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200 1,400

Under 5 years

5 to 9 years

10 to 14 years

15 to 19 years

20 to 24 years

25 to 34 years

35 to 44 years

45 to 54 years

55 to 59 years

60 to 64 years

65 to 74 years

75 to 84 years

85 years and over
Male
Female



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 6 

Place of Birth Percent Total 
USA (same state) 37.0% 5,292 
USA (other state) 52.3% 7,480 
Europe 0.6% 79 
Asia 4.8% 685 
Africa 0.0% 0 
Oceania 0.1% 20 
Latin America 1.3% 188 
Northern America 0.4% 59 

Figure 5. Port Orchard Residents Place of Birth, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table CP02 

Most Port Orchard households speak English as a first language. Almost six percent, or 815 
households, speak an Asian or Pacific Island language, and about two percent, or 272 
households, speak Spanish at home.  

Census data on English language proficiency is not available at the geographic scale of Port 
Orchard, but across all of Kitsap County, about 29 percent of Spanish speakers and 39 percent 
of Asian or Pacific Island language speakers do not speak English “very well.” Limited English 
proficiency can have implications for housing security if materials are not translated or there is 
confusion over contracts, expectations, or tenant rights. 

Language  Percent Total 
English 91.8% 13,130 
Spanish 1.9% 272 
Indo-European languages 0.6% 86 
Asian/ Pacific Island languages 5.7% 815 
Other languages 0.1% 14 

Figure 6. Language Spoken at Home, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 
Table S1601  

Household Characteristics 
Household Size, Type, and Tenure 
The U.S. Census Bureau defines a household as “all the people who occupy a housing unit.” 
Households can be comprised of any combination of related family members, unrelated people, 
or individuals.1 The 2020 American Community Survey estimated about 5,517 total households 
in Port Orchard, up from about 4,316 households in 2010—an increase of about 28 percent, or 
2.5 percent per year. Figure 7 shows total households, occupied households, and the vacancy 
rate over the past decade.  

The vacancy rate compares the total number of occupied versus unoccupied units. This 
accounts for all “natural vacancies” due to units on the market being available for sale or rent, 
second homes and seasonal homes, vacation rentals, and any other type of unoccupied 
housing. See Section 2 for more information on market-based vacancy rates. 

 
1 U.S. Census Bureau: Subject Definitions. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 7 

The vacancy rate has fluctuated from seven percent in 2010 to as high as 14 percent in 2015 
but has decreased to 5.6 percent in 2020.This decreasing vacancy rate suggests increased 
demand for housing in the city. 

 

Figure 7. Vacancy Rates and Housing Unit Occupancy, 2010-2020. Source: 2010-2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25002 

The following table shows household composition in Port Orchard and Kitsap County. Overall, 
the shares of family and non-family households are very similar to county averages, with nearly 
70 percent of households classified as family households, about half of which are married 
couples. Twenty-two percent of Port Orchard residents live alone, and about half of those 
residents are over 65 years old. Household composition data can provide insight into the 
various types and sizes of housing to best meet the needs of the city’s residents. 

 Port Orchard Kitsap County 
Household Type Total Percent Total Percent 
Total Households 5,517 100% 105,758 100% 
  Family households 3,819 69% 71,415 68% 
    Married-couple family 2,995 54% 56,388 53% 
    Other family 824 15% 15,027 14% 
  Nonfamily households 1,698 31% 34.343 32% 
    Householder living alone 1,214 22% 25,787 24% 
    Householder 65 years and over 601 11% 11,396 11% 
Figure 8. Household Composition in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 
5-Year Estimates, Table S2501 

Figure 9 shows tenure in Port Orchard. About 60 percent of households are homeowners and 40 
percent are renters. This is broadly similar to statewide averages though a higher share of 
renter households than in Kitsap County, likely owing to the large number of apartments in Port 
Orchard compared to the rest of the county. 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Va
ca

nc
y 

Ra
te

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s

Vacancy Rate Total Housing Units Occupied Housing Units



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 8 

 

Figure 9. Tenure in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 5-Year Estimates, 
Table S2501 

Renters can face increased housing instability due to evictions and rent increases not faced by 
homeowners. In addition, renters are more likely to be BIPOC and lower-income households, 
compounding the effects of these housing challenges. As shown below in Figure 10, about 86 
percent of ownership households in Port Orchard have a householder who identifies as White, 
compared with 64 percent of renter households. Nationally, Black households had the highest 
renter rate in 2022 at 55 percent, and Hispanic households were at 51 percent, compared to 26 
percent for white households.2 Additionally, as discussed below under “Income” and shown in 
Figure 14, renters in Port Orchard earn less than homeowners, with a median household income 
for renter households of $46,209 in 2020 compared to $97,504 for ownership households. 

Race of Householder Ownership Households Renter Households 
One Race   
    White 89.4% 71.5% 
    Black or African-American 2.2% 4.5% 
    American Indian or Alaska Native 0.3% 0.0% 
    Asian 3.0% 4.3% 
    Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 0.8% 8.8% 
    Some Other Race 0.5% 3.2% 
Two or More Races 3.8% 7.8% 
Hispanic or Latino Origin 6.2% 12.9% 
White alone, not Hispanic or Latino 86.4% 64.4% 
All Households 60.1% 39.9% 
Figure 10. Tenure by Race in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 5-Year 
Estimates, Table S2502 

 
2 Harvard University Joint Center for Housing Studies, “The State of the Nation’s Housing 2022” 

60%
68% 63%

40%
32% 37%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County Washington

Renter-occupied

Owner-occupied



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 9 

Figure 11 shows the breakdown of Port Orchard’s households by tenure and household size. 
About 34 percent of households are two-person households, and 27 percent have four or more 
members. Renters make up a slightly larger share of smaller households, although 11 percent of 
four-or-more-person households are also renters. 

 

Figure 11. Port Orchard Tenure by Household Size, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 
5-Year Estimates, Table S2501 

The average household size in Port Orchard is 2.4 people per household3. 

There is a mismatch between housing size and household size in Port Orchard. Fifty-six percent 
of households are made up of one or two people, whereas only 37 percent of housing units are 
studio, one- or two-bedroom units, as shown below in Figure 11. Although smaller households 
may prefer to live in larger units, this type of mismatch can cause housing affordability issues if 
smaller households are forced to rent more expensive larger units due to supply constraints. 

 
3 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04 

0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200 1,400 1,600 1,800 2,000

1-person household

2-person household

3-person household

4-or-more-person household

Ownership Households Renter Households



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 10 

  

Figure 12. Household Size and Housing Unit Size in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, DP04 

When analyzed by tenure, there are more significant disparities in household size and housing 
unit size for homeowners, as shown below in Figure 12. Only 2 percent of ownership housing 
units are studio or one-bedroom units, whereas 53 percent of ownership households are one- or 
two-person households. The rental housing stock is more closely matched with renters’ 
household sizes in the city. This shows that residents in smaller households seeking to 
purchase housing may face difficulties and higher costs due to lack of availability of small 
ownership units. 

  

Figure 13. Household Size and Housing Unit Size by Tenure in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American 
Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, S2504 

1-person 
household

22%

2-person 
household

34%

3-person 
household

16%

4+ person 
household

27%

Household Size

Studio / 1 
bedroom

10%

2 
bedrooms

27%

3 
bedrooms

41%

4+ 
bedrooms

20%

Housing Unit Size

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Owners Renters

Household Size

1 person HH 2 person HH

3 person HH 4+ person HH

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Owners Renters

Housing Unit Size

0-1 bedroom 2-3 bedrooms

4+ bedrooms



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 11 

Income  
The median household income (MHI) in Port Orchard was $71,719 in 2020, $7,250 less than the 
Kitsap County MHI and $5,287 less than the statewide average. The Port Orchard MFI increased 
21 percent since 2010, when adjusted for inflation. This is significantly higher than the 12 
percent increase in Kitsap County and 14 percent increase across Washington during the same 
timeframe, as shown in Figure 13.   

 
Figure 14. Inflation-Adjusted Median Household Income in Port Orchard and Region, 2010-2020. Source: 
2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, CPI Inflation Index 

Renters in Port Orchard earn considerably less than 
homeowners. In 2020, the MHI for ownership 
households was $97,524, compared to only $46,209 for 
renter households. In addition, renters in Port Orchard 
have seen only a five percent increase in incomes 
between 2010 and 2020, compared to a 29 percent 
increase in incomes of ownership households, when 
adjusted for inflation. Rental households’ lower 
incomes and slower income growth compared with 
ownership households raises concerns over the ability 
of renters to keep up with rising housing costs or to 
move into homeownership, particularly given that 
wealthier ownership households may be able to pay 
more for housing. 

For the Bremerton-Silverdale Metropolitan Statistical 
Area (MSA), the 2022 median family income (MFI) is $102,500 and the 2020 MFI was $91,700.  

$59,325

$75,600

$44,074

$70,268 $67,548
$71,719

$97,524

$46,209

$78,969 $77,006

Port Orchard
(All Households)

Port Orchard
(Ownership Households)

Port Orchard
(Renter Households)

Kitsap County Washington

2010 2020

Median family income (MFI) is used 
by the U.S. Department of Housing 
and Urban Development to set 
income limits for subsidized 
affordable housing. Data in this report 
about cost-burdened households and 
affordable housing thresholds is 
based on the MFI measurement. 

MFI is based on Census-reported 
family incomes and based on a 
household of four people. As a result, 
MFI is typically higher than the 
median household income (MHI), 
which is an average from all 
households regardless of size. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 12 

When broken down across income levels, the largest share of Port Orchard households earn 
between $75,000 and $100,000 per year, as shown in Figure 14. Port Orchard has smaller 
shares of high-income earners making over $150,000 per year than Kitsap County, and a much 
larger share of the lowest-income households earning less than $10,000 per year than 
countywide averages. This shows a high level of need for subsidized affordable housing, 
discussed further in Section 2 under “Affordable Housing.” 

 

Figure 15. Household Income in the Past 12 Months, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates, Table B19001 

Figure 16 below is from HUD Comprehensive Housing 
Affordability Strategy (CHAS) data4 for 2019 and shows 
a breakdown of Port Orchard’s households by income 
level and tenure. Almost half of Port Orchard residents 
(46 percent) earn less than 80 percent of the AMI, a 
common threshold for subsidized housing eligibility. 
About 69 percent of renter-occupied households earn 
less than 80 percent AMI, while 30 percent of owner-
occupied households earn less than 80 percent AMI.  

Additionally, over a quarter (28 percent) of renters earn under 30 percent of the AMI, or $27,500 
for a family of four, demonstrating the need for more subsidized affordable housing in Port 
Orchard, which is typically the only type of housing that can meet these deep affordability levels. 
Stakeholders described over 1,000 people are on the waiting list for housing vouchers at the 
Kitsap Housing Authority, which manages vouchers in both Bremerton and Port Orchard. 

 
4 Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy, a HUD dataset based on calculations from the American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates that provides a series of tables demonstrating housing problems and needs. 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

< 
$1

0k

$1
0k

-K
20

k

$2
0k

-$
30

k

$3
0k

-$
40

k

$4
0k

-$
50

k

$5
0k

-$
60

k

$6
0k

-$
75

k

$7
5k

-$
10

0k

$1
00

k-
$1

25
k

$1
25

k-
$1

50
k

$1
50

k-
$2

00
k

$2
00

k+

Port Orchard

Kitsap County

Area median income (AMI) is another 
data point often used by local 
governments to set income limits for 
subsidized affordable housing. It is 
the household income for the 
median/'middle' household in a given 
region. 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 13 

 

Figure 16. Port Orchard Households by Income Level and Tenure. Source: 2015-2019 HUD CHAS data. 

Vehicle Ownership 
Figure 16 shows number of vehicles available to Port Orchard households by the tenure of unit. 
Owner-occupied units are more likely to have two or three vehicles, while renter-occupied units 
are more likely to have one to two vehicles. Also of note, 14 percent of renter households have 
no access to a vehicle. These vehicle ownership ratios are similar to statewide averages, 
although ownership households are slightly more likely to have two vehicles in Port Orchard 
than statewide. 

 

Figure 17. Vehicle Ownership by Tenure of Unit, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table B25044 

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500

< 30% AMI

30-50% AMI

50-80% AMI

80-100% AMI

100%+ AMI

Owner Renter

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

No vehicle
available

1 vehicle available 2 vehicles
available

3 vehicles
available

4 vehicles
available

5 or more vehicles
available

Owner Renter



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 14 

Employment Trends 
Understanding workforce and employment trends is essential for housing planning. A growing, 
shrinking, or shifting economy can affect residents’ ability to afford housing and limit or expand 
their housing choices. Strong economies in nearby communities can also affect commuting and 
residential patterns. 

Figure 18 shows changes in Port Orchard’s top employment sectors from 2009 to 2019, the year 
of the most recent Census employment data. Retail jobs have increased significantly, and health 
care and food service jobs have also seen growth since the 2008 recession. The large number 
of public administration jobs reflect county offices within Port Orchard, the county seat. 

 

Figure 18. Job Trends by Top Sectors in Port Orchard, 2009-2019. Source: U.S. Census Bureau Longitudinal 
Employer-Household Dynamics (LEHD) via Census OnTheMap 

Figure 19 shows the top job sectors in the city and the top job sectors worked by Port Orchard 
residents. Many of the employees in the top sectors, particularly retail and public administration, 
are not Port Orchard residents. On the other hand, there are larger shares of residents who work 
in professional services, education, and manufacturing than jobs in the city. This reflects a 
variety of scenarios, including technology/knowledge workers employed in Seattle, regional 
educators at schools in nearby cities, and industrial employees in surrounding areas, potentially 
connected to the Naval shipyard in Bremerton. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

Retail Trade

Public Administration

Health Care / Social Assistance

Accommodation / Food

Construction

Professional Services



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 15 

 
Figure 19. Top Job Sectors in Port Orchard and Jobs Worked by Port Orchard Residents, 2019. Source: U.S. 
Census Bureau Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (LEHD) via Census OnTheMap 

The map below shows commuting patterns of Port Orchard workers as of 2019, the year of the 
most recent Census commuter data. About 585 workers, or 11.7 percent of Port Orchard 
employees, both lived and worked in the city. 6,540 workers lived outside of the city and 
commute in for work, and 4,396 workers lived in the city but commuted to work elsewhere.  

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Jobs in Port Orchard Jobs Worked by Port Orchard Residents



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 16 

 

Figure 20. Port Orchard Commuting Inflow and Outflow, 2019. Source: U.S. Census Bureau LEHD 
(Longitudial Employer-Household Dynamics) via Census OnTheMap tool. 

As shown below in Figure 21, a similar amount of Port Orchard residents were working in 
Seattle, Port Orchard, and Bremerton in 2019. Smaller shares of residents were working in other 
nearby locales, including unincorporated East Port Orchard. This data is not yet available for 
more recent years but monitoring these commuting trends will be important due to the changes 
in workplace dynamics and remote work since the COVID-19 pandemic that began in 2020.   
  

Work Location  Percent  
Seattle city, WA  12.3%  
Port Orchard city, WA  11.7%  
Bremerton city, WA  10.8%  
Silverdale CDP, WA  5.0%  
East Port Orchard CDP, WA  4.7%  
Tacoma city, WA  4.3%  
Gig Harbor city, WA  4.0%  
Bellevue city, WA  2.2%  
Kent city, WA  1.7%  
Poulsbo city, WA  1.5%  
All Other Locations  41.6%  

Figure 21. Port Orchard Commuting Locations, 2019. Source: U.S. Census Bureau LEHD (Longitudial 
Employer-Household Dynamics) via Census OnTheMap tool. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 17 

Puget Sound Naval Shipyard 
The Puget Sound Naval Shipyard in Bremerton is part of Naval Base Kitsap (NBK), a large 
military installation across multiple sites in Kitsap County. The military is a significant 
contributor to the economy of the region.  

As of 2017, NBK contributed $4 billion to the regional economy, including $1.1 billion in payroll, 
$792 million in operations and contracts, $14 million in visitor spending, and $2.1 billion in 
direct military and civilian payroll to residents residing in Kitsap, Jefferson, and Mason counties. 
The installation as a whole has 45,532 employees, including 31,585 military and civilian 
personnel residing in the same counties.5 Average salaries of enlisted personnel were $33,400, 
plus an annual housing allowance of $12,000 - $25,000, and average salaries of civilian 
employees were $74,000 as of 2014.6  

Data provided by the Navy for all civilian employees across Kitsap County shows a total 
workforce of 19,184, an average age of 42, and a median income of $84,181. Nearly half of 
civilian employees have an educational attainment of high school level or below, and about 30 
percent have a Bachelors’ degree or higher. Note that this data does not include military 
personnel or contractors, whose numbers fluctuate significantly. This fluctuating employment 
base can reflect the need for short- or medium-term housing heard during stakeholder 
interviews for this planning process. However, this data does provide a picture of the average 
civilian employee of the larger Naval Base Kitsap operation. 

This data demonstrates the overall importance of the military to the economy of the Kitsap 
Peninsula. Port Orchard’s proximity to the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard results in housing 
demand in the city from shipyard employees. Detailed demographics of shipyard employees 
were not available for this study, but interviews with stakeholders, city council, and community 
members in Port Orchard suggest that Navy employees contribute significantly to housing 
demand in the city, particularly for smaller units and shorter-term housing options due to the 
nature of military operations.  

The Kitsap Economic Development Alliance notes that the shipyard is anticipated to see 
significant investment through the Navy’s 21-year, $20 billion Shipyard Infrastructure 
Optimization Program (SIOP), suggesting continued economic and housing impacts in the 
region.7 

  

 
5 Naval Base Kitsap. “Naval Base Kitsap Operations and Economic Contributions.” 
http://www2.economicgateway.com/media/userfiles/subsite_197/files/nbk-economic-impact-factsheets.pdf  
6 Naval Base Kitsap and Naval Magazine Indian Island Joint Land Use Study, September 2015. 
http://compplan.kitsapgov.com/Documents/KIIJLUS_Full.pdf. Note that More recent wage and Bremerton-specific 
employee data from the Navy was not available as of February 2023. 
7 Kitsap Economic Development Alliance. “Kitsap is a Leader in the States and Nation’s Defense Industry.” 
https://www.kitsapeda.org/key-industries/defense  

http://www2.economicgateway.com/media/userfiles/subsite_197/files/nbk-economic-impact-factsheets.pdf
http://compplan.kitsapgov.com/Documents/KIIJLUS_Full.pdf
https://www.kitsapeda.org/key-industries/defense


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 18 

Section 2 – Housing Inventory and Production Trends 
This section discusses the type and age of Port Orchard’s existing housing stock and current 
and future housing production. It also identifies special housing types in Port Orchard such as 
subsidized affordable units and senior housing. An inventory of existing housing creates a 
baseline for future housing planning and identifies market trends. 

Total Housing Units  
Port Orchard’s 5,577 housing units account for approximately five percent of Kitsap County’s 
housing units. The breakdown of unit types is shown below in Figure 22. Sixty-three percent of 
units are single-family detached units, somewhat less than the county. Port Orchard has a 
noticeably higher share of buildings with 5-19 units than the county, and an overall higher share 
of multifamily units. 

 

Figure 22. Housing Unit Type in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04. 

 

 

63%
70%

5%

4%
3%

2%
5%

3%7%
3%

8%
4%

5%
6%

3% 7%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County

Mobile home

20 or more units

10 to 19 units

5 to 9 units

3 or 4 units

2 units

1-unit, attached

1-unit, detached



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 19 

Housing Age and Production 
Figure 23 shows the age of housing stock in Port Orchard as of 2020. The city has a 
considerably younger housing stock than Kitsap County overall, with 57 percent of housing built 
since 1990, compared with 40 percent countywide. However, Port Orchard also contains a 
slightly larger share of older buildings constructed before 1950 than the county, at 23 percent.  

 

Figure 23. Age of Housing in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04. 

Building permit issuance data shown below in Figure 20 corroberates this data on housing age. 
A significant number of multifamily housing permits were issued in the 1990s, and multifamily 
permitting has accelerated in the past decade, as have single-family housing permits. This data 
shows issued permits, not completions, so much of the housing shown in the past several years 
has not yet been occupied but is in the pipeline. 

9% 8%

7% 6%

7%
4%

5%
7%

10% 18%

10%

17%

21%

21%

20%

14%

12%
5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County

2010 or later

2000-2009

1990-1999

1980-1989

1970-1979

1960-1969

1950-1959

1940-1949

1939 or earlier



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 20 

 

Figure 24. Port Orchard Building Permits Issued by Unit Type, 1980-2022 (to date). Source: HUD State of the 
Cities Data Systems (SOCDS) 

Figure 25 shows expected dates when certificates of occupancy will be granted for permitted 
housing in the pipeline. In total, 5,198 units are permitted and expected to be completed in Port 
Orchard in the coming years, and 2,482 of those units are planned to be completed between 
2022 and 2024, of which 45 percent will be multifamily units. This high rate of housing 
production will nearly double the city’s housing inventory within the next several years. 

 

Figure 25. Number of Units Permitted with Certificates of Occupancy Expected 2022 and Later by Unit Type. 
Source: City of Port Orchard. 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Single-Family Duplex Triplex / 4-Plex 5+ Unit Multifamily

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2022 2023 2024 Permitting
Initiated,
Timeline
Uncertain

Mixed-Use Development

5+ Unit Apartment

4-Plex

Townhouse

Single Family & Townhouse

Single Family



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 21 

Interviews with developers and stakeholders conducted by the project team in summer 2022 
confirmed a large amount of single-family and apartment construction both underway and 
planned. In particular, the McCormick Woods development, a large master planned community 
in the western part of the city, has been in development since the 1980s and will significantly 
increase the city’s housing stock, as well as representing a portion of the newly annexed land 
previously discussed. City permitting data indicates 2,729 units at McCormick Woods either 
permitted or currently in the permitting process.  

The multifamily developments built in Port Orchard to date have been walk-up apartments. 
Some developers indicated that there may be a market for denser podium-style development in 
the 10-20 year time horizon, and at least one such project has recently been proposed (see the 
project spotlights later in this section). 

Vacancy Rates 
Port Orchard’s vacancy rates for rental and ownership properties are shown in Figure 26. In 
2020, the Census-reported rental vacancy rate was 5.8 percent and the ownership vacancy rate 
was 1.4 percent. Both vacancy rates have decreased over the past decade as shown below, and 
the 5.8 percent rental vacancy rate reflects the large amount of rental apartment construction 
which has taken place in Port Orchard in recent years. 

Note that this vacancy rate is based only on dwelling units that are available on the market for 
sale or rent. It is different from the total number of unoccupied units discussed in Section 1. 

 

Figure 26. Vacancy Rates in Port Orchard, 2010-2020. Source: American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table DP04 

In contrast with the relatively high census-reported rental vacancy rates shown above, CoStar, a 
commercial real estate database, estimates vacancy rates for multifamily apartments in Port 
orchard at about 3.5 percent as of mid-2022, as shown below in Figure 27, which shows the 
stabilized (accounting for new development coming onto the market) vacancy rates in the city 
over the past decade. This lower vacancy rate reported by the real estate industry may be more 
representative of the strong demand for apartments in the city. 

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

9.0%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Ownership Vacancy Rate Rental Vacancy Rate



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 22 

 

Figure 27. Multifamily Rental Vacancy Rate in Port Orchard, 2012-2022. Source: Costar 

 

Vacation Housing 
Census data shows there are zero seasonal and recreational housing units in Port Orchard.  

 

Short-Term Rentals 
Short-term rentals, also known as vacation rentals, are considered stays of 30 days or less in a 
residential dwelling. Looking at listings on Airbnb, VRBO, and Vacasa for the December to 
January 2022/2023 holiday season, there are 15 short-term rentals in Port Orchard.  

Most of the short-term rentals are in the downtown area, with proximity to the water and Bay 
Street. Rentals range from a private room up to five bedrooms. The average cost per night for a 
private room or one bedroom is $114, $194 per night for two- and three-bedroom listings, and 
$292 per night for four- and five-bedroom listings. City staff report that many short-term rentals 
are not paying the required lodging tax. 

  

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 23 

Affordable Housing 
Affordable housing is housing reserved for people earning below a certain income and who 
cannot afford market-rate costs (other interrelated terms include low-income housing, 
subsidized housing, public housing, or rent-restricted housing). Affordable housing properties 
may be reserved for people meeting other criteria such as families with children, seniors, people 
with physical or intellectual disabilities, or people with substance abuse disorders. 

Affordable housing is important to support community members who face barriers in the 
private housing market, especially those who are on the edge of or transitioning out of 
homelessness. This type housing is subsidized and mostly operated by government or non-
profit organizations.  

The main affordable housing provider in Port Orchard is Housing Kitsap, a government agency 
that provides housing assistance for families who need affordable alternatives to the private 
market. Housing Kitsap operates countywide. In and near Port Orchard, Housing Kitsap’s 
portfolio includes 375 units across six properties and 109 “Section 8” vouchers (which pays 
rents for voucher recipients).  

In addition, Housing Kitsap has a Mutual Self-Help Housing program where homeowners put in 
sweat equity to build their home and purchase it at an affordable price point. Housing Kitsap 
also has a Home Rehabilitation Program that assists with home repairs. According to Housing 
Kitsap staff, approximately 500 homes in Port Orchard have benefited from the two programs 
since the 1970’s. 

Under Port Orchard’s multifamily tax exemption program, 20 privately-owned units are being 
rented at affordable rates. See more information under Section 5. 

  

https://www.housingkitsap.org/self-help-homeowners
https://www.housingkitsap.org/home-ownership-assistance


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 24 

Property Name Zone Units Housing Type Resident Criteria 
Housing Kitsap Rental Housing 
Heritage Apartments R3 56 Multifamily Section 8; families or 

people with disabilities 
Orchard Bluff R2 89 Mobile Home 

Park 
Low income & head of 
household 55 or older 

Port Orchard Vista R4 42 Multifamily 
(senior) 

Low income & 62 or older 

Conifer Woods Apartments 
(outside city limits) 

UGA 72 Multifamily Low income 

Viewmont East Apartments  
(outside city limits) 

UGA 76 Multifamily Section 8; families or 
people with disabilities 

Madrona Manor 
(outside city limits) 

UGA 40 Multifamily 
(senior) 

Low income & head of 
household 55 or older 

Housing Kitsap Homeownership Mutual Self-Help Housing 
Sherman Ridge R2 27 Single-family 80% AMI or less 
Riverstone R3 & R2 39 Single-family 80% AMI or less 

Multifamily Tax Exemption Sites (Private Rental Housing) 
The Overlook R3 8 affordable 

(39 total) 
Multifamily MFTE Type I  

(12 year affordability) 
Plisko Apartments CMU 12 

affordable 
(58 total) 

Multifamily MFTE Type I  
(12 year affordability) 

Figure 28. Port Orchard affordable housing inventory (Housing Kitsap and City of Port Orchard) 

 
Figure 29. Affordable housing sites in Port Orchard  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 25 

Public Land 
Surplus public land is sometimes used for affordable housing. State law enacted in 2018 (RCW 
39.33.015) allows local governments to transfer, lease, or dispose of surplus property at low or 
no cost to developers for affordable housing projects. Port Orchard has a large number of City-
owned lands, and most are actively used for utility purposes or other public works, parks, and 
administrative functions. Some lands are also in greenbelts, wetlands, or ravines which are 
undevelopable.  

Discussion with City staff yielded the following sites to consider in the Housing Action Plan. 
Other public lands (such as those owned by Kitsap County, the Port of Bremerton, and other 
agencies) could be reviewed in the future. 

Map 
Key Parcel # Zoning Area Considerations 
1 342401-4-016-2001 & 

342401-4-015-2002 
CMU 1.0 acres Surplus property from the construction of the 

roundabout at Tremont/Pottery. Considerable 
size and has appropriate zoning for affordable 
housing. 

2 252401-3-045-2009 R4 1.7 acres 
 

Sloped site near the high school on Mitchell 
Avenue. Considerable size, ideally located, and 
has appropriate zoning for affordable housing. 

3 4062-003-005-0006 R1 0.86 Vacant parcel owned by the water utility; it would 
need to be purchased from the enterprise fund. 
Considerable size and good location. Would likely 
need to be rezoned. 

4 4650-009-006-0208 DMU 0.25 acres 640 Bay Street (see Project Spotlights). This site 
is planned for a housing project by a private 
developer. 

5 4538-009-007-0007 UGA 0.21 acres Vacant property just outside city limits in the 
Annapolis neighborhood. 

6 4537-014-001-0004                              UGA 0.15 acres Vacant property just outside city limits in the 
Annapolis neighborhood. 

Figure 30. Table of surplus or vacant public land to consider for housing opportunities. Source: City of Port 
Orchard 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=39.33.015
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=39.33.015


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 26 

 
Figure 31. Map of surplus or vacant public land to consider for housing opportunities. Source: City of Port 
Orchard 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 27 

Project Spotlights 
This section provides detailed case studies of recent and ongoing housing developments in 
Port Orchard. It includes a cross-section of housing types. The spotlights are intended to 
provide insights on housing cost and design trends. 

Valley Quadplex 
This a recently completed 
fourplex development at 
the corner of Mitchell 
Avenue and Dwight Street. 
The site is zoned R3 and is 
within the Downtown 
Countywide Center. The 
site is on a block with 
single-family homes, to the 
south is a small 
multifamily complex, and 
to the east is South Kitsap High School.  

Each of the four units is 3 bed/2.5 bath with about 
1,450 square feet of living area. The lot is 8,276 square 
feet lot (0.19 acres), so the density is 21 units per acre.  

The building is three-stories and steps down a slope, 
with one-car garages located in a daylight basement in 
the rear of each unit. The site incorporates a rear 
shared access drive connected to a private alley. 
Residential open space is provided on the east and 
south sides of the building. 

Staff report the development fits the neighborhood well 
and it is a good example of infill. The developer 
suggested more friendly paperwork and inspection 
scheduling (the City just recently launched online 
scheduling and permitting). The fourplex was as 
intimidating and laborious to permit as an apartment building, possibly due to the required 
environmental review and the use of the commercial building code (as opposed to the 
residential building code). 

The developer was interested in but unable to participate in the multifamily tax exemption 
(MFTE) program due to the local minimum threshold of 10 dwelling units (under updated state 
law a four-unit development is the minimum). 

The land cost was about $93,000 and the total construction cost (before sales tax) was about 
$200 per square foot. The units are each renting for $2,300 to $2,500 per month.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 28 

Haven Apartments 
This is a nearly complete garden apartment 
development in southern Port Orchard located off 
Pottery Avenue and within the Ruby Creek 
subarea. The site is zoned Commercial Mixed Use 
and is within the Ruby Creek Overlay District. This 
is a semi-rural area quickly transitioning into a 
low-density neighborhood center.  

Adjacent to the site to the south is Ruby Creek 
and a single-family property, to the west is 
additional vacant land where the Haven 
Townhome project is planned by the same 
developer, to the north is a church and car 
dealership, and to the east is a wooded wetland. 

Only about half of the 18-acre parcel is 
developable due to the wetland and stream buffers; after subtracting those, the development’s 
net density is about 24 units per acre. The development has 216 total units spread across 10 
three-story buildings. About 36% of units are 1-bedrooms, 52% are 2-bedrooms, and 11% are 3-
bedrooms. An average of 1.65 parking spaces per unit are provided.  

This development offers more amenities than typical multifamily projects in Port Orchard. With 
units renting slightly above $2.00 per square foot (e.g. at least $2,100/month for a two-bedroom 
unit), the project will serve the mid-high end of the Port Orchard rental market. This is partly due 
to the developer’s intentional positioning and the site amenities, including a 6,000 square feet 
clubhouse with a swimming pool.  

Higher rents are also partly due to the high construction costs that need to be recouped. Hard 
construction costs, not including land, were about $170 per square foot. Impact fees totaled 
about $28,000 per unit ($6 million total). Through a development agreement, the developer is 
receiving sewer general facility fee credits to help offset the cost of a new $2.5 million sewer lift 
station constructed at the developer’s expense.  The developer is also receiving transportation 
and park impact fee credits for constructed improvements constructed and land dedication. 

   
  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 29 

McCormick Village 
This is a planned mixed-use subdivision that is a small part of 
the large master planned McCormick Woods area, which has 
been under development since the 1980’s and was annexed to 
Port Orchard in 2009. This particular site is about 23 acres 
and located on the north side of Clifton Road. The area is 
currently forested vacant land, with a large church to the 
southwest of the site, single-family subdivisions planned or 
under construction in the vicinity, and new public schools 
planned just west of the site. 

The site has a mix of zoning: Residential 3, Neighborhood 
Mixed Use, and Commercial Mixed Use. It also has a special 
McCormick Village Overlay (MVOD) with subtle changes to 
the residential lot standards. The City developed the MVOD 
regulations to implement the McCormick Village Subarea Plan 
and worked closely with the landowner. The overlay provides 
some nuances such as additional allowed building types, 
revised minimum/maximum setbacks, and a prohibition on 
parking in the front of lots. 

The residential preliminary plat shows up to 153 lots and all lots having alley access. A variety 
of housing types are illustrated, with the majority being 30-feet wide lots with detached homes 
and above-garage accessory dwelling units (uniquely, all such units will start as rentals). One 
version of the plat also shows paseo houses (similar to cottage housing, but with less common 
open space) and two-story forecourt apartment buildings (with 6-8 units per site). The total unit 
count is not yet known, but based on one drawing provided to the City, the site could have up to 
320 units (including ADU’s). The gross density (including ADU’s and excluding the commercial 
area) would be about 20 units per acre. 

The separately permitted commercial village is at the northeast corner of the site. This would be 
Port Orchard’s first retail development west of State Route 16. Preliminary plans show pads for 
about 10 small commercial buildings served by surface parking and woonerf-style drive aisles. 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 30 

The Ramsey 
This is an ongoing mixed-use development in southern Port Orchard located at the northeast 
corner of Sedgwick Road and Ramsey Road. It is zoned Commercial Mixed Use, located within 
the Sedgwick-Bethel SR-16 center, and within the soon-to-be master planned Bethel Sedgwick 
Countywide Center. This is a semi-developed suburban area characterized by a mixture of small 
and large auto-oriented commercial uses. 

This site is located uphill from the area’s major intersection. Adjacent to the site to the east is a 
gas station, to the south are single-family homes and a home-based auto detailing shop, to the 
west is a fitness center, and to the north is vacant forested land. 

The development is occurring on a relatively compact and sloping 2.5-acre site. It consists of 
three buildings, one of which is small drive-through coffee stand. The other two buildings are 
three stories and, combined, contain commercial space and 99 apartments on the upper floors. 
The gross density is about 40 units per acre. 

The development is one of the few participating in the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 
program since the program was started in 2016. The developer is currently applying for a “Type 
3” 8-year property tax exemption in exchange for incorporating structured parking and a 
shopfront design (commercial retail space). 

This is the first large private development in Port Orchard to incorporate structured parking. The 
project is located far from Downtown Port Orchard, and yet the land value and market 
economics appear to be enabling this unconventional hybrid between suburban and urban land 
use intensity. While it is was assisted by the MFTE program, this project may be representative 
of an early transition in the Port Orchard real estate market where more dense, mixed-use 
development is becoming economically viable. 

    



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 31 

Downtown Mixed Use Projects 
Several residential-commercial mixed-use projects have been proposed in Downtown Port 
Orchard in recent years. None have broken ground as of this writing, though one is now 
permitted. Conceptual designs show urban features like structured parking, storefronts, rooftop 
open space, and being at least four stories in height. This swell may be signaling a shift in the 
local real estate economy where compact infill and redevelopment is on the verge of being 
more feasible due to a combination of land values and market rents. 

 

Project Description 
Bay Street Apartments (429 Bay Street) 

 

This project has been permitted on the site of the old 
Lighthouse Restaurant and will develop 39 units and 500 
square feet of commercial on four levels. It is located on 
a 1.35 acre waterfront site. The project will have a single 
level of structured parking on the ground floor. The 
developer requested a reduction of 66 parking spaces to 
41 spaces.  The residential density is 29 units per acre. 

Heronsview (100 Bethel Avenue) 

 

The conceptual plans have a total of 106 units on four 
levels; 55% of units are studios, 23% are 1-bedrooms, 15% 
are 2-bedrooms, and 7% are live/work units. Proposed on 
a 1.08 acre site, the development’s residential density 
would be 98 units per acre. About 6,000 square feet of 
commercial space are shown in conceptual drawings. At 
least 143 parking spaces would be required if no on-
street parking is available. Parking would be provided in a 
two-level garage, with the roof used as a residential open 
space.  

1626-1636 Bay Street

 

This concept includes 71 units on five levels, including 
two levels of structured parking. Proposed on a 0.51 acre 
site, the residential density would be 139 units per acre. 
The site and development concept is currently for sale for 
about $6 million. 

640 Bay Street 

 

This a City-owned property that was intended to be sold 
to a private developer, though the project has been on 
hold for at least four years. This early concept proposed 
to include 44 units on five levels and about 12,000 square 
feet of commercial space. Parking is proposed off-site. It 
would include a rooftop garden and a vacation of Fredrick 
Street which would be developed as a landscaped public 
space and hill climb. The potential residential density is 
159 units per acre. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 32 

Section 3 – Cost Trends 

Housing Cost Trends 
Housing costs in Port Orchard have been increasing steadily over the last decade, for both 
renters and homeowners, as shown in Figure 32 below. As of mid-2022, Zillow reports an 
average home value of $511,600 and an average rent of $1,638 per unit in the city, a yearly 
increase of five percent for ownership units and nine percent for rentals over the past decade. 
Notably, both ownership and rental housing costs have increased more rapidly since the onset 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, a pattern seen across the greater Puget Sound region, and 
particularly in smaller and moderate-sized jurisdictions when compared with larger cities such 
as Seattle. 

 

Figure 32. Housing Costs in Port Orchard, 2012-2022. Source: Zillow, CoStar. 

Figure 33 shows the change in Port Orchard’s housing prices compared with the change in 
incomes from 2010-2020. After a drop in home prices between 2010 and 2012, incomes and 
housing prices increased similarly between 2012 and 2015, after which home prices began to 
increase significantly faster than incomes. Rental prices, which had been stable from 2013-
2017, also began a steep increase in 2017, also outpacing incomes. The gap has continued to 
worsen over the past few years, with a 28 percent increase in rents and 56 percent increase in 
home values from 2015-2020, compared to only a 15 percent increase in incomes over the 
same period. This shows that housing has become more difficult to afford for the average Port 
Orchard resident in recent years, a trend also seen across the country. 

$0

$200

$400

$600

$800

$1,000

$1,200

$1,400

$1,600

$1,800

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 R

en
t P

er
 U

ni
t

H
om

e 
Va

lu
e

Average Home Value

Average Multifamily Rent Per Unit



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 33 

 

Figure 33. Change in Home Prices, Rents, and Incomes in Port Orchard, 2010-2020. Source: Zillow, 
American Community Survey 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, DP04, Leland Consulting Group 

Figure 34 shows the relationship between what the typical Port Orchard household earns in a 
year and the amount they would need to earn to afford the typical home in the city, based on 
2020 census and home price data. The income needed to afford the median home in the city is 
about $50,585 more than the median household currently earns, or to put it another way, the 
typical Port Orchard household could afford a home worth about $303,012, but the typical home 
in the city in 2020 was worth 1.5 times as much, $468,702. 

 

 
Figure 34. Ownership Housing Affordability in Port Orchard. Source: Zillow, Freddie Mac, 2020 American 
Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Leland Consulting Group 

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Median Gross Rent Zillow Home Value Index Median Household Income

$71,719 

$122,304 

$468,702 

$303,012 

 $-
 $50,000

 $100,000
 $150,000
 $200,000
 $250,000
 $300,000
 $350,000
 $400,000
 $450,000
 $500,000

Median Household
Income

Income Needed To
Afford Median Home

Median Sales Price Maximum Home Price
Affordable to Median

Household



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 34 

A housing affordability chart illustrating home prices which would be affordable to a variety of 
income levels is shown below in Figure 35. Port Orchard’s median incomes and sales prices are 
both shown. This data illustrates the degree to which ownership housing has become out of 
reach for many Port Orchard residents, even those earning more than the city’s median 
household income. 

 

Figure 35. Housing Prices Affordable to Various Incomes with Port Orchard Median Income and Sales Price, 
2021. Source: Zillow, Freddie Mac, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Leland Consulting 
Group 

Construction Costs 
The cost of construction for all housing types has been increasing for decades, although the 
past few years have seen unprecedented increases. These costs have a major impact on 
development feasibility. Higher development costs ultimately drive up the sales price of finished 
housing and can lead to reduced housing production when the market cannot support those 
higher housing prices. 

The following chart provides construction price indexes8 for multifamily housing units under 
construction, single-family houses sold, and for single-family houses under construction. Recent 
data from the U.S. Census Bureau shows construction costs went up by 17.5% year-over-year 
from 2020 to 2021, the largest spike in this data from year to year since 1970. Costs in 2021 
were also more than 23% higher than pre-pandemic 2019. Preliminary data for 2022 indicates 
an even greater jump in construction costs, largely due to supply chain issues, inflation, and 
labor shortages. 

 
8 The houses sold index incorporates the value of the land and is available quarterly at the national level and annually 
by region. The indexes for houses under construction are available monthly at the national level. The indexes are 
based on data from the Survey of Construction (SOC). 

$25 
$50 

$75 
$100 

$150 
$200 

$96 

$192 

$287 

$383 

$575 

$766 

 $-

 $100

 $200

 $300

 $400

 $500

 $600

 $700

 $800

 $900
Household Income ($1,000s) House Price ($1,000s)

Median Sales Price ($468)

Median Household 
Income ($71)

A household earning $100,000 
could not afford the median Port 
Orchard sales price of $468,000 
even though they are earning 
nearly $30,000 more than the 
median household income.



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 35 

 

Figure 36. Construction Price Indexes. Source: U.S. Census Bureau Construction Price Indexes 

Developers interviewed by the project team in summer 2022 indicated concerns over 
construction costs in the region. They described as many as ten material cost adjustments per 
year, compared to one to two price changes per year in the past. Developers generally agreed 
that lumber prices were likely to begin decreasing and stabilize in the coming years, though they 
expressed less optimism about short-term decreases in other material costs. 

  

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

MFR

SFR Under Construction

SFR Sold (West)



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 36 

Impact Fees 
Impact fees are a one-time fee required by local governments for new development to help pay 
for a portion of the expected costs of providing increased public services. The topic arose in 
stakeholder interviews and so an analysis compared Port Orchard’s impact fees to other Kitsap 
County jurisdictions. Determining impact fee by building type (housing type) also provides 
information about how the fees are affecting the variety of housing being built. 

The table below a table shows total impact fees (combining fees for roads, parks, and schools) 
by housing type. Roads impact fee schedules typically have the most detailed housing types 
and thus was used as the basis for housing type comparison. The breakdown of impact fees by 
type of impact fee can be seen in Appendix A. Port Orchard has a fee for all three categories, 
which is not the case for some of the other jurisdictions. Bremerton currently does not collect 
impact fees but may start collecting them in the near future.  

The comparison finds that Port Orchard does have some of the highest impact fees in Kitsap 
County, but these fees may be closer to the median when making wider regional comparisons. 
For example, Sammamish impact fees total at least $14,000 per unit (as of 2019). Judging by 
the large volume of permitted developments in Port Orchard, the fees are having little negative 
effect on total development. 

However, the fees may be a minor factor for the variety of housing products being produced. 
Duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, townhouses, and ADU’s have notably high fees for the lower 
resource impacts and land area they require compared to single-family homes. This may 
partially be because the school and park impact fees do not provide a high level of distinction 
among building types due to those fees being based more on persons per household. 

 
 Single-

Family  Duplex 
Triplex & 
Fourplex Townhouse 

Multifamily 
1-2 floors 

Multifamily 
3+ floors 

Multifamily 
Mixed Use ADU 

Port 
Orchard  $10,856.52 $9,156.34 

$6,835.28 – 
$9,096.34 

$9,156.34 – 
10,347.34 $6,820.28 $6,189.29 $5,768.63 

$4,677.97 - 
$6,150.28 

Kitsap 
County   

$6,428.60 $3,496.75 $3,496.75 $3,766.74 $3,496.75 $2,956.77 $2,821.78 $3,766.74 

Bremerton $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $7,969.18 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $5,102.97 $5,102.97 $5,323.48 

Bainbridge 
Island 

$1,811.82 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,413.22 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 

Gig Harbor $11,350.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $11,715.00 

Figure 37. Impact Fees per Unit by Housing Type. Source: Kitsap County and Municipalities of Kitsap 
County 

Some cities exempt ADU’s from impact fees since they are not a primary unit and because the 
fees can be insurmountable for low- and moderate-income homeowners. Also, under RCW 
82.02.060, cities may reduce impact fees by up 80% for affordable housing. Under POMC 
20.182, the City has not adopted any impact fee exemptions or reductions, though the idea is 
supported by Comprehensive Plan policy HS-6.  

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.02.060
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.02.060


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 37 

Section 4 – Housing and Service Needs 
This section offers information about the needs for households in the City of Port Orchard. 

Market Rate Housing 
The chart below shows projected demand for new housing units through 2044 by income in 
Port Orchard based on the Kitsap County target of 5,291 new housing units in Port Orchard by 
2044.9 The allocation of housing units by income is shown using three projection 
methodologies. The Washington State Department of Commerce (Commerce) has recently 
released a draft calculator which uses two methodologies to calculate future housing needs by 
income by county, city, and UGA. Method “A” shown below allocates future housing needs by 
projected household income (as a share of AMI) evenly across all municipalities in Kitsap 
County. This shows a particularly high 2044 need of over 1,400 units affordable to the lowest-
income households earning less than 30% AMI – which would need to be provided by 
subsidized affordable units. Commerce Method “B” allocates housing across all jurisdictions in 
the County after taking into account their existing housing unit breakdown by income level. 
Because Port Orchard already provides some subsidized units (and a larger share than some 
other Kitsap County municipalities), this method shows a need for fewer units for households 
earning under 30 percent AMI and between 30 and 50 percent AMI, but allocates more units for 
higher-income households earning more than 120 percent AMI.  

The third methodology shown is Leland Consulting Group’s model which allocates future 
housing units based on Port Orchard’s current income breakdown. This methodology shows a 
strong housing need for the lowest-income residents of the City but also reflects the need for 
“workforce” housing for the significant share of Port Orchard’s population earning between 50 
and 100 percent of the AMI. 

Overall, these three methodologies show that the largest housing needs by income in Port 
Orchard in the next two decades will be for the lowest-income households, which can only be 
met through regulated affordable (i.e. subsidized) housing, to a lesser degree for “workforce” 
housing for residents earning less than 100% AMI, which can be provided through a variety of 
channels including subsidized units, vouchers, other incentive programs such as MFTE, and 
filtering of existing units as new housing stock is built. Finally, there will remain a demand for 
between 1,200 and 1,800 market rate housing units targeting households earning more than 
120 percent AMI over the next 20 years. 

Although the Commerce methodologies are still in draft form, all three sets of results are 
presented here to demonstrate the various calculations and considerations underlying future 
housing needs and targets regionally. The Kitsap County Regional Coordinating Council will 
decide on a final target number of new units by income level for all jurisdictions in the County in 
2023, and that final target breakdown will be integrated into the 2024-2044 Port Orchard 
Comprehensive Plan.  

 
9 This housing unit target and the Kitsap County population target for Port Orchard (10,500 new residents by 2044) 
would yield an average household size of 1.98 people per household. This is significantly less than the current Port 
Orchard household size of 2.44 people per household. This discrepancy may need to be addressed by Commerce. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 38 

 

 

Figure 38. Housing Demand Projections for Port Orchard, 2022-2044 Source: Washington Department of 
Commerce Draft Projected Housing Needs Methodologies, Leland Consulting Group 

  

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

0-30 30-50 50-80 80-100 100-120 120+

N
ew

 U
ni

ts
 N

ee
de

d 
by

 2
02

4

% AMI

Commerce Method A Commerce Method B LCG Method



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 39 

Low-Income and Cost-Burdened Households 
HUD sets income limits that determine eligibility for assisted housing programs.10 The 2022 
Area Median Income (AMI) for the Bremerton-Silverdale Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) is 
$102,500. The following table outlines the 2022 Bremerton-Silverdale MSA HUD income limits 
for low, very low, and extremely low-income households making 80 percent, 50 percent, and 30 
percent of the Area Median Income (AMI), respectively. 

Household Size 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

Extremely Low (30%)  21,600 24,700 27,800 30,850 33,350 37,190 41,910 46,630 

Very Low Income (50%)  36,050 41,200 46,350 51,450 55,600 59,700 63,800 67,950 

Low Income (80%)   57,650 65,850 74,100 82,300 88,900 95,500 102,100 108,650 
Figure 39. HUD FY 2022 Income Limits ($), Bremerton-Silverdale, WA MSA. Source: HUD 

 
In addition to income, HUD uses a measurement of 
“cost burden” to further determine which subset of a 
community’s residents are most in need of housing 
support or most at risk of displacement or housing 
hardship.  

Figure 40 shows a breakdown of Port Orchard’s 
households by tenure and cost burden status. Overall, 
about 35 percent of Port Orchard’s households are 
considered cost-burdened. Half of all renter-occupied 
households are considered cost-burdened, while one quarter of owner-occupied households are 
considered cost-burdened.  

As is the case nationwide, renters are significantly more at risk of economic hardship and 
displacement than homeowners. With rental rates increasing dramatically in recent years and 
income growth failing to keep up, it appears that renters are suffering the consequences in 
terms of cost burden. There is a clear need for more rental housing that is affordable to all 
income levels.  

 
10 Including the Public Housing, Section 8 project-based, Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher, Section 202 housing for 
the elderly, and Section 811 housing for persons with disabilities programs HUD develops income limits based on 
median family income estimates and fair market rent area definitions. 

A household is considered to be 
“cost-burdened” if they are spending 
more than 30% of monthly income on 
housing costs (including 
rent/mortgage and utilities).  

A “severely cost-burdened” household 
spends more than 50% of their 
monthly income on housing costs. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 40 

 
Figure 40. Household Tenure by Cost Burden in the City of Port Orchard, 2020. Source: HUD CHAS 2015-
2019. 

The following chart shows cost burden status by household income level for households 
earning less than the area median income (AMI). The lowest-income households earning 30 
percent AMI or less have by far the highest cost burden, with 615 of the 715 households in this 
income bracket spending more than 30 percent of their income on housing costs, and 495 
households, or 70 percent of households in the income bracket, spending more than half their 
income on housing costs. Similarly, 75 percent of households earning between 30 and 50 
percent of the AMI also spend more than a third of their income on housing costs. However, 
there are still a substantial number of households earning between 30 and 80 percent AMI 
which are also housing cost-burdened, as well as a quarter of households earning between 80 
and 100 percent AMI.  

This data shows a need for subsidized affordable housing at various income levels, but 
particularly for households earning less than 50 percent AMI.  

 
Figure 41. Cost Burden Status by Household Income Level in Port Orchard. Source: HUD CHAS 2015-2019. 

6%

21%

12%

19%

30%

23%

75%

50%

65%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Owner Occupied

Renter occupied

All Households

Severely Cost Burdened Cost Burdened Not Cost Burdened

495

90

10

15

120

315

465

160

100

130

520

465

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000

< 30% AMI

30-50% AMI

50-80% AMI

80-100% AMI

Severely Cost Burdened Cost Burdened Not Cost Burdened



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 41 

Special Needs Housing 
Figure 42 shows the number of households in Port Orchard with a disabled resident by disability 
status and income. Most households with a disabled resident earn more than 80 percent of 
AMI, though particularly for residents with an ambulatory limitation (generally meaning they are 
unable to walk), there is a significant number of households earning less than 30 percent AMI. 
In addition to ambulatory limitations, hearing or vision impairments are the most common 
disability reported in Port Orchard households. 

Disability Status 
(any household member) 

Extremely 
Low Income 
(≤ 30% AMI) 

Very Low 
Income (30-

50% AMI) 

Low Income 
(50-80% 

AMI) 

Moderate 
Income or 

Higher 
(>80% AMI) 

Total 
Households 

Cognitive limitation 90 80 70 225 460 

Hearing or vision impairment 90 115 105 445 755 

Self-care/ind. living limitation 60 185 125 215 585 

Ambulatory limitation 215 115 65 310 710 
Figure 42. Households by Disability Status and Income in Port Orchard. Source: HUD CHAS 2015-2019 

People Facing Homelessness  
Kitsap County conducts a Point in Time Count of people experiencing homelessness 
countywide each year, typically in January. In 2022, the count was conducted in February 
instead. The count encompasses both sheltered and unsheltered people and is conducted 
during one 24-hour period each year. Therefore, the number is generally considered to be an 
undercount of the true population experiencing homelessness. In February 2022, 563 individuals 
were experiencing homelessness countywide, of which 136 were in transitional housing, 244 in 
emergency shelters, and 183 unsheltered. This was an 8 percent decrease from 202011 though 
a 7 percent increase from the previous four-year average. Of the 183 unsheltered residents 
surveyed, 23 percent, or 42 people, were in Port Orchard. Countywide, 67 percent of those 
surveyed reported becoming homeless due to health or mental health issues, 58 percent due to 
job loss, 40 percent due to loss of housing, 35 percent due to family conflict, and 25 percent due 
to substance use.12 

A 2020 report by the U.S. Government Accountability Office finds that every $100 increase in 
median rent is associated with a nine percent increase in the estimated homelessness 
population, even after accounting for demographic and economic characteristics. This formula 
is considered at a national level but may be helpful context for the current trend in local rent 
increases. 

 

  

 
11 The count of unsheltered individuals was not completed in 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
12 Kitsap County Point In Time Count. https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx  

https://www.gao.gov/blog/how-covid-19-could-aggravate-homelessness-crisis
https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 42 

Transit 
Under definitions of the Washington State Department of Transportation, Port Orchard mostly 
has Level 4 transit service.13 Higher levels of service (Levels 1-3) are considered to be more 
attractive to the general population (e.g. choice riders), more conducive to reducing solo driving, 
and more able justify reduced parking (and therefore reduced housing costs) at residential 
developments. The lack of regular bus service on Sundays and between Port Orchard and 
Bremerton is particularly notable. 
 
Kitsap Transit operates public bus and passenger ferry service in Port Orchard. Two ferry docks 
have service to the Bremerton ferry terminal where riders can catch auto ferries or fast 
passenger ferries to Seattle. There are six fixed-route bus lines operating within the central and 
eastern part of the city, generally running at frequencies of 30 to 60 minutes. Buses stop 
operating in the early evening. On Saturdays, buses run between 10am and 5pm.  
 
Western Port Orchard area is a served by an on-demand, weekday-only service called SK Ride 
which connects residents to some regular bus routes. Other services include worker/driver 
buses for Navy facility commuters, door-to-door Access buses for seniors and people with 
disabilities (runs 8am to 4pm on weekdays and Sundays), and vanpools/carpools.  
 

 
Figure 43. Kitsap Transit fixed-route bus lines in the Port Orchard area. 

 
13 “Frequent Transit Service Study.” December 2022. Washington State Department of Transportation. 
https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/ 

https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 43 

Section 5 – Housing Funding and Monetary Tools 

Existing Funding 
Port Orchard does not have currently any funding streams directly funding affordable housing 
development or preservation. 

In January 2022, Kitsap County imposed a 0.1% affordable housing sales tax as allowed under 
RCW 82.14.530. The revenue must be used for constructing or maintaining affordable housing. 
It is expected to generate about $5 million per year.14 This sales tax option would have been 
available to Port Orchard (generating about $850,000 per year per .1% , based on 2021 revenue), 
but state law stipulates that after a county adopts the tax cities in the county may no longer 
implement their own tax.15 Poulsbo and Bainbridge Island implemented affordable housing 
sales taxes before the county did and so their taxes remain effective in addition the county’s. 

Other Funding Options 
The Municipal Research Service Center provides a list of other funding sources for Washington 
cities and affordable housing developers. These include: 

• Property tax levy of up to $0.50 per $1,000 assessed valuation for up to 10 years to fund 
very low-income housing (RCW 84.52.105) 

• Real estate excise tax of up to 0.25% to fund affordable housing through 2026 (RCW 
82.46.035) 

• Mandatory inclusionary zoning requirements that require residential developments to 
either provide affordable housing on-site or to pay into a housing fund for city 
governments to fund housing elsewhere (generally this tool must be paired with large 
upzones to avoid regulatory takings claims) 

• Lodging taxes, which may be used to fund a variety of government programs (as noted 
under the short-term rental discussion, Port Orchard already has a lodging tax) 

• Loans and grants from the Washington State Housing Trust Fund (administered by the 
Washington State Department of Commerce) 

• State law under RCW 43.185C.080 allows cities to receive grants from the Washington 
homeless housing account. A prerequisite is adoption of a local homeless housing plan 
or adopting by reference a county homeless housing plan that has a specific strategy for 
the city. Grant value is tied to the real estate document recording fees generated within 
the local jurisdiction. 

• Low-income housing tax credits which investors in housing projects can apply to 
(administered by the Washington State Housing Finance Commission) 

  

 
14 “Commissioners vote to impose 1/10th of 1% sales tax for affordable housing.” January 2022. Kitsap Daily News. 
https://www.kitsapdailynews.com/news/commissioners-vote-to-impose-1-10th-of-1-sales-tax-for-affordable-
housing/ 
15 Funding Local Affordable Housing Efforts. August 2022. Municipal Research Service Center. 
https://mrsc.org/Home/Stay-Informed/MRSC-Insight/August-2022/Options-for-Funding-Local-Affordable-Housing-
Effor.aspx 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=82.14.530
https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Planning/Housing/Affordable-Housing-Funding-Sources.aspx
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=84.52.105
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.46.035
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.46.035
https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.185C.080
https://www.wshfc.org/mhcf/index.htm
https://www.kitsapdailynews.com/news/commissioners-vote-to-impose-1-10th-of-1-sales-tax-for-affordable-housing/
https://www.kitsapdailynews.com/news/commissioners-vote-to-impose-1-10th-of-1-sales-tax-for-affordable-housing/
https://mrsc.org/Home/Stay-Informed/MRSC-Insight/August-2022/Options-for-Funding-Local-Affordable-Housing-Effor.aspx
https://mrsc.org/Home/Stay-Informed/MRSC-Insight/August-2022/Options-for-Funding-Local-Affordable-Housing-Effor.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 44 

Multifamily Tax Exemption 
Overview 
The multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) is a program authorized by the state, starting in 1995 
(RCW 84.14). Cities can grant one or more of the following programs for new buildings or 
existing buildings: 

• 8-year exemption for any type of multifamily development 
• 12-year exemption for multifamily developments that reserve at least 20 percent of units 

for low- and moderate-income households 
• A 20-year exemption for multifamily developments that reserve at least 25 percent of 

units for sale as permanently affordable to households earning 80% AMI or less, and the 
development must be sponsored by a non-profit or governmental entity (this option was 
added by the Legislature in 202116). Port Orchard meets the threshold of 15,000 
population to unlock this option. 

 
Land, existing site improvements, and non-residential improvements are not exempt and are 
subject to normal property taxes. At the local government's discretion, the exemption’s basis 
may be limited to the value of affordable units or other criteria. The local government has 
latitude in many other aspects. It can require certain public benefits, change what types of 
development apply, and can map specific areas where the exemption is available. Cities can 
also set lower maximum rent prices than the statute allows. 

MFTE programs require ongoing monitoring, especially for any buildings with affordable units, 
to ensure that rental rates and resident incomes are meeting the criteria. 

A 2019 statewide audit found that local MFTE programs are frequently used to improve the 
financial performance of private developments but it is unclear if they result in a net increase in 
housing production. For 2018 the audit found average annual local and state property tax 
savings of $10,651 per affordable unit and $2,096 per market-rate unit, with wide variations 
depending on the location, land value, and local property tax rates. Seattle has the most MFTE 
units in the state and likely skews the average tax savings high. Participating properties in 
Bremerton see average annual property tax savings of $6,123 per affordable unit $1,413 per 
market-rate unit (data was not available for Port Orchard). 

Port Orchard MFTE Review 
Port Orchard has had an MFTE program in place since 2016, which is codified under Chapter 
3.48 POMC. It goes beyond the basic framework of state law and provides three types of 
exemptions. 

The “Type 1” program is a 12-year tax exemption available to properties zoned for multifamily or 
mixed-use development within one-half mile of a transit route or ferry terminal. At least 20 
percent of units must be rented at least 10 percent below fair market rent to tenants with the 
following incomes:  

 
16 “Overview of 2021 Changes to the Multifamily Housing Tax Exemption Program.” Washington State Department of 
Commerce. https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=84.14
https://leg.wa.gov/jlarc/taxReports/2019/MFTE/f_ii/default.html
https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/jlarc/viz/MFTEdashboard-final_16056518488280/Dashboard
https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/jlarc/viz/MFTEdashboard-final_16056518488280/Dashboard
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 45 

• At or below 40 percent of median family income, for housing units in congregate 
residences or small efficiency dwelling units 

• At or below 65 percent of median family income for one-bedroom units 
• At or below 75 percent of median family income for two-bedroom units 
• At or below 80 percent of median family income for three-bedroom and larger units. 

 
Figure 44. Parcels eligible for the Type 1 MFTE program 

The “Type 2” program is an 8-year tax exemption available to properties within local centers of 
importance (as identified in the Comprehensive Plan) and which are encouraged to redevelop 
and may require rezoning. Properties must meet at least one of these criteria: 

• Have abandoned buildings (vacant or unused for more than two years) 
• Underutilized buildings (50 percent or more vacancy for more than two years) 
• An assessed building value to land ratio of two-to-one or more. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 46 

 
Figure 45. Parcels eligible for the Type 2 MFTE program 

The “Type 3” program is an 8-year exemption available to properties within local centers of 
importance (as identified in the Comprehensive Plan) and zoned for multifamily or mixed-use 
development. Developments must meet one of these standards: 

1. At least 50 percent of required parking must be structured and achieve at least 50 units 
per net developable acre 

2. Construct mixed-use shopfront building(s) containing non-residential square footage 
equal to at least 40 percent of all building footprints 

3. Purchase one additional story of building height for one or more buildings through the 
city’s transfer of development rights program 

 
Figure 46. Parcels eligible for the Type 3 MFTE program 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 47 

 
The following table shows how many developments and dwelling units are utilizing Port 
Orchard’s MFTE program since inception. Numbers in parenthesis are MFTE applications 
currently in progress (as of December 2022). 
 

MFTE Program 

Number of 
Participating 

Developments Total Units 
Affordable Units 

(Type 1) 
Type 1 (12-year, affordable) 2 (+2) 95  (+220) 20 (+45) 
Type 2 (8-year, redevelopment) 1 (+2) 138 (+207) -- 
Type 3 (8-year, urban mixed-use) 1 99 -- 

Figure 47. MFTE program statistics. Source: City of Port Orchard 

Observations: 

• Port Orchard’s MFTE program is structured differently than most Washington cities, with 
two versions of the 8-year program 

• In the Type 3 program, options for combining required features could be clarified, as was 
done with the one participating project which used less structured parking and shopfront 
design than required individually but combined use of both features to qualify. 

• In the Type 1 program, the minimum development size of 10 units reduces the number 
of small projects that can participate. State law sets the minimum development size at 
four units. 

• In the Type 1 program, residents have their incomes verified only in order to determine 
what size of unit they can occupy. In other words, individualized rent caps are set for 
physical units and not customized for each household’s size and characteristics. This is 
a different approach than most cities, but appears to fit within the state law framework. 

• In the Type 1 program, the depth of affordability (10% below market rate) may be 
imbalanced with the property tax savings. 

• Updates to RCW 84.14 allow median family income to now be based on the city or 
metropolitan statistical area of the project (rather than just the county). 

 
As noted in Section 3, the past few years have seen unprecedented increases in construction 
costs which have a major impact on development feasibility. There is interest among City 
officials and stakeholders to revisit the MFTE program and make adjustments to improve 
economic feasibility and administration. 

The City has the legal option to seek help with monitoring the MFTE program and freeing up 
staff resources. Housing Kitsap, for example, already has systems in place to administer 
income-based housing. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 48 

Section 6 – Housing Policies 

Comprehensive Plan Goals and Policies 
This section focuses on a handful of key policies in the Housing Element. Full comments are 
available in Appendix B. 

Goal/ 
Policy Text Comment 
HS-2 Support the development of a variety of housing 

types, including apartments, townhomes, mixed‐
use (residential and other uses) and live‐work 
development, small‐lot and zero lot line single‐
family homes, and manufactured homes, as well 
as traditional single‐family homes, through 
innovative planning, efficient and effective 
administration of land and building codes, and, 
where available, applicable financial assistance. 

The City has a good foundation of supportive 
zoning standards to support a variety of housing 
types, though as noted in Section 6 some 
improvements could be made or more incentives 
added. The MVOD zone is an example of 
innovative planning. Financial assistance largely is 
implemented through the MFTE program, though 
other options may need to be explored to support 
the low-income population.  

HS-6 Consider reducing permitting fees for 
development which provide affordable housing as 
defined by the Washington Administrative Code 
(WAC) section 200‐120‐ 020. 

No waivers/reductions for impact fees and general 
facilities charges are in place. 

HS-9 Implement minimum residential density 
requirements in centers of local importance in 
order to increase land and infrastructure 
efficiency. 

The City does not have minimum density 
standards in any zone. 

HS-14 Implement zoning and development regulations 
which encourage infill housing on empty and 
redevelopable parcels. 

This type of development does not appear to be 
happening in large numbers, with most housing 
being built on greenfields on the edge of the city. 
More incentives for infill and redevelopment in 
local centers should be explored in the HAP. 

 
  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 49 

Development Regulations 
Port Orchard’s zoning standards are codified under Title 20 POMC and primarily exist in 
Chapters 20.30 through 20.58. The key standards reviewed here are the permitted land uses 
and dimensional standards. Other standards provide supplemental residential use and design 
standards for most housing types. Multifamily design standards are located under Chapter 
20.127 POMC. 

In most cities, this consists of a simple list or table organized by zone. In Port Orchard, 
understanding the permitted uses is complex because there are two permission standards: One 
code section describes “building types”, and the other describes “residential uses”, and these 
are located in separate chapters. 

The key development regulations on housing are summarized in the tables below. Following the 
tables is a set of observations. 

Residential Zones: Allowed Residential Development 
In the first table, P means permitted and a blank cell means the building type is not permitted in 
the zone. 

Note: The R5 zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Building Types (POMC 20.32.015) 

Building Type 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Detached House P P P   P 
Backyard Cottage P P P   P 
Cottage Court P P P   P 
Duplex: Side-by-Side  P P   P 
Duplex: Back-to-Back  P P   P 
Attached House  P P    
Fourplex   P P P  
Townhouse  P P P P  
Apartment   P P P  
Live-Work       
Manufactured or Mobile Home 
Park       

Accessory Building P P P P P P 
Figure 48. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.32.015 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 50 

In the second table are selected permitted uses in residential zones. These are reorganized 
from the actual code and have subheadings added. P means permitted, C means conditionally 
permitted (subject to extra review and public comment), and a blank cell means the housing 
type is not permitted in the zone. 

Note: The R5 zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Use Types  (POMC 20.39.040) 

Residential Use 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
General 
Single-family detached (including new manufactured 
homes) P P P   P 

Two-family  P P   P 
Single-family attached (2 units)  P P   P 
Single-family attached (3 or 4 units)  P P P P P 
Single-family attached (5 or 6 units)   P P P P 
Multifamily dwellings (3 or 4 units)   P P P  
Multifamily dwellings (5 or more units)   P P P  
Manufactured or Mobile Homes 
Designated manufactured home, manufactured or 
mobile home (except for new designated 
manufactured home) 

  P    

New designated manufactured home P P P   P 
Manufactured or mobile home park       
Supportive Housing 
Indoor emergency housing       
Indoor emergency shelter       
Permanent supportive housing C C C C C C 
Transitional housing C C C C C C 
Group Lodgings 
Boarding house    C C  
Congregate living facilities  C C C C  
Lodging house   C C C  
Group home (up to 8 residents), except as follows: P P P P P P 

Adult family home P P P   P 
All group living (9 or more residents)    C C  

Figure 49. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.39.040 

Observations: 
There are several user-friendliness challenges with these standards of Chapter 20.32 and 20.39, 
particularly as they relate to middle housing: 

• The R2 zone, the largest by land area, allows a good mix of housing types, though might 
consider adding “Multifamily dwellings (3 or 4 units)” 

• Residential development allowances are regulated in at least three code sections, which 
creates some opportunity for confusion. Residential development allowed by zone are 
regulated in Chapter 20.32 (Building Types), Chapter 20.34 and 20.35 (Residential 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 51 

Districts & Commercial and Mixed-Use Districts, respectively), and Chapter 20.39 (Use 
Provisions). 

• Code users must know to look in all applicable locations. For example: 
o Permissions for “Detached House” building type and “Single-family detached” 

land use, which have similar meanings to most people, are found in both 
Chapters 20.32 and 20.39.  

o Chapter 20.32 describes a “Townhouse” as a single building type but it appears 
to be buildable under at least six different land uses in Chapter 20.39. This is an 
effort to limit townhouse complexes to four connected units in lower density 
zones, but to allow larger six unit townhome clusters in higher density zones. 

o Chapter 20.32 describes a Fourplex as being either three or four units. Triplex is 
the term for a three-unit building and should be added, or the term renamed to 
Triplex/Fourplex. 

o Chapter 20.32 describes a Cottage Court but it is unclear which type of 
residential land use that falls under in Chapter 20.39, especially since there are 
mismatches in which zones the different types of single-family uses are allowed. 

• The terms “Two-family” and “Single-family attached (2 units)” in Chapter 20.39 should 
simply be “Duplex” which is a more commonly used term. It is also unnecessary to 
describe two different types of duplexes in Chapter 20.32 when they are both allowed in 
the same zones. The building type “Attached House” is another instance of the same 
use being duplicated. 

• A single-family triplex/fourplex is intended for potential homeownership with each unit 
on its own lot, and a multifamily triplex/fourplex is most likely intended for rentals. 
However, it is unknown why they have different permissions by zone. The same goes for 
fiveplex and sixplex developments. Ownership and rental housing that has the same 
land use and appearance should be treated similarly. 

• The City has no path to permit manufactured housing (also known as factory-built 
housing). Factory-built housing should be treated the same as site-built housing if it 
conforms to all applicable zoning and design standards. 

 

Residential Zones: Dimensional Standards 
A blank cell means the standard is not applicable. 

Note: The R5 zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.34) 

Measure 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Minimum Lot Size (square feet) 
Detached House (street vehicle 
access) 6,000 5,000 2,800 – 

5,000   4,000 

Detached House (alley vehicle 
access) 5,000 3,000 2,400    

Cottage Court 1,200 1,200 1,200    
Duplex: Side-by-Side  5,000 5,000   5,000 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 52 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.34) 

Measure 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Duplex: Back-to-Back  5,000 5,000   5,000 
Attached House  2,500 2,000   2,500 
Fourplex   7,000 7,000 7,000  
Townhouse  2,000 800 800 1,000  
Apartment   10,000 10,000 10,000  
Minimum Site Size (square feet) (POMC 20.32) 
Cottage Court 22,500 22,500 22,500   22,500 
Townhouse  5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000  
Minimum lot width (feet) 
Detached House 
(street vehicle access) 50 50 36   40 

Detached House 
(alley vehicle access) 50 30 26   40 

Cottage Court  20 20 20 20  
Duplex: Side-by-Side 
(street vehicle access)  60 60   60 

Duplex: Side-by-Side 
(alley vehicle access)  40 40   40 

Duplex: Back-to-Back  40 40   40 
Attached House  
(street vehicle access)  30 30   30 

Attached House 
(alley vehicle access)  20 20   20 

Fourplex   60 60 60  
Townhouse 
(street vehicle access) 

 30 30 30 30  

Townhouse 
(alley vehicle access) 

 20 16 16 16  

Apartment   80 80 80  

Other Lot Standards 
Maximum hard surface 
coverage  50% 70% 80% 80% 80% 75% 

Building Height (feet/stories) 
Height, maximum  35 

3 stories 
35 

3 stories 
35 

3 stories 
45 

4 stories 
55 

5 stories 
35 

3 stories 
Height, Accessory Structure 
(feet) 24 24 24   24 

Density 
Minimum density  
(units per acre)       

Maximum density 
(units per acre)       



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 53 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.34) 

Measure 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Setbacks (Feet) 
Primary street setback, 
minimum 10 10 10 10 10 10 

Side street setback, minimum  10 10 10 10 10 10 
Side interior setback, minimum  5 5 5 5 5 5 
Rear setback, minimum 10 10 10 4-10 10 10 

Figure 50. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code 20.34 

Observations: 

• Chapter 20.34 has complex lists of lot area and width standards that differ by zone and 
by building type, which is summarized in the table above. This is one of the more 
complicated arrangements of dimensional standards among Washington cities. 

• However, the actual minimum lot widths, lot sizes, and setbacks and maximum hard 
surface coverage standards are generally reasonable. Some of the minimum lot widths 
greater than 50 feet may be worth revisiting for infill opportunities. 

• There are no minimum density requirements, which disincentives most new 
development (especially subdivisions) from building anything other than single-family 
homes. This does not fulfill Comprehensive Plan policies LU-11, HS-9, and HS-16, which 
call for minimum densities at least in local centers. 

• The lot size and setback standards are highly specific, providing no flexibility for 
developers and site planners. One building type must be chosen and stuck with 
throughout the design process, otherwise choosing or adding a different type seems to 
require restarting land area needs and design assumptions from scratch. This 
disincentivizes developing a mix building types in large subdivisions or any type of infill 
“missing middle” housing. 

• The minimum “site size” provided only for cottages and townhouses discourages those 
middle types by providing a layer of complication and limiting the sites that are eligible 
for middle housing development. 

• Each building type is listed in Chapter 20.32, where there are lists of dimensional 
standards (lot width, setback, etc.) that says “set by district” for nearly every standard. 
However, it does not say where to find this information. Code users must know to 
navigate to the relevant Chapter 20.34, for example, for Residential Districts. 

 
  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 54 

Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Allowed Residential Development 
In the first table, P means permitted and a blank cell means the building type is not permitted in 
the zone. 

Note: The RMU zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Building Types (POMC 20.32.015) 

Building Type 
Commercial and Mixed Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Detached House  P P       
Backyard Cottage  P P       
Cottage Court P P P       
Duplex: Side-by-Side  P P       
Duplex: Back-to-Back  P P       
Attached House  P P       
Fourplex  P        
Townhouse P P P P  P    
Apartment    P  P    
Live-Work P P P P P P P  P 
Shopfront House P P P P  P P  P 
Mixed Use Shopfront   P P P  P  P 
Manufactured or 
Mobile Home Park       

   

Accessory Building P P P P P P P P P 
Figure 51. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.32.015 

In the second table is selected permitted uses in residential zones. These are reorganized from 
the actual code and have subheadings added. P means permitted, C means conditionally 
permitted (subject to extra review and public comment), and a blank cell means the housing 
type is not permitted in the zone. 

Note: The RMU zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Use Types  (POMC 20.39.040) 

Residential Use 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
General 
Single-family detached (including 
new manufactured homes)  P P       

Two-family P P P       
Single-family attached (2 units) P P P       
Single-family attached (3 or 4 units) P P P P P P P  P 
Single-family attached (5 or 6 units) P P P P P P P  P 
Multifamily dwellings (3 or 4 units) P P P P P P P  P 
Multifamily dwellings (5 or more 
units) P P P P P P P  P 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 55 

Manufactured or Mobile Homes 
Designated manufactured home, 
manufactured or mobile home 
(except for new designated 
manufactured home) 

      

   

New designated manufactured 
home P P P    

   

Manufactured or mobile home park          
Supportive Housing 
Indoor emergency housing  C  C C  C C  
Indoor emergency shelter  C  C C  C C  
Permanent supportive housing C C C C C C C C  
Transitional housing C C C C C C C C  
Group Lodgings 
Boarding house  C C   P    
Congregate living facilities  C C   P    
Lodging house  C C   P    
Group home (up to 8 residents), 
except as follows:  P P       

Adult family home  P P       
All group living (9 or more 
residents) P C P P C  P   

Figure 52. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.39.040 

 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Dimensional Standards 
A blank cell means the standard is not applicable. 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.35) 

Measure 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Minimum Lot Size (square feet) 
Detached House 
(street vehicle 
access) 

 3,500 3,000       

Detached House 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

 3,500 3,000       

Cottage Court          
Duplex: Side-by-
Side  7,000 6,000       

Duplex: Back-to-
Back  7,000 6,000       

Attached House   3,500       
Fourplex  7,000        
Townhouse 1,000 800  800      
Apartment    5,000      



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 56 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.35) 

Measure 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Shopfront House 6,000 7,000 6,000 5,000  None 5,000  5,000 
Mixed Use 
Shopfront   10,000 5,000 None None 5,000  None 

Minimum Site Size (square feet) (POMC 20.32) 
Cottage Court          
Townhouse          

Minimum lot width (feet) 
Detached House 
(street vehicle 
access) 

 60 60       

Detached House 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

 60 60       

Cottage Court          
Duplex: Side-by-
Side (street 
vehicle access) 

 60 60       

Duplex: Side-by-
Side (alley 
vehicle access) 

 60 60       

Duplex: Back-to-
Back  60 60       

Attached House 
(street vehicle 
access) 

  30       

Attached House 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

  30       

Fourplex  60        
Townhouse 
(street vehicle 
access) 

30 30  16      

Townhouse 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

16 16  16      

Apartment    50      
Shopfront House 60 65 60 50  None  50  50 
Mixed Use 
Shopfront   80 50 None None 50  50 

Other Lot Standards 
Maximum hard 
surface coverage  90% 70% 75% 80% 100% 90% 70% 70% 70% 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 57 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.35) 

Measure 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Building Height (feet) 

Height, 
maximum  35 35 40 40 38 38 35  35 

Density 
Minimum density 
(units per acre)          

Maximum 
density (units per 
acre) 

         

Setbacks (Feet) 
Primary street 
setback, 
minimum 

0 
(10 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

0 
(10 

Max) 
(0 Max)  

15 
(50 

Max) 
20 5 

Side street 
setback, 
minimum  

0 
(10 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

0 
(10 

Max) 
(0 Max)  

15 
(50 

Max) 

15 
(50 

Max) 
5 

Side interior 
setback, 
minimum  

0 - 5 5 5 0 (0 Max)  10  10 

Rear setback, 
minimum 10 10 10 20 (0 Max)  10  10 

Figure 53. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code 20.35 

 
Observations: 

• Apartment and townhouse building types are not allowed in the Commercial Corridor 
(CC) zone, but single-family attached and multifamily land use is allowed. This appears 
to limit this type of development to the live-work building type, which has struggled to 
achieve market feasibility in most of the region. 

• Apartment and townhouse building types are allowed in the Commercial Mixed Use 
(CMU) zone, which is often adjacent to the CC zone along arterial corridors and appears 
to serve a similar purpose. 

• No residential development is allowed in the Commercial Heavy (CH) zone, which 
prevents any possible mixed-use redevelopment of aging shopping centers or 
underutilized commercial properties in the Bethel and Sedgwick corridors. 

• The maximum impervious surface standards provide sufficient flexibility for residential 
development 

• Note that while the Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) and Gateway Mixed Use (GMU) base 
height limit 38 feet, the Downtown Height Overlay District (DHOD) that overlaps almost 
all of these two zones provides increased height limits of 48-68 feet, which increases the 
feasibility of mixed-use development. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 58 

• The 40 feet height limit in the CMU and BPMU zones (perhaps the other most promising 
zones for mixed-use development given their coverage of the city) is limiting, allowing 
for only about three stories of development by-right. Mixed-use development is generally 
more feasible the taller the building is, since the cost of construction on a per-square-
foot basis remains relatively constant for 3-6 story buildings.  

• Options for height increases and bonus provisions (outside of the transfer of 
development rights program) may be evaluated in the HAP. Some cities provide height 
bonuses as part of MFTE participation. As a point of reference, the Ruby Creek Overlay 
District provides a base 55-feet height limit for the CMU, CC, and CH zones in the 
southern area of the city.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 59 

ADU Standards 
Port Orchard regulates accessory dwelling units (ADU) in two locations: Chapter 20.68 POMC 
for basic procedures and design requirements, and POMC 20.32.030 for the “Backyard cottage” 
dwelling type. Attached ADUs are allowed in all residential zones on lots with a single detached 
dwelling unit and limited to 40 percent the size of the primary unit or 1,000 square feet, 
whichever is less. Detached ADUs (backyard cottages) are allowed in the R1, R2, R3, R6, NMU, 
RMU, BPMU, and GB zones and limited to 40 percent the size of the primary unit or 1,000 square 
feet, whichever is greater. 

Port Orchard explicitly permits ADUs to be used as a short-term rental and for occupation by 
home businesses and occupations. 

Port Orchard amended its ADU standards in October 2022 with Ordinance 038-22. The 
ordinance removes requirements to register an ADU with an affidavit and ending the need for an 
“ADU agreement” to be recorded with the county auditor. As part of this, the owner occupancy 
requirement and parking requirements for ADUs have been removed; these are two of the most 
common and significant barriers to ADUs, so these changes will improve feasibility of ADU 
development. 

Other Development Regulations 
POMC 20.129 provides standards for the protection and replacement of significant trees. City 
staff have observed that the requirement for a tree retention plan, which applies to all 
development except detached houses and backyard cottages, adds a considerable and 
repetitive cost for development applications. Alternative approaches are available, such as 
requiring a minimum tree canopy coverage (which can use existing or new trees) that still 
achieves the same goals but avoids the risk of lone significant trees being damaged 
subsequent to development.  

Design Standards 
Port Orchard has several residential design standards. 

• POMC 20.32: Building types 
• POMC 20.139: Residential design standards for residential building types like detached 

houses, backyard cottages, cottages, duplexes, townhomes, and accessory buildings  
• POMC 20.127: Commercial and multifamily development block frontages, site planning, 

and building design 
 
At least two stakeholders said the cottage housing standards discourage their development, 
particularly the minimum site size standards and the minimum open space: 

• The minimum site area is 22,500 SF regardless of number of units, and an additional 
4,500 SF site area is required per unit when there are six or more cottages even though 
the minimum unit lot size is 1,200 SF. 

• The minimum courtyard area is 3,000 SF (minimum width 40 feet) and extra 600 SF per 
unit is required when there are six or more cottages. 

• Compare these other typical cottage standards, such as in Anacortes, which do not 
regulate lot size and have smaller open space requirements.  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2032.html
https://anacortes.municipal.codes/AMC/19.43.010(D)


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 60 

Zoning Map 
The City’s current zoning map is copied below. 

 

Building Code 
The City of Port Orchard has adopted standard building and trades under Chapter 20.200 POMC 
with local amendments. Adopted codes include the International Building Code (applies to 
commercial and mixed-use development, and residential development with three or more units), 
the International Residential Code (applies to single-family, duplex, and townhouse 
development), and international codes for mechanical systems, plumbing, energy conservation, 
fire safety, and property maintenance. 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20200.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 61 

Landlord-Tenant Regulations 
People who rent homes are significantly more likely to be cost-burdened, face eviction, and be 
at risk of homelessness. Recognizing this, the State of Washington sets the baseline for the 
landlord-tenant relationship through the State Residential Landlord-Tenant Act, RCW 59.18. 
According to the Attorney General’s Office, there is no centralized enforcement mechanism for 
the RCW, and so it is incumbent upon landlords and tenants to either self-remedy violations, 
seek counseling or low-cost legal help from non-profit organizations, and/or resolve disputes 
through the courts.  

Over the past few years, the Washington State Legislature has adopted new tenant protections 
as follows.  

Year  RCW  Topic Effect 
2018 59.18.255 Prohibition on source 

of income 
discrimination 

Prohibits source of income discrimination against a 
tenant who uses a benefit or subsidy to pay rent 

2019 59.18.200 Notice of demolition Tenants must be provided a 120-day notice to tenants of 
demolition or substantial rehabilitation of premises 

2019 59.18.140 Notice of rent 
increase 

Tenants must be provided a 60-day notice of a rent 
increase, and increases may not take effect until the 
completion of the term of the current rental agreement 

2020 59.18.610 Initial deposits and 
fees 

Tenants may request paying initial deposits, 
nonrefundable fees, and last month’s rent in installments 
(may be spread over 2-3 months, depending on lease 
length) 

2021 59.18.650 Just cause evictions Landlords must specify a reason for refusing to continue 
a residential tenancy, subject to certain limited 
exceptions 

Figure 54. Recent state landlord-tenant regulations 

Notably, rent control by local jurisdictions was banned at the state level in 1981 (RCW 
35.21.830). Otherwise, local jurisdictions are free to adopt additional or more stringent 
regulations than those provided by the state, and numerous cities and counties have done so.  

The City of Port Orchard has not adopted any local landlord-tenant regulations. The King County 
Bar Association provides a model tenant protection ordinance within the framework of 
Washington State law which could be informative for future discussions and recommendations. 
Several Washington cities have recently adopted at least portions of the model ordinance. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 62 

State Land Use Law 
In recent years the Washington State Legislature has enacted preemption laws requiring local 
jurisdictions to ease regulations on certain types of residential land uses. In the 2022 legislative 
session, several additional bills were proposed with major preemptions regarding missing 
middle housing, accessory dwelling units, and minimum building heights (respectively, HB 1782, 
HB 2020, and HB 1660). These recent bills did not pass but can likely be expected to come up 
again in 2023 and beyond as Washington continues to confront statewide housing challenges. 

A non-exhaustive list of recent state preemptions follows. 

Year  RCW  Topic Effect 
2018 36.70A.450 Home-based family 

day care 
Cities may not prohibit the use of a residential dwelling, 
located in an area zoned for residential or commercial 
use, as a family day-care provider's facility serving 
twelve or fewer children 

2019 35.21.684 Tiny homes Cities may not adopt ordinances that prevent tiny 
homes with wheels used as a primary residence in a 
manufactured/mobile home community, with the 
exception that ordinances may require that tiny houses 
with wheels contain sanitary plumbing fixtures. 

2019 35A.63.300 Religious 
organization density 
bonus 

Upon request, cities must allow an increased density 
bonus for development of single-family or multifamily 
residences affordable to low-income households on 
property owned by religious organizations. 

2019 36.70A.600 Safe harbor from 
appeals under the 
State Environmental 
Policy Act 

The adoption of ordinances and other nonproject 
actions taken by a city to ease regulations on housing 
development are not subject to administrative or 
judicial appeal under RCW 43.21C. Similar protection is 
made for housing elements and implementing 
regulations that increase housing capacity under RCW 
36.70A.070. 

2020 36.70A.698 Parking for accessory 
dwelling units 

Cities may not require the provision of off-street 
parking for accessory dwelling units within one-quarter 
mile of a major transit stop (likely does not apply to 
Port Orchard due to low transit service today). 

2020 36.70A.620 Parking for 
multifamily housing 

Cities may not require more than a certain ratio of 
parking spaces per unit within one-quarter mile of a 
frequent transit stop. There are different limits for 
market-rate units, designated senior and disability 
homes, and low-income units (likely does not apply to 
Port Orchard due to low transit service today). 

2021 35A.21.430 Permanent 
supportive housing 

Cities may not prohibit permanent supportive housing 
in areas where multifamily housing or hotels are 
permitted. Reasonable occupancy, spacing, and 
intensity of use requirements may be imposed. This 
supersedes a similar law passed in 2019, RCW 
35A.21.305. 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1782&Initiative=false&Year=2021
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=2020&Initiative=false&Year=2021
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1660&Initiative=false&Year=2021
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.450
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35.21.684
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.63.300
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.600
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.698
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.620
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 63 

Year  RCW  Topic Effect 
2021 35A.21.430 Transitional housing Cities may not prohibit transitional housing in areas 

where multifamily housing or hotels are permitted. 
Reasonable occupancy, spacing, and intensity of use 
requirements may be imposed. 

2021 35A.21.430 Indoor emergency 
shelters and indoor 
emergency housing 

Cities may not prohibit indoor emergency shelters and 
indoor emergency housing in any zones in which hotels 
are permitted. Reasonable occupancy, spacing, and 
intensity of use requirements may be imposed. 

2021 35A.21.314 “Family” definition 
and number of 
unrelated household 
occupants 

Except for limits on occupant load per square foot or 
general health and safety provisions, cities may not 
regulate or limit the number of unrelated persons that 
may occupy a household or dwelling unit. 

2021 36.70A.070 
 

Requirements for 
Comprehensive Plan 
Housing Elements 

Requires planning and analysis of housing needs for 
moderate, low, very low, and extremely low-income 
households; a variety of housing types; zoning that may 
have a discriminatory effect; and other related issues. 
This will apply to the next major update of Port 
Orchard’s Comprehensive Plan due in 2024. 

Figure 55. Recent state zoning preemptions 

 
  

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.314
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.070


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 64 

Federal Incentives 
Created in 2017, Opportunity Zones are intended to assist economically distressed 
communities with preferential tax treatment for those investing eligible capital gains. Port 
Orchard has been designated with two federal Opportunity Zones located contiguously with 
Census Tracts #53035092200 and #53035092300. This covers the much of the city east of 
State Route 16. Generally, this tool has seen little interest from large residential developers, but 
it may be appealing to local or long-term hold developers. The program expires in 2026. 

 
Figure 56. Location of the federal Opportunity Zones in Port Orchard 

Port Orchard shares many of its housing challenges with other communities nationwide, and the 
country’s affordable housing problem has caught the attention of the White House. In May 2022, 
President Biden released a statement saying, in part: 

“One of the most significant issues constraining housing supply and production is the lack 
of available and affordable land, which is in large part driven by state and local zoning and 
land use laws and regulations that limit housing density. Exclusionary land use and zoning 
policies constrain land use, artificially inflate prices, perpetuate historical patterns of 
segregation, keep workers in lower productivity regions, and limit economic growth.  
Reducing regulatory barriers to housing production has been a bipartisan cause in a 
number of states throughout the country. It’s time for the same to be true in Congress, as 
well as in more states and local jurisdictions throughout the country.” 

The President has directed his administration to leverage existing transportation and economic 
development funding streams to reward jurisdictions that promote density, main street 
revitalization, and transit-oriented development. For the near future, the President has also 
proposed billions of dollars for HUD grant programs to support local jurisdictions in eliminating 
barriers to affordable housing production, supporting manufactured housing, scaling up ADU 
production, and other measures.   

https://opportunityzones.hud.gov/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/05/16/president-biden-announces-new-actions-to-ease-the-burden-of-housing-costs/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 65 

Section 7 – Land Capacity Analysis 
A land capacity analysis is a core element of a housing needs analysis, as required by the 
Washington Department of Commerce. Kitsap County completed a Buildable Lands Report in 
November 2021 which contains a comprehensive analysis of vacant and redevelopable land in 
Port Orchard as well as required land to meet expected population growth. As shown in Figure 
54, Port Orchard has surplus land to accommodate 5,750 more residents than expected by 
2036. According to the 2021 Kitsap County Buildable Lands Report, the County is currently 
updating its zoning to remove barriers to housing in UGAs. The target population growth in Port 
Orchard’s UGA is based on forthcoming County zoning code revisions incentivizing urban 
housing development in the UGA consistent with its designation as a High-Capacity Transit 
Corridor in PSRC’s VISION 2050 framework. Together, the city and UGA have available land for a 
surplus of 5,750 residents.  

Jurisdiction 2020  
Population 

2044 
Population 

Target 

2020-2044 
Population 

Growth 

2020 
Population 
Capacity 

Surplus / 
Deficit 

Port Orchard City 15,587 26,087 10,500 16,250 5,750 
Port Orchard UGA 15,370 18,922 3,552 3,552 0 
Port Orchard Total 30,957 45,009 14,052 19,802 5,750 

Figure 57. Port Orchard 2021 Residential Buildable Lands Analysis Summary. Source: 2021 Kitsap County 
Buildable Lands Analysis, Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council, City of Port Orchard 

Figure 58 shows a breakdown of unit and population capacity by zone and type of unit. As 
shown, the majority of the new unit capacity is on vacant or redevelopable land in the R2 and R3 
zones, as well as to a lesser degree in the CMU zone. The largest amount of multifamily unit 
capacity is found in the R3 zone. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 66 

Zoning 
Net 

Acres 

Single-
Family 

Unit 
Capacity 

Multifamily 
Unit 

Capacity 
Population 
Capacity 

Greenbelt (GB) 71.74 36 
 

96 
Residential 1 (R1) 35.15 255 

 
685 

Residential 2 (R2) 147.06 1,495 
 

4,022 
Residential 3 (R3) 31.87 1,540 1,350 7,049 
Residential 4 (R4) 21.56 

 
456 954 

Residential 6 (R6) 18.11 421 
 

1,134 
Neighborhood Mixed Use (NMU) 0.54 

 
5 11 

Business Professional Mixed Use (BPMU) 5.59 
 

19 39 
Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) 0.24 

 
2 4 

Gateway Mixed Use (GMU) 0.31 
 

39 82 
Commercial Mixed Use (CMU) 49.76 

 
961 2,009 

Commercial Corridor (CC) 18.62 
 

79 166 
Figure 58. Port Orchard 2021 Buildable Lands by Zone. Source: 2021 Kitsap County Buildable Lands 
Analysis. 

Port Orchard’s land capacity is likely higher than the numbers listed in the 2021 Kitsap County 
Buildable Lands Report as a result of new zoning changes adopted in 2019 but not used in the 
analysis. For example, the Buildable Lands Report assumed that the R2 zone would see only 
single-family development even though although multifamily development is allowed in the zone 
and multifamily development would result in a larger number of units than shown in the table 
above. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 67 

Appendix A – Kitsap County Impact Fee Comparison 

 Single-
Family Duplex 

Triplex & 
Fourplex Townhouse 

Multifamily 
1-2 floors 

Multifamily 
3+ floors 

Multifamily 
Mixed Use 

ADU 

Road Impact Fees 

Port 
Orchard  $5,205.69 $5,205.69  $2,944.63 – 

$5,205.69  $5,205.69 $2,944.63 $2,313.64 $1,892.98 
$1,472.32 
– 
$2,944.63 

Kitsap 
County  $4,229.84 $2,294.91 $2,294.91 $2,564.90 $2,294.91 $1,754.93 $1,619.94 $2,564.90 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $5,318.52 $4,128.48 $4,128.48 $4,128.48 $4,128.48 $3,068.16 $3,068.16 $4,128.48 
Bainbridge 
Island $1,811.82 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,413.22 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 

Gig Harbor $5,720.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 

Parks Impact Fees 
Port 
Orchard  $4,280.00 $3,089.00 $3,029.00 $3,089.00 – 

$4,280.00 $3,014.00 $3,014.00 $3,014.00 $2,344.00 

Kitsap 
County  $743.10 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 
Bainbridge 
Island $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Gig Harbor $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 

School Impact Fees 
Port 
Orchard  $1,370.83 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 

Kitsap 
County  $1,455.66 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $1,455.66 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $0.00 
Bainbridge 
Island $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Gig Harbor $4,130.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $4,130.00 

Total Impact Fees 
Port 
Orchard  $10,856.52 $9,156.34 $6,835.28 – 

$9,096.34 
$9,156.34 – 
10,347.34 $6,820.28 $6,189.29 $5,768.63 $4,677.97 - 

$6,150.28 
Kitsap 
County  $6,428.60 $3,496.75 $3,496.75 $3,766.74 $3,496.75 $2,956.77 $2,821.78 $3,766.74 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $7,969.18 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $5,102.97 $5,102.97 $5,323.48 

Bainbridge 
Island $1,811.82 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,413.22 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 68 

 Single-
Family Duplex 

Triplex & 
Fourplex Townhouse 

Multifamily 
1-2 floors 

Multifamily 
3+ floors 

Multifamily 
Mixed Use 

ADU 

Gig Harbor $11,350.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $11,715.00 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 69 

Appendix B – Comprehensive Plan Policies 
The consultant team’s comments on select housing policies are listed below. 

Housing Element 
Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
HS-1 Identify a sufficient amount of land for housing, 

including but not limited to government‐assisted 
housing, housing for low‐income families, 
manufactured housing, multifamily housing, 
group homes, and foster care facilities. 

The Land Capacity Analysis in Section 7 of this 
report finds the City has surplus capacity for 5,750 
residents beyond 2044 growth targets. Land 
capacity will be reviewed in more detail with the 
update to the Port Orchard Comprehensive Plan 
due in 2024. 

HS-2 Support the development of a variety of housing 
types, including apartments, townhomes, mixed‐
use (residential and other uses) and live‐work 
development, small‐lot and zero lot line single‐
family homes, and manufactured homes, as well 
as traditional single‐family homes, through 
innovative planning, efficient and effective 
administration of land and building codes, and, 
where available, applicable financial assistance. 

The City has a good foundation of supportive 
zoning standards to support a variety of housing 
types, though as noted in Section 6 some 
improvements could be made or more incentives 
added. The MVOD zone is an example of 
innovative planning. Financial assistance largely is 
implemented through the MFTE program, though 
other options may need to be explored to support 
the low-income population. See also HS-20. 

HS-3 Monitor official and estimated population and 
housing data to ensure zoning and development 
regulations reflect market demands 

The HAP is partially fulfilling this policy. Some 
gaps have been found in this report. 

HS-4 Adopt zoning and development regulations that 
will have the effect of minimizing housing costs 
and maximizing housing options. 

According to City staff, this policy is generally 
being met, but stakeholders report other factors 
outside the City’s control are also contributing to 
increasing the costs of building housing. 

HS-5 Support the development of housing and related 
services that are provided by regional housing 
programs and agencies for special needs 
populations, especially the homeless, children, 
the elderly, and people with mental or physical 
disabilities. 

Port Orchard does not have any emergency 
housing or emergency shelter for homeless 
individuals. Supportive and group housing for 
people with mental or physical disabilities also 
appears limited, though there is a considerable 
share of senior housing and assisted living 
facilities concentrated on the Pottery Avenue 
corridor. 

HS-6 Consider reducing permitting fees for 
development which provide affordable housing 
as defined by the Washington Administrative 
Code (WAC) section 200‐120‐ 020. 

No waivers/reductions for impact fees, general 
facilities charges, or other permitting fees appear 
to be in place. 

HS-7 Consider the creation of zoning and other land 
use incentives for the private construction of 
affordable and special needs housing as a 
percentage of units in multi‐family development. 

This has been met through the MFTE program. 

HS-8 Consider adopting incentives for development of 
affordable multi‐family homes through property 
tax abatement in accordance with 84.14 RCW, 
focusing on designated mixed‐use local centers 
with identified needs for residential infill and 
redevelopment. 

This has been met through the MFTE program. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 70 

Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
HS-9 Implement minimum residential density 

requirements in centers of local importance in 
order to increase land and infrastructure 
efficiency. 

The City does not have any minimum density 
standards in any zone. 

HS-10 Encourage the development of vertical multi‐
family housing above ground floor commercial 
uses within centers of local importance. 

The MFTE Type III program and supportive zoning 
helps encourage this type of housing, and there 
are a variety of private projects proposed in local 
centers. 

HS-11 Encourage the development of a mix of housing 
types within walking and bicycling distance of 
public schools, parks, transit service, and 
commercial centers. 

A more thorough review of the future land use 
map will be needed in the Comprehensive Plan 
update. This is a good policy to continue forward. 

HS-12 Require that new housing developments occur 
concurrently with necessary infrastructure 
investments. 

This is primarily met through impact fees. 

HS-14 Implement zoning and development regulations 
which encourage infill housing on empty and 
redevelopable parcels. 

This type of development does not appear to be 
happening in large numbers, with most housing 
being built on greenfields on the edge of the city. 
More incentives for infill and redevelopment in 
local centers should be explored in the HAP. 

HS-15 Allow the development of residential accessory 
dwelling units (ADUs) and detached accessory 
dwelling units (DADUs) in appropriate residential 
areas with sufficient public facilities to 
adequately serve additional residents. 

Allow in all residential areas. Consider policy to 
allow ADU’s to be built with all single-family, 
duplex, and triplex developments. 

HS-16 Consider increasing maximum housing densities 
and implementing minimum housing densities in 
appropriate areas. 

Similar to policy HS-9. Minimum densities will be 
explored in the HAP. The City has no maximum 
density limits in residential zones. 

HS-18 Consider programs to preserve or rehabilitate 
neighborhoods and areas that are showing signs 
of deterioration due to lack of maintenance or 
abandonment. 

One project has utilized the MFTE Type II program 
intended for abandoned properties. The City could 
consider other maintenance support, such as use 
of Community Development Block Grants to help 
low-income homeowners with rehabilitation. 

HS-19 Consider commercial building design standards 
that establish and protect neighborhood 
character. 

Commercial design standards have been adopted. 

HS-20 Seek federal, state, and other funding for the 
renovation and maintenance of existing housing 
stock. 

Staff report no work has been done on grant 
applications to renovate/maintain existing 
housing stock. 

HS-22 Streamlining the permitting process for 
development by implementing policies and 
procedures that reduce the length of time 
involved in plan approval. 

Stakeholders noted that permit processing time 
and unexpected hurdles are a continuing problem, 
though the City has recently moved to an 
electronic system. 

HS-24 Consider developing and implementing flexible 
development standards for housing being 
proposed in the vicinity of critical areas to meet 
both the goals of housing targets and 
environmental protection. 

The City has recently updated its critical areas 
standards and has no maximum density limits in 
residential zones. 

HS-27 If the City’s growth rate falls below 2.1% annual 
growth, the rate at which the City would need to 
grow at in order to hit its 2036 growth target, the 

In individual years the growth rate has sometimes 
been lower than 2.1% (e.g. 2.7% from 2017 to 
2018), and from 2015 to 2022 the average annual 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 71 

Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 

city should consider adopting reasonable 
measures such as reducing adopted 
transportation levels of service, impact fees, or 
accelerating growth related projects within the 
City’s Capital Improvement Program. 

growth rate was 2.6%. It is unclear which 
timeframe should be used to evaluate whether 
“reasonable measures” are needed. 

HS-28 If the City’s growth rate increases from the 2.5% 
growth rate experienced from 2013‐2015, the 
City should consider adopting reasonable 
measures including increasing transportation 
level of service standards, impact fees, or 
delaying projects within the City’s Capital 
Improvement Program. 

In individual years the growth rate has sometimes 
been higher than 2.5% (e.g. 2.8% from 2021 to 
2022), and from 2015 to 2022 the average annual 
growth rate was 2.6%. It is unclear which 
timeframe should be used to evaluate whether 
“reasonable measures” are needed. 

 

Land Use Element 
Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
LU-1 Ensure that land use and zoning regulations 

maintain and enhance existing single-family 
residential neighborhoods, while encouraging 
that new development provides a mixed range of 
housing types. 

Some variety of housing types are being seen in 
recent years, but not enough to meet all market 
needs. Revisiting this policy in the context of 
single-family neighborhoods may be warranted in 
the Comprehensive Plan update. 

LU-11 Within centers of local importance, set minimum 
building densities that enable lively and active 
streets and commercial destinations. Such limits 
may take the form of: minimum floors or building 
height, floor-area-ratios, and lot coverage; and 
maximum street setbacks and parking spaces. 

The housing policy review in Section 6 finds that 
none of these ideas have been implemented, with 
the exception of maximum street setbacks in 
limited commercial areas. 

LU-17 Incentivize infill development to preserve and 
protect open space, critical areas, and natural 
resources. 

This type of development does not appear to be 
happening in large numbers, with most housing 
being built on greenfields on the edge of the city. 
More incentives for infill and redevelopment in 
local centers should be explored in the HAP. 

  

Transportation Element 
Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
Goal 7 Work with Kitsap Transit to provide increased 

transit service to the City as development 
occurs. 

Level of service standards for transit frequency is 
not mentioned anywhere in the Transportation 
Element. 

TR-38 Require new development and redevelopment to 
provide safe neighborhood walking and biking 
routes to schools. 

The future land use map and zoning map should 
be evaluated to determine what housing capacity 
and potential for new development exists near 
schools. New infrastructure is most easily paid for 
by new development, and schools should be 
nodes of residential density to facilitate short 
walks and bike rides for students from home. 

TR-86 Consider reduction of parking requirements if a 
development provides alternatives for multi-

Noted. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report Page 72 

Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 

modal uses such as Transportation Demand 
Management measures. 



Appendix C 
Public Engagement Report 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report     Page 
1 

Port Orchard Housing Action Plan 
Public Engagement Report 
March 29, 2023 
 

1.0 – Introduction 
In the course of preparing a housing action plan (HAP) Port Orchard engaged community 
members to gain a deeper understanding of local housing needs and affordability issues, find 
shared values and common ground, and identify divergent viewpoints. Public engagement 
occurred primarily in three ways: 

• Stakeholder interviews (see section 2.0) 
• A communitywide housing survey (see section 3.0) 

 

Table of Contents 

1.0 – Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 1 

2.0 – Stakeholder Interview Summary..................................................................................... 2 

3.0 – Housing Survey Summary .............................................................................................. 6 

Appendix A – Written Comments for “Other” Answers ......................................................... 31 

Appendix B – Housing Stories ............................................................................................... 33 

Appendix C – Housing Construction Comments ........................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 2 

2.0 – Stakeholder Interview Summary 
MAKERS and Leland Consulting Group interviewed 14 individual Port Orchard stakeholders. 
They included or represented city residents, elected officials, affordable housing agencies, 
developers and homebuilders, and other community leaders. This range of people provided a 
variety of perspectives on housing challenges and opportunities in Port Orchard. This section 
summarizes their comments, observations, and priorities. 

Organizations interviewed: 

• Port Orchard City Council and Mayor 
• Kitsap Housing Authority 
• Disney & Associates 
• Port Orchard Chamber of Commerce 
• Tarragon 
• Contour Construction 
• McCormick Communities 

 
Overall, stakeholders confirmed that there is a lack of housing options in Port Orchard, even 
with recent changes by the city. Low-moderate income workers and fixed-income retirees are 
struggling to afford housing in Port Orchard and long-time residents are seeing their adult 
children unable to afford buying a home in the city. There is concern that essential service and 
retail workers are leaving the community, limiting the social and economic diversity of the city, 
and hurting businesses in the city.  

All cost inputs for new housing are going in the wrong direction amid rising prices for 
materials, labor, and land. There may be some regulatory opportunities to improve the cost 
efficiency of construction and create partnerships for affordable housing. Regulatory tweaks 
to the code and design standards, policy updates to the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 
program, and friendlier development processes for housing providers is the collection of 
solutions stakeholders feel could help better achieve city housing goals.  

2.1 – Housing Challenges 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• There is a lot of housing being developed, but there lacks diversity of housing options 
with current and planned housing being developed. Most new housing is either a 
single-family detached home or garden apartments. Diversity of housing options is a 
challenge in Port Orchard. 

• Quote (paraphrased): “After a life changing event, I didn’t want to deal with another 
long-term mortgage or upkeep of a large house. I wanted something where I could help 
take care of my mom, somewhere we could live in the same building but have our own 
spaces. What I was looking for didn’t really exist in Port Orchard.” 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 3 

• Rents and upfront fees/deposits have increased significantly over the past several 
years, compounding the difficulties for entry-level and moderate-income workers.  

• Quote (paraphrased): “I am worried about economic diversity and being a place that is 
inclusive for people starting out. I am also worried about racial diversity and being 
unable to attract people from all walks of life.” 

• Several stories were shared by people who have lived in town decades and their 
children cannot afford to purchase a home in town. 

• Lots of interest was shared by people interested in mixed-use and residential 
development in downtown Port Orchard, while admitting understanding or frustration 
that the area doesn’t seem quite ready for that type of development. 

• There seems to be little price difference in the cost of purchasing a single-family home 
versus a townhome, even though they have differences in amenities and size. 

• Some housing providers felt cottage housing is currently tough with design standards 
and current allowed density. One housing provider referenced the possible trade-off 
with open space but thought cottage housing could be more viable if more density was 
allowed on the lot. 

• The local affordable housing authority is recently reorganizing and updating their 
systems, meaning they’re currently behind on processing. The current waitlist has over 
a 1000 people and are at least a year away from developing any new housing. 

 

2.2 – Housing Production and Code Considerations 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Several stakeholders said they appreciate working with Port Orchard staff, giving credit 
to their responsiveness, and that they generally liked the recent zoning code updates. 
However, they’ve also noticed with the increase of projects in Port Orchard, the 
permitting process has slowed down and is taken longer than it has in the past. 

• While admitting it did provide good looking products. Some housing providers felt 
navigating the design standards was more cumbersome than it needed to be 
(specifically mentioned were single-family homes and 2-4 unit-plexes).  

• Some housing providers found the lack of consistent processes for key parts of 
projects (sewer capacity, water line hookups, and building code) made it feel like staff 
were working against them, even if that wasn’t the intention. 

• Quote (paraphrased): “So often if feels like permitters and inspectors are working 
against me, I’m not trying to slip something by, I want to be more collaborative during 
the construction process.”  

• One housing provider felt the permitting process for a fourplex was equally as laborious 
as permitting an apartment. Suggested getting permitting processes for the 2-4 door 
range closer to the single-family permitting process. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 4 

• One housing provider felt having to do so much of the process only during the City’s 
business hours and having to do a phone call to schedule every inspection, is hard on 
smaller housing providers. Suggests an online permit portal. 

• Land costs and construction material costs have increased, while there is a short 
supply of labor to do the work. This is a nationwide problem. 

• Most stakeholders understand the reason and need for Port Orchard to raise impact 
fees in recent years to help pay for needed infrastructure. Many stakeholders are 
satisfied with where impact fees are at. Housing providers understand why fees 
increased, but also note that increased fees impact affordability and could impact 
future development. Additionally, the intensity of concern of increasing impact fees 
was stronger from smaller housing providers and those who mainly provide rental 
properties. 

• Quote (paraphrased): “I believe new construction should pay for itself and I don’t think 
impact fees are too cumbersome to development in the city. However, $15,000 in total 
fees to approve an ADU is disproportionate.” 

• Quote (paraphrased): “45% of all my housing is tied up in fees and permitting, taxes, 
impact fees, and other governmental oversight…Price increases are passed on to 
residents.” 

 

2.3 – Homelessness and Social Services 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Understand homelessness is a regional and statewide problem that is hard to get a 
handle on. Stakeholders understand affordable housing and mental health services are 
needed to address the problem, but know the city is lacking the resources to provide 
more. 

• A couple of stakeholders would like to see more shelters, transitional housing, single 
room occupancy apartments (SROs), and congregate housing in the city as housing 
best positioned to support the homeless population. Suggested the code be friendly to 
these types if not already. 

• A challenge identified by one stakeholder, was that available parking at new housing 
for the formerly homeless is still a big issue. 

 

2.4 – Employment and Businesses 
• The nearby military workforce brings a consistent level of demand for housing every 

year. 
• Expansion of telecommunicating or work from home and commuting on the Kitsap fast 

ferry, has allowed more people from higher cost areas like Seattle to move to Port 
Orchard. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 5 

• A couple of stakeholders discussed how housing affordability is a constraint on 
business success in the city. Lack of workforce is hurting businesses. 

• Several stakeholders mentioned the need for a grocery store and consistent retail 
options in the downtown area. One stakeholder explained the challenge as “The 
demographics don’t support high-end grocers and retail. On the other hand, the town 
needs to be upgraded to attract businesses.”  

• Land values are not at the point for big box retailers like Safeway to consider mixed-use 
redevelopment and structured parking, but more housing nearby is important to 
support the customer base. 

 

2.5 – Transportation 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Stakeholders like the fast ferry and foot ferry transit access to Bremerton and now 
Seattle. However, all expressed better service is needed for the public bus transit.  

• Kitsap Transit has money to add lines and increase service, but operator labor 
shortages are keeping that from happening. This is a nationwide problem. 

• Biking in general and e-bikes in particular are growing in popularity as a way to get 
around town, do shopping, commute, etc. Seems like an opportunity for people to 
reduce their cost of living by driving less. 

 

2.6 – Opportunities 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Most stakeholders expressed interest and support for increased housing options. 
Stakeholders are looking for housing options like missing middle housing, accessory 
dwelling units (ADUs), townhomes, SROs, congregate housing, and apartments that are 
not garden apartments. 

• Several stakeholders are interested in updating the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 
program in Port Orchard to get more affordability on MFTE units. 

• Several housing providers shared that they there will be a market for rentable single-
family homes, townhomes, duplexes, triplexes, and quadplexes. 

• Kitsap Housing says affordable senior housing does well in Port Orchard and because 
of this, more affordable senior housing could be developed in the future. 

• One housing provider expressed a lot of satisfaction with Port Orchard’s updated R3 
zone and felt that the impacts of the updated zone will be coming in the future.  

 
 
 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 6 

3.0 – Housing Survey Summary 

3.1 – Target Audience and Response Rate 
The target audience for the survey was people living and/or working in Port Orchard city limits. 
The majority of respondents self-reported meeting these criteria. The project team set an 
informal goal of receiving at least 150 responses. 

The total input was 140 responses combined, and after removing non-valid response there are 
128 responses available for analysis. The breakdown is provided below and details on 
outreach methods are provided in section 3.10. 

Total Reponses 
Non-local responses 

removed* 
Incomplete 

responses removed 
Remaining for 

analysis 
140 12 0 128 

* 12 people (~9 percent) reported both living outside Port Orchard and not working in Port Orchard, and 
the majority are retired. While it is likely that most of these respondents have some connection to Port 
Orchard, they are not currently local constituents. 

 

3.2 – Housing Information 
Question 1 Where do you live? 
Respondents All respondents (128) 

 
Most respondents live within Port Orchard city limits. About 13% of respondents live outside 
the city and have a job based in Port Orchard. 

 

27%

60%

12% 1%

I live within Port Orchard
city limits, west of State
Route 16

I live within Port Orchard
city limits, east of State
Route 16

I live outside Port Orchard,
elsewhere in Kitsap County

I live outside of Kitsap
County



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 7 

Question 2 Which of these best describe your living situation? 
Respondents All respondents (128) 

 
Most respondents are homeowners, at 82%. Approximately 15% of respondents are renters. 
The rest reported being in some other situation or being homeless (the online survey was filled 
out by two homeless people). The survey was disproportionately answered by owners, whose 
households make up about 61% of the housing units in Port Orchard. About 39% of Port 
Orchard housing units are renter households. 

NOTE: Some of the questions in the remainder of the survey compare answers between 
owners and renters, noted in the question summary boxes. The 4 respondents who report 
neither owning nor renting represent a small percentage of responses and are excluded from 
those comparison analyses for brevity, but are included in other analyses and any written 
comments. 

  

82.0%

14.8%
0.0% 0.0% 3.1%

Own Rent Don’t pay for 
housing

Homeless None of these –
different situation

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 8 

Question 3 Regarding employment and commuting, please select the answer that most 
accurately describes your situation. 

Respondents All respondents (124), owners (105) and renters (19) 
 
Most respondents are employed and working. About 25% of respondents are retired with about 
94% of the retired respondents being homeowners. As a percentage of responses, both 
homeowners and renters that live in Port Orchard but have employment outside the city have 
similar rates of commuting to job and working remotely. The employment and commuting 
patterns for those that are working do not differentiate too significantly between owner and 
renter respondents.  

 

  

20.0%

26.3%

2.9%

10.5%

27.6%

31.6%

18.1%

21.1%

2.9% 28.6%

10.5%

Owners

Renters

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

My employment is based in Port Orchard city limits, and I commute to my job

My employment is based in Port Orchard city limits, and I usually work remotely

My employment is based outside Port Orchard, and I commute to my job

My employment is based outside Port Orchard, and I usually work remotely

I am not working right now but I plan to in the future

I am retired



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 9 

 

Question 4 What is your household’s total annual income?  
It’s okay to guess. Your household includes yourself, partner/spouse or family 
members living with you, and roommates. 

Respondents All respondents (124), owners (105) and renters (19) 
 
Respondents reported a wide range of annual household incomes. Owner respondents 
generally have higher incomes than renter respondents. For reference, the 2020 Median 
Household Income in Port Orchard reported by the ACS was $71,719. About 61% of owner 
respondents report their households have an income of at least $80,000 per year. About 63% 
of renters report their households earn less than $80,000 per year. 

 

 

  

Ze
ro

< 
$2

0k

$2
0-

40
k

$4
0-

60
k

$6
0-

80
k

$8
0-

10
0k

$1
00

-1
50

k

$1
50

-2
00

k

> 
$2

00
k

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Owners

Ze
ro

< 
$2

0k

$2
0-

40
k

$4
0-

60
k

$6
0-

80
k

$8
0-

10
0k

$1
00

-1
50

k

$1
50

-2
00

k

> 
$2

00
k

Renters



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 10 

 

Question 5 Approximately what percent of total/gross annual income does your 
household pay for your home? 
It’s okay to guess. This includes rent or mortgage payments, HOA fees, property 
taxes, and utilities (water, sewer, etc.). 

Respondents All respondents (123), owners (104) and renters (19) 
 
“Cost burden” is a measure of how many households pay more than 30% of their annual 
income on housing. 

Over 60% of renters report being cost burdened by housing, with nearly a third being extremely 
cost burdened (paying more than half their household income on housing). About 28% of 
owners report being cost burdened.  

 

 

 

  

20% or
less

25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50% or
more

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Cost of Housing Compared to Household Income

Owners Renters

Cost Burdened 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 11 

3.3 – Housing Stability 
Question 6 If you experience a major unexpected financial event like a job loss, large 

medical bill, or a partner passing away, would you be worried about being 
able to stay in your current home? 

Respondents All respondents (119), Owners (101) and renters (18) 
 
Both owners and renters report being at risk of losing their home from a major unexpected 
financial event at significantly high levels. A little over 60% of renters and almost 50% of 
owners report being at risk of losing their home from a major unexpected event. 

 

  

48% 52%61% 39%

Yes No
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Owners Renters



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 12 

Question 7 Do you or any of your closest family or friends share any of the following 
concerns about these costs of living and service issues in Port Orchard? 
Select all that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (97) 
 
Housing relates to other economic, service, medical, and transportation issues. The top 
concern by a significant margin is the availability of medical care in town, which 49% of 
respondents were concerned about. Also, having some distinction from other choices, was 
almost 40% of respondents being concerned about expensive or unavailable day care.  

The remaining concerns clustered closely together as respondents third highest concern, with 
these concerns all being chosen by around 30% of respondents: 

• Limited availability of shelter and services for homeless people 
• Businesses struggling to recruit employees 
• Expensive or unavailable assisted living options around 
• Limited public transit service 

 

 

About 22 people selected the “other” option for this question to provide written answers. Full 
comments are available in Appendix A.1. These are summarized as follows. 

• Limited dining and shopping options in the area 
• Property taxes are high and keep increasing, which affects everyone 
• High housing costs are taking away from the ability to afford other basics 

23%

28%

30%

30%

31%

39%

49%

0% 20% 40% 60%

Some types of needed medical
care are unavailable in town

Day care is either expensive or
unavailable in town

Public transit service is very
limited or unreliable

Businesses are struggling to
recruit employees who can
afford to live here
Assisted living is either
expensive or unavailable in
town
Shelter and services for
homeless people are limited

Other (please specify)



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 13 

• Limited safe bike routes 
• Some concerns about crime 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 14 

3.4 – Housing Stories  
Question 8 Do you have a housing story to tell? 
Respondents All respondents (63) 

 
Dozens of housing stories were submitted. A full listing is available in Appendix B.  

Overview 
The stories range from recounting of why people moved to Port Orchard, the impacts housing 
costs are having on their family and friends, and the acknowledgment of how difficult it is for 
young and new residents to get started in the City. 

Many homeowners shared how the increasing housing costs are making life hard or pushing 
out their kids, elderly parents, and friends from Port Orchard. Renters are discouraged about 
opportunities for homeownership, but also expressed dissatisfaction with the housing options 
available in the City to rent or buy. Overall, there is an understanding and a frustration from 
respondents that rising housing costs is negatively impacting other areas of quality of life. 

Renter Stories 
Many renters are feeling the pinch of increasing rent prices and are feeling pressure to move 
out of town for more affordable housing. Renters expressed the lack of options to rent in the 
area, as well as the lack of options to buy in the area. The renter stories include respondents 
who have grown up in Port Orchard, who have been in Port Orchard for a while, and relatively 
new renters in the City.  

An anonymous renter said: “I grew up here and my parents live here. My husband and I struggled 
to find a home to buy that was the right mix of size, location, neighborhood, future appreciation, and 
development risk. We continued to rent with an exceptionally good set up, but we watched the home 
prices skyrocket the past few years and I began to have serious concerns about being priced out of 
the area.  This year we purchased multifamily real estate in port orchard to preserve the option to 
stay in the area and secure our future housing needs.” 

A renter named Vanessa said: “Moved out to WA Jan 2022 with husband and son. We wanted to 
buy a home as first time buyers but find the process a bit difficult. Renting a home is getting to be 
expensive with rent being $2100 for two bedroom duplexes.”  

An anonymous renter said: “We moved here from Alaska & didn’t intend to stay in our current 
apartment for more than one year. Due to rent and other cost increases and poor well-paying job 
opportunities we’ve been essentially trapped here for 5 years, and the situation is leading me to look 
elsewhere for our future. I was really excited to live in this beautiful area, and I’ve been sorely 
disappointed trying to enjoy living here.” 

 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 15 

Homeowner Stories 
Homeowners frequently said they feel lucky, fortunate, or grateful to have purchased a home 
when they did, acknowledging that they could not afford current prices. One person named 
Cate said, “I was lucky and got into my home 16 years ago; I have refinanced once.  If I were to try 
to find a place to live right now without the equity of my home, I would have to find a roommate or 
two to alleviate the financial strain.” 

A homeowner named Kris said: “We moved to port orchard a few years ago. Even with our two 
middle class jobs, we find it exceptionally expensive to afford our modest home. If something were 
to happen and we'd need repairs to our house, such as old water pipes bursting, we'd be struggling a 
lot to pay the mortgage.” 

 

Family and Friends 
Many people said their adult children are either living with them because they can’t afford to 
buy or rent in the area, or their children are moving away to find housing they can afford 
elsewhere. Also, it’s not just children being impacted in people’s families. Respondents shared 
stories of siblings and elderly parents who are impacted by housing cost in the area. Many 
people also shared that housing costs are impacting friends and colleagues.  

A homeowner named Matt said: “I was born and raised in South Kitsap and two of my children still 
live here.... with us, they can't afford to buy.”  

An anonymous homeowner said: “My kids can’t afford to stay and live in Port Orchard so they 
moved away. My dad moved to another town to find more affordable senior housing. The rental 
market is not sustainable for young adults to start and build their families and future homes here. It 
used to be when I moved here 22 years ago which Is why I chooses to raise my kids here.” 

A homeowner named Christopher said: “I've had friends who live farther away for lower apartment 
rent, yet they work here in Port Orchard. I've also heard of people getting pushed out of Port Orchard 
to find better home rental and home buying prices. Port Orchard used to be the better value-for-your-
money place when most get pushed out of the Silverdale and Bremerton areas.” 

A homeowner named Season said: “I grew up here and have watched my parents slowly start to 
be priced out of the area since 2001 (they have always rented). My mom was a homemaker and my 
dad worked in carpet/flooring as an independent contractor. I was lucky enough to have bought a 
home in 2011 for $136K when there was a surplus of foreclosed homes scattered throughout Port 
Orchard.  

My spouse's mother is also in the same situation as my parents (she will actually be moving in with 
us in February because as a para-educator and a service industry worker, she cannot afford to rent a 
one bedroom apartment in Port Orchard)  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 16 

I am disappointed to see that new apartments are showing up (which is a good thing), but that the 
price does not fit the incomes of many people in our town. Ideally, I would like to see renting as a 
valid option for folks who have found themselves downsizing or are approaching retirement age 
who might not have access or time to pay a home loan, but can still live independently and with 
dignity.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report     Page 
17 

3.5 – Housing Types 
For these two housing type questions, the answer choices were the same but the questions 
were different. The questions asked: 

• What type of home do you currently live in? 
• In the future, what types of homes would you consider or see yourself living in, 

assuming it met your price range and the needs of your family or household? 
 

The following graphic was provided to illustrate examples of some of the less common home 
types. The answer choices also had some parenthetical details to further explain each type, 
which are removed from the charts for brevity. These were:  

• Detached house on a large lot with a big yard 
• Detached house on a small lot with a modest yard (the lot size is smaller than 5,000 

square feet) 
• Accessory dwelling unit (often designed as a mother-in-law suite, basement apartment, 

or backyard cottage) 
• Cottage housing (small single-family homes clustered around a shared yard) 
• Duplex or triplex (two or three attached homes) 
• Townhouse (attached homes, usually with multiple floors) 
• Apartment or condominium with 1 or 2 bedrooms 
• Apartment or condominium with 3 or more bedrooms 
• Supportive living residence (such as a group home, assisted living, or nursing home) 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 18 

 

 

Question 9 What type of home do you currently live in? 
Respondents All respondents (108), owners (100), and renters (18) 

 
Of the owner survey takers, 96% live in a single-family home. Renters live in a larger variety of 
housing: 28% live in single-family homes, 17% live in an apartment or condo building, 5% live in 
ADU’s, 39% live in a duplex or triplex, and 11% live in a townhouse. 

 

The survey had an “other” option which was filled out by 2 people. One of these other answers 
was also “single family house” with various qualities and lot size description, the other was 
described as a duplex style townhome, and so they are added to the overall counts in the 
chart. No survey takers report living in a supportive living residence (nursing home, assisted 
living facility, etc.). 

  

Owners Renters
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60% Detached house on a large lot
with a big yard
Detached house on a small lot
with a modest yard
Accessory dwelling unit

Cottage court housing

Duplex or triplex

Townhouse

Apartment or condominium with
1 or 2 bedrooms
Apartment or condominium with
3 or more bedrooms
Supportive living residence

Other (please specify)



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 19 

Question 10 In the future, what types of homes would you consider or see yourself living 
in, assuming it met your price range and the needs of your family or 
household? 
Select all that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (119) 
 
This question was intended to understand the demand for different housing types. This will be 
compared to the actual housing available and being built in Port Orchard.  

 

Both renters and homeowners have a strong interest in living in single-family houses, with the 
large lot detached home still being the overwhelming favorite for both groups.  

A variety of other homes are desired. Combined results of all survey takers: 

• 11% would consider living in an ADU  
• 12% would consider living in a duplex or triplex  
• 19% would consider living in cottage housing  
• 10% would consider living in a townhouse  
• 22% would consider living in an apartment or condominium (with a stronger preference 

for 1-2 bedroom units) 
• 11% would consider supportive living residences 

 

A total of 8 people selected the “other” option. Full comments are available in Appendix A.2. 
Most answers are similar to the basic housing types listed above. There were additional 

63.9%

43.7%

10.9%

18.5%

11.8% 10.1%
14.3%

8.4%
10.9%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%
Detached house on a large lot with a big
yard

Detached house on a small lot with a
modest yard

Accessory dwelling unit

Cottage court housing

Duplex or triplex

Townhouse

Apartment or condominium with 1 or 2
bedrooms

Apartment or condominium with 3 or
more bedrooms

Supportive living residence



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 20 

mentions of moving out of Kitsap County altogether and a comment about having lots of land 
or acreage in addition to a nice size house.  

 

3.6 – Amenities and Features 
For this set of questions, respondents filled out matrices of housing features using a weighted 
1 to 5 scale. Answers of “not sure” were weighted zero. The data here uses all respondents, 
rather than comparing owners and renters. There was little difference in the overall results 
between the two groups. The answer tables are shaded for quick reference as follows: 

Weighted Average Score 
> 4.25 

3.5 to 4.25 
2.75 to 3.5 

< 2.75 

 
Question 11 How important are these amenity features for you when searching for 

housing? Please rate on a scale of 1-5.  
A 5 means the feature is very important, and 1 means the feature is not at all 
important. 

Respondents All respondents (118) 
 
This question was intended to determine how important key housing features are for people 
when searching for housing. The features listed are those commonly listed on real estate 
listings and the basic physical aspects of a home. 

The most important item was finding housing in the respondents’ price range. The second 
most important was having a home with air conditioning and heating. The home being large 
enough for the family or household rated a close third. In-unit appliances like laundry and 
dishwasher also rated fairly high.  

The least important amenity feature was common space for residents. This is more likely to be 
located in townhouse or multifamily developments than the single-family developments that 
many survey takers said they are interested in with previous questions. 

Amenity Feature 
Percentage 

Rating 4 or 5 
Weighted 

Average Score 
In my price range 91% 4.67 
Air conditioning and heating 83% 4.28 
Large enough for my family or household (number of bedrooms and 
bathrooms) 

82% 4.26 

In-unit appliances like laundry and dishwasher 82% 4.16 
Private yard space 63% 3.88 
Storage space 51% 3.62 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 21 

The building allows pets 60% 3.45 
Other private space, such as a balcony, deck, or rooftop 52% 3.35 
No stairs – the unit is either on the ground level or accessed by elevator 47% 3.19 
Common space for residents, like a courtyard, roof deck, or recreation 
room 

27% 2.34 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 22 

Question 12 How important are these location and transportation features for you when 
searching for housing? Please rate on a scale of 1-5. 
A 5 means the feature is very important, and 1 means the feature is not at all 
important. 

Respondents All respondents (118) 
 
In this category, the top answer is housing located in a neighborhood that feels safe for active 
transportation (walking, rolling, and bicycling). Survey takers were also strongly interested in 
finding housing that has enough off-street parking.  

Moderately important location and transportation features were the distance from the home to 
shopping, parks, and schools.  

The other location and transportation features fall into the less important grouping: housing 
that is located a short distance to work; and having a secure place to park bikes at home. The 
least important feature is having equipment to charge an electric vehicle at home. 

Location and Transportation Feature 
Percentage 

Rating 4 or 5 
Weighted 

Average Score 
The neighborhood feels safe for walking, rolling, and bicycling 90% 4.62 
Enough off-street parking 72% 4.09 
Short distance to grocery stores and other services 62% 3.69 
Short distance to public parks and schools 47% 3.21 
Short distance to work 33% 2.83 
Secure place to park bikes 35% 2.72 
Equipment for electric vehicle charging 25% 2.22 

 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 23 

Question 13 After housing, transportation is often the second largest share of household 
costs. If the following transportation options were practical and available to 
you, how likely would you use them to spend less on transportation? Please 
rate on a scale of 1-5.  
A 5 means you would definitely use the option, and a 1 means you would never use 
the option. 

Respondents All respondents (117) 
 
In this question, the top answer was “More safe sidewalks connecting my neighborhood to the 
rest of town.” Far behind, the second top answer was working from home/telecommuting.  

There is moderate interest in transportation options like more safe bicycling routes, more bus 
and transit service, and driving electric cars. There was relatively low but still noticeable 
interest (with at least a quarter to a third of respondents interested) in electric bikes and 
downsizing the number of vehicles in the household. There was very little interested in using 
car-share or ride-share/taxi services.  

Transportation Option 
Percentage 

Rating 4 or 5 
Weighted 

Average Score 
More safe sidewalks connecting my neighborhood to the rest of town 73% 4.15 
Working from home/telecommuting 62% 3.68 
More safe bicycling routes connecting my neighborhood to the rest of 
town 

42% 
3.01 

More bus service connecting to my job, school, shopping, or other 
services 

39% 
3.01 

Driving an electric car to save on gas costs 34% 2.9 
Selling a car or downsizing to a one-car household 28% 2.62 
Using an electric bike (for distances, hills, or carrying needs) 17% 2.6 
Car-share or ride-share/taxi services in town 16% 2.35 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 24 

3.7 – Concepts Evaluation 
This question was intended to gauge the level of community support or opposition for land 
use, program, and funding concepts. The answers were weighted as follows.  

Answer Weight 
Strongly support 2 
Somewhat support 1 
Not sure/need more information 0 
Somewhat oppose -1 
Strongly oppose -2 

 

Question 14 The following is a list of land use and zoning concepts that could be 
considered in the Housing Action Plan to help improve access to housing in 
Port Orchard. Do you support or oppose these concepts? 

Respondents Total Respondents (114) 
 
The charts below show how the respondents answered and are listed in order of the weighted 
average scores from high to low (for all respondents), which is summarized in the following 
table. 

Land Use and Zoning Concepts 

Weighted 
Average 

Score 
Percentage 

Support 
Percentage 

Unsure 
Percentage 

Oppose 
Streamline zoning standards to encourage 
more "middle housing" like attached duplexes, 
triplexes, and townhomes 

0.85 65% 25% 10% 

Relax restrictions on accessory dwelling units 
to encourage more to be built 

0.79 62% 22% 16% 

Create development incentives for essential 
services like childcare and assisted living, such 
as height bonuses 

0.79 60% 30% 10% 

Modest increase in building height limits (1-2 
floors) in multifamily and/or commercial areas 

0.65 54% 27% 19% 

Enact a minimum density requirement in one or 
more zones, to encourage a greater variety of 
home types in new subdivisions 

0.59 47% 41% 12% 

Encourage development of more multifamily 
(apartments/condos) in the Downtown area, 
particularly on side streets 

0.35 49% 28% 23% 

 
Renters are slightly more supportive of the concepts, but there isn’t a significant difference 
between renters and owners in their support for concepts. The strongest support overall is for 
streamlining zoning standards that encourage more middle housing. Other top-rated concepts 
were relaxing restrictions on ADUs and having creative development incentives for essential 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 25 

services like daycare and assisted living. The most opposed and uncertain concept among all 
respondents is “encourage development of more multifamily in the Downtown area” 

With any concept some level of public outreach and education may be needed, demonstrated 
with the large shares of people who are not sure or need more information. 

 

Question 15 How much would you support these policy and program concepts, if they 
could help stabilize housing prices and access to housing in Port Orchard? 
Do you support or oppose these concepts? 

Respondents All Respondents (114), owner (92), and renter (18) 
 
The charts below compare owner and renter response and are listed in order of the weighted 
average scores from high to low (for all respondents), which is summarized in the following 
table. 

Policy and Program Concepts 

Weighted 
Average 

Score 
Percentage 

Support 
Percentage 

Unsure 
Percentage 

Oppose 
Hire a city housing coordinator to assist 
renters and support local homeless services 

0.66 57% 24% 19% 

Requirements for private housing projects to 
reserve some units for low-income households 

0.63 58% 18% 24% 

Stronger renter protections such as more 
notice time for rent increases or options to 
manage move-in fees 

0.54 54% 18% 28% 

Tighten regulations on vacation rentals to 
discourage the use of regular housing for 
tourists 

0.25 47% 20% 33% 

 
All the concepts scored relatively moderately when viewed overall but hiring a city housing 
coordinator was the concept with the most support. Notably, with this set of questions renters 
that participated showed a lot more support for all of the policy and program concepts than 
owners did, showing at least 70% support rate for the first three concepts listed in the table. 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 26 

Question 16 The following is a list of funding concepts that could be considered in the 
Housing Action Plan. Do you support or oppose these concepts? 

Respondents Total (114), owner (93), and renter (18) 
 
The charts below compare owner and renter response and are listed in order of the weighted 
average scores from high to low (for all respondents), which is summarized in the following 
table. 

Funding Concepts 

Weighted 
Average 

Score 
Percentage 

Support 
Percentage 

Unsure 
Percentage 

Oppose 
Additional funding for public transit to help 
people access jobs and services without a car 

0.89 71% 16% 13% 

City advocacy for more county, state, or federal 
funding for affordable housing projects 

0.87 65% 23% 12% 

Direct and/or temporary rental payment 
assistance for those most in need 

0.66 57% 27% 16% 

Financial assistance to help single-family 
homeowners build accessory dwelling units 

0.54 56% 24% 20% 

A citywide property tax levy to fund affordable 
housing 

-0.39 29% 21% 50% 

 
Overall, there is strong support for both additional funding for public transit and for the City to 
advocate for more funding from its government partners for affordable housing projects. There 
is moderate support for the concept of direct rental payment assistance, with renters more 
supportive than owners. There is more uncertainty with the concepts to provide financial 
assistance for homeowners to build accessory dwelling units, and considerable opposition to 
the idea of an affordable housing property tax levy. 

Renters and owners both showed strong support for additional funding for public transit and 
for the City to advocate for more funding from its government partners for affordable housing 
projects. However, renters showed considerably more support for the other funding concepts 
then owners did. Renters supported direct rental payment assistance at 84%, financial 
assistance for homeowners to build accessory dwelling units at 72%, and an affordable 
housing property tax levy at 50%. 

 

 

 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 27 

3.8 – Demographic Information 
This section of the survey emphasized that answers are voluntary (as are all questions on the 
survey) and are only used to determine if the City is reaching a representative population.  

NOTE: Housing tenure is listed at the beginning of the survey summary under the Housing 
Information section. 

Question 17 Do you live in a subsidized or rent-restricted home? 
For example, a home managed by Housing Kitsap or similar housing agency.  

Respondents All respondents (113) 
 
Of the respondents who answered, 3 said they live in a subsidized or rent-restricted home. This 
is about 2.7% of respondents.  

 

Question 18 What is your race? 
Select all that apply. All questions on this page are optional and help the City of 
Port Orchard understand if its public engagement methods are reaching a 
representative population. 

Respondents All respondents (107) 
 
The survey captured a generally representative population in terms of race. For example, 27% 
of respondents identified as non-white and about 33% of the population is non-white. Of the 
respondents who answered, 6 provided “other” answers that are mostly invalid, and are 
excluded from the chart below. 

 

73%

11%

2%
6%

4%3% 1%

White

Asian

Other (please specify)

Hispanic or Latino

Native Hawaiian or Other
Pacific Islander

American Indian or Alaska
Native

Black or African American



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 28 

Question 19 What languages do you primarily speak at home? 
Respondents All respondents (110) 

 
Of the respondents who answered, 98.2% primary speak English at home and 0.9% primarily 
speak Spanish at home. English speakers are slightly overrepresented and Spanish speakers 
are slightly underrepresented, as in Port Orchard 1.9% of residents primarily speak Spanish at 
home. Other survey answers include Swedish, French, and Japanese. 

Question 20 Do you have any permanent physical disabilities that make it difficult to use 
your home? 

Respondents All respondents (111) 
 
Of the respondents who answered, 8% report having a permanent physical disability that 
makes it difficult to use their home.  

Question 21 Which of these describe the makeup of your family or household? Select all 
that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (111) 
 
A majority of owners and renters live with a partner or spouse with owners being the most 
likely group at around 70%, while for the renter group it was a little over 50%. Respondents 
whether owner or renter, had similar family or household makeups, with both groups having 
similar response rates for living alone, living with children, living with multiple generations, and 
living with pets. The only other main difference between the groups, is renters live in 
households with unrelated roommates at 12%. Whereas, no respondents in the owner group 
are living with unrelated roommates. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 29 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 30 

Question 22 What is your home 5-digit zipcode? 
Respondents All respondents (111) 

  
94% of respondents report living in a Port Orchard zipcode which includes either 98366 or 
98367. This is within the realm of consistency with Question 1 in the Housing Information 
section, as 87% of respondents reported living in the city limits, but the zipcode used for the 
City is also shared with nearby cities and areas.  

The other 6% of respondents likely represent the survey takers who live outside the city but 
work in the city. 

Zipcode Count Percent Area 
98366 79 71.2% Port Orchard, Manchester, and Southworth 

98367 25 22.5% Port Orchard – Bethel and West of SR 16 

98359 2 1.8% Olalla 

98351 1 0.9% Longbranch 

98312 1 0.9% Bremerton (west) and Gorst 

98673 1 0.9% Wishram 

98335 1 0.9% Gig Harbor 

98337 1 0.9% Bremerton (east) 

 

3.9 – Outreach Information 
The online survey was hosted on SurveyMonkey and went live on November 15, 2022, and 
closed on February 1, 2023. The link to the survey was formally distributed by: 

• An email to the interviewed HAP stakeholders 
• A post on the Facebook page of the City of Port Orchard Government page 
• An update on the project webpage 
 

It took an average of 15 minutes to complete the online survey. Of the local respondents, 89% 
fully completed the survey meaning they viewed and/or responded to all questions. 

An invitation to participate in the survey accompanied by a QR code to the survey, was 
attached to bi-monthly City utility bills that went out the week of November 28th. 

  

https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100064446051899
https://portorchardwa.gov/housing-action-plan/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 31 

Survey Appendix A – Written Comments for “Other” Answers 

Appendix A.1 – Question 9 “Other” Answers 
Question 7 Do you or any of your closest family or friends share any of the following 

concerns about these costs of living and service issues in Port Orchard? 
Respondents All respondents (92) 

 
Incomplete answers are removed. Answers may be lightly edited for spelling or to remove 
offensive content. 

• More and more apartment complexes keep popping up but we don't have good 
shopping areas and restaurants in the area.  

• Too many dilapidated rentals owned by non residents of the area. 
• Few places to eat out except fast food  
• The permitting process is inefficient and poorly managed. 
• Concerned with safety.  Town is old and not vibrant. 
• A business district with local eateries and activities could benefit the town. 
• Late night crimes, but the Port Orchard police department is closed? Calls are being 

routed to, being handled by, who will follow up on/when? 
• Traffic and houses going up in wetland area 
• The growing homeless in wetlands that are breaking into homes and cars nearby 
• Put the homeless in jail and help stop the crime rate 
• Housing costs outrageous 
• Businesses are struggling thanks to regulations and over reach by our government. 

Transit, really ?  The amount we spend on transit, to benefit a few, those that commute 
to Seattle, and then the empty busses.   

• Quality of life.  We're not pets worried about being cared for 
• Everything is too expensive, but housing takes away from being able to afford basics 
• There are few safe bike routes. 
• High cost of water & sewer 
• Healthy places to eat and more variety to grocery shop other than FM's. 
• High property taxes  
• increase in car accidents with so much development going in. Part of what keeps 

raising our cost of living are property taxes- our property taxes skyrocketed in the last 
few years.  

• Utilities are high 
• Businesses are skirting laws and regulations leading to unsafe work conditions as well, 

money plays a large part but safety is also a factor. 
• Port Orchard is overwhelming crowded, Financial concerns living in Port Orchard 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 32 

Appendix A.2 – Question 11 “Other” Answers 
Question 11 In the future, what types of homes would you consider or see yourself living 

in, assuming it met your price range and the needs of your family or 
household? 
Select all that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (119) 
 

• Condo!!!!!!! We need fewer apartments and more condos. 
• Acreage land  
• Small house on acreage...  Elsewhere.   
• Single family home 
• Moving out of Kitsap due to the rising costs even with our planned retirement 

accounts. 
• House 
• Acreage in the middle of the woods 
• single story rambler not 2 story! 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 33 

Survey Appendix B – Housing Stories 
Question 8 Do you have a housing story to tell? 
Respondents All respondents (61) 

 

Incomplete answers are removed. Answers may be lightly edited for spelling or to remove 
offensive content. See a summary under section 3.4 of this report. 

Appendix B.1 - Housing Stories from Owners 
Stories with people who volunteered to attribute their first name are listed first. Stories after 
that are anonymous. 

Michelle 
We moved to Kitsap County in 2012; we moved again to within the city limits in September 
2020.  We are both retired and enjoy being out of King County (too busy over there).  Our 
children are both grown and married.  One lives on Vashon Island (no kids) and the other lives 
in Puyallup (3 kids).  My parents recently relocated back to Washington (from Arizona) and live 
within walking distance to us.  Our biggest concern is if Port Orchard will improve the roads 
considering how much the area is growing.  Specifically, Bethel Avenue -- it needs to be 
widened to at least include a left turn lane.  Old Clifton also needs a LOT of pothole attention.  
Kitsap County does a GREAT job of maintaining their roads.  Port Orchard needs to do the 
same. 

John 
I moved here from Seattle in June 1999. I could not afford to live in Seattle anymore then and 
still now. This area was the only area that was affordable to purchase a home. 

Jane 
Difficulty in finding affordable housing. Housing permits and new construction regulations 
appear to be stifling new, affordable construction. 

Chuck 
I moved to Port Orchard in 2019 and moved into my retirement home.  It was the best move I 
ever made. 

Vanessa 
I grew up in Port Orchard - one of four children. Two of my adult siblings cannot afford to own 
a home here, one (in her 40’s) cannot afford to rent and has had to move back in with our 
parents with her three children. It is a huge financial burden on my parents and they have not 
been able to retire (70 years old). My youngest brother had to move to Tacoma to find an 
affordable apartment to rent, while the other brother and his blended family with 6 kids owns a 
two bedroom house. My 20 year old niece works 3 jobs to rent one room in a house because 
she cannot afford an apartment in Kitsap. She can’t afford to go to college or own a car, and 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 34 

public transportation is limited. I currently do not work because finding child care is almost 
impossible in Port Orchard, and unreliable where it is available. I consider myself fortunate to 
be able to have the option to stay home with my children as most households couldn’t even 
consider this.   

Christopher 
I've had friends who live farther away for lower apartment rent, yet they work here in Port 
Orchard. I've also heard of people getting pushed out of Port Orchard to find better home rental 
and home buying prices. Port Orchard used to be the better value-for-your-money place when 
most get pushed out of the Silverdale and Bremerton areas.   

Don 
I've lived in Kitsap County my entire life. I was fortunate enough to leverage another house into 
this one, both at the right time. I couldn't afford this home now. Many of my coworkers feel 
they " ... missed that boat entirely!" My neighbor is retired, his wife passed, their cottage 
industry business closed its doors during Covid and he's worried about being 'taxed out' of his 
home. Another neighbor has his elderly parents living with him because " ... there's really a 
need for affordable housing and assisted living. If my wife wasn't home for most of the day 
with them, I fear what would happen." I would add that I've seen quite a few little businesses 
close shop and roll out of town. The "local mom & pop" type places are a dying breed, but 
maybe we'll gain yet another pot shop or new franchise! 

Ethan 
Joined the Navy and while working in Bremerton & Bangor, lived in Port Orchard as it seemed 
to be more of an area to grow a family when we first lived in. We ended up staying there. 

Jim 
I grew up on Bainbridge Island and worked in Seattle until I retired. then bought property here 
and built my house here and it is all paid for. 

I have children who can not afford to live here. 

Brenda 
I came to Port Orchard May 1979 returned to NY. After many years my I accepted a job 
transfer to WA in 2008.  The first place I went to look for housing for my mother and myself 
was Port Orchard.  I wanted a small community town for my aging mother.  I remembered 
walking along Bay St in the late 70’s and feeling safe. 

Fred 
After my wife passed, there was no way I was going to pay about 15 percent of my retirement 
income in property taxes.  As a widower, I couldn't do that.   

Quality of life here is diminishing fast.  The more you build, the worse it gets.  Y'all don't bother 
to upgrade infrastructure (like roads) to handle the increased population.  We've needed a new 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 35 

high school for decades!  We're about to be "Little Bummertown" (Bremerton), and I don't think 
anyone gives a rat's arse.   

I'm moving out of state.  You'll be chock-full of Seattle transplants in no time.  Good luck with 
that.    

BTW, my brother in law just lost his wife.  He's moving out of state soon too.  Our only other 
option are those old folks corrals you keep building.   We're both veterans.  Thanks again.    

Season 
I grew up here and have watched my parents slowly start to be priced out of the area since 
2001 (they have always rented). My mom was a homemaker and my dad worked in 
carpet/flooring as an independent contractor. I was lucky enough to have bought a home in 
2011 for $136K when there was a surplus of foreclosed homes scattered throughout Port 
Orchard.  

My spouse's mother is also in the same situation as my parents (she will actually be moving in 
with us in February because as a para-educator and a service industry worker, she cannot 
afford to rent a one bedroom apartment in Port Orchard)  

I am disappointed to see that new apartments are showing up (which is a good thing), but that 
the price does not fit the incomes of many people in our town. Ideally, I would like to see 
renting as a valid option for folks who have found themselves downsizing or are approaching 
retirement age who might not have access or time to pay a home loan, but can still live 
independently and with dignity. 

Isaac 
I have an adult son that cannot afford to rent or buy a place of his own. 

Matt 
I was born and raised in South Kitsap and two of my children still live here.... with us, they can't 
afford to buy. 

Julie 
I work in the mortgage industry in Port Orchard and have 50 plus clients who qualify to buy but 
can not afford the inventory in this area. Instead, they are looking in Mason County and South 
Pierce or other area in Kitsap they may be more affordable. 

Craig 
I have children who can't afford to move to Port Orchard. 

Jay 
I have friends who have been priced out of Port Orchard by residents moving in from King 
County. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 36 

Karianna 
My husband and I choose to move to Port Orchard in 2018 because we wanted to purchase a 
house for our growing family. We had to make many compromises because of prices of homes 
in the area, but what we purchased will be good for us while we work on finding/building/etc. 
our final home here in WA. (I was born in WA, he is from MN, but fell in love with the state 
before he met me). Our home has lots of things we need to do to improve to be perfect for us 
now, but the long term plan is to build a home on land, and rent our current property, hopefully 
to military families (like us) who need a space to land. BUT since pricing in the area is next to 
impossible for people to afford, even we have to price our home higher to even afford to rent it. 

 

With so many in the area being military, I know finding affordable homes or apartments are 
extremely hard. Its lucky to find something within the housing allowance, as prices rise with 
the allowance being raised. We got lucky...we are within our budget, and we make it work, but 
constantly rising taxes, lack of housing, unaffordable pricing, and many other factors is a 
CONSTANT battle for military families coming to the area, and already here. We love it here in 
Port Orchard, we have wonderful neighbors, we have easy access to everything we need (even 
if we have to travel a bit for some more specific things like Costco and other larger stores), and 
we LOVE how the city has grown without losing its small town feel. But... 

 

Housing is a huge problem, not just in the City of Port Orchard, but the whole Peninsula. With 
competition for houses from Seattle, its made the situation next to impossible for one of the 
biggest driving forces for the economy in the area...the military families. How we can add 
housing without losing the charm of the small town feel I have yet been able to figure out...but 
something DOES need done. Our family is lucky...but there are MANY who are not. 

Erica 
I grew up in Port Orchard and the majority of my extended family lives here. My husband and I 
would like to find a house on acreage or property to build our dream home that supports us 
growing most of our own food. That is incredibly hard to find at a reasonable price. 

Debra 
Potential for large medical bills, trying to downsize by 2/3rds sq footage and cannot find a 
home that I can afford and does not need remodeling/updating. My income may look middle-
income but it is SS - investments less withdrawals to have money to live on. With the economy 
my retirement savings are declining quickly but @ 68 I have many worsening health conditions 
that prevents me from being to able to work.  We need some nicely, made for elderly eg small-
ranch homes.   

Melissa 
Recently moved here, only reason I was able to buy was because it's a townhouse 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 37 

Michael 
My wife and I moved to Port Orchard in 1991, when it was still a beautiful place to live.  The 
current house and apartment building explosion looks terrible, is already causing significant 
traffic congestion, and will inevitably cause an crease in crime.  It is sad to see the incredible 
amount of development spoiling the place I love.  

Don 
Moved to Port orchard for a job in the shipyard. 

Dan 
Moved to PO from Silverdale. Relocated from Central California in 1993 to accept job with City 
of Bremerton PW&U as Project Manager and later accepted position in 2008 with Harrison 
Medical Center and 2016 with CHI Francisan in Hospital Planning, Design & Construction. Very 
fun career! 

David 
We moved to Port Orchard because we had friends here in Kitsap County   

Cate 
I was lucky and got into my home 16 years ago; I have refinanced once.  If I were to try to find 
a place to live right now without the equity of my home, I would have to find a roommate or 
two to alleviate the financial strain. 

Diane 
I moved here from Auburn in 2003, since retired.   

Diane 
I moved to Port Orchard for a new job in 2000.  My partner and I are now 79 and 84.  I retired in 
2020, but due to expenses, health problems and too much being withdrawn from IRA funds I'm 
looking for a part time job to help us stay in our home. 

Kris 
We moved to port orchard a few years ago. Even with our two middle class jobs, we find it 
exceptionally expensive to afford our modest home. If something were to happen and we'd 
need repairs to our house, such as old water pipes bursting, we'd be struggling a lot to pay the 
mortgage. 

Gerry 
I purchased my grandmother's home from the estate after she died.  I commuted from Port 
Orchard to Poulsbo for work for over 30 years. 

Anonymous 
Fear for my 2 children being able to afford a modest dwelling (teenagers).  Recruitment for my 
County employer has impacted services rendered there. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 38 

Anonymous 
My kids can’t afford to stay and live in Port Orchard so they moved away. My dad moved to 
another town to find more affordable senior housing. The rental market is no sustainable for 
young adults to start and build their families and future homes here. It used to be when I 
moved here 22 years ago which Is why I chooses to raise my kids here.   

Anonymous 
When we moved to Port Orchard, difficult to find homes in decent condition close to foot ferry. 

Anonymous 
Moved to Port O 21 yrs ago to be near a son and because it was near Seattle but not IN Seattle 

Anonymous 
We own a building that we are attempting to turn into affordable, communal living for 
individuals in their 20's.  The challenge is that as we work through the permitting process it 
keeps changing from the direction given between the pre-permit planning meetings and at the 
time we submitted for approval.  Specifically, new forms and additional forms and then the 
entire application has to be submitted with new dates.  These changes are creating additional 
costs in financing, professional planning, etc.  These additional costs are making 
redevelopment to provide affordable housing prohibitive when considering future projects. 

Anonymous 
Our housing story doesn't really fit what I think you're looking for. We would like to move, not 
because of costs or work. The one and only reason we want to move is because of our 
dishonest and unethical HOA. We'd like to move to a home with privacy and seclusion. 

Anonymous  
I have watched much housing happening in the last year.  I am not happy about all the green 
belts and housing that is occurring.  There is not the infrastructure for this.  Our sewage and 
water are not able to provide this amount of development.  I see houses going up in wetlands 
and the area that I moved to that was rural and green is becoming full of traffic and crime.  I 
know housing is your priority but stop destroying our natural areas. 

Anonymous  
My children can’t find housing here that they can afford.  They have moved elsewhere.  The 
politics in WA have also contributed to them leaving the state.   We are not far behind.  Can’t 
stand what our governor is doing to this state.   

Anonymous  
Lived here for 44 years. Grown kids live with us in a mother-in-law apartment because they 
can't afford their own housing here.   

Anonymous 
I was only able to purchase my home in Port Orchard with Housing Kitsap's Mutual Self-Help 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 39 

Housing Program. This offered my family and I an affordable path towards homeownership. 
Otherwise, I wouldn't even be able to rent here. 

Anonymous 
Kids can't afford housing and live with us. All our employees live outside the city because it's 
cheaper. 

Anonymous  
Senior relatives are housed in my home (at below market rent) because living expenses are too 
high in King County.  Port Orchard remains a less expensive option for living within the Puget 
Sound region.  

Anonymous  
We moved to Port Orchard from Bainbridge because we wanted to raise our kids in this 
community. We love our home and our neighbors in McCormick Woods. 

Anonymous 
I moved to Port Orchard 15 years ago because I loved its small feel, yet close proximity to the 
larger cities. More so I loved the trees. We have no trees anymore.  The city is allowing clear 
cutting to put in mass developments. Our water quality sucks. Even filters can’t remove the 
hard minerals and chlorine.  Port Orchard should be just as concerned about protecting 
everyone- not just a pet project that someone at city hall has.  All residents’ quality of life goes 
down when the city doesn’t seem to care about preserving what made this city unique and 
beautiful.  Put the port orchard city plan side by side a Seattle map.  City of Seattle has more 
designated green space than Port Orchard’s long term plan.   

Anonymous 
I moved Port Orchard 30 years ago and purchased a home. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 40 

Appendix B.2 - Housing Stories from Renters 
Stories with people who volunteered to attribute their first name are listed first. Stories after 
that are anonymous. Incomplete answers are removed. Answers may be lightly edited for 
spelling or to remove offensive content. See a summary under section 3.4 of this report. 

Chris 
This city is pricing out the local workforce. These surface level allocations of below market 
rent in new housing developments is immoral in exchange for the tax breaks they receive. The 
workforce used for construction will not be local either. There's a high likelihood that new 
housing will be rented by navy members, further limiting workforce housing as the navy 
doesn't stock our grocery store shelves.   

Demarie 
There is very little options when looking for a home to rent. Also keep noticing the amount of 
apartments that are being built but very little is being done about making sure our roadways 
have the capability of supporting that amount of growth.  

Paul 
Grew up next door to where I'm at now. I've rented this home for 13 years. The owners have 
always paid the water/utility bill because there is 2 homes on the 1 meter. I've learned this 
evening that the bill hasn't been paid since September and the service is scheduled to be 
disconnected tomorrow. My aunt and uncle own the property . They had to move to a assisted 
living facility several months ago. I was led to believe that the bill would be kept current. 

 As a disabled individual living alone I am very concerned. I will call in the morning to try and 
resolve this issue. 

Vanessa 
Moved out to WA Jan 2022 with husband and son. We wanted to buy a home as first time 
buyers but find the process a bit difficult. Renting a home is getting to be expensive with rent 
being $2100 for two bedroom duplexes. 

Anonymous 
I grew up here and my parents live here. My husband and I struggled to find a home to buy that 
was the right mix of size, location, neighborhood, future appreciation, and development risk. 
We continued to rent with an exceptionally good set up, but we watched the home prices 
skyrocket the past few years and I began to have serious concerns about being priced out of 
the area.  This year we purchased multifamily real estate in port orchard to preserve the option 
to stay in the area and secure our future housing needs. 

Anonymous 
We moved here from Alaska & didn’t intend to stay in our current apartment for more than one 
year. Due to rent and other cost increases and poor well-paying job opportunities we’ve been 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 41 

essentially trapped here for 5 years, and the situation is leading me to look elsewhere for our 
future. I was really excited to live in this beautiful area, and I’ve been sorely disappointed trying 
to enjoy living here. 

 

 



 Housing Action Plan 
FIRST DRAFT October 20, 2022 

 

 

  

Port Orchard  
Housing Action Plan 

Second Draft – April 25, 2023 
 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 2 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Thank You 
Special thanks to the Port Orchard community for sharing your time, knowledge, and energy to 

shape this housing action plan that meets your needs and interests. 

Mayor 

Robert Putaansuu 

 

City Council 

Fred Chang 

John Clauson 

Shawn Cucciardi 

Scott Diener 

Cindy Lucarelli 

Jay Rosapepe 

Mark Trenary 

 

City Staff 

Nick Bond, Director of the Community Development Department 

Jim Fisk, Senior Planner 

Josie Rademacher, Assistant Planner 

Stephanie Andrews, Senior Planner 

 

Consultant Team 

MAKERS Architecture & Urban Design: Bob Bengford, Scott Bonjukian, Markus Johnson 

Leland Consulting Group: Chris Zahas, Andrew Oliver 

 

Stakeholder Organizations Interviewed 

Port Orchard City Council and Mayor 

Kitsap Housing Authority 

Disney & Associates 

Port Orchard Chamber of Commerce 

Tarragon 

Contour Construction 

McCormick Communities 

 

Washington State 

This plan was supported by a Department of Commerce grant for cities to support housing 

affordability.   



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 3 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Contents 
Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................... 4 

1 – Background Information ............................................................................................................. 6 

2 – Regulatory Strategies ................................................................................................................ 18 

3 – Programmatic Strategies ......................................................................................................... 34 

4 – Citywide Planning Strategies ................................................................................................... 50 

5 – Funding Strategies .................................................................................................................... 59 

6 – Implementation ......................................................................................................................... 71 

 

Abbreviations 

ACS. American Community Survey, an annual product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

ADU. Accessory dwelling unit. 

AMI. Area median income. 

CHAS. Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy, a product of the U.S. Department of 

Housing and Urban Development. 

GIS. Geographic information system. 

GFC. General facilities charge. 

HAP. Housing Action Plan. 

HUD. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

LEHD. Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics, a product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

MFTE. Multifamily tax exemption program. 

MSA. Metropolitan Statistical Area. 

OFM. Washington State Office of Financial Management. 

POMC. Port Orchard Municipal Code (city law). 

RCW. Revised Code of Washington (state law). 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 4 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Executive Summary 
The Port Orchard Housing Action Plan (HAP) defines strategies and implementing actions that 

promote greater housing diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity for residents of all 

income levels. The process to develop the HAP included a review of Port Orchard's system of 

policies, programs, and regulations which shape opportunities for housing development and 

which impact the affordability of existing and new housing.  

The purpose of this effort is to identify ways to encourage construction of additional affordable 

and market rate housing in a greater variety of housing types and at prices accessible to a 

greater variety of incomes. The priorities for the HAP were informed by an existing conditions 

and housing needs assessment, public engagement, discussion with the City Council and 

Planning Commission, and City staff. 

The HAP is intended to inform updates to the Port Orchard Comprehensive Plan (most notably 

the Land Use and Housing elements) and to guide implementation strategies such as 

development regulations, housing programs, and infrastructure spending priorities. The City is 

not obligated to adopt any of the recommended changes contained within this report except 

where specific requirements exist within state law in which case the City may consider the 

recommendations found in this report as an option for complying with the law. The report is 

intended to provide a menu of options for consideration as the City works to address housing 

diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity  

It is recognized that Port Orchard has taken significant steps to promote greater housing 

diversity, affordability, and access to opportunities through regulatory updates in recent years.  

Because of this, many of the recommendations contained in this report are focused on fine 

tuning zoning regulations rather than suggesting significant zoning changes. Port Orchard has 

comparatively few recommended zoning changes compared to other similarly sized 

jurisdictions due to recent actions taken by the City Council. The programmatic strategies and 

citywide planning strategies contained within the report are generally more significant changes 

to city policies that require careful consideration. 

Research Questions 
These research questions developed at the beginning of the project drove the housing analysis 

and the subsequent actions and strategies. 

1. What are the most pressing housing needs in Port Orchard for each segment of the 
population? 

2. What are we most concerned about and most hopeful about for residential development 
in Port Orchard over the next 10 years? 

3. What code updates can be made to meet the needs of all economic segments of the 
Port Orchard community? 

4. What are the biggest longstanding or new barriers to affordable and diverse residential 
development in Port Orchard? 

5. What new or updated tools, policies, staff capacity, and funding are most likely to meet 
Port Orchard’s housing goals?  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 5 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Housing Actions and Strategies 
The housing actions are organized by broader strategy sections of this plan. The 

implementation timeline is an estimate of how long it will take to implement an action. There 

are also many sub-sections which may require different timelines if additional community 

outreach is needed, alignment with the City’s annual budget process is necessary, or there is a 

desire to roll policy updates into the next major Comprehensive Plan update. See Section 6 for 

more details on implementation priorities. 

Strategy Description Priority Time 

Regulatory Strategies 

2.1 Expand the allowed uses High 0-6 months 

2.2 Streamline the building type standards Medium 0-6 months 

2.3 Adjust form and intensity standards High 0-6 months 

2.4 Adjust other standards Medium 0-6 months 

Programmatic Strategies 

3.1 Anti-displacement strategies Medium Ongoing 

3.2 Homelessness strategies MediumHigh Ongoing 

3.3 Support staffing needs Medium Ongoing 

Citywide Planning Strategies 

4.1 Housing Element updates Medium 12-24 months 

4.2 Land Use Element updates High 12-24 months 

4.3 Public land for affordable housing Low Ongoing 

4.4 McCormick East Neighborhood Planning Medium 12-24 months 

Funding Strategies 

5.1 Adjust the multifamily tax exemption program High 0-6 months 

5.2 Development fee adjustments Low 0-6 months 

5.3 Local bank funding Low Ongoing 

5.4 Tax increment financing Medium 6-12 months 

5.5  Funding for ADU development Medium 6-12 months 

5.6 State advocacy Low Ongoing 

Next Steps 
The scope of Port Orchard’s housing challenges demand that a variety of strategies and actions 

be pursued immediately and simultaneously. This plan informs and recommends high priorities 

for 2023 and beyond, such as code updates (Strategy 2) and refinements to the multifamily tax 

exemption program (Strategy 5.1). A housing coordinator staff position should be created and 

hired to implement all HAP strategies and serve as the City’s lead on housing policy and 

coordination. Updates and evaluation are recommended in the next Comprehensive Plan update 

in 2024, and other programmatic, funding, and planning actions can begin as soon as resources 

are allocated. See Section 6 – Implementation for detailed next steps. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 6 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1 – Background Information 
1.1 – Project Purpose 
Port Orchard is a great place to live, but it is getting more expensive. As the population grows 

and diversifies, the supply of homes and variety of homes is not keeping pace. As a result, it is 

getting harder for people of average means and different family structures to find and afford a 

home across all areas of the city. The supply of housing is closely linked to the price of housing.  

The purpose of the Housing Action Plan is to identify strategies that promote more housing 

options for current and future residents at all income levels and support increases in the 

housing supply. Port Orchard’s residents are diverse and each household has its own 

preferences and experiences in how they live. This plan is intended to help guide City actions 

over the next several years to promote more housing choices for current and future residents. 

The City is able to undertake this project thanks to grant funding provided by Washington State 

through the Department of Commerce. This grant program allocated funds for cities with the 

goal of supporting housing affordability through regulatory and planning actions. 

1.2 – Housing Needs 
A brief summary of Port Orchard’s current and future housing needs is provided below. For 

more detail, refer to the complete HAP Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report 

in the Appendix B, which contains detailed information on the full range of Port Orchard’s 

demographics, household incomes, employment trends, housing inventory and production 

statistics, housing affordability considerations, existing housing funding and policy frameworks, 

and a discussion of buildable land capacity in the city.  

Port Orchard is a fast-growing community with a 2022 population estimate of 16,400 and a 

2044 population target of 26,087 residents.1 The city has grown on average 4 percent annually 

since 2000 and is expected to grow at a rate of close to 3 percent over the next 20 years 

(excluding possible annexations), potentially exceeding countywide growth targets. Some of the 

city’s growth has been due to annexations in the 2000s, but the continued forecast for rapid 

growth, as well as decreasing vacancy rates over the past decade, suggests an ongoing 

demand for housing in Port Orchard.2 

Current permitting data indicates that housing in Port Orchard is being produced at a rapid 

rate. In total, 5,198 units are in some stage of permitting citywide, and 2,482 of those units are 

planned to be completed between 2022 and 2024, of which 45 percent will be multifamily units.3 

This permit data reflects all potential housing production currently permitted, including all 

proposed development throughout McCormick Woods. Although not all units that have been 

permitted will necessarily be constructed, this number demonstrates the continued high rate of 

 
1 2022 Population: Washington Office of Financial Management Postcensal Population Estimate. 2044 Population 
Target: Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policy Update, 2022. 
2 Census-reported rental vacancy rates have declined from 7.8% to 5.8% between 2010-2020. CoStar, a commercial 
real estate database, showed multifamily rental vacancy rates declining from 6.5% to 3.5% between 2012 and 2022. 
3 City of Port Orchard Permit Data 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 7 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

housing production and demand in the city.This high rate of housing production will nearly 

double the city’s housing inventory within the next several years. Even with this high rate of 

production, prices are still increasing as detailed below.  

About 60 percent of Port Orchard households are homeowners and 40 percent are renters. 

Nearly 70 percent of households are family households, and the average household size is 2.4 

people.4 As shown below in Figure 1, there is a mismatch between household size and housing 

unit size, with larger housing units available compared to household sizes. This shows a need 

for increased supply of smaller housing units to better serve the variety of household sizes in 

the city. 

  

Figure 1. Household Size and Housing Unit Size in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, DP04 

Port Orchard’s median household income (MHI) was $71,789 in 2020. This is $7,250 less than 

the Kitsap County median, though it has increased 21 percent since 2010 – a higher rate than 

county and statewide income increases over the same period. However, this increase was 

much more pronounced for homeowner households than renter households, as shown below in 

Figure 25 Overall, about eight percent of Port Orchard residents earn under $10,000 per year, 

compared to four percent countywide, and over a quarter of renters earn under 30 percent of the 

median family income (MFI).6 

 
4 2020 American Community Survey Five-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, DP04. 
5 American Community Survey 2020 Five-Year Estimates, Table S2503, CPI Inflation Index 
6 The Median Family Income for the Bremerton-Silverdale Metropolitan Statistical Area, as determined by HUD, was 
$102,500 in 2022. 

1-person 
household

22%

2-person 
household

34%

3-person 
household

16%

4+ person 
household

27%

Household Size

Studio / 1 
bedroom

10%

2 
bedrooms

27%

3 
bedrooms

41%

4+ 
bedrooms

20%

Housing Unit Size



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 8 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

 
Figure 2. Inflation-Adjusted Median Household Income in Port Orchard and Region, 2010-2020. Source: 
2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, CPI Inflation Index 

Figure 3 below shows a detailed breakdown of Port Orchard and Kitsap County household 

incomes, showing the range of income levels found throughout the city. The largest share of 

households earn between $75,000 and $100,000 per year. Port Orchard has smaller shares of 

high-income earners making over $150,000 per year than Kitsap County, and a much larger 

share of the lowest-income households earning less than $10,000 per year than countywide 

averages. 

 

Figure 3. Household Income in the Past 12 Months, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table B19001 

$59,325

$75,600

$44,074

$70,268
$67,548

$71,719

$97,524

$46,209

$78,969 $77,006

Port Orchard
(All Households)

Port Orchard
(Ownership Households)

Port Orchard
(Renter Households)

Kitsap County Washington

2010 2020

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

<
 $

1
0
k

$
1
0
k
-K

2
0
k

$
2
0
k
-$

3
0
k

$
3
0
k
-$

4
0
k

$
4
0
k
-$

5
0
k

$
5
0
k
-$

6
0
k

$
6
0
k
-$

7
5
k

$
7
5
k
-$

1
0
0
k

$
1
0
0
k
-$

1
2
5
k

$
1
2
5
k
-$

1
5
0
k

$
1
5
0
k
-$

2
0
0
k

$
2
0
0
k
+

Port Orchard

Kitsap County



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 9 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Lower-income Port Orchard residents face significant challenges paying for housing –70 

percent of households earning under 30 percent of the MFI spend more than half of their 

income on housing costs, and 75 percent of households earning between 30 and 50 percent of 

the MFI spend over 30 percent of their income on housing costs.7 This shows a need for deeply 

subsidized housing for Port Orchard’s lower-income residents, corroborated by stakeholders 

who described over 1,000 people on the waiting list for housing vouchers administered by the 

Kitsap Housing Authority. 

Family size and composition can also affect housing needs, particularly when correlated with 

incomes. In Port Orchard, 69 percent of households are family households. Of these, most are 

married-couple families, nearly 3,000 households. The remaining 824 are classified as “other 

family,” which includes single-parent households. Census data indicates about 250 Port Orchard 

households are single mothers earning less than the federal poverty level. This is about five 

times higher than the number of married-couple households below the poverty level.8 Kitsap 

County statistics are similar. This data shows another group of Port Orchard residents who 

potentially have needs for deeply subsidized housing. 

In recent years, housing prices have risen rapidly in Port Orchard when compared with incomes, 

as shown below in Figure 4. Rents increased 28 percent and home values increased 56 percent 

between 2015 and 2020, compared to only a 15 percent increase in incomes over the same 

period. This shows that housing has become more difficult to afford for the average Port 

Orchard resident in recent years, a trend also seen across the country. As of 2020, the average 

Port Orchard household could afford a home worth about $303,012, but the typical home in the 

city was worth 1.5 times as much, $468,702.9 

 

Figure 4. Change in Home Prices, Rents, and Incomes in Port Orchard, 2010-2020. Source: Zillow, American 
Community Survey 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, DP04, Leland Consulting Group 

 
7 HUD Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS), 2015-2019 
8 2021 American Community Survey, Table B17010 
9 Home affordability calculated using Freddie Mac interest rate as of December 2022, Zillow home price data, income 

data from 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Median Gross Rent Zillow Home Value Index Median Household Income



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 10 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

A housing affordability chart illustrating home prices which would be affordable to a variety of 

income levels is shown below in Figure 5. Port Orchard’s median incomes and sales prices are 

both shown. This data illustrates the degree to which ownership housing has become out of  

each for many Port Orchard residents, even those earning more than the city’s median 

household income.10 

 

 

Figure 5. Housing Prices Affordable to Various Incomes with Port Orchard Median Income and Sales Price, 
2021. Source: Zillow, Freddie Mac, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Leland Consulting 
Group 

Preliminary Kitsap County housing targets indicate that Port Orchard will see a demand for up to 

4,804 new housing units by 2044. This is fewer housing units than are currently in the 

permitting pipeline and indicate that Port Orchard may exceed its housing and/or population 

growth targets prior to 2044. Figure 6 shows the breakdown of these units by household income 

level, based on Port Orchard’s current income distribution. The breakdown of units by income is 

relatively even. It includes about 1,000 units over the next two decades for the lowest-income 

households which can only be met through regulated affordable (i.e., subsidized) housing, and 

nearly 1,000 units for households earning between 50 and 80 percent of the AMI (often 

referred to as “workforce” housing) which can be provided through a variety of channels 

 
10 Note that housing price data from Zillow is used for this analysis, whereas other data comes from the US Census 

American Community Survey. Although the Census does collect data on the value of homes, Census home value 
data reflects the occupants’ assessment of their home’s value when surveyed, rather than the market realities of 
how much people are currently paying for housing. Zillow’s Home Value Index is a well-researched dataset which 
aggregates current sales values to reflect up-to-date market prices and therefore is a more accurate representation 
of what Port Orchard households would currently need to pay in order to purchase new housing in the city. 

$25 

$50 
$75 

$100 

$150 

$200 

$96 

$192 

$287 

$383 

$575 

$766 

 $-

 $100

 $200

 $300

 $400

 $500

 $600

 $700

 $800

 $900

Household Income ($1,000s) House Price ($1,000s)

Median Sales Price ($468)

Median Household 
Income ($71)

A household earning $100,000 
could not afford the median Port 
Orchard sales price of $468,000 
even though they are earning 
nearly $30,000 more than the 
median household income.



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 11 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

including subsidized units, vouchers, other incentive programs such as MFTE, and filtering11 of 

existing units as new housing stock is built. There will also remain a demand for about 1,200 

market rate housing units targeting households earning more than 120 percent AMI over the 

next 20 years. 

 
Figure 6. Housing Demand by Income Bracket in Port Orchard, 2022-2044. Sources: Leland Consulting 
Group, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policies 

  

 
11 “Filtering” refers to the process by which new housing units depreciate over time, becoming more affordable to 

lower-income households as other new units are added to the supply. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

0-30 30-50 50-80 80-100 100-120 120+

N
e

w
 U

n
it

s
 N

e
e

d
e

d
 b

y 
2

0
2

4

% AMI



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 12 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.3 – Geographic Equity within Port Orchard 
Port Orchard is becoming increasingly stratified based on geography and income levels.  The 

areas of Port Orchard located west of SR-16 have higher median incomes, higher property 

values, and housing costs.  Areas east of SR-16 have median incomes that are lower than 

average, and property values and housing costs are typically lower.  There are growing concerns 

of equity in investment and opportunity among Port Orchard residents based on where a person 

lives.   

Increasingly, affordable housing types are being constructed in areas where incomes are lower 

and less affordable housing types are being constructed in areas where incomes are higher.  

New schools (including a new second high school) are planned in the areas west of SR-16 and 

add to concerns of unequal investment.   

 
Figure 7. Median Income and Median Home Value of Owner-occupied Unit in Port Orchard, 2021. Sources: 
2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Census Reporter Profile 

This housing strategy includes recommendations that seek to encourage greater geographic 

equity and opportunities for people at all income levels to live in all areas of the city.   



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 13 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.4 – Racially Disparate Impacts 
While Port Orchard may not have explicitly racist policies in place today, many policies do have 

racially disparate origins and impacts. The practice of zoning emerged in the early 1900’s and 

explicitly race-based zoning had to be banned almost immediately as a result of the 1917 

Supreme Court case of Buchanan v. Warley. After that decision, cities crafted less direct 

methods to divide people by race and class with zoning policies that are still prevalent today.  

“Racially disparate impacts” occur when policies, practices, rules or other systems result in a 

disproportionate effect on one or more racial groups. Many past and present zoning policies 

used in cities across the nation have racially disparate impacts, reflecting a systemic issue as a 

result of federal laws, programs, and economic and housing policies dating back half a century 

or more. 

Under RCW 36.70A.070(2), cities in their comprehensive plans must identify “local policies and 

regulations that result in racially disparate impacts, displacement, and exclusion in housing.” 

While this HAP does not complete this mandatory work, instead deferring to the next major 

comprehensive plan update due in 2024, one brief example of this concept applied to household 

tenure statistics is provided below.  

The indirect methods largely rely on the differences of wealth, income, and tenure between 

peoples’ race and ethnicities. In Port Orchard, for example,  40% of all households are occupied 

by renters. About 35% of White households are renters, while 58% of Hispanic and Latino 

households and 88% of Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander households are renters.12 Therefore, 

policies that restrict the supply and price of rental housing can have a disproportionate impact 

on people of color. Further, almost half of all renter-occupied households are considered cost-

burdened, while just one in 10 owner-occupied households are considered cost-burdened. 

 
Figure 8. Share of Household Tenure By Race/Ethnicity. Source: ACS 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table B25003 
series 

 

 
12 Source: American Community Survey 2020 5-Year Estimates, B25003 Tables. 

88%

63%

58%

57%

49%

35%

40%

12%

37%

42%

43%

51%

65%

60%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Native Hawaiian / Pacific Islander…

Other / Two or more race households

Hispanic and Latino households

Black households

Asian households

White Households

All households

Rent Own



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 14 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Figure 9 below shows the same data by total number of households. 

 
Figure 9. Household Tenure by Race/Ethnicity. Source: ACS 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table B25003 series 

 

A common form of rental housing is multifamily 

(apartment) buildings, which are more limited in 

where and how they can be built in Port Orchard 

compared to where and how single-family homes 

are regulated. 

Zoning matters for social welfare because where 

people live makes a difference. Neighborhood 

quality can have significant effects on long-term 

outcomes like school performance, income, labor 

mobility, and health. It also contributes to the multi-

generational wealth gap if some people are not able 

to purchase quality homes that increase in value as much over time as homes in higher-priced 

neighborhoods, resulting in smaller inheritances for descendants.  

People of color generally pay higher shares of their income for housing costs and have less 

savings for down payments, meaning the home prices they can afford are lower or they are 

forced to rent. Smaller homes which have lower costs are needed not only for people of color, 

but also Port Orchard’s large share of small households (56% of households are made up of one 

or two people but only 37% of housing units are studio, one- or two-bedroom units). 

Occasionally, larger multi-bedroom homes are good options for people who want to split costs 

with extended family members or roommates, but apartments with three or more bedrooms are 

rare and there are few shared-living options like cottage clusters or triplexes available. 

Common racially disparate policies and practices at the local level include the following: 

• Minimum lot sizes 

193

242

283

98

95

1,417

27

143

206

73

99

2,864

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000

Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander

One/Two or more races

Hispanic or Latino origin

Black or African American

Asian

White alone

Households
Rent Own

Figure 10. Example of multifamily housing. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 15 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Lack of available land zoned for multifamily housing and middle housing (like duplexes 

and townhomes) 

• Multifamily housing only allowed in busy 

commercial districts, polluted industrial 

areas, in hazardous areas like floodplains, 

and/or near loud and auto-oriented arterial 

roads 

• Multifamily housing not being allowed near 

amenities like parks, schools, grocery 

stores, and healthcare facilities 

• Excessive minimum setbacks, building 

height limits, parking standards, historic 

preservation standards, and other 

restrictions that limit the housing capacity on individual sites, especially for multifamily 

and middle housing 

• Excessive fees, complicated processes, and unclear regulations, especially for small 

projects commonly undertaken by local homeowners and small investors like adding an 

accessory dwelling unit or building a duplex 

• Complete prohibitions on low-cost building materials 

• Lack of trees and park space in areas near multifamily housing or neighborhoods with 

lower incomes 

• Lack of low-cost transportation options like pedestrian/bike routes and transit service 

connecting multifamily housing to jobs and services 

Racially disparate impacts are not limited to Port Orchard and this issue has been gaining 

much-needed attention across the state and country, even earning a statement on zoning from 

the White House. Other city-level types of racially disparate impacts have historically included: 

redlining, where people of color were not able to access loans and credit in certain 

neighborhoods; highways built through communities of color; and disinvestment in 

infrastructure like transit, schools, and parks in communities of color. 

It should be noted that some of the least racially diverse census tracts in the city are those that 

were primarily developed while in unincorporated Kitsap County and which were only annexed 

by the City of Port Orchard over the past 15 years (see Section 1.3). These are also areas where 

the City is seeing significant development of multi-family and middle housing.   

This Housing Action Plan provides a number of strategies to address most of these issues, 

which focus on easing regulations and streamlining standards to make it easier to build middle 

housing and multifamily housing in more locations. 

  

Middle housing refers to housing choices 

like duplexes, triplexes, townhomes, 

accessory dwelling units (ADU’s), and 

cottage housing that fit between the scale 

of apartment buildings and single-family 

homes. This type of housing has 

historically been prohibited in many cities 

and towns. It has regained appeal because 

it can be economical to build and thus 

have lower costs, providing more 

affordable housing options. 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2021/06/17/exclusionary-zoning-its-effect-on-racial-discrimination-in-the-housing-market/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 16 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.5 – Military Population 
A unique characteristic of the Port Orchard population is the presence of military personnel, 

families, and contractors. The military provided countywide data on its civilian population for 

this report, but provided no data on active duty population nor data specific to personnel living 

in Port Orchard. Census data shows approximately 645 Port Orchard residents, representing 

5.5% of the employed population of the city, employed in the Armed Forces overall, with a 

moderate margin of error.13 This likely reflects enlisted personnel rather than civilian employees 

but provides a general picture of the extent of military employment in the city.  

In addition, anecdotal information provided by stakeholders, appointed and elected officials 

suggests that the City houses a significant military population in Port Orchard due to 

employment opportunities both at the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard and Naval Station Kitsap. A 

significant portion of this population is transient and may only live in Port Orchard for short 

periods of time.  The military population is diverse, potentially more so than Port Orchard’s non-

military population, and some of these residents receive housing stipends which are not 

reflected in household income data.  Housing stipends in 2023 (known as Basic Allowance for 

Housing) vary from $2,136 (E01) to $3,372 (O07) per month for personnel with dependents.14 

When reviewing the data collected for this report and in considering recommendations on to 

increase housing diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity, it is important to consider 

that some important information about the City’s military population was not able to be 

considered when formulating recommendations. 

1.6 – Public Engagement 
The Housing Action Plan was informed by early and continuous public engagement. 

Engagement was conducted to create a plan that meets the needs and interest of the Port 

Orchard community. Key activities included: 

• One-on-one interviews with 14 stakeholders  

• Housing survey with 140 responses 

• Public kickoff meeting and presentation at City Council (July 26, 2022) 

• Check-in meeting with existing conditions and housing needs analysis at City Council 

(January 10, 2023) and Planning Commission (February 7, 2023) 

• Draft plan presentations at Planning Commission (April 4, 2023)  

• Public hearing at Planning Commission (May 2, 2023) 

  

 
13 2021 American Community Survey, Table DP03 
14 Personnel can decide how to allocate the BAH without a penalty for deciding to conserve some dollars on rent to 

pay other expenses. Therefore, actual out-of-pocket expense for an individual may be higher or lower than the 
prescribed rate based on choice of housing. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 17 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

1.76 – State Law Updates 
In April 2023 the Washington State Legislature passed several 

housing-related preemptions and other housing regulations. 

The following may affect Port Orchard the most significantly. 

Cross-references to HAP strategies are provided where 

preliminary review finds there are actions Port Orchard should 

take to meet new requirements. 

Direct effects to City government 

• HB 1110 – Reduces other zoning and permitting barriers to middle housing. See 

Strategy 2.4.2, Strategy 2.4.10, and Strategy 4.2.4 for recommendations to comply. 

• HB 1337 – Preempts common regulations on accessory dwelling units (ADU). See 

Strategy 2.1.7 for development regulation changes needed to comply. 

• SB 5412 – Housing developments in urban growth areas that comply with a 

Comprehensive Plan which has undergone an environmental analysis are exempt from 

additional environmental review under the State Environmental Policy Act. 

• SB 5258 – Cities must provide a short plat procedure for unit lot subdivisions, which is a 

division of a parent lot into separately owned unit lots (this is often a useful tool for 

middle housing). See Strategy 2.4.9 for recommendations to comply. 

• SB 5258 – Also, impact fees for residential development must be lower for smaller units; 

see Strategy 5.2 for recommendations to comply. 

• SB 5491 – Cities are encouraged to allow single-stairway residential buildings up to six 

stories tall and with up to four units per floor (currently such buildings can only be up to 

three stories tall). See Strategy 2.4.7 for recommendations. 

• HB 1042 – Cities cannot use development regulations (such as density limits or parking) 

to prevent additions of housing with an existing building envelope in a zone that allows 

multifamily use. 

• HB 1181 – Comprehensive Plans must include a Climate Change & Resiliency Element 

 

Indirect effects to City government 

• HB 1771 and SB 5198 – Rules are strengthened for giving mobile home park residents 

an opportunity to purchase the property when it is proposed for closure or conversion, 

and for displaced residents receive relocation assistance. 

• SB 5258 and SB 5058 – Encourages construction of small condominium buildings by 

modifying the procedures for construction defect actions and warranty claims and 

exempts buildings with 12 or fewer units and two or less stories from condo defect 

provisions such as extra inspections. There is a new exemption to the real estate excise 

tax for first-time homebuyers of condominiums (including townhouses). 

• HB 1474 – Creates statewide down payment assistance program for first-time 

homebuyers with income less than the area median who were themselves, or are 

descendants of someone who was, excluded from homeownership in Washington by a 

racially restrictive real estate covenant prior to 1968. 

• HB 1074 and SB 5197 – Strengthened tenant protections upon move-out or eviction.  

State preemption is the 

invalidation of some action 

by, or the wresting of power 

from, a local government by 

the state legislature. 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1337&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5412&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?billnumber=5258&year=2023&initiative=False
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?billnumber=5258&year=2023&initiative=False
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5491&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1042&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1181&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1771&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5198&Chamber=Senate&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?billnumber=5258&year=2023&initiative=False
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5058&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1474&Chamber=House&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1074&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5197&Initiative=false&Year=2023


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 18 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2 – Regulatory Strategies 
While the City of Port Orchard does not directly supply or control the private housing market, it 

does shape what is possible on Port Orchard’s land through zoning and development 

regulations.  

2.1 – Expand the Allowed Uses 
Action: Allow more housing types in more zones to promote middle housing and 

affordable housing. 

Providing more flexibility to integrate a variety of housing options is an important tool to 

expanding housing supply and land capacity. In the HAP community survey, 70% of respondents 

support the concept to “Allow more housing types like duplexes, cottages, and townhouses in 

single-family neighborhoods if they're compatibly sized and designed.” This concept was also 

supported by most stakeholders when it came up in interviews.  

It should be noted that the recommended changes in this section mostly omit the McCormick 

Woods area from consideration. McCormick Woods (also McCormick Trails and McCormick 

Village) has entitlements established in the 1980s and 1990s and are subject to a variety of 

development agreements inherited from Kitsap County and subsequently modified by the City 

of Port Orchard. Most of these agreements have terms of 20 years with the possibility of 

extensions. The area also lacks fixed route transit service and commercial services which 

makes middle housing and affordable housing more difficult to accommodate. As such, the City 

and this HAP have focused on other parts of Port Orchard where increasing the supply of 

housing to people of all income levels is more viable.  

With that said, the City should still allow for middle housing types in the McCormick Woods area 

even if they are unlikely to be constructed soon, and there are some smaller unentitled 

properties in the area which are opportunities for more diverse lot configurations and building 

types (for example, see Strategies 4.2.3 and 4.4). Consider the following changes to allowed 

uses. 

2.1.1 – R5 Zone 
Consider eliminating this zone from the code, as there are no current mapped R5 zones and the 

proposed changes to R4 (including height bonuses) likely make this zone unnecessary. If 

implemented, the R6 zone could be renamed to R5 to avoid a gap in zone naming. 

2.1.2 – NMU Zone 
The use table in POMC 20.39.040 allows multi-family of 5+ units in Neighborhood Mixed Use 

(NMU) zones, but the apartment building type is not permitted in NMU. 

Allow the apartment building type in the NMU zone to correct the inconsistency. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 19 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.3 – Congregate Living Housing 
Streamline the standards for congregate living housing. This type of housing operates, also 

known as single-room occupancy (SRO), dorms, or hostels, provides a dignified housing option 

for people with the lowest incomes. This form of housing historically served as an invaluable 

affordable housing option, but these buildings were mostly zoned and demolished out of 

existence starting in the 1970’s.15 Conversions of existing buildings (such as aging hotels) may 

be more likely than new ground-up congregate living developments, but in either case the zoning 

code must be supportive for it to occur. 

Congregate living facilities are restricted, being a conditional use in almost every zone they are 

allowed. This use has supplemental standards inserted within the definition () that include: 

• Residents must have leases of at least 30 days 

• The use must be in a center and within one-quarter mile of transit service 

• The facility must have 24-hour resident management 

• The facility is prohibited from having medical care or social welfare services on-site (as 

this could categorize the use as permanent supportive housing, see Strategy 2.1.4 

below) 

Specific recommendations and considerations: 

• Providing land use standards within a definition is not best code practice. Move the 

standards to POMC 20.39.100. 

• Allow congregate living housing in some non-residential zones by-right, notably in the 

CMU zone.  

• Clarify the parking requirements. Section POMC 20.124.130 should be amended to 

clarify whether congregate living is considered a multifamily residential use, and if not, it 

should have a parking requirement of 0.5 spaces per bedroom/resident or less. Under 

Table 20.124.140, clarify the blank cell for congregate living by entering “none” (and for 

other uses with no parking requirements). See Strategy 4.2.4 for related actions. 

• Amend the standards to allow more flexible lease arrangements by deleting “at a time” 

after “30 days.” This allows a minimum stay to still be required but avoids requiring that 

residents have monthlong leases. 

• Consider renaming uses. There is some confusion between “Congregate Living” and 

“Congregate Care”; the latter is differentiated by having on-site medical and/or social 

services for residents but it is undefined in code and regulated as a sub-use of “Group 

Living.” 

 

2.1.4 – Adult Family Homes 
New state legislation passed in 2020, RCW 70.128.066, provides a way for adult family homes 

to have seven or eight beds. The standards and definition under POMC 20.39.100(10) should be 

updated accordingly.  

 
15 “The Hotel-Spirit.” Slate. July 2022. https://slate.com/business/2022/07/hotels-rental-market-housing-prices-

shortage-solution.html 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=70.128.066
https://slate.com/business/2022/07/hotels-rental-market-housing-prices-shortage-solution.html
https://slate.com/business/2022/07/hotels-rental-market-housing-prices-shortage-solution.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 20 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.5 – Supportive Housing 
Under RCW 35A.21.430 (2021), Washington cities may not prohibit permanent supportive 

housing or transitional housing in areas where multifamily housing or hotels are permitted 

(other parts of state law define “multifamily” as four or more units). This supersedes a similar 

2019 law, RCW 35A.21.305. Similarly, emergency shelter and emergency housing may not be 

prohibited in any zones in which hotels are allowed.  

Port Orchard is mostly in compliance, except emergency shelter and emergency housing must 

also be allowed in the GMU zone, where hotels are allowed. 

Consider providing definitions which reference state law:  

• Emergency housing: RCW 36.70A.030 

• Emergency shelter: RCW 36.70A.030 

• Permanent supportive housing: RCW 36.70A.030 

• Transitional housing: RCW 84.36.043 

 

Some jurisdictions require operational plans and information-sharing on supportive housing 

uses. For example, the City of Bellevue requires registration information from applicants prior to 

certificate of occupancy with the following information (and it must be updated when it 

changes):16 

• Name and contact information of property manager(s) and/or owner(s) who may be 

contacted in case of emergency or code violations 

• Name and contact information for on-site facility staff (if applicable) 

• Standard operating procedures plan for the facility, including: 

o The number of residents intended to be housed in the facility 

o A description of the supportive services provided to the residents of the facility, 

on site and off site, including names and contact information of service providers 

• A safety and security plan describing measures that the operator will employ to promote 

the safety of Supportive Housing occupants and surrounding residents; and 

• A code of conduct that applies to all individuals granted access to the proposed 

Supportive Housing use. 

Seattle has more limited requirements. The code offers a number of waivers and modifications 

for parking and design standards that are reviewed administratively. A community relations plan 

is required.17 

  

 
16 Bellevue Municipal Code LUC 20.20.845.E.2, https://bellevue.municipal.codes/LUC/20.20.845.E.2 
17 Seattle Municipal Code 23.42.057, 

https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH
23.42GEUSPR_23.42.057PESUHO 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430
https://bellevue.municipal.codes/LUC/20.20.845.E.2
https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR_23.42.057PESUHO
https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR_23.42.057PESUHO


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 21 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.6 – Tiny Homes 
Consider defining and permitting tiny homes in as another relatively affordable housing option 

but doing so in a limited number of lower intensity zones, such as R1 and R2 zones. Because 

tiny homes are uncommon or unknown in Port Orchard, the City could potentially create a pilot 

program that allows limited construction on one or two sites in partnerships with the property 

owners (such as at a religious facility).  

There are currently several building code limitations that the City would have to address to 

make tiny homes viable to build. Other regulatory considerations and potential categories of tiny 

homes are shown in the following table. 

 

Tiny Home 

Type Considerations Photo Example 

Permanent 

ADU 

When a permanent tiny home is placed on a lot with 

a principal structure, treat the tiny home as any 

other type of detached ADU. Such homes must be 

on permanent foundations with all required utility 

connections. 

 

 

 

Permanent 

cluster 

When more than one permanent tiny home is placed 

on a lot, apply permanent tiny home cluster 

standards. Such homes must be on permanent 

foundations with all required utility connections. 

Consider density provisions, such as limiting tiny 

homes to 250-300 400 square feet of floor area and 

counting each home as one-fifth of a dwelling unity 

for density purposes. Consider providing basic 

design standards similar to cottage housing. 

Explore reasonable parking requirements that 

balance affordability with neighborhood integration; 

consider one space per two or three tiny homes as a 

starting point. Do not allow tiny homes to be used 

for short-term rentals. Consider whether tiny homes 

should be able to use a unit lot subdivision to create 

homeownership opportunities. See some example 

standards from Langley.18 

 

Consider limiting permanent clusters to lower 

intensity residential zones such as R1 and R2. 

 
18 Langley Municipal Code 18.22.290. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Langley/#!/Langley18/Langley1822.html#18.22.290 

 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Langley/#!/Langley18/Langley1822.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 22 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Tiny Home 

Type Considerations Photo Example 

Mobile When a tiny home is on wheels, apply the same 

standards for parking, sanitation, and other 

provisions that the City would apply to recreational 

vehicles. Allow mobile tiny homes to transition to 

permanent status. 

 
Temporary 

transitional 

housing 

Create standards for temporary tiny homes intended 

as transitional housing for homeless residents. 

These would primarily be intended for location on 

vacant land and parking lots and focused on 

religiously-owned land and commercial areas with 

transit access. Consider standards such as the 

maximum number of tiny homes in one location, 

community structures allowed, and required 

sanitation services. Discussions with potential 

operators of tiny home villages are recommended, 

such as the Low Income Housing Institute. Seattle’s 

standards for “transitional encampments” could 

also be consulted.19 

 

Figure 11. Tiny home options 

 

  

 
19 Seattle Municipal Code 23.42.054 and 23.42.056. 

https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH
23.42GEUSPR 

 

https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR
https://library.municode.com/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT23LAUSCO_SUBTITLE_IIILAUSRE_CH23.42GEUSPR


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 23 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.1.7 – Backyard Cottages and Accessory Dwelling Units 
New state law in 2023 (under House Bill 1337) preempts some types of accessory dwelling unit 

(ADU) regulations by cities. The Growth Management Act is amended to preempt local ADU 

regulations which conflict with the following: 

• Cities must adopt at least three of these four options: 

o No requirement for off-street parking 

o No requirement for property owner occupancy 

o No limitations of less than two ADUs per lot 

o Limiting ADU impact fees to no more 50% of the fees for princpal units.20  

• In addition, cities must allow ADUs to contain at least 1,000 square feet in floor area and 

for detatched ADUs to be at least 24 feet tall 

• Cities may not impose setbacks, lot coverage limits, tree rention requirements, 

restrictions on entry door locations, or other design standards which are more restrictive 

than for principal units 

• ADUs cannot be restricted from being sold as a condominimum unit 

• No restrictive covenants or deeds may prohibit ADUs after the effective date of the bill 

 

Port Orchard must make the following code changes within six months after the adoption of the 

2024 Comprehensive Plan. Public health, safety, building code, and environmental permitting 

requirements may continue to apply to ADUs. 

Building Type Standards 

These standards under POMC 20.32.030 govern the design of backyard cottages (detached 

ADUs). 

• Under subsection (3)(i), the option for backyard cottages to be limited to 40 percent of 

the total square footage of the primary dwelling must be removed 

• Under subsection (4), the maximum number of backyard cottages allowed per lot must 

be increased to at least two; alternatively, the City can adopt reductions to its impact 

fees so that the maximum fee for an ADU is no more than 50% of the fees that would be 

applicable to the principal unit. See also new state law requirements under Strategy 5.2. 

 

ADU Standards – General Requirements 

These standards under POMC 20.68.100 govern the general approval criteria for ADUs. 

• Under subsection (2), the maximum number of ADUs allowed per lot must be increased 

to at least two; alternatively, the City can adopt reductions to its impact fees so that the 

maximum fee for an ADU is no more than 50% of the fees that would be applicable to 

the principal unit 

 
20 The city is currently compliant with the 2 of 4 requirements because there is no off-street parking requirement, and 

no requirement for owner occupancy. Except for school impact fees, the city’s park and transportation impact fee 
structures are also compliant. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 24 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• The City may wish to add a new subsection clearly stating that ADUs may be created 

from existing structures, including but not limited to detached garages, even if said 

structure violates current code requirements for setbacks or lot coverage 

• The City may wish to add a new subsection clearly stating the ADUs may be sold or 

conveyed as a condominium unit independently of the principal unit 

• The City may wish to add a new subsection clearly stating that ADUs do not trigger any 

requirements for public street improvements as a condition of permitting. 

ADU Standards – Bulk, Location, and Design 

These standards under POMC 20.68.110 govern additional design requirements for ADUs. 

• Under subsection (1), detached ADUs must be allowed in at least the NMU and BPMU 

zones where single-family detached houses are also allowed 

• Under subsection (3), the option for backyard cottages to be limited to 40 percent of the 

total square footage of the primary dwelling must be removed 

• Under subsections (7) and (9), the restrictions on the placement of entry doors for ADUs 

must be removed 

 

Zoning Standards 

Chapters 20.34 and 20.35 POMC govern lot standards for backyard cottages. Where they are 

allowed, the primary street setback for detached ADUs must match the same setback for 

principal buildings or be removed (note that POMC 20.68.110(5) already requires that detached 

ADUs be located in rear yards, which is a permissible requirement under state law).  

Similarly, the minimum lot size for a backyard cottage must match the same size for detached 

houses (applicable in the NMU and BPMU zones). 

The rear setback for a detached ADU abutting an alley must be zero feet. 

Subdivision Standards 

The City may wish to add a new subsection in its subdivision regulations clearly stating that no 

new restrictive covenants or deeds may prohibit ADUs. Other protections can also be added, 

such as not allowing the development of ADUs to trigger requirements for private street 

improvements, not allowing restrictions on renter occupation, and not allowing restrictions on 

the development of other building types and land uses permitted by City zoning.21 

See related recommendations for middle housing in Strategy 2.4.10. 

 

  

 
21 Example of City preemptions of homeowner associations from Ridgefield, WA: RMC 18.401.140.C. 

https://library.municode.com/wa/ridgefield/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CO_TIT18DECO_CH18.401PLUND
E_18.401.140HOAS 

 

https://library.municode.com/wa/ridgefield/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CO_TIT18DECO_CH18.401PLUNDE_18.401.140HOAS
https://library.municode.com/wa/ridgefield/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CO_TIT18DECO_CH18.401PLUNDE_18.401.140HOAS


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 25 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.2 – Streamline the Building Types 
The permitted building types are unique additional 

layer of form-based regulation. Some stakeholders 

identified code interpretations and comprehension 

as a barrier to middle housing development. This 

may be driving most builders and developers to 

follow the path of least resistance and continuing to 

produce what they know best, which are detached 

single-family homes and garden apartments. 

Reducing the complexity of the middle housing building types is a strategy to increase their 

chances of being produced.  

The simplest approach would be removing building types and consolidating their standards 

elsewhere (such as POMC Chapter 20.39, Article II Residential Uses). Short of that, this section 

suggests modifications to reduce duplication and streamline the building type standards. 

2.2.1 – Adjust Cottage Court Standards 
Under POMC 20.32.040, the minimum site size for a cottage court development is 22,500 

square feet and an additional 4,500 square feet is needed per unit when there are six or more 

cottages. These standards apply regardless of the location, and have an unclear relationship to 

the separate minimum unit lot area of 1,200 square feet. Stakeholders have identified the 

minimum site size standards as a challenge, and it is unique among cottage housing standards 

in the region. Consider the following changes to provide flexibility. 

Remove or reduce the minimum site size. Building footprints, setbacks, parking, and required 

open space largely dictate how much land area is needed for a cottage court. The preferred 

approach is to remove the minimum site size standard. If the standard remains necessary, 

consider 12,000 square feet for standard front-loaded lots and 10,000 square feet for lots with 

alley access. 

Reduce the minimum number of cottages from five to four. A minimum of four cottages is 

standard among other codes in the region. This provides greater flexibility for cottage court 

design on smaller sites. 

Adjust the minimum courtyard size standards. The minimum courtyard area is 3,000 square 

feet (minimum width 40 feet) with an extra 600 square feet per unit required when there are six 

or more cottages. This should be replaced by a simpler approach which requires a minimum of 

400 square feet of common courtyard space per cottage cluster regardless of number of units, 

and with minimum dimensions of 15-20 feet. These dimensions are more common across the 

region and have been shown to provide adequate levels of open space in built projects. 

Allow duplex cottages in all zones where cottage courts are allowed to enable more efficient 

use of land and materials. This may require a clear statement in the code, since duplex cottages 

are generally impractical currently with thea maximum building footprint of 1,200 square feet.  

  

In the HAP Housing Survey, 51% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Streamline zoning standards to 

encourage more "middle housing" like 

attached duplexes, triplexes, and 

townhomes.” 25% were not sure or need 

more information, and 11% were opposed. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2032.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 26 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.2.2 – Consolidate Duplex Types and Standards 
Of the approximately 2,200 units built in Port Orchard over the past decade (2012-2022), a total 

of ten units (0.4%) were in duplex buildings. While the building type standards are relatively new 

(adopted in 2019), it is possible that complex regulations are one reason duplexes are not being 

produced in greater numbers. It is recommended to simplify the duplex standards. 

Consolidate the building types “Duplex: Side-by-Side” and “Duplex: Back-to-Back” into one 

type called “Duplex.”  

The land use term “duplex” could replace “Two-family” in Chapter 20.39 POMC to provide 

consistency in naming. Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot 

size and width standards.  

The type “Attached House” could remain if there is a desire to clearly distinguish this option for 

fee-simple ownership. However, from a design standpoint, a duplex on one lot and a duplex on 

two lots can have the same appearance. An option to further consolidate “Attached House” 

could be to provide a building type definition that addresses all forms of duplexes. Example: 

Definition. A building type that accommodates two dwelling units sharing a common wall and 

arranged side-to-side, front-to-back, or top-to-bottom. Duplex units may be placed on a single lot or 

two separate units; units intended homeownership may require a subdivision, short subdivision, or 

condominium. 

Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot size and width standards. 

2.2.3 – Rename the Fourplex Type 
Rename the Fourplex building type to Triplex/Fourplex. This type is described as allowing 3-4 

units, but its misleading name and may cause some code users to conclude triplex buildings are 

not allowed. Triplexes should be promoted similarly to duplexes as a middle housing option. 

2.2.4 – Adjust Townhouse Type Standards 
Remove the minimum site size and width and let other zoning standards and market factors 

dictate the land area needed for townhouse development. While 5,000 square feet is a small site 

to begin with, this would remove duplication in code and would improve flexibility in where and 

how townhouse units can be developed. Standards for open space, parking, setbacks, and 

landscaping would continue to apply and influence required land area and how townhouses are 

placed on a site. Also see related lot size and width suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1.  

Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot size and width standards. 

2.2.5 – Consolidate the Live-Work Type 
Live-work has limited feasibility outside of the strongest urban markets and could be de-

emphasized in the code. It is relatively uncommon since a small number of households are self-

employed in businesses which can also be in their home in a separate space (excluding 

standard office work-from-home setups). Additionally, live-work units are often expensive since 

they need to be relatively large to accommodate the workspace. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 27 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

There is an opportunity to retain the live-work standards while streamlining the code; current 

code illustrations and the limitation of “six units in a row” indicate live-work is intended to be 

integrated into townhouse-style buildings.  

Amend the Townhouse building type section to note where standards differ for Live-Work 

configurations. The separate site area and width standards for Live-Work are proposed to be 

removed. Notations could also be added to explain Townhouses are allowed in the DMU, CC, 

and IF zones only if the development includes space designed for live-work use. 

 

Minimum ground floor 

standards  

Building Type Height Transparency Unit width 

Townhouse 

Townhouse w/ Live-Work 

None 

12 feet 

20% 

20% 

20 feet min. 

15 feet min. and 30 feet max. 

Live-Work 12 feet 20% 15 feet min. and 30 feet max. 

 

A related option is to allow or encourage the Apartment building type to be designed with 

ground floor units that are convertible and usable as commercial space. One option to 

incentivize this may be providing a height bonus for such designs. 

Also see related suggestions in Strategy 2.3.1 regarding minimum lot size and width standards. 

2.2.6 – Adjust Shopfront House Standards 
This building type requires a minimum of two dwellings per lot and a maximum of two dwellings 

per lot, providing no flexibility in configuration options. It appears no developments have 

employed this building type. More design options should be allowed. 

Allow a range of 2-4 units per lot with this building type. 

2.2.7 – Building Height 
All of the building types in Chapter 20.32 POMC have a maximum building height specified, but 

this standard is either duplicated or overridden by zone-specific maximum building heights in 

Chapters 20.34 and 20.35 POMC. Maximum building height is a critical and sensitive zoning 

tool, so it should have clear and consistent standards across the code. A unique case is 

backyard cottages and cottage courts which are intended to be small. 

Remove the maximum building height from all building types, except for backyard cottages 

and cottage courts. Regulate accessory structure height limits in the zoning chapters. 

2.2.8 – Minimum Private Useable Open Space 
Integrating multiple dwelling units onto relatively small lots requires careful planning to 

integrate the buildings, access and parking, and usable open space in a way which works for the 

site residents and the neighborhood. The Design Standards in Chapter 20.127 POMC require 

usable open space for multifamily uses but not middle housing types.  

Coupled with Strategy 2.3.1 for relaxing minimum lot size standards, it is recommended to add 

requirements for minimum private usable open space for duplexes (multiple types), 

triplexes/fourplexes, townhouses, and shopfront houses. Specific recommend standards: 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 28 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Minimum private usable open space per unit: 300 square feet (50% of the required 

usable open space may be satisfied through a rooftop patio or balcony) 

• Minimum dimensions: 10 feet for each unit, except 6 feet for rooftop patio or balcony. 

• Spaces shared between two or three units are permitted, provided the shared open 

space dimension is 15 feet and the space is located adjacent to each unit. For 

townhouses with four or more units, shared open spaces must comply with 

20.127.350(2)(b), On-site open space. 

• The front yard may be used as private usable open space, provided a low fence (between 

16” and 48”) demarcates the space 

• Private usable open space cannot be parked or driven on, except for emergency access 

 

2.2.9 – Ground Floor Elevation 
Nearly all of the building types require a minimum ground floor elevation of two feet. This adds 

significant cost to construction by requiring a taller foundation and the addition of ramps for 

ADA wheelchair access on buildings with four or more units.  

The purpose behind this type of standard is usually to promote a transition between the public 

and private realms and improve security and privacy for ground-floor residents. This is already 

addressed by the block frontage standards under POMC 20.127.230, which requires a 

combination of setbacks and/or raised elevation for ground floor residential units, depending on 

the context. The block frontage standards apply to all building types except single-family and 

duplexes. 

Recommendation: Apply this standard only to detached houses and duplex types, and reduce 

the minimum elevation from two feet to 16 inches. 

2.2.10 – Blank Walls 
Blank walls are regulated in the design standards in POMC 20.127.460, which applies to 

commercial uses and multifamily uses with five or more units. To reduce duplication or 

conflicts, the blank wall standards can be removed for at least the apartment, single-story 

shopfront, mixed use shopfront, and general building types. For the smaller building types where 

blank walls are regulated, consider applying a standard consistent with POMC 20.127.460. 

2.2.11 – Transparency 
POMC 20.139.025(3) provides transparency standards for detached houses, cottage courts, 

duplex types, and townhouses. The minimum transparency standard of 8% should be moved to 

the building types in Chapter 20.32 POMC for consistency, where other building types like 

fourplexes and apartments have transparency standards listed. The measurement method of 

transparency could be retained in Chapter 20.139.  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20127.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20127.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20139.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 29 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.3 – Adjust Form & Intensity Standards 
Action: Adjust the form and intensity (dimensional) standards to improve the physical 

and economic feasibility of building small homes, multifamily housing, and affordable 

housing. 

Following public interest and an analysis of the 

situation by the consultant team, some changes to 

dimensional standards are proposed.  

2.3.1 – Adjust Minimum Lot Dimensions 
Consider relaxing the minimum lot size and width 

provisions for “middle” housing/building types to 

reduce barriers to those housing/building types. 

Such action should occur in concert with requiring a 

minimum amount of private usable open space (see Strategy 2.4.2). Specific recommendations: 

R2 zone: 

• Retain the current minimum lot dimensions for detached houses 

• For cottage courts, see Strategy 2.2.1 for updated suggestions for minimum site area 

• Exempt other “middle” building types from both minimum lot area and width standards. 

This includes duplexes (all types), attached houses, triplexes/fourplexes, and 

townhouses. 

 

R3 zone: 

• Retain the current minimum lot dimensions for detached houses 

• For cottage courts, see Strategy 2.2.1 for updated suggestions for minimum site area. 

• Exempt other “middle” building types from both minimum lot area and width standards. 

This includes backyard cottages, duplexes (both types), attached houses, fourplexes, 

and townhouses. 

• For apartments, reduce the current 10,000 square foot lot size minimum to 7,000 square 

feet, with the option for 5,000 square foot lots where alley access is available. Reduce 

minimum lot width from 80 feet to 70 feet, with the option for 50-foot wide lots where 

alley access is available. 

 

R4 zone: 

• Consider eliminating lot dimension standards entirely, particularly as detached houses 

are not allowed and there are enough other standards in place to help ensure that the 

form and intensity of development meets community objectives. 

 

R5 zone: 

• If not eliminating this zone (see Strategy 2.1.6), consider eliminating lot dimension 

standards entirely for same reasons as in R4 zone noted above. 

 

 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 51% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Streamline zoning standards to 

encourage more "middle housing" like 

attached duplexes, triplexes, and 

townhomes.” 25% were not sure or need 

more information, and 11% were opposed. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 30 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

R6 zone: 

• Retain the current 4,000 square foot minimum lot size and 40-feet lot width for a 

detached house, but exempt other “middle” building types from both minimum lot area 

and width standards. This includes duplexes (both types), attached houses, 

triplexes/fourplexes, and townhouses. 

 

Commercial and mixed-use zones: 

• Retain any existing minimum lot size and width provisions for detached house, but 

eliminate such standards for all other building types to maximize flexibility. This includes 

the McCormick Village Overlay District. Many standards are in place to help ensure that 

such building types are integrated in a compatible manner. 

 

2.3.2 – Adjust Height Limits and Add Affordable Housing Bonuses 
The City should consider building height limit increases to increase the economic feasibility of 

multifamily and mixed-use development. Constrained height regulations have a large negative 

impact on housing affordability, particularly in urbanizing areas with increasing land prices such 

as Port Orchard.22  

Several of the zones where Port Orchard allows 

multifamily housing and mixed-use development 

have relatively low height limits in the 35-45 feet 

range, which creates feasibility challenges for light 

wood frame construction (the most common 

material for multifamily buildings in the Puget 

Sound region). Construction costs per square foot 

for wood buildings between three and seven stories 

are relatively constant, regardless of building 

height.23 Another key cost item is elevators, which cost at least $100,000 each and are required 

for buildings four stories and taller.  

Allowing more height enables developments to create additional dwelling units that help spread 

out of the cost of construction. The economic benefits of light wood frame construction are 

maximized with height limits in the 65-85 feet range; taller structures in this range are often a 

hybrid with the lower floors being built of concrete and include structured parking. Also note 

that many jurisdictions assume residential floor-to-floor heights are 10 feet, but 11-12 feet is 

oftentimes preferred by designers and builders for accommodating mechanical systems and 

energy code ventilation requirements, especially for taller buildings. Commercial ground floors 

are often desired to be 15-20 feet tall. 

The cost and risk of developing mixed-use structures and leasing ground-floor commercial 

space typically can be offset by a higher amount of residential floor area. Since the COVID-19 

 
22 Eriksen, & Orlando, A. W. (2022). Returns to Scale in Residential Construction: The Marginal Impact of Building 

Height. Real Estate Economics, 50(2), 534–564. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6229.12357 
23 Ibid. 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 58% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Modest increase in building height 

limits (1-2 floors) in multifamily and/or 

commercial areas.” 27% were not sure or 

need more information, and 15% were 

opposed. 

https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6229.12357


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 31 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

pandemic, developers are indicating increased risk associated with commercial development 

due to continued uncertainty about the retail and particularly office markets. This further 

increases the attractiveness of developments with a higher share of residential floor area. 

Port Orchard allows height increases through the use of a transfer-of-development-rights (TDR) 

ordinance adopted in 2019 in partnership with Kitsap County (Chapter 20.41 POMC). TDR 

programs facilitate the exchange of zoned dwelling units from incorporated resource lands to 

eligible “receiving sites” in the city limits. TDR programs are complex and require savvy 

participants and willing rural landowners to participate. No project has yet used Port Orchard’s 

TDR program, and other Washington jurisdictions have found it difficult to attract participants to 

TDR programs outside of the highest-priced markets like Seattle and King County. The proposed 

height changes below would decrease the attractiveness of Port Orchard’s TDR program with 

the tradeoff of incentivizing affordable (subsidized) housing. However, TDR would continue to 

be the only way to achieve the tallest allowed buildings in certain locations (up to eight stories 

or 88 feet). 

Increased height limits and potentially larger buildings will be mitigated by the broad set of 

multifamily and commercial design standards Port Orchard already has in place. These include 

standards to provide high-quality building massing, light and air access, useable open space, 

attractive materials, windows and entries, and other provisions. 

The table below shows recommend height increases to explore in Port Orchard’s key 

multifamily and commercial zones. These include modest changes to base height limits (up to 

one floor).  

In addition, new bonus height limits allowing up to an additional two floors are proposed for 

developments participating in the City’s multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) program, 

incentivizing greater production of multifamily housing in general and also affordable 

(subsidized) housing. The MFTE bonus should be limited to the Type 1, 12-year affordability 

program, and it could be expanded to the 20-year affordability program if the City adopts one. 

See other recommendations for the MFTE program in Strategy 5.1.1. 

Zone 

Current Base 

Height Limit 

Proposed Base 

Height Limit 

Proposed Bonus Height Limit 

with 12 or 20 Year MFTE 

Participation 

R3 35 45 55 

R4 45 -- 55 

R5 (if zone is not deleted per strategy 2.1.1) 55 -- 65 

Commercial Corridor (CC) 35 45 65 

Commercial Mixed Use (CMU) 40 55 75 

Neighborhood Mixed Use (NMU) 35 45 55 

Business Professional Mixed Use (BPMU) 40 55 -- 

Ruby Creek Overlay District 55 -- 65 

Figure 12. Recommended height limits 

 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2041.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 32 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.3.3 – Minimum Residential Density 
Comprehensive Plan policies LU-11, HS-9, and HS-16 call for minimum residential densities at 

least in centers. In addition, any locations where a multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 12-year 

and 20-year program is available must allow at least 15 units per acre. Development at 15 units 

per acre is also the rough threshold where fixed-route transit service becomes more 

sustainable. Minimum density standards can help provide consistency with state law and a level 

of expectation to leverage public infrastructure investments and maximize the efficiency of land 

where compact and walkable development is desired. 

In order to reduce complications for small infill 

development and promote economies of scale, the 

minimum density requirement could apply only to 

new development on sites above a certain site size 

such as a ¼ acre or ½ net acre; a “net acre” could 

use the same measurement as applied in the MFTE 

chapter, which is defined to exclude critical areas 

and buffer, and other land that is undevelopable 

such as shoreline buffers and tidelands.  

Another option is to apply the standard only to sites within designated centers, where the City is 

seeking to direct growth most intensely.  

Based on public feedback and where the MFTE program typically applies, a limited number of 

zones is proposed to have a minimum residential standard. 

Zone 

Proposed Minimum 

Residential Density 

(dwelling units/gross acre) 

Apply only to sites above a certain size as a ¼ or ½ net acre 

R3 12 

R4 15 

R5  (if zone is not deleted per strategy 2.1.2) 15 

CC 20 

CMU 25 

GMU 25 

DMU 25 

Figure 13. Recommended minimum density standards 

 

 

 

 

 

  

In the HAP Housing Survey, 47% of 

respondents reported they are supportive 

of “Enact a minimum density requirement 

in one or more zones, to encourage a 

greater variety of home types in new 

subdivisions.” 51% were not sure or need 

more information, and 11% were opposed. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 33 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.3.4 – Religiously-Owned Land Density Bonus 
Under state law RCW 35A.63.300 (2019), upon request from a religious organization, cities 

planning under the GMA must allow an increased density bonus on such properties consistent 

with local needs for affordable housing development. The density bonus must be contingent 

upon the religious organization’s land being used for housing occupied exclusively by low-

income households for at least 50 years. The density bonus can be used for any type of 

housing, ranging from single-family to multifamily. 

Port Orchard is home to a number of churches. Most are on properties ranging from 0.5 to 5 

acres and are located in residential or mixed-use neighborhoods. They are mostly zoned Civic 

and Institutional, which does not allow any types of residential uses. The state requirements 

could be implemented in several ways, such as an update to underlying zoning, creation of a 

new overlay zone, or development agreements. 

Development agreements are preferred option since use of this bonus could be relatively rare. 

Port Orchard should consider adding a religiously-owned affordable housing policy in the 

Comprehensive Plan that allows religious organizations to partner with the city to develop 

affordable housing through a development agreement. The policy could stipulate a minimum 

density, such as 30 dwelling units per net acre. Port Orchard can also begin proactively reaching 

out to religious organizations to see if they are interested in developing affordable housing on 

their properties (this could be a role of the Housing Coordinator staff position described in 

Strategy 3.3). 

  

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.63.300


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 34 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.4 – Adjust Other Standards 
Action: Adjust other development regulations to help reduce barriers to housing 

production. 

A miscellaneous set of other standards can be updated to streamline the development 

regulations and potentially reduce construction costs. 

2.4.1 – Residential Design Standards 
Chapter 20.139 POMC provides some supplemental design standards to the building types 

including for driveways, architectural details and variety, roof design, and walls fences. Some 

minor adjustments are recommended to improve the function of these standards. 

• The building type standards (Chapter 20.32 POMC) should have additional cross-

references to the residential design standards for ease of code use 

• The duplex garage configuration standards in section 20.139.015 will need to be 

consolidated consistent with Strategy 2.2.2. It is recommended to use the 40-feet lot 

width threshold for all configurations. 

• The transparency standards in subsection 20.139.025(3) for some building types should 

be placed in the building type standards for consistency (also see Strategy 2.2.11) 

• The minimum 4:12 roof pitch in subsection 20.139.045(2) for detached houses and 

duplexes prevents modern architectural styles with flat roofs and roof decks (particularly 

on small infill lots) and creates a de facto prohibition on typical manufactured homes. 

The first sentence of the standard could be deleted, and the roof elements standard 

could continue but remove the word “pitched.” 

• Section 20.139.055 for duplexes has repetitive driveway standards and conflicting 

transparency standards from other sections in the chapter, which should be resolved. 

Further, the allowed porch projection standard in subsection (2) is duplicative of POMC 

20.122.060 

 

 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20139.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 35 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.4.2 – Significant Tree Standards 
There is a long history of protecting significant trees in Port Orchard. Significant trees provide 

numerous benefits to the environment, climate resiliency, livability, and aesthetic qualities in 

Port Orchard but can also make the development of affordable housing more challenging.  

The current standards of Chapter POMC 20.129 can reduce housing capacity on individual sites 

and can also result in unsafe situations where a lone remaining significant tree is exposed to 

wind and erosion subsequent to development. In addition, under House Bill 1110 middle 

housing cannot have stricter design and development standards than detached homes. 

Currently detached homes are exempt from the requirement to prepare a significant tree 

retention plan (but they must comply with other significant tree standards). An architect’s 

analysis of similar proposed tree preservation standards in Seattle found that tree retention 

plans can add tens of thousands of dollars in soft costs and government staff costs.24 

The City should eExplore alternative approaches for tree standards which are easier to 

administer and have less impact on soft costs and housing capacity. One option is not focusing 

on individual trees and instead requiring a minimum tree canopy coverage at the time of tree 

species maturity (allowing both newly planted and existing trees to contribute). This is similar to 

the method Port Orchard applies to the McCormick Village Overlay District, where many trees 

are being removed to make way for new development, under POMC 20.38.280. 

Recommendation: The City should weigh the benefits and costs of its significant tree code. In 

the near-term, exempt middle housing developments or mixed housing developments 

containing a significant number of middle housing types (all types of duplexes, cottage housing, 

townhouses, and triplexes/fourplexes) from the requirement to prepare a significant tree 

retention plan. 

2.4.3 – Family Definition 
Amend the definition of “family” under POMC 20.12.010 to be consistent with state law RCW 

35A.21.314 (2021). Cities may not regulate or limit the number of unrelated persons that may 

occupy a household or dwelling unit. A simple approach is shown below. 

“Family” means any number of persons related by blood, marriage or legal adoption and including 

foster children and exchange students living together as a single housekeeping unit. “Family” also 

means the following when living together as a single, not-for-profit housekeeping unit: 

(1) A group of not more than four related and unrelated adults and their related minor children, but 

not to exceed a total of eight related and unrelated persons; or 

… 

 

  

 
24 “Does Money Grow on Trees?” Neiman Taber Architects. April 2023. 

http://neimanarchitects.blogspot.com/2023/04/does-money-grows-on-trees.html 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/html/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20129.html
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2038.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2012.html
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.314
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.314
http://neimanarchitects.blogspot.com/2023/04/does-money-grows-on-trees.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 36 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

2.4.4 – Elevator Penthouse 
As more multifamily and mixed-use housing is built in Port Orchard, details like elevator design 

are important factors for livability and functionality. Ten-feet tall elevator cabs are desirable for 

residents to move the largest pieces of furniture which cannot fit through stairwells. Also 

popular are elevator-accessible roof decks that help meet developments meet residential open 

space requirements. 

However, these two features are difficult to combine due to the limitations of POMC 

20.40.050(2)(c)(i). This subsection limits structures screening elevators to 10 feet in height 

where the elevator is accessing a roof deck.  

Elevator technology is evolving. Over the past decade the “Machine Room-Less” elevator has 

become a cost-effective option for buildings over four stories tall and it avoids the 

environmental impacts of hydraulic piston designs which penetrate deep into the ground below 

the building (a technology which was previously typical for buildings up to eight stories). The 

Machine Room-Less design uses a hoistway and mounts mechanical equipment on top of the 

cab, which increases the overrun above the roof level beyond that assumed by the code. 

Recommendation: To achieve a 10-feet interior cab dimension and accounting for the assembly 

of the penthouse structure, it is recommended to increase the code allowance to 17 feet. 

2.4.5 – Parking Lot Landscaping 
Under POMC 20.128.070(3), reduce and simplify minimum planting area widths to allow more 

efficient use of land. This is critical for smaller lots where infill multifamily and townhouse 

development may occur, but still meet the purpose of parking lot landscaping. 

Consider reducing the minimum width of landscaping along public streets to 7.5 feet regardless 

of the block frontage designation, and to five feet along internal lot lines. 

Also, consider making parking lot landscaping its own code section so it is easier to find in 

tables of contents and because it is frequently used. For example, convert subsection (3) to new 

20.128.075. 

2.4.6 – Service Areas and Mechanical Equipment 
Under POMC 20.127.360, some minor clarifications can be made about applicability to offer 

some more flexibility. 

Subsection (2) currently acts as a title but could be expanded with examples to replace the 

parenthetical in subsection (2)(a), to read: “(2). Location of ground related service areas and 

mechanical equipment. Ground-level building service areas and mechanical equipment includes 

loading docks, trash collection and compactors, dumpster areas, storage tanks, electrical panels, 

HVAC equipment, and other utility equipment. If any such elements are outside the building at 

ground level, the following location standards apply:” 

Under subsection (3)(a)(iv), say collection points must be located and configured “to the extent 

practical” to help moderate construction costs in certain situations. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20128.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20127.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 37 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Under subsection (5)(b), consider removing the prohibition on perforated metal as a rooftop 

equipment screening material since it is cost effective and has a variety of design options. 

2.4.7 – Single-Stair Buildings 
New state law in 2023 (under Senate Bill 5491) provides model code language for cities to 

adopt the Seattle version of stairway regulations through July 2026. Up to two buildings per 

property may feature single-stairway designs. There are several conditions for fire safety, such 

as requiring minimum one-hour fire ratings, automatic sprinkler systems, maximum walking 

distances to exits, and minimum water flow capacity availability at the site. Certain group 

residential uses cannot be located in single-staircase buildings. By July 2026, the State Building 

Council will provide statewide standards for single-staircase buildings which local jurisdictions 

can choose to adopt. 

Recommendation: Examine updating Port Orchard’s locally-adopted version of the International 

Building Code (POMC 20.200.012) to allow single-stair multifamily buildings up to six stories 

where there are four or less units per floor. By default, the International Building Code limits this 

condition to three floors. Seattle has allowed it since 1977.25 This could be an opportunity to 

reduce construction costs and increase design flexibility for small apartment buildings on infill 

lots, especially in conjunction with height limits recommendations under Strategy 2.3.2. 

2.4.8 – Apply the International Residential Code to Middle Housing 
Examine updating Port Orchard’s locally-adopted version of the International Building Code 

(POMC 20.200.012) and the International Residential Code (POMC 20.200.014) to allow small 

residential structures with less than 5,000 square feet of floor area (e.g. triplexes, townhouses, 

and small multifamily buildings) to be designed and built under the less-strict provisions of the 

International Residential Code. Normally, structures with three or more units are considered 

commercial and fall under the International Building Code which requires fire sprinklers. In 

exchange, applicable structures would be required to have a higher 2-hour fire rating for wall 

and floor/ceiling assemblies. 

Since sprinklers can cost up to $15,000 per unit to install, this can help reduce the costs of 

attached middle housing while still ensuring fire safety. Other opportunities for streamlining 

include revisions to egress requirements in common spaces and allowing combined 

mechanical, electrical, and plumbing drawings.26 

Demonstrated success in at least one community (Memphis, TN) suggests the topic may be 

worth further discussion.27 Making a change for only three- or four-unit buildings may still 

provide cost benefits.  

In 2023, House Bill 1167 would have advanced this change statewide; it did not pass but will be 

on the docket for the 2024 session of the Washington Legislature. Port Orchard could be a 

 
25 “Second Egress: Building a Code Change”. https://secondegress.ca/Seattle 
26 “A Trailblazing Reform Supports Small-Scale Development in Memphis.” Strong Towns. January 2022. 

https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2022/1/26/a-trailblazing-reform-supports-small-scale-development-in-
memphis 

27 “Memphis, TN Amends Local Building Code to Allow up to Six Units Under Residential Building Code (IRC) to Enable 
Missing Middle Housing.” Opticos Design. January 2022. https://opticosdesign.com/blog/memphis-tn-amends-
local-building-code-to-allow-up-to-six-units-under-residential-building-code-irc-to-enable-missing-middle-housing/ 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5491&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1167&Year=2023
https://secondegress.ca/Seattle
https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2022/1/26/a-trailblazing-reform-supports-small-scale-development-in-memphis
https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2022/1/26/a-trailblazing-reform-supports-small-scale-development-in-memphis
https://opticosdesign.com/blog/memphis-tn-amends-local-building-code-to-allow-up-to-six-units-under-residential-building-code-irc-to-enable-missing-middle-housing/
https://opticosdesign.com/blog/memphis-tn-amends-local-building-code-to-allow-up-to-six-units-under-residential-building-code-irc-to-enable-missing-middle-housing/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 38 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

leader on this issue by working with legislators and coordinating with the design and 

development community on the best path forward, along with stakeholders such as building 

officials, the fire district, and others. 

2.4.9 – Create Standards for Unit Lot Subdivisions 
Senate Bill 5258, adopted in 2023 and 

codified in RCW 58.17.060, now requires 

all local jurisdictions to provide unit lot 

subdivision procedures for short plats (up 

to 9 lots). It is recommended that Port 

Orchard comply with this statue and also 

make the option available for regular plats 

(10 or more lots). Unit lot subdivisions 

follow the procedures for the underlying 

plat type. 

Unit lot subdivisions facilitate the 

development of homeownership options for middle housing like side-by-side duplexes, triplexes, 

and fourplexes, townhomes, and cottage housing. Zoning regulations such as setbacks and lot 

coverage are applied to the overall “parent parcel” existing before the subdivision, allowing the 

individual “unit lots” upon which dwelling units are placed to be arranged and sized in almost 

any configuration. Remaining pieces of the parent lot are owned in common or managed by a 

homeowners’ association. 

There is no template for unit lot subdivision provisions in Washington State, but many cities 

allow them. Examples of code language can be found in Anacortes, Everett, Port Angeles, and 

Wenatchee. 

2.4.10 – Prohibit Subdivision Covenants on Middle Housing 
New state law in 2023 under House Bill 1110 prohibits new restrictive covenants or deeds from 

prohibiting middle housing (defined as duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, fiveplexes, sixplexes, 

townhouses, stacked flats, courtyard apartments, and cottage housing). In other words, private 

agreements are not allowed to exercise zoning-like powers that are the domain of City 

government. Existing restrictive covenants or deeds are unaffected. 

It is recommended that Port Orchard update Title 20, Article V POMC to implement this 

restriction. Other protections can also be added, such as not allowing restrictions on renter 

occupation. See similar recommendations for ADU’s under Strategy 2.1.7. 

  

Figure 14. Diagram of the unit lot subdivision concept 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5258&Year=2023
https://anacortes.municipal.codes/AMC/19.32.050(D)
https://www.everettwa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/26672/Ch-1927-Unit-Lot-Subdivisions-11-4-20
https://library.municode.com/wa/port_angeles/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT16SU_CH16.09UNLOSU&showChanges=true
https://www.co.chelan.wa.us/files/community-development/codes/Wenatchee%20UGA/WenatcheeUGA_Subdivision_Title%2011_eff_11302021.pdf#page=38
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 39 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

3 – Programmatic Strategies 
In addition to regulatory considerations, this section discusses strategies which Port Orchard 

can consider for increasing housing opportunities through programs addressing displacement, 

tenant protections, and strategies for reducing homelessness.  

3.1 - Anti-Displacement Strategies 
Action: Adopt local tenant protections and consider other regulatory and 

programmatic anti-displacement actions to improve the stability of renter households. 

As discussed above in Section 1.4, exclusionary zoning practices have led to numerous facets 

of housing inequity across the U.S. Additionally, redevelopment programs implemented in 

earlier decades resulted in both intentional and unintentional displacement of lower-income 

residents and people of color in many communities. Therefore, strategies to mitigate or prevent 

displacement have gained much attention in recent years, and a variety of approaches have 

emerged. Overall, the effectiveness of anti-displacement strategies is highly neighborhood- and 

community-specific, and recent academic research has found decidedly mixed results of many 

approaches.28  

While most strategies have focused on minimizing displacement pressures, it should be noted 

that not all displacement is involuntary (there is always some movement in the housing market), 

and displacement can sometimes mean moving “up” to a higher opportunity neighborhood. 

Increasing housing production overall, including market-rate housing production, is an important 

tool to moderate price increases and therefore make housing more affordable to low and 

moderate income families and prevent displacement.29 This is particularly true in hot housing 

markets and if the new housing units are comprised of a variety of housing types. A study in 

California found that both market-rate and subsidized housing production reduced 

displacement rates in San Francisco, but subsidized housing production decreased 

displacement risk more significantly.30 The same study also found that the positive effects of 

production on displacement at a hyperlocal neighborhood scale may differ depending on the 

complex neighborhood context.  

One downside of increased production is the time it takes to build new housing, which can be 

lengthy not only for construction, but also design and permitting. The most comprehensive 

academic survey of anti-displacement strategies to date suggests that in addition to production, 

neighborhood stabilization and tenant protection policies have the most immediate impact on 

 
28 Chapple, Karen and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. “White Paper on Anti-Displacement Strategy Effectiveness.” 
Prepared for the California Air Resources Board, February 2021. 
29 Been, Vicki, Ingrid Gould and Katherine O’Regan. “Supply Skepticism: Housing Supply and Affordability.” New York 
University Furman Center, August 2018. 
30 Zuk, Miriam and Karen Chapple. “Research Brief. Housing Production, Filtering, and Displacement: Untangling the 
Relationships.” UC Berkeley Institute of Governmental Studies. May 2016. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 40 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

mitigating displacement.31 The following are suggestions for proactive policies that Port 

Orchard can adopt to further prevent displacement. 

A study from Common Good Labs analyzed data on thousands of U.S. neighborhoods over 15 

years (2000 to 2015) to understand how poverty is reduced without community displacement.32 

It found eight indicators that are associated with inclusion, increased prosperity, and decrease 

in poverty. Three of the indicators can be most directly affected by municipal policies, noted in 

the table below. 

Inclusion Indicator How Port Orchard Can Affect This Indicator 

Increased housing density Zoning standards that directly regulate the density of residential development. 

Higher rates of 

homeownership 

Zoning and subdivision standards that allow and encourage a greater variety of small 

and attached housing types (e.g., small single-family, cottages, townhomes, flats, 

condos). A New York Times report finds that the production of entry/starter homes 

has never been lower than today (particularly homes smaller than 1,400 square 

feet).33 

Presence of community 

organizations 

Financial and/or staffing support for community organizations.  

 

Zoning standards that provide low-cost commercial space and/or municipal facilities 

with space for community organizations to have offices, host events, run recreation 

and cultural programs, etc. 

Figure 15. Inclusion indicators 

3.1.1 – Local Tenant Protections 
Washington State sets the baseline for the landlord-tenant relationship through the State 

Residential Landlord-Tenant Act, RCW 59.18. Washington State regularly amends the Act as 

summarized in the HAP Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report. According to 

the Attorney General’s Office, there is no centralized enforcement mechanism for the RCW, and 

so it is incumbent upon landlords and tenants to either self-remedy violations, seek counseling 

or low-cost legal help from non-profit organizations, and/or resolve disputes through the courts. 

Local ordinances are enforced by the local 

jurisdiction. Cities are free to adopt additional or 

more stringent regulations than those provided by 

the state (with the exception of market-rate rent 

control), and numerous Washington communities 

have done so. Port Orchard has not enacted any 

local tenant protection ordinances.  

The King County Bar Association (KCBA) provides a 

model tenant protection ordinance within the 

framework of Washington State law. This is summarized in the table below.  

 
31 Chapple and Loukaitou-Sideris. 
32 “Reducing poverty without community displacement: Indicators of inclusive prosperity in U.S. neighborhoods.” 

Brookings. September 2022. https://www.brookings.edu/research/reducing-poverty-without-community-
displacement-indicators-of-inclusive-prosperity-in-u-s-neighborhoods/ 

33 “Whatever Happened to the Starter Home?” The New York Times. September 2022. 
https://www.nytimes.com/2022/09/25/upshot/starter-home-prices.html 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 54% of survey 

respondents are supportive of “Stronger 

renter protections such as more notice 

time for rent increases or options to 

manage move-in fees.” 18% were not sure 

or need more information and 29% were 

opposed. Note that renters represented 

about 16% of survey participants.  

https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=59.18
https://www.brookings.edu/research/reducing-poverty-without-community-displacement-indicators-of-inclusive-prosperity-in-u-s-neighborhoods/
https://www.brookings.edu/research/reducing-poverty-without-community-displacement-indicators-of-inclusive-prosperity-in-u-s-neighborhoods/
https://www.nytimes.com/2022/09/25/upshot/starter-home-prices.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 41 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Local Tenant Protection Option Other Considerations and Notes 

Rents and Payments  

Notice of monthly rent increases 90-180 

days before the effective date, with more 

notice required for larger increases 

The state law default is 60 days notice per RCW 59.18.140. Upon 

receipt of notice, allow tenants to terminate tenancy early without 

further payment except pro rata rent. 

No increase in rent allowed if the property 

is in poor condition 

Poor conditions means the dwelling unit has defective conditions 

making it unlivable, a request for repairs has not been completed, or 

the property is otherwise in violation of RCW 59.18.060. 

Increases over 10% of monthly rent over a 

12-month period requires landlord to pay 

relocation assistance for economically-

displaced tenants. 

The tenant must be notified this is an option in every rent increase 

notice regardless of the increase amount. The assistance can be 

valued in a number of ways – the KCBA model bases it on three 

times the monthly rent amount. Optionally, this tool could require 

relocation assistance for physical displacement as well (due to 

property renovations or demolition). 

Move-in fees capped at one month’s rent 

and require offer of installment plans 

Allow up to a six month installment plan which commences upon 

move-in. This helps lower income tenants manage move-in fees that 

can be many thousands of dollars. 

Caps on rent payment late fees  The KCBA approach is a cap of $10 per month and the tenant is not 

responsible for any legal fees or other services. 

Leases must allow rent to be paid on 

different days of the month 

This allows tenants to adjust the due date of rent payments if the 

tenant has a fixed income source (e.g. a paycheck lag after the first 

of the month or a social security payment). A landlord shall not 

refuse to lease to tenants who request this. 

Evictions and Discrimination  

Require cause to evict as specified in the 

lease agreement 

Only allow for evictions for: 1) failure to pay rent after receiving all 

notices required; 2) substantial breach of a non-monetary term of the 

lease and all steps to resolve it have failed within the time required; 

or 3) the landlord seeks to remove the unit from the market with 

honest intent (with 120 days notice). 

Banning discriminatory, deceptive, and 

unfair practices in the rental market 

Prohibits inquiries or verification requirements based on immigration 

or citizenship status, using social security numbers as a method of 

proving financial eligibility, and representing that a unit is not 

available when it is in fact available. Also prohibits requiring that a 

lease be signed by children and deceptive omissions and practices 

like confusing lease terms or taking advantage of a lack of 

understanding by tenants. 

Administration  

Rental unit registration and inspection 

programs 

The purpose of such programs is to ensure rental housing meets 

standard living conditions. Registration includes property address, 

contact information, list of rental units, and condition of the housing 

units. Fees may be imposed and re-registration is required with new 

ownership. 

Figure 16. Tenant protection options 

No particular set of tenant protections is recommended as part of this HAP. The Port Orchard 

community and decision makers are encouraged to use this “menu” of options as a basis for 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 42 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

continued discussion. Port Orchard can look to other communities like Burien and Kenmore that 

have adopted some of these protections. 34, 35, 36  

Longer rent increase notice time, move-in fee caps, and economic/physical relocation 

assistance are some of the strongest anti-displacement strategies available for low-income 

residents forced to move, giving them an opportunity to find new housing in the same 

community within a reasonable amount of time.  

Any new regulatory action would require some degree of effort, ranging from education and 

outreach to increased staffing and resources for monitoring and enforcement. Regulatory 

action could also be considered at the regional level to provide consistency for landlords and 

property management companies working across multiple Kitsap County jurisdictions. 

3.1.2 - Other Anti-Displacement Strategies 
Strategic Acquisition of Existing Multifamily Housing 

To better retain affordable housing, the City of Port Orchard should work with Housing Kitsap, 

land trusts, and other non-profit providers to identify naturally occurring affordable housing and 

multifamily housing with income restrictions or covenants that are close to expiration. Funds 

should be identified to acquire as many such properties as possible to avoid displacement of 

low- or moderate-income residents. This practice preserves existing communities and retains 

long-term affordable housing stock at a lower cost than development of new affordable 

housing. 

Tenant Legal Services 

Eviction rates have been shown to drop when tenants facing eviction have access to legal 

representation. The Washington State Office of the Attorney General has a comprehensive list 

of resources for tenants facing legal issues, including free phone assistance from the 

Northwest Justice Project for low-income tenants statewide.37 Contacts and guidance could be 

provided alongside or in addition to the homeless services directory (see Section 3.2). 

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase  

A tenant opportunity to purchase program, such as the one instituted in Washington, D.C. in 

1980, gives tenants the first right to purchase their unit if it is being converted into a 

condominium. In D.C., a study of the program showed this helped 58% of eligible tenants 

purchase their unit.38 The D.C. program has also resulted in the creation of many limited equity 

 
34 “City of Burien, Washington, Ordinance No. 804.” October 2022. 

https://burienwa.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/33975/?preview=76250 
35 City of Kenmore, Washington, Ordinance No. 22-0545.” March 2022. 

https://kenmore.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/118191/?preview=119244 
36 “Five Seattle suburbs added new landlord-renter laws this year. Here’s what they do.” The Seattle Times. December 

15, 2022. https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/politics/five-seattle-suburbs-added-new-landlord-renter-
laws-this-year-heres-what-they-do/ 

37 “Residential Landlord-Tenant Resources.” Washington State Office of the Attorney General. 
https://www.atg.wa.gov/residential-landlord-tenant-resources 

38 Chapple, Karen and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. “White Paper on Anti-Displacement Strategy Effectiveness.” 
Prepared for the California Air Resources Board, February 2021. 

https://burienwa.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/33975/?preview=76250
https://kenmore.civicweb.net/filepro/documents/118191/?preview=119244
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/politics/five-seattle-suburbs-added-new-landlord-renter-laws-this-year-heres-what-they-do/
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/politics/five-seattle-suburbs-added-new-landlord-renter-laws-this-year-heres-what-they-do/
https://www.atg.wa.gov/residential-landlord-tenant-resources


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 43 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

cooperatives when tenants work together to purchase a building being converted to 

condominiums.39 

Rental Assistance Programs 

Rental assistance programs help low-income tenants pay rent in moments of hardship. Such a 

program can be very helpful in preventing families and individuals from becoming homeless and 

help stave off eviction and displacement. However, rental assistance programs are also 

relatively expensive and may have limited reach in a city of Port Orchard’s size. One option 

would be to investigate a temporary rental assistance fund for eligible low-income renters which 

can provide assistance for 1-3 months when a tenant is experiencing a financial crisis. 

Housing Rehabilitation 

Some low-income households are unable to afford ongoing maintenance on their homes, 

particularly older housing units. This can lead to displacement if the homes become 

uninhabitable or the home is sold at a low price. Many cities and counties in Washington, 

including Vancouver, Spokane, and Pierce County for example, provide no- or low-interest loans 

to qualifying low-income homeowners to help repair and rehabilitate their homes.40, 41, 42 

Some programs do not require repayment of the loan until after the house is sold, and others 

defer payments if residents cannot afford them, or waive interest for disability modifications. 

These programs are funded by a variety of sources, including city or county affordable housing 

funds, CDBG block grants from HUD, or HOME Investment Partnership programs. 

Community Control of Land 

There are several models of cooperative or shared land ownership which have been used to 

remove land speculation and market pressures from ownership housing and provide affordable 

and stable ownership opportunities for lower- and moderate-income households. Such 

organizations have mostly taken the form of cooperatives and community land trusts (CLT), or a 

combination of both approaches.  

In a community land trust, the land is held in trust by a nonprofit or city and only the housing unit 

is bought and sold, usually with permanent affordability restrictions in the covenant. Although 

this can reduce the amount of equity which can be built by buying and selling a home in a CLT, it 

does create opportunity for households whose incomes would typically exclude them from 

homeownership.  

In a co-op model, residents own shares in the land or buildings (depending on the model) and 

pay affordable monthly payments with limited equity to residents. One Oregon model showed 

 
39 “Tenant/Community Opportunity to Purchase.” PolicyLink. https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/tools/all-in-
cities/housing-anti-displacement/topa-copa  
40 “Housing Rehabilitation Loan Program.” City of Vancouver. https://www.cityofvancouver.us/eph/page/housing-

rehabilitation-loan-program 
41 “Home Rehabilitation.” City of Spokane. https://my.spokanecity.org/housing/affordable/ 
42 “Home Rehabilitation Loan Program.” Pierce County. https://www.piercecountywa.gov/3093/Home-Rehabilitation-

Loan-Program 

https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/tools/all-in-cities/housing-anti-displacement/topa-copa
https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/tools/all-in-cities/housing-anti-displacement/topa-copa
https://www.cityofvancouver.us/eph/page/housing-rehabilitation-loan-program
https://www.cityofvancouver.us/eph/page/housing-rehabilitation-loan-program
https://my.spokanecity.org/housing/affordable/
https://www.piercecountywa.gov/3093/Home-Rehabilitation-Loan-Program
https://www.piercecountywa.gov/3093/Home-Rehabilitation-Loan-Program


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 44 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

that combining a CLT and co-op yielded opportunities for homeownership for households 

earning 30-60% of the AMI.43 

Overall, the largest barrier to community land control models is lack of funding for ownership 

affordable housing to jumpstart these types of organizations.44 

Foreclosure Assistance 

Foreclosure assistance can take the form of financial support to homeowners facing 

foreclosure, similar to the rental assistance programs described above. Additionally, foreclosure 

assistance can take the form of technical assistance and counseling to households at risk. A 

study conducted by the Urban Institute during the Great Recession found that households that 

received counseling were more likely to avoid default and modify their loans to be able to keep 

making payments.45 Such a program could be provided by the city or in partnership with another 

organization.  

Living Wage Ordinance 

In the Port Orchard area, the hourly wage needed to afford the average two-bedroom apartment 

is $32.69 an hour.46 The minimum wage in Port Orchard is the default Washington State 

minimum wage of $15.74 per hour. 

A living wage ordinance requires a higher minimum wage than that required by state law, which 

can help reduce housing cost burden. Local ordinances are not widespread in Washington; only 

the cities of Seattle, SeaTac, and Tukwila currently have minimum wages higher than the 

statewide minimum.47 

Childcare and Early Education Subsidies 

Subsidizing early education is another way to help lower-income households who are unable to 

afford housing, as well as improving lifelong outcomes for children. Washington State provides 

financial assistance for child care for low-income families through the Working Connections 

Child Care subsidy. Other municipalities in Washington also provide childcare subsidy, such as 

Seattle’s Child Care Assistance Program and the King/Pierce County Child Care Resources 

subsidy program for families experiencing homelessness.  

 
43 “A Case for Public Investment in Shared-Equity Homeownership.” SquareOne Villages. September 2020. 

https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2021R1/Downloads/PublicTestimonyDocument/20717 
44 Gabobe, Nisma. “How Can Cities Move The Needle on Community Land Trusts?” Sightline Institute. August 2021. 

https://www.sightline.org/2021/08/23/how-can-cities-move-the-needle-on-community-land-trusts/ 
45 Chapple, Karen and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. “White Paper on Anti-Displacement Strategy Effectiveness.” 

Prepared for the California Air Resources Board, February 2021. 
46 National Low Income Housing Coalition, “Out of Reach: The High Cost of Housing.” 2022.    

    https://nlihc.org/oor/zip?code=98367 
47 “Minimum Wage”, Washington State Department of Labor & Industries. https://www.lni.wa.gov/workers-

rights/wages/minimum-wage/ 

https://dcyf.wa.gov/services/earlylearning-childcare/getting-help/wccc
https://dcyf.wa.gov/services/earlylearning-childcare/getting-help/wccc
https://www.seattle.gov/education/for-parents/child-care-and-preschool/child-care-assistance-program
https://www.childcare.org/ckfinder/userfiles/files/HCCP%20flyer%20FINAL%20ENG(1).pdf
https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2021R1/Downloads/PublicTestimonyDocument/20717
https://www.sightline.org/2021/08/23/how-can-cities-move-the-needle-on-community-land-trusts/
https://www.lni.wa.gov/workers-rights/wages/minimum-wage/
https://www.lni.wa.gov/workers-rights/wages/minimum-wage/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 45 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

3.2 – Homelessness Strategies 
Action: Strengthen coordination between the City and local homelessness support 

services and adopt a Housing First approach. 

Homelessness is a government concern because it relates to the health, safety, and welfare of 

individuals and the community at-large.48 This housing action plan addresses homelessness 

because the production and price of housing, which is affected by City policy, is directly 

correlated to the rate of homelessness.49 At the national level, every $100 increase in median 

rent is associated with a nine percent increase in the estimated homelessness population, even 

after accounting for demographic and economic characteristics.50 

Kitsap County conducts a point-in-time count of people experiencing homelessness countywide 

each year, typically in January. In 2022, the count was conducted in February instead. The count 

encompasses both sheltered and unsheltered people and is conducted during one 24-hour 

period each year. Therefore, the number is generally considered to be an undercount of the true 

population experiencing homelessness. In February 2022, 563 individuals were experiencing 

homelessness countywide, of which 136 were in transitional housing, 244 in emergency 

shelters, and 183 unsheltered. Of the 183 unsheltered residents surveyed, 23 percent, or 42 

people, were in Port Orchard. Countywide, 67 percent of those surveyed reported becoming 

homeless due to health or mental health issues, 58 percent due to job loss, 40 percent due to 

loss of housing, 35 percent due to family conflict, and 25 percent due to substance use.51  

Port Orchard staff should continue to monitor the annual point-in-time count and support the 

county as necessary to ensure consistent data collection on the extent and changes in the 

homeless population in the city. 

3.2.1 – Coordination 
The City does not directly offer any homeless shelters or transitional housing. Continue working 

with Kitsap County and service providers to provide outreach and offers for service and shelter 

for homeless individuals.  

This could include creation of a standardized directory of support services with available times 

and contact information (such as food banks, shelters, counseling, public transit, etc.), and 

distribute it on the City website and in print with local service providers. Assign a City staff 

person to contact each service at least monthly to maintain and update the directory. 

3.2.2 – Adopt a “Housing First” Approach 
Decades of research have found that helping homeless people move off the street and into a 

home of their own is the most effective way to reduce long-term (chronic) homelessness for the 

 
48 “Homelessness – Common Questions & Answers.” Washington State Department of Commerce. January 2019. 

https://www.skagitcounty.net/HumanServices/Documents/Housing/Homelessness%20FAQs%2001-2019.pdf 
49 “Homelessness is a Housing Problem.” Greg Colburn and Clayton Page Aldern. 

https://homelessnesshousingproblem.com/ 
50 “How COVID-19 Could Aggravate the Homelessness Crisis?” August 2020. United States Government 

Accountability Office. https://www.gao.gov/blog/how-covid-19-could-aggravate-homelessness-crisis 
51 Kitsap County Point In Time Count. https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx  

https://www.skagitcounty.net/HumanServices/Documents/Housing/Homelessness%20FAQs%2001-2019.pdf
https://homelessnesshousingproblem.com/
https://www.gao.gov/blog/how-covid-19-could-aggravate-homelessness-crisis
https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 46 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

most vulnerable people.52 This is because it is extremely difficult or impossible to address the 

personal, financial, mental, or physical problems that underlie homelessness while simply trying 

to stay alive. 

The “housing first” approach eliminates bureaucratic steps and places no criteria on sobriety, 

employment, criminal history, or completing a religious program before individuals are moved 

into a home. When someone is drowning, it doesn’t help if a rescuer insists the victim learn to 

swim before bringing them to shore. They can address their issues once they are on solid 

ground with private space, a stable address, and the dignity of meeting basic needs like food, 

warmth, and bathing. 

This approach is less costly to taxpayers than the combined costs of roving service contacts, 

emergency room visits, jail and shelter stays, towed vehicles, and maintenance of public 

spaces. Success stories and lessons abound from places as varied as Houston, TX, Columbus, 

OH and Salt Lake City, UT. 

The provision of homes can be done indirectly through vouchers, in which public funding 

directly subsidizes the cost of a market-rate rental unit, or directly through publicly owned 

housing. The type of housing is oftentimes and preferably in the form of apartments which are 

the cheapest type of housing to build and operate per unit. Sometimes existing apartment or 

motels are purchased, or a warehouse can be renovated for residential use. “Tiny home 

villages”, which are rapidly constructed on vacant sites or parking lots, may be appropriate but 

only on a temporary basis since they are not as durable, weather-proof, or livable as permanent 

structures. 

“Housing first” includes intensive wraparound social services and case management for the 

residents, either on-site or off-site. These services usually include support for people living with 

complex and disabling behavioral health or physical health conditions, addiction treatment, and 

employment assistance. Research has found that an overwhelming majority of permanent 

supportive housing residents eventually stabilize their lives and health enough to move to 

market-rate housing. 

The “housing first” policy has its limitations. It can only work if housing and service providers 

agree on the approach, if there is enough supply of housing available to work with at different 

income levels, and there is adequate long-term funding. All three requirements will require 

strategic planning and time to develop. To that end, this HAP recommends the following: 

• Convene a meeting of all relevant homelessness stakeholders to discuss the “housing 

first” approach 

• Adopt a “housing first” policy in the Comprehensive Plan 

• Regularly survey and monitor the scale of the homeless population 

• Provide or seek new funding for supportive housing such as rent vouchers or a City-

owned supportive housing development 

• Study alternatives for providing supportive housing with City funding or grant funding 

 
52 “Homelessness research: A guide for economists (and friends).” 2019. 

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137718302109 

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137718302109


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 47 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Inventory hotels/motels which could be candidates for purchase and conversion to 

permanent supportive housing 

• Explore programs and partnerships that could enable more social, health, and human 

care services to establish branch locations in Port Orchard. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 48 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

3.3 - Support Staffing Needs 
Action: Fund, recruit, and hire a housing coordinator to help implement this Housing 

Action Plan, connect and collaborate with housing stakeholders, and promote more 

market-rate and affordable housing development in Port Orchard. 

A housing coordinator would be a specialized 

position in the Community Development 

Department that promotes implementation of the 

Housing Action Plan and provides long-term policy 

support and relationship-building among Port 

Orchard’s residents, landlords, developers, human 

service providers, and City staff. 

This could be a permanent position or, at a 

minimum, a two year position focused on 

implementing the Housing Action Plan. 

Key responsibilities for the position should include:  

• Implement the actions and strategies of the Housing Action Plan  

• Plan, organize, coordinate, and implement the work plan and policies related to the City’s 

housing policies, projects, and programs. Study, evaluate, and recommend housing 

policies and procedures.  

• Serve as the City liaison to other departments and advisory boards on housing issues 

related to housing policy and provide citywide leadership and coordination on housing 

policy issues.  

• Apply for housing grants including from County sales tax housing set asides and 

Oversee and manage the City’s housing funds including the housing sales tax and 

Community Development Block Grant funds and manage grant implementation. Monitor 

other state funding and grant opportunities and write applications for funding, including 

joint applications with partner agencies. 

• Administer and monitor the MFTE program and provide guidance for property owners 

• Monitor housing production, the number and location of affordable housing units, and 

the number of unhoused people in Port Orchard and support department reports on 

housing and demographic trends 

• Build relationships with community partners in the non-profit, public, and private sectors, 

including acting as liaison to Housing Kitsap, Habitat for Humanity, and others. 

• Market Port Orchard to the residential real estate industry and manage inquiries, with a 

focus on promoting the qualities of the town, economic development opportunities, the 

friendly regulatory environment, and any financial incentives available 

• Recruit human service providers and senior housing developers to locate and build 

facilities in Port Orchard 

• Connect businesses and prospective residents to housing listings and providers 

• Connect tenants and landlords to resources help resolve disputes 

In the HAP Housing Survey, 57% of survey 

respondents are supportive of “Hiring a 

city housing coordinator to assist renters 

and support local homeless service.” 24% 

were not sure or need more information 

and 29% were opposed. Note that renters 

represented about 16% of survey 

participants.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 49 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Educate property owners and developers on development regulations and site-specific 

opportunities and share resources such as case studies, best practices, property 

maintenance standards, and property tax resources 

• Monitor changes to the Growth Management Act and related state laws on housing  

Qualifications for the position should include: 

• Bachelor’s degree in planning, real estate, public administration, finance, economics, 

business, or other fields where the knowledge and skills can translate to the 

responsibilities of the position. 

• Considerable (3-5 years) experience in program management, affordable housing policy, 

community planning, public policy, real estate finance or development, business 

administration, or economic development. 

• Proficiency with Microsoft Office and other software related to planning operations. 

The ideal candidate will: 

• Have a creative, open-minded, and pragmatic attitude. 

• Thrive in a fast-paced, team-based environment while also being able to work 

independently. 

• Clearly communicate ideas and concepts. 

• Have strong organizational and data analysis skills. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 50 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4 – Citywide Planning Strategies 
These actions relate to the City’s budget and updating the Comprehensive Plan. 

4.1 – Housing Element Updates 
Action: In the next Comprehensive Plan update, update the Housing Element to 

support the actions of this Housing Action Plan and integrate new provisions required 

by state law. 

Recent updates to the Growth Management Act require some updates on data and 

goals/policies for the Comprehensive Plan’s Housing element. Many of these required updates 

overlap with the data and objectives provided in this Housing Action Plan, though some 

additional work may be needed. 

In addition to statements of goals, policies, objectives, and mandatory provisions for the 

preservation, improvement, and development of housing, updated RCW 36.70A.070(2) (2021) 

now requires: 

• An inventory and analysis of existing and projected housing needs that identifies the 

number of housing units necessary to manage projected growth including: 

o Units for moderate, low, very low, and extremely low-income households 

o Emergency housing, emergency shelters, and permanent supportive housing 

• Goals and policies for moderate density housing options including, but not limited to, 

duplexes, triplexes, and townhomes 

• Identify sufficient capacity of land for housing including, but not limited to, government-

assisted housing, housing for moderate, low, very low, and extremely low-income 

households, manufactured housing, multifamily housing, group homes, foster care 

facilities, emergency housing, emergency shelters, permanent supportive housing, and 

consideration of duplexes, triplexes, and townhomes 

• Makes adequate provisions for all economic segments of the community, including: 

o Low, very low, extremely low, and moderate-income households 

o Documenting programs and actions needed to achieve housing availability 

including gaps in local funding, barriers such as development regulations, and 

other limitations 

o Consideration of housing locations in relation to employment location 

o Consideration of the role of accessory dwelling units in meeting housing needs 

• Identify local policies and regulations that result in racially disparate impacts, 

displacement, and exclusion in housing, including: 

o Zoning that may have a discriminatory effect 

o Disinvestment 

o Infrastructure availability 

• Identify and implement policies and regulations to address and begin to undo racially 

disparate impacts, displacement, and exclusion in housing caused by local policies, 

plans, and actions 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.070


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 51 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

• Identify areas that may be at higher risk of displacement from market forces that occur 

with changes to zoning development regulations and capital investments; and 

• Establish anti-displacement policies, with consideration given to the preservation of 

historical and cultural communities as well as investments in low, very low, extremely 

low, and moderate-income housing; equitable development initiatives; inclusionary 

zoning; community planning requirements; tenant protections; land disposition policies; 

and consideration of land that may be used for affordable housing. 

In the annual amendment cycle or the next major update (due in 2024), the Housing Element 

could be updated with specific policies relating to the many strategies and actions of this 

Housing Action Plan. Relevant HAP actions to acknowledge at the comprehensive planning 

level may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Development regulation streamlining that provides more housing options 

• Guidance on homelessness reduction and prevention 

• Support for a multifamily tax exemption program, tax increment financing for 

infrastructure and affordable housing, and transit funding to support housing and 

economic development 

• Policies for the acquisition and disposition of surplus public land for affordable housing  

(see Strategy 4.4), especially City-owned land in downtown. 

• Support for new anti-displacement policies 

4.2 – Land Use Element Updates 
The Comprehensive Plan Land Use element should be reviewed for potential updates on these 

issues. 

4.2.1 – Corridor Zoning 

Action: In the next major Comprehensive Plan Update, review the balance between 

residential and commercial land capacity and adjust the future land use map. 

Some of Port Orchard’s major transportation corridors are targeted for transit investments by 

Kitsap Transit. The Comprehensive Plan update should consider whether land use regulations 

and infrastructure plans are supportive of transit-oriented development, particularly in 

designated centers.  

The City’s primary commercial corridor (also consisting of several designated centers), Bethel 

Road, is planned to have an upgraded roadway with roundabouts and bike and pedestrian 

infrastructure in the next few years. At the same time, Kitsap Transit plans a bus rapid transit 

route in the corridor (between Downtown and approximately Sedgwick Road).53  

However, there is room for improvement in land use and amenities in the transit walkshed (a 

quarter to half mile walking distance). The corridor has a patchwork of zoning with few clear 

patterns and low building height limits, including low-density residential zoning both inside and 

 
53 “Long-Range Transit Plan 2022-2042.” Kitsap Transit. December 2022. https://www.kitsaptransit.com/agency-

information/planning/lrtp 

https://www.kitsaptransit.com/agency-information/planning/lrtp
https://www.kitsaptransit.com/agency-information/planning/lrtp


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 52 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

outside the city limits. Existing development is largely not pedestrian-oriented, being 

characterized by large parking lots, low-scale commercial buildings, residential cul-de-sacs, and 

a discontinuous street grid. The Commercial Heavy zone does not allow general residential 

development, potentially locking in suburban-style strip malls and shopping centers on large 

parcels. There are no public parks, schools, community centers, or other civic amenities in the 

corridor that can help attract residential development and serve affordable housing residents. 

Opportunities for infill and mixed-use redevelopment, including affordable housing, should be 

explored in the Comprehensive Plan and a future Bethel subarea plan. 

The Mile Hill corridor has similar challenges but at a smaller scale. Incentives could be adjusted 

to support redevelopment of strategic sites like self-storage facilities and infilling underutilized 

parking lots. Explorations should consider the proximity to Downtown, South Kitsap High 

School, and Blackjack Creek. 

The Tremont, Pottery, and Sidney corridors are generally characterized by R2 or BPMU zoning 

and proximity to parks and schools. Kitsap Transit plans transit service enhancements in some 

of these areas. Upzones to allow at least moderate-scale multifamily development in more 

areas should be considered. 

The Lund and Jackson corridors in the unincorporated urban growth area could also be 

explored for near-term annexation and subsequent zoning that incentivizes infill middle housing 

and multifamily housing which helps pay for infrastructure and services. These areas are mostly 

developed with a mix of low-to-medium density housing and have an identity linked to Port 

Orchard. Proximity to South Kitsap Regional Park and several schools is an asset to be 

leveraged. 

4.2.2 – Neighborhood Commercial Uses 

Action: Review the opportunity for allowing small neighborhood commercial uses in 

residential neighborhoods. 

Residential zones are not permitted to have restaurants, cafes, convenience stores, or other 

types of small commercial uses. The City uses the NMU zone for this purpose, which allows the 

shopfront house building type (also see Strategy 2.2.6) but not single-purpose apartment 

buildings. Consider adding more nodes of NMU zoning in residential neighborhoods, particularly 

on corner lots. Forest Park Grocery and Deli near the intersection of West Avenue and South 

Street is a good example of the types of development that may occur with this zoning over time, 

providing more neighborhood services within walking distance of housing.  

Review other NMU zoning standards to ensure commercial uses are well-integrated into 

residential neighborhoods. This could include limitations on the size of commercial uses (e.g. 

1,000 to 2,500 square feet, with clarity on gross or net), reduced or eliminated off-street parking 

requirements for businesses, and prohibiting incompatible activities such as outdoor storage.  

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 53 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.2.3 – Park-Oriented Development  

Action: Consider increasing zoning capacity around Port Orchard’s major parks. 

Port Orchard’s parks are major assets of the community, and access to outdoor recreation is 

important for public health and well-being. Allowing more housing near major parks and 

recreation uses (such as within a quarter-mile) can have several benefits, including allowing 

more people to walk and bike to parks for healthy recreation and encouraging a long-term 

increase in park users and community ownership of parks. Park access is particularly important 

for families with children. Notable rezoning opportunities are in the areas around Givens 

Playfield (which is also adjacent to a community center), McCormick Village Park, and Clayton 

Park. Most parks are also near transit stops. 

Part of the area north of Givens Playfield is also near the Kitsap County campus and zoned 

BPMU. This area consists mostly of detached homes and some vacant lots. The zoning 

encourages a transition to commercial uses over time, though little such activity has occurred. 

Rezoning this area for park-oriented development could also have the dual benefits of 

increasing the feasibility of mixed-use development with commercial space and multifamily 

housing. 

 
Figure 17. The vicinity of Givens Playfield (Google Maps) 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 54 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Another large park which Port Orchard residents utilize is South Kitsap Regional Park. This is 

currently outside the city limits but contained in the urban growth area. When this area is 

annexed the City should consider park-oriented zoning that allows for a wider range of housing 

types near the park. 

Recently adopted development regulations for the area near the planned west entrance to 

McCormick Village Park allow middle housing development and a proposed mixed housing 

neighborhood is in permitting review. However, there are other unentitled properties near 

McCormick Village Park and the golf course clubhouse that may be candidates for multifamily 

and middle housing uses. These changes would ensure that all areas of the city provide 

opportunities for people of different economic means with the opportunity to live and work (see 

further discussion in the introduction to Strategy 2.1). 

 
Figure 18. A concept for a mix of housing including middle housing from the recently adopted McCormick 
Village Subarea Plan in a location adjacent to McCormick Village Park. 

 

   
Figure 19. Examples of parcels highlighted in green that could be zoned for multifamily or middle housing 
due to their proximity to parks and recreation amenities.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 55 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.2.4– Parking  

Action: In the next major Comprehensive Plan Update, review the need for minimum 

parking requirements citywide and review national case studies for best practices. 

Parking is an issue that should be revisited in the next Comprehensive Plan update. Consider 

policy support for removing minimum requirements entirely, as is increasingly being done in 

cities and states across the country and called for by professional planning and engineering 

organizations.54, 55 A related option is to add maximum parking requirements, especially for the 

most intense uses such as retail.56 

Removing parking requirements does not have any immediate effect on housing supply or 

prices or neighborhood design. Related requirements such as parking lot landscaping and 

stormwater treatment for impervious surfaces would remain. Over time, it gives the power of 

parking design back to property owners and businesses to decide how much parking they need 

to attract tenants and customers.57 New development will still include parking spaces, but the 

number of spaces will be decided based on what owners need based on their experience and 

budget rather than government rules.58 

Removing the minimum requirement can also ease the 

renovation of older vacant buildings and allow new small 

businesses to open in commercial spaces where they 

couldn’t before. Removing parking requirements 

significantly reduces the red tape and studies that are 

required to justify modifications, reductions, or cooperative 

parking agreements, the costs of which may exceed the 

budgets of local property owners or small investors. Starter 

homes like townhomes and condos may become easier to 

build and improve homeownership opportunities. 

Removing parking standards would complement increased 

transit service, as discussed in Strategy 5.6. 

At the minimum, new state law adopted in 2023 (House Bill 1110) sets maximum limits on the 

minimum parking spaces for middle housing (duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, fiveplexes, 

sixplexes, townhouses, stacked flats, courtyard apartments, and cottage housing). This 

preemption must be codified within six months of the major Comprehensive Plan update being 

adopted. Up to one parking space per unit may be required on lots smaller than 6,000 SF (before 

any zero lot line subdivisions or lot splits) and up to two 2 spaces per unit may be required on 

larger lots. 

 
54 “Parking Reform Network.” https://parkingreform.org/resources/mandates-map/ 
55 “Rethinking Parking Minimums.” Institute of Transportation Engineers. February 2019. 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/1becvgm8ebznwj2/ITE%20journal.pdf?dl=0 
56 “Parking Maximums.” Sustainable Development Code. https://sustainablecitycode.org/brief/parking-maximums-7/ 
57 “End Parking Mandates & Subsidies.” Strong Towns. https://www.strongtowns.org/parking 
58 “Save Anchorage from Parking Mandates.” Sightline. September 2022. 

https://www.sightline.org/2022/09/30/save-anchorage-from-parking-mandates/ 

The costs of building and 

maintaining parking are a major 

factor in housing costs. Parking 

costs are passed on to renters, 

homeowners, and business 

tenants. Surface parking spaces 

can cost up to $30,000 and a 

structured parking space can cost 

$50,000 or more. Studies have 

shown this can add $200-500 per 

month to new apartment rents. 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1110&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://parkingreform.org/resources/mandates-map/
https://www.dropbox.com/s/1becvgm8ebznwj2/ITE%20journal.pdf?dl=0
https://sustainablecitycode.org/brief/parking-maximums-7/
https://www.strongtowns.org/parking
https://www.sightline.org/2022/09/30/save-anchorage-from-parking-mandates/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 56 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.3 – Public Land for Affordable Housing 
Actions: Consider rezonings, environmental assessments, pre-development activities, 

and partnerships to promote use of surplus public land for affordable housing. 

The City has a modest amount of surplus publicly-owned land. Some of it is well-located or 

positioned to merit consideration for housing development. Considerations for key properties 

and strategies are described in this section. Other public lands (such as those owned by Kitsap 

County, the Port of Bremerton, and other agencies) could be reviewed in the future. 

4.3.1 – Disposition Policy 
Formally adopt a surplus land disposition policy that gives the right-of-first-refusal to affordable 

housing developers or other community-determined uses, consistent with the allowances of 

RCW 39.33.015 (note that some modifications to the affordability provisions of the statue were 

made in 2023 under House Bill 1695). The policy could be adopted by City Council resolution 

and embedded within the Comprehensive Plan’s Housing Element (also see Strategy 4.2). 

4.3.2 – Land Acquisition 
The cost of land can be a major cost for any housing development, and providing a discounted 

land lease or sale can help some projects become economically viable. Since the City does not 

have much surplus land, the City can identify and purchase underutilized or vacant properties 

that can be developed as affordable housing. Land assembly can be a powerful tool for putting 

together larger sites that can be redeveloped at a more economically feasible scale.  

This strategy could be focused on close-in locations (e.g. Downtown and the Bethel Avenue and 

Mile Hill Drive corridors) where land ownership is fragmented. Port Orchard may also focus on 

vacant, abandoned, or tax-delinquent properties. These sites usually have negative impacts on 

surrounding properties and the City’s role would include resolving ownership issues and/or 

addressing tax liens or land encumbrances that otherwise deter developers from pursuing these 

properties.59 

Once acquired and assembled, Port Orchard would lease or sell the land for affordable housing.  

See the related need for a land disposition policy in Strategy 4.4.1 

4.3.3 – Tremont/Pottery Roundabout Property (Parcel 342401-4-016-2001 & 342401-

4-015-2002) 
This is a one-acre vacant site within the Tremont Center and zoned Commercial Mixed Use. The 

site could be viable for townhomes or multifamily development with a small commercial 

component, potentially leveraging new single stair provisions (see Strategy 2.4.7). It is eligible 

for the Type 1 and Type 3 MFTE programs, which could improve the feasibility of affordable 

housing on the site. 

While Tremont Street is newly rebuilt with pedestrian and bike infrastructure, the general area is 

not walkable to services besides gas stations, medical offices, and schools. This and parking 

 
59 “Support the Reuse of Abandoned, Vacant, & Delinquent Properties.” Family Housing Fund. 

https://www.fhfund.org/report/reuse-of-abandoned-properties/ 

 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=39.33.015
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1695&Initiative=false&Year=2023
https://www.fhfund.org/report/reuse-of-abandoned-properties/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 57 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

requirements will require a significant portion of the site be dedicated to surface parking, 

limiting the housing capacity of the site. Some amount of structured parking might be 

economically feasible with the savings from a discounted land transfer, though the site’s 

irregular shape could make efficient parking layouts a challenge. Parking could potentially be 

shared with the healthcare facility directly behind the site to the north. 

Development could fully or partially vacate Alder Lane, which is City right-of-way and does not 

serve any other properties (any utilities may need to be relocated). The site could also 

potentially expand by acquiring part of the adjacent healthcare facility site if there is 

underutilized parking there; that site is zoned as Public Facilities which does not allow any 

residential land uses. 

 
Figure 20. City owned property at the Tremont and Pottery Roundabout 

4.3.4 – Mitchell Avenue Property (Parcel 252401-3-045-2009) 
This is a 1.7 acre forested site within the Lower Mile Hill Center and it is zoned R4, which allows 

up to four-story buildings. The site boundary has a small cutout of R3 zoning where there is a 

cell phone tower. The site could be viable for townhomes or multifamily development. The site 

is across the street from South Kitsap High School and could be an ideal location for family 

housing (units with two or more bedrooms). It is eligible for the Type 1 MFTE program, which 

could improve the feasibility of affordable housing on the site.  

The site is moderately sloped, with a 70 feet elevation difference between the top and bottom of 

the property (a horizontal distance of 240 feet). Significant tree standards and topography may 

add construction costs and reduce housing capacity, but the economic feasibility may also be 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 58 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

improved with the savings from a discounted land transfer. A recent study by Portland State 

University suggested an increase of 40-50% in development costs for affordable housing built 

on sites of 20% slope or more.60 The site could potentially be configured with two separate 

clusters of buildings at the top and bottom of the hill. The site is bordered to the west and north 

by strips of undeveloped City right-of-way, which could be vacated to expand the site and/or 

provide access solutions. 

The site could also potentially expand by acquiring one or more of the adjacent parcels, 

particularly off Bethel Avenue, to increase circulation options and improve economies of scale. 

The adjacent commercial properties are either vacant or have low-value improvements, they are 

zoned Gateway Mixed Use, and they are within the Downtown Height Overlay District 5 which 

allows up to five-story buildings. 

 
Figure 21. City owned property off of Mitchell Avenue 

 

 
60”Impact of Slope on Housing Development Costs.” Portland State University. 2010.  

https://www.pdx.edu/realestate/sites/g/files/znldhr3251/files/2020-
10/01_impact_of_slope_on_development_SU20_p2.pdf 
Note: This study also has other useful data on the impact of slope on development costs for various building types 

https://www.pdx.edu/realestate/sites/g/files/znldhr3251/files/2020-10/01_impact_of_slope_on_development_SU20_p2.pdf
https://www.pdx.edu/realestate/sites/g/files/znldhr3251/files/2020-10/01_impact_of_slope_on_development_SU20_p2.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 59 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

4.4 – McCormick East Future Neighborhood Planning 
Action: In the next Comprehensive Plan update, identify the McCormick East area as a 

future mixed housing and commercial area and/or local center. Develop a subarea plan 

to shape this area as a mixed housing and mixed income development. 

4.4.1 – McCormick East Overview  
The McCormick East area is a large unentitled area located in the southwest area of Port 

Orchard near the intersection of Glenwood Road and McCormick Woods Drive. The area is 

currently zoned R2. 

 
Figure 22. Location of McCormick East. 

4.4.2 – McCormick East Summary 
The McCormick East area was annexed by the City of Port Orchard during the Great Recession.  

Unlike other areas of west Port Orchard such as McCormick Woods, McCormick Trails, and 

McCormick Village, McCormick East remains unentitled. It is also identified as a future planning 

area in the City’s utility plans. As described in Section 1.3 regarding geographic equity and the 

introduction to Strategy 2.1 for allowed uses, the City must be cognizant of the geographic 

inequities located in areas east and west of SR-16.   

The McCormick East area includes approximately 108 acres of recently logged undeveloped 

land with relatively few critical areas.  The recent logging that took place means that there are 

few significant trees present and that the site is a blank slate for development. Under the 

current zoning, it is likely that this property would develop with detached homes. Some ADUs or 

duplexes would be possible in this area but are unlikely. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 60 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Due to the previous entitlements and development agreements governing the development of 

most other areas in McCormick Woods, McCormick Trails, and McCormick Village, there are 

few opportunities to increase the presence of affordable housing types west of SR-16. Kitsap 

Transit is planning a large park-and-ride facility in the nearby Ruby Creek Neighborhood. This 

transit investment along with planned transit routes makes McCormick East ripe for a new 

master plan. 

4.4.3 – McCormick East Recommendations 
The City should work to develop a subarea plan to guide the development of the McCormick 

East area. This plan should seek to provide zoning to allow a mix of commercial development 

and middle housing. The area could be designated as a local or countywide center and should 

be designed to promote transit access. The timing of a McCormick East subarea plan is likely 

not feasible until after the City’s 2024 Comprehensive Plan Update. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 61 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5 – Funding Strategies 
These actions relate to the financing and funding of affordable housing and related issues like 

taxes, fees, and state law. 

5.1 - Multifamily Tax Exemption Program 
Action: Update the MFTE program based on increased developer interest in 

multifamily and mixed-use projects to streamline requirements, balance affordability 

and foregone tax revenue, and take advantage of increased flexibility in statewide 

legislation. 

5.1.1 – MFTE Overview  
A multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) program is authorized by a 1995 state law, RCW 84.14. 

Cities can grant an 8-year property tax exemption for any multifamily development or a 12-year 

exemption for multifamily developments that reserve at least 20 percent of units for low- and 

moderate-income households.  

The state made several changes to the MFTE program in 2021. The 12-year tax exemption and 

affordability covenants can now be renewed for 12 more years if the property owner continues 

to provide units affordable to low-income families. Cities may now also offer a 20-year tax 

exemption for ownership units if at least 25 percent of these condominium units are sold as 

permanently affordable ownership housing.61  

A MFTE program can be used for new buildings or existing buildings that require major 

rehabilitation. For cities under 20,000 residents, both the 12-year and the 20-year programs 

require the development to be in a zone that allows at least 15 dwelling units per acre. 

Land, existing site improvements, and non-residential improvements are not exempt and are 

subject to normal property taxes. At the local government's discretion, the exemption’s basis 

may be limited to the value of affordable units or other criteria. The local government has 

latitude in many aspects. It can require certain public benefits, change what types of 

development apply, and can map specific areas where the exemption is available. Cities can 

also set lower maximum rent prices than the statute allows and other lease stipulations such as 

requiring the participating units to be pet-friendly. 

The MFTE program can have complex fiscal implications due to Washington’s “levy lid” 

restrictions which limit the rate of increase of total regular property tax revenue to 1% per year 

for communities of 10,000 or more. In theory, the value of the tax exemption granted to 

developers would represent foregone revenue for the city. However, the reality is more 

complicated. Construction of MFTE projects often takes place over multiple years and county 

assessors are required to factor in the portion of new projects which are completed by July 31 

each year. However, the tax exemption itself does not take effect until January 1 after the year 

in which the project is completed. Theoretically, the assessor should remove the value of the 

partially-constructed MFTE properties which were previously added at this point, however, in 

 
61 “Overview of 2021 Changes to the Multifamily Housing Tax Exemption Program.” Washington State Department of 

Commerce. https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=84.14
https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 62 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

reality this happens inconsistently. As a result, the value of the portion of the property which 

was completed in years prior to the final year of construction can result in a “tax shift” where 

taxes on that portion of the project’s property value are shifted to the citywide tax base if that 

portion is not removed from the assessor’s table of total taxable property value.62 This complex 

situation can obfuscate whether the tax exemption results in foregone revenue to the city or 

whether it merely shifts taxes to the citywide tax base. In most cases, both are occurring to 

some degree. The Washington Joint Legislative Audit and Review Committee’s 2019 audit of 

the MFTE program found that they could not determine the amount of local tax savings which 

was shifted to other taxpayers as a result of the complex situation around the “levy lid.”63 

5.1.2 – Port Orchard MFTE Summary 
Port Orchard has had an MFTE program in place since 2016, which is codified under Chapter 

3.48 POMC, and which provides three types of exemptions. The “Type 1” program is a 12-year 

exemption available to properties zoned for multifamily or mixed-use near transit or ferry and 

requires 20 percent of units to be rented at affordable rates based on HUDs fair market rent. 

The “Type 2” program is an 8-year exemption available to abandoned or underutilized properties 

within local centers of importance which are encouraged to redevelop. The “Type 3” program is 

an 8-year exemption available to properties within local centers of importance and zoned for 

multifamily or mixed-use with requirements for denser, “urban” style development: a minimum 

density of 50 units per acre and at least 50 percent structured parking, shopfronts equal to 40 

percent of all building footprints, or additional height purchased through the city’s transfer of 

development rights program.  

A total of four projects totaling 332 units (including 20 affordable units) have been built using 

Port Orchard’s MFTE program, and four more projects totaling 427 more units (including 45 

affordable units) are currently in progress. For a full summary of Port Orchard’s MFTE program, 

see Section 5 of the Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report in the Appendix. 

Port Orchard’s method of setting subsidized rents in MFTE projects at 10 percent below HUD 

fair market rents is unusual, as most jurisdictions in Washington rent subsidized MFTE units to 

families earning between 80 and 115 percent of HUD’s MFI for their area, and cap the rent at 30 

percent of the household’s income, adjusted for household size. 64 However, Port Orchard’s 

system meets legal state requirements and, based on a preliminary analysis, seems to result in 

rents which are lower than those based on the larger Bremerton-Silverdale MSA HUD MFI. 

5.1.2 – Recommendations 
Port Orchard has seen an increase in proposed downtown residential-commercial mixed-use 

projects in recent years. Since these types of projects would be eligible for MFTE funding, it is 

important to revisit and potentially update some aspects of the program to balance the benefit 

 
62 This concept is very complex and more information can be found in Commerce’s “What is Tax Shift?” guidesheet 

here https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/9jg7p2ebm467ddpmb1c5u3d4ei22cs1n as well as starting on p. 37 of 
Commerce’s MFTE guidebook here: https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/ij5o80ne5e1740mmh6u05qrjk047g3cw  
63 The JLARC audit’s findings can be found at: https://leg.wa.gov/jlarc/taxReports/2019/MFTE/f_ii/default.html  
64 Following HUD’s definition of a “cost-burdened” household 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/9jg7p2ebm467ddpmb1c5u3d4ei22cs1n
https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/ij5o80ne5e1740mmh6u05qrjk047g3cw
https://leg.wa.gov/jlarc/taxReports/2019/MFTE/f_ii/default.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 63 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

and foregone tax revenue of affordable units to ensure the program’s goals are being met and 

to address recent changes in the program allowed under state law.65 

Clarify map and zoning of areas of MFTE eligibility. MFTE projects must be in urban centers as 

defined by RCW 84.14.010, which describes compact districts with a variety of shops, a mix of 

uses, and public facilities. Port Orchard’s municipal code contains maps of parcels eligible for 

MFTE funding, but they are difficult to read and are not updated with the latest parcel lines, as 

shown below in Error! Reference source not found.. An improved map which shows both the c

ity’s established “centers” and the outline of areas eligible for MFTE development at a larger 

scale would streamline the process for potential developers. 

 
Figure 23. Maps of parcels currently eligible for the Type 1, Type 2, and Type 3 MFTE programs. Source: City 
of Port Orchard Municipal Code 

Correct definition of underutilized buildings. POMC 3.48.040(2)(a)(iii) states that underutilized 

buildings have an “assessed building value to land ratio of two-to-one or more.” This appears to 

be backwards, as underutilized buildings are defined by a low building to land-value ratio. The 

code should be revised to state “building value to land ratio of two-to-one or less,” or land value 

to building value ratio of two-to-one or more.” 

Add minimum density in units per acre to multifamily and mixed-use zones. State law requires 

that 12-year and 20-year MFTE programs which contain affordable rental or homeownership 

units be located in areas zoned for a minimum average density of 15 units per acre in cities with 

populations under 20,000. Port Orchard does not currently define minimum unit densities in its 

code, although the allowed zoning in MFTE areas likely meets this threshold based on allowed 

height, setbacks, FAR, etc. However, to better comply with state law, considering quantifying 

minimum densities in the zoning code for mixed-use and multifamily zones. See Section 2.3.3 

for considerations. 

Consider changes to the method of income calculations for affordable units and conduct an 

audit of the program. Port Orchard’s program is unusual in that it uses HUD fair market rent to 

calculate rents for subsidized units. Although the system seems to be working and is allowed 

under state law, it may be more complex for developers or property managers who are 

accustomed to methods used in most other cities where MFTE programs are tied to the HUD 

median family income. If the City wishes to ensure a deeper level of affordability compared to 

the MFI, the program could be calibrated to a lower level (such as 60 percent rather than 80 

 
65 A comprehensive list of 2021 legislative changes to the MFTE program can be found here: 
https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf 

https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 64 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

percent MFI). Regardless of the method used, the city should audit the MFTE program annually 

to ensure that the cumulative benefit to income-restricted residents is greater than the foregone 

revenue from the tax exemption. This audit should be conducted by the Community 

Development or Finance department and should result in an annual report presented to city 

council. Additionally, consider partnering with Housing Kitsap for MFTE administration and to 

reduce city staff’s workload when verifying incomes of subsidized unit residents, since housing 

authorities have infrastructure and skills in place to conduct such income verifications. 

Consider removing transit proximity for affordable units. Port Orchard’s Type 1 program 

currently requires projects to be within ½ mile of a transit stop or ferry terminal. Although this 

provides benefits to lower-income residents who do not own vehicles, the quality and availability 

of transit service in Port Orchard is low and is a recent study by WSDOT indicates that transit in 

the city is not at the level or frequency which encourages residents to own fewer vehicles.66  

It is also not clear that transit proximity has any practical effect, since the maps for the Type 1 

and Type 3 programs are nearly identical. Removing this requirement could expand eligible 

projects and the distribution of affordable units across the city. 

Consider a height bonus for MFTE developments. Currently Port Orchard allows a height bonus 

for Type 3 MFTE developments through the Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) program. 

Such programs are rarely used. Numerous cities in Washington, including Port Angeles and 

Kirkland, allow height bonuses in exchange for the provision of affordable units in their MFTE 

programs. Consider adding such a bonus to the MFTE to improve development feasibility. Such 

a program could have separate height bonus allowances based on zoning and MFTE program 

type. See Strategy 2.3.2 for more details. 

Streamline requirements for Type 3 program. The Type 3 program currently has somewhat 

stringent requirements to create denser, urban-style buildings through various criteria. Although 

the intention to stimulate higher density development in centers is an important component of 

the program, recent projects suggest that the share of structured parking, density, and 

commercial square footage required may be disincentivizing use. Each of the three 

requirements could be streamlined to increase viability of participating in the program: 

• The requirement for 50 percent structured parking combined with 50 units per acre of 

density may be redundant since the only way to achieve higher densities is by putting 

parking into structures. Eliminating the structured parking requirement but retaining a 

relatively high-density requirement (40-50 units per acre) would effectively require that 

the project either include structured parking or that surface parking ratios are relatively 

low. 

• Reducing the requirement for 40 percent of all building footprints to contain 

commercial use or replacing this requirement with a required minimum percentage of 

the frontage being commercial would be appropriate given the exiting amount of 

 
66 “Frequent Transit Service Study.” Washington State Department of Transportation. 

https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/  

https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 65 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

commercial zoning in Port Orchard. The design requirements in the MFTE ordinance 

may also be superfluous given the existing block frontage standards in POMC 20.127. 

• Finally, an overall height bonus for MFTE developments as discussed above may be 

more effective than the TDR height bonus option currently in the Type 3 program. 

Reduce minimum number of units required for participation. Port Orchard’s program currently 

requires a minimum of 10 units in a project to qualify for the MFTE program. State law only 

requires a minimum of four units. Updating the Port Orchard program to require a minimum of 

four units would bring the program in line with statewide standards as well as potentially 

providing added feasibility for smaller “missing middle” housing types. 

Consider adding a requirement for affordable units to be distributed within a 

development/building. This promotes principles of mixed-income communities and avoids real 

or perceived concentrations of pover 

Consider adding a 20-year MFTE program. Since 2021, cities under 20,000 residents such as 

Port Orchard can add a 20-year ownership MFTE program under RCW 84.14.021(1)(b) where at 

least 25 percent of units must be sold to a qualified nonprofit or local government partner that 

will ensure permanent affordable homeownership. Providing affordable homeownership 

opportunities to low- and moderate-income households can help build wealth for households 

which otherwise could not afford to own a home.  

Allow a 12-year extension for Type 1 participating property owners. Since 2021, cities are 

allowed to grant a 12-year extension to existing MFTE programs within 18 months of expiration. 

Multifamily housing approved for a 12-year extension must maintain 20% of units as affordable 

for low-income households (during the extension period moderate-income households are no 

longer included in the affordable unit counts). Tenant notice and relocation assistance are 

required in the 10th and 11th years of projects receiving a 12-year extension (see more detail 

below). Port Orchard should consider adding this provision to its MFTE program to ensure 

continued affordability of units created through this program. 

Require relocation assistance for low-income tenants whose rent subsidy is expiring. The 

2021 changes to the MFTE program which allow the 12-year extension described above also 

require that landlords provide notice in the 10th and 11th years of the program that it will expire in 

the 12th year and provide one month’s rent as relocation assistance to qualified tenants in their 

final month of tenancy. Best practices in line with the anti-displacement strategies in Strategy 

3.1 would also extend these tenant protections to any Type 1 property, regardless of whether it 

is an extension or not. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 66 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.2 – Development Fee Adjustments 
Action: Consider adjusting development fees for 2-4 unit buildings and some fee 

discounts for affordable housing while continuing to offer sewer and water exemptions 

for small ADUs. Some adjustments may be needed to impact fee structure to comply 

with 2023 state legislative changes. 

Port Orchard, like many municipalities, levies impact and development fees on new construction 

to fund improvements in infrastructure for schools, parks, and other services, as well as hookup 

and general facilities charges for water and sewer connections to new developments. 

Stakeholders interviewed by the HAP project team in 2022 indicated that Port Orchard’s fees are 

considered to be high, particularly in relation to Kitsap County’s fees and other nearby 

jurisdictions. A full breakdown of Port Orchard’s impact fees can be found in the appendices of 

the Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report. 

Water and sewer hookup fees and general facilities charges are difficult to compare due to 

different structures across municipalities, but Port Orchard’s fees seem to be at the higher end 

of the Kitsap region, at $11,571 per water hookup and $12,788 per sewer hookup per ERU 

(defined in the code as one single-family dwelling unit of any type, attached or detached). By 

comparison, Bremerton charges $4,245 for water hookups and Poulsbo charges $5,065 for 

water hookups and $11,211 for sewer hookups per ERU. 

Port Orchard does prorate its impact fees by unit type. This is a best practice in encouraging a 

diversity of housing types and sizes. However, the margins of discount for 2-4 unit buildings 

could be increased to incentivize more “middle housing” development. Senate Bill 5258, 

adopted in 2023 and codified in RCW 82.02.060, now requires that impact fees for residential 

development have proportionally lower fees for smaller housing units. The method of 

calculating the proportional impact fees must be “based on the square footage, number of 

bedrooms, or trips generated” by the new housing unit. The new legislation takes the best 

practice of prorating impact fees by housing unit type and size, and makes it a requirement 

across the State. Port Orchard will need to study its impact fee structure and potentially make 

adjustments or demonstrate that the existing fees comply with this new legislation.  

In addition, some cities reduce impact fees for affordable housing units and are allowed to 

reduce such fees by up to 80% under RCW 82.02.060. Port Orchard could consider some 

reductions for affordable housing units to incentivize more development of subsidized units. 

House Bill 1326, passed in 2023, now also authorizes waivers for utility connection charges for 

nonprofits and housing authorities building affordable housing. Finally, Port Orchard currently 

exempts small ADUs from sewer and water hookup fees as discussed in Section 5.4, another 

best practice in encouraging infill housing. 

Any reduction in impact or hookup fees or GFCs would need to be rebalanced elsewhere for 

market-rate development. 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 67 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.3 – Local Bank Funding 
Action: Encourage local banks to create a fund for affordable housing finance 

Under the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA), banks are required to meet the credit needs of 

low- and moderate-income households in communities in which they operate. Many banks meet 

their CRA requirements by investing in Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC), providing 

capital to nonprofit affordable housing providers who use the capital to build regulated 

affordable housing, usually for households earning under 60-80 percent of the AMI. Outside of 

LIHTC, some banks are also working with cities across the country to fund other types of 

affordable housing, including “workforce” housing for households earning between 80 and 120 

percent AMI, through non-tax credit programs.67 For example, the Charlotte Housing Opportunity 

Fund combines city bond money with private investment from banks to provide gap funding for 

affordable housing projects. The fund has doubled the city’s affordable housing finance pool 

since 2019, creating or preserving 1,047 housing units in the city.68 The Washington Housing 

Initiative Impact Pool is a similar nonprofit-run fund which targets housing for low- and 

moderate-income African American residents of Washington D.C.69 

Port Orchard could consider working with local banks to create a such housing fund which 

could be used for gap financing of affordable housing projects and which would encourage 

local banks to invest in the Port Orchard community. Outreach to and coordination with the local 

lending community could be part of the work of the housing coordinator position described in 

section 3.3. 

5.4 – Tax Increment Financing 
Action: Explore the potential to use Tax Increment Financing (TIF) for identified sites 

and projects in the Downtown and Waterfront areas. 

In 2021, Washington State granted new powers of tax increment financing (TIF) to the state’s 

cities, counties, and port districts.70 This funding mechanism allows municipalities to establish 

a geographic district (called the increment area) that is expected to benefit the most from a 

proposed new infrastructure investment. Typically, bonds are issued at the outset and the 

additional tax revenue resulting from the increased land and property values are then captured 

to pay for the new infrastructure and pay off the bonds.  

TIF is widely used in other states across the country, but Washington’s new program has some 

specific guidelines which differ from other states. In Washington, the state school levy and 

some other local taxes used to repay general obligation bonds are exempt. Additionally, TIF 

financing can only be used for specific authorized public improvements which are expected to 

 
67 Mattson-Teig, Beth. “Banks Focus CRA Dollars on Affordable Housing.” WealthManagement.com, Jan 2, 2020. 
https://www.wealthmanagement.com/finance-lending/banks-focus-cra-dollars-affordable-housing  
68 “Charlotte Housing Opportunity Investment Fund creates affordablew housing and model for the future.” LISC 
Strategic Investments, June 14, 2022. https://www.liscstrategicinvestments.org/post/choif-three-year-impact-report  
69 “Washington Housing Initiative Impact Pool: 2021 Impact Report.” JBG Smith. 
https://www.washingtonhousinginitiative.com/_files/ugd/36926a_182d6b3b6e814466a17bf33ec1616407.pdf  
70 “Tax Increment Financing (TIF)”. Municipal Research Service Center. https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-

Topics/Economic-Development/Financing-Economic-Development/Tax-Increment-Financing.aspx 

https://www.wealthmanagement.com/finance-lending/banks-focus-cra-dollars-affordable-housing
https://www.liscstrategicinvestments.org/post/choif-three-year-impact-report
https://www.washingtonhousinginitiative.com/_files/ugd/36926a_182d6b3b6e814466a17bf33ec1616407.pdf
https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Economic-Development/Financing-Economic-Development/Tax-Increment-Financing.aspx
https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Economic-Development/Financing-Economic-Development/Tax-Increment-Financing.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 68 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

encourage private development and increased assessed valuation which would not otherwise 

happen without the improvements. These improvements may be located inside or outside the 

increment area and include streets, water and sewer systems, sidewalks, streetlights, parking 

facilities, parks and recreational areas, broadband service, or brownfield mitigation. TIF can also 

be used to pay for long-term affordable housing, childcare service, providing maintenance and 

security for public improvements, and acquiring property for historic preservation. Unlike in 

other states, TIF funding in Washington can only be used for the specified projects or 

improvements set forth in the initial application, and project lists cannot be modified later. Thus, 

TIF is only applicable to existing and well-defined projects with specific infrastructure needs. 

The TIF district must have a maximum sunset date of 25 years and not have an assessed 

valuation greater than $20 million, and each city may not have more than two districts.71 

Explore the possibility of using TIF in Downtown to continue to catalyze redevelopment 

projects, street or active transportation investments. TIF could support infrastructure or utility 

investments to support denser mixed-use developments such as the proposed development at 

640 Bay Street72 could help support increasing housing supply downtown. TIF funds could also 

be used for identified projects in the Downtown Subarea Plan such as a concept plan to “break 

down the scale of existing large scale sites to provide a more walkable land-use pattern”, or for 

streetscape and pedestrian improvements to enhance livability of potential waterfront or 

downtown redevelopment sites, particularly if or when such sites have development proposals. 

73  

TIF funding could also be considered for the Bethel/Sedgewick Corridor, which was the subject 

of a corridor study in 2018 recommending changes to the road design which could be financed 

through this funding mechanism. 

  

 
71 “Washington State's Expanded TIF Authority Creates Powerful Catalyst for Public-Private Partnerships.” Denis 

Wright Tremaine. May 2022. https://www.dwt.com/insights/2021/05/washington-state-tax-increment-financing-
law 

72 Detailed in the “Project Spotlights: Downtown Mixed Use” section of the Existing Conditions and Housing Needs 
Analysis Report. 

73 City of Port Orchard. “Downtown Port Orchard Subarea Plan.” 
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/portorchardwa/uploads/2021/07/FINAL-ADOPTED-Downtown-Subarea-
Plan-and-Regs-reduced.pdf  

https://www.dwt.com/insights/2021/05/washington-state-tax-increment-financing-law
https://www.dwt.com/insights/2021/05/washington-state-tax-increment-financing-law
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/portorchardwa/uploads/2021/07/FINAL-ADOPTED-Downtown-Subarea-Plan-and-Regs-reduced.pdf
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/portorchardwa/uploads/2021/07/FINAL-ADOPTED-Downtown-Subarea-Plan-and-Regs-reduced.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 69 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.5 – Funding for ADU Development 
Action: Explore the possibility of partially financing or streamlining ADU development 

and permitting processes, particularly for lower-income homeowners. 

Cities across the U.S. have adopted a variety of programs designed to reduce the cost of ADU 

development for homeowners, including minimizing design review, waiving permit or utility fees, 

providing technical assistance, and providing sources of financing.74 Port Orchard currently 

allows ADUs of less than 1,000 square feet to be served by the same water and sewer 

connections as the primary residence, a significant savings.75 In addition, Port Orchard 

amended its ADU standards with Ordinance 038-22 in October 2022 which removes owner 

occupancy and parking requirements for ADUs, two of the most common barriers to ADU 

construction and feasibility. 

Numerous municipalities including Boston, Los Angeles, Montpelier, VT, and Santa Cruz County, 

CA have established programs which incorporate equity and loan assistance as well as 

technical assistance and simplified permitting processes.76 Funding sources for these 

programs include Community Development Block Grants, cities, philanthropists, and 

partnerships with nonprofits such as Habitat for Humanity. Many of these programs are 

targeted at lower-income renters, requiring either that the ADU be made available to households 

earning 80% AMI or lower, or to households using Housing Choice (Section 8) Vouchers. 

Onerous income reporting requirements can be a disincentive. 

In some cases, these programs have been targeted at lower-income homeowners as well, such 

as the Small Homes Northwest community ADU demonstration project implemented by 

Hacienda CDC in Portland and funded by the Oregon legislature, which helps income eligible 

homeowners develop ADUs in neighborhoods at risk of gentrification. 

  

 
74 Chapple, Karen, Wegmann, Jake, Mashood Farzad, and Coleman, Rebecca. “Jumpstarting the Market for Accessory 

Dwelling Units.” Urban land Institute. https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-
content/uploads/pdfs/Jumpstarting_the_Market_--_ULI.pdf 

75 Port Orchard Municipal Code 13.04.030(1)(e)(i), 13.04.040(1)(e)(i) 
76 ADU Aid Programs Across the U.S.” Villa. https://villahomes.com/blog/adu-aid-programs/ 

https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/Jumpstarting_the_Market_--_ULI.pdf
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/Jumpstarting_the_Market_--_ULI.pdf
https://villahomes.com/blog/adu-aid-programs/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 70 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

5.6 – State Advocacy 
Action: Advocate for additional state investment in the Housing Trust Fund, 

condominium law reform, and Growth Management Act updates. 

Surveying done for this HAP found strong community support for “City advocacy for more 

county, state, or federal funding for affordable housing projects.” Primarily, this should involve 

lobbying the Legislature for more funds in the state’s Housing Trust Fund, which provides 

capital funding.77 The trust has helped build or preserve more than 50,000 affordable housing 

units statewide since 1986. The Legislature appropriates funding to the trust every biennium. 

More money in the trust would help smaller communities like Port Orchard (and the affordable 

housing providers who work in Port Orchard) have a greater chance of receiving funding. 

Port Orchard could also update its legislative agenda with condominium legislation reform. 

Condos are a highly in-demand type of ownership housing, especially for first-time homebuyers 

and seniors seeking to downgrade, but they are rarely built in Washington State due to the 

liabilities placed on developers under state law.78, 79 The main barriers are a requirement for a 

10-year warranty against construction defects and additional building code and inspection 

requirements that do not apply to rental apartments. 

The City may comment on reform to the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), which can add 

significant delay and complications to approval of residential development. Advocacy might 

involve exempting all residential development from SEPA review if the development intensity is 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

In addition, the City may comment on updates to state law that affect land use, housing, zoning, 

and transportation (as noted in Section 1.6). The City should provide input on proposals that 

affect the implementation of the Housing Action Plan, either independently or through its 

involvement in statewide organizations like the Association of Washington Cities. 

Continued coordination and involvement with regional partners (such as Kitsap County) and the 

federal government is also recommended to promote and fund affordable housing.  

 
77 “Housing Trust Fund.” Washington State Department of Commerce. https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-

infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/ 
78 “Washington state’s condo law changes could ease restrictions.” Spokane Journal of Business, November 2021. 

https://www.spokanejournal.com/special-report/washington-states-condo-law-changes-could-ease-restrictions/ 
79 “As Gen X and Boomers Age, They Confront Living Alone.” The New York Times. November 2022. 

https://www.nytimes.com/2022/11/27/us/living-alone-aging.html 

https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/
https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/
https://www.spokanejournal.com/special-report/washington-states-condo-law-changes-could-ease-restrictions/
https://www.nytimes.com/2022/11/27/us/living-alone-aging.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 71 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

6 – Implementation 
The planning matrix below organizes the actions of this Housing Action Plan. The City Council 

and Mayor will be involved in most or all action implementation through ordinances, resolutions, 

budgeting, and partnerships with other agencies. This matrix should be used as a framework for 

regular progress reports on implementation and could be a live document on the City website. 

# Description Priority 

Lead 

Department Time Cost Method 

Regulatory Strategies 

2.1 Expand the allowed 

uses 

High Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

2.2 Streamline the building 

type standards 

Medium Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

2.3 Adjust form and 

intensity standards 

High Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

2.4 Adjust other standards Medium Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Development 

regulation ordinances 

Programmatic Strategies 

3.1 Anti-displacement 

strategies 

Medium City Council Ongoing $$ Tenant Protection 
Ordinance and future 
amendments as 
needed 
  
Other strategies: 

Further study, City 

budget, and future 

ordinances  

3.2 Homelessness 

strategies 

Medium 

High 

City Council Ongoing $$ Intermediate actions 

 

Other actions: Further 

study and City Budget 

3.3 Hire a housing 

coordinator 

Medium City Council 0-6 

months 

$$ City Budget 

Citywide Planning Strategies 

4.1 Housing Element 

updates 

Medium Planning 

Services 

12-24 

months 

$$ Comprehensive Plan 

annual amendment 

and major periodic 

update 

4.2 Land Use Element 

updates 

High Planning 

Services 

12-24 

months 

$$ Comprehensive Plan 

annual amendment 

and major periodic 

update 

4.3 Public land for 

affordable housing 

Low City Council 

(with Planning 

Services) 

Ongoing $$$ Partnerships, City 

budget, policy in 

resolution or 

Comprehensive Plan, 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 72 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

# Description Priority 

Lead 

Department Time Cost Method 

and future 

ordinances 

4.4 McCormick East 

Future Neighborhood 

Planning 

Medium Planning 

Services 

12-24 

months 

$$ Comprehensive Plan 

major periodic 

update 

Funding Strategies 

5.1 Adjust the multifamily 

tax exemption 

program 

High Planning 

Services (with 

City Treasurer 

and City 

Council) 

0-6 

months 

$ MFTE ordinances 

5.2 Development fee 

adjustments 

Low Planning 

Services 

0-6 

months 

$ Fee schedule 

updates 

5.3 Local bank funding Low City Council 

(with Planning 

Services) 

Ongoing $ Partnerships 

5.4 Tax increment 

financing 

Medium Planning 

Services (with 

City Treasurer) 

6-12 

months 

$ Further study and 

future ordinance  

5.5  Funding for ADU 

development 

Medium Planning 

Services (with 

City Treasurer) 

6-12 

months 

$$ City Budget 

5.6 State advocacy Low City Council Ongoing $ Legislative agenda 

and engagement with 

American Planning 

Association WA and 

Association of 

Washington Cities 

Figure 24. Implementation matrix 

6.1 – High Priority Implementation 
Given the limited resources of government, it is important to set priorities. The following items 

are high priority for implementation within the next 12 months. 

• Adjust the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) program 

• Comprehensive Plan Land Use and Housing element updates 

• Development regulation updates 

6.2 – Monitoring 
The only way to know if housing actions are successful is to measure and report on outcomes. 

By developing a monitoring program, Port Orchard can track progress toward achieving housing 

goals and identify where more work or changes are needed. Interviews with housing developers 

one year after HAP adoption (or at other regular intervals) can also be helpful to get feedback 

on what HAP actions are working well and where there may still be barriers. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – June 2023                 Page 73 
DRAFT – MAY 24, 2023 

Monitoring will be a key role of the new Housing Coordinator staff position. Even so, integrating 

monitoring into existing work and activities could help preserve limited staff time. Monitoring 

the HAP implementation could be merged into:  

• DCD’s annual or monthly reports to the City Council 

• Monitoring of population growth and development permits 

• Comprehensive plan monitoring 

• Buildable lands reports 

Potential performance metrics based on the HAP Existing Conditions and Housing Needs 

Analysis Report are listed below. 

 

HAP Objective Performance Metric Target 
Greater housing diversity 

with a greater variety of 

housing types accessible 

to a greater variety of 

incomes, for both rental 

and homeownership 

opportunities 

Number of duplex, triplex, fourplex, ADUs, 

and small apartment units permitted 

10-20% of new housing units are in 

projects with 2-20 units 

Number of mixed-use and urban style 

apartment with structured parking 

permitted 

One development every two years 

Slow down and stabilize 

the rise in housing prices 

Home price increases Annual median home price increases 

are lower than regional, state, or 

national increases 

Rental price increases Annual median rental price increases 

are lower than regional, state, or 

national increases 

Vacancy rate Rental unit vacancy rates reach 6-8% 

Refine regulatory 

standards to reduce 

barriers to housing 

development 

Overall housing production Average annual production rate within 

± 20% of that needed to meet the 

Comprehensive Plan 20-year target 

Housing diversity 10-20% of new housing units are in 

projects with 2-20 units 

Adopt new financial tools 

to support and promote 

development of affordable 

housing 

Affordable housing production for cost-

burdened low-income households (80% 

AMI and below) 

Average annual production rate within 

± 20% of that needed to meet the 

Comprehensive Plan income-based 20-

year targets 

MFTE program participation 25-50 new affordable units per year 

added from MFTE projects 

Figure 25. Monitoring matrix 



 
DRAFT – APRIL 25, 2023 

Appendix A 
Downtown Height Limit Considerations 

There is a long history of protecting views in the Downtown area. However, Downtown is also 

one of the most favorable locations for affordable mixed-use and infill housing due to its transit 

connections and walkability. This creates a conflict between the objectives of view protection 

and Comprehensive Plan goals for expanded housing affordability and choice.  

The compromise currently in place is the Downtown Height Overlay District (DHOD), which 

provides greater height limits than the underlying Downtown zoning (Downtown Mixed Use and 

Gateway Mixed Use). The DHOD is divided into three sub-zones, and there were slightly 

modified with adoption of the 2021 Downtown Subarea Plan.80 

Zone Height Limits 

Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) 38 feet, three stories 

Gateway Mixed Use (GMU) 38 feet, three stories 

Downtown Height Overlay District (DHOD) DHOD 3: 48 feet, three stories 

DHOD 4: 58 feet, four stories 

DHOD 5: 68 feet, five stories 

Figure 26. Height limits in Downtown 

While Downtown would also be an ideal location for affordable (subsidized) housing under the 

MFTE program, no height limit changes or bonus incentive is proposed in Downtown zones to 

avoid conflict with the existing 10-feet bonus height available for a mixed-used development 

which includes a grocery store (POMC 20.38.640). Locating a grocery in Downtown has also 

been a longstanding objective; however, it is only likely to occur when the market demand for 

such a store is stimulated by a larger Downtown resident population, which can be enabled 

through more housing development. Further, the benefits of a height bonus would accrue to the 

developer, not the grocery tenant, which creates development risk of a grocer expecting a rent 

subsidy and the City not allowing any other tenants if the original grocer leaves. In any case, a 

grocery tenant is not likely to locate in Downtown until there is a strong enough market. These 

are additional tradeoffs to consider. 

The View Protection Overlay District (VPOD), which covers several blocks uphill from Bay Street, 

has current height limits of 15 and 27 feet. Uniquely, in the VPOD these height limits are 

measured from the uphill property line, so these relatively low limits could still allow relatively 

large multi-story buildings that are built into the hillside. Further modifications to the VPOD 

could consider that private view easements are an alternative mechanism for property owners 

to preserve views. 

 
80 Downtown Subarea Plan, City of Port Orchard. https://portorchardwa.gov/downtown-subarea-plan/ 

 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2038.html
https://portorchardwa.gov/downtown-subarea-plan/


Appendix B 
Existing Conditions Report & Housing Needs 

Analysis 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 1 

Port Orchard Housing Action Plan 
Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report   
April 14, 2023 
 

Introduction 
The Port Orchard Housing Action Plan (HAP) defines strategies and implementing actions that 
promote greater housing diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity for residents of all 
income levels. The process to develop the HAP included a review of Port Orchard's system of 
policies, programs, and regulations which shape opportunities for housing development.  

The purpose of this effort is to define strategies and actions that promote greater housing 
diversity, affordability, and access to opportunity for residents of all income levels. 

The HAP is intended to inform updates to the Port Orchard Comprehensive Plan (most notably 
the Land Use and Housing elements) and to guide implementation strategies such as 
development regulations, housing programs, fee structures, and infrastructure spending 
priorities. 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

Section 1 – Community Profile ............................................................................................... 3 

Section 2 – Housing Inventory and Production Trends ........................................................ 3 

Section 3 – Cost Trends ........................................................................................................ 32 

Section 4 – Housing and Service Needs .............................................................................. 37 

Section 5 – Housing Funding and Monetary Tools ............................................................. 43 

Section 6 – Housing Policies ................................................................................................ 48 

Section 7 – Land Capacity Analysis ..................................................................................... 65 

Appendix A – Kitsap County Impact Fee Comparison ........................................................ 65 

Appendix B – Comprehensive Plan Policies ........................................................................ 69 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 2 

Abbreviations 

ACS. American Community Survey, an annual product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

AMI. Area median income. 

BIPOC. Black, Indigenous, (and) People of Color. 

CHAS. Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy, a product of the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development. 

GIS. Geographic Information System. 

HAP. Housing Action Plan. 

HUD. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

LEHD. Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics, a product of the U.S. Census Bureau. 

MFI. Medium family income. 

MFTE. Multifamily tax exemption program. 

MHI. Medium household income. 

MSA. Metropolitan Statistical Area. 

POMC. Port Orchard Municipal Code (city law). 

OFM. Washington State Office of Financial Management. 

RCW. Revised Code of Washington (state law). 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 3 

Section 1 – Community Profile 
The Community Profile discusses Port Orchard’s current and future population and the age, 
race, and ethnicity of residents. It also discusses the size, income, and characteristics of the 
City’s households, as well as households with specific needs and risks such as cost-burdened 
households, older adults, and adults with disabilities. These demographic and household 
characteristics provide background and context for the types of housing required to better serve 
all of Port Orchard’s residents. 

Population and Demographics 
Historic and Future Population 
Port Orchard’s population in 2020 was 15,587 according to the U.S. Census. The Washington 
Office of Financial Management Postcensal 2022 population estimate for the city is 16,400. 
Figure 1 shows the city’s population trends since 1960, average annual growth rates by decade, 
and the latest Port Orchard 2044 population target of 26,087 residents as detailed in the Kitsap 
County Countywide Planning Policy Update.  

Port Orchard is a fast-growing community that has historically grown more rapidly than national 
and statewide averages. The city grew at an average annual rate of about 2.8 percent since 
1960, but growth accelerated around 2000. Since 2000 the city has grown on average 4.0 
percent annually, an increase of 9,442 residents. By comparison, Kitsap County grew at a rate of 
0.9 percent per year over the same period and national population growth was 0.7 percent in the 
2000-2020 period. The 2020 census and 2044 population target represent an expected annual 
growth rate of 2.2 percent per year, though recent trends have suggested higher growth rates 
closer to 3 percent indicating that Port Orchard may exceed its planning target. 

Figure 1.  Port Orchard Population, Historic Through 2020 and Projected Through 2044 with Annual Growth 
Rates. Sources: WA OFM (Historic Population), Kitsap County Countywide Planning Policy Update 
10/4/2022 (Projections) 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2044

An
nu

al
 G

ro
w

th
 R

at
e

Po
pu

la
tio

n

Population Annual Growth Rate



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 4 

The City of Port Orchard annexed a large amount of acreage between 2010 and 2012, which 
contributed to the comparatively rapid population growth in the 2010s. During this period, the 
City annexed 1,400 acres comprising 515 parcels. Together, the newly annexed areas make up 
19.5% of Port Orchard’s total acreage. Without granular population numbers at a parcel level, it 
is difficult to assess exactly how many new residents are represented by this area, but these 
annexations have certainly affected the rapid growth rates seen over the past 20 years. 

Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Language  
Figure 2 shows the racial and ethnic breakdown of the Port Orchard and Kitsap County 
populations. Port Orchard is about 67 percent White, compared with 76 percent in Kitsap 
County. The city has a higher share of Hispanic/Latino and mixed-race residents than the 
county and similar shares of Asian and Black/African-American residents. 

 

Figure 2. Racial and Ethnic Distribution in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American 
Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05 

The Port Orchard population is somewhat younger than regional and statewide populations, as 
shown in Figure 3. Over half the population is under 35 years old, and 14 percent of residents 
are over 65, compared with 18 percent countywide. This younger population suggests a current 
need for smaller or more affordable housing units, and the potential for larger units as younger 
residents age and form households in coming decades. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County

Hispanic / Latino

Other / Two or More Races

Native Hawaiian /  Pacific Islander

Asian

American Indian / Alaska Native

Black / African American

White



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 5 

 

Figure 3. Age Distribution in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05 

The chart below shows the age distribution of Port Orchard residents by sex. Generally, there 
are more males in the 25 to 54 age group and more females in older age cohorts. 

 

Figure 4. Age Distribution by Sex in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American 
Community Survey, Table S0101 

Most Port Orchard residents are citizens born in the United States. About a third of Port 
Orchard’s residents were born in the state of Washington. About half were born in another state 
(including U.S. territories). Almost five percent were born in Asia, with small numbers born in 
other regions of the world, as seen in Figure 5. 

25% 22% 24%

26%
22% 22%

12%
12% 13%

11%
12% 12%

11%
14% 13%

14% 18% 15%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County Washington

65 and older

55 to 64

45 to 54

35 to 44

20 to 34

19 and younger

-1,400 -1,200 -1,000 -800 -600 -400 -200 0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200 1,400

Under 5 years

5 to 9 years

10 to 14 years

15 to 19 years

20 to 24 years

25 to 34 years

35 to 44 years

45 to 54 years

55 to 59 years

60 to 64 years

65 to 74 years

75 to 84 years

85 years and over
Male
Female



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 6 

Place of Birth Percent Total 
USA (same state) 37.0% 5,292 
USA (other state) 52.3% 7,480 
Europe 0.6% 79 
Asia 4.8% 685 
Africa 0.0% 0 
Oceania 0.1% 20 
Latin America 1.3% 188 
Northern America 0.4% 59 

Figure 5. Port Orchard Residents Place of Birth, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table CP02 

Most Port Orchard households speak English as a first language. Almost six percent, or 815 
households, speak an Asian or Pacific Island language, and about two percent, or 272 
households, speak Spanish at home.  

Census data on English language proficiency is not available at the geographic scale of Port 
Orchard, but across all of Kitsap County, about 29 percent of Spanish speakers and 39 percent 
of Asian or Pacific Island language speakers do not speak English “very well.” Limited English 
proficiency can have implications for housing security if materials are not translated or there is 
confusion over contracts, expectations, or tenant rights. 

Language  Percent Total 
English 91.8% 13,130 
Spanish 1.9% 272 
Indo-European languages 0.6% 86 
Asian/ Pacific Island languages 5.7% 815 
Other languages 0.1% 14 

Figure 6. Language Spoken at Home, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 
Table S1601  

Household Characteristics 
Household Size, Type, and Tenure 
The U.S. Census Bureau defines a household as “all the people who occupy a housing unit.” 
Households can be comprised of any combination of related family members, unrelated people, 
or individuals.1 The 2020 American Community Survey estimated about 5,517 total households 
in Port Orchard, up from about 4,316 households in 2010—an increase of about 28 percent, or 
2.5 percent per year. Figure 7 shows total households, occupied households, and the vacancy 
rate over the past decade.  

The vacancy rate compares the total number of occupied versus unoccupied units. This 
accounts for all “natural vacancies” due to units on the market being available for sale or rent, 
second homes and seasonal homes, vacation rentals, and any other type of unoccupied 
housing. See Section 2 for more information on market-based vacancy rates. 

 
1 U.S. Census Bureau: Subject Definitions. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 7 

The vacancy rate has fluctuated from seven percent in 2010 to as high as 14 percent in 2015 
but has decreased to 5.6 percent in 2020.This decreasing vacancy rate suggests increased 
demand for housing in the city. 

 

Figure 7. Vacancy Rates and Housing Unit Occupancy, 2010-2020. Source: 2010-2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25002 

The following table shows household composition in Port Orchard and Kitsap County. Overall, 
the shares of family and non-family households are very similar to county averages, with nearly 
70 percent of households classified as family households, about half of which are married 
couples. Twenty-two percent of Port Orchard residents live alone, and about half of those 
residents are over 65 years old. Household composition data can provide insight into the 
various types and sizes of housing to best meet the needs of the city’s residents. 

 Port Orchard Kitsap County 
Household Type Total Percent Total Percent 
Total Households 5,517 100% 105,758 100% 
  Family households 3,819 69% 71,415 68% 
    Married-couple family 2,995 54% 56,388 53% 
    Other family 824 15% 15,027 14% 
  Nonfamily households 1,698 31% 34.343 32% 
    Householder living alone 1,214 22% 25,787 24% 
    Householder 65 years and over 601 11% 11,396 11% 
Figure 8. Household Composition in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 
5-Year Estimates, Table S2501 

Figure 9 shows tenure in Port Orchard. About 60 percent of households are homeowners and 40 
percent are renters. This is broadly similar to statewide averages though a higher share of 
renter households than in Kitsap County, likely owing to the large number of apartments in Port 
Orchard compared to the rest of the county. 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Va
ca

nc
y 

Ra
te

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s

Vacancy Rate Total Housing Units Occupied Housing Units



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 8 

 

Figure 9. Tenure in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 5-Year Estimates, 
Table S2501 

Renters can face increased housing instability due to evictions and rent increases not faced by 
homeowners. In addition, renters are more likely to be BIPOC and lower-income households, 
compounding the effects of these housing challenges. As shown below in Figure 10, about 86 
percent of ownership households in Port Orchard have a householder who identifies as White, 
compared with 64 percent of renter households. Nationally, Black households had the highest 
renter rate in 2022 at 55 percent, and Hispanic households were at 51 percent, compared to 26 
percent for white households.2 Additionally, as discussed below under “Income” and shown in 
Figure 14, renters in Port Orchard earn less than homeowners, with a median household income 
for renter households of $46,209 in 2020 compared to $97,504 for ownership households. 

Race of Householder Ownership Households Renter Households 
One Race   
    White 89.4% 71.5% 
    Black or African-American 2.2% 4.5% 
    American Indian or Alaska Native 0.3% 0.0% 
    Asian 3.0% 4.3% 
    Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 0.8% 8.8% 
    Some Other Race 0.5% 3.2% 
Two or More Races 3.8% 7.8% 
Hispanic or Latino Origin 6.2% 12.9% 
White alone, not Hispanic or Latino 86.4% 64.4% 
All Households 60.1% 39.9% 
Figure 10. Tenure by Race in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 5-Year 
Estimates, Table S2502 

 
2 Harvard University Joint Center for Housing Studies, “The State of the Nation’s Housing 2022” 

60%
68% 63%

40%
32% 37%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County Washington

Renter-occupied

Owner-occupied



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 9 

Figure 11 shows the breakdown of Port Orchard’s households by tenure and household size. 
About 34 percent of households are two-person households, and 27 percent have four or more 
members. Renters make up a slightly larger share of smaller households, although 11 percent of 
four-or-more-person households are also renters. 

 

Figure 11. Port Orchard Tenure by Household Size, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) 
5-Year Estimates, Table S2501 

The average household size in Port Orchard is 2.4 people per household3. 

There is a mismatch between housing size and household size in Port Orchard. Fifty-six percent 
of households are made up of one or two people, whereas only 37 percent of housing units are 
studio, one- or two-bedroom units, as shown below in Figure 11. Although smaller households 
may prefer to live in larger units, this type of mismatch can cause housing affordability issues if 
smaller households are forced to rent more expensive larger units due to supply constraints. 

 
3 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04 

0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200 1,400 1,600 1,800 2,000

1-person household

2-person household

3-person household

4-or-more-person household

Ownership Households Renter Households



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 10 

  

Figure 12. Household Size and Housing Unit Size in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, DP04 

When analyzed by tenure, there are more significant disparities in household size and housing 
unit size for homeowners, as shown below in Figure 12. Only 2 percent of ownership housing 
units are studio or one-bedroom units, whereas 53 percent of ownership households are one- or 
two-person households. The rental housing stock is more closely matched with renters’ 
household sizes in the city. This shows that residents in smaller households seeking to 
purchase housing may face difficulties and higher costs due to lack of availability of small 
ownership units. 

  

Figure 13. Household Size and Housing Unit Size by Tenure in Port Orchard, 2020. Source: 2020 American 
Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Tables S2501, S2504 

1-person 
household

22%

2-person 
household

34%

3-person 
household

16%

4+ person 
household

27%

Household Size

Studio / 1 
bedroom

10%

2 
bedrooms

27%

3 
bedrooms

41%

4+ 
bedrooms

20%

Housing Unit Size

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Owners Renters

Household Size

1 person HH 2 person HH

3 person HH 4+ person HH

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Owners Renters

Housing Unit Size

0-1 bedroom 2-3 bedrooms

4+ bedrooms



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 11 

Income  
The median household income (MHI) in Port Orchard was $71,719 in 2020, $7,250 less than the 
Kitsap County MHI and $5,287 less than the statewide average. The Port Orchard MFI increased 
21 percent since 2010, when adjusted for inflation. This is significantly higher than the 12 
percent increase in Kitsap County and 14 percent increase across Washington during the same 
timeframe, as shown in Figure 13.   

 
Figure 14. Inflation-Adjusted Median Household Income in Port Orchard and Region, 2010-2020. Source: 
2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, CPI Inflation Index 

Renters in Port Orchard earn considerably less than 
homeowners. In 2020, the MHI for ownership 
households was $97,524, compared to only $46,209 for 
renter households. In addition, renters in Port Orchard 
have seen only a five percent increase in incomes 
between 2010 and 2020, compared to a 29 percent 
increase in incomes of ownership households, when 
adjusted for inflation. Rental households’ lower 
incomes and slower income growth compared with 
ownership households raises concerns over the ability 
of renters to keep up with rising housing costs or to 
move into homeownership, particularly given that 
wealthier ownership households may be able to pay 
more for housing. 

For the Bremerton-Silverdale Metropolitan Statistical 
Area (MSA), the 2022 median family income (MFI) is $102,500 and the 2020 MFI was $91,700.  

$59,325

$75,600

$44,074

$70,268 $67,548
$71,719

$97,524

$46,209

$78,969 $77,006

Port Orchard
(All Households)

Port Orchard
(Ownership Households)

Port Orchard
(Renter Households)

Kitsap County Washington

2010 2020

Median family income (MFI) is used 
by the U.S. Department of Housing 
and Urban Development to set 
income limits for subsidized 
affordable housing. Data in this report 
about cost-burdened households and 
affordable housing thresholds is 
based on the MFI measurement. 

MFI is based on Census-reported 
family incomes and based on a 
household of four people. As a result, 
MFI is typically higher than the 
median household income (MHI), 
which is an average from all 
households regardless of size. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 12 

When broken down across income levels, the largest share of Port Orchard households earn 
between $75,000 and $100,000 per year, as shown in Figure 14. Port Orchard has smaller 
shares of high-income earners making over $150,000 per year than Kitsap County, and a much 
larger share of the lowest-income households earning less than $10,000 per year than 
countywide averages. This shows a high level of need for subsidized affordable housing, 
discussed further in Section 2 under “Affordable Housing.” 

 

Figure 15. Household Income in the Past 12 Months, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates, Table B19001 

Figure 16 below is from HUD Comprehensive Housing 
Affordability Strategy (CHAS) data4 for 2019 and shows 
a breakdown of Port Orchard’s households by income 
level and tenure. Almost half of Port Orchard residents 
(46 percent) earn less than 80 percent of the AMI, a 
common threshold for subsidized housing eligibility. 
About 69 percent of renter-occupied households earn 
less than 80 percent AMI, while 30 percent of owner-
occupied households earn less than 80 percent AMI.  

Additionally, over a quarter (28 percent) of renters earn under 30 percent of the AMI, or $27,500 
for a family of four, demonstrating the need for more subsidized affordable housing in Port 
Orchard, which is typically the only type of housing that can meet these deep affordability levels. 
Stakeholders described over 1,000 people are on the waiting list for housing vouchers at the 
Kitsap Housing Authority, which manages vouchers in both Bremerton and Port Orchard. 

 
4 Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy, a HUD dataset based on calculations from the American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates that provides a series of tables demonstrating housing problems and needs. 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

< 
$1

0k

$1
0k

-K
20

k

$2
0k

-$
30

k

$3
0k

-$
40

k

$4
0k

-$
50

k

$5
0k

-$
60

k

$6
0k

-$
75

k

$7
5k

-$
10

0k

$1
00

k-
$1

25
k

$1
25

k-
$1

50
k

$1
50

k-
$2

00
k

$2
00

k+

Port Orchard

Kitsap County

Area median income (AMI) is another 
data point often used by local 
governments to set income limits for 
subsidized affordable housing. It is 
the household income for the 
median/'middle' household in a given 
region. 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 13 

 

Figure 16. Port Orchard Households by Income Level and Tenure. Source: 2015-2019 HUD CHAS data. 

Vehicle Ownership 
Figure 16 shows number of vehicles available to Port Orchard households by the tenure of unit. 
Owner-occupied units are more likely to have two or three vehicles, while renter-occupied units 
are more likely to have one to two vehicles. Also of note, 14 percent of renter households have 
no access to a vehicle. These vehicle ownership ratios are similar to statewide averages, 
although ownership households are slightly more likely to have two vehicles in Port Orchard 
than statewide. 

 

Figure 17. Vehicle Ownership by Tenure of Unit, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table B25044 

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500

< 30% AMI

30-50% AMI

50-80% AMI

80-100% AMI

100%+ AMI

Owner Renter

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

No vehicle
available

1 vehicle available 2 vehicles
available

3 vehicles
available

4 vehicles
available

5 or more vehicles
available

Owner Renter



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 14 

Employment Trends 
Understanding workforce and employment trends is essential for housing planning. A growing, 
shrinking, or shifting economy can affect residents’ ability to afford housing and limit or expand 
their housing choices. Strong economies in nearby communities can also affect commuting and 
residential patterns. 

Figure 18 shows changes in Port Orchard’s top employment sectors from 2009 to 2019, the year 
of the most recent Census employment data. Retail jobs have increased significantly, and health 
care and food service jobs have also seen growth since the 2008 recession. The large number 
of public administration jobs reflect county offices within Port Orchard, the county seat. 

 

Figure 18. Job Trends by Top Sectors in Port Orchard, 2009-2019. Source: U.S. Census Bureau Longitudinal 
Employer-Household Dynamics (LEHD) via Census OnTheMap 

Figure 19 shows the top job sectors in the city and the top job sectors worked by Port Orchard 
residents. Many of the employees in the top sectors, particularly retail and public administration, 
are not Port Orchard residents. On the other hand, there are larger shares of residents who work 
in professional services, education, and manufacturing than jobs in the city. This reflects a 
variety of scenarios, including technology/knowledge workers employed in Seattle, regional 
educators at schools in nearby cities, and industrial employees in surrounding areas, potentially 
connected to the Naval shipyard in Bremerton. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

Retail Trade

Public Administration

Health Care / Social Assistance

Accommodation / Food

Construction

Professional Services



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 15 

 
Figure 19. Top Job Sectors in Port Orchard and Jobs Worked by Port Orchard Residents, 2019. Source: U.S. 
Census Bureau Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (LEHD) via Census OnTheMap 

The map below shows commuting patterns of Port Orchard workers as of 2019, the year of the 
most recent Census commuter data. About 585 workers, or 11.7 percent of Port Orchard 
employees, both lived and worked in the city. 6,540 workers lived outside of the city and 
commute in for work, and 4,396 workers lived in the city but commuted to work elsewhere.  

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Jobs in Port Orchard Jobs Worked by Port Orchard Residents



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 16 

 

Figure 20. Port Orchard Commuting Inflow and Outflow, 2019. Source: U.S. Census Bureau LEHD 
(Longitudial Employer-Household Dynamics) via Census OnTheMap tool. 

As shown below in Figure 21, a similar amount of Port Orchard residents were working in 
Seattle, Port Orchard, and Bremerton in 2019. Smaller shares of residents were working in other 
nearby locales, including unincorporated East Port Orchard. This data is not yet available for 
more recent years but monitoring these commuting trends will be important due to the changes 
in workplace dynamics and remote work since the COVID-19 pandemic that began in 2020.   
  

Work Location  Percent  
Seattle city, WA  12.3%  
Port Orchard city, WA  11.7%  
Bremerton city, WA  10.8%  
Silverdale CDP, WA  5.0%  
East Port Orchard CDP, WA  4.7%  
Tacoma city, WA  4.3%  
Gig Harbor city, WA  4.0%  
Bellevue city, WA  2.2%  
Kent city, WA  1.7%  
Poulsbo city, WA  1.5%  
All Other Locations  41.6%  

Figure 21. Port Orchard Commuting Locations, 2019. Source: U.S. Census Bureau LEHD (Longitudial 
Employer-Household Dynamics) via Census OnTheMap tool. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 17 

Puget Sound Naval Shipyard 
The Puget Sound Naval Shipyard in Bremerton is part of Naval Base Kitsap (NBK), a large 
military installation across multiple sites in Kitsap County. The military is a significant 
contributor to the economy of the region.  

As of 2017, NBK contributed $4 billion to the regional economy, including $1.1 billion in payroll, 
$792 million in operations and contracts, $14 million in visitor spending, and $2.1 billion in 
direct military and civilian payroll to residents residing in Kitsap, Jefferson, and Mason counties. 
The installation as a whole has 45,532 employees, including 31,585 military and civilian 
personnel residing in the same counties.5 Average salaries of enlisted personnel were $33,400, 
plus an annual housing allowance of $12,000 - $25,000, and average salaries of civilian 
employees were $74,000 as of 2014.6  

Data provided by the Navy for all civilian employees across Kitsap County shows a total 
workforce of 19,184, an average age of 42, and a median income of $84,181. Nearly half of 
civilian employees have an educational attainment of high school level or below, and about 30 
percent have a Bachelors’ degree or higher. Note that this data does not include military 
personnel or contractors, whose numbers fluctuate significantly. This fluctuating employment 
base can reflect the need for short- or medium-term housing heard during stakeholder 
interviews for this planning process. However, this data does provide a picture of the average 
civilian employee of the larger Naval Base Kitsap operation. 

This data demonstrates the overall importance of the military to the economy of the Kitsap 
Peninsula. Port Orchard’s proximity to the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard results in housing 
demand in the city from shipyard employees. Detailed demographics of shipyard employees 
were not available for this study, but interviews with stakeholders, city council, and community 
members in Port Orchard suggest that Navy employees contribute significantly to housing 
demand in the city, particularly for smaller units and shorter-term housing options due to the 
nature of military operations.  

The Kitsap Economic Development Alliance notes that the shipyard is anticipated to see 
significant investment through the Navy’s 21-year, $20 billion Shipyard Infrastructure 
Optimization Program (SIOP), suggesting continued economic and housing impacts in the 
region.7 

  

 
5 Naval Base Kitsap. “Naval Base Kitsap Operations and Economic Contributions.” 
http://www2.economicgateway.com/media/userfiles/subsite_197/files/nbk-economic-impact-factsheets.pdf  
6 Naval Base Kitsap and Naval Magazine Indian Island Joint Land Use Study, September 2015. 
http://compplan.kitsapgov.com/Documents/KIIJLUS_Full.pdf. Note that More recent wage and Bremerton-specific 
employee data from the Navy was not available as of February 2023. 
7 Kitsap Economic Development Alliance. “Kitsap is a Leader in the States and Nation’s Defense Industry.” 
https://www.kitsapeda.org/key-industries/defense  

http://www2.economicgateway.com/media/userfiles/subsite_197/files/nbk-economic-impact-factsheets.pdf
http://compplan.kitsapgov.com/Documents/KIIJLUS_Full.pdf
https://www.kitsapeda.org/key-industries/defense


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 18 

Section 2 – Housing Inventory and Production Trends 
This section discusses the type and age of Port Orchard’s existing housing stock and current 
and future housing production. It also identifies special housing types in Port Orchard such as 
subsidized affordable units and senior housing. An inventory of existing housing creates a 
baseline for future housing planning and identifies market trends. 

Total Housing Units  
Port Orchard’s 5,577 housing units account for approximately five percent of Kitsap County’s 
housing units. The breakdown of unit types is shown below in Figure 22. Sixty-three percent of 
units are single-family detached units, somewhat less than the county. Port Orchard has a 
noticeably higher share of buildings with 5-19 units than the county, and an overall higher share 
of multifamily units. 

 

Figure 22. Housing Unit Type in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04. 

 

 

63%
70%

5%

4%
3%

2%
5%

3%7%
3%

8%
4%

5%
6%

3% 7%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County

Mobile home

20 or more units

10 to 19 units

5 to 9 units

3 or 4 units

2 units

1-unit, attached

1-unit, detached



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 19 

Housing Age and Production 
Figure 23 shows the age of housing stock in Port Orchard as of 2020. The city has a 
considerably younger housing stock than Kitsap County overall, with 57 percent of housing built 
since 1990, compared with 40 percent countywide. However, Port Orchard also contains a 
slightly larger share of older buildings constructed before 1950 than the county, at 23 percent.  

 

Figure 23. Age of Housing in Port Orchard and Kitsap County, 2020. Source: 2020 American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04. 

Building permit issuance data shown below in Figure 20 corroberates this data on housing age. 
A significant number of multifamily housing permits were issued in the 1990s, and multifamily 
permitting has accelerated in the past decade, as have single-family housing permits. This data 
shows issued permits, not completions, so much of the housing shown in the past several years 
has not yet been occupied but is in the pipeline. 

9% 8%

7% 6%

7%
4%

5%
7%

10% 18%

10%

17%

21%

21%

20%

14%

12%
5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Port Orchard Kitsap County

2010 or later

2000-2009

1990-1999

1980-1989

1970-1979

1960-1969

1950-1959

1940-1949

1939 or earlier



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 20 

 

Figure 24. Port Orchard Building Permits Issued by Unit Type, 1980-2022 (to date). Source: HUD State of the 
Cities Data Systems (SOCDS) 

Figure 25 shows expected dates when certificates of occupancy will be granted for permitted 
housing in the pipeline. In total, 5,198 units are permitted and expected to be completed in Port 
Orchard in the coming years, and 2,482 of those units are planned to be completed between 
2022 and 2024, of which 45 percent will be multifamily units. This high rate of housing 
production will nearly double the city’s housing inventory within the next several years. 

 

Figure 25. Number of Units Permitted with Certificates of Occupancy Expected 2022 and Later by Unit Type. 
Source: City of Port Orchard. 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Single-Family Duplex Triplex / 4-Plex 5+ Unit Multifamily

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2022 2023 2024 Permitting
Initiated,
Timeline
Uncertain

Mixed-Use Development

5+ Unit Apartment

4-Plex

Townhouse

Single Family & Townhouse

Single Family



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 21 

Interviews with developers and stakeholders conducted by the project team in summer 2022 
confirmed a large amount of single-family and apartment construction both underway and 
planned. In particular, the McCormick Woods development, a large master planned community 
in the western part of the city, has been in development since the 1980s and will significantly 
increase the city’s housing stock, as well as representing a portion of the newly annexed land 
previously discussed. City permitting data indicates 2,729 units at McCormick Woods either 
permitted or currently in the permitting process.  

The multifamily developments built in Port Orchard to date have been walk-up apartments. 
Some developers indicated that there may be a market for denser podium-style development in 
the 10-20 year time horizon, and at least one such project has recently been proposed (see the 
project spotlights later in this section). 

Vacancy Rates 
Port Orchard’s vacancy rates for rental and ownership properties are shown in Figure 26. In 
2020, the Census-reported rental vacancy rate was 5.8 percent and the ownership vacancy rate 
was 1.4 percent. Both vacancy rates have decreased over the past decade as shown below, and 
the 5.8 percent rental vacancy rate reflects the large amount of rental apartment construction 
which has taken place in Port Orchard in recent years. 

Note that this vacancy rate is based only on dwelling units that are available on the market for 
sale or rent. It is different from the total number of unoccupied units discussed in Section 1. 

 

Figure 26. Vacancy Rates in Port Orchard, 2010-2020. Source: American Community Survey 5-Year 
Estimates, Table DP04 

In contrast with the relatively high census-reported rental vacancy rates shown above, CoStar, a 
commercial real estate database, estimates vacancy rates for multifamily apartments in Port 
orchard at about 3.5 percent as of mid-2022, as shown below in Figure 27, which shows the 
stabilized (accounting for new development coming onto the market) vacancy rates in the city 
over the past decade. This lower vacancy rate reported by the real estate industry may be more 
representative of the strong demand for apartments in the city. 

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

9.0%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Ownership Vacancy Rate Rental Vacancy Rate



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 22 

 

Figure 27. Multifamily Rental Vacancy Rate in Port Orchard, 2012-2022. Source: Costar 

 

Vacation Housing 
Census data shows there are zero seasonal and recreational housing units in Port Orchard.  

 

Short-Term Rentals 
Short-term rentals, also known as vacation rentals, are considered stays of 30 days or less in a 
residential dwelling. Looking at listings on Airbnb, VRBO, and Vacasa for the December to 
January 2022/2023 holiday season, there are 15 short-term rentals in Port Orchard.  

Most of the short-term rentals are in the downtown area, with proximity to the water and Bay 
Street. Rentals range from a private room up to five bedrooms. The average cost per night for a 
private room or one bedroom is $114, $194 per night for two- and three-bedroom listings, and 
$292 per night for four- and five-bedroom listings. City staff report that many short-term rentals 
are not paying the required lodging tax. 

  

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 23 

Affordable Housing 
Affordable housing is housing reserved for people earning below a certain income and who 
cannot afford market-rate costs (other interrelated terms include low-income housing, 
subsidized housing, public housing, or rent-restricted housing). Affordable housing properties 
may be reserved for people meeting other criteria such as families with children, seniors, people 
with physical or intellectual disabilities, or people with substance abuse disorders. 

Affordable housing is important to support community members who face barriers in the 
private housing market, especially those who are on the edge of or transitioning out of 
homelessness. This type housing is subsidized and mostly operated by government or non-
profit organizations.  

The main affordable housing provider in Port Orchard is Housing Kitsap, a government agency 
that provides housing assistance for families who need affordable alternatives to the private 
market. Housing Kitsap operates countywide. In and near Port Orchard, Housing Kitsap’s 
portfolio includes 375 units across six properties and 109 “Section 8” vouchers (which pays 
rents for voucher recipients).  

In addition, Housing Kitsap has a Mutual Self-Help Housing program where homeowners put in 
sweat equity to build their home and purchase it at an affordable price point. Housing Kitsap 
also has a Home Rehabilitation Program that assists with home repairs. According to Housing 
Kitsap staff, approximately 500 homes in Port Orchard have benefited from the two programs 
since the 1970’s. 

Under Port Orchard’s multifamily tax exemption program, 20 privately-owned units are being 
rented at affordable rates. See more information under Section 5. 

  

https://www.housingkitsap.org/self-help-homeowners
https://www.housingkitsap.org/home-ownership-assistance


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 24 

Property Name Zone Units Housing Type Resident Criteria 
Housing Kitsap Rental Housing 
Heritage Apartments R3 56 Multifamily Section 8; families or 

people with disabilities 
Orchard Bluff R2 89 Mobile Home 

Park 
Low income & head of 
household 55 or older 

Port Orchard Vista R4 42 Multifamily 
(senior) 

Low income & 62 or older 

Conifer Woods Apartments 
(outside city limits) 

UGA 72 Multifamily Low income 

Viewmont East Apartments  
(outside city limits) 

UGA 76 Multifamily Section 8; families or 
people with disabilities 

Madrona Manor 
(outside city limits) 

UGA 40 Multifamily 
(senior) 

Low income & head of 
household 55 or older 

Housing Kitsap Homeownership Mutual Self-Help Housing 
Sherman Ridge R2 27 Single-family 80% AMI or less 
Riverstone R3 & R2 39 Single-family 80% AMI or less 

Multifamily Tax Exemption Sites (Private Rental Housing) 
The Overlook R3 8 affordable 

(39 total) 
Multifamily MFTE Type I  

(12 year affordability) 
Plisko Apartments CMU 12 

affordable 
(58 total) 

Multifamily MFTE Type I  
(12 year affordability) 

Figure 28. Port Orchard affordable housing inventory (Housing Kitsap and City of Port Orchard) 

 
Figure 29. Affordable housing sites in Port Orchard  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 25 

Public Land 
Surplus public land is sometimes used for affordable housing. State law enacted in 2018 (RCW 
39.33.015) allows local governments to transfer, lease, or dispose of surplus property at low or 
no cost to developers for affordable housing projects. Port Orchard has a large number of City-
owned lands, and most are actively used for utility purposes or other public works, parks, and 
administrative functions. Some lands are also in greenbelts, wetlands, or ravines which are 
undevelopable.  

Discussion with City staff yielded the following sites to consider in the Housing Action Plan. 
Other public lands (such as those owned by Kitsap County, the Port of Bremerton, and other 
agencies) could be reviewed in the future. 

Map 
Key Parcel # Zoning Area Considerations 
1 342401-4-016-2001 & 

342401-4-015-2002 
CMU 1.0 acres Surplus property from the construction of the 

roundabout at Tremont/Pottery. Considerable 
size and has appropriate zoning for affordable 
housing. 

2 252401-3-045-2009 R4 1.7 acres 
 

Sloped site near the high school on Mitchell 
Avenue. Considerable size, ideally located, and 
has appropriate zoning for affordable housing. 

3 4062-003-005-0006 R1 0.86 Vacant parcel owned by the water utility; it would 
need to be purchased from the enterprise fund. 
Considerable size and good location. Would likely 
need to be rezoned. 

4 4650-009-006-0208 DMU 0.25 acres 640 Bay Street (see Project Spotlights). This site 
is planned for a housing project by a private 
developer. 

5 4538-009-007-0007 UGA 0.21 acres Vacant property just outside city limits in the 
Annapolis neighborhood. 

6 4537-014-001-0004                              UGA 0.15 acres Vacant property just outside city limits in the 
Annapolis neighborhood. 

Figure 30. Table of surplus or vacant public land to consider for housing opportunities. Source: City of Port 
Orchard 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=39.33.015
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=39.33.015


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 26 

 
Figure 31. Map of surplus or vacant public land to consider for housing opportunities. Source: City of Port 
Orchard 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 27 

Project Spotlights 
This section provides detailed case studies of recent and ongoing housing developments in 
Port Orchard. It includes a cross-section of housing types. The spotlights are intended to 
provide insights on housing cost and design trends. 

Valley Quadplex 
This a recently completed 
fourplex development at 
the corner of Mitchell 
Avenue and Dwight Street. 
The site is zoned R3 and is 
within the Downtown 
Countywide Center. The 
site is on a block with 
single-family homes, to the 
south is a small 
multifamily complex, and 
to the east is South Kitsap High School.  

Each of the four units is 3 bed/2.5 bath with about 
1,450 square feet of living area. The lot is 8,276 square 
feet lot (0.19 acres), so the density is 21 units per acre.  

The building is three-stories and steps down a slope, 
with one-car garages located in a daylight basement in 
the rear of each unit. The site incorporates a rear 
shared access drive connected to a private alley. 
Residential open space is provided on the east and 
south sides of the building. 

Staff report the development fits the neighborhood well 
and it is a good example of infill. The developer 
suggested more friendly paperwork and inspection 
scheduling (the City just recently launched online 
scheduling and permitting). The fourplex was as 
intimidating and laborious to permit as an apartment building, possibly due to the required 
environmental review and the use of the commercial building code (as opposed to the 
residential building code). 

The developer was interested in but unable to participate in the multifamily tax exemption 
(MFTE) program due to the local minimum threshold of 10 dwelling units (under updated state 
law a four-unit development is the minimum). 

The land cost was about $93,000 and the total construction cost (before sales tax) was about 
$200 per square foot. The units are each renting for $2,300 to $2,500 per month.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 28 

Haven Apartments 
This is a nearly complete garden apartment 
development in southern Port Orchard located off 
Pottery Avenue and within the Ruby Creek 
subarea. The site is zoned Commercial Mixed Use 
and is within the Ruby Creek Overlay District. This 
is a semi-rural area quickly transitioning into a 
low-density neighborhood center.  

Adjacent to the site to the south is Ruby Creek 
and a single-family property, to the west is 
additional vacant land where the Haven 
Townhome project is planned by the same 
developer, to the north is a church and car 
dealership, and to the east is a wooded wetland. 

Only about half of the 18-acre parcel is 
developable due to the wetland and stream buffers; after subtracting those, the development’s 
net density is about 24 units per acre. The development has 216 total units spread across 10 
three-story buildings. About 36% of units are 1-bedrooms, 52% are 2-bedrooms, and 11% are 3-
bedrooms. An average of 1.65 parking spaces per unit are provided.  

This development offers more amenities than typical multifamily projects in Port Orchard. With 
units renting slightly above $2.00 per square foot (e.g. at least $2,100/month for a two-bedroom 
unit), the project will serve the mid-high end of the Port Orchard rental market. This is partly due 
to the developer’s intentional positioning and the site amenities, including a 6,000 square feet 
clubhouse with a swimming pool.  

Higher rents are also partly due to the high construction costs that need to be recouped. Hard 
construction costs, not including land, were about $170 per square foot. Impact fees totaled 
about $28,000 per unit ($6 million total). Through a development agreement, the developer is 
receiving sewer general facility fee credits to help offset the cost of a new $2.5 million sewer lift 
station constructed at the developer’s expense.  The developer is also receiving transportation 
and park impact fee credits for constructed improvements constructed and land dedication. 

   
  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 29 

McCormick Village 
This is a planned mixed-use subdivision that is a small part of 
the large master planned McCormick Woods area, which has 
been under development since the 1980’s and was annexed to 
Port Orchard in 2009. This particular site is about 23 acres 
and located on the north side of Clifton Road. The area is 
currently forested vacant land, with a large church to the 
southwest of the site, single-family subdivisions planned or 
under construction in the vicinity, and new public schools 
planned just west of the site. 

The site has a mix of zoning: Residential 3, Neighborhood 
Mixed Use, and Commercial Mixed Use. It also has a special 
McCormick Village Overlay (MVOD) with subtle changes to 
the residential lot standards. The City developed the MVOD 
regulations to implement the McCormick Village Subarea Plan 
and worked closely with the landowner. The overlay provides 
some nuances such as additional allowed building types, 
revised minimum/maximum setbacks, and a prohibition on 
parking in the front of lots. 

The residential preliminary plat shows up to 153 lots and all lots having alley access. A variety 
of housing types are illustrated, with the majority being 30-feet wide lots with detached homes 
and above-garage accessory dwelling units (uniquely, all such units will start as rentals). One 
version of the plat also shows paseo houses (similar to cottage housing, but with less common 
open space) and two-story forecourt apartment buildings (with 6-8 units per site). The total unit 
count is not yet known, but based on one drawing provided to the City, the site could have up to 
320 units (including ADU’s). The gross density (including ADU’s and excluding the commercial 
area) would be about 20 units per acre. 

The separately permitted commercial village is at the northeast corner of the site. This would be 
Port Orchard’s first retail development west of State Route 16. Preliminary plans show pads for 
about 10 small commercial buildings served by surface parking and woonerf-style drive aisles. 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 30 

The Ramsey 
This is an ongoing mixed-use development in southern Port Orchard located at the northeast 
corner of Sedgwick Road and Ramsey Road. It is zoned Commercial Mixed Use, located within 
the Sedgwick-Bethel SR-16 center, and within the soon-to-be master planned Bethel Sedgwick 
Countywide Center. This is a semi-developed suburban area characterized by a mixture of small 
and large auto-oriented commercial uses. 

This site is located uphill from the area’s major intersection. Adjacent to the site to the east is a 
gas station, to the south are single-family homes and a home-based auto detailing shop, to the 
west is a fitness center, and to the north is vacant forested land. 

The development is occurring on a relatively compact and sloping 2.5-acre site. It consists of 
three buildings, one of which is small drive-through coffee stand. The other two buildings are 
three stories and, combined, contain commercial space and 99 apartments on the upper floors. 
The gross density is about 40 units per acre. 

The development is one of the few participating in the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 
program since the program was started in 2016. The developer is currently applying for a “Type 
3” 8-year property tax exemption in exchange for incorporating structured parking and a 
shopfront design (commercial retail space). 

This is the first large private development in Port Orchard to incorporate structured parking. The 
project is located far from Downtown Port Orchard, and yet the land value and market 
economics appear to be enabling this unconventional hybrid between suburban and urban land 
use intensity. While it is was assisted by the MFTE program, this project may be representative 
of an early transition in the Port Orchard real estate market where more dense, mixed-use 
development is becoming economically viable. 

    



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 31 

Downtown Mixed Use Projects 
Several residential-commercial mixed-use projects have been proposed in Downtown Port 
Orchard in recent years. None have broken ground as of this writing, though one is now 
permitted. Conceptual designs show urban features like structured parking, storefronts, rooftop 
open space, and being at least four stories in height. This swell may be signaling a shift in the 
local real estate economy where compact infill and redevelopment is on the verge of being 
more feasible due to a combination of land values and market rents. 

 

Project Description 
Bay Street Apartments (429 Bay Street) 

 

This project has been permitted on the site of the old 
Lighthouse Restaurant and will develop 39 units and 500 
square feet of commercial on four levels. It is located on 
a 1.35 acre waterfront site. The project will have a single 
level of structured parking on the ground floor. The 
developer requested a reduction of 66 parking spaces to 
41 spaces.  The residential density is 29 units per acre. 

Heronsview (100 Bethel Avenue) 

 

The conceptual plans have a total of 106 units on four 
levels; 55% of units are studios, 23% are 1-bedrooms, 15% 
are 2-bedrooms, and 7% are live/work units. Proposed on 
a 1.08 acre site, the development’s residential density 
would be 98 units per acre. About 6,000 square feet of 
commercial space are shown in conceptual drawings. At 
least 143 parking spaces would be required if no on-
street parking is available. Parking would be provided in a 
two-level garage, with the roof used as a residential open 
space.  

1626-1636 Bay Street

 

This concept includes 71 units on five levels, including 
two levels of structured parking. Proposed on a 0.51 acre 
site, the residential density would be 139 units per acre. 
The site and development concept is currently for sale for 
about $6 million. 

640 Bay Street 

 

This a City-owned property that was intended to be sold 
to a private developer, though the project has been on 
hold for at least four years. This early concept proposed 
to include 44 units on five levels and about 12,000 square 
feet of commercial space. Parking is proposed off-site. It 
would include a rooftop garden and a vacation of Fredrick 
Street which would be developed as a landscaped public 
space and hill climb. The potential residential density is 
159 units per acre. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 32 

Section 3 – Cost Trends 

Housing Cost Trends 
Housing costs in Port Orchard have been increasing steadily over the last decade, for both 
renters and homeowners, as shown in Figure 32 below. As of mid-2022, Zillow reports an 
average home value of $511,600 and an average rent of $1,638 per unit in the city, a yearly 
increase of five percent for ownership units and nine percent for rentals over the past decade. 
Notably, both ownership and rental housing costs have increased more rapidly since the onset 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, a pattern seen across the greater Puget Sound region, and 
particularly in smaller and moderate-sized jurisdictions when compared with larger cities such 
as Seattle. 

 

Figure 32. Housing Costs in Port Orchard, 2012-2022. Source: Zillow, CoStar. 

Figure 33 shows the change in Port Orchard’s housing prices compared with the change in 
incomes from 2010-2020. After a drop in home prices between 2010 and 2012, incomes and 
housing prices increased similarly between 2012 and 2015, after which home prices began to 
increase significantly faster than incomes. Rental prices, which had been stable from 2013-
2017, also began a steep increase in 2017, also outpacing incomes. The gap has continued to 
worsen over the past few years, with a 28 percent increase in rents and 56 percent increase in 
home values from 2015-2020, compared to only a 15 percent increase in incomes over the 
same period. This shows that housing has become more difficult to afford for the average Port 
Orchard resident in recent years, a trend also seen across the country. 

$0

$200

$400

$600

$800

$1,000

$1,200

$1,400

$1,600

$1,800

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 R

en
t P

er
 U

ni
t

H
om

e 
Va

lu
e

Average Home Value

Average Multifamily Rent Per Unit



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 33 

 

Figure 33. Change in Home Prices, Rents, and Incomes in Port Orchard, 2010-2020. Source: Zillow, 
American Community Survey 2020 5-Year Estimates, Table S2503, DP04, Leland Consulting Group 

Figure 34 shows the relationship between what the typical Port Orchard household earns in a 
year and the amount they would need to earn to afford the typical home in the city, based on 
2020 census and home price data. The income needed to afford the median home in the city is 
about $50,585 more than the median household currently earns, or to put it another way, the 
typical Port Orchard household could afford a home worth about $303,012, but the typical home 
in the city in 2020 was worth 1.5 times as much, $468,702. 

 

 
Figure 34. Ownership Housing Affordability in Port Orchard. Source: Zillow, Freddie Mac, 2020 American 
Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Leland Consulting Group 

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Median Gross Rent Zillow Home Value Index Median Household Income

$71,719 

$122,304 

$468,702 

$303,012 

 $-
 $50,000

 $100,000
 $150,000
 $200,000
 $250,000
 $300,000
 $350,000
 $400,000
 $450,000
 $500,000

Median Household
Income

Income Needed To
Afford Median Home

Median Sales Price Maximum Home Price
Affordable to Median

Household



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 34 

A housing affordability chart illustrating home prices which would be affordable to a variety of 
income levels is shown below in Figure 35. Port Orchard’s median incomes and sales prices are 
both shown. This data illustrates the degree to which ownership housing has become out of 
reach for many Port Orchard residents, even those earning more than the city’s median 
household income. 

 

Figure 35. Housing Prices Affordable to Various Incomes with Port Orchard Median Income and Sales Price, 
2021. Source: Zillow, Freddie Mac, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Leland Consulting 
Group 

Construction Costs 
The cost of construction for all housing types has been increasing for decades, although the 
past few years have seen unprecedented increases. These costs have a major impact on 
development feasibility. Higher development costs ultimately drive up the sales price of finished 
housing and can lead to reduced housing production when the market cannot support those 
higher housing prices. 

The following chart provides construction price indexes8 for multifamily housing units under 
construction, single-family houses sold, and for single-family houses under construction. Recent 
data from the U.S. Census Bureau shows construction costs went up by 17.5% year-over-year 
from 2020 to 2021, the largest spike in this data from year to year since 1970. Costs in 2021 
were also more than 23% higher than pre-pandemic 2019. Preliminary data for 2022 indicates 
an even greater jump in construction costs, largely due to supply chain issues, inflation, and 
labor shortages. 

 
8 The houses sold index incorporates the value of the land and is available quarterly at the national level and annually 
by region. The indexes for houses under construction are available monthly at the national level. The indexes are 
based on data from the Survey of Construction (SOC). 

$25 
$50 

$75 
$100 

$150 
$200 

$96 

$192 

$287 

$383 

$575 

$766 

 $-

 $100

 $200

 $300

 $400

 $500

 $600

 $700

 $800

 $900
Household Income ($1,000s) House Price ($1,000s)

Median Sales Price ($468)

Median Household 
Income ($71)

A household earning $100,000 
could not afford the median Port 
Orchard sales price of $468,000 
even though they are earning 
nearly $30,000 more than the 
median household income.



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 35 

 

Figure 36. Construction Price Indexes. Source: U.S. Census Bureau Construction Price Indexes 

Developers interviewed by the project team in summer 2022 indicated concerns over 
construction costs in the region. They described as many as ten material cost adjustments per 
year, compared to one to two price changes per year in the past. Developers generally agreed 
that lumber prices were likely to begin decreasing and stabilize in the coming years, though they 
expressed less optimism about short-term decreases in other material costs. 

  

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

MFR

SFR Under Construction

SFR Sold (West)



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 36 

Impact Fees 
Impact fees are a one-time fee required by local governments for new development to help pay 
for a portion of the expected costs of providing increased public services. The topic arose in 
stakeholder interviews and so an analysis compared Port Orchard’s impact fees to other Kitsap 
County jurisdictions. Determining impact fee by building type (housing type) also provides 
information about how the fees are affecting the variety of housing being built. 

The table below a table shows total impact fees (combining fees for roads, parks, and schools) 
by housing type. Roads impact fee schedules typically have the most detailed housing types 
and thus was used as the basis for housing type comparison. The breakdown of impact fees by 
type of impact fee can be seen in Appendix A. Port Orchard has a fee for all three categories, 
which is not the case for some of the other jurisdictions. Bremerton currently does not collect 
impact fees but may start collecting them in the near future.  

The comparison finds that Port Orchard does have some of the highest impact fees in Kitsap 
County, but these fees may be closer to the median when making wider regional comparisons. 
For example, Sammamish impact fees total at least $14,000 per unit (as of 2019). Judging by 
the large volume of permitted developments in Port Orchard, the fees are having little negative 
effect on total development. 

However, the fees may be a minor factor for the variety of housing products being produced. 
Duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, townhouses, and ADU’s have notably high fees for the lower 
resource impacts and land area they require compared to single-family homes. This may 
partially be because the school and park impact fees do not provide a high level of distinction 
among building types due to those fees being based more on persons per household. 

 
 Single-

Family  Duplex 
Triplex & 
Fourplex Townhouse 

Multifamily 
1-2 floors 

Multifamily 
3+ floors 

Multifamily 
Mixed Use ADU 

Port 
Orchard  $10,856.52 $9,156.34 

$6,835.28 – 
$9,096.34 

$9,156.34 – 
10,347.34 $6,820.28 $6,189.29 $5,768.63 

$4,677.97 - 
$6,150.28 

Kitsap 
County   

$6,428.60 $3,496.75 $3,496.75 $3,766.74 $3,496.75 $2,956.77 $2,821.78 $3,766.74 

Bremerton $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $7,969.18 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $5,102.97 $5,102.97 $5,323.48 

Bainbridge 
Island 

$1,811.82 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,413.22 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 

Gig Harbor $11,350.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $11,715.00 

Figure 37. Impact Fees per Unit by Housing Type. Source: Kitsap County and Municipalities of Kitsap 
County 

Some cities exempt ADU’s from impact fees since they are not a primary unit and because the 
fees can be insurmountable for low- and moderate-income homeowners. Also, under RCW 
82.02.060, cities may reduce impact fees by up 80% for affordable housing. Under POMC 
20.182, the City has not adopted any impact fee exemptions or reductions, though the idea is 
supported by Comprehensive Plan policy HS-6.  

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.02.060
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.02.060


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 37 

Section 4 – Housing and Service Needs 
This section offers information about the needs for households in the City of Port Orchard. 

Market Rate Housing 
The chart below shows projected demand for new housing units through 2044 by income in 
Port Orchard based on the Kitsap County target of 5,291 new housing units in Port Orchard by 
2044.9 The allocation of housing units by income is shown using three projection 
methodologies. The Washington State Department of Commerce (Commerce) has recently 
released a draft calculator which uses two methodologies to calculate future housing needs by 
income by county, city, and UGA. Method “A” shown below allocates future housing needs by 
projected household income (as a share of AMI) evenly across all municipalities in Kitsap 
County. This shows a particularly high 2044 need of over 1,400 units affordable to the lowest-
income households earning less than 30% AMI – which would need to be provided by 
subsidized affordable units. Commerce Method “B” allocates housing across all jurisdictions in 
the County after taking into account their existing housing unit breakdown by income level. 
Because Port Orchard already provides some subsidized units (and a larger share than some 
other Kitsap County municipalities), this method shows a need for fewer units for households 
earning under 30 percent AMI and between 30 and 50 percent AMI, but allocates more units for 
higher-income households earning more than 120 percent AMI.  

The third methodology shown is Leland Consulting Group’s model which allocates future 
housing units based on Port Orchard’s current income breakdown. This methodology shows a 
strong housing need for the lowest-income residents of the City but also reflects the need for 
“workforce” housing for the significant share of Port Orchard’s population earning between 50 
and 100 percent of the AMI. 

Overall, these three methodologies show that the largest housing needs by income in Port 
Orchard in the next two decades will be for the lowest-income households, which can only be 
met through regulated affordable (i.e. subsidized) housing, to a lesser degree for “workforce” 
housing for residents earning less than 100% AMI, which can be provided through a variety of 
channels including subsidized units, vouchers, other incentive programs such as MFTE, and 
filtering of existing units as new housing stock is built. Finally, there will remain a demand for 
between 1,200 and 1,800 market rate housing units targeting households earning more than 
120 percent AMI over the next 20 years. 

Although the Commerce methodologies are still in draft form, all three sets of results are 
presented here to demonstrate the various calculations and considerations underlying future 
housing needs and targets regionally. The Kitsap County Regional Coordinating Council will 
decide on a final target number of new units by income level for all jurisdictions in the County in 
2023, and that final target breakdown will be integrated into the 2024-2044 Port Orchard 
Comprehensive Plan.  

 
9 This housing unit target and the Kitsap County population target for Port Orchard (10,500 new residents by 2044) 
would yield an average household size of 1.98 people per household. This is significantly less than the current Port 
Orchard household size of 2.44 people per household. This discrepancy may need to be addressed by Commerce. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 38 

 

 

Figure 38. Housing Demand Projections for Port Orchard, 2022-2044 Source: Washington Department of 
Commerce Draft Projected Housing Needs Methodologies, Leland Consulting Group 

  

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

0-30 30-50 50-80 80-100 100-120 120+

N
ew

 U
ni

ts
 N

ee
de

d 
by

 2
02

4

% AMI

Commerce Method A Commerce Method B LCG Method



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 39 

Low-Income and Cost-Burdened Households 
HUD sets income limits that determine eligibility for assisted housing programs.10 The 2022 
Area Median Income (AMI) for the Bremerton-Silverdale Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) is 
$102,500. The following table outlines the 2022 Bremerton-Silverdale MSA HUD income limits 
for low, very low, and extremely low-income households making 80 percent, 50 percent, and 30 
percent of the Area Median Income (AMI), respectively. 

Household Size 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

Extremely Low (30%)  21,600 24,700 27,800 30,850 33,350 37,190 41,910 46,630 

Very Low Income (50%)  36,050 41,200 46,350 51,450 55,600 59,700 63,800 67,950 

Low Income (80%)   57,650 65,850 74,100 82,300 88,900 95,500 102,100 108,650 
Figure 39. HUD FY 2022 Income Limits ($), Bremerton-Silverdale, WA MSA. Source: HUD 

 
In addition to income, HUD uses a measurement of 
“cost burden” to further determine which subset of a 
community’s residents are most in need of housing 
support or most at risk of displacement or housing 
hardship.  

Figure 40 shows a breakdown of Port Orchard’s 
households by tenure and cost burden status. Overall, 
about 35 percent of Port Orchard’s households are 
considered cost-burdened. Half of all renter-occupied 
households are considered cost-burdened, while one quarter of owner-occupied households are 
considered cost-burdened.  

As is the case nationwide, renters are significantly more at risk of economic hardship and 
displacement than homeowners. With rental rates increasing dramatically in recent years and 
income growth failing to keep up, it appears that renters are suffering the consequences in 
terms of cost burden. There is a clear need for more rental housing that is affordable to all 
income levels.  

 
10 Including the Public Housing, Section 8 project-based, Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher, Section 202 housing for 
the elderly, and Section 811 housing for persons with disabilities programs HUD develops income limits based on 
median family income estimates and fair market rent area definitions. 

A household is considered to be 
“cost-burdened” if they are spending 
more than 30% of monthly income on 
housing costs (including 
rent/mortgage and utilities).  

A “severely cost-burdened” household 
spends more than 50% of their 
monthly income on housing costs. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 40 

 
Figure 40. Household Tenure by Cost Burden in the City of Port Orchard, 2020. Source: HUD CHAS 2015-
2019. 

The following chart shows cost burden status by household income level for households 
earning less than the area median income (AMI). The lowest-income households earning 30 
percent AMI or less have by far the highest cost burden, with 615 of the 715 households in this 
income bracket spending more than 30 percent of their income on housing costs, and 495 
households, or 70 percent of households in the income bracket, spending more than half their 
income on housing costs. Similarly, 75 percent of households earning between 30 and 50 
percent of the AMI also spend more than a third of their income on housing costs. However, 
there are still a substantial number of households earning between 30 and 80 percent AMI 
which are also housing cost-burdened, as well as a quarter of households earning between 80 
and 100 percent AMI.  

This data shows a need for subsidized affordable housing at various income levels, but 
particularly for households earning less than 50 percent AMI.  

 
Figure 41. Cost Burden Status by Household Income Level in Port Orchard. Source: HUD CHAS 2015-2019. 

6%

21%

12%

19%

30%

23%

75%

50%

65%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Owner Occupied

Renter occupied

All Households

Severely Cost Burdened Cost Burdened Not Cost Burdened

495

90

10

15

120

315

465

160

100

130

520

465

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000

< 30% AMI

30-50% AMI

50-80% AMI

80-100% AMI

Severely Cost Burdened Cost Burdened Not Cost Burdened



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 41 

Special Needs Housing 
Figure 42 shows the number of households in Port Orchard with a disabled resident by disability 
status and income. Most households with a disabled resident earn more than 80 percent of 
AMI, though particularly for residents with an ambulatory limitation (generally meaning they are 
unable to walk), there is a significant number of households earning less than 30 percent AMI. 
In addition to ambulatory limitations, hearing or vision impairments are the most common 
disability reported in Port Orchard households. 

Disability Status 
(any household member) 

Extremely 
Low Income 
(≤ 30% AMI) 

Very Low 
Income (30-

50% AMI) 

Low Income 
(50-80% 

AMI) 

Moderate 
Income or 

Higher 
(>80% AMI) 

Total 
Households 

Cognitive limitation 90 80 70 225 460 

Hearing or vision impairment 90 115 105 445 755 

Self-care/ind. living limitation 60 185 125 215 585 

Ambulatory limitation 215 115 65 310 710 
Figure 42. Households by Disability Status and Income in Port Orchard. Source: HUD CHAS 2015-2019 

People Facing Homelessness  
Kitsap County conducts a Point in Time Count of people experiencing homelessness 
countywide each year, typically in January. In 2022, the count was conducted in February 
instead. The count encompasses both sheltered and unsheltered people and is conducted 
during one 24-hour period each year. Therefore, the number is generally considered to be an 
undercount of the true population experiencing homelessness. In February 2022, 563 individuals 
were experiencing homelessness countywide, of which 136 were in transitional housing, 244 in 
emergency shelters, and 183 unsheltered. This was an 8 percent decrease from 202011 though 
a 7 percent increase from the previous four-year average. Of the 183 unsheltered residents 
surveyed, 23 percent, or 42 people, were in Port Orchard. Countywide, 67 percent of those 
surveyed reported becoming homeless due to health or mental health issues, 58 percent due to 
job loss, 40 percent due to loss of housing, 35 percent due to family conflict, and 25 percent due 
to substance use.12 

A 2020 report by the U.S. Government Accountability Office finds that every $100 increase in 
median rent is associated with a nine percent increase in the estimated homelessness 
population, even after accounting for demographic and economic characteristics. This formula 
is considered at a national level but may be helpful context for the current trend in local rent 
increases. 

 

  

 
11 The count of unsheltered individuals was not completed in 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
12 Kitsap County Point In Time Count. https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx  

https://www.gao.gov/blog/how-covid-19-could-aggravate-homelessness-crisis
https://www.kitsapgov.com/hs/Pages/HH-Point-in-Time.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 42 

Transit 
Under definitions of the Washington State Department of Transportation, Port Orchard mostly 
has Level 4 transit service.13 Higher levels of service (Levels 1-3) are considered to be more 
attractive to the general population (e.g. choice riders), more conducive to reducing solo driving, 
and more able justify reduced parking (and therefore reduced housing costs) at residential 
developments. The lack of regular bus service on Sundays and between Port Orchard and 
Bremerton is particularly notable. 
 
Kitsap Transit operates public bus and passenger ferry service in Port Orchard. Two ferry docks 
have service to the Bremerton ferry terminal where riders can catch auto ferries or fast 
passenger ferries to Seattle. There are six fixed-route bus lines operating within the central and 
eastern part of the city, generally running at frequencies of 30 to 60 minutes. Buses stop 
operating in the early evening. On Saturdays, buses run between 10am and 5pm.  
 
Western Port Orchard area is a served by an on-demand, weekday-only service called SK Ride 
which connects residents to some regular bus routes. Other services include worker/driver 
buses for Navy facility commuters, door-to-door Access buses for seniors and people with 
disabilities (runs 8am to 4pm on weekdays and Sundays), and vanpools/carpools.  
 

 
Figure 43. Kitsap Transit fixed-route bus lines in the Port Orchard area. 

 
13 “Frequent Transit Service Study.” December 2022. Washington State Department of Transportation. 
https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/ 

https://engage.wsdot.wa.gov/frequent-transit-service-study/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 43 

Section 5 – Housing Funding and Monetary Tools 

Existing Funding 
Port Orchard does not have currently any funding streams directly funding affordable housing 
development or preservation. 

In January 2022, Kitsap County imposed a 0.1% affordable housing sales tax as allowed under 
RCW 82.14.530. The revenue must be used for constructing or maintaining affordable housing. 
It is expected to generate about $5 million per year.14 This sales tax option would have been 
available to Port Orchard (generating about $850,000 per year per .1% , based on 2021 revenue), 
but state law stipulates that after a county adopts the tax cities in the county may no longer 
implement their own tax.15 Poulsbo and Bainbridge Island implemented affordable housing 
sales taxes before the county did and so their taxes remain effective in addition the county’s. 

Other Funding Options 
The Municipal Research Service Center provides a list of other funding sources for Washington 
cities and affordable housing developers. These include: 

• Property tax levy of up to $0.50 per $1,000 assessed valuation for up to 10 years to fund 
very low-income housing (RCW 84.52.105) 

• Real estate excise tax of up to 0.25% to fund affordable housing through 2026 (RCW 
82.46.035) 

• Mandatory inclusionary zoning requirements that require residential developments to 
either provide affordable housing on-site or to pay into a housing fund for city 
governments to fund housing elsewhere (generally this tool must be paired with large 
upzones to avoid regulatory takings claims) 

• Lodging taxes, which may be used to fund a variety of government programs (as noted 
under the short-term rental discussion, Port Orchard already has a lodging tax) 

• Loans and grants from the Washington State Housing Trust Fund (administered by the 
Washington State Department of Commerce) 

• State law under RCW 43.185C.080 allows cities to receive grants from the Washington 
homeless housing account. A prerequisite is adoption of a local homeless housing plan 
or adopting by reference a county homeless housing plan that has a specific strategy for 
the city. Grant value is tied to the real estate document recording fees generated within 
the local jurisdiction. 

• Low-income housing tax credits which investors in housing projects can apply to 
(administered by the Washington State Housing Finance Commission) 

  

 
14 “Commissioners vote to impose 1/10th of 1% sales tax for affordable housing.” January 2022. Kitsap Daily News. 
https://www.kitsapdailynews.com/news/commissioners-vote-to-impose-1-10th-of-1-sales-tax-for-affordable-
housing/ 
15 Funding Local Affordable Housing Efforts. August 2022. Municipal Research Service Center. 
https://mrsc.org/Home/Stay-Informed/MRSC-Insight/August-2022/Options-for-Funding-Local-Affordable-Housing-
Effor.aspx 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=82.14.530
https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Planning/Housing/Affordable-Housing-Funding-Sources.aspx
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=84.52.105
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.46.035
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=82.46.035
https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/housing-trust-fund/
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.185C.080
https://www.wshfc.org/mhcf/index.htm
https://www.kitsapdailynews.com/news/commissioners-vote-to-impose-1-10th-of-1-sales-tax-for-affordable-housing/
https://www.kitsapdailynews.com/news/commissioners-vote-to-impose-1-10th-of-1-sales-tax-for-affordable-housing/
https://mrsc.org/Home/Stay-Informed/MRSC-Insight/August-2022/Options-for-Funding-Local-Affordable-Housing-Effor.aspx
https://mrsc.org/Home/Stay-Informed/MRSC-Insight/August-2022/Options-for-Funding-Local-Affordable-Housing-Effor.aspx


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 44 

Multifamily Tax Exemption 
Overview 
The multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) is a program authorized by the state, starting in 1995 
(RCW 84.14). Cities can grant one or more of the following programs for new buildings or 
existing buildings: 

• 8-year exemption for any type of multifamily development 
• 12-year exemption for multifamily developments that reserve at least 20 percent of units 

for low- and moderate-income households 
• A 20-year exemption for multifamily developments that reserve at least 25 percent of 

units for sale as permanently affordable to households earning 80% AMI or less, and the 
development must be sponsored by a non-profit or governmental entity (this option was 
added by the Legislature in 202116). Port Orchard meets the threshold of 15,000 
population to unlock this option. 

 
Land, existing site improvements, and non-residential improvements are not exempt and are 
subject to normal property taxes. At the local government's discretion, the exemption’s basis 
may be limited to the value of affordable units or other criteria. The local government has 
latitude in many other aspects. It can require certain public benefits, change what types of 
development apply, and can map specific areas where the exemption is available. Cities can 
also set lower maximum rent prices than the statute allows. 

MFTE programs require ongoing monitoring, especially for any buildings with affordable units, 
to ensure that rental rates and resident incomes are meeting the criteria. 

A 2019 statewide audit found that local MFTE programs are frequently used to improve the 
financial performance of private developments but it is unclear if they result in a net increase in 
housing production. For 2018 the audit found average annual local and state property tax 
savings of $10,651 per affordable unit and $2,096 per market-rate unit, with wide variations 
depending on the location, land value, and local property tax rates. Seattle has the most MFTE 
units in the state and likely skews the average tax savings high. Participating properties in 
Bremerton see average annual property tax savings of $6,123 per affordable unit $1,413 per 
market-rate unit (data was not available for Port Orchard). 

Port Orchard MFTE Review 
Port Orchard has had an MFTE program in place since 2016, which is codified under Chapter 
3.48 POMC. It goes beyond the basic framework of state law and provides three types of 
exemptions. 

The “Type 1” program is a 12-year tax exemption available to properties zoned for multifamily or 
mixed-use development within one-half mile of a transit route or ferry terminal. At least 20 
percent of units must be rented at least 10 percent below fair market rent to tenants with the 
following incomes:  

 
16 “Overview of 2021 Changes to the Multifamily Housing Tax Exemption Program.” Washington State Department of 
Commerce. https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=84.14
https://leg.wa.gov/jlarc/taxReports/2019/MFTE/f_ii/default.html
https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/jlarc/viz/MFTEdashboard-final_16056518488280/Dashboard
https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/jlarc/viz/MFTEdashboard-final_16056518488280/Dashboard
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/html/PortOrchard03/PortOrchard0348.html
https://deptofcommerce.box.com/shared/static/7k5p88yv41m8ot882gbtzafwzlofkf05.pdf


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 45 

• At or below 40 percent of median family income, for housing units in congregate 
residences or small efficiency dwelling units 

• At or below 65 percent of median family income for one-bedroom units 
• At or below 75 percent of median family income for two-bedroom units 
• At or below 80 percent of median family income for three-bedroom and larger units. 

 
Figure 44. Parcels eligible for the Type 1 MFTE program 

The “Type 2” program is an 8-year tax exemption available to properties within local centers of 
importance (as identified in the Comprehensive Plan) and which are encouraged to redevelop 
and may require rezoning. Properties must meet at least one of these criteria: 

• Have abandoned buildings (vacant or unused for more than two years) 
• Underutilized buildings (50 percent or more vacancy for more than two years) 
• An assessed building value to land ratio of two-to-one or more. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 46 

 
Figure 45. Parcels eligible for the Type 2 MFTE program 

The “Type 3” program is an 8-year exemption available to properties within local centers of 
importance (as identified in the Comprehensive Plan) and zoned for multifamily or mixed-use 
development. Developments must meet one of these standards: 

1. At least 50 percent of required parking must be structured and achieve at least 50 units 
per net developable acre 

2. Construct mixed-use shopfront building(s) containing non-residential square footage 
equal to at least 40 percent of all building footprints 

3. Purchase one additional story of building height for one or more buildings through the 
city’s transfer of development rights program 

 
Figure 46. Parcels eligible for the Type 3 MFTE program 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 47 

 
The following table shows how many developments and dwelling units are utilizing Port 
Orchard’s MFTE program since inception. Numbers in parenthesis are MFTE applications 
currently in progress (as of December 2022). 
 

MFTE Program 

Number of 
Participating 

Developments Total Units 
Affordable Units 

(Type 1) 
Type 1 (12-year, affordable) 2 (+2) 95  (+220) 20 (+45) 
Type 2 (8-year, redevelopment) 1 (+2) 138 (+207) -- 
Type 3 (8-year, urban mixed-use) 1 99 -- 

Figure 47. MFTE program statistics. Source: City of Port Orchard 

Observations: 

• Port Orchard’s MFTE program is structured differently than most Washington cities, with 
two versions of the 8-year program 

• In the Type 3 program, options for combining required features could be clarified, as was 
done with the one participating project which used less structured parking and shopfront 
design than required individually but combined use of both features to qualify. 

• In the Type 1 program, the minimum development size of 10 units reduces the number 
of small projects that can participate. State law sets the minimum development size at 
four units. 

• In the Type 1 program, residents have their incomes verified only in order to determine 
what size of unit they can occupy. In other words, individualized rent caps are set for 
physical units and not customized for each household’s size and characteristics. This is 
a different approach than most cities, but appears to fit within the state law framework. 

• In the Type 1 program, the depth of affordability (10% below market rate) may be 
imbalanced with the property tax savings. 

• Updates to RCW 84.14 allow median family income to now be based on the city or 
metropolitan statistical area of the project (rather than just the county). 

 
As noted in Section 3, the past few years have seen unprecedented increases in construction 
costs which have a major impact on development feasibility. There is interest among City 
officials and stakeholders to revisit the MFTE program and make adjustments to improve 
economic feasibility and administration. 

The City has the legal option to seek help with monitoring the MFTE program and freeing up 
staff resources. Housing Kitsap, for example, already has systems in place to administer 
income-based housing. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 48 

Section 6 – Housing Policies 

Comprehensive Plan Goals and Policies 
This section focuses on a handful of key policies in the Housing Element. Full comments are 
available in Appendix B. 

Goal/ 
Policy Text Comment 
HS-2 Support the development of a variety of housing 

types, including apartments, townhomes, mixed‐
use (residential and other uses) and live‐work 
development, small‐lot and zero lot line single‐
family homes, and manufactured homes, as well 
as traditional single‐family homes, through 
innovative planning, efficient and effective 
administration of land and building codes, and, 
where available, applicable financial assistance. 

The City has a good foundation of supportive 
zoning standards to support a variety of housing 
types, though as noted in Section 6 some 
improvements could be made or more incentives 
added. The MVOD zone is an example of 
innovative planning. Financial assistance largely is 
implemented through the MFTE program, though 
other options may need to be explored to support 
the low-income population.  

HS-6 Consider reducing permitting fees for 
development which provide affordable housing as 
defined by the Washington Administrative Code 
(WAC) section 200‐120‐ 020. 

No waivers/reductions for impact fees and general 
facilities charges are in place. 

HS-9 Implement minimum residential density 
requirements in centers of local importance in 
order to increase land and infrastructure 
efficiency. 

The City does not have minimum density 
standards in any zone. 

HS-14 Implement zoning and development regulations 
which encourage infill housing on empty and 
redevelopable parcels. 

This type of development does not appear to be 
happening in large numbers, with most housing 
being built on greenfields on the edge of the city. 
More incentives for infill and redevelopment in 
local centers should be explored in the HAP. 

 
  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 49 

Development Regulations 
Port Orchard’s zoning standards are codified under Title 20 POMC and primarily exist in 
Chapters 20.30 through 20.58. The key standards reviewed here are the permitted land uses 
and dimensional standards. Other standards provide supplemental residential use and design 
standards for most housing types. Multifamily design standards are located under Chapter 
20.127 POMC. 

In most cities, this consists of a simple list or table organized by zone. In Port Orchard, 
understanding the permitted uses is complex because there are two permission standards: One 
code section describes “building types”, and the other describes “residential uses”, and these 
are located in separate chapters. 

The key development regulations on housing are summarized in the tables below. Following the 
tables is a set of observations. 

Residential Zones: Allowed Residential Development 
In the first table, P means permitted and a blank cell means the building type is not permitted in 
the zone. 

Note: The R5 zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Building Types (POMC 20.32.015) 

Building Type 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Detached House P P P   P 
Backyard Cottage P P P   P 
Cottage Court P P P   P 
Duplex: Side-by-Side  P P   P 
Duplex: Back-to-Back  P P   P 
Attached House  P P    
Fourplex   P P P  
Townhouse  P P P P  
Apartment   P P P  
Live-Work       
Manufactured or Mobile Home 
Park       

Accessory Building P P P P P P 
Figure 48. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.32.015 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 50 

In the second table are selected permitted uses in residential zones. These are reorganized 
from the actual code and have subheadings added. P means permitted, C means conditionally 
permitted (subject to extra review and public comment), and a blank cell means the housing 
type is not permitted in the zone. 

Note: The R5 zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Use Types  (POMC 20.39.040) 

Residential Use 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
General 
Single-family detached (including new manufactured 
homes) P P P   P 

Two-family  P P   P 
Single-family attached (2 units)  P P   P 
Single-family attached (3 or 4 units)  P P P P P 
Single-family attached (5 or 6 units)   P P P P 
Multifamily dwellings (3 or 4 units)   P P P  
Multifamily dwellings (5 or more units)   P P P  
Manufactured or Mobile Homes 
Designated manufactured home, manufactured or 
mobile home (except for new designated 
manufactured home) 

  P    

New designated manufactured home P P P   P 
Manufactured or mobile home park       
Supportive Housing 
Indoor emergency housing       
Indoor emergency shelter       
Permanent supportive housing C C C C C C 
Transitional housing C C C C C C 
Group Lodgings 
Boarding house    C C  
Congregate living facilities  C C C C  
Lodging house   C C C  
Group home (up to 8 residents), except as follows: P P P P P P 

Adult family home P P P   P 
All group living (9 or more residents)    C C  

Figure 49. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.39.040 

Observations: 
There are several user-friendliness challenges with these standards of Chapter 20.32 and 20.39, 
particularly as they relate to middle housing: 

• The R2 zone, the largest by land area, allows a good mix of housing types, though might 
consider adding “Multifamily dwellings (3 or 4 units)” 

• Residential development allowances are regulated in at least three code sections, which 
creates some opportunity for confusion. Residential development allowed by zone are 
regulated in Chapter 20.32 (Building Types), Chapter 20.34 and 20.35 (Residential 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 51 

Districts & Commercial and Mixed-Use Districts, respectively), and Chapter 20.39 (Use 
Provisions). 

• Code users must know to look in all applicable locations. For example: 
o Permissions for “Detached House” building type and “Single-family detached” 

land use, which have similar meanings to most people, are found in both 
Chapters 20.32 and 20.39.  

o Chapter 20.32 describes a “Townhouse” as a single building type but it appears 
to be buildable under at least six different land uses in Chapter 20.39. This is an 
effort to limit townhouse complexes to four connected units in lower density 
zones, but to allow larger six unit townhome clusters in higher density zones. 

o Chapter 20.32 describes a Fourplex as being either three or four units. Triplex is 
the term for a three-unit building and should be added, or the term renamed to 
Triplex/Fourplex. 

o Chapter 20.32 describes a Cottage Court but it is unclear which type of 
residential land use that falls under in Chapter 20.39, especially since there are 
mismatches in which zones the different types of single-family uses are allowed. 

• The terms “Two-family” and “Single-family attached (2 units)” in Chapter 20.39 should 
simply be “Duplex” which is a more commonly used term. It is also unnecessary to 
describe two different types of duplexes in Chapter 20.32 when they are both allowed in 
the same zones. The building type “Attached House” is another instance of the same 
use being duplicated. 

• A single-family triplex/fourplex is intended for potential homeownership with each unit 
on its own lot, and a multifamily triplex/fourplex is most likely intended for rentals. 
However, it is unknown why they have different permissions by zone. The same goes for 
fiveplex and sixplex developments. Ownership and rental housing that has the same 
land use and appearance should be treated similarly. 

• The City has no path to permit manufactured housing (also known as factory-built 
housing). Factory-built housing should be treated the same as site-built housing if it 
conforms to all applicable zoning and design standards. 

 

Residential Zones: Dimensional Standards 
A blank cell means the standard is not applicable. 

Note: The R5 zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.34) 

Measure 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Minimum Lot Size (square feet) 
Detached House (street vehicle 
access) 6,000 5,000 2,800 – 

5,000   4,000 

Detached House (alley vehicle 
access) 5,000 3,000 2,400    

Cottage Court 1,200 1,200 1,200    
Duplex: Side-by-Side  5,000 5,000   5,000 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 52 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.34) 

Measure 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Duplex: Back-to-Back  5,000 5,000   5,000 
Attached House  2,500 2,000   2,500 
Fourplex   7,000 7,000 7,000  
Townhouse  2,000 800 800 1,000  
Apartment   10,000 10,000 10,000  
Minimum Site Size (square feet) (POMC 20.32) 
Cottage Court 22,500 22,500 22,500   22,500 
Townhouse  5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000  
Minimum lot width (feet) 
Detached House 
(street vehicle access) 50 50 36   40 

Detached House 
(alley vehicle access) 50 30 26   40 

Cottage Court  20 20 20 20  
Duplex: Side-by-Side 
(street vehicle access)  60 60   60 

Duplex: Side-by-Side 
(alley vehicle access)  40 40   40 

Duplex: Back-to-Back  40 40   40 
Attached House  
(street vehicle access)  30 30   30 

Attached House 
(alley vehicle access)  20 20   20 

Fourplex   60 60 60  
Townhouse 
(street vehicle access) 

 30 30 30 30  

Townhouse 
(alley vehicle access) 

 20 16 16 16  

Apartment   80 80 80  

Other Lot Standards 
Maximum hard surface 
coverage  50% 70% 80% 80% 80% 75% 

Building Height (feet/stories) 
Height, maximum  35 

3 stories 
35 

3 stories 
35 

3 stories 
45 

4 stories 
55 

5 stories 
35 

3 stories 
Height, Accessory Structure 
(feet) 24 24 24   24 

Density 
Minimum density  
(units per acre)       

Maximum density 
(units per acre)       



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 53 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.34) 

Measure 
Residential Zones 

R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 
Setbacks (Feet) 
Primary street setback, 
minimum 10 10 10 10 10 10 

Side street setback, minimum  10 10 10 10 10 10 
Side interior setback, minimum  5 5 5 5 5 5 
Rear setback, minimum 10 10 10 4-10 10 10 

Figure 50. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code 20.34 

Observations: 

• Chapter 20.34 has complex lists of lot area and width standards that differ by zone and 
by building type, which is summarized in the table above. This is one of the more 
complicated arrangements of dimensional standards among Washington cities. 

• However, the actual minimum lot widths, lot sizes, and setbacks and maximum hard 
surface coverage standards are generally reasonable. Some of the minimum lot widths 
greater than 50 feet may be worth revisiting for infill opportunities. 

• There are no minimum density requirements, which disincentives most new 
development (especially subdivisions) from building anything other than single-family 
homes. This does not fulfill Comprehensive Plan policies LU-11, HS-9, and HS-16, which 
call for minimum densities at least in local centers. 

• The lot size and setback standards are highly specific, providing no flexibility for 
developers and site planners. One building type must be chosen and stuck with 
throughout the design process, otherwise choosing or adding a different type seems to 
require restarting land area needs and design assumptions from scratch. This 
disincentivizes developing a mix building types in large subdivisions or any type of infill 
“missing middle” housing. 

• The minimum “site size” provided only for cottages and townhouses discourages those 
middle types by providing a layer of complication and limiting the sites that are eligible 
for middle housing development. 

• Each building type is listed in Chapter 20.32, where there are lists of dimensional 
standards (lot width, setback, etc.) that says “set by district” for nearly every standard. 
However, it does not say where to find this information. Code users must know to 
navigate to the relevant Chapter 20.34, for example, for Residential Districts. 

 
  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 54 

Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Allowed Residential Development 
In the first table, P means permitted and a blank cell means the building type is not permitted in 
the zone. 

Note: The RMU zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Building Types (POMC 20.32.015) 

Building Type 
Commercial and Mixed Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Detached House  P P       
Backyard Cottage  P P       
Cottage Court P P P       
Duplex: Side-by-Side  P P       
Duplex: Back-to-Back  P P       
Attached House  P P       
Fourplex  P        
Townhouse P P P P  P    
Apartment    P  P    
Live-Work P P P P P P P  P 
Shopfront House P P P P  P P  P 
Mixed Use Shopfront   P P P  P  P 
Manufactured or 
Mobile Home Park       

   

Accessory Building P P P P P P P P P 
Figure 51. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.32.015 

In the second table is selected permitted uses in residential zones. These are reorganized from 
the actual code and have subheadings added. P means permitted, C means conditionally 
permitted (subject to extra review and public comment), and a blank cell means the housing 
type is not permitted in the zone. 

Note: The RMU zone is not currently mapped, and so was not evaluated closely. 

Use Types  (POMC 20.39.040) 

Residential Use 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
General 
Single-family detached (including 
new manufactured homes)  P P       

Two-family P P P       
Single-family attached (2 units) P P P       
Single-family attached (3 or 4 units) P P P P P P P  P 
Single-family attached (5 or 6 units) P P P P P P P  P 
Multifamily dwellings (3 or 4 units) P P P P P P P  P 
Multifamily dwellings (5 or more 
units) P P P P P P P  P 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 55 

Manufactured or Mobile Homes 
Designated manufactured home, 
manufactured or mobile home 
(except for new designated 
manufactured home) 

      

   

New designated manufactured 
home P P P    

   

Manufactured or mobile home park          
Supportive Housing 
Indoor emergency housing  C  C C  C C  
Indoor emergency shelter  C  C C  C C  
Permanent supportive housing C C C C C C C C  
Transitional housing C C C C C C C C  
Group Lodgings 
Boarding house  C C   P    
Congregate living facilities  C C   P    
Lodging house  C C   P    
Group home (up to 8 residents), 
except as follows:  P P       

Adult family home  P P       
All group living (9 or more 
residents) P C P P C  P   

Figure 52. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code table 20.39.040 

 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Dimensional Standards 
A blank cell means the standard is not applicable. 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.35) 

Measure 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Minimum Lot Size (square feet) 
Detached House 
(street vehicle 
access) 

 3,500 3,000       

Detached House 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

 3,500 3,000       

Cottage Court          
Duplex: Side-by-
Side  7,000 6,000       

Duplex: Back-to-
Back  7,000 6,000       

Attached House   3,500       
Fourplex  7,000        
Townhouse 1,000 800  800      
Apartment    5,000      



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 56 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.35) 

Measure 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Shopfront House 6,000 7,000 6,000 5,000  None 5,000  5,000 
Mixed Use 
Shopfront   10,000 5,000 None None 5,000  None 

Minimum Site Size (square feet) (POMC 20.32) 
Cottage Court          
Townhouse          

Minimum lot width (feet) 
Detached House 
(street vehicle 
access) 

 60 60       

Detached House 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

 60 60       

Cottage Court          
Duplex: Side-by-
Side (street 
vehicle access) 

 60 60       

Duplex: Side-by-
Side (alley 
vehicle access) 

 60 60       

Duplex: Back-to-
Back  60 60       

Attached House 
(street vehicle 
access) 

  30       

Attached House 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

  30       

Fourplex  60        
Townhouse 
(street vehicle 
access) 

30 30  16      

Townhouse 
(alley vehicle 
access) 

16 16  16      

Apartment    50      
Shopfront House 60 65 60 50  None  50  50 
Mixed Use 
Shopfront   80 50 None None 50  50 

Other Lot Standards 
Maximum hard 
surface coverage  90% 70% 75% 80% 100% 90% 70% 70% 70% 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 57 

Dimensional Standards (POMC 20.35) 

Measure 
Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones 

RMU NMU BPMU CMU DMU GMU CC CH IF 
Building Height (feet) 

Height, 
maximum  35 35 40 40 38 38 35  35 

Density 
Minimum density 
(units per acre)          

Maximum 
density (units per 
acre) 

         

Setbacks (Feet) 
Primary street 
setback, 
minimum 

0 
(10 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

0 
(10 

Max) 
(0 Max)  

15 
(50 

Max) 
20 5 

Side street 
setback, 
minimum  

0 
(10 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

10 
(30 

Max) 

0 
(10 

Max) 
(0 Max)  

15 
(50 

Max) 

15 
(50 

Max) 
5 

Side interior 
setback, 
minimum  

0 - 5 5 5 0 (0 Max)  10  10 

Rear setback, 
minimum 10 10 10 20 (0 Max)  10  10 

Figure 53. Excerpt of Port Orchard Municipal Code 20.35 

 
Observations: 

• Apartment and townhouse building types are not allowed in the Commercial Corridor 
(CC) zone, but single-family attached and multifamily land use is allowed. This appears 
to limit this type of development to the live-work building type, which has struggled to 
achieve market feasibility in most of the region. 

• Apartment and townhouse building types are allowed in the Commercial Mixed Use 
(CMU) zone, which is often adjacent to the CC zone along arterial corridors and appears 
to serve a similar purpose. 

• No residential development is allowed in the Commercial Heavy (CH) zone, which 
prevents any possible mixed-use redevelopment of aging shopping centers or 
underutilized commercial properties in the Bethel and Sedgwick corridors. 

• The maximum impervious surface standards provide sufficient flexibility for residential 
development 

• Note that while the Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) and Gateway Mixed Use (GMU) base 
height limit 38 feet, the Downtown Height Overlay District (DHOD) that overlaps almost 
all of these two zones provides increased height limits of 48-68 feet, which increases the 
feasibility of mixed-use development. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 58 

• The 40 feet height limit in the CMU and BPMU zones (perhaps the other most promising 
zones for mixed-use development given their coverage of the city) is limiting, allowing 
for only about three stories of development by-right. Mixed-use development is generally 
more feasible the taller the building is, since the cost of construction on a per-square-
foot basis remains relatively constant for 3-6 story buildings.  

• Options for height increases and bonus provisions (outside of the transfer of 
development rights program) may be evaluated in the HAP. Some cities provide height 
bonuses as part of MFTE participation. As a point of reference, the Ruby Creek Overlay 
District provides a base 55-feet height limit for the CMU, CC, and CH zones in the 
southern area of the city.  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 59 

ADU Standards 
Port Orchard regulates accessory dwelling units (ADU) in two locations: Chapter 20.68 POMC 
for basic procedures and design requirements, and POMC 20.32.030 for the “Backyard cottage” 
dwelling type. Attached ADUs are allowed in all residential zones on lots with a single detached 
dwelling unit and limited to 40 percent the size of the primary unit or 1,000 square feet, 
whichever is less. Detached ADUs (backyard cottages) are allowed in the R1, R2, R3, R6, NMU, 
RMU, BPMU, and GB zones and limited to 40 percent the size of the primary unit or 1,000 square 
feet, whichever is greater. 

Port Orchard explicitly permits ADUs to be used as a short-term rental and for occupation by 
home businesses and occupations. 

Port Orchard amended its ADU standards in October 2022 with Ordinance 038-22. The 
ordinance removes requirements to register an ADU with an affidavit and ending the need for an 
“ADU agreement” to be recorded with the county auditor. As part of this, the owner occupancy 
requirement and parking requirements for ADUs have been removed; these are two of the most 
common and significant barriers to ADUs, so these changes will improve feasibility of ADU 
development. 

Other Development Regulations 
POMC 20.129 provides standards for the protection and replacement of significant trees. City 
staff have observed that the requirement for a tree retention plan, which applies to all 
development except detached houses and backyard cottages, adds a considerable and 
repetitive cost for development applications. Alternative approaches are available, such as 
requiring a minimum tree canopy coverage (which can use existing or new trees) that still 
achieves the same goals but avoids the risk of lone significant trees being damaged 
subsequent to development.  

Design Standards 
Port Orchard has several residential design standards. 

• POMC 20.32: Building types 
• POMC 20.139: Residential design standards for residential building types like detached 

houses, backyard cottages, cottages, duplexes, townhomes, and accessory buildings  
• POMC 20.127: Commercial and multifamily development block frontages, site planning, 

and building design 
 
At least two stakeholders said the cottage housing standards discourage their development, 
particularly the minimum site size standards and the minimum open space: 

• The minimum site area is 22,500 SF regardless of number of units, and an additional 
4,500 SF site area is required per unit when there are six or more cottages even though 
the minimum unit lot size is 1,200 SF. 

• The minimum courtyard area is 3,000 SF (minimum width 40 feet) and extra 600 SF per 
unit is required when there are six or more cottages. 

• Compare these other typical cottage standards, such as in Anacortes, which do not 
regulate lot size and have smaller open space requirements.  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard2032.html
https://anacortes.municipal.codes/AMC/19.43.010(D)


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 60 

Zoning Map 
The City’s current zoning map is copied below. 

 

Building Code 
The City of Port Orchard has adopted standard building and trades under Chapter 20.200 POMC 
with local amendments. Adopted codes include the International Building Code (applies to 
commercial and mixed-use development, and residential development with three or more units), 
the International Residential Code (applies to single-family, duplex, and townhouse 
development), and international codes for mechanical systems, plumbing, energy conservation, 
fire safety, and property maintenance. 

  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/PortOrchard/#!/PortOrchard20/PortOrchard20200.html


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 61 

Landlord-Tenant Regulations 
People who rent homes are significantly more likely to be cost-burdened, face eviction, and be 
at risk of homelessness. Recognizing this, the State of Washington sets the baseline for the 
landlord-tenant relationship through the State Residential Landlord-Tenant Act, RCW 59.18. 
According to the Attorney General’s Office, there is no centralized enforcement mechanism for 
the RCW, and so it is incumbent upon landlords and tenants to either self-remedy violations, 
seek counseling or low-cost legal help from non-profit organizations, and/or resolve disputes 
through the courts.  

Over the past few years, the Washington State Legislature has adopted new tenant protections 
as follows.  

Year  RCW  Topic Effect 
2018 59.18.255 Prohibition on source 

of income 
discrimination 

Prohibits source of income discrimination against a 
tenant who uses a benefit or subsidy to pay rent 

2019 59.18.200 Notice of demolition Tenants must be provided a 120-day notice to tenants of 
demolition or substantial rehabilitation of premises 

2019 59.18.140 Notice of rent 
increase 

Tenants must be provided a 60-day notice of a rent 
increase, and increases may not take effect until the 
completion of the term of the current rental agreement 

2020 59.18.610 Initial deposits and 
fees 

Tenants may request paying initial deposits, 
nonrefundable fees, and last month’s rent in installments 
(may be spread over 2-3 months, depending on lease 
length) 

2021 59.18.650 Just cause evictions Landlords must specify a reason for refusing to continue 
a residential tenancy, subject to certain limited 
exceptions 

Figure 54. Recent state landlord-tenant regulations 

Notably, rent control by local jurisdictions was banned at the state level in 1981 (RCW 
35.21.830). Otherwise, local jurisdictions are free to adopt additional or more stringent 
regulations than those provided by the state, and numerous cities and counties have done so.  

The City of Port Orchard has not adopted any local landlord-tenant regulations. The King County 
Bar Association provides a model tenant protection ordinance within the framework of 
Washington State law which could be informative for future discussions and recommendations. 
Several Washington cities have recently adopted at least portions of the model ordinance. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 62 

State Land Use Law 
In recent years the Washington State Legislature has enacted preemption laws requiring local 
jurisdictions to ease regulations on certain types of residential land uses. In the 2022 legislative 
session, several additional bills were proposed with major preemptions regarding missing 
middle housing, accessory dwelling units, and minimum building heights (respectively, HB 1782, 
HB 2020, and HB 1660). These recent bills did not pass but can likely be expected to come up 
again in 2023 and beyond as Washington continues to confront statewide housing challenges. 

A non-exhaustive list of recent state preemptions follows. 

Year  RCW  Topic Effect 
2018 36.70A.450 Home-based family 

day care 
Cities may not prohibit the use of a residential dwelling, 
located in an area zoned for residential or commercial 
use, as a family day-care provider's facility serving 
twelve or fewer children 

2019 35.21.684 Tiny homes Cities may not adopt ordinances that prevent tiny 
homes with wheels used as a primary residence in a 
manufactured/mobile home community, with the 
exception that ordinances may require that tiny houses 
with wheels contain sanitary plumbing fixtures. 

2019 35A.63.300 Religious 
organization density 
bonus 

Upon request, cities must allow an increased density 
bonus for development of single-family or multifamily 
residences affordable to low-income households on 
property owned by religious organizations. 

2019 36.70A.600 Safe harbor from 
appeals under the 
State Environmental 
Policy Act 

The adoption of ordinances and other nonproject 
actions taken by a city to ease regulations on housing 
development are not subject to administrative or 
judicial appeal under RCW 43.21C. Similar protection is 
made for housing elements and implementing 
regulations that increase housing capacity under RCW 
36.70A.070. 

2020 36.70A.698 Parking for accessory 
dwelling units 

Cities may not require the provision of off-street 
parking for accessory dwelling units within one-quarter 
mile of a major transit stop (likely does not apply to 
Port Orchard due to low transit service today). 

2020 36.70A.620 Parking for 
multifamily housing 

Cities may not require more than a certain ratio of 
parking spaces per unit within one-quarter mile of a 
frequent transit stop. There are different limits for 
market-rate units, designated senior and disability 
homes, and low-income units (likely does not apply to 
Port Orchard due to low transit service today). 

2021 35A.21.430 Permanent 
supportive housing 

Cities may not prohibit permanent supportive housing 
in areas where multifamily housing or hotels are 
permitted. Reasonable occupancy, spacing, and 
intensity of use requirements may be imposed. This 
supersedes a similar law passed in 2019, RCW 
35A.21.305. 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1782&Initiative=false&Year=2021
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=2020&Initiative=false&Year=2021
https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1660&Initiative=false&Year=2021
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.450
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35.21.684
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.63.300
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.600
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.698
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.620
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 63 

Year  RCW  Topic Effect 
2021 35A.21.430 Transitional housing Cities may not prohibit transitional housing in areas 

where multifamily housing or hotels are permitted. 
Reasonable occupancy, spacing, and intensity of use 
requirements may be imposed. 

2021 35A.21.430 Indoor emergency 
shelters and indoor 
emergency housing 

Cities may not prohibit indoor emergency shelters and 
indoor emergency housing in any zones in which hotels 
are permitted. Reasonable occupancy, spacing, and 
intensity of use requirements may be imposed. 

2021 35A.21.314 “Family” definition 
and number of 
unrelated household 
occupants 

Except for limits on occupant load per square foot or 
general health and safety provisions, cities may not 
regulate or limit the number of unrelated persons that 
may occupy a household or dwelling unit. 

2021 36.70A.070 
 

Requirements for 
Comprehensive Plan 
Housing Elements 

Requires planning and analysis of housing needs for 
moderate, low, very low, and extremely low-income 
households; a variety of housing types; zoning that may 
have a discriminatory effect; and other related issues. 
This will apply to the next major update of Port 
Orchard’s Comprehensive Plan due in 2024. 

Figure 55. Recent state zoning preemptions 

 
  

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.430
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.21.314
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.070


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 64 

Federal Incentives 
Created in 2017, Opportunity Zones are intended to assist economically distressed 
communities with preferential tax treatment for those investing eligible capital gains. Port 
Orchard has been designated with two federal Opportunity Zones located contiguously with 
Census Tracts #53035092200 and #53035092300. This covers the much of the city east of 
State Route 16. Generally, this tool has seen little interest from large residential developers, but 
it may be appealing to local or long-term hold developers. The program expires in 2026. 

 
Figure 56. Location of the federal Opportunity Zones in Port Orchard 

Port Orchard shares many of its housing challenges with other communities nationwide, and the 
country’s affordable housing problem has caught the attention of the White House. In May 2022, 
President Biden released a statement saying, in part: 

“One of the most significant issues constraining housing supply and production is the lack 
of available and affordable land, which is in large part driven by state and local zoning and 
land use laws and regulations that limit housing density. Exclusionary land use and zoning 
policies constrain land use, artificially inflate prices, perpetuate historical patterns of 
segregation, keep workers in lower productivity regions, and limit economic growth.  
Reducing regulatory barriers to housing production has been a bipartisan cause in a 
number of states throughout the country. It’s time for the same to be true in Congress, as 
well as in more states and local jurisdictions throughout the country.” 

The President has directed his administration to leverage existing transportation and economic 
development funding streams to reward jurisdictions that promote density, main street 
revitalization, and transit-oriented development. For the near future, the President has also 
proposed billions of dollars for HUD grant programs to support local jurisdictions in eliminating 
barriers to affordable housing production, supporting manufactured housing, scaling up ADU 
production, and other measures.   

https://opportunityzones.hud.gov/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/05/16/president-biden-announces-new-actions-to-ease-the-burden-of-housing-costs/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 65 

Section 7 – Land Capacity Analysis 
A land capacity analysis is a core element of a housing needs analysis, as required by the 
Washington Department of Commerce. Kitsap County completed a Buildable Lands Report in 
November 2021 which contains a comprehensive analysis of vacant and redevelopable land in 
Port Orchard as well as required land to meet expected population growth. As shown in Figure 
54, Port Orchard has surplus land to accommodate 5,750 more residents than expected by 
2036. According to the 2021 Kitsap County Buildable Lands Report, the County is currently 
updating its zoning to remove barriers to housing in UGAs. The target population growth in Port 
Orchard’s UGA is based on forthcoming County zoning code revisions incentivizing urban 
housing development in the UGA consistent with its designation as a High-Capacity Transit 
Corridor in PSRC’s VISION 2050 framework. Together, the city and UGA have available land for a 
surplus of 5,750 residents.  

Jurisdiction 2020  
Population 

2044 
Population 

Target 

2020-2044 
Population 

Growth 

2020 
Population 
Capacity 

Surplus / 
Deficit 

Port Orchard City 15,587 26,087 10,500 16,250 5,750 
Port Orchard UGA 15,370 18,922 3,552 3,552 0 
Port Orchard Total 30,957 45,009 14,052 19,802 5,750 

Figure 57. Port Orchard 2021 Residential Buildable Lands Analysis Summary. Source: 2021 Kitsap County 
Buildable Lands Analysis, Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council, City of Port Orchard 

Figure 58 shows a breakdown of unit and population capacity by zone and type of unit. As 
shown, the majority of the new unit capacity is on vacant or redevelopable land in the R2 and R3 
zones, as well as to a lesser degree in the CMU zone. The largest amount of multifamily unit 
capacity is found in the R3 zone. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 66 

Zoning 
Net 

Acres 

Single-
Family 

Unit 
Capacity 

Multifamily 
Unit 

Capacity 
Population 
Capacity 

Greenbelt (GB) 71.74 36 
 

96 
Residential 1 (R1) 35.15 255 

 
685 

Residential 2 (R2) 147.06 1,495 
 

4,022 
Residential 3 (R3) 31.87 1,540 1,350 7,049 
Residential 4 (R4) 21.56 

 
456 954 

Residential 6 (R6) 18.11 421 
 

1,134 
Neighborhood Mixed Use (NMU) 0.54 

 
5 11 

Business Professional Mixed Use (BPMU) 5.59 
 

19 39 
Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) 0.24 

 
2 4 

Gateway Mixed Use (GMU) 0.31 
 

39 82 
Commercial Mixed Use (CMU) 49.76 

 
961 2,009 

Commercial Corridor (CC) 18.62 
 

79 166 
Figure 58. Port Orchard 2021 Buildable Lands by Zone. Source: 2021 Kitsap County Buildable Lands 
Analysis. 

Port Orchard’s land capacity is likely higher than the numbers listed in the 2021 Kitsap County 
Buildable Lands Report as a result of new zoning changes adopted in 2019 but not used in the 
analysis. For example, the Buildable Lands Report assumed that the R2 zone would see only 
single-family development even though although multifamily development is allowed in the zone 
and multifamily development would result in a larger number of units than shown in the table 
above. 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 67 

Appendix A – Kitsap County Impact Fee Comparison 

 Single-
Family Duplex 

Triplex & 
Fourplex Townhouse 

Multifamily 
1-2 floors 

Multifamily 
3+ floors 

Multifamily 
Mixed Use 

ADU 

Road Impact Fees 

Port 
Orchard  $5,205.69 $5,205.69  $2,944.63 – 

$5,205.69  $5,205.69 $2,944.63 $2,313.64 $1,892.98 
$1,472.32 
– 
$2,944.63 

Kitsap 
County  $4,229.84 $2,294.91 $2,294.91 $2,564.90 $2,294.91 $1,754.93 $1,619.94 $2,564.90 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $5,318.52 $4,128.48 $4,128.48 $4,128.48 $4,128.48 $3,068.16 $3,068.16 $4,128.48 
Bainbridge 
Island $1,811.82 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,413.22 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 

Gig Harbor $5,720.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 $6,085.00 

Parks Impact Fees 
Port 
Orchard  $4,280.00 $3,089.00 $3,029.00 $3,089.00 – 

$4,280.00 $3,014.00 $3,014.00 $3,014.00 $2,344.00 

Kitsap 
County  $743.10 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 $362.03 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 $1,195.00 
Bainbridge 
Island $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Gig Harbor $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 

School Impact Fees 
Port 
Orchard  $1,370.83 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 $861.65 

Kitsap 
County  $1,455.66 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $1,455.66 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $839.81 $0.00 
Bainbridge 
Island $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Gig Harbor $4,130.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $2,179.00 $4,130.00 

Total Impact Fees 
Port 
Orchard  $10,856.52 $9,156.34 $6,835.28 – 

$9,096.34 
$9,156.34 – 
10,347.34 $6,820.28 $6,189.29 $5,768.63 $4,677.97 - 

$6,150.28 
Kitsap 
County  $6,428.60 $3,496.75 $3,496.75 $3,766.74 $3,496.75 $2,956.77 $2,821.78 $3,766.74 

Bremerton   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Poulsbo $7,969.18 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $6,163.29 $5,102.97 $5,102.97 $5,323.48 

Bainbridge 
Island $1,811.82 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,413.22 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 $1,123.33 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 68 

 Single-
Family Duplex 

Triplex & 
Fourplex Townhouse 

Multifamily 
1-2 floors 

Multifamily 
3+ floors 

Multifamily 
Mixed Use 

ADU 

Gig Harbor $11,350.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $9,764.00 $11,715.00 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 69 

Appendix B – Comprehensive Plan Policies 
The consultant team’s comments on select housing policies are listed below. 

Housing Element 
Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
HS-1 Identify a sufficient amount of land for housing, 

including but not limited to government‐assisted 
housing, housing for low‐income families, 
manufactured housing, multifamily housing, 
group homes, and foster care facilities. 

The Land Capacity Analysis in Section 7 of this 
report finds the City has surplus capacity for 5,750 
residents beyond 2044 growth targets. Land 
capacity will be reviewed in more detail with the 
update to the Port Orchard Comprehensive Plan 
due in 2024. 

HS-2 Support the development of a variety of housing 
types, including apartments, townhomes, mixed‐
use (residential and other uses) and live‐work 
development, small‐lot and zero lot line single‐
family homes, and manufactured homes, as well 
as traditional single‐family homes, through 
innovative planning, efficient and effective 
administration of land and building codes, and, 
where available, applicable financial assistance. 

The City has a good foundation of supportive 
zoning standards to support a variety of housing 
types, though as noted in Section 6 some 
improvements could be made or more incentives 
added. The MVOD zone is an example of 
innovative planning. Financial assistance largely is 
implemented through the MFTE program, though 
other options may need to be explored to support 
the low-income population. See also HS-20. 

HS-3 Monitor official and estimated population and 
housing data to ensure zoning and development 
regulations reflect market demands 

The HAP is partially fulfilling this policy. Some 
gaps have been found in this report. 

HS-4 Adopt zoning and development regulations that 
will have the effect of minimizing housing costs 
and maximizing housing options. 

According to City staff, this policy is generally 
being met, but stakeholders report other factors 
outside the City’s control are also contributing to 
increasing the costs of building housing. 

HS-5 Support the development of housing and related 
services that are provided by regional housing 
programs and agencies for special needs 
populations, especially the homeless, children, 
the elderly, and people with mental or physical 
disabilities. 

Port Orchard does not have any emergency 
housing or emergency shelter for homeless 
individuals. Supportive and group housing for 
people with mental or physical disabilities also 
appears limited, though there is a considerable 
share of senior housing and assisted living 
facilities concentrated on the Pottery Avenue 
corridor. 

HS-6 Consider reducing permitting fees for 
development which provide affordable housing 
as defined by the Washington Administrative 
Code (WAC) section 200‐120‐ 020. 

No waivers/reductions for impact fees, general 
facilities charges, or other permitting fees appear 
to be in place. 

HS-7 Consider the creation of zoning and other land 
use incentives for the private construction of 
affordable and special needs housing as a 
percentage of units in multi‐family development. 

This has been met through the MFTE program. 

HS-8 Consider adopting incentives for development of 
affordable multi‐family homes through property 
tax abatement in accordance with 84.14 RCW, 
focusing on designated mixed‐use local centers 
with identified needs for residential infill and 
redevelopment. 

This has been met through the MFTE program. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 70 

Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
HS-9 Implement minimum residential density 

requirements in centers of local importance in 
order to increase land and infrastructure 
efficiency. 

The City does not have any minimum density 
standards in any zone. 

HS-10 Encourage the development of vertical multi‐
family housing above ground floor commercial 
uses within centers of local importance. 

The MFTE Type III program and supportive zoning 
helps encourage this type of housing, and there 
are a variety of private projects proposed in local 
centers. 

HS-11 Encourage the development of a mix of housing 
types within walking and bicycling distance of 
public schools, parks, transit service, and 
commercial centers. 

A more thorough review of the future land use 
map will be needed in the Comprehensive Plan 
update. This is a good policy to continue forward. 

HS-12 Require that new housing developments occur 
concurrently with necessary infrastructure 
investments. 

This is primarily met through impact fees. 

HS-14 Implement zoning and development regulations 
which encourage infill housing on empty and 
redevelopable parcels. 

This type of development does not appear to be 
happening in large numbers, with most housing 
being built on greenfields on the edge of the city. 
More incentives for infill and redevelopment in 
local centers should be explored in the HAP. 

HS-15 Allow the development of residential accessory 
dwelling units (ADUs) and detached accessory 
dwelling units (DADUs) in appropriate residential 
areas with sufficient public facilities to 
adequately serve additional residents. 

Allow in all residential areas. Consider policy to 
allow ADU’s to be built with all single-family, 
duplex, and triplex developments. 

HS-16 Consider increasing maximum housing densities 
and implementing minimum housing densities in 
appropriate areas. 

Similar to policy HS-9. Minimum densities will be 
explored in the HAP. The City has no maximum 
density limits in residential zones. 

HS-18 Consider programs to preserve or rehabilitate 
neighborhoods and areas that are showing signs 
of deterioration due to lack of maintenance or 
abandonment. 

One project has utilized the MFTE Type II program 
intended for abandoned properties. The City could 
consider other maintenance support, such as use 
of Community Development Block Grants to help 
low-income homeowners with rehabilitation. 

HS-19 Consider commercial building design standards 
that establish and protect neighborhood 
character. 

Commercial design standards have been adopted. 

HS-20 Seek federal, state, and other funding for the 
renovation and maintenance of existing housing 
stock. 

Staff report no work has been done on grant 
applications to renovate/maintain existing 
housing stock. 

HS-22 Streamlining the permitting process for 
development by implementing policies and 
procedures that reduce the length of time 
involved in plan approval. 

Stakeholders noted that permit processing time 
and unexpected hurdles are a continuing problem, 
though the City has recently moved to an 
electronic system. 

HS-24 Consider developing and implementing flexible 
development standards for housing being 
proposed in the vicinity of critical areas to meet 
both the goals of housing targets and 
environmental protection. 

The City has recently updated its critical areas 
standards and has no maximum density limits in 
residential zones. 

HS-27 If the City’s growth rate falls below 2.1% annual 
growth, the rate at which the City would need to 
grow at in order to hit its 2036 growth target, the 

In individual years the growth rate has sometimes 
been lower than 2.1% (e.g. 2.7% from 2017 to 
2018), and from 2015 to 2022 the average annual 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 71 

Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 

city should consider adopting reasonable 
measures such as reducing adopted 
transportation levels of service, impact fees, or 
accelerating growth related projects within the 
City’s Capital Improvement Program. 

growth rate was 2.6%. It is unclear which 
timeframe should be used to evaluate whether 
“reasonable measures” are needed. 

HS-28 If the City’s growth rate increases from the 2.5% 
growth rate experienced from 2013‐2015, the 
City should consider adopting reasonable 
measures including increasing transportation 
level of service standards, impact fees, or 
delaying projects within the City’s Capital 
Improvement Program. 

In individual years the growth rate has sometimes 
been higher than 2.5% (e.g. 2.8% from 2021 to 
2022), and from 2015 to 2022 the average annual 
growth rate was 2.6%. It is unclear which 
timeframe should be used to evaluate whether 
“reasonable measures” are needed. 

 

Land Use Element 
Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
LU-1 Ensure that land use and zoning regulations 

maintain and enhance existing single-family 
residential neighborhoods, while encouraging 
that new development provides a mixed range of 
housing types. 

Some variety of housing types are being seen in 
recent years, but not enough to meet all market 
needs. Revisiting this policy in the context of 
single-family neighborhoods may be warranted in 
the Comprehensive Plan update. 

LU-11 Within centers of local importance, set minimum 
building densities that enable lively and active 
streets and commercial destinations. Such limits 
may take the form of: minimum floors or building 
height, floor-area-ratios, and lot coverage; and 
maximum street setbacks and parking spaces. 

The housing policy review in Section 6 finds that 
none of these ideas have been implemented, with 
the exception of maximum street setbacks in 
limited commercial areas. 

LU-17 Incentivize infill development to preserve and 
protect open space, critical areas, and natural 
resources. 

This type of development does not appear to be 
happening in large numbers, with most housing 
being built on greenfields on the edge of the city. 
More incentives for infill and redevelopment in 
local centers should be explored in the HAP. 

  

Transportation Element 
Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 
Goal 7 Work with Kitsap Transit to provide increased 

transit service to the City as development 
occurs. 

Level of service standards for transit frequency is 
not mentioned anywhere in the Transportation 
Element. 

TR-38 Require new development and redevelopment to 
provide safe neighborhood walking and biking 
routes to schools. 

The future land use map and zoning map should 
be evaluated to determine what housing capacity 
and potential for new development exists near 
schools. New infrastructure is most easily paid for 
by new development, and schools should be 
nodes of residential density to facilitate short 
walks and bike rides for students from home. 

TR-86 Consider reduction of parking requirements if a 
development provides alternatives for multi-

Noted. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan – Existing Conditions and Housing Needs Analysis Report  Page 72 

Goal/ 
Policy Text MAKERS Comments 

modal uses such as Transportation Demand 
Management measures. 

 

 



Appendix C 
Public Engagement Report 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report     Page 
1 

Port Orchard Housing Action Plan 
Public Engagement Report 
March 29, 2023 
 

1.0 – Introduction 
In the course of preparing a housing action plan (HAP) Port Orchard engaged community 
members to gain a deeper understanding of local housing needs and affordability issues, find 
shared values and common ground, and identify divergent viewpoints. Public engagement 
occurred primarily in three ways: 

• Stakeholder interviews (see section 2.0) 
• A communitywide housing survey (see section 3.0) 

 

Table of Contents 

1.0 – Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 1 

2.0 – Stakeholder Interview Summary..................................................................................... 2 

3.0 – Housing Survey Summary .............................................................................................. 6 

Appendix A – Written Comments for “Other” Answers ......................................................... 31 

Appendix B – Housing Stories ............................................................................................... 33 

Appendix C – Housing Construction Comments ........................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 2 

2.0 – Stakeholder Interview Summary 
MAKERS and Leland Consulting Group interviewed 14 individual Port Orchard stakeholders. 
They included or represented city residents, elected officials, affordable housing agencies, 
developers and homebuilders, and other community leaders. This range of people provided a 
variety of perspectives on housing challenges and opportunities in Port Orchard. This section 
summarizes their comments, observations, and priorities. 

Organizations interviewed: 

• Port Orchard City Council and Mayor 
• Kitsap Housing Authority 
• Disney & Associates 
• Port Orchard Chamber of Commerce 
• Tarragon 
• Contour Construction 
• McCormick Communities 

 
Overall, stakeholders confirmed that there is a lack of housing options in Port Orchard, even 
with recent changes by the city. Low-moderate income workers and fixed-income retirees are 
struggling to afford housing in Port Orchard and long-time residents are seeing their adult 
children unable to afford buying a home in the city. There is concern that essential service and 
retail workers are leaving the community, limiting the social and economic diversity of the city, 
and hurting businesses in the city.  

All cost inputs for new housing are going in the wrong direction amid rising prices for 
materials, labor, and land. There may be some regulatory opportunities to improve the cost 
efficiency of construction and create partnerships for affordable housing. Regulatory tweaks 
to the code and design standards, policy updates to the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 
program, and friendlier development processes for housing providers is the collection of 
solutions stakeholders feel could help better achieve city housing goals.  

2.1 – Housing Challenges 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• There is a lot of housing being developed, but there lacks diversity of housing options 
with current and planned housing being developed. Most new housing is either a 
single-family detached home or garden apartments. Diversity of housing options is a 
challenge in Port Orchard. 

• Quote (paraphrased): “After a life changing event, I didn’t want to deal with another 
long-term mortgage or upkeep of a large house. I wanted something where I could help 
take care of my mom, somewhere we could live in the same building but have our own 
spaces. What I was looking for didn’t really exist in Port Orchard.” 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 3 

• Rents and upfront fees/deposits have increased significantly over the past several 
years, compounding the difficulties for entry-level and moderate-income workers.  

• Quote (paraphrased): “I am worried about economic diversity and being a place that is 
inclusive for people starting out. I am also worried about racial diversity and being 
unable to attract people from all walks of life.” 

• Several stories were shared by people who have lived in town decades and their 
children cannot afford to purchase a home in town. 

• Lots of interest was shared by people interested in mixed-use and residential 
development in downtown Port Orchard, while admitting understanding or frustration 
that the area doesn’t seem quite ready for that type of development. 

• There seems to be little price difference in the cost of purchasing a single-family home 
versus a townhome, even though they have differences in amenities and size. 

• Some housing providers felt cottage housing is currently tough with design standards 
and current allowed density. One housing provider referenced the possible trade-off 
with open space but thought cottage housing could be more viable if more density was 
allowed on the lot. 

• The local affordable housing authority is recently reorganizing and updating their 
systems, meaning they’re currently behind on processing. The current waitlist has over 
a 1000 people and are at least a year away from developing any new housing. 

 

2.2 – Housing Production and Code Considerations 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Several stakeholders said they appreciate working with Port Orchard staff, giving credit 
to their responsiveness, and that they generally liked the recent zoning code updates. 
However, they’ve also noticed with the increase of projects in Port Orchard, the 
permitting process has slowed down and is taken longer than it has in the past. 

• While admitting it did provide good looking products. Some housing providers felt 
navigating the design standards was more cumbersome than it needed to be 
(specifically mentioned were single-family homes and 2-4 unit-plexes).  

• Some housing providers found the lack of consistent processes for key parts of 
projects (sewer capacity, water line hookups, and building code) made it feel like staff 
were working against them, even if that wasn’t the intention. 

• Quote (paraphrased): “So often if feels like permitters and inspectors are working 
against me, I’m not trying to slip something by, I want to be more collaborative during 
the construction process.”  

• One housing provider felt the permitting process for a fourplex was equally as laborious 
as permitting an apartment. Suggested getting permitting processes for the 2-4 door 
range closer to the single-family permitting process. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 4 

• One housing provider felt having to do so much of the process only during the City’s 
business hours and having to do a phone call to schedule every inspection, is hard on 
smaller housing providers. Suggests an online permit portal. 

• Land costs and construction material costs have increased, while there is a short 
supply of labor to do the work. This is a nationwide problem. 

• Most stakeholders understand the reason and need for Port Orchard to raise impact 
fees in recent years to help pay for needed infrastructure. Many stakeholders are 
satisfied with where impact fees are at. Housing providers understand why fees 
increased, but also note that increased fees impact affordability and could impact 
future development. Additionally, the intensity of concern of increasing impact fees 
was stronger from smaller housing providers and those who mainly provide rental 
properties. 

• Quote (paraphrased): “I believe new construction should pay for itself and I don’t think 
impact fees are too cumbersome to development in the city. However, $15,000 in total 
fees to approve an ADU is disproportionate.” 

• Quote (paraphrased): “45% of all my housing is tied up in fees and permitting, taxes, 
impact fees, and other governmental oversight…Price increases are passed on to 
residents.” 

 

2.3 – Homelessness and Social Services 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Understand homelessness is a regional and statewide problem that is hard to get a 
handle on. Stakeholders understand affordable housing and mental health services are 
needed to address the problem, but know the city is lacking the resources to provide 
more. 

• A couple of stakeholders would like to see more shelters, transitional housing, single 
room occupancy apartments (SROs), and congregate housing in the city as housing 
best positioned to support the homeless population. Suggested the code be friendly to 
these types if not already. 

• A challenge identified by one stakeholder, was that available parking at new housing 
for the formerly homeless is still a big issue. 

 

2.4 – Employment and Businesses 
• The nearby military workforce brings a consistent level of demand for housing every 

year. 
• Expansion of telecommunicating or work from home and commuting on the Kitsap fast 

ferry, has allowed more people from higher cost areas like Seattle to move to Port 
Orchard. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 5 

• A couple of stakeholders discussed how housing affordability is a constraint on 
business success in the city. Lack of workforce is hurting businesses. 

• Several stakeholders mentioned the need for a grocery store and consistent retail 
options in the downtown area. One stakeholder explained the challenge as “The 
demographics don’t support high-end grocers and retail. On the other hand, the town 
needs to be upgraded to attract businesses.”  

• Land values are not at the point for big box retailers like Safeway to consider mixed-use 
redevelopment and structured parking, but more housing nearby is important to 
support the customer base. 

 

2.5 – Transportation 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Stakeholders like the fast ferry and foot ferry transit access to Bremerton and now 
Seattle. However, all expressed better service is needed for the public bus transit.  

• Kitsap Transit has money to add lines and increase service, but operator labor 
shortages are keeping that from happening. This is a nationwide problem. 

• Biking in general and e-bikes in particular are growing in popularity as a way to get 
around town, do shopping, commute, etc. Seems like an opportunity for people to 
reduce their cost of living by driving less. 

 

2.6 – Opportunities 
Summary of stakeholder comments on this topic: 

• Most stakeholders expressed interest and support for increased housing options. 
Stakeholders are looking for housing options like missing middle housing, accessory 
dwelling units (ADUs), townhomes, SROs, congregate housing, and apartments that are 
not garden apartments. 

• Several stakeholders are interested in updating the multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) 
program in Port Orchard to get more affordability on MFTE units. 

• Several housing providers shared that they there will be a market for rentable single-
family homes, townhomes, duplexes, triplexes, and quadplexes. 

• Kitsap Housing says affordable senior housing does well in Port Orchard and because 
of this, more affordable senior housing could be developed in the future. 

• One housing provider expressed a lot of satisfaction with Port Orchard’s updated R3 
zone and felt that the impacts of the updated zone will be coming in the future.  

 
 
 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 6 

3.0 – Housing Survey Summary 

3.1 – Target Audience and Response Rate 
The target audience for the survey was people living and/or working in Port Orchard city limits. 
The majority of respondents self-reported meeting these criteria. The project team set an 
informal goal of receiving at least 150 responses. 

The total input was 140 responses combined, and after removing non-valid response there are 
128 responses available for analysis. The breakdown is provided below and details on 
outreach methods are provided in section 3.10. 

Total Reponses 
Non-local responses 

removed* 
Incomplete 

responses removed 
Remaining for 

analysis 
140 12 0 128 

* 12 people (~9 percent) reported both living outside Port Orchard and not working in Port Orchard, and 
the majority are retired. While it is likely that most of these respondents have some connection to Port 
Orchard, they are not currently local constituents. 

 

3.2 – Housing Information 
Question 1 Where do you live? 
Respondents All respondents (128) 

 
Most respondents live within Port Orchard city limits. About 13% of respondents live outside 
the city and have a job based in Port Orchard. 

 

27%

60%

12% 1%

I live within Port Orchard
city limits, west of State
Route 16

I live within Port Orchard
city limits, east of State
Route 16

I live outside Port Orchard,
elsewhere in Kitsap County

I live outside of Kitsap
County



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 7 

Question 2 Which of these best describe your living situation? 
Respondents All respondents (128) 

 
Most respondents are homeowners, at 82%. Approximately 15% of respondents are renters. 
The rest reported being in some other situation or being homeless (the online survey was filled 
out by two homeless people). The survey was disproportionately answered by owners, whose 
households make up about 61% of the housing units in Port Orchard. About 39% of Port 
Orchard housing units are renter households. 

NOTE: Some of the questions in the remainder of the survey compare answers between 
owners and renters, noted in the question summary boxes. The 4 respondents who report 
neither owning nor renting represent a small percentage of responses and are excluded from 
those comparison analyses for brevity, but are included in other analyses and any written 
comments. 

  

82.0%

14.8%
0.0% 0.0% 3.1%

Own Rent Don’t pay for 
housing

Homeless None of these –
different situation

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 8 

Question 3 Regarding employment and commuting, please select the answer that most 
accurately describes your situation. 

Respondents All respondents (124), owners (105) and renters (19) 
 
Most respondents are employed and working. About 25% of respondents are retired with about 
94% of the retired respondents being homeowners. As a percentage of responses, both 
homeowners and renters that live in Port Orchard but have employment outside the city have 
similar rates of commuting to job and working remotely. The employment and commuting 
patterns for those that are working do not differentiate too significantly between owner and 
renter respondents.  

 

  

20.0%

26.3%

2.9%

10.5%

27.6%

31.6%

18.1%

21.1%

2.9% 28.6%

10.5%

Owners

Renters

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

My employment is based in Port Orchard city limits, and I commute to my job

My employment is based in Port Orchard city limits, and I usually work remotely

My employment is based outside Port Orchard, and I commute to my job

My employment is based outside Port Orchard, and I usually work remotely

I am not working right now but I plan to in the future

I am retired



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 9 

 

Question 4 What is your household’s total annual income?  
It’s okay to guess. Your household includes yourself, partner/spouse or family 
members living with you, and roommates. 

Respondents All respondents (124), owners (105) and renters (19) 
 
Respondents reported a wide range of annual household incomes. Owner respondents 
generally have higher incomes than renter respondents. For reference, the 2020 Median 
Household Income in Port Orchard reported by the ACS was $71,719. About 61% of owner 
respondents report their households have an income of at least $80,000 per year. About 63% 
of renters report their households earn less than $80,000 per year. 

 

 

  

Ze
ro

< 
$2

0k

$2
0-

40
k

$4
0-

60
k

$6
0-

80
k

$8
0-

10
0k

$1
00

-1
50

k

$1
50

-2
00

k

> 
$2

00
k

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Owners

Ze
ro

< 
$2

0k

$2
0-

40
k

$4
0-

60
k

$6
0-

80
k

$8
0-

10
0k

$1
00

-1
50

k

$1
50

-2
00

k

> 
$2

00
k

Renters



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 10 

 

Question 5 Approximately what percent of total/gross annual income does your 
household pay for your home? 
It’s okay to guess. This includes rent or mortgage payments, HOA fees, property 
taxes, and utilities (water, sewer, etc.). 

Respondents All respondents (123), owners (104) and renters (19) 
 
“Cost burden” is a measure of how many households pay more than 30% of their annual 
income on housing. 

Over 60% of renters report being cost burdened by housing, with nearly a third being extremely 
cost burdened (paying more than half their household income on housing). About 28% of 
owners report being cost burdened.  

 

 

 

  

20% or
less

25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50% or
more

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Cost of Housing Compared to Household Income

Owners Renters

Cost Burdened 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 11 

3.3 – Housing Stability 
Question 6 If you experience a major unexpected financial event like a job loss, large 

medical bill, or a partner passing away, would you be worried about being 
able to stay in your current home? 

Respondents All respondents (119), Owners (101) and renters (18) 
 
Both owners and renters report being at risk of losing their home from a major unexpected 
financial event at significantly high levels. A little over 60% of renters and almost 50% of 
owners report being at risk of losing their home from a major unexpected event. 

 

  

48% 52%61% 39%

Yes No
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Owners Renters



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 12 

Question 7 Do you or any of your closest family or friends share any of the following 
concerns about these costs of living and service issues in Port Orchard? 
Select all that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (97) 
 
Housing relates to other economic, service, medical, and transportation issues. The top 
concern by a significant margin is the availability of medical care in town, which 49% of 
respondents were concerned about. Also, having some distinction from other choices, was 
almost 40% of respondents being concerned about expensive or unavailable day care.  

The remaining concerns clustered closely together as respondents third highest concern, with 
these concerns all being chosen by around 30% of respondents: 

• Limited availability of shelter and services for homeless people 
• Businesses struggling to recruit employees 
• Expensive or unavailable assisted living options around 
• Limited public transit service 

 

 

About 22 people selected the “other” option for this question to provide written answers. Full 
comments are available in Appendix A.1. These are summarized as follows. 

• Limited dining and shopping options in the area 
• Property taxes are high and keep increasing, which affects everyone 
• High housing costs are taking away from the ability to afford other basics 

23%

28%

30%

30%

31%

39%

49%

0% 20% 40% 60%

Some types of needed medical
care are unavailable in town

Day care is either expensive or
unavailable in town

Public transit service is very
limited or unreliable

Businesses are struggling to
recruit employees who can
afford to live here
Assisted living is either
expensive or unavailable in
town
Shelter and services for
homeless people are limited

Other (please specify)



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 13 

• Limited safe bike routes 
• Some concerns about crime 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 14 

3.4 – Housing Stories  
Question 8 Do you have a housing story to tell? 
Respondents All respondents (63) 

 
Dozens of housing stories were submitted. A full listing is available in Appendix B.  

Overview 
The stories range from recounting of why people moved to Port Orchard, the impacts housing 
costs are having on their family and friends, and the acknowledgment of how difficult it is for 
young and new residents to get started in the City. 

Many homeowners shared how the increasing housing costs are making life hard or pushing 
out their kids, elderly parents, and friends from Port Orchard. Renters are discouraged about 
opportunities for homeownership, but also expressed dissatisfaction with the housing options 
available in the City to rent or buy. Overall, there is an understanding and a frustration from 
respondents that rising housing costs is negatively impacting other areas of quality of life. 

Renter Stories 
Many renters are feeling the pinch of increasing rent prices and are feeling pressure to move 
out of town for more affordable housing. Renters expressed the lack of options to rent in the 
area, as well as the lack of options to buy in the area. The renter stories include respondents 
who have grown up in Port Orchard, who have been in Port Orchard for a while, and relatively 
new renters in the City.  

An anonymous renter said: “I grew up here and my parents live here. My husband and I struggled 
to find a home to buy that was the right mix of size, location, neighborhood, future appreciation, and 
development risk. We continued to rent with an exceptionally good set up, but we watched the home 
prices skyrocket the past few years and I began to have serious concerns about being priced out of 
the area.  This year we purchased multifamily real estate in port orchard to preserve the option to 
stay in the area and secure our future housing needs.” 

A renter named Vanessa said: “Moved out to WA Jan 2022 with husband and son. We wanted to 
buy a home as first time buyers but find the process a bit difficult. Renting a home is getting to be 
expensive with rent being $2100 for two bedroom duplexes.”  

An anonymous renter said: “We moved here from Alaska & didn’t intend to stay in our current 
apartment for more than one year. Due to rent and other cost increases and poor well-paying job 
opportunities we’ve been essentially trapped here for 5 years, and the situation is leading me to look 
elsewhere for our future. I was really excited to live in this beautiful area, and I’ve been sorely 
disappointed trying to enjoy living here.” 

 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 15 

Homeowner Stories 
Homeowners frequently said they feel lucky, fortunate, or grateful to have purchased a home 
when they did, acknowledging that they could not afford current prices. One person named 
Cate said, “I was lucky and got into my home 16 years ago; I have refinanced once.  If I were to try 
to find a place to live right now without the equity of my home, I would have to find a roommate or 
two to alleviate the financial strain.” 

A homeowner named Kris said: “We moved to port orchard a few years ago. Even with our two 
middle class jobs, we find it exceptionally expensive to afford our modest home. If something were 
to happen and we'd need repairs to our house, such as old water pipes bursting, we'd be struggling a 
lot to pay the mortgage.” 

 

Family and Friends 
Many people said their adult children are either living with them because they can’t afford to 
buy or rent in the area, or their children are moving away to find housing they can afford 
elsewhere. Also, it’s not just children being impacted in people’s families. Respondents shared 
stories of siblings and elderly parents who are impacted by housing cost in the area. Many 
people also shared that housing costs are impacting friends and colleagues.  

A homeowner named Matt said: “I was born and raised in South Kitsap and two of my children still 
live here.... with us, they can't afford to buy.”  

An anonymous homeowner said: “My kids can’t afford to stay and live in Port Orchard so they 
moved away. My dad moved to another town to find more affordable senior housing. The rental 
market is not sustainable for young adults to start and build their families and future homes here. It 
used to be when I moved here 22 years ago which Is why I chooses to raise my kids here.” 

A homeowner named Christopher said: “I've had friends who live farther away for lower apartment 
rent, yet they work here in Port Orchard. I've also heard of people getting pushed out of Port Orchard 
to find better home rental and home buying prices. Port Orchard used to be the better value-for-your-
money place when most get pushed out of the Silverdale and Bremerton areas.” 

A homeowner named Season said: “I grew up here and have watched my parents slowly start to 
be priced out of the area since 2001 (they have always rented). My mom was a homemaker and my 
dad worked in carpet/flooring as an independent contractor. I was lucky enough to have bought a 
home in 2011 for $136K when there was a surplus of foreclosed homes scattered throughout Port 
Orchard.  

My spouse's mother is also in the same situation as my parents (she will actually be moving in with 
us in February because as a para-educator and a service industry worker, she cannot afford to rent a 
one bedroom apartment in Port Orchard)  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 16 

I am disappointed to see that new apartments are showing up (which is a good thing), but that the 
price does not fit the incomes of many people in our town. Ideally, I would like to see renting as a 
valid option for folks who have found themselves downsizing or are approaching retirement age 
who might not have access or time to pay a home loan, but can still live independently and with 
dignity.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report     Page 
17 

3.5 – Housing Types 
For these two housing type questions, the answer choices were the same but the questions 
were different. The questions asked: 

• What type of home do you currently live in? 
• In the future, what types of homes would you consider or see yourself living in, 

assuming it met your price range and the needs of your family or household? 
 

The following graphic was provided to illustrate examples of some of the less common home 
types. The answer choices also had some parenthetical details to further explain each type, 
which are removed from the charts for brevity. These were:  

• Detached house on a large lot with a big yard 
• Detached house on a small lot with a modest yard (the lot size is smaller than 5,000 

square feet) 
• Accessory dwelling unit (often designed as a mother-in-law suite, basement apartment, 

or backyard cottage) 
• Cottage housing (small single-family homes clustered around a shared yard) 
• Duplex or triplex (two or three attached homes) 
• Townhouse (attached homes, usually with multiple floors) 
• Apartment or condominium with 1 or 2 bedrooms 
• Apartment or condominium with 3 or more bedrooms 
• Supportive living residence (such as a group home, assisted living, or nursing home) 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 18 

 

 

Question 9 What type of home do you currently live in? 
Respondents All respondents (108), owners (100), and renters (18) 

 
Of the owner survey takers, 96% live in a single-family home. Renters live in a larger variety of 
housing: 28% live in single-family homes, 17% live in an apartment or condo building, 5% live in 
ADU’s, 39% live in a duplex or triplex, and 11% live in a townhouse. 

 

The survey had an “other” option which was filled out by 2 people. One of these other answers 
was also “single family house” with various qualities and lot size description, the other was 
described as a duplex style townhome, and so they are added to the overall counts in the 
chart. No survey takers report living in a supportive living residence (nursing home, assisted 
living facility, etc.). 

  

Owners Renters
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60% Detached house on a large lot
with a big yard
Detached house on a small lot
with a modest yard
Accessory dwelling unit

Cottage court housing

Duplex or triplex

Townhouse

Apartment or condominium with
1 or 2 bedrooms
Apartment or condominium with
3 or more bedrooms
Supportive living residence

Other (please specify)



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 19 

Question 10 In the future, what types of homes would you consider or see yourself living 
in, assuming it met your price range and the needs of your family or 
household? 
Select all that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (119) 
 
This question was intended to understand the demand for different housing types. This will be 
compared to the actual housing available and being built in Port Orchard.  

 

Both renters and homeowners have a strong interest in living in single-family houses, with the 
large lot detached home still being the overwhelming favorite for both groups.  

A variety of other homes are desired. Combined results of all survey takers: 

• 11% would consider living in an ADU  
• 12% would consider living in a duplex or triplex  
• 19% would consider living in cottage housing  
• 10% would consider living in a townhouse  
• 22% would consider living in an apartment or condominium (with a stronger preference 

for 1-2 bedroom units) 
• 11% would consider supportive living residences 

 

A total of 8 people selected the “other” option. Full comments are available in Appendix A.2. 
Most answers are similar to the basic housing types listed above. There were additional 

63.9%

43.7%

10.9%

18.5%

11.8% 10.1%
14.3%

8.4%
10.9%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%
Detached house on a large lot with a big
yard

Detached house on a small lot with a
modest yard

Accessory dwelling unit

Cottage court housing

Duplex or triplex

Townhouse

Apartment or condominium with 1 or 2
bedrooms

Apartment or condominium with 3 or
more bedrooms

Supportive living residence



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 20 

mentions of moving out of Kitsap County altogether and a comment about having lots of land 
or acreage in addition to a nice size house.  

 

3.6 – Amenities and Features 
For this set of questions, respondents filled out matrices of housing features using a weighted 
1 to 5 scale. Answers of “not sure” were weighted zero. The data here uses all respondents, 
rather than comparing owners and renters. There was little difference in the overall results 
between the two groups. The answer tables are shaded for quick reference as follows: 

Weighted Average Score 
> 4.25 

3.5 to 4.25 
2.75 to 3.5 

< 2.75 

 
Question 11 How important are these amenity features for you when searching for 

housing? Please rate on a scale of 1-5.  
A 5 means the feature is very important, and 1 means the feature is not at all 
important. 

Respondents All respondents (118) 
 
This question was intended to determine how important key housing features are for people 
when searching for housing. The features listed are those commonly listed on real estate 
listings and the basic physical aspects of a home. 

The most important item was finding housing in the respondents’ price range. The second 
most important was having a home with air conditioning and heating. The home being large 
enough for the family or household rated a close third. In-unit appliances like laundry and 
dishwasher also rated fairly high.  

The least important amenity feature was common space for residents. This is more likely to be 
located in townhouse or multifamily developments than the single-family developments that 
many survey takers said they are interested in with previous questions. 

Amenity Feature 
Percentage 

Rating 4 or 5 
Weighted 

Average Score 
In my price range 91% 4.67 
Air conditioning and heating 83% 4.28 
Large enough for my family or household (number of bedrooms and 
bathrooms) 

82% 4.26 

In-unit appliances like laundry and dishwasher 82% 4.16 
Private yard space 63% 3.88 
Storage space 51% 3.62 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 21 

The building allows pets 60% 3.45 
Other private space, such as a balcony, deck, or rooftop 52% 3.35 
No stairs – the unit is either on the ground level or accessed by elevator 47% 3.19 
Common space for residents, like a courtyard, roof deck, or recreation 
room 

27% 2.34 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 22 

Question 12 How important are these location and transportation features for you when 
searching for housing? Please rate on a scale of 1-5. 
A 5 means the feature is very important, and 1 means the feature is not at all 
important. 

Respondents All respondents (118) 
 
In this category, the top answer is housing located in a neighborhood that feels safe for active 
transportation (walking, rolling, and bicycling). Survey takers were also strongly interested in 
finding housing that has enough off-street parking.  

Moderately important location and transportation features were the distance from the home to 
shopping, parks, and schools.  

The other location and transportation features fall into the less important grouping: housing 
that is located a short distance to work; and having a secure place to park bikes at home. The 
least important feature is having equipment to charge an electric vehicle at home. 

Location and Transportation Feature 
Percentage 

Rating 4 or 5 
Weighted 

Average Score 
The neighborhood feels safe for walking, rolling, and bicycling 90% 4.62 
Enough off-street parking 72% 4.09 
Short distance to grocery stores and other services 62% 3.69 
Short distance to public parks and schools 47% 3.21 
Short distance to work 33% 2.83 
Secure place to park bikes 35% 2.72 
Equipment for electric vehicle charging 25% 2.22 

 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 23 

Question 13 After housing, transportation is often the second largest share of household 
costs. If the following transportation options were practical and available to 
you, how likely would you use them to spend less on transportation? Please 
rate on a scale of 1-5.  
A 5 means you would definitely use the option, and a 1 means you would never use 
the option. 

Respondents All respondents (117) 
 
In this question, the top answer was “More safe sidewalks connecting my neighborhood to the 
rest of town.” Far behind, the second top answer was working from home/telecommuting.  

There is moderate interest in transportation options like more safe bicycling routes, more bus 
and transit service, and driving electric cars. There was relatively low but still noticeable 
interest (with at least a quarter to a third of respondents interested) in electric bikes and 
downsizing the number of vehicles in the household. There was very little interested in using 
car-share or ride-share/taxi services.  

Transportation Option 
Percentage 

Rating 4 or 5 
Weighted 

Average Score 
More safe sidewalks connecting my neighborhood to the rest of town 73% 4.15 
Working from home/telecommuting 62% 3.68 
More safe bicycling routes connecting my neighborhood to the rest of 
town 

42% 
3.01 

More bus service connecting to my job, school, shopping, or other 
services 

39% 
3.01 

Driving an electric car to save on gas costs 34% 2.9 
Selling a car or downsizing to a one-car household 28% 2.62 
Using an electric bike (for distances, hills, or carrying needs) 17% 2.6 
Car-share or ride-share/taxi services in town 16% 2.35 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 24 

3.7 – Concepts Evaluation 
This question was intended to gauge the level of community support or opposition for land 
use, program, and funding concepts. The answers were weighted as follows.  

Answer Weight 
Strongly support 2 
Somewhat support 1 
Not sure/need more information 0 
Somewhat oppose -1 
Strongly oppose -2 

 

Question 14 The following is a list of land use and zoning concepts that could be 
considered in the Housing Action Plan to help improve access to housing in 
Port Orchard. Do you support or oppose these concepts? 

Respondents Total Respondents (114) 
 
The charts below show how the respondents answered and are listed in order of the weighted 
average scores from high to low (for all respondents), which is summarized in the following 
table. 

Land Use and Zoning Concepts 

Weighted 
Average 

Score 
Percentage 

Support 
Percentage 

Unsure 
Percentage 

Oppose 
Streamline zoning standards to encourage 
more "middle housing" like attached duplexes, 
triplexes, and townhomes 

0.85 65% 25% 10% 

Relax restrictions on accessory dwelling units 
to encourage more to be built 

0.79 62% 22% 16% 

Create development incentives for essential 
services like childcare and assisted living, such 
as height bonuses 

0.79 60% 30% 10% 

Modest increase in building height limits (1-2 
floors) in multifamily and/or commercial areas 

0.65 54% 27% 19% 

Enact a minimum density requirement in one or 
more zones, to encourage a greater variety of 
home types in new subdivisions 

0.59 47% 41% 12% 

Encourage development of more multifamily 
(apartments/condos) in the Downtown area, 
particularly on side streets 

0.35 49% 28% 23% 

 
Renters are slightly more supportive of the concepts, but there isn’t a significant difference 
between renters and owners in their support for concepts. The strongest support overall is for 
streamlining zoning standards that encourage more middle housing. Other top-rated concepts 
were relaxing restrictions on ADUs and having creative development incentives for essential 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 25 

services like daycare and assisted living. The most opposed and uncertain concept among all 
respondents is “encourage development of more multifamily in the Downtown area” 

With any concept some level of public outreach and education may be needed, demonstrated 
with the large shares of people who are not sure or need more information. 

 

Question 15 How much would you support these policy and program concepts, if they 
could help stabilize housing prices and access to housing in Port Orchard? 
Do you support or oppose these concepts? 

Respondents All Respondents (114), owner (92), and renter (18) 
 
The charts below compare owner and renter response and are listed in order of the weighted 
average scores from high to low (for all respondents), which is summarized in the following 
table. 

Policy and Program Concepts 

Weighted 
Average 

Score 
Percentage 

Support 
Percentage 

Unsure 
Percentage 

Oppose 
Hire a city housing coordinator to assist 
renters and support local homeless services 

0.66 57% 24% 19% 

Requirements for private housing projects to 
reserve some units for low-income households 

0.63 58% 18% 24% 

Stronger renter protections such as more 
notice time for rent increases or options to 
manage move-in fees 

0.54 54% 18% 28% 

Tighten regulations on vacation rentals to 
discourage the use of regular housing for 
tourists 

0.25 47% 20% 33% 

 
All the concepts scored relatively moderately when viewed overall but hiring a city housing 
coordinator was the concept with the most support. Notably, with this set of questions renters 
that participated showed a lot more support for all of the policy and program concepts than 
owners did, showing at least 70% support rate for the first three concepts listed in the table. 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 26 

Question 16 The following is a list of funding concepts that could be considered in the 
Housing Action Plan. Do you support or oppose these concepts? 

Respondents Total (114), owner (93), and renter (18) 
 
The charts below compare owner and renter response and are listed in order of the weighted 
average scores from high to low (for all respondents), which is summarized in the following 
table. 

Funding Concepts 

Weighted 
Average 

Score 
Percentage 

Support 
Percentage 

Unsure 
Percentage 

Oppose 
Additional funding for public transit to help 
people access jobs and services without a car 

0.89 71% 16% 13% 

City advocacy for more county, state, or federal 
funding for affordable housing projects 

0.87 65% 23% 12% 

Direct and/or temporary rental payment 
assistance for those most in need 

0.66 57% 27% 16% 

Financial assistance to help single-family 
homeowners build accessory dwelling units 

0.54 56% 24% 20% 

A citywide property tax levy to fund affordable 
housing 

-0.39 29% 21% 50% 

 
Overall, there is strong support for both additional funding for public transit and for the City to 
advocate for more funding from its government partners for affordable housing projects. There 
is moderate support for the concept of direct rental payment assistance, with renters more 
supportive than owners. There is more uncertainty with the concepts to provide financial 
assistance for homeowners to build accessory dwelling units, and considerable opposition to 
the idea of an affordable housing property tax levy. 

Renters and owners both showed strong support for additional funding for public transit and 
for the City to advocate for more funding from its government partners for affordable housing 
projects. However, renters showed considerably more support for the other funding concepts 
then owners did. Renters supported direct rental payment assistance at 84%, financial 
assistance for homeowners to build accessory dwelling units at 72%, and an affordable 
housing property tax levy at 50%. 

 

 

 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 27 

3.8 – Demographic Information 
This section of the survey emphasized that answers are voluntary (as are all questions on the 
survey) and are only used to determine if the City is reaching a representative population.  

NOTE: Housing tenure is listed at the beginning of the survey summary under the Housing 
Information section. 

Question 17 Do you live in a subsidized or rent-restricted home? 
For example, a home managed by Housing Kitsap or similar housing agency.  

Respondents All respondents (113) 
 
Of the respondents who answered, 3 said they live in a subsidized or rent-restricted home. This 
is about 2.7% of respondents.  

 

Question 18 What is your race? 
Select all that apply. All questions on this page are optional and help the City of 
Port Orchard understand if its public engagement methods are reaching a 
representative population. 

Respondents All respondents (107) 
 
The survey captured a generally representative population in terms of race. For example, 27% 
of respondents identified as non-white and about 33% of the population is non-white. Of the 
respondents who answered, 6 provided “other” answers that are mostly invalid, and are 
excluded from the chart below. 

 

73%

11%

2%
6%

4%3% 1%

White

Asian

Other (please specify)

Hispanic or Latino

Native Hawaiian or Other
Pacific Islander

American Indian or Alaska
Native

Black or African American



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 28 

Question 19 What languages do you primarily speak at home? 
Respondents All respondents (110) 

 
Of the respondents who answered, 98.2% primary speak English at home and 0.9% primarily 
speak Spanish at home. English speakers are slightly overrepresented and Spanish speakers 
are slightly underrepresented, as in Port Orchard 1.9% of residents primarily speak Spanish at 
home. Other survey answers include Swedish, French, and Japanese. 

Question 20 Do you have any permanent physical disabilities that make it difficult to use 
your home? 

Respondents All respondents (111) 
 
Of the respondents who answered, 8% report having a permanent physical disability that 
makes it difficult to use their home.  

Question 21 Which of these describe the makeup of your family or household? Select all 
that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (111) 
 
A majority of owners and renters live with a partner or spouse with owners being the most 
likely group at around 70%, while for the renter group it was a little over 50%. Respondents 
whether owner or renter, had similar family or household makeups, with both groups having 
similar response rates for living alone, living with children, living with multiple generations, and 
living with pets. The only other main difference between the groups, is renters live in 
households with unrelated roommates at 12%. Whereas, no respondents in the owner group 
are living with unrelated roommates. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 29 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 30 

Question 22 What is your home 5-digit zipcode? 
Respondents All respondents (111) 

  
94% of respondents report living in a Port Orchard zipcode which includes either 98366 or 
98367. This is within the realm of consistency with Question 1 in the Housing Information 
section, as 87% of respondents reported living in the city limits, but the zipcode used for the 
City is also shared with nearby cities and areas.  

The other 6% of respondents likely represent the survey takers who live outside the city but 
work in the city. 

Zipcode Count Percent Area 
98366 79 71.2% Port Orchard, Manchester, and Southworth 

98367 25 22.5% Port Orchard – Bethel and West of SR 16 

98359 2 1.8% Olalla 

98351 1 0.9% Longbranch 

98312 1 0.9% Bremerton (west) and Gorst 

98673 1 0.9% Wishram 

98335 1 0.9% Gig Harbor 

98337 1 0.9% Bremerton (east) 

 

3.9 – Outreach Information 
The online survey was hosted on SurveyMonkey and went live on November 15, 2022, and 
closed on February 1, 2023. The link to the survey was formally distributed by: 

• An email to the interviewed HAP stakeholders 
• A post on the Facebook page of the City of Port Orchard Government page 
• An update on the project webpage 
 

It took an average of 15 minutes to complete the online survey. Of the local respondents, 89% 
fully completed the survey meaning they viewed and/or responded to all questions. 

An invitation to participate in the survey accompanied by a QR code to the survey, was 
attached to bi-monthly City utility bills that went out the week of November 28th. 

  

https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100064446051899
https://portorchardwa.gov/housing-action-plan/


Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 31 

Survey Appendix A – Written Comments for “Other” Answers 

Appendix A.1 – Question 9 “Other” Answers 
Question 7 Do you or any of your closest family or friends share any of the following 

concerns about these costs of living and service issues in Port Orchard? 
Respondents All respondents (92) 

 
Incomplete answers are removed. Answers may be lightly edited for spelling or to remove 
offensive content. 

• More and more apartment complexes keep popping up but we don't have good 
shopping areas and restaurants in the area.  

• Too many dilapidated rentals owned by non residents of the area. 
• Few places to eat out except fast food  
• The permitting process is inefficient and poorly managed. 
• Concerned with safety.  Town is old and not vibrant. 
• A business district with local eateries and activities could benefit the town. 
• Late night crimes, but the Port Orchard police department is closed? Calls are being 

routed to, being handled by, who will follow up on/when? 
• Traffic and houses going up in wetland area 
• The growing homeless in wetlands that are breaking into homes and cars nearby 
• Put the homeless in jail and help stop the crime rate 
• Housing costs outrageous 
• Businesses are struggling thanks to regulations and over reach by our government. 

Transit, really ?  The amount we spend on transit, to benefit a few, those that commute 
to Seattle, and then the empty busses.   

• Quality of life.  We're not pets worried about being cared for 
• Everything is too expensive, but housing takes away from being able to afford basics 
• There are few safe bike routes. 
• High cost of water & sewer 
• Healthy places to eat and more variety to grocery shop other than FM's. 
• High property taxes  
• increase in car accidents with so much development going in. Part of what keeps 

raising our cost of living are property taxes- our property taxes skyrocketed in the last 
few years.  

• Utilities are high 
• Businesses are skirting laws and regulations leading to unsafe work conditions as well, 

money plays a large part but safety is also a factor. 
• Port Orchard is overwhelming crowded, Financial concerns living in Port Orchard 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 32 

Appendix A.2 – Question 11 “Other” Answers 
Question 11 In the future, what types of homes would you consider or see yourself living 

in, assuming it met your price range and the needs of your family or 
household? 
Select all that apply. 

Respondents All respondents (119) 
 

• Condo!!!!!!! We need fewer apartments and more condos. 
• Acreage land  
• Small house on acreage...  Elsewhere.   
• Single family home 
• Moving out of Kitsap due to the rising costs even with our planned retirement 

accounts. 
• House 
• Acreage in the middle of the woods 
• single story rambler not 2 story! 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 33 

Survey Appendix B – Housing Stories 
Question 8 Do you have a housing story to tell? 
Respondents All respondents (61) 

 

Incomplete answers are removed. Answers may be lightly edited for spelling or to remove 
offensive content. See a summary under section 3.4 of this report. 

Appendix B.1 - Housing Stories from Owners 
Stories with people who volunteered to attribute their first name are listed first. Stories after 
that are anonymous. 

Michelle 
We moved to Kitsap County in 2012; we moved again to within the city limits in September 
2020.  We are both retired and enjoy being out of King County (too busy over there).  Our 
children are both grown and married.  One lives on Vashon Island (no kids) and the other lives 
in Puyallup (3 kids).  My parents recently relocated back to Washington (from Arizona) and live 
within walking distance to us.  Our biggest concern is if Port Orchard will improve the roads 
considering how much the area is growing.  Specifically, Bethel Avenue -- it needs to be 
widened to at least include a left turn lane.  Old Clifton also needs a LOT of pothole attention.  
Kitsap County does a GREAT job of maintaining their roads.  Port Orchard needs to do the 
same. 

John 
I moved here from Seattle in June 1999. I could not afford to live in Seattle anymore then and 
still now. This area was the only area that was affordable to purchase a home. 

Jane 
Difficulty in finding affordable housing. Housing permits and new construction regulations 
appear to be stifling new, affordable construction. 

Chuck 
I moved to Port Orchard in 2019 and moved into my retirement home.  It was the best move I 
ever made. 

Vanessa 
I grew up in Port Orchard - one of four children. Two of my adult siblings cannot afford to own 
a home here, one (in her 40’s) cannot afford to rent and has had to move back in with our 
parents with her three children. It is a huge financial burden on my parents and they have not 
been able to retire (70 years old). My youngest brother had to move to Tacoma to find an 
affordable apartment to rent, while the other brother and his blended family with 6 kids owns a 
two bedroom house. My 20 year old niece works 3 jobs to rent one room in a house because 
she cannot afford an apartment in Kitsap. She can’t afford to go to college or own a car, and 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 34 

public transportation is limited. I currently do not work because finding child care is almost 
impossible in Port Orchard, and unreliable where it is available. I consider myself fortunate to 
be able to have the option to stay home with my children as most households couldn’t even 
consider this.   

Christopher 
I've had friends who live farther away for lower apartment rent, yet they work here in Port 
Orchard. I've also heard of people getting pushed out of Port Orchard to find better home rental 
and home buying prices. Port Orchard used to be the better value-for-your-money place when 
most get pushed out of the Silverdale and Bremerton areas.   

Don 
I've lived in Kitsap County my entire life. I was fortunate enough to leverage another house into 
this one, both at the right time. I couldn't afford this home now. Many of my coworkers feel 
they " ... missed that boat entirely!" My neighbor is retired, his wife passed, their cottage 
industry business closed its doors during Covid and he's worried about being 'taxed out' of his 
home. Another neighbor has his elderly parents living with him because " ... there's really a 
need for affordable housing and assisted living. If my wife wasn't home for most of the day 
with them, I fear what would happen." I would add that I've seen quite a few little businesses 
close shop and roll out of town. The "local mom & pop" type places are a dying breed, but 
maybe we'll gain yet another pot shop or new franchise! 

Ethan 
Joined the Navy and while working in Bremerton & Bangor, lived in Port Orchard as it seemed 
to be more of an area to grow a family when we first lived in. We ended up staying there. 

Jim 
I grew up on Bainbridge Island and worked in Seattle until I retired. then bought property here 
and built my house here and it is all paid for. 

I have children who can not afford to live here. 

Brenda 
I came to Port Orchard May 1979 returned to NY. After many years my I accepted a job 
transfer to WA in 2008.  The first place I went to look for housing for my mother and myself 
was Port Orchard.  I wanted a small community town for my aging mother.  I remembered 
walking along Bay St in the late 70’s and feeling safe. 

Fred 
After my wife passed, there was no way I was going to pay about 15 percent of my retirement 
income in property taxes.  As a widower, I couldn't do that.   

Quality of life here is diminishing fast.  The more you build, the worse it gets.  Y'all don't bother 
to upgrade infrastructure (like roads) to handle the increased population.  We've needed a new 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 35 

high school for decades!  We're about to be "Little Bummertown" (Bremerton), and I don't think 
anyone gives a rat's arse.   

I'm moving out of state.  You'll be chock-full of Seattle transplants in no time.  Good luck with 
that.    

BTW, my brother in law just lost his wife.  He's moving out of state soon too.  Our only other 
option are those old folks corrals you keep building.   We're both veterans.  Thanks again.    

Season 
I grew up here and have watched my parents slowly start to be priced out of the area since 
2001 (they have always rented). My mom was a homemaker and my dad worked in 
carpet/flooring as an independent contractor. I was lucky enough to have bought a home in 
2011 for $136K when there was a surplus of foreclosed homes scattered throughout Port 
Orchard.  

My spouse's mother is also in the same situation as my parents (she will actually be moving in 
with us in February because as a para-educator and a service industry worker, she cannot 
afford to rent a one bedroom apartment in Port Orchard)  

I am disappointed to see that new apartments are showing up (which is a good thing), but that 
the price does not fit the incomes of many people in our town. Ideally, I would like to see 
renting as a valid option for folks who have found themselves downsizing or are approaching 
retirement age who might not have access or time to pay a home loan, but can still live 
independently and with dignity. 

Isaac 
I have an adult son that cannot afford to rent or buy a place of his own. 

Matt 
I was born and raised in South Kitsap and two of my children still live here.... with us, they can't 
afford to buy. 

Julie 
I work in the mortgage industry in Port Orchard and have 50 plus clients who qualify to buy but 
can not afford the inventory in this area. Instead, they are looking in Mason County and South 
Pierce or other area in Kitsap they may be more affordable. 

Craig 
I have children who can't afford to move to Port Orchard. 

Jay 
I have friends who have been priced out of Port Orchard by residents moving in from King 
County. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 36 

Karianna 
My husband and I choose to move to Port Orchard in 2018 because we wanted to purchase a 
house for our growing family. We had to make many compromises because of prices of homes 
in the area, but what we purchased will be good for us while we work on finding/building/etc. 
our final home here in WA. (I was born in WA, he is from MN, but fell in love with the state 
before he met me). Our home has lots of things we need to do to improve to be perfect for us 
now, but the long term plan is to build a home on land, and rent our current property, hopefully 
to military families (like us) who need a space to land. BUT since pricing in the area is next to 
impossible for people to afford, even we have to price our home higher to even afford to rent it. 

 

With so many in the area being military, I know finding affordable homes or apartments are 
extremely hard. Its lucky to find something within the housing allowance, as prices rise with 
the allowance being raised. We got lucky...we are within our budget, and we make it work, but 
constantly rising taxes, lack of housing, unaffordable pricing, and many other factors is a 
CONSTANT battle for military families coming to the area, and already here. We love it here in 
Port Orchard, we have wonderful neighbors, we have easy access to everything we need (even 
if we have to travel a bit for some more specific things like Costco and other larger stores), and 
we LOVE how the city has grown without losing its small town feel. But... 

 

Housing is a huge problem, not just in the City of Port Orchard, but the whole Peninsula. With 
competition for houses from Seattle, its made the situation next to impossible for one of the 
biggest driving forces for the economy in the area...the military families. How we can add 
housing without losing the charm of the small town feel I have yet been able to figure out...but 
something DOES need done. Our family is lucky...but there are MANY who are not. 

Erica 
I grew up in Port Orchard and the majority of my extended family lives here. My husband and I 
would like to find a house on acreage or property to build our dream home that supports us 
growing most of our own food. That is incredibly hard to find at a reasonable price. 

Debra 
Potential for large medical bills, trying to downsize by 2/3rds sq footage and cannot find a 
home that I can afford and does not need remodeling/updating. My income may look middle-
income but it is SS - investments less withdrawals to have money to live on. With the economy 
my retirement savings are declining quickly but @ 68 I have many worsening health conditions 
that prevents me from being to able to work.  We need some nicely, made for elderly eg small-
ranch homes.   

Melissa 
Recently moved here, only reason I was able to buy was because it's a townhouse 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 37 

Michael 
My wife and I moved to Port Orchard in 1991, when it was still a beautiful place to live.  The 
current house and apartment building explosion looks terrible, is already causing significant 
traffic congestion, and will inevitably cause an crease in crime.  It is sad to see the incredible 
amount of development spoiling the place I love.  

Don 
Moved to Port orchard for a job in the shipyard. 

Dan 
Moved to PO from Silverdale. Relocated from Central California in 1993 to accept job with City 
of Bremerton PW&U as Project Manager and later accepted position in 2008 with Harrison 
Medical Center and 2016 with CHI Francisan in Hospital Planning, Design & Construction. Very 
fun career! 

David 
We moved to Port Orchard because we had friends here in Kitsap County   

Cate 
I was lucky and got into my home 16 years ago; I have refinanced once.  If I were to try to find 
a place to live right now without the equity of my home, I would have to find a roommate or 
two to alleviate the financial strain. 

Diane 
I moved here from Auburn in 2003, since retired.   

Diane 
I moved to Port Orchard for a new job in 2000.  My partner and I are now 79 and 84.  I retired in 
2020, but due to expenses, health problems and too much being withdrawn from IRA funds I'm 
looking for a part time job to help us stay in our home. 

Kris 
We moved to port orchard a few years ago. Even with our two middle class jobs, we find it 
exceptionally expensive to afford our modest home. If something were to happen and we'd 
need repairs to our house, such as old water pipes bursting, we'd be struggling a lot to pay the 
mortgage. 

Gerry 
I purchased my grandmother's home from the estate after she died.  I commuted from Port 
Orchard to Poulsbo for work for over 30 years. 

Anonymous 
Fear for my 2 children being able to afford a modest dwelling (teenagers).  Recruitment for my 
County employer has impacted services rendered there. 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 38 

Anonymous 
My kids can’t afford to stay and live in Port Orchard so they moved away. My dad moved to 
another town to find more affordable senior housing. The rental market is no sustainable for 
young adults to start and build their families and future homes here. It used to be when I 
moved here 22 years ago which Is why I chooses to raise my kids here.   

Anonymous 
When we moved to Port Orchard, difficult to find homes in decent condition close to foot ferry. 

Anonymous 
Moved to Port O 21 yrs ago to be near a son and because it was near Seattle but not IN Seattle 

Anonymous 
We own a building that we are attempting to turn into affordable, communal living for 
individuals in their 20's.  The challenge is that as we work through the permitting process it 
keeps changing from the direction given between the pre-permit planning meetings and at the 
time we submitted for approval.  Specifically, new forms and additional forms and then the 
entire application has to be submitted with new dates.  These changes are creating additional 
costs in financing, professional planning, etc.  These additional costs are making 
redevelopment to provide affordable housing prohibitive when considering future projects. 

Anonymous 
Our housing story doesn't really fit what I think you're looking for. We would like to move, not 
because of costs or work. The one and only reason we want to move is because of our 
dishonest and unethical HOA. We'd like to move to a home with privacy and seclusion. 

Anonymous  
I have watched much housing happening in the last year.  I am not happy about all the green 
belts and housing that is occurring.  There is not the infrastructure for this.  Our sewage and 
water are not able to provide this amount of development.  I see houses going up in wetlands 
and the area that I moved to that was rural and green is becoming full of traffic and crime.  I 
know housing is your priority but stop destroying our natural areas. 

Anonymous  
My children can’t find housing here that they can afford.  They have moved elsewhere.  The 
politics in WA have also contributed to them leaving the state.   We are not far behind.  Can’t 
stand what our governor is doing to this state.   

Anonymous  
Lived here for 44 years. Grown kids live with us in a mother-in-law apartment because they 
can't afford their own housing here.   

Anonymous 
I was only able to purchase my home in Port Orchard with Housing Kitsap's Mutual Self-Help 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 39 

Housing Program. This offered my family and I an affordable path towards homeownership. 
Otherwise, I wouldn't even be able to rent here. 

Anonymous 
Kids can't afford housing and live with us. All our employees live outside the city because it's 
cheaper. 

Anonymous  
Senior relatives are housed in my home (at below market rent) because living expenses are too 
high in King County.  Port Orchard remains a less expensive option for living within the Puget 
Sound region.  

Anonymous  
We moved to Port Orchard from Bainbridge because we wanted to raise our kids in this 
community. We love our home and our neighbors in McCormick Woods. 

Anonymous 
I moved to Port Orchard 15 years ago because I loved its small feel, yet close proximity to the 
larger cities. More so I loved the trees. We have no trees anymore.  The city is allowing clear 
cutting to put in mass developments. Our water quality sucks. Even filters can’t remove the 
hard minerals and chlorine.  Port Orchard should be just as concerned about protecting 
everyone- not just a pet project that someone at city hall has.  All residents’ quality of life goes 
down when the city doesn’t seem to care about preserving what made this city unique and 
beautiful.  Put the port orchard city plan side by side a Seattle map.  City of Seattle has more 
designated green space than Port Orchard’s long term plan.   

Anonymous 
I moved Port Orchard 30 years ago and purchased a home. 

 

  



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 40 

Appendix B.2 - Housing Stories from Renters 
Stories with people who volunteered to attribute their first name are listed first. Stories after 
that are anonymous. Incomplete answers are removed. Answers may be lightly edited for 
spelling or to remove offensive content. See a summary under section 3.4 of this report. 

Chris 
This city is pricing out the local workforce. These surface level allocations of below market 
rent in new housing developments is immoral in exchange for the tax breaks they receive. The 
workforce used for construction will not be local either. There's a high likelihood that new 
housing will be rented by navy members, further limiting workforce housing as the navy 
doesn't stock our grocery store shelves.   

Demarie 
There is very little options when looking for a home to rent. Also keep noticing the amount of 
apartments that are being built but very little is being done about making sure our roadways 
have the capability of supporting that amount of growth.  

Paul 
Grew up next door to where I'm at now. I've rented this home for 13 years. The owners have 
always paid the water/utility bill because there is 2 homes on the 1 meter. I've learned this 
evening that the bill hasn't been paid since September and the service is scheduled to be 
disconnected tomorrow. My aunt and uncle own the property . They had to move to a assisted 
living facility several months ago. I was led to believe that the bill would be kept current. 

 As a disabled individual living alone I am very concerned. I will call in the morning to try and 
resolve this issue. 

Vanessa 
Moved out to WA Jan 2022 with husband and son. We wanted to buy a home as first time 
buyers but find the process a bit difficult. Renting a home is getting to be expensive with rent 
being $2100 for two bedroom duplexes. 

Anonymous 
I grew up here and my parents live here. My husband and I struggled to find a home to buy that 
was the right mix of size, location, neighborhood, future appreciation, and development risk. 
We continued to rent with an exceptionally good set up, but we watched the home prices 
skyrocket the past few years and I began to have serious concerns about being priced out of 
the area.  This year we purchased multifamily real estate in port orchard to preserve the option 
to stay in the area and secure our future housing needs. 

Anonymous 
We moved here from Alaska & didn’t intend to stay in our current apartment for more than one 
year. Due to rent and other cost increases and poor well-paying job opportunities we’ve been 



Port Orchard Housing Action Plan –Public Engagement Report              Page 41 

essentially trapped here for 5 years, and the situation is leading me to look elsewhere for our 
future. I was really excited to live in this beautiful area, and I’ve been sorely disappointed trying 
to enjoy living here. 

 

 





From: M Neiner <mneiner@gmail.com> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 10, 2023 8:58 PM 

To: Planning Mailbox 

Subject: Housing Action Plan 

 

Dear Planning Commission, 

 

Please submit this to Public Record as a public comment regarding the Housing Action Plan. 

 

After reading through the action plan, the one thing that stands out to me is the heavy focus on parts of 

the City that are East of SR16.  If I didn't know any better 

I would never be able to tell that McCormick Woods and the adjacent developments are even part of 

the city.  It's as if those neighborhoods were completely exempted 

from consideration for any kind of measures to help fight this housing CRISIS the city is currently 

experiencing.  

 

Things become even more of a head scratcher when considering the City Council used the growth in that 

area as a big part of the rationale for spending almost a million dollars on a splash pad conversion 

project at the city park.  There is limited parking at the park, no public transit, and it's not walkable or 

bike-able for anybody outside of the general area.  This park doesn't' exist in the plan yet more city 

money is being spent at that park then any other park.  Where is all this equity I hear about?      

 

I'm sure there are reasons for omitting this relatively LARGE area of the city from the plan;  all of which 

could be dealt with through zoning and comp plan changes. Of course it would be challenging to take on 

such changes when the folks living in those areas typically have strong homeowner 

associations,  discretionary income,  legal connections and other resources to bear on the city.   Is this 

what NIMBY looks like?   Is this plan what the Department of Commerce had in mind when they 

provided the funding to make the plan?  

 

I'm beginning to understand why the legislators in Olympia are advocating for RCW revisions that take 

zoning control out of the hands of local jurisdictions.  

This is not a Housing Action Plan for Port Orchard.   This is a Housing Action Plan for Port Orchard East of 

SR16.  

 

Respectfully,  

 

Mike Neiner 

Port Orchard 

 Some people who received this message don't often get email from mneiner@gmail.com. Learn why this is important  

https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification


 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

   Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7C Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Contract Prepared by: Tony Lang 

 with Lincoln Construction, Inc. for the  Public Works Director 
 City Hall Renovations Project       Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 
  Atty Review Date: 05/16/2023 

 
Summary: The Port Orchard City Hall facility was constructed in 1999. Through the years, weather, normal 
wear and tear, and increased staffing have triggered a need to update and renovate the building. In 2020, 
following a competitively-bid selection process, a consultant was hired to determine the current and future 
needs of the building and to prepare a design for the needed building renovations. The result of the 
consultant’s work determined the need and proposed scope of the City Hall Renovations Project (the 
“Project”).  By this Resolution, the City Council would authorize the Mayor to execute a contract with Lincoln 
Construction, Inc. for the City Hall Renovations Project (the “Project”).  
 
Pursuant to Resolution No. 036-22, Section 5 Bid Procedures, the City’s Public Works Department, working 
with the consultant, prepared an Invitation to Bid for the Project. The ITB was published in the Kitsap Sun and 
Daily Journal of Commerce on April 7, and April 14, 2023, and on April 7, 2023, the bid documents were 
uploaded to the Washington Builder’s Exchange and the City’s Webpage.  On May 2, 2023, by the 10:30 am 
bid deadline, the City Clerk received one (1) sealed bid. After confirming that there were no objections made 
and that there were no challenges to the public opening process, the sealed bid was opened and read aloud 
by the City Clerk. The City Clerk then prepared a Bid Tabulation form, and the Public Works Department 
prepared a Bid Evaluation form (including applicable taxes, labor, equipment, material, and fees), resulting in 
the initial determination that Lincoln Construction, Inc.’s Bid was a qualified, responsible, and responsive bid.  
The Lincoln Construction, Inc. bid is detailed below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
On May 2, 2023, the City’s Public Works Department Staff completed the MRSC Mandatory Bidder 
Responsibility Checklist and confirmed that Lincoln Construction, Inc.’s bid was a qualified, responsible, and 

Lincoln Construction, Inc. Base Bid and Alternates 
Base Bid Amount $7,599,941 
Alternate #1-Police Station $197,000 
Alternate #2-Administration Offices $211,000 
Alternate #3-Court Clerks Offices $107,000 
Alternate #4-Interior Finishes $131,000 
Total Base Bid and Alternates w/o tax     $8,245,941 



 
 

 
 

responsive bid. The Public Works Department also reviewed all materials and confirmed that the bidding 
requirements for this public work have been followed.  
 
The Project includes area-specific alternate components, which would trigger renovation work in specific 
areas of City Hall or to provide specific, upgraded finishes. City Council has the discretion to select from the 
proposed Alternates, in addition to the Base Bid Amount.  
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to 
execute a contract with Lincoln Construction, Inc. for the City Hall Renovations Project for the base bid 
amount and all four (4) bid alternates for a total cost of $9,012,913.51 (applicable tax included).  
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 9:  Capital Facilities 
 
Motion for Consideration: I move to adopt a Resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute a contract in a 
form that is acceptable to the City Attorney with Lincoln Construction, Inc. for the City Hall Renovations 
Project for the base bid amount and the following alternate(s):  1, 2, 3, & 4, for a total cost of $9,012,913.51 
(applicable tax included).  
 
Fiscal Impact:  The City intends on financing this project with limited tax general obligation (LTGO) bonds.  

To support the project moving forward the Finance Department is intending to bring forth a 
budget amendment to provide cash flow funding for this project from the general fund and 
other available resources until the bonds can be issued and proceeds received. The bonds 
are anticipated to be issued in the fall of 2023. 

  
Alternatives:    Do not approve and provide further guidance 
 
Attachments: Resolution  
 Contract    
  



RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, MAKING A 
MOTION TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO LINCOLN CONSTRUCTION, INC. FOR THE 
CITY HALL RENOVATIONS PROJECT AND DOCUMENTING PROCUREMENT 
PROCEDURES  
  
WHEREAS, the City routinely inspects and assesses the condition of its facilities and in 

the course of its inspections of the City Hall facility, staff determined the need for a City Hall 
Renovations Project (the “Project”); and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the City’s Procurement Policies and Procedures, Resolution No. 

036-22, Section 5 Bid Procedures, the City’s Public Works Department, in coordination with the 
City’s design consultant, prepared an Invitation to Bid for this Project, advertised in the Kitsap 
Sun and Daily Journal of Commerce on April 7 and April 14, 2023, and on April 7, 2023, the bid 
documents were uploaded to the Washington Builder’s Exchange and the City’s Webpage for 
the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, on May 2, 2023, by the 10:30 am bid deadline, the City Clerk received one (1) 

sealed bid; and  
 
WHEREAS, after confirming that there were no objections made and that there were no 

challenges to the public opening process, the sealed bid was opened and read aloud by the City 
Clerk; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Clerk prepared a Bid Tabulation form, and the Public Works 

Department prepared a Bid Evaluation form, resulting in an initial determination that Lincoln 
Construction, Inc. provided a qualified, responsible, and responsive bid; and  
 

WHEREAS, on May 2, 2023, the City’s Public Works Department completed the MRSC 
Mandatory Bidder Responsibility Checklist for Lincoln Construction, Inc., and confirmed that 
Lincoln Construction, Inc. submitted a qualified, responsible, and responsive Bid, and further 
confirmed that all applicable bidding procedures were followed for this Project; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Project is comprised of a base bid and four alternates, and the Contract 

for the Project may be awarded in whole or in part by the City Council; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council, at the 2015 recommendation of the State 
Auditor’s Office, wishes to document their selection/procurement process as described above 
for this particular contract by Resolution; Now, Therefore,  
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS:   



 
THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth 
above are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this 
Resolution. 
 
THAT:  The City Council authorizes the Mayor to execute a contract in a form that 
is acceptable to the City Attorney with Lincoln Construction, Inc. for the City Hall 
Renovations Project, including the Base Bid and the following alternates: 1, 2, 3, & 
4. The Mayor is authorized to take all actions necessary consistent with this 
authorization to effectuate this approval.;  
 
THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 
hereon. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and 

attested by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage on this 13th day of June 2023.   
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Robert Putaansuu, Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________  
City Clerk, Brandy Wallace, MMC 
 
 
 
 
   



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

 
CONTRACT 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
CITY HALL RENOVATIONS 
CONTRACT NO. ______ 

THIS CONTRACT (“Contract”) is made and entered into this 23rd day of May, 2023, by and 
between the City of Port Orchard, a municipality incorporated and existing under the laws of the 
State of Washington, hereinafter called the “City,” and Lincoln Construction, Inc., hereinafter 
called the “Contractor.” 

WITNESSETH: 

I. General Provisions.  
 
A. Description of Work. 

The Contractor, in consideration of the covenants, agreements and payments to be performed 
and made by the City, hereby covenants and agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials, 
equipment and supplies required for, and to execute, construct and finish in full compliance with 
the Contract Documents, City Hall Renovations Project. The Contractor further agrees to 
perform all such work for the Contract Price stated in the Contractor’s Bid Proposal dated May 2, 
2023, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full. Contractor 
further represents that the services furnished under this Agreement will be performed in 
accordance with and as described in the Project Manual, attached plans and specifications, and 
with the Port Orchard Municipal Code and the City’s Public Works Standards.  All of these 
standards are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof. Contractor further 
represents that the services furnished under this Agreement will be performed in accordance 
with generally accepted professional practices within the Puget Sound region in effect at the time 
such services are performed. 

The Contract Documents include: 

Exhibit A – Confirmed copy of the Proposal made by the Contractor on May 2, 2023, including 
all attachments thereto, together with the Notice to Bidders/Instructions to Bidders. 

Exhibit B – The Project Manual for the City Hall Renovations Project. 

 Exhibit C – Project Bid Set 

Exhibit D – Retainage Options 

All Exhibits to this Contract are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof as 
if set forth in full. 

 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

 

B. Time of Completion. 

Time is of the essence of this Contract. It is agreed that the work covered by this Contract shall 
start within 14 calendar days after Notice to Proceed is issued and that all construction shall be 
complete within 308 working days after the Notice to Proceed Date. 

II.  Non-Discrimination. 

During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors 
in interest agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; 
including but not limited to compliance with the following Pertinent Non-Discrimination 
Authorities:  

• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U .S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); and 49 C.F.R. Part 21.  

• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, 
(42 U.S.C. § 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property 
has been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);  

• Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1973, (23 U.S.C. § 324 et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on 
the basis of sex);  

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended, 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 C.F.R. Part 27;  

• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U .S.C. § 6101 et seq.), (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of age);  

• Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC§ 471, Section 4 7123), as 
amended, (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);  

• The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage 
and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 
1975 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of 
the terms "programs or activities" to include all of the programs or activities of the 
Federal-aid recipients, sub- recipients and contractors, whether such programs or 
activities are Federally funded or not);  

• Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibit discrimination on 
the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private 
transportation systems, places of public accommodation, and certain testing entities (42 
U.S.C. §§ 12131-12189) as implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at 
49 C.P.R. parts 37 and 38;  

• The Federal Aviation Administration's Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. § 47123) 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex);  

• Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority 
Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures discrimination against minority 
populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

high and adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income 
populations;  

• Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English 
Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes 
discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure compliance with 
Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to -ensure that LEP persons have meaningful 
access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100);  

• Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you from 
discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq).  

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

The City of Port Orchard, in accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 78 Stat. 252, 
42 U.S.C. 2000d to 2000d-4 and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of 
Transportation subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, nondiscrimination in federally assisted 
programs of the Department of Transportation issued pursuant to such Act, must affirmatively 
ensure that its contracts comply with these regulations. 

Also, in accordance with Title VI, the City is required to include the following clauses in every 
contract subject to Title VI and its related regulations. 

Therefore, during the performance of this Contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and 
successors in interest agrees as follows:  

1. Compliance with Regulations: The Contractor will comply with the Acts and the 
regulations relative to Nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. 
Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), as they may be 
amended from time to time, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part 
of this Contract.  

2. Nondiscrimination: The Contractor, with regard to the work performed by it during this 
Contract, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age, 
disability, income-level, or LEP in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including 
procurements of materials and leases of equipment. The Contractor will not participate 
directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the Acts and the Regulations as 
set forth herein, including employment practices when this Contract covers any activity, 
project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 C.F.R. part 21.  

3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment: In 
all solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the Contractor for 
work to be performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or 
leases of equipment, each potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the 
Contractor of the Contractor’s obligations under this Contract and the Acts and the 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

Regulations relative to Non-discrimination on the grounds of race, color, national origin, 
sex, age, disability, income-level, or LEP.  

4. Information and Reports: The Contractor will provide all information and reports 
required by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto and will 
permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its 
facilities as may be determined by the City or the FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain 
compliance with such Acts, Regulations, and instructions. Where any information 
required of the Contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses 
to furnish the information, the Contractor will so certify to the City or the FHWA, as 
appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.  

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance with the 
Non-discrimination provisions of this Contract, the City will impose such contract 
sanctions as it or the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited 
to:  

1. withholding payments to the Contractor under the Contract until the Contractor 
complies; and/or  

2. cancelling, terminating, or suspending the Contract, in whole or in part.  

6. Incorporation of Provisions: The Contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs one 
through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of 
equipment, unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant 
thereto. The Contractor will take action with respect to any subcontract or procurement 
as the City or the FHWA may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including 
sanctions for noncompliance. Provided, that if the Contractor becomes involved in, or is 
threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such direction, the 
Contractor may request the City to enter into any litigation to protect the interests of the 
City. In addition, the Contractor may request the United States to enter into the litigation 
to protect the interests of the United States.  

III. Public Records Act Chapter 42.56 RCW 

Contractor understands that her/his bid response documents, and any contract documents may 
be subject to release under the Public Records Act Chapter 42.56 RCW and the City may be 
required to disclose such documents upon a request.  Contractor acknowledges that s/he has 
been advised to mark any records believed to be trade secrets or confidential in nature as 
“confidential.”  If records marked as “confidential” are found to be responsive to the request for 
records, the City as a courtesy to the Contractor, may elect to give notice to Contractor of the 
request so as to allow Contractor to seek a protective order from a Court.  Contractor 
acknowledges and agrees that any records deemed responsive to a public records request may 
be released at the sole discretion of, and without notice by, the City. 

 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

IV. Termination  

The City may terminate this contract for cause or for convenience.  

• Termination for Cause. The City may, upon 7 days written notice to Contractor and to 
its surety, terminate (without prejudice to any right or remedy of the City) the contract, 
or any part of it, for cause upon the occurrence of any one or more of the following 
events: Contractor fails to complete the work or any portion thereof with sufficient 
diligence to ensure substantial completion of the work within the contract time;  
Contractor is adjudged bankrupt, makes a general assignment for the benefit of its 
creditors, or a receiver is appointed on account of its insolvency; Contractor fails in a 
material way to replace or correct work not in conformance with the Contract 
Documents, Contractor repeatedly fails to supply skilled workers or proper materials or 
equipment;  Contractor materially disregards or fails to comply with laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations, or orders of any public authority having jurisdiction; or Contractor is 
otherwise in material breach of any provision of the contract. Upon termination, the City 
may, at its option, take possession of or use all documents, materials, equipment, tools, 
and construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by Contractor to maintain 
the orderly progress of, and to finish, the work, and finish the work by whatever other 
reasonable method it deems expedient.  

• Termination for Convenience. The City may, upon written notice, terminate (without 
prejudice to any right or remedy of the City) the contract, or any part of it, for the 
convenience of the City.  

• Settlement of Costs. If the City terminates for convenience, Contractor shall be entitled 
to make a request for an equitable adjustment for its reasonable direct costs incurred 
prior to the effective date of the termination, plus a reasonable allowance for overhead 
and profit on work performed prior to termination, plus the reasonable administrative 
costs of the termination, but shall not be entitled to any other costs or damages, 
whatsoever, provided however, the total sum payable upon termination shall not exceed 
the Contract Sum reduced by prior payments. 

V. Corporate Surety Bond 

With this Contract, Contractor is furnishing a Corporate Surety Bond in the amount of  

_________________________________ Dollars ($____________) with ____________________ 
as Surety, to ensure full compliance, execution and performance of this Contract by the 
Contractor in accordance with all its terms and provisions. 

  

 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

 
VI. Independent Contractor.   

The parties intend that an Independent Contractor-Employer Relationship will be created by this 
Agreement and that the Contractor has the ability to control and direct the performance and 
details of its work, the City being interested only in the results obtained under this Agreement.  

 
VII. Employment of State Retirees.  

The City is a “DRS-covered employer” which is an organization that employs one or more 
members of any retirement system administered by the Washington State Department of 
Retirement Systems (DRS). Pursuant to RCW 41.50.139(1) and WAC 415-02-325(1), the City is 
required to elicit on a written form if any of the Contractor’s employees providing services to the 
City retired using the 2008 Early Retirement Factors (ERFs), or if the Contractor is owned by an 
individual who retired using the 2008 ERFs, and whether the nature of the service and 
compensation would result in a retirement benefit being suspended. Failure to make this 
determination exposes the City to significant liability for pension overpayments. As a result, 
before commencing work under this Agreement, Contractor shall determine whether any of its 
employees providing services to the City or any of the Contractor’s owners retired using the 2008 
ERFs, and shall immediately notify the City and shall promptly complete the form provided by the 
City after this notification is made. This notification to DRS could impact the payment of 
retirement benefits to employees and owners of Contractor. Contractor shall indemnify, defend, 
and hold harmless the City from any and all claims, damages, or other liability, including 
attorneys’ fees and costs, relating to a claim by DRS of a pension overpayment caused by or 
resulting from Contractor’s failure to comply with the terms of this provision. This provision shall 
survive termination of this Agreement.  
  



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

  

VIII.  Changes.   

The City may issue a written change order for any change in the Contract work during the 
performance of this Agreement.  If the Contractor determines, for any reason, that a change 
order is necessary, Contractor must submit a written change order request to the person listed 
in the Notice provision section of this Agreement, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date 
Contractor knew or should have known of the facts and events giving rise to the requested 
change. If the City determines that the change increases or decreases the Contractor's costs or 
time for performance, the City will make an equitable adjustment. The City will attempt, in good 
faith, to reach agreement with the Contractor on all equitable adjustments.  However, if the 
parties are unable to agree, the City will determine the equitable adjustment as it deems 
appropriate.  The Contractor shall proceed with the change order work upon receiving either a 
written change order from the City or an oral order from the City before actually receiving the 
written change order.  If the Contractor fails to require a change order within the time specified 
in this paragraph, the Contractor waives its right to make any claim or submit subsequent change 
order requests for that portion of the contract work.  If the Contractor disagrees with the 
equitable adjustment, the Contractor must complete the change order work; however, the 
Contractor may elect to protest the adjustment as provided in subsections A through E of Section 
IX entitled, “Claims,” below. 

The Contractor accepts all requirements of a change order by: (1) endorsing it, (2) writing a 
separate acceptance, or (3) not protesting in the way this section provides.  A change order that 
is accepted by Contractor as provided in this section shall constitute full payment and final 
settlement of all claims for contract time and for direct, indirect and consequential costs, 
including costs of delays related to any work, either covered or affected by the change. 

IX. Claims.  If the Contractor disagrees with anything required by a change order, another 
written order, or an oral order from the City, including any direction, instruction, interpretation, 
or determination by the City, the Contractor may file a claim as provided in this section.  The 
Contractor shall give written notice to the City of all claims within fourteen (14) calendar days of 
the occurrence of the events giving rise to the claims, or within fourteen (14) calendar days of 
the date the Contractor knew or should have known of the facts or events giving rise to the claim, 
whichever occurs first.  Any claim for damages, additional payment for any reason, or extension 
of time, whether under this Agreement or otherwise, shall be conclusively deemed to have been 
waived by the Contractor unless a timely written claim is made in strict accordance with the 
applicable provisions of this Agreement.  

At a minimum, a Contractor's written claim shall include the information set forth in subsections 
A, items 1 through 5 below. 

  



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

FAILURE TO PROVIDE A COMPLETE, WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF CLAIM WITHIN THE TIME 
ALLOWED SHALL BE AN ABSOLUTE WAIVER OF ANY CLAIMS ARISING IN ANY WAY FROM THE 
FACTS OR EVENTS SURROUNDING THAT CLAIM OR CAUSED BY THAT DELAY. 

A. Notice of Claim.  Provide a signed written notice of claim that provides the following 
information: 

1. The date of the Contractor's claim; 

2. The nature and circumstances that caused the claim; 

3.  The provisions in this Agreement that support the claim; 

4. The estimated dollar cost, if any, of the claimed work and how that estimate was 
determined; and 

5. An analysis of the progress schedule showing the schedule change or disruption if 
the Contractor is asserting a schedule change or disruption. 

B. Records.  The Contractor shall keep complete records of extra costs and time incurred as 
a result of the asserted events giving rise to the claim.  The City shall have access to any of the 
Contractor's records needed for evaluating the protest. 

The City will evaluate all claims, provided the procedures in this section are followed.  If the City 
determines that a claim is valid, the City will adjust payment for work or time by an equitable 
adjustment.  No adjustment will be made for an invalid protest. 

C. Contractor's Duty to Complete Protested Work.  In spite of any claim, the Contractor shall 
proceed promptly to provide the goods, materials and services required by the City under this 
Agreement. 

D. Failure to Protest Constitutes Waiver.  By not protesting as this section provides, the 
Contractor also waives any additional entitlement and accepts from the City any written or oral 
order (including directions, instructions, interpretations, and determination). 

E. Failure to Follow Procedures Constitutes Waiver.  By failing to follow the procedures of 
this section, the Contractor completely waives any claims for protested work and accepts from 
the City any written or oral order (including directions, instructions, interpretations, and 
determination). 

X. Limitation Of Actions.   

CONTRACTOR MUST, IN ANY EVENT, FILE ANY LAWSUIT ARISING FROM OR CONNECTED WITH 
THIS AGREEMENT WITHIN 120 CALENDAR DAYS FROM THE DATE THE CONTRACT WORK IS 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

COMPLETE OR CONTRACTOR’S ABILITY TO FILE THAT CLAIM OR SUIT SHALL BE FOREVER BARRED.  
THIS SECTION FURTHER LIMITS ANY APPLICABLE STATUTORY LIMITATIONS PERIOD. 

  

XI. Warranty.   

Upon acceptance of the contract work, Contractor must provide the City a two-year warranty 
bond in the amount of twenty percent (20%) of the contract price a form and amount acceptable 
to the City.  The Contractor shall correct all defects in workmanship and materials within two (2) 
years from the date of the City’s acceptance of the Contract work, including replacing vegetation 
that fails to thrive.  In the event any parts are repaired or replaced, only original replacement 
parts shall be used—rebuilt or used parts will not be acceptable.  When defects are corrected, 
the warranty for that portion of the work shall extend for one  (1) additional year from the date 
such correction is completed and accepted by the City.  The Contractor shall begin to correct any 
defects within seven (7) calendar days of its receipt of notice from the City of the defect.  If the 
Contractor does not accomplish the corrections within a reasonable time as determined by the 
City, the City may complete the corrections and the Contractor shall pay all costs incurred by the 
City in order to accomplish the correction. 

XII. Indemnification.   

Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City, its officers, officials, employees, agents 
and volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses or suits, including all 
legal costs and attorney fees, arising out of or in connection with the Contractor's performance 
of this Agreement, except for that portion of the injuries and damages caused by the sole 
negligence of the City. 

The City's inspection or acceptance of any of Contractor's work when completed shall not be 
grounds to avoid any of these covenants of indemnification. 

Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 
4.24.115, then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or 
damages to property caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the Contractor 
and the City, its officers, officials, employees, agents and volunteers, the Contractor's liability 
hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Contractor's negligence. 

It is further specifically and expressly understood that the indemnification provided herein 
constitutes the contractor's waiver of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely 
for the purposes of this indemnification.  The parties further acknowledge that they have 
mutually negotiated this waiver. 

THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION SHALL SURVIVE THE EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION OF THIS 
AGREEMENT. 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

XIII. Insurance.   

The Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, insurance against 
claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connection with 
the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representative, employees 
or subcontractors. 

No Limitation. Contractor’s maintenance of insurance as required by the agreement shall not be 
construed to limit the liability of the Contractor to the coverage provided by such insurance, or 
otherwise limit the City’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity.  

A. Minimum Scope of Insurance.  Contractor shall obtain insurance of the types described 
below: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased 
vehicles.  Coverage shall be written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01 or a 
substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage. If necessary, the policy shall be 
endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form 
CG 00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, stop gap liability, 
independent contractors, products-completed operations, personal injury and 
advertising injury, and liability assumed under an insured contract. The Commercial 
General Liability insurance shall be endorsed to provide the Aggregate Per Project 
Endorsement ISO form CG 25 03 11 85. There shall be no endorsement or modification of 
the Commercial General Liability insurance for liability arising from explosion, collapse or 
underground property damage. The City shall be named as an insured under the 
Contractor’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy with respect to the work 
performed for the City using ISO Additional Insured endorsement CG 20 10 10 01 and 
Additional Insured-Completed Operations endorsement CG 20 37 10 01 or substitute 
endorsements providing equivalent coverage.  

3. Workers’ Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of 
the State of Washington. 

4. Builders Risk insurance covering interests of the City, the Contractor, 
Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors in the work. Builders Risk insurance shall be on 
a all-risk policy form and shall insure against the perils of fire and extended coverage and 
physical loss or damage including flood and earthquake, theft, vandalism, malicious 
mischief, collapse, temporary buildings and debris removal. This Builders Risk insurance 
covering the work will have a deductible of $5,000 for each occurrence, which will be the 
responsibility of the Contractor. Higher deductibles for flood and earthquake perils may 
be accepted by the City upon written request by the Contractor and written acceptance 
by the City. Any increased deductibles accepted by the City will remain the responsibility 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

of the Contractor. The Builders Risk insurance shall be maintained until final acceptance 
of the work by the City. 

B. Minimum Amounts of Insurance.  Contractor shall maintain the following insurance limits: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily 
injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per accident.   

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than 
$5,000,000 each occurrence, $10,000,000 general aggregate and a $10,000,000 products-
completed operations aggregate limit. 

3. Builders Risk insurance shall be written in the amount of the completed value of 
the project with no coinsurance provisions. 

C. Other Insurance Provisions.  The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to 
contain, the following provisions for Automobile Liability, Commercial General Liability and 
Builders Risk insurance: 

1. The Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respect the 
City.  Any insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage maintained by the City 
shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

2. The Contractor’s insurance shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be 
cancelled by either party, except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the City.  

D. Contractor’s Insurance for Other Losses.  The Contractor shall assume full responsibility 
for all loss or damage from any cause whatsoever to any tools, Contractor’s employee-owned 
tools, machinery, equipment, or motor vehicles owned or rented by the Contractor, or the 
Contractor’s agents, suppliers or contractors as well as to any temporary structures, scaffolding 
and protective fences. 

E. Waiver of Subrogation.  The Contractor and the City waive all rights against each other 
any of their Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, agents and employees, each of the other, for 
damages caused by fire or other perils to the extend covered by Builders Risk insurance or other 
property insurance obtained pursuant to the Insurance Requirements Section of this Contract or 
other property insurance applicable to the work. The policies shall provide such waivers by 
endorsement or otherwise. 

F.  Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best 
rating of not less than A:VII. 

  



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

G.  Verification of Coverage.  Contractor shall furnish the City with original certificates and a 
copy of the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the additional 
insured endorsement, evidencing the Automobile Liability and Commercial General Liability 
insurance of the Contractor before commencement of the work. Before any exposure to loss may 
occur, the Contractor shall file with the City a copy of the Builders Risk insurance policy that 
includes all applicable conditions, exclusions, definitions, terms and endorsements related to this 
Project. 

H.  Subcontractors.  Contractor shall ensure that each subcontractor of every tier obtain at a 
minimum the same insurance coverage and limits as stated herein for the Contractor (with the 
exception of Builders Risk insurance). Upon request the City, the Contractor shall provide 
evidence of such insurance. 

XIV. WORK PERFORMED AT CONTRACTOR'S RISK.  Contractor shall take all necessary 
precautions and shall be responsible for the safety of its employees, agents, and subcontractors 
in the performance of the contract work and shall utilize all protection necessary for that 
purpose.  All work shall be done at Contractor's own risk, and Contractor shall be responsible for 
any loss of or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or held for use in connection with 
the work. 

XV. Miscellaneous Provisions. 

A. Non-Waiver of Breach.  The failure of the City to insist upon strict performance of any of 
the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, or to exercise any option conferred 
by this Agreement in one or more instances shall not be construed to be a waiver or 
relinquishment of those covenants, agreements or options, and the same shall be and remain in 
full force and effect. 

B. Resolution of Disputes and Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington.  If the parties are unable to 
settle any dispute, difference or claim arising from the parties’ performance of this Agreement, 
the exclusive means of resolving that dispute, difference or claim, shall only be by filing suit 
exclusively under the venue, rules and jurisdiction of the Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap 
County, Washington, unless the parties agree in writing to an alternative dispute resolution 
process.  In any claim or lawsuit for damages arising from the parties' performance of this 
Agreement, each party shall pay all its legal costs and attorney's fees incurred in defending or 
bringing such claim or lawsuit, including all appeals, in addition to any other recovery or award 
provided by law; provided, however, nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to limit the 
City's right to indemnification under Section XII of this Agreement. 

C. Written Notice.  All communications regarding this Agreement shall be sent to the parties 
at the addresses listed on the signature page of the Agreement, unless notified to the contrary.  
Any written notice hereunder shall become effective three (3) business days after the date of 
mailing by registered or certified mail, and shall be deemed sufficiently given if sent to the 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

addressee at the address stated in this Agreement or such other address as may be hereafter 
specified in writing. 

D. Assignment.  Any assignment of this Agreement by either party without the written 
consent of the non-assigning party shall be void.  If the non-assigning party gives its consent to 
any assignment, the terms of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect and no further 
assignment shall be made without additional written consent. 

E. Modification.  No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of 
the City and Contractor. 

F. Entire Agreement.  The written provisions and terms of this Agreement, together with 
any Exhibits attached hereto, shall supersede all prior verbal statements of any officer or other 
representative of the City, and such statements shall not be effective or be construed as entering 
into or forming a part of or altering in any manner this Agreement.  All of the above documents 
are hereby made a part of this Agreement.  However, should any language in any of the Exhibits 
to this Agreement conflict with any language contained in this Agreement, the terms of this 
Agreement shall prevail. 

G. Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor agrees to comply with all federal, state, and 
municipal laws, rules, and regulations that are now effective or in the future become applicable 
to Contractor's business, equipment, and personnel engaged in operations covered by this 
Agreement or accruing out of the performance of those operations. 

H. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original, and all of which will together constitute this one Agreement.IN 
WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused these presents to be duly executed. 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

  
By:   
 Robert Putaansuu,  Mayor 

CONTRACTOR 

By:   

Title:   

Address:   

   
 
 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

ATTEST: 

 
  
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
  
Charlotte Archer, City Attorney 
 
NOTICES TO BE SENT TO: 
 
CONTRACTOR:     CITY 
 
NAME __________________________ NAME:  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
ADDRESS _______________________ 216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA  98366 
TELEPHONE _____________________ TELEPHONE:  360 876-4407    
Email ___________________________  Email: CityClerk@portorchardwa.gov  
 

With a copy to the City Clerk at the same address



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

 EXHIBIT   C   
5% RETAINAGE INVESTMENT OPTION1 

Contractor: _______________________________________________________________ 

Project Name: _____________________________________________________________ 

Date: __________________________________ Project Number:  __________ 

Pursuant to RCW 60.28.010, as amended, you may exercise an option as to how the 5% retainage under this 
contract will be invested. Please complete and sign this form indication your preference. If you fail to do so 
you will miss the benefit of any interest earned. Select one of the following options: 
 

1. Savings Account: Money will be placed in an interest-bearing account. The interest       will be 
paid to you directly, rather than kept on deposit. If this is your choice, then please complete 
attached SAVINGS ACCOUNT AGREEMENT.  Please state the name of your bank.     
      Bank:____________________________________________________________ 

 
2.       Escrow/Investments: The City will deliver retainage checks to a selected bank,                   pursuant 
to an escrow agreement. The bank will then invest the funds in securities or bonds selected by you, 
and interest will be paid to you as it accrues. If this is your choice then please complete attached 
ESCROW AGREEMNT. 
 

Preferred Bank: ____________________________________________________ 
 
Securities/Bonds: ___________________________________________________ 

     
3.      Guarantee Deposit: Retainage will be held by the City. No interest is payable to the Contractor 

 
Retainage is normally released 45 days after final acceptance of the work or following receipt of Labor and 
Industries/Department of Revenue clearance, whichever date is the later. Retainage on landscaping work 
may be longer, due to its seasonal nature. However, if this project is subject to grant funding, then the 
retainage may also be held until such time as the Contractor meets its obligations to the City to provide 
required information and documentation for compliance with the grant funding requirements. 
 
State law allows for limited early release of retainage in certain circumstance. 
 
        ______________________________ 
        Contractor’s Signature 
         ______________________________ 
        Title 
       

 

1 If the Contractor opts to post a retainage bond under RCW 60.28.011, such bond shall be in a form acceptable to the 
City, shall be with a surety with a minimum of A.M. Best financial strength rating of a minimum of A-. 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

   SAVING ACCOUNT AGREEMENT 
 

TO BANK: _______________________         SAVINGS ACCOUNT NO: ___________________ 
 
BANK’S ADDRESS: _____________________________________________________________ 
 
                                     _____________________________________________________________ 
 
AGENCY:   CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard WA 98366 

 
CONTRACT NO: ________________________________________ 
 
PROJECT TITLE:         
 
The estimated completion date of contract is: _________________________________________ 
 
The undersigned, ______________________________________________________, herein referred to as 
the CONTRACTOR, has directed the CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, Washington, hereinafter referred to as the 
AGENCY, to deliver to you its warrants which shall be payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly. Such 
warrants are to be held and disposed of by you in accordance with the following instructions and upon the 
terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. 
 
INSTRUCTIONS 

1. Warrants or checks made payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly upon delivery to you shall be 
endorsed by you and forwarded for collection. The moneys will then be placed by you in an interest-
bearing savings account. 

2. When and as interest on the savings account accrues and is paid, you shall collect such interest and 
forward it to the CONTRACTOR at its address designated below unless otherwise director by the 
CONTRACTOR. 

3. You are not authorized to deliver to the CONTRACTOR all or any part of the principal held by you 
pursuant to this agreement, except in accordance with written instruction from the AGENCY. 
Compliance with such instructions shall relieve you of any further liability related thereto. 

4. The CONTRACTOR agrees to pay you as compensation for your services hereunder as follows: 
Payment of all fees shall be the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR and shall not be deducted 
from any moneys placed with you pursuant to this agreement until and unless the AGENCY directs 
the release to the CONTRACTOR, whereupon you shall be granted a first lien upon such moneys 
released and shall be entitled to reimburse yourself from such moneys for the entire amount of your 
fees as provided for herein above. In the event that you are made a party to any litigation with respect 
to the moneys held by you hereunder, or in the event that the conditions of this agreement are not 
promptly fulfilled, or that you are required to render any service not provided for in these 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

instructions, or that there is any assignment of the interests of this agreement, or any modification 
hereof, you shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for such extraordinary services from the 
CONTRACTOR and reimbursement from the CONTRACTOR for all costs and expenses, including 
attorney fees occasioned by such default, delay, controversy or litigation. 

5. This agreement shall not be binding until executed by the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY and 
accepted by you. 

6. This instrument contains the entire agreement between you, the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY. 
You are not a party to nor bound by any instrument or agreement other than this. You shall not be 
required to take notice of any default or any other matter nor be bound by nor required to give notice 
or demand, nor required to take any action whatever except as herein expressly provided. You shall 
not be liable for any loss or damage not caused by your own negligence or willful misconduct. 

7. The foregoing provisions shall be binding upon the assigns, successors, personal representative and 
heir of the Parties hereto. 

  
___________________________________                      CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
Contractor                                                                                  Agency 
 
BY:_________________________________                   BY:______________________________ 
Title: ________________________________                     
Date: ________________________________                  Date: _____________________________  
           
Address: _____________________________           

 
The above savings account agreement and instruction received and accepted this _______________ day of 
_______________, 20___ 
       ____________________________________ 
         Bank Name 
       ____________________________________ 
        Authorized Bank Officer   
              
             
   



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

ESCROW AGREEMENT 

TO BANK: __________________________  ESCROW NO.: ______________________________ 
 
BANK’S ADDRESS: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
                                   ______________________________________________________________ 
AGENCY:                    CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard WA 98366 

 
CONTRACT NO.: ___________________________________ 
 
PROJECT TITLE:_________________________________________________________ 
 
The estimated completion date of contract is: ________________________________ 
 
The undersigned, _____________________________________________, herein referred to as the 
CONTRACTOR, has directed the CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, Washington, hereinafter referred to as the 
AGENCY, to deliver to you its warrants which shall be payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly. 
Such warrants are to be held and disposed of by you in accordance with the following instructions 
and upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.  
 

INSTRUCTIONS 
 

1. Warrants or checks made payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly upon delivery to you 
shall be endorsed by you and forwarded for collection. The moneys will then be used by you 
to purchase, as directed by the CONTRACTOR, bonds or other securities chosen by the 
CONTRACTOR and approved by the AGENCY. Attached is a list of such bonds, or other 
securities approved by the AGENCY. Other bonds or securities, except stocks may be 
selected by the CONTRACTOR, subject to express written approval of the AGENCY. Purchase 
of such bonds or other securities shall be in a form which shall allow you alone to reconvert 
such bonds or other securities into money if you are required to do so by the AGENCY as 
provided in Paragraph 4 of this Escrow Agreement.  

2. When and as interest on the securities held by you pursuant to this agreement accrues and 
is paid, you shall collect such interest and forward it to the CONTRACTOR at its address 
designated below unless otherwise directed by the CONTRACTOR. 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

3. You are not authorized to deliver to the CONTRACTOR all or any part of the securities held 
by you pursuant to this agreement (or any moneys derived from the sale of such securities, 
or the negotiation of the AGENCY’S warrants) except in accordance with written instructions 
from the AGENCY. Compliance with such instruction shall relieve you of any further liability 
related thereto. 

4. In the event the AGENCY orders you to do so in writing, you shall within thirty-five (35) days 
of receipt of such order, reconvert into money the securities held by you pursuant to this 
agreement and return such money together with any other moneys held by you hereunder, 
to the AGENCY. 

5. The CONTRACTOR agrees to pay you as compensation for your services hereunder as 
follows: 

Payment of all fees shall be the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR and shall not be 
deducted from any property placed with you pursuant to this agreement until and unless 
the AGENCY directs the release to the CONTRACTOR of the securities and moneys held 
hereunder whereupon you shall be granted a first lien upon such property released and shall 
be entitled to reimburse yourself from such property for the entire amount of your fees as 
provided for herein above. In the event that are made a party to any litigation with respect 
to the property held by you hereunder, or in the event that the conditions of this escrow are 
not promptly fulfilled or that you are required to render any service not provided for in these 
instructions, or that there is any assignment of the interest of this escrow or any modification 
hereof, you shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for such extraordinary services 
from the CONTRACTOR and reimbursement from the CONTRACTOR for all costs and 
expenses, including attorney fees occasioned by such default, delay, controversy or 
litigation. 

6. This agreement shall not be binding until executed by the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY 
and accepted by you. 

7. This instrument contains the entire agreement between you, the CONTRACTOR and the 
AGENCY with respect to this escrow and you are not a party to nor bound by any instrument 
or agreement other than this; you shall not be required to take notice of any default or any 
other matter nor be bound by nor be bound by nor required to give notice or demand , nor 
required to take action whatever except as herein expressly provided; you shall not be liable 
for any loss or damage not caused by your own negligence or willful misconduct. 

 
 

  



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

The foregone provision shall be binding upon the assigns, successors, personal representative, and 
heir of the Parties hereto. 

  
_______________________________________       CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
Contractor                                                                     Agency 
 
By: ____________________________________      By: __________________________________ 
Title: __________________________________           
Date: __________________________________      Date: _________________________________ 
Address: ________________________________ 
 
 

 
The above escrow agreement and instruction received and accepted this ___________ day of  
___________, 20__. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
                                                                                         Bank Name 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Authorized Bank Officer 
 

 SECURITIES AUTHORIZED BY AGENCY 
1. Bills, certificates, notes or bonds of the United States; 
2. Other obligations of the United States or its agencies; 
3. Obligation of any corporation wholly-owned by the government of the United States; 
4. Indebtedness of the Federal Nation Mortgage Association; and 
5. Time deposits in commercial banks. 

  



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BOND 
 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
CITY HALL RENOVATIONS PROJECT 

PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT NO. PW2023-004 
Bond to City of Port Orchard, Washington 

Bond No. _____________ 
 

We, ___________________________________, and___________________________________ 
 (Principal)      (Surety) 
 
a _________________________________ Corporation, and as a surety corporation authorized 
to become a surety upon Bonds of Contractors with municipal corporations in Washington State, 
are jointly and severally bound to the City of Port Orchard, Washington (“Owner”), in the penal 
sum of _________________________________________________________ Dollars 
($_________________), the payment of which sum, on demand, we bind ourselves and our 
successors, heirs, administrators, executors, or personal representatives, as the case may be. This 
Performance Bond is provided to secure the performance of Principal in connection with a 
contract dated_____________, 20___, between Principal and Owner for a project entitled City 
Hall Renovations Project (“Project”) – Public Works Project No. PW2023-004 (“Contract”). The 
initial penal sum shall equal 100 percent of the Total Bid Price, including all applicable state sales 
tax, as specified in the Proposal submitted by Principal. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, this Performance and Payment Bond shall be satisfied and released only upon 
the condition that Principal: 
 

Faithfully performs all provisions of the Contract and changes authorized by Owner in the 
manner and within the time specified as may be extended under the Contract; 
 
Pays all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material-persons, 
and all other persons or agents who supply labor, equipment, or materials to the Project; 
 
Pays the taxes, increases and penalties incurred on the Project under Titles 50, 51 and 82 
RCW on:  (A) Projects referred to in RCW 60.28.011(1)(b); and/or (B) Projects for which 
the bond is conditioned on the payment of such taxes, increases and penalties; and 
 
Posts a two-year warranty/maintenance bond to secure the project. Such bond shall be 
in the amount of twenty percent (20%) of the project costs.  
 

Provided, further that this bond shall remain in full force and effect until released in writing by 
the City at the request of the Surety or Principal. 

  
 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

 
The surety shall indemnify, defend, and protect the Owner against any claim of direct or indirect 
loss resulting from the failure: 
 

Of the Principal (or any of the employees, subcontractors, or lower tier subcontractors
 of the Principal) to faithfully perform the Contract, or 
 
Of the Principal (or any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor of the Principal) to pay 
all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material person, or 
any other person who provides supplies or provisions for carrying out the work. 

 
The liability of Surety shall be limited to the penal sum of this Performance and Payment Bond. 
 
No change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the Work 
to be performed under the Contract shall in any way affect Surety’s obligation on the 
Performance Bond. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, extension of time, alteration, or 
addition to the terms of the Contract or the Work, with the exception that Surety shall be notified 
if the Contract time is extended by more than twenty percent (20%). 
 
If any modification or change increases the total amount to be paid under the Contract, Surety’s 
obligation under this Performance and Payment Bond shall automatically increase in a like 
amount. Any such increase shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the original amount of 
the Performance and Payment Bond without the prior written consent of Surety. 
 
This Performance and Payment Bond shall be governed and construed by the laws of the State 
of Washington, and venue shall be in Kitsap County, Washington. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument in two (2) identical 
counterparts this _______ day of _________________, 20 ___. 
 
___________________________________         
 Principal     Surety 
 
              
 Signature of Authorized Official  Signature of Authorized Official 
            
       By       
 Printed Name and Title   Attorney in Fact (Attach Power of Attorney) 
 
Name and address of local office of          
Agent and/or Surety Company:         
              
Surety companies executing bonds must appear on the current Authorized Insurance List in the 
State of Washington on file with the Office of Insurance Commissioner. 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

  
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Corporation, Partnership, or Individual 
 

STATE OF     ) 
      )ss. 
COUNTY OF     ) 
 
On this _____ day of____________, 20____, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and 
for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally 
appeared________________________, to me known to be the (check one of the following 
boxes): 
⌂ _______________________ of __________________________________, the 
 corporation, 
⌂ _______________________ of __________________________________, the 
 partnership, 
 
⌂ individual, 
 
that executed the foregoing instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said ⌂ 
corporation, ⌂ partnership, ⌂ individual for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on 
oath stated that they are authorized to execute said instrument. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first above written. 
 
              
       Print or type name 
 
       NOTARY PUBLIC, 
       in and for the State of Washington 
 
       Residing at      
  
       My Commission expires:     
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Notary Seal with Ink Stamp 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

 
 

SURETY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

STATE OF     ) 
      )ss. 
COUNTY OF     ) 
 
On this _______ day of________________, 20_____, before me, the undersigned, a Notary 
Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally 
appeared___________________, to me known to be the _____________________________ 
of________________________________, the corporation that executed the foregoing 
instrument, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of 
said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that they are 
authorized to execute said instrument. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first above written. 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       Print or type name 
 
       NOTARY PUBLIC, 
       in and for the State of Washington 
       Residing       
       My Commission expires:     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

  

  

  

  

  

 Notary Seal With Ink Stamp 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
MAINTENANCE/WARRANTY BOND 

 NOTE: This form must be completed at Contract Completion.  Before the Performance Bond or the 
retainage can be released, the City must receive the two year Maintenance /Warranty Bond 

      
       Project #:PW2023-004   
       Surety Bond #:      
       Date Posted:      
       Expiration Date:    
RE: Project Name: City Hall Renovations Project       
 Owner/Developer/Contractor:        
 Project Address:            

 
 KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: That we,         ______         (hereinafter 
called the "Principal"), and     , a corporation organized under the laws of 
the State of     , and authorized to transact surety business in the State of 
Washington (hereinafter called the "Surety"), are held and firmly bound unto the  City of Port 
Orchard, Washington, in the sum of         ______ 
dollars ($   ) 20% of the total contract amount,  lawful money of the United 
States of America, for the payment of which sum we and each of us bind ourselves, our heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and severally, by these presents.  THE 
CONDITIONS of the above obligation are such that:   
 
 WHEREAS, the above named Principal has constructed and installed certain 
improvements on public property in connection with a project as described above within the City 
of Port Orchard; and  
  
 WHEREAS, the Principal is required to post a bond for the twenty-four (24) months 
following written and final acceptance of the project in order to provide security for the 
obligation of the Principal to repair and/or replace said improvements against defects in 
workmanship, materials or installation during the twenty-four (24) months after written and final 
approval/acceptance of the same by the City;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, this Maintenance Bond has been secured and is hereby submitted to 
the City.  It is understood and agreed that this obligation shall continue in effect until released in 
writing by the City, but only after the Principal has performed and satisfied the following 
conditions:  
 
A. The work or improvements installed by the Principal and subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Bond are as follows: (insert complete description of work here) 
      



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

B. The Principal and Surety agree that the work and improvements installed in the above-
referenced project shall remain free from defects in material, workmanship and installation (or, 
in the case of landscaping, shall survive,) for a period of twenty-four (24) months after written 
and final acceptance of the same and approval by the City.  Maintenance is defined as acts carried 
out to prevent a decline, lapse or cessation of the state of the project or improvements as 
accepted by the City during the twenty-four (24) month period after final and written acceptance, 
and includes, but is not limited to, repair or replacement of defective workmanship, materials or 
installations.   

C. The Principal shall, at its sole cost and expense, carefully replace and/or repair any 
damage or defects in workmanship, materials or installation to the City-owned real property on 
which improvements have been installed and leave the same in as good condition or better as it 
was before commencement of the work.   

D. The Principal and the Surety agree that in the event any of the improvements or 
restoration work installed or completed by the Principal as described herein, fail to remain free 
from defects in materials, workmanship or installation (or in the case of landscaping, fail to 
survive), for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of approval/acceptance of the 
work by the City, the Principal shall repair and/replace the same within ten (10) days of demand 
by the City, and if the Principal should fail to do so, then the Surety shall: 

 1. Within twenty (20) days of demand of the City, make written commitment to the 
City that it will either: 

a). remedy the default itself with reasonable diligence pursuant to a time 
schedule acceptable to the City; or 

b). tender to the City within an additional ten (10) days the amount necessary, 
as determined by the City, for the City to remedy the default, up to the 
total bond amount.   

Upon completion of the Surety's duties under either of the options above, the Surety shall 
then have fulfilled its obligations under this bond.  If the Surety elects to fulfill its 
obligation pursuant to the requirements of subsection D(1)(b), the City shall notify the 
Surety of the actual cost of the remedy, upon completion of the remedy.  The City shall 
return, without interest, any overpayment made by the Surety, and the Surety shall pay 
to the City any actual costs which exceeded the City estimate, limited to the bond amount. 

2. In the event the Principal fails to make repairs or provide maintenance within the time 
period requested by the City, then the City, its employees and agents shall have the 
right at the City's sole election to enter onto said property described above for the 
purpose of repairing or maintaining the improvements.  This provision shall not be 
construed as creating an obligation on the part of the City or its representatives to 
repair or maintain such improvements. 

 



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

E. Corrections.  Any corrections required by the City shall be commenced within ten (10) 
days of notification by the City and completed within thirty (30) days of the date of notification.  
If the work is not performed in a timely manner, the City shall have the right, without recourse 
to legal action, to take such action under this bond as described in Section D above. 

F. Extensions and Changes.  No change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the work 
to be performed by the Principal shall affect the obligation of the Principal or Surety on this bond, 
unless the City specifically agrees, in writing, to such alteration, addition, extension or change.  
The Surety waives notice of any such change, extension, alteration or addition thereunder.   

G. Enforcement.  It is specifically agreed by and between the parties that in the event any 
legal action must be taken to enforce the provisions of this bond or to collect said bond, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to collect its costs and reasonable attorney fees as a part of the 
reasonable costs of securing the obligation hereunder.  In the event of settlement or resolution 
of these issues prior to the filing of any suit, the actual costs incurred by the City, including 
reasonable attorney fees, shall be considered a part of the obligation hereunder secured.  Said 
costs and reasonable legal fees shall be recoverable by the prevailing party, not only from the 
proceeds of this bond, but also over and above said bond as a part of any recovery (including 
recovery on the bond) in any judicial proceeding.  The Surety hereby agrees that this bond shall 
be governed by the laws of the State of Washington.  Venue of any litigation arising out of this 
bond shall be in Kitsap County Superior Court. 

H. Bond Expiration.  This bond shall remain in full force and effect until the obligations 
secured hereby have been fully performed and until released in writing by the City at the request 
of the  Surety or Principal. 

 DATED this        day of     , 20__. 

SURETY COMPANY     DEVELOPER/OWNER 
(Signature must be notarized)   (Signature must be notarized) 
 
By:       By:      
Its:             Its:         
 
Business Name:       Business Name:       

Business Address:       Business Address:       

City/State/Zip Code:       City/State/Zip Code:       

Telephone Number:       Telephone Number:       

CHECK FOR ATTACHED NOTARY SIGNATURE 
 ______Developer/Owner (Form P-1)  
 ______Surety Company (Form P-2)  
         

  



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

     
 
FORM P-1 / NOTARY BLOCK 
 
(Developer/Owner) 
STATE OF WASHINGTON  ) 
     )  ss. 
COUNTY OF    ) 
 
 I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that                                                 is the 

person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged as the 

_________________________________ of _________________________________that they 

signed this instrument, on oath stated that they are authorized to execute the instrument and 

acknowledged it to be their free and voluntary act for the uses and purposes mentioned in the 

instrument. 

 
       Dated: ______________________________  
       ___________________________________  
       ___________________________________ 
                            (print or type name) 
 
       NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
       State of Washington, residing 
       at: _________________________________  
 
       My Commission expires: _____________  
 
  



 
 
Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard  
City Hall Renovations Project   Project #PW2023-004  

FORM P-2/NOTARY BLOCK 
 
(Surety Company) 
STATE OF WASHINGTON  ) 
     )  ss. 
COUNTY OF     ) 
 
 I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that                                                 is the 

person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged as the 

_________________________________ of _________________________________that they 

signed this instrument, on oath stated that they are authorized to execute the instrument and 

acknowledged it to be their free and voluntary act for the uses and purposes mentioned in the 

instrument. 

       Dated:  _____________________________  
           ___________________________________ 
                   
       ____________________________________            
                            (print or type name) 
        
       NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
       State of Washington, residing 
       at: _________________________________  
       My Commission expires:  ______________ 



I , I~. 

•' .. 

PROPOSAL 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
CITY HALL RENOVATIONS PROJECT 

PROJECT NO. PW2023-004 

To: Mayor and City Council 
City of Port Orchard, Washington 

Contractor: Lincoln Construction Inc 

State License No.: LINCOCl156JH 

Date: May 2, 2023 
Month/Day/Year 

Bidder's Declaration and Understanding 

The Bidder declares that they have carefully examined the Contract Documents for the 
construction of the project, that they have personally inspected the site, that they have satisfied 
themself as to the quantities involved, including materials and equipment, and conditions of work 
involved, including the fact that the description of the quantities of work and materials, as 
included herein, is brief and is intended only to indicate the general nature of the work and to 
identify the said quantities with the detailed requirements of the Contract Documents, and that 
this Proposal is made according the provisions and under the terms of the Contract Documents, 
which Documents are hereby made a part of this Proposal. The Bidder further declares that they 
has exercised their own judgment regarding the interpretation, of subsurface information and 
has utilized all data, which they believes pertinent from City and other sources and has made 
such independent investigations as the Bidder deems necessary in arriving at their conclusions. 

Bidder understands that any bid response documents may be subject to release under the Public 
Records Act Chapter 42.56 RCW and the City may be required to disclose bid responses upon a 
request. Bidder acknowledges that they have been advised to mark any records believed to be 
trade secrets or confidential in nature as "confidential." If records marked as "confidential" are 
found to be responsive to the request for records, the City as a courtesy to the Bidder may elect 
to give notice to Bidder of the request so as to allow Bidder to seek a protective order from a 
Court. Bidder acknowledges and agrees that any records deemed responsive to a public records 
request may be released at the sole discretion of, and without notice by, the City. 

Contract Execution 

The Bidder agrees that if this Proposal is accepted, the Bidder will, within fourteen (14) calendar 
days after Notice of Award, complete and sign the Contract in the form annexed hereto, and will 
at that time deliver to the City executed copies of the Performance Bond, Labor and Material 
Payment bond, the Certificate of Insurance, and other documentation required by the Contract 
Documents, and will, to the extent of the Proposal, furnish all machinery, tools, apparatus and 

Rev 3118/22 
City of Port Orchard 
City Hall Renovations Project Project ii PW202 3-004, 

IMANAGE\366922\0001 \10651292.vl-4/6/23 

Page-12 

Provided to Builders Exchange of WA, Inc. For usage Conditions Agreement see www.bxwa.com - Always Verify Seal 



. " 

other means of construction and do the work and furnish all the materials or services necessary 
to complete all work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. 

Start of Construction and Contract Completion 

The Bidder further agrees that within 14 calendar days of CONTRACT START DATE, they will meet 
with engineering personnel and complete the construction within 308 working days of START 
DATE. 

Lump Sum and Unit Price Work 

The Bidder further proposes to accept as full payment for the work proposed herein the amounts 
computed under the provisions of the Contract Documents and based on lump sum and unit price 
amounts, it being expressly understood that the unit prices are independent of the exact 
quantities involved. The Bidder agrees that the lump sum prices and the unit prices represent a 
true measure of the labor, services, and materials required to perform the work, including all 
allowances for overhead and profit for each type and unit of work called for in these Contract 
Documents. 

If any material, item, or service required by the Contract Documents has not been mentioned 
specifically, the same shall be furnished and placed with the understanding that the full cost to 
the City has been merged with prices named in the proposal. 

Rev 3118/22 
City of Port Orchard 
City Hall Renovations Project Project fl PW2023-004, 

IMANAGE\366922\0001 \10651292. vl-4/6/23 

Page-IS 

Provided to Builders Exchange of WA, Inc. For usage Conditions Agreement see www.bxwa.com - Always Verify Seal 



... 

BID PRICE FORM 
CITY HALL RENOVATIONS PROJECT 

PROJECT NO. PW2023-004 

NOTE: The Project must be bid in its entirety, including all bid alternate items as specifically listed 
in the Proposal, in order to be considered a responsive bid. The Contracting Agency reserves the 
right to award all work, or any combination of the base bid and bid alternates, according to the 
lowest qualified responsive bid tendered, available funds, and as it best serves the interest of the 
Contracting Agency. All work awarded will be made to the same Contractor/bidder. Bidder shall 
make no stipulation on the Bid Form, nor qualify the bid in any manner. 

Bidders Name: Lincoln Construction Inc 
SALES TAX 
Retailing/Retail Sales Tax Rule WAC 458-20-170 and its related rules, apply to this project for the 
constructing and repairing of existing buildings, or other structures, upon real property. The Contractor 
shall collect from the City retail sales tax on the full contract price. The City will automatically add this 
sales tax to each payment to the Contract. The Contractor shall not include the retail sales tax in the unit 
bid item prices, with the following exception: The City will not add in sales tax for a payment the 
Contractor or a subcontractor makes on the purchase or rental of tools, machinery, equipment, or 
consumable supplies not integrated into the project. Such sales taxes shall be included in the unit bid item 
prices or in any other contract amount. 

All Work is described in the Project Manual and shown on plans and described in the specifications for 
Project No. PW2023-004 for the City of Port Orchard City Hall Renovations, 216 Prospect Street, Port 
Orchard, WA 98366. Refer to Sheet Al0.01 for a breakdown of the Base Bid and Bid Alternates. 

The bidder agrees the lump sum and unit prices entered for the various bid items included in the Bid 
Schedule include all use taxes, overhead, profit, bond premiums, insurance premiums and all other 
miscellaneous and incidental expenses as well as all costs of materials, labor, tools and equipment 
required to perform and complete the work. 

LUMP SUM BASE BID AMOUNT 

S'i-UtfJ MH . .-LIO/J fll)e t-lUND(Zfj) ~ll\ltT~ 1Jll'Je- Dollars 

(an~ in words) "'f-HCXJSA~\) NttUe" f-1 V /()1)((€1) ub/ 
$ U''!J,599, 9YY l, 599,941 AND Rti"tr O\Je: /'/tfD 
( amount in numbers) 

LUMP SUM BID ALTERNATE #1: Police Station 
""'" .... 

o Ne Hu tJ i)Uu"- rt-Y fJ€l't' St 0£. IJ TuOUSA ND "¼.- 
i 

Dollars 

( amount in words) 

Rev 3118122 
City of Port Orchard 
City Hall Renovations Project Project H PW2023-004. 

I MANAGE\366922\0001 \10651292.vl-4/6/23 

Page-I s 

Provided to Builders Exchange of WA, Inc. For usage Conditions Agreement see www.bxwa.com - Always Verify Seal 



• ' f 

$ 1 en, ooo ·1r-- 
(amount in numbers) 

LUMP SUM BID ALTERNATE #2: Administration Offices 

Dollars 

( amount in words) 

$ 2 II, 000 
(amount in numbers) 

LUMP SUM BID ALTERNATE #3: Court Clerk Offices 

z- 
Dollars 

( amount in words) 

$ (07,000 ~--- 
(amount in numbers) 

LUMP SUM BID ALTERNATE #4: Interior Finishes 

O\\.lf: \-\U1-li)UD fi~D 1)-\\fti Ot.Jt 1'\0C5AtJD ~aa-- Dollars 

(amount in words) 

$ l 3 \ 1 000 tJl>'tJ!J:::::::: 
(amount in numbers) 

TOTAL OF BASE BID AND ALL BID ALTERNATES 

(amount in words) 

$ i, '2-l.\'5, q4, 

Dollars 

( amount in numbers) 

UNIT PRICES FOR ALL ITEMS MUST BE SHOWN IN THE SPACES PROVIDED BELOW. 

Unit price for the following: Material and labor for the removal of exterior sheathing and insulation. 
Installation of new insulation and exterior sheathing to match adjacent materials. The price is to 
be per square foot. 

Dollars 

(amount in words) 

$ __ ~/f~• o_o _ 
(amount in numbers) 

Rev 3/18/22 
City of Port Orchard 
City Hall Renovations Project Project ii PW202 3-004, 

IMANAGE\366922\0001 \10651292. vl-4/6/23 

Page-15 

Provided to Builders Exchange of WA, Inc. For usage Conditions Agreement see www.bxwa.com - Always Verify Seal 



.. 
The undersigned Bidder hereby agrees to start construction on this project, if awarded, no later 
than fourteen (14) calendar days after Notice to Proceed and to complete the project within the 
time stipulated in the Contract Documents. By signing below, Bidder acknowledges receipt of the 
following Addenda to the Bid Documents: 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
CITY HALL RENOVATIONS 
PROJECT NO. PW2023-004 

1 4/19/2023 3 4/26/2023 
Addendum No. Date of Receipt Addendum No. Date of Receipt 

2 4/21/2023 
Addendum No. Date of Receipt Addendum No. Date of Receipt 

NOTE: Failure to acknowledge receipt of Addenda may be considered as an irregularity in the Bid 
Proposal and Owner reserves the right to determine whether the bid will be disqualified. 

By signing below, Bidder certifies that s/he has reviewed the insurance provisions of the Bid 
Documents and will provide the required coverage. 

The undersigned Bidder hereby certifies that, within the three-year period immediately 
preceding the bid solicitation date for this Project, the Bidder is not a "willful" violator, as defined 
in RCW 49.48.082, of any provision of chapters 49.46, 49.48, or 49.52 RCW, as determined by a 
final and binding citation and notice of assessment issued by the Department of Labor and 
Industries or through a civil judgment entered by a court of limited or general jurisdiction. 

OFFICIAL AUTHORIZED TO SIGN FOR BIDDER: 

"I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that 
the foregoing is true and correct." 

s~/)0) 
Date: 

May 2, 2023 
Printed Name and Title: Location or Place Executed (City, State): 

Jeff Tiegs, President Puyallup, WA 
Business Address: Business Telephone: 
11803 101 Ave Ct E., Suite #201 

(253) 847.6414 Puyallup, WA 98373 

NOTES: If the Bidder is a co-partnership, give firm name under which business is transacted; 
proposal must be executed by a partner. If the Bidder is a corporation, proposal must be executed 
in the corporate name by the president or vice-president (or any other corporate officer 
accompanied by evidence of authority to sign). 

Rev 3118/22 
City of Port Orchard 
City Hall Renovations Project Project# PW202 3-004, 

I MANAGE\366922\0001 \10651292. vl-4/6/23 

Page-Lti 

Provided to Builders Exchange of WA, Inc. For usage Conditions Agreement see www.bxwa.com - Always Verify Seal 



• • 

STATE OF 

COUNTY OF 

Washington 

)ss. 
Pierce 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that Jeff Tiegs signed 
this proposal, on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the proposal and 
acknowledged it as the President (title) of 

Lincoln Construction Inc (name of party on behalf of whom proposal was 
executed) and acknowledged it to be his/her free and voluntary act for the uses and purposes 
mentioned in this proposal. 

My Commission Expires: 
lt-:io- :;s: 

Rev 3118122 
City ofPort Orchard 
City Hall Renovations Project Project ii PW202 3-004, 

I MANAGE\366922\0001 \10651292. vl-4/6/23 

Page-17 

Provided to Builders Exchange of WA, Inc. For usage Conditions Agreement see www.bxwa.com - Always Verify Seal 



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7D Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving Prepared by: Tony Lang 

 a Contract with KCI Technologies, Inc.  Public Works Director 
 for Asset Management Program     Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 
 Development and On-Call Consulting Atty Review Date: 6/7/2023 
 Support  

 
Summary:  The City identified a need for an Asset Management Plan to document and track the City’s 
infrastructure, including but not limited to utility assets, maintenance and life-cycles. In furtherance of 
that goal, in 2022, the City hired a consultant to help develop an Asset Management Plan, and to 
recommend an asset management software program that would best meet the needs of the City.  The 
Plan and software recommendation are now complete, and the City wishes to develop procedures for 
program management and implementation of the Asset Management Plan.  Due to limited staff 
resources and expertise in this field, the City desires the assistance of a consultant with expertise in 
asset program management, and who is qualified to assist with the implementation of the Asset 
Management Plan and its associated procedures.   
 
Accordingly, staff utilized the procurement process for this professional service set out in state law and 
in the City’s Procurement Policies Resolution No. 036-22, as amended.  On April 11, 2023, the City’s 
Public Works Department established a list of qualified consultants for the project from the MRSC 2023 
Consultant Roster for the Main Category – Financial Services-Information Technology Services and Sub-
Category – Asset Management, Data Infrastructure Management.  On April 11, 2023, the City’s Public 
Works Department selected three (3) qualified consultants from the MRSC 2023 Consultant roster.  
After reviewing the Statement of Qualifications and independently scoring the three (3) selected 
consultants, Public Works Staff verified the consultant’s information and determined KCI Technologies, 
Inc. met the requirements and criteria for the project and was a qualified, responsible and responsive 
consultant for the project. On May 5, 2023, Public Works Staff met with KCI Technologies, Inc. to 
discuss, clarify and develop the project understanding and the associated contract terms.  On May 9, 
2023, the City received a defined Scope of Work, Budget and Project Timeline from KCI Technologies, 
Inc for the project in an amount not to exceed $150,000.   
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends adoption of a Resolution, authorizing the Mayor to execute a 
Contract with KCI Technologies, Inc. for Asset Management Program Development and On-Call 
Consulting Support in an amount not to exceed $150,000 and documenting the Professional Services 
procurement procedures.    
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 7: Utilities 



 
 

 

  
Motion for Consideration: I move to adopt a Resolution, authorizing the Mayor to execute a Contract 
with KCI Technologies, Inc., for Asset Management Program Development and On-Call Consulting 
Support.    
 
Fiscal Impact: There is funding budgeted for this project in the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget. 

(002.05.543.30.40-25%, 411.05.534.10.40-25%, 421.05.531.10.40-25%, 431.05.535.10.40-25%) 
 
Alternatives:  Do not authorize and provide alternative guidance. 
 
Attachments: Resolution  
 Contract  
 Exhibits A and B  



RESOLUTION NO. ______ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH KCI 
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES FOR ASSET 
MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL 
CONSULTING SUPPORT AND DOCUMENTING PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES 

 
WHEREAS, the City has identified a need for an Asset Management Plan to assess, 

document, and track the City’s infrastructure; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 2022 the City retained a consultant to help develop an Asset Management 

Plan, and to propose asset management software programs to implement the Plan that would 
best meet the needs of the City; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to the limited resources and expertise of staff, the City wishes to retain a 

qualified consultant to develop procedures for program management and implementation of 
the Asset Management Plan, in conjunction with City staff; and 

 
WHEREAS, on April 11, 2023, pursuant to the City’s Procurement Policies Resolution No. 

036-22, as amended, the City’s Public Works Department established a list of qualified 
consultants for the project from the MRSC 2023 Consultant Roster for the Main Category – 
Financial Services-Information Technology Services and Sub-Category – Asset Management, 
Data Infrastructure Management; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on April 11, 2023, the City’s Public Works Department selected three (3) 
qualified consultants from the MRSC 2023 Consultant Roster and reviewed their Statements of 
Qualification; and 
 
 WHEREAS, after reviewing the Statement of Qualifications and independently scoring 
the three (3) selected consultants, Public Works Staff verified the consultant’s information and 
determined KCI Technologies, Inc., met the requirements and criteria for the project and was a 
qualified, responsible and responsive consultant for the project; and  
 

WHEREAS, on May 5, 2023, Public Works Staff met with KCI Technologies, Inc., to 
discuss, clarify and develop the project understanding and the associated contract terms; and 

 
 WHEREAS, on May 9, 2023, the City received a defined Scope of Work, Budget and 
Project Timeline for the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council believes KCI Technologies, Inc. to be the most 

highly qualified consulting firm for this Project; and 



 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council, at the 2015 recommendation of the State 
Auditor’s Office, wishes to document their consultant selection process as described above for 
this particular contract by Resolution; Now, Therefore,  

 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 
are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 
 
 THAT:  The City Council approves and authorizes the Mayor to execute a Contract with 
KCI Technologies, Inc. for consultant services for the Project, including asset management 
program development and on-call consulting support for the Project.  

 
THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 

hereon. 
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 
by the Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 
 
 
 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
     
City Clerk, Brandy Wallace, MMC  



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

Port Orchard Contract #: _______ 
Authorized Amount: $150,000.00 

   Date Start: June 13, 2023  
Date End: December 31, 2024 

CONSULTANT SERVICES AGREEMENT 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by and between the City of Port Orchard, Washington, a 
municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of Washington (“City”) and KCI 
Technologies, Inc., (“Consultant”) organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, located and 
doing business at 936 Ridgebrook Road, Sparks, MD 21152-9390, Contact: Heidi Hammel Principal-in-
Charge, Phone: (410) 527-4415, Email: heidi.hammel@kci.com (hereinafter the "Consultant"). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the City desires to have certain services performed for its residents; and 

WHEREAS, the City has selected the Consultant to perform such services pursuant to certain 
terms and conditions; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual benefits and conditions set forth below, the 
parties agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT: 

1. Scope of Services to be Performed by Consultant.

The Consultant shall perform those services described on Exhibit “A,” which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full. In addition, the Consultant shall perform such 
additional work as is assigned by the City. This Agreement does not obligate the City to assign any 
specific additional work or any additional work to the Consultant. In performing such services, the 
Consultant shall at all times comply with all federal, state, and local statutes, rules and ordinances 
applicable to the performance of such services and the handling of any funds used in connection 
therewith. The Consultant shall perform the services diligently and completely and in accordance with 
professional standards of conduct and performance. The Consultant shall request and obtain prior 
written approval from the City if the scope or schedule is to be modified in any way. 

If the services provided hereunder are funded in whole or in part under a Grant Funding 
Agreement, then Consultant will comply with the terms of such Grant Funding Agreement to ensure that 
the City is able to obtain the maximum funding under such Grant Funding Agreement. If this applies, the 
City will provide the Consultant with a copy of the Grant Funding Agreement.  

Page 1 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

2. Compensation.

The City shall pay the Consultant for services rendered according to the rates and methods set forth 
below.  

� LUMP SUM.  Compensation for these services set forth in Exhibit A shall be a Lump Sum 
of $_________________. 

 TIME AND MATERIALS NOT TO EXCEED.  Compensation for these services shall not exceed
$150,000.00 without written authorization and will be based on the list of billing rates and
reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”

� TIME AND MATERIALS.  Compensation for these services shall be on a time and materials 
basis according to the list of billing rates and reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit 
“B.” 

� OTHER_____________________________________________________________ 

3. Payment.

A. The Consultant shall maintain time and expense records and provide them to the City
monthly after services have been performed, along with monthly invoices in a format acceptable to 
the City for work performed to the date of the invoice.  

B. All invoices shall be paid by City warrant within thirty (30) days of receipt of a proper
invoice.  If the City objects to all or any portion of any invoice, it shall so notify the Consultant of the 
same within fifteen (15) days from the date of receipt and shall pay that portion of the invoice not in 
dispute, and the Parties shall immediately make every effort to settle the disputed portion. 

C. The Consultant shall keep cost records and accounts pertaining to this Agreement
available for inspection by City representatives for three (3) years after final payment unless a longer 
period is required by a third-party agreement.  Copies shall be made available on request.  

D. On the effective date of this Agreement (or shortly thereafter), the Consultant shall
comply with all federal and state laws applicable to independent contractors, including, but not limited 
to, the maintenance of a separate set of books and records that reflect all items of income and expenses 
of the Consultant’s business, pursuant to Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 51.08.195, as required by 
law, to show that the services performed by the Consultant under this Agreement shall not give rise to 
an employer-employee relationship between the parties, which is subject to Title 51 RCW, Industrial 
Insurance.   

E. If the services rendered do not meet the requirements of the Agreement, the Consultant 
will correct or modify the work to comply with the Agreement. The City may withhold payment for such 
work until the work meets the requirements of the Agreement. The City shall pay the Consultant for 
services rendered within ten (10) days after City Council voucher approval. However, if the City objects 
to all or any portion of an invoice, it shall notify Consultant and reserves the option to only pay that 

Page 2 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

portion of the invoice not in dispute. In that event, the Parties will immediately make every effort to 
settle the disputed portion. 

F. The City reserves the right to direct the Consultant's compensated services before
reaching the maximum amount. 

4. Duration of Agreement.

A. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for a period commencing on June 13,
2023, and ending December 31, 2024, unless sooner terminated under the provisions of this 
Agreement. The City reserves the right to offer two (2) one-year extensions prior to expiration of the 
Agreement to retain the Consultant’s services. 

B. Time is of the essence of this Agreement in each and all of its provisions in which
performance is required. If delays beyond the Consultant's reasonable control occur, the Parties will 
negotiate in good faith to determine whether an extension is appropriate.  

C. The Consultant shall obtain a City of Port Orchard business license prior to commencing
work pursuant to a written Notice to Proceed. 

D. The Consultant is authorized to proceed with services upon receipt of a written Notice
to Proceed. 

5. Standard of Care.

The Consultant represents and warrants that it has the requisite training, skill, and experience 
necessary to provide the services under this Agreement and is appropriately accredited and licensed 
by all applicable agencies and governmental entities. Services provided by the Consultant under this 
Agreement will be performed in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing in similar circumstances. 

6. Ownership and Use of Documents.

A. Ownership. Any records, files, documents, drawings, specifications, data, or
information, regardless of form or format, and all other materials produced by the Consultant in 
connection with the services provided to the City, shall be the property of the City whether the project 
for which they were created is executed or not. 

B. Records preservation. Consultant understands that this Agreement is with a government
agency and thus all records created or used in the course of Consultant’s work for the City are 
considered “public records” and are subject to disclosure by the City under the Public Records Act, 
Chapter 42.56 RCW (“the Act”). Consultant agrees to safeguard and preserve records in accordance 
with the Act. The City may be required, upon request, to disclose the Agreement, and the documents 
and records submitted to the City by Consultant, unless an exemption under the Public Records Act 
applies. If the City receives a public records request and asks Consultant to search its files for responsive 

Page 3 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

records, Consultant agrees to make a prompt and thorough search through its files for responsive 
records and to promptly turn over any responsive records to the City’s public records officer at no cost 
to the City. 

7. Relationship of the Parties; Independent Consultant.

The Parties intend that an independent contractor-client relationship will be created by this 
Agreement. As the Consultant is customarily engaged in an independently established trade which 
encompasses the specific service provided to the City hereunder, no agent, employee, representative 
or sub-consultant of the Consultant shall be or shall be deemed to be the employee, agent, 
representative or sub-consultant of the City. In the performance of the work, the Consultant is an 
independent contractor with the ability to control and direct the performance and details of the work, 
the City being interested only in the results obtained under this Agreement.  None of the benefits 
provided by the City to its employees, including, but not limited to, compensation, insurance, and 
unemployment insurance are available from the City to the employees, agents, representatives, or sub-
consultants of the Consultant. The City shall not be responsible for withholding or otherwise deducting 
federal income tax or social security or contributing to the State Industrial Insurance Program, or 
otherwise assuming the duties of an employer with respect to the Consultant, or any employee of the 
Consultant. The Consultant will be solely and entirely responsible for its acts and for the acts of its 
agents, employees, representatives, and sub-consultants during the performance of this Agreement. 
The City may, during the term of this Agreement, engage other independent contractors to perform 
the same or similar work that the Consultant performs hereunder. 

8. Indemnification.

Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City, its officers, officials, employees, agents, and 
volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses or suits including attorneys’ fees, 
arising out of or resulting from the acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant in performance of this 
Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the City. 

Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24.115, 
then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to property 
caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the City, its officers, 
officials, employees, and volunteers, the Consultant's liability, including the duty and cost to defend, 
hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Consultant's negligence.   

IT IS FURTHER SPECIFICALLY AND EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD THAT THE INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED 
HEREIN CONSTITUTES THE CONSULTANT'S WAIVER OF IMMUNITY UNDER INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE, 
TITLE 51 RCW, SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS INDEMNIFICATION.  THIS WAIVER HAS BEEN 
MUTUALLY NEGOTIATED BY THE PARTIES.   

The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

Page 4 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

9. Insurance.

The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, insurance against claims 
for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connection with the 
performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representatives, or employees. 

A. Minimum Scope of Insurance.  Consultant shall obtain insurance of the types described
below: 

i. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and
leased vehicles. Coverage shall be written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 
00 01 or a substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage.  If necessary, the 
policy shall be endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage. 

ii. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written on ISO
occurrence form CG 00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
independent Consultants and personal injury and advertising injury.  The City shall 
be named as an insured under the Consultant’s Commercial General Liability 
insurance policy with respect to the work performed for the City.   

iii. Workers’ Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance
laws of the State of Washington. 

iv. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the Consultant’s
profession. 

B. Minimum Amounts of Insurance.  Consultant shall maintain the following insurance
limits: 

i. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single
limit for bodily injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per accident. 

ii. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits
no less than $1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate. 

iii. Professional Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less
than $1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 

C. Other Insurance Provision.  The Consultant’s Automobile Liability, Commercial General
Liability, and Professional Liability insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, that 
they shall be primary insurance as respect the City.  Any Insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool 
coverage maintained by the City shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute 
with it. 

Page 5 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

D. Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best
rating of not less than A-VII. 

E. Verification of Coverage.  The Consultant shall furnish the City with original certificates
and a copy of the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the additional 
insured endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before 
commencement of the work. 

F. Notice of Cancellation.  The Consultant shall provide the City with written notice of any
policy cancellation, within two business days of their receipt of such notice. 

G. Failure to Maintain Insurance.  Failure on the part of the Consultant to maintain the
insurance as required shall constitute a material breach of contract, upon which the City may, after 
giving five business days’ notice to the Consultant to correct the breach, immediately terminate the 
contract or, at its discretion, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in 
connection therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the City on demand, or at the sole 
discretion of the City, offset against funds due the Consultant from the City. 

H. No Limitation.  Consultant’s maintenance of insurance as required by the Agreement
shall not be construed to limit the liability of the Consultant to the coverage provided by such 
insurance, or otherwise limit the City’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

10. Record Keeping and Reporting.

A. The Consultant shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property,
financial, and programmatic records, which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs 
of any nature expended and services performed pursuant to this Agreement.  The Consultant shall also 
maintain such other records as may be deemed necessary by the City to ensure proper accounting of 
all funds contributed by the City to the performance of this Agreement. 

B. The foregoing records shall be maintained for a period of seven (7) years after
termination of this Agreement unless permission to destroy them is granted by the Office of the 
Archivist in accordance with Chapter 40.14 RCW and by the City. 

11. City’s Right of Inspection and Audit.

A. Even though the Consultant is an independent contractor with the authority to control
and direct the performance and details of the work authorized under this Agreement, the work must 
meet the approval of the City and shall be subject to the City's general right of inspection to secure the 
satisfactory completion thereof.  The Consultant agrees to comply with all federal, state, and municipal 
laws, rules, and regulations that are now effective or become applicable within the terms of this 
Agreement to the Consultant's business, equipment, and personnel engaged in operations covered by 
this Agreement or accruing out of the performance of such operations.  

Page 6 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

B. The records and documents with respect to all matters covered by this Agreement shall
be subject at all times to inspection, review or audit by the City during the performance of this 
Agreement.  All work products, data, studies, worksheets, models, reports, and other materials in 
support of the performance of the service, work products, or outcomes fulfilling the contractual 
obligations are the products of the City. 

12. Work Performed at the Consultant's Risk.

The Consultant shall take all precautions necessary and shall be responsible for the safety of its 
employees, agents, and sub-consultants in the performance of the work hereunder and shall utilize all 
protection necessary for that purpose.  All work shall be done at the Consultant's own risk, and the 
Consultant shall be responsible for any loss of or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or 
held by the Consultant for use in connection with the work. 

13. Termination.

A. Termination without cause.  This Agreement may be terminated by the City at any time
for public convenience, for the Consultant’s insolvency or bankruptcy, or the Consultant’s assignment 
for the benefit of creditors.  

B. Termination with cause.  This Agreement may be terminated upon the default of the
Consultant and the failure of the Consultant to cure such default within a reasonable time after 
receiving written notice of the default.   

C. Rights Upon Termination.
i. With or Without Cause. Upon termination for any reason, all finished or

unfinished documents, reports, or other material or work of the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be submitted to the City, and the Consultant shall be entitled to just and equitable compensation 
for any satisfactory work completed prior to the date of termination, not to exceed the total 
compensation set forth herein.  The Consultant shall not be entitled to any reallocation of cost, profit 
or overhead. The Consultant shall not in any event be entitled to anticipated profit on work not 
performed because of such termination. The Consultant shall use its best efforts to minimize the 
compensation payable under this Agreement in the event of such termination.  Upon termination, the 
City may take over the work and prosecute the same to completion, by contract or otherwise. 

ii. Default.  If the Agreement is terminated for default, the Consultant shall
not be entitled to receive any further payments under the Agreement until all work called for has been 
fully performed. Any extra cost or damage to the City resulting from such default(s) shall be deducted 
from any money due or coming due to the Consultant. The Consultant shall bear any extra expenses 
incurred by the City in completing the work, including all increased costs for completing the work, and 
all damage sustained, or which may be sustained, by the City by reason of such default. 

D. Suspension. The City may suspend this Agreement, at its sole discretion. Any
reimbursement for expenses incurred due to the suspension shall be limited to the Consultant's 

Page 7 of 31



 
City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

reasonable expenses, and shall be subject to verification.  The Consultant shall resume performance of 
services under this Agreement without delay when the suspension period ends. 

 
E. Notice of Termination or Suspension.  If delivered to the Consultant in person, 

termination shall be effective immediately upon the Consultant’s receipt of the City’s written notice or 
such date as stated in the City’s notice of termination, whichever is later.  Notice of suspension shall be 
given to the Consultant in writing upon one week's advance notice to the Consultant.  Such notice shall 
indicate the anticipated period of suspension.  Notice may also be delivered to the Consultant at the 
address set forth in the “Notices” Section herein. 

 
F. Nothing in this Subsection shall prevent the City from seeking any legal remedies it may 

otherwise have for the violation or nonperformance of any provisions of this Agreement. 
 
14. Discrimination Prohibited.   
 
A. The Consultant agrees not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for 

employment or any other person in the performance of this Agreement because of race, creed, color, 
national origin, marital status, sex, age, disability, or other circumstance prohibited by federal, state, 
or local law or ordinance, except for a bona fide occupational qualification.  

 
B. Violation of this Section shall be a material breach of this Agreement and grounds for 

cancellation, termination, or suspension of the Agreement by the City, in whole or in part, and may 
result in ineligibility for further work for the City. 

 
15. Force Majeure.  

 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any prevention, delay or stoppage due to 
strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, acts of God, acts of war, terrorist acts, inability to obtain services, 
labor, or materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, governmental actions, governmental laws, 
regulations or restrictions, civil commotions, casualty, actual or threatened public health emergency 
(including, without limitation, epidemic, pandemic, famine, disease, plague, quarantine, and other 
significant public health risk), governmental edicts, actions, declarations or quarantines by a 
governmental entity or health organization, breaches in cybersecurity, and other causes beyond the 
reasonable control of the Party obligated to perform, regardless of whether such other causes are (i) 
foreseeable or unforeseeable or (ii) related to the specifically enumerated events in this paragraph 
(collectively, a "Force Majeure"), shall excuse the performance of such Party for a period equal to any 
such prevention, delay or stoppage. To the extent this Agreement specifies a time period for 
performance of an obligation of either Party, that time period shall be extended by the period of any 
delay in such Party's performance caused by a Force Majeure. Provided however, that the current 
COVID-19 pandemic shall not be considered a Force Majeure unless constraints on a Party’s 
performance that result from the pandemic become substantially more onerous after the effective 
date of this Agreement.  
 
 

Page 8 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

16. Assignment and Subcontract.

The Consultant shall not assign or subcontract any portion of the services contemplated by this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the City. Any assignment made without the prior 
approval of the City is void. 

17. Conflict of Interest.

The Consultant represents to the City that it has no conflict of interest in performing any of the services 
set forth in Exhibit “A.”  In the event that the Consultant is asked to perform services for a project with 
which it may have a conflict, Consultant will immediately disclose such conflict to the City. 

18. Confidentiality.

All information regarding the City obtained by the Consultant in performance of this Agreement shall 
be considered confidential. Breach of confidentiality by the Consultant shall be grounds for immediate 
termination.  

19. Non-Appropriation of Funds.

If sufficient funds are not appropriated or allocated for payment under this Agreement for any future 
fiscal period, the City will so notify the Consultant and shall not be obligated to make payments for 
services or amounts incurred after the end of the current fiscal period.  This Agreement will terminate 
upon the completion of all remaining services for which funds are allocated.  No penalty or expense 
shall accrue to the City in the event that the terms of the provision are effectuated. 

20. Employment of State Retirees.

The City is a “DRS-covered employer” which is an organization that employs one or more members of 
any retirement system administered by the Washington State Department of Retirement Systems 
(DRS). Pursuant to RCW 41.50.139(1) and WAC 415-02-325(1), the City is required to elicit on a written 
form if any of the Contractor’s employees providing services to the City retired using the 2008 Early 
Retirement Factors (ERFs), or if the Contractor is owned by an individual who retired using the 2008 
ERFs, and whether the nature of the service and compensation would result in a retirement benefit 
being suspended. Failure to make this determination exposes the City to significant liability for pension 
overpayments. As a result, before commencing work under this Agreement, Contractor shall determine 
whether any of its employees providing services to the City or any of the Contractor’s owners retired 
using the 2008 ERFs, and shall immediately notify the City and shall promptly complete the form 
provided by the City after this notification is made. This notification to DRS could impact the payment 
of retirement benefits to employees and owners of Contractor. Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless the City from any and all claims, damages, or other liability, including attorneys’ fees and 
costs, relating to a claim by DRS of a pension overpayment caused by or resulting from Contractor’s 
failure to comply with the terms of this provision. This provision shall survive termination of this 
Agreement. 

Page 9 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

21. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties, and no other agreements, oral or 
otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or bind either of 
the parties.  If there is a conflict between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the attached 
exhibits, then the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail over the exhibits.  Either party 
may request changes to the Agreement.  Changes which are mutually agreed upon shall be 
incorporated by written amendments to this Agreement.   

22. Non-waiver of Breach.

The failure of either party to insist upon strict performance of any of the covenants and agreements 
contained herein, or to exercise any option herein contained in one or more instances, shall not be 
construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of said covenants, agreements, or options, and the same 
shall be in full force and effect.   

23. Modification.

No waiver, alteration, modification of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding unless 
in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of the City and the Consultant.  

24. Notices.

All notices or other communications required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing 
and shall be (a) personally delivered, in which case the notice or communication shall be deemed given 
on the date of receipt at the office of the addressee; (b) sent by registered or certified mail, postage 
prepaid, return receipt requested, in which case the notice or communication shall be deemed given 
three (3) business days after the date of deposit in the United States mail; or (c) sent by overnight 
delivery using a nationally recognized overnight courier service, in which case the notice or 
communication shall be deemed given one business day after the date of deposit with such courier. In 
addition, all notices shall also be emailed, however, email does not substitute for an official notice. 
Notices shall be sent to the following addresses: 

Notices to the City of Port Orchard shall be sent to the following address: 

City Clerk 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, Washington 98366 
bwallace@portorchardwa.us  
Phone: 360.876.4407 Fax:  360.895.9029 

Page 10 of 31

mailto:bwallace@portorchardwa.us


City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

Notices to the Consultant shall be sent to the following address: 

Phone No.: 
Email: 

25. Resolution of Disputes; Governing Law.

A. Should any dispute, misunderstanding or conflict arise as to the terms and conditions
contained in this Agreement, the matter shall first be referred to the Mayor, who shall determine the 
term or provision’s true intent or meaning.  The Mayor shall also decide all questions which may arise 
between the parties relative to the actual services provided or to the sufficiency of the performance 
hereunder.   

B. If any dispute arises between the City and the Consultant under any of the provisions
of this Agreement which cannot be resolved by the Mayor’s determination in a reasonable time, or if 
the Consultant does not agree with the Mayor’s decision on a disputed matter, jurisdiction of any 
resulting litigation shall be filed in Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap County, Washington.   

C. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Washington.  In any suit or action instituted to enforce any right granted in this Agreement, 
the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its costs, disbursements, and reasonable 
attorneys’ fees from the other Party. 

26. Compliance with Laws.

The Consultant agrees to comply with all federal, state, and municipal laws, rules, and regulations that 
are now effective or in the future become applicable to Consultant's business, equipment, and 
personnel engaged in operations covered by this Agreement or accruing out of the performance of 
those operations. 

27. Title VI.

The City of Port Orchard, in accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 78 Stat. 252, 42 
U.S.C. 2000d to 2000d-4 and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of Transportation 
subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, nondiscrimination in federally assisted programs of the 
Department of Transportation issued pursuant to such Act, must affirmatively insure that its contracts 
comply with these regulations. 

Therefore, during the performance of this Agreement, the Consultant, for itself, its assignees, and 
successors in interest agrees as follows:  

Page 11 of 31

936 Ridgebrook Road Sparks, MD 21152
410.527.4415

Heidi.Hammel@kci.com

KCI Technologies  Attn: Heidi Hammel



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

A. Compliance with Regulations. The Consultant will comply with the Acts and the
Regulations relative to Nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), as they may be amended from time to time, 
which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement.  

B. Nondiscrimination. The Consultant, with regard to the work performed by it during this
Agreement, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, 
income-level, or LEP in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including procurements of 
materials and leases of equipment. The Consultant will not participate directly or indirectly in the 
discrimination prohibited by the Acts and the Regulations as set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference, including employment practices when this Agreement 
covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 C.F.R. part 21.  

C. Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment. In all
solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the Consultant for work to be 
performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each 
potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the Consultant of the Consultant’s obligations 
under this Agreement and the Acts and the Regulations relative to Non-discrimination on the grounds 
of race, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, income-level, or LEP.  

D. Information and Reports. The Consultant will provide all information and reports
required by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto and will permit access to 
its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by 
the City or the FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Acts, Regulations, and 
instructions. Where any information required of the Consultant is in the exclusive possession of 
another who fails or refuses to furnish the information, the Consultant will so certify to the City or the 
FHWA, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.  

E. Sanctions for Noncompliance. In the event of the Consultant’s noncompliance with the
non- discrimination provisions of this Agreement, the City will impose such contract sanctions as it or 
the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited to: 

i. withholding payments to the Consultant under the Agreement until the contractor
complies; and/or

ii. cancelling, terminating, or suspending the Agreement, in whole or in part.

F. Incorporation of Provisions. The Consultant will include the provisions of paragraphs one
through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment, unless 
exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto. The Consultant will take 
action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the City or the FHWA may direct as a means 
of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance. Provided, that if the Consultant 
becomes involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such 
direction, the Consultant may request the City to enter into any litigation to protect the interests of the 
City. In addition, the Consultant may request the United States to enter into the litigation to protect 

Page 12 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

the interests of the United States. 

28. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall constitute an 
original, and all of which will together constitute this one Agreement. 

29. Severability.

Any provision or part of this Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any law or regulation 
shall be deemed stricken and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon the 
City and the Consultant, who agree that the Agreement shall be reformed to replace such stricken 
provision or part with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as reasonably possible to 
expressing the intent of the stricken provision. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Consultant have executed this Agreement as of the 
dates listed below.  

CONSULTANT  CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

By: ______________________________ By: ______________________________ 
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 

Title: _____________________________ 

Date: _____________________________ Date: _____________________________ 

ATTEST/AUTHENTICATE 

Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

Port Orchard City Attorney’s Office 

Page 13 of 31

Vice President

06/05/2023



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

APPENDIX A 

During the performance of this Agreement, the Consultant, for itself, its assignees, and successors in 
interest agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; including 
but not limited to:  

Pertinent Non-Discrimination Authorities: 

• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U .S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); and 49 C.F.R. Part 21.

• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, (42
U.S.C. § 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has been
acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);

• Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1973, (23 U.S.C. § 324 et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on the
basis of sex);

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended, (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 C.F.R. Part 27;

• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U .S.C. § 6101 et seq.), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of age);

• Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC§ 471, Section 4 7123), as amended,
(prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);

• The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage and
applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms
"programs or activities" to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid
recipients, sub- recipients and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally
funded or not);

• Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibit discrimination on the
basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation systems,
places of public accommodation, and certain testing entities (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131-12189) as
implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at 49 C.P.R. parts 37 and 38;

• The Federal Aviation Administration's Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. § 47123)
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex);

• Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority
Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures discrimination against minority
populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately high
and adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations;

• Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English
Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes

Page 14 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure compliance with Title VI, 
you must take reasonable steps to -ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your 
programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100);  

• Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you from
discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq).

Page 15 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

EXHIBIT A 

Scope of Services to be Provided by Consultant.  The Consultant shall furnish services including, but 
not limited to, the following outlined here. 

Page 16 of 31



Asset Management Program 
Development and On-Call AM 
Consulting Support 2023-24  
Proposed Scope of Services 
May 2023

Prepared for:  

The City of Port Orchard 

Prepared by: 

KCI Technologies Inc. 

5.9.2023 

Exhibit A-Page 1

Exhibit A

Page 17 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 2 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

TASK LIST ............................................................................................................................................... 4 

TASK 1: PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND INITIATION .................................................................... 5 

1.1: Project Initiation ............................................................................................................................ 5 

1.2: Project Coordination, Monthly Progress Reports, and Invoicing .................................................. 5 

TASK 2: CMMS RFP & ADVISORY SERVICES ................................................................................. 6 

2.1: Request for Proposal (RFP) Development Assistance ................................................................... 6 

2.2: CMMS Vendor Selection Assistance ............................................................................................. 6 

2.3: Assist the City during CMMS Software Vendor Implementation and Training Project ............... 6 

TASK 3: ASSET INVENTORY AND HIERARCHY (WASTEWATER SYSTEM) ............................ 7 

3.1: Review and Analysis of the Wastewater System GIS data schema. .............................................. 7 

3.2: Wastewater System Data Model Development and Review .......................................................... 7 

TASK 4: CMMS IMPLEMENTATION TEAM FORMATION ............................................................. 8 

4.1: Develop a Brief CMMS Implementation Team Guidance Document ........................................... 8 

TASK 5: ASSET MANAGEMENT TRAINING GOALS DOCUMENT DEVELOPMENT ................ 9 

5.1: Request of Existing Documentation and Data ............................................................................... 9 

5.2: Development of the Asset Management Training Goals Document ............................................. 9 

TASK 6: CLIENT ADVOCACY CONSULTING SERVICES (ON CALL) – AM PROGRAM 

SUPPORT, DEVELOPMENT, AND IMPROVEMENT ....................................................................... 10 

On-Call Consulting Support ................................................................................................................ 10 

SCHEDULE ............................................................................................................................................ 11 

COST ESTIMATE .................................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS BY OBJECTIVE – CITY OF PORT ORCHARD SAMP – MARCH 

2023 (REFERENCE): ............................................................................................................................. 12 

Exhibit A-Page 2Page 18 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 3 

INTRODUCTION 
The City of Port Orchard (City) collaborated with KCI Technologies to develop a Strategic Asset 

Management Plan (SAMP). KCI delivered the final document in the last week of March 2023. The City 

has asked KCI for a proposed scope of services to continue the development of the Asset Management 

Program. The timeline below references the SAMP report's five-year timeline, focusing on the immediate 

and near-term recommended actions through the fourth quarter of 2024. 

The proposed tasks provide the City support and assistance in preparation for the procurement and 

implementation of a new Computerized Maintenance Management System (CMMS) solution and 

supporting foundational data and documentation (e.g., GIS, SOPs, etc.), improving the management of its 

assets, enhancing service delivery, and optimizing the lifecycle of its assets. KCI's goal over the next 20 

months (May 2023 through December 2024) is to support the City by providing comprehensive support in 

developing, improving, and maintaining its asset management program.  

Exhibit A-Page 3Page 19 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 4 

TASK LIST 
Our scope of services is organized into the following tasks: 

• Task 1: Project Management and Initiation

• Task 2: CMMS RFP & Advisory Services

• Task 3: Asset Inventory and Hierarchy Development (Wastewater System)

• Task 4: CMMS Implementation Team Formation

• Task 5: Asset Management Training Goals Document Development

• Task 6: Client Advocacy Consulting Services (On Call) – AM Program Support, Development,

and Improvement

Exhibit A-Page 4Page 20 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 5 

TASK 1: PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND INITIATION 
1.1: Project Initiation 
This task will begin with a formal kickoff meeting with the Project Manager and key stakeholders within 

the City. The meeting agenda will include: 

• Introductions: The KCI project team and the City's attendees.

• Administrative details: Communication protocols, points of contact, invoicing, etc.

• Review project scope and schedule: Review the plan and identify key City staff to engage in a

task-specific workshop(s)/meeting(s)/interview(s).

• Present City staff with a brief overview and summary of the SAMP, objectives, actions, and the

five-year timeline.

• Data request: KCI will facilitate a discussion of the availability of existing

information/documentation that supports project task delivery.

The project initiation task provides a project overview and focuses on the March 2023 SAMP, the AM 

objectives, and associated actions providing a familiar foundation/framework to implement recommended 

actions to advance the development of the AM Program through 2024.  

1.2: Project Coordination, Monthly Progress Reports, and Invoicing 
KCI's project manager will work closely with both the City's project manager and the KCI team members 

to confirm tasks are within budgeted allocation and reflect the associated scope. The project manager is 

responsible for submitting project deliverables and will perform these key activities: 

• Prepare monthly progress reports and submit them to the City on a monthly basis. The report

documents work accomplishments, percent complete, planned activity, issues for resolution, and

the project's financial status.

• Maintain the project schedule.

o Updates may only be made after discussion with and approval from the City's project

manager.

o The updated project schedule will be submitted to the City's project manager to reflect

agreed-upon changes to benchmarks, milestones, and/or project completion dates.

• Coordinate KCI staff, email communication, various workshops, interviews, and review sessions.

Deliverables 

• Kickoff meeting and meeting minutes (MS Word)

• Invoice and Progress monthly reports (PDF)

Assumptions 

• This scope of services assumes the KCI project manager will serve as the central coordinator for

scheduling meetings, workshops, etc., and will secure adequate meeting space and resources as

needed and in coordination with the City's project manager   * Note – The estimated task hours

and deliverables are estimates, and the budget from a task may be used or allocated to other

tasks within this scope of services.

Exhibit A-Page 5Page 21 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 6 

TASK 2: CMMS RFP & ADVISORY SERVICES 
KCI's Asset Management team consists of Asset Management and GIS professionals with a depth of 

knowledge, experience, and expertise in Asset Management, GIS, and extensive experience 

implementing, configuring, and training clients on multiple CMMS and Enterprise Asset Management 

(EAM) software platforms.     

2.1: Request for Proposal (RFP) Development Assistance 
KCI will collaboratively develop a draft RFP for the City. The draft RFP will use the City's existing RFP 

Template and incorporate existing documents, including the CMMS Demo Scripts, CMMS Technical 

Requirement Examples, and Vendor Cost Worksheet, developed and delivered to the City by KCI as part 

of the Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) March 2023 - Appendices H, I, and J. 

2.2: CMMS Vendor Selection Assistance 
KCI will provide assistance and support to the City in the review of CMMS software vendor-submitted 

proposals. KCI will identify and rank the top five to six recommended CMMS software vendors, 

highlighting the pros and cons of the software. During the CMMS software vendor demonstrations, KCI 

will assess the software alignment with the City's existing systems, approach to configure the software to 

reflect the City's existing workflow processes and review the software's functionality to meet the City's 

existing goals and support future growth and development. KCI will virtually (online) attend all CMMS 

software vendor demonstrations and provide the City input, comments, and recommendations to support 

and inform the City in its decision-making process.  

2.3: Assist the City during CMMS Software Vendor Implementation and Training Project 
As requested by the City during the CMMS software implementation and training, KCI will provide up to 

64 hours of support: 

• Reviewing vendor-provided implementation and training plans

• Advising the City on its response to CMMS software vendor questions regarding CMMS

software configuration and design.

Deliverables 

• Draft RFP for the Procurement of CMMS Software, Implementation, and Training Services.

• Develop a short Memo of KCI-recommended CMMS software vendors (ranking list).

Assumptions 

• The City will provide a 'City developed RFP template' to KCI as a starting point in the

development of the City's RFP for CMMS Procurement.

SAMP Report - Recommended Action(s) 

• B1: RFP – CMMS Implementation Wastewater System and Training Services

• B2: Procure CMMS Software Implementation and Training Services – Wastewater System

Exhibit A-Page 6Page 22 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 7 

TASK 3: ASSET INVENTORY AND HIERARCHY 
(WASTEWATER SYSTEM) 
The SAMP 'Recommended Actions' identified the need for an Asset Inventory of the Wastewater System 

assets. KCI will review and analyze the database schemas for Wastewater GIS data (Vertical and Linear 

assets) and will propose a new schema to normalize and standardize the wastewater GIS data. Also 

needed is the creation of a basic data dictionary to help describe and document the attributes of the 

proposed GIS schema along with applicable domains, subtypes, and relationships to help remove 

redundancy and identify opportunities to move operational data to related tables or enterprise solutions, 

remove unused attributes, and remove unused fields. 

3.1: Review and Analysis of the Wastewater System GIS data schema. 
KCI will request existing GIS data, a cut of the existing asset registry maintained by the Finance 

Department, and any other associated wastewater system asset data and documentation.   

3.2: Wastewater System Data Model Development and Review 
KCI will develop a draft Wastewater System data model. A KCI-facilitated workshop will walk through 

the asset data. A final review meeting with the City will be held to finalize the proposed data model. The 

data model will provide the CMMS software vendor with valuable guidance and understanding of the 

Wastewater System assets.   

Meetings 

• KCI will facilitate one meeting (Virtual, 1 hr.)

• KCI will facilitate two (2) workshops - Asset Inventory Data Model Development (Virtual, Each

- 1 hr. and 30 mins.)

• KCI facilitated meeting Post Data Model Review by the City - Data Model discussion meeting.

(Virtual, 1 hr.)

Deliverables 

• Wastewater System Data Model

SAMP Report - Recommended Action(s) 

• A3: Asset Inventory and Hierarchy

Assumptions 

• The City will provide the data and documentation requested by KCI\

Exhibit A-Page 7Page 23 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 8 

TASK 4: CMMS IMPLEMENTATION TEAM FORMATION 
We recommend the formation of a CMMS Implementation Team to support the CMMS vendor before, 

during, and throughout the implementation of the CMMS software and staff training. The implementation 

team will coordinate the scheduling of Staff and identification of the required resources to shepherd the 

project from start to successful completion. KCI recommends that the implementation team include key 

staff associated with the 'System' being implemented. For example, the Wastewater System was identified 

during the previous project discussion (Asset Management Program Strategic Planning Project – August 

2022 to March 2023) as the first Asset Class to be implemented. Therefore, KCI recommends the 

following roles to allocate time and fully participate in all scheduled implementation team meetings and 

assigned duties: 

• Utility Manager

• IT Manager

• PW Operations Manager

• PW Foreman

• GIS representative

• Staff associated with the System Implementation

• Public Works Director (optional)

4.1: Develop a Brief CMMS Implementation Team Guidance Document 
KCI will develop a draft CMMS Implementation Team Guidance Document containing the team's 

purpose, goals, scope, authority, responsibilities, governance, and the method of communicating the 

implementation project's progress (approximately 4-6 pages). KCI will lead a workshop with the City 

CMMS Implementation Team Staff. The workshop will provide an overview and a facilitated discussion 

to build upon key elements required in the develop a Guidance document. 

Meetings 

• KCI facilitated workshop to provide context, ask relevant questions, and explain the benefits of

developing and maintaining a guidance document. (Virtual, 2 hrs.)

• KCI will facilitate a ‘document review’ meeting with the City. (Virtual, 1 hr.)

Deliverables 

• Draft CMMS Implementation Team Guidance Document (PDF file)

• Final CMMS Implementation Team Guidance Document (PDF file)

SAMP Report - Recommended Action(s) 

• A2: CMMS Implementation Team

Exhibit A-Page 8Page 24 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023  

 

  

 KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 9 

TASK 5: ASSET MANAGEMENT TRAINING GOALS 
DOCUMENT DEVELOPMENT 
This task is to develop an 'Asset Management Training Goals' document for the City's management and 

Staff. This document will define the primary reasons for an AM Training Goals document, clearly stated 

objectives, rationale, and identification of the intended audience. The AM Training Goals document will 

include clear training goals with a representative visual timeline.  

5.1: Request of Existing Documentation and Data 
Examples of potential documentation and or data to be requested are as follows: 

• Text from the City's employee manual referencing training, conferences, or user groups 

• Examples from other City departments regarding staff training, conference, and user group 

attendance. 

• Documentation or data relevant to staff training. 

5.2: Development of the Asset Management Training Goals Document 
KCI will create a draft document based on the identified personnel and current educational needs for the 

advancement of the Asset Management Program at the City.  

Meeting 

• KCI will facilitate a workshop and discussion of AM Training Goals document outline and 

anticipated outcome. (Virtual, 1 hr. and 30 mins.) 

• KCI will facilitate a draft document review discussion meeting. (Virtual, 1 hr.) 

Deliverables 

• Draft AM Training Goals document 

• AM Training Goals Visual Timeline  

SAMP Report - Recommended Action(s) 

• A5: Asset Management Training Goals Document 

 

 

 

Exhibit A-Page 9Page 25 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023  

 

  

 KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 10 

TASK 6: CLIENT ADVOCACY CONSULTING SERVICES 
(ON CALL) – AM PROGRAM SUPPORT, DEVELOPMENT, 
AND IMPROVEMENT 
The KCI team will be available to provide additional on-call consulting support to the City in the 

advancement of its Asset Management Program. These support functions can be utilized on an as-needed 

basis and are not planned or scheduled, and may not be listed below.  

On-Call Consulting Support 
The KCI team will be available to provide additional support to the City in its pursuit of the development 

of an Asset Management Program. Below are potential tasks to be performed by KCI on an On-Call basis: 

• CMMS Implementation Advocacy and Support 

• Public Outreach/Educational Workshops 

• Wastewater Collection CCTV Condition Inspection Advisory Services 

• Continued Asset Management Program Strategic Planning and Improvement 

• AM Program Strategic Funding Plan Development Assistance  

• Asset Inventory Improvements and Data Models for Other Systems (e.g., Water, Stormwater, 

etc.) 

• AM Related Meeting Attendance, Data/Document Review and Analysis, and Recommendations 

• Asset Management Consulting Support, Assistance, and Guidance 

• Asset Management Plan (AMP) Framework Development 

Assumptions 

• The KCI Project Manager will coordinate and collaborate with the City Project Manager to define 

the scope of the task and deliverables, if necessary, and the agreed-upon maximum number of 

hours for KCI staff to complete the task. Also, if the task requires travel, the City will authorize 

and approve the associated travel expenses.  

 

  

Exhibit A-Page 10Page 26 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023  

 

  

 KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 11 

SCHEDULE 
The KCI team estimates this project to be active through December 31, 2024, and the duration is 

dependent upon City resources’ availabilities and schedules. The graphic below provides the City with an 

idea of the intended sequencing and duration of tasks. 

 

 

  

M
A

Y

JU
N

JU
L

A
U

G

SE
P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
EC Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Task 1: Project Management and Initiation

Task 2: CMMS RFP & Advisory Services

Task 3: Asset Inventory and Hierarchy 
             (Wastewater System)

Task 4: CMMS Implementation Team Formation

Task 5: Asset Management Training Goals Document 
             Development
Task 6: Client Advocacy Consulting Services (On Call) 
             AM Program Support, Development, and 
             Improvement

Q3-2023 Q4-2023 2024

Year 2 - AM 

Program

NEAR-TERM

TIMELINE RECOMMENDED ACTION 

BY AM OBJECTIVE

IMMEDIATE 

Q2-2023

City of Port Orchard, WA
Asset Management Program 

On Call AM Consulting Services
May 2023 - December 2024

Year 1 - AM Program Development

Exhibit A-Page 11Page 27 of 31



City of Port Orchard, WA – Proposed Scope of Services – May 2023  

 

  

 KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. | 12 

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS BY OBJECTIVE – CITY OF 
PORT ORCHARD SAMP – MARCH 2023 (REFERENCE): 
Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) Report document – March of 2023 

The Recommended Actions by Asset Management Objective are: 

Objective A: Asset Management Programmatic Development 

 A1: Asset Management Team (AMT) 

 A2: CMMS Implementation Team 

 A3: Asset Inventory and Hierarchy 

 A4: Asset Management Program – Funding Strategy Plan 

 A5: Asset Management Training Goals Document 

 A6: Asset Management Plan (AMP) Development – Utility System 

 A7: Asset Management Plan (AMP) Development – Transportation System 

Objective B: CMMS Implementation & Training Services 

 B1: RFP – CMMS Implementation Wastewater System and Training Services 

 B2: Procure CMMS Software Implementation and Training Services – Wastewater System 

 B3: Contract Implementation and Training Services Utility System (Water and Stormwater) 

 B4: Contract Implementation and Training Services Transportation System  

 

Exhibit A-Page 12Page 28 of 31



City of Port Orchard and KCI Technologies, Inc 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND ON-CALL CONSULTING SUPPORT 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

EXHIBIT B 

Rates for Services to be Provided by Consultant.  The Consultant shall furnish the services in 
accordance with the rates specified below. 

Page 29 of 31



Date: May 9, 2023 

To: City of Port Orchard, WA 

From: KCI Technologies, Inc. 

Subject: Cost Estimate - Asset Management Program Development and On-Call AM Consulting Support 

2023-24 Scope of Services Proposal 

The fee for the scope of services is as follows: 

Task 1: PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND INITIATION $26,597.00 

Task 2: CMMS RFP & ADVISORY SERVICES $27,958.00 

Task 3: ASSET INVENTORY AND HIERARCHY (WASTEWATER SYS.) $25,026.00 

Task 4: CMMS IMPLEMENTATION TEAM FORMATION $8,980.00 

Task 5: ASSET MANAGEMENT TRAINING GOALS GUIDANCE DOC. $9,103.00 

Task 6: CLIENT ADVOCACY CONSULTING SERVICES (ON CALL) – 

AM PROGRAM SUPPORT, DEVELOPMENT, AND IMPROVEMENT 
$52,336.00 

Cost Estimate Total (Not to Exceed) $150,000.00 

Consultant Fee Determination Summary 

Company: KCI Technologies, Inc. 

Client: City of Port Orchard 

Project: Asset Management Program Development and On-Call AM Consulting Support & 2023-24 

Job #: Date: May 9, 2023 

File Name: Contract Type: Billing Rate Schedule 

Consultant Fee Determination 

DIRECT SALARY COST 

Classification-Job Title Hours Hourly Rate Amount 

Sr. Project Manager 438 $192 $ 84,096 

Sr. AM Advisor 42 $213 $ 8,946 

Data & Analytics Manager 82 $189 $15,498 

Data Analyst I 106 $144 $15,552 

Business Analyst 140 $102 $14,484 

Sr. Data Analyst 10 $165 $1,650 

GIS Analyst 40 $124 $5,321 

TOTAL SALARY COST         Total Salary Cost:   $ 145,547.00 

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES 

Reimbursable Expenses Amount 

Copies, Printing, etc.: $         0.00 

Mileage: $  1,204.00 

Exhibit B

Exhibit B-Page 1Page 30 of 31



Airfare: $         0.00 

Lodging: $  2,311.00 

Meals $     840.00 

Rental Car $         0.00 

    Rental Car Gas $         0.00 

Expense Subtotal: $  4,453.00 

SUBTOTAL (SALARY AND EXPENSES) $ 150,000.00 

         Total Estimated Budget:    $ 150,000.00 

Exhibit B-Page 2Page 31 of 31



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7E Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Prepared by: Tony Lang 

 Authorizing the Mayor to Sign a  Public Works Director 
 Sublease Agreement with Port of     Atty Routing No.: 366922-0009 – PW 
 Bremerton for the Marina Pump Atty Review Date: 06/07/2023 
 Station   

 
Summary: The City’s owns and operates an existing sewerage pump station located within the Port 
Orchard Harbor Area in Sinclair Inlet, subject to an Aquatics Land Lease from the Department of Natural 
Resources (DNR) (Lease No. 22-A02582).  The Port of Bremerton owns and operates the Port Orchard 
Marina adjacent to the City’s sewerage pump station, subject to both a Port Management Agreement 
and an Aquatics Land Lease both with DNR (PMA No. 22-080016 and Lease No. 22-B02235). The City 
has designed the Marina Pump Station project to replace the existing sewerage pump station (the 
“Project”), and the Project will necessitate the use of the Port’s property for construction and associated 
staging, and the construction will result in an encroachment into the Port of Bremerton’s leased area, 
which triggers a required modification to the DNR-issued Aquatics Land Lease for both the City and the 
Port. In December 2022, the City and Port executed a Memorandum of Understanding to govern the 
relationship between the two agencies during the pendency of the Project’s construction as well as 
communications/submissions to DNR for the parties’ lease agreements. The City and the Port have 
worked with DNR to prepare a sublease agreement to govern the City’s construction work and 
encroachment, consistent with the terms of the MOU. This Sublease will be replaced in 2024 when the 
parties execute lease amendments to reflect the long term encroachment, consistent with the MOU.  
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends the City Council adopt a Resolution authorizing the Mayor to 
execute a Sublease with the Port of Bremerton for the Marina Pump Station project.  
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: N/A 
 
Motion for consideration: “I move to adopt a Resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute a Sublease 
with the Port of Bremerton for the Marina Pump Station project.” 
 
Fiscal Impact: None  
 
Alternatives: Do not approve and provide alternative guidance, however this is necessary for the 
Marina Pump Station project to move forward.  
 
Attachments:   Resolution 
   Sublease with the Port of Bremerton 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING 
THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A SUBLEASE AGREEMENT WITH THE PORT OF THE 
BREMERTON DNR LEASE FOR AQUATIC LANDS NO. 22-B02235 FOR THE 
MARINA PUMP STATION 

 
WHEREAS, the Port Orchard Marina located within the Port Orchard Harbor Area in Sinclair 

Inlet is owned and operated by the Port of Bremerton, pursuant to a Port Management 
Agreement (PMA) No. 22-080016 and an Aquatic Land Lease No. 22-B02235 with the Washington 
Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”); and  

WHEREAS, the City utilizes property adjacent to the Port of Bremerton’s property for a 
parking lot, public access and a public sewage pump station, pursuant to an Aquatic Land Lease 
No. 22-A02582 with DNR; and  

WHEREAS, the City has designed the Marina Pump Station to replace the existing pump 
station to increase capacity and better serve the community, along with associated improvements 
(the “Project”), and the Project will impact the Port of Bremerton’s property and require a 
sublease and ultimately the modification of the City’s and the Port’s agreements with DNR; and  

WHEREAS, in December 2022, the City and the Port of Bremerton executed a 
Memorandum of Understanding to govern the City’s use of the Port’s property during the Project’s 
construction, as well as communications/submissions to DNR for the parties’ agreements; and 

  WHEREAS, the City and Port of Bremerton have worked with DNR to prepare a sublease 
agreement to govern the City’s construction work and encroachment, consistent with the terms of 
the MOU; and  

 WHEREAS, the City Council finds it is in the best interest of the City and its residents to 
authorize the execution of this sublease; NOW, THEREFORE, 

 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 
are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 
 
 THAT:  The Mayor is authorized to execute the Sublease Agreement for DNR Lease For 
Aquatic Lands No. 22-B02235 with the Port of Bremerton for the Marina Pump Station project.   

 
THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 

hereon. 
 



10687733.1 - 366922 - 0001 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 
by the Clerk in authentication of such passage this 13th day of June 2023. 

 
 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Brandy Wallace, City Clerk, MMC  
 
 

 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

When recorded, return to: 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 
Attn: Brandy Wallace, City Clerk/Assistant to the Mayor 
bwallace@portorchardwa.gov  
 
 
 

SUBLEASE FOR AQUATIC LANDS 
 
DNR Lease No.:   22-B02235     Region: South Puget Sound 
Sublessor:    Port of Bremerton 
Sublessee:   City of Port Orchard 
Assessor’s Tax Parcel for Upland parcel used in conjunction with this Sublease:   
    262401-1-007-2008 
Legal Description of Subleased Area: See Exhibit A 
 
City of Port Orchard  
Contract No.:   ______________ 
Date Filed:   ______________ 
 

Description of Sublease: To address a City-owned public structure that currently 
encroaches on the area leased by the Port of Bremerton from the State of Washington, Department 
of Natural Resources (DNR) pursuant to DNR Aquatic Lands Lease No. 22-B02235, located in 
the filled Sidney Harbor Area (now Port Orchard), as well as to address associated construction to 
improve and expand encroaching public structure.  Consistent with the terms of that Lease, this 
Sublease is subject to review and approval by DNR.  
 

*** 
 

THIS SUBLEASE is between the PORT OF BREMERTON, a government entity (“Port”) 
and the CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, a Washington municipal corporation (“City”), with the 
approval of the STATE OF WASHINGTON, acting through the Department of Natural Resources 
(“State”).  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
 The Port leases the aquatic lands commonly known as the west end of the Port Orchard 
waterfront, which are tidelands and a harbor area located in Kitsap County, Washington, from the 
State pursuant to DNR Aquatic Lands Lease No. 22-B02235 (“Port’s DNR Lease”). The Port 
utilizes the area covered by the Port’s DNR Lease for equipment and water dependent uses 
associated with the Port’s ownership and operation of the Port Orchard Marina subject to DNR 
Port Management Agreement (PMA) No. 22-080016.  

The City leases adjacent aquatic lands for a parking lot, public access, and a City-owned 
and operated public sewage pump station, pursuant to DNR Aquatic Lands Lease no. 22-A02582 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

(“City’s DNR Lease”). As constructed, the City’s sewage pump station impacts and encroaches 
into the Port’s DNR Lease area. The City’s project includes construction staging, construction, and 
operation/use for the following:  

 
Demolition and replacement of an existing above-grade bathroom and entrance to a below-

grade pump station with a new above-grade multi-use facility housing odor control, electrical 
equipment, a bathroom, and a diesel-engine driven emergency pump that would prevent sewer 
overflows into Puget Sound; and 

 
Replacement of existing pumps and piping in the below-grade pump station and the 

addition of larger access hatches for wet well and dry well access; and 
 
Improvements would include the excavation of 30-foot by 60-foot by 40-foot space to 

house a below-grade emergency storage structure that would be used to capture wastewater 
overflows in the event of an equipment failure; installation of a diesel-engine generator set to 
power the pump station and a second force main connection and valve vault; upsizing the diameter 
of approximately 340 linear feet of water main from six inches to eight inches; and 

 
Removal of the top portion of an existing control building to bring it down to grade for use 

as a viewing or picnic area; and converting approximately 0.11 acres of existing impervious 
parking lot to lawn and driveway. (the “Work”). The time-sensitive Work will expand the City’s 
encroachment on the Port’s DNR Lease area.  

 
This Sublease authorizes the encroachment and is subject to a future amendment to the 

Port’s DNR Lease and the City’s DNR Lease as set forth herein.  
 
Both parties to this Sublease agree that the intent is for the City to work in good faith with 

DNR to assume that portion of the Port’s DNR lease which is the subject of this Sublease as set 
forth in Exhibit B.  

 
THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:  

 

SECTION 1 – SUBLEASE AREA 

1. The City subleases from the Port, with the approval of DNR, the real property described in 
Exhibit A and depicted on Exhibit B (“Sublease Area”).  

2. The City prepared Exhibits A and B and warrant that these Exhibits are true and accurate 
descriptions of the Sublease Area, including its boundaries and improvements to be 
constructed or already existing in the Sublease Area. The City’s obligation to provide a true 
and accurate description of the Sublease Area is a material term of this Sublease.  

3. This Sublease shall be subject to all terms and conditions of the Lease. The City has 
received a copy of the Lease and acknowledges receipt of same by executing this Sublease.   

4. In the event any terms of this Sublease conflict with the terms of the Lease, the terms of 
the Lease shall control.  

SECTION 2 – PERMITTED USES 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

1. The City shall use the Sublease Area for uses that are authorized by DNR, including a 
parking lot, public use and access, and public sewage pump station, including a multi-use 
facility housing odor control, electrical equipment, a public bathroom, and a diesel-engine 
driven emergency pump (the “Permitted Use”), and for no other purpose.  

2. This Sublease shall permit construction, alteration and addition to existing improvements 
within the Sublease Area as an authorized “Permitted Use”, subject to the terms of the 
Memorandum of Understanding between the Port and Bremerton, Contract No. 133-22, a 
copy of which is attached to this Sublease as Exhibit C and incorporated herein by this 
reference, provided all construction, alteration and addition(s) shall be authorized by DNR 
pursuant to the terms of the Lease. In addition to fixed encroachments depicted on Exhibits 
A and B, the Parties have negotiated the terms of Temporary Construction Easements for 
the purpose of construction and associated staging, which shall be temporary 
encroachments into the Port’s DNR Lease Area as depicted on Exhibit B hereto and further 
described in Exhibit C.   

SECTION 3 – TERM 

1. The term of this Sublease shall be for eighteen years, beginning on mutual execution (the 
“Commencement Date”), and ending on the thirty-first day of March 2041 (the 
“Termination Date”), unless terminated sooner under the terms of this Lease.  

2. The parties acknowledge that the MOA attached here as Exhibit C and incorporated by 
reference, indicates a much shorter term.  The parties intend to be bound by the term as set 
forth in this paragraph as to the obligations and entitlements set forth in this Sublease. 

3. There shall be no option to renew this Sublease.  
4. This Sublease shall automatically terminate if the City, Port, and DNR execute 

amendments to the City’s DNR Lease and Port’s DNR Lease that: (1) expands the City’s 
DNR Lease area to encompass the Sublease Area; and (2) reduces the Port’s DNR Lease 
area to remove the Sublease Area.  

5. This Sublease shall automatically terminate if the Lease terminates for any reason.  
6. Upon termination of the Sublease, the City shall remove all improvements and personal 

property within the Sublease Area at the City’s sole expense, unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the DNR.  

SECTION 4 – RENT 

1. The City shall provide the Port of Bremerton annual financial compensation for the 
proportion share of the annual DNR lease rate for the Port’s DNR Lease based upon square 
footage of 1,524.25 square feet, as identified on Exhibits A and B to this Sublease. For the 
duration of this Agreement, the City shall financially compensate the Port each year for the 
proportional share of the DNR annual lease rate in the proportional amount of 5.85% of 
the total amount. 

2. The City shall provide compensation and payment to the Port each year for the proportional 
share to be provided on or before December 31 of each year, with the initial annual, 
proportional sub-lease payment due to the Port by December 31, 2023. 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

3. The terms of the Memorandum of Understanding, Exhibit C hereto, at Section 7, shall 
apply to the terms of this Sublease.  

4. This Sublease prohibits the prepayment to the Port by the City of more than the annual 
rent.  

SECTION 5 – GENERAL TERMS 

1. By this Sublease the parties confirm there is no privity of contract between the City and 
the State of Washington and DNR.  

2. The City shall meet all obligations set out in the Lease, including but not limited to the 
requirements set out in Section 10, Indemnification, Financial Security, and Insurance.  

3. All referenced exhibits are incorporated into the Sublease unless expressly identified as 
unincorporated, including but not limited to the following:  

a. Exhibit A – Legal Description of Sublease Area 
b. Exhibit B – Depiction of Sublease Area 
c. Exhibit C – Memorandum of Understanding between City of Port Orchard and Port 

of Bremerton for Use of DNR Aquatics Land Area (Contract No. 133-22) 
d. Exhibit D – Port’s DNR Lease Agreement 

4. Notices and submittals required or permitted under this Sublease and the Lease shall be 
supplied to the following:  
 
State: Department of Natural Resources 
 Aquatic Resources Division, Ports Program 
 111 Washington Street SE MS 47027 
 Olympia, WA 98504-7027  
 
Port: Port of Bremerton 
 8850 SW State Highway 3 
 Port Orchard, WA 98367-7487 
 
City: City of Port Orchard 
 Mayor 
 216 Prospect Street 
 Port Orchard, WA 98366 
 

5. Authority. City and the person or persons executing this Sublease on behalf of the City 
represent that the City is qualified to do business in the State of Washington, that the City 
has full right and authority to enter into this Sublease, and that each and every person 
signing on behalf of the City is authorized to do so. Upon the Port or DNR’s request, the 
City shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Port or DNR confirming these 
representations.  

THIS AGREEMENT requires the signature of all Parties and is effective on the date of the last 
signature below.  



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

LESSOR/PORT OF BREMERTON: 
 
By:  
  
Title:  
Address: 
Phone: 
 
DATE:  
  
 
 

LESSEE/CITY OF PORT ORCHARD: 
 
By:  
  
Title:   Mayor 
Address:  216 Prospect Street 
 Port Orchard, WA 98366 
Phone: (360) 876-4407 
 
DATE:  
  
 
 

REPRESENTATIVE/LESSOR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
 ) SS 
COUNTY OF KITSAP ) 

On this ___________ day of __________________________, 2022, before me, the undersigned, 
a Notary Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally 
appeared xxxx, and who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that HE/SHE 
was authorized to execute said instrument on behalf of the Port of Bremerton for the uses and 
purposes therein mentioned. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year in this certificate above 
written. 
 

Dated: ________________________  Signature:________________________ 

_______________ (seal) 

 
 

REPRESENTATIVE/LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
 ) SS 
COUNTY OF KITSAP ) 

On this ___________ day of __________________________, 2022, before me, the undersigned, 
a Notary Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally 
appeared Robert Putaansuu, and who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me 
that he was authorized to execute said instrument on behalf of the City of Port Orchard for the uses 
and purposes therein mentioned. 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year in this certificate above 
written. 
 

Dated: ________________________  Signature:________________________ 

_______________ (seal) 

 

 

 

 



AES
CONSULTANTS, INC. PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYORS

P.O.BOX930 • 3472 N.W. LOWELL"OLD TOWNE"· SILVERDALE,WA 98383 • 360·692.6400 • FAX 360·692·8927

TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

THAT PORTION OF THE HARBOR AREA SITUATE WITHIN GOVERNMENT LOT 3,

SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1EAST, W.M., IN KITSAP COUNTY,

WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF AMENDED HARBOR LEASE

NUMBER 22-002582 TO THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD AS DEPICTED AND

DESCRIBED ON A RECORD-OF-SURVEY RECORDED IN VOLUME 74 OF SURVEYS,

PAGES 50 THROUGH 52, INCLUSIVE, UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NO. 201005260101;

THENCENORTH 84°36'30" WEST ALONG THE INNER HARBOR LINE 50.03 FEET;

THENCE LEAVING SAID INNER HARBOR LINE NORTH 8°07'19" EAST 79.20 FEET;

THENCE NORTH 65°14'13" EAST 72.67 FEET; THENCENORTH 30°02'28" WEST 53.03

FEET; THENCENORTH 12°17'17" EAST 18.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 57°16'23" EAST

20.96 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 77°42'43" EAST 18.84FEET; THENCE SOUTH 30°48'29"

EAST 63.91 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAIDAMENDED HARBOR LEASE

NUMBER 22-002583; THENCE WESTERLY, NORTHERLY, AND SOUTHERLYALONG

SAID LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

_5,lfZO?3



SUBLEASE FOR AQUATIC

LANDS - EXHIBIT B

/
TEMPORARY / :y

CONSTRUCTIONEASEMENT ~

/ ~/~
// J:,/~

.: ~'I
LONG-TERMCITYOF PORT

ORCHARDENCROACHMENT

\

,/
/

UNKNOWNPOINT
N:203342.68
E:1194662.86
Z:15.18

MAG NAIL
N:203303.21

E:1194596.24
Z:13.68

FUELTRUCK PATH POST
COMMUNITYCENTER

CONSTRUCTION
/

f)Ol'7,

5W CORA/lEI!
A 11Ef.t.P~/) /I /JR81)f~LC4;-£
~, 22 • t)t>25&J. 7'o r.)j£
C~1f C);::- PtJR, (JI?C#/lRo
!

\
\

Max Freimund
Polygon



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Memorandum of Understanding 
 

for 
 

Use of Department of Natural Resources (DNR) 

Aquatics Land Area in Port of Bremerton 

Port Management Agreement (PMA) 22-080016 
 

Between 
 

City of Port Orchard 
 

and 
 

Port of Bremerton 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2022 



 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
1. RECITALS ............................................................................................................................................... 1 
2. PURPOSE ............................................................................................................................................... 2 

3. PREMISES .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

4. EFFECTIVE DATE .................................................................................................................................... 3 

5. TERM ..................................................................................................................................................... 3 

6. PERMITTED USE .................................................................................................................................... 4 

7. COMPENSATION ................................................................................................................................... 4 

8. RESTRICTIONS ON USE; COMPLIANCE WITH LAW ................................................................................ 5 

9. INSURANCE ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

10. RECIPROCAL INDEMNIFICATION ........................................................................................................... 7 

11. PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ................................................................................................ 8 

12. DEFAULT BY CITY OF PORT ORCHARD ................................................................................................... 8 

13. NOTICE .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT ............................................................................................................................. 9 
 



Page | 1  
 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (“MOU”) is dated on the day of the last signature on this 
MOU,  by and between the Port of Bremerton (“Port”), a public port district, and the City of Port 
Orchard (“City”), a Washington State municipal corporation. 

 
RECITALS 

 

A. The Port Orchard Marina is owned and operated by the Port of Bremerton, which has a Port 
Management Agreement (PMA) no. 22-080016 with Department of Natural Resources 
(“DNR”) for use of State-owned aquatics lands for port purposes. It is located within the 
Port Orchard Harbor Area in Sinclair Inlet, in Kitsap County, Washington. 

B. The Port of Bremerton has a lease no. 22-B02235 with DNR for use of State-owned aquatic 
lands commonly known as the Port of Bremerton Port Orchard Waterfront, for the Port use 
with the Port Orchard equipment and water dependent uses serving the Port Orchard 
Marina. The present termination date for lease no. 22-B02235   is August 31, 2041. 
Throughout this Agreement, this lease is referred to as the “Port’s DNR Lease”.   

C. The City of Port Orchard has a lease no. 22-A02582 with DNR for use of State-owned 
aquatics lands for parking lot, public access, and City public sewage pump station. The lease 
area is located within the Port Orchard harbor area of Sinclair Inlet, in the City of Port 
Orchard, Kitsap County, Washington. The present termination date for lease no. 22-0A2582 
is June 3, 2024. Throughout this Agreement, this lease is referred to as the “City’s DNR 
Lease”.   

D. The State-owned aquatics lands under the Port’s DNR lease and the City’s DNR Lease for 
the City Pump Station are adjacent parcels. 

E. The City of Port Orchard existing City sewage pump station impacts and encroaches into the 
Port of Bremerton lease area within the Port’s DNR Lease, and the City proposes to 
demolish the existing station and to construct a new sewage pump station, holding tanks, 
conveyance pipes, and power generation improvements with an increased impact and 
encroachment into the Port of Bremerton lease area subject to the Port’s DNR Lease. An 
Exhibit of those proposed, expanded encroachments are depicted in Exhibit A. 

F. The Port is willing to allow City use of the portion of upland state-owned lands area that 
overlaps the Port’s DNR Lease of the Port’s PMA no. 22-0800016 shown in Exhibit A. 

G. The Port is willing to allow the City temporary use of the upland state-owned lands for 
temporary project construction access and staging and that overlaps the Port’s DNR 
lease shown in Exhibit B. 



Page | 2  
 

H. The City commits that the Port shall have use and public access to Port Marina Buildings, 
Marina Access Gates, and to the Port facilities for uninterrupted operations throughout the 
construction period for the City Marina Sewage Pump Construction project. 

I. The City commits that the Port shall have use and access for semi fuel truck delivery to the 
Port Orchard Marina fuel tanks for uninterrupted fuel dock operations throughout the 
construction period and after completion of the proposed Sewage Pump Station, 
subsequent Port Orchard Community Center, and proposed Bay Street Elevation 
improvement projects.  The Port commits to provide the City with 72-hour advanced notice 
of deliveries, consistent with the terms of this agreement. 

J. The City agrees to coordinate with the Port for any modifications and/or updates to the 
aforementioned existing DNR leases, as may be required by DNR. The Port authorizes the 
City to communicate with DNR regarding these specific lease modifications, provided the 
Port is included on these communications. The City commits that it will provide all needed 
language and exhibits for lease modifications (if any) for the City encroachments. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

AGREEMENT 

1. RECITALS 

The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

2. PURPOSE 

2.1 The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding is to set forth the terms and 
conditions by which the Port will sublet to the City that portion of property described below 
as the “Premises” for a time certain, conditioned upon and pending DNR approval, as well as 
the terms and conditions of seeking and obtaining necessary modifications to the City lease 
referenced above and the Port lease referenced above, conditioned upon DNR approval, 
which will remove the area described as the “Premises” from the Port lease and add it to the 
City lease. The parties acknowledge this process may be lengthy, and provide for the time 
frame below. 

2.2 The purpose of this MOU is to also replace and rescind the existing 1987 MOU 
between the City of Port Orchard and the Port of Bremerton regarding the existing 
wastewater pump station. 

3. PREMISES 

The "Premises" consists approximately of 1,524.25 square feet of DNR aquatic lease area 
shown in Exhibit A, attached hereto, and as depicted and legally described in Exhibit A. By 
this Agreement and subject to DNR approval, the parties intend for the Premises to be 
removed from the Port’s DNR Lease and added to the City’s DNR Lease. 



Page | 3  
 

The City of Port Orchard acknowledges and agrees that it is familiar with the Premises, 
accepts the Premises in its "as is" condition, without any improvements or alterations by 
Port, without representation or warranty of any kind, and subject to all applicable laws 
governing its use, occupancy, and possession. City acknowledges and agrees that it has 
investigated and inspected the condition of the Premises and the suitability of the Premises 
for City’s intended use. City acknowledges and agrees that Port has not made, and Port 
hereby disclaims, any representations or warranties, express or implied, concerning the 
rentable area of the Premises, the physical or environmental condition of the Premises, the 
present or future suitability of the Premises for City’s intended use, accessibility of the 
Premises or any other matter whatsoever relating to the Premises, including, without 
limitation, any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. 

4. EFFECTIVE DATE 

The "Effective Date" of this MOU shall be the date this MOU has been fully executed. 

5. TERM 

5.1 The "Term" of this MOU shall begin on the Effective Date and continue for a period 
of 24 months, unless earlier terminated as provided herein; provided, the City may exercise 
one (1) two- year extension without further action by the Port if DNR has not completed the 
transfer of the Premises from the Port’s DNR Lease to the City’s DNR Lease. It is the intention 
of the parties to continue this agreement until the lease “transfer” is completed, provided if 
the MOU terminate prior to that occurring, the parties will negotiate the terms of a MOU to 
govern the conditions that exist at that time. 

5.2 The City may exercise their option to extend by written notice at least 30 days prior 
to the expiration of this MOU. 

5.3 In the event a modification to the City’s DNR Lease to encompass Premises within 
the City lease is completed, defined as executed by DNR and by the City, prior to the 
expiration of this MOU, the parties agree this MOU would terminate automatically upon 
such completion. 

5.4 Either the City or the Port shall have the right to terminate this MOU with respect to 
the Premises by delivering 90 days of written notice to the other party. 

6. PERMITTED USE 

6.1 The City shall have the right to use the Premises for the provision of public access to 
City public facilities, for City pump station facilities, public parks, and similar allowed uses, 
and for incidental directly related uses identified within Port’s DNR Lease and for no other 
purpose for the duration of this Agreement (collectively, the “Permitted Use”). 



Page | 4  
 

6.2 Use of the Premises by City will allow for continued public use of the Port Orchard 
public plaza, park and its benefits and amenities at no cost to Port. Given the existing City 
DNR Lease, all uses proposed for the parcel shall be compliant with DNR use requirements. 

6.3 Written notification shall be provided by the City to the Port within 90 days prior to 
any proposed use of the premises for a non-water-dependent use, commercial use, or 
similar use that results in a higher calculation rate for the Port’s DNR lease, annual lease 
amount for either the Premises or the whole of the Port’s DNR lease. 

6.4 The City shall ensure that the Port and public shall have use and access to Port 
Marina Buildings, Marina Access Gates, and to the fuel dock (see below) for uninterrupted 
operations throughout the construction period for the City Marina Sewage Pump 
Construction project, subject to any closures that are unavoidable due to conditions outside 
of the City’s control. 

6.5 The City shall ensure that the Port shall have use and access for semi fuel truck 
delivery to the Port Orchard Marina fuel tanks for uninterrupted fuel dock operations 
throughout the construction period and after completion of the proposed Sewage Pump 
Station, subsequent Port Orchard Community Center, and proposed Bay Street Elevation 
improvement projects. 

7. COMPENSATION 

7.1 The City shall provide the Port of Bremerton annual financial compensation for the 
proportion share of the annual DNR lease rate for the Port’s DNR Lease based upon square 
footage of 1,524.25 square feet, as identified within Exhibit A . The Port’s Lease has a total 
square footage of 26,051.6 square feet, as identified in Exhibit B. For the duration of this 
Agreement, the City shall financially compensate the Port each year for the proportional 
share of the DNR annual lease rate in the proportional amount of 5.85% of the total 
amount. 

7.2 The Port shall provide notification to the City of the annual DNR lease rate amount 
for the Port’s DNR Lease upon payment and acceptance by DNR for each year’s payment. 
Notification and an invoice of the annual DNR proportional share amount shall be provided 
to the City within 90 days after the annual payment and acceptance to DNR. 

7.3 The City shall provide compensation and payment to the Port each year for 
the proportional share to be provided on or before December 31 of each year, with 
the initial annual, proportional sub-lease payment due to the Port by December 31, 
2023. 

7.4 In the event that any City activity, projects, use, or installation results in a non-water- 
dependent use or commercial use that results in a higher calculation rate for the Port’s DNR 
Lease annual lease amount for either the portion or the whole of the Port’s DNR Lease, then 



Page | 5  
 

the City shall compensate the Port for the differential lease costs for that City directed non-
water dependent or commercial use calculation. 

7.5 The City shall compensate the Port for the actual cost of any surveys, legal 
descriptions, or required reports borne by the Port in furtherance of the purposes of this 
MOU. The City further agrees to compensate the Port for the actual legal costs incurred by 
the Port in preparing this MOU, not to exceed $5,000. Reimbursement shall be due 30 days 
after presentation of billing to City. 

7.6 In the event that any City activity, projects, construction or use shall disrupt the Port 
Orchard Marina fuel dock operations or disrupt access for semi fuel truck delivery to the 
Port Orchard Marina fuel tanks for uninterrupted fuel dock operations throughout the 
construction period and after completion of the proposed Sewage Pump Station, 
subsequent Port Orchard Community Center, and proposed Bay Street Elevation 
improvement projects, then the City will be liable for $ 1,350.00 per day as liquidated 
damages, payable to the Port for each day of operations disruption, beginning the 3rd day of 
disruption until the resumption of fuel dock operations and/or access. Payments to the Port 
shall be made monthly to the Port each month after a disruption occurs. 

8. RESTRICTIONS ON USE; COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 

8.1 City shall not use or permit the Premises, or any part thereof, to be used for any 
purposes other than the purposes set forth in Paragraph 6 of this MOU. City agrees not to 
make any material improvements or significant alterations to the Premises or the Overlap 
Area without the prior written consent of Port as well as obtaining any necessary regulatory 
permits. 

8.2 City shall not perform any act which will cause a cancellation of any insurance policy 
covering the Premises. City, at City's expense, shall comply with all laws, regulations and 
requirements of any federal, state, and local government authority (including Port and City), 
now in force or which may hereafter be in force, which shall impose any duty upon Port or 
City necessitated solely by use, occupation or alteration of the Premises under this MOU, 
except for any such laws that impose a duty upon Port arising from the condition of the 
Premises prior to City's use of the Premises. City shall comply, and cause approved agents to 
comply, with all laws, regulations and requirements of any federal, state, and local 
government authority (including Port and City), now in force or which may hereafter be in 
force, in using the Overlap Area for access purposes. 

8.3 City shall not sublet described property without written authorization from the 
Port of Bremerton. 

8.4 City shall be responsible for all maintenance, landscape, repairs, janitorial duties, 
and operations of facilities or improvements located within the area identified within 
Exhibit A, and areas within the City’s DNR Lease. 



Page | 6  
 

8.5 City shall comply with all provisions identified and required by the Washington 
State Department of Natural Requirements indicated and identified within the Port’s DNR 
Lease  

9. INSURANCE 

9.1 The City shall procure and maintain the following insurance policies to apply to the 
Premises for the duration of the MOU: 

The City will maintain the following levels of insurance while this agreement is in effect 

 
 
Additionally, the City will require its Contractor for the Marina Lift Station project to provide the 
following coverages: 

a. Primary and Excess Commercial Marine General Liability. Primary and Excess 
Commercial General Liability insurance with limits no less than ten million dollars ($10,000,000) 
combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. 
General liability coverage must be broad enough to include work on or around sewage pump 
station and electrical equipment, construction activities, generators, commercial activity, or 
parks, public event issues arising on the upland portion of the Premises. Coverage shall also 
include impacts due to flooding, sewage, effluent, or similar spills or public health issues, or 
impacts from a public sewer pump station activity. 

b. Primary and Excess Protection and Indemnity. Subject to a minimum coverage of not 
less than ten million dollars ($10,000,000) combined single limit per accident for Crew, 
including Jones Act liability, and passenger’s bodily injury and property damage. 

c. Primary and Excess Pollution Legal Liability Insurance. Coverage for sudden and 
accident damages for facilities, buildings, and infrastructure with limits no less than ten million 
dollars ($10,000,000). 

e. All Risk Property. “all risk” property insurance coverage written on a replacement cost 
basis for the fuel tanks, utilities, and all infrastructure serving the marina buildings, piers, 
ramps, gangways, and floats. City shall be named a sole Loss Payee. 

9.1.1 Additional Insured Status. The foregoing insurance policies (except for the Hull 
& Machinery) shall name the Port of Bremerton and DNR as additional insureds as to 
occurrences arising from the activities of City and its employees. City shall provide 
certificates of insurance and, if requested, copies of any policy to the Port of 
Bremerton. 



Page | 7  
 

9.1.2 Other Policy Provisions. Furthermore, the policies of insurance required herein 
shall: (i) be written as a primary policy; (ii) written on an occurrence basis, (iii) expressly 
provide that such insurance may not be materially changed, amended, or canceled 
except upon thirty (30) days prior written notice; and (iv) shall be written by an insurance 
company licensed to do business in the State of Washington. 

9.1.3 DNR Requested Construction Bond. Pursuant to the direction of DNR, the City 
will procure a construction bond equal to 125% of the Project cost of construction (as 
per Section 7 of the City’s DNR Lease), or will require its contractor to maintain a 
construction bond in the same amount.   

10. RECIPROCAL INDEMNIFICATION 

To the maximum extent permitted by law, each Party shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the other Party and all of its officials, Board Members, employees, principals, and 
agents from all claims, demands, suits, actions, and liability of any kind, including injuries to 
persons or damages to property (“Claims”), which arise out of, are connected with, or are due 
to the negligent acts or omissions of the indemnifying Party, its contractors, and/or employees, 
agents and representatives in performing its obligations under this Agreement, provided each 
Party’s obligation under this section applies only to the extent of the negligence of that Party 
or its contractors, employees, agents, or representatives. 

Each of the Parties agrees that its obligations under this section extend to any claim, demand, 
cause of action and judgment brought by, or on behalf of, any of its employees or agents. For 
this purpose, both Parties, by mutual negotiation, hereby waive, regarding the other Party only, 
any immunity that would otherwise be available against such claims under the industrial 
insurance provisions of Title 51 RCW. 

11. PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

11.1 Washington State law requires landlords to disclose to tenants the presence or 
potential presence of certain Hazardous Materials. Accordingly, the City of Port Orchard is 
hereby advised that Hazardous Materials (as herein defined) may be present on or near the 
Premises and the Access Area, including, but not limited to vessel fluids and janitorial 
products. By execution of this MOU, City of Port Orchard acknowledges that the NOA Laws 
require that the City of Port Orchard must disclose the information contained in this Section 
11 to any subtenant, licensee, transferee, or assignee of City of Port Orchard's interest in this 
MOU. City of Port Orchard also acknowledges its own obligations pursuant to Washington 
State Code as well as the penalties that apply for failure to meet such obligations. 

11.2 City of Port Orchard shall notify the Port of Bremerton of any Hazardous Materials 

12. DEFAULT BY CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a default by City of 
Port Orchard: Failure to perform any provision of this MOU if the failure to perform is not 
cured within ninety (90) days after Port has given written notice to City of Port Orchard, 



Page | 8  
 

provided any prevention, delay or stoppage due to strikes. lockouts, labor disputes, acts of 
God, inability to obtain labor or materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, governmental 
restrictions, regulations or controls, enemy or hostile governmental action, riot, civil 
commotion, fire or other casualty, and other causes beyond the reasonable control of the 
party obligated to perform, shall excuse the performance. If the default cannot reasonably be 
cured within 90 days, City of Port Orchard shall not be in default of this MOU if City of Port 
Orchard commences to cure the default within such ninety (90) day period and diligently and 
in good faith continues to cure the default. 

13. NOTICE 

Any notice given under this MOU shall be effective only if in writing and given by delivering 
the notice in person or by sending it first-class mail or certified mail with a return receipt 
requested or by overnight courier return receipt requested, with postage prepaid, at the 
following addresses, or at such other addresses as either the Port or City of Port Orchard 
may designate by notice as its new address: 

Address for Port of Bremerton: Chief Executive Officer 
Port of Bremerton 
8850 SW State 
Hwy 3 
Bremerton, WA 98312 

Telephone No: (360) 674-2381 
Fax No: (360) 674-2807 
Email: jimr@portofbremerton.org 

 
Address for City of Port Orchard: Mayor 

City of Port 
Orchard 216 
Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 

Telephone No: (360) 876-4407 
Fax No: (360) 895-9029 
Email: rputaansuu@portorchardwa.gov 

 

Any notice hereunder shall be deemed to have been given two (2) days after the date when 
it is mailed if sent by first-class or certified mail, one day after the date it is mailed, if sent by 
overnight courier, or upon the date personal delivery is made. For convenience of the 
parties, copies of notices may also be given by email, facsimile or telephone to the address 
or numbers set forth above or such other address or number as may be provided from time 
to time; however, neither the Port nor City of Port Orchard may give official or binding notice 
by email, telephone or facsimile. 

mailto:jimr@portofbremerton.org
mailto:rputaansuu@portorchardwa.gov


Page | 9  
 

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This MOU (including attached exhibits, if any) contains the entire understanding between 
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK] 

  



124-22



FREDERICK AVE

ORCHARD  AVE

SI
N

C
LA

IR
 IN

LE
T

AB
AD

AN
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
LL

C
46

50
-0

13
-0

01
-0

00
7

BL
O

CK
 1

3
PL

AT
 O

F 
SI

D
N

EY
 T

ID
EL

AN
D

S

KI
TS

AP
 B

AN
K

 4
65

0-
01

2-
00

1-
00

09
BL

O
CK

 1
2

PL
AT

 O
F 

SI
D

N
EY

 T
ID

EL
AN

D
S

KI
TS

AP
 B

AN
K

 4
65

0-
01

1-
00

1-
00

01
BL

O
CK

 1
1

PL
AT

 O
F 

SI
D

N
EY

 T
ID

EL
AN

D
S

BA
Y 

ST

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

M
U

LT
I-

U
S

E

F
A

C
IL

IT
Y

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 P
O

IN
T

 T
A

B
LE

P
O

IN
T

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

N
O

R
T

H
IN

G

20
32

01
.2

2

20
32

88
.8

6

20
32

02
.7

6

20
32

81
.1

7

20
33

11
.6

1

20
33

57
.5

2

20
33

75
.9

3

20
33

87
.2

6

20
33

83
.2

5

20
33

28
.3

6

E
A

S
T

IN
G

11
94

53
7.

76

11
94

57
3.

92

11
94

52
1.

43

11
94

53
2.

62

11
94

59
8.

61

11
94

57
2.

06

11
94

57
6.

07

11
94

59
3.

70

11
94

61
2.

11

11
94

64
4.

84

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

 M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

 M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

SU
RV

EY
 E

XH
IB

IT

LO
N

G
-T

E
R

M
 C

IT
Y

 O
F

 P
O

R
T

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 E

N
C

R
O

A
C

H
M

E
N

T

F
U

E
L 

T
R

U
C

K
 P

A
T

H
 P

O
S

T

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
E

N
T

E
R

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

P
R
E
L
IM
IN
A
R
Y

EXHIBIT A



When recorded,returnto:

Portof Bremerton

8850 SW StateHighway 3

Port Orchard, WA 98367-7487

PORT OF BREMERTON 201109290042
LeaseRecFee:$ 94.00
09/29/201110:00AM Page:1 of 33WalterWashington,KitsapCo Auditor

IlillllllIlllIllillll|||lill||1|1111||Ililllll||lllllllll|lll1||IlillIlllIllillllllill

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF

Natural Resources

PeterGoldmark-CommissionerofPublicLands

AQUATIC LANDS LEASE

Lease No. 22-802235

Grantor: Washington StateDepartment of Natural Resources

Grantee(s): Port of Bremerton

L alDesc tion:Tract 1:That ortionof theharbor area1 landward of theMean Hi

Water line,frontingBlocks 11 and Orchard Streetin SM Stevens Town Platof Sidney,

filedinVolume 1,page 1 of Platsrecordsof Kitsap County, Washington and Block 11

and Orchard Streetlyingwithinthe Shore and Tidelands of Sidney as shown on that

certainmap dated May 30, 1892, being a portionof Government Lot 3,Section26,

Township 24 North, Range 1 East,W.M., more particularlydescribedinExhibitA; and

Tract2:That ortionof theharbor area1 'ng landward of theMean High Water line,

frontingBlocks 12 and 13,Sidney Streetand a portionof Orchard Street,FredrickStreet

and portionof Sidney StreetinSM Stevens Town Platof Sidney,filedinVolume 1,page

1 of Plats,recordsof Kitsap County, Washington, Block 13 and portionof Sidney Street

inFirstAddition to Sidney Kitsap County, Washington, recorded inVolume 1,page 10

of Plats,recordsof Kitsap County, Washington and Block 12 and 13 ,Sidney Street,

FredrickStreetand a portionof Orchard Street,lyingwithintheShore and Tidelands of

Sidney as shown on thatcertainmap dated May 30, 1892, being a portionof Government

Lots 3 and 4, Section26, Township 24 North, Range 1 East W.M., and more particularly

describedinExhibitA.

The complete legaldescriptionison Sheet 1 of 12 of ExhibitA, Current Survey recorded

with Kitsap County, Auditor'sFileNo. 201103010135, datedMarch 01,2011.

Assessor'sPropertyTax Parcelor Account Number: Not Applicable

Assessor'sPropertyTax ParcelforUpland parcelused in conjunctionwith thisLease:

262401-1-007-2008

PortofBremerton Page1of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard

EXHIBIT B



c , 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 2 of 33

THIS LEASE isbetween the STATE OF WASHINGTON, actingthrough theDepartment of

NaturalResources ("State"),and PORT OF BREMERTON, a government entity("Port").

BACKGROUND

Port desiresto leasethe aquaticlandscommonly known as thewest end of the Port Orchard

waterfront,which aretidelandsand a harbor arealocatedinKitsap County, Washington, from

State,and Statedesiresto leasethepropertytoPortpursuanttothe terms and conditionsof this

Lease. Statehas authorityto enterLease under Chapter 43.12,Chapter 43.30 and Title79 of the

Revised Code of Washington (RCW).

In 1984, the Aquatics Land Act (RCW 79.105.420 revised)authorizeda portdistrictto manage

State-owned aquaticlandsabuttingor used inconjunctionwith and contiguousto uplands

owned, leased,or otherwisemanaged by a portdistrict,forportpurposes. Implementing rules

(WAC 332-30-114) furtherdefined eligibilityformanagement under a PortManagement

Agreement requiringa portcontrolboth thedry uplands and any interveningtidelands.The

State,as a matterof practice,includedfilledtidelandswith upland characteristicsas uplands

controlledby a port.

Along both theBremerton waterfront(a.k.a.SinciairLanding) and along portionsofthe Port

Orchard waterfront,extensivehistoricfillingresultedinthe firstareaswith upland characteristics

being State-owned. In recognitionof the intentof theAquatics Lands Act, the Stateleasedto the

Port of Bremerton areasused forupland uses and accessto Port-owned facilitiesallowing the

abuttingStateHarbor Areas to be eligibleforinclusioninthePort Management Agreement No.

22-080016, as amended (PMA).

This Lease isone of threeareasleasedtothePortby the StatespecificallyforPMA eligibility.

The areaconsistsof two subparcels.ItabutsPMA No. 22-080016, Parcel 1 inPort Orchard.

The historicLease areaconsistedof parking,landscaping,utilities,and publicaccessassociated

with thePort-owned marina structures.This Lease amends thehistoricLease areatoincludethe

stripof filledtidelandsand the bulkhead toMean High Water. This stripwas formerlymanaged

under Aquatic Lands Lease 22-002582 between the City of Port Orchard and the State.That

Lease has been amended to exclude theareanow being added to thisLease,Aquatic Lands

Lease 22-802235.

THEREFORE, thePartiesagree as follows:

PortofBremerton Page2 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



v < s 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 3 of 33

SECTION 1 PROPERTY

1.1 Property Defined.

(a) Stateleasesto Port and Port leasesfrom Statethe realpropertydescribedin

ExhibitA togetherwith alltherightsof State,ifany, to improvements on and

easements benefitingtheProperty,but subjectto the exceptionsand restrictions

setforthinthisLease (collectivelythe "Property").

(b) This Lease issubjectto allvalidinterestsof thirdpartiesnoted intherecordsof

Kitsap County, or on fileinthe Officeof the Commissioner of PublicLands,

Olympia, Washington; rightsof thepublicunder the PublicTrustDoctrine or

federalnavigationservitude;and treatyrightsof Indian Tribes.

(c) This Lease does not includea righttoharvest,collector damage natural

resources,includingaquaticlifeor livingplants;water rights;mineralrights;or a

rightto excavate or withdraw sand,gravel,or othervaluablematerials.

(d) Statereservesthe rightto granteasements and otherland uses on theProperty to

otherswhen the easement or otherland uses willnot interfereunreasonably with

thePermittedUse.

1.2 Survey and Property Descriptions.

(a) Portprepared Exhibit A, which describestheProperty. PortwarrantsthatExhibit

A isa trueand accuratedescriptionof the Lease boundaries and the

improvements tobe constructedor alreadyexistingin theLease area.Port's

obligationtoprovide a trueand accuratedescriptionof thePropertyboundaries is

a materialterm of thisLease.

(b) State'sacceptance of ExhibitA does not constituteagreement thatPort'sproperty

descriptionaccuratelyreflectstheactualamount of land used by Port. State

reservestherightto retroactivelyadjustrentifatany time during theterm of the

Lease Statediscoversa discrepancybetween Port'spropertydescriptionand the

areaactuallyused by Port.

1.3 Inspection. Statemakes no representationregardingthe conditionof theProperty,

improvements locatedon the Property,the suitabilityof the Property forPort'sPermittedUse,

compliance with governmental laws and regulations,availabilityof utilityrights,accesstothe

Property,or theexistenceof hazardous substanceson the Property. Port inspectedtheProperty

and acceptsit"AS IS."

SECTION 2 USE

2.1 Permitted Use. Port shalluse thePropertyfor:nonwater-dependent offices,parking,

marina supportservices,and public access(the"PermittedUse"), and forno otherpurpose.

PortofBremerton .Page3 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 4 of 33

2.2 Restrictionson Permitted Use and Operations. The followinglimitationsapply tothe

Property and adjacentState-owned aquaticland.Port'scompliance with the followingdoes not

limitPort'sliabilityunder any otherprovisionof thisLease.

(a) Port shallnot cause or permit:

(1) Damage tonaturalresources,

(2) Waste, or

(3) Deposit of material,unlessapproved by Stateinwriting,and except tothe

extentexpresslypermittedinExhibitB. This prohibitionincludesdeposit
of fill,rock,earth,ballast,wood waste,refuse,garbage,waste matter,

pollutantsof any type,or othermatter.

(4) Except as expresslypermittedinExhibitB, Fort shallnot constructnew

bulkheads or place hard bank armoring.

(5) Except as expresslypermittedinExhibitB, Port shallnot installfixed

breakwaters.

2.3 Conformance with Laws. Port shall,atalltimes,keep currentand comply with all

conditionsand terms ofpermits,licenses,certificates,regulations,ordinances,statutes,and other

government rulesand regulationsregardingPort'suse or occupancy of the Property.

2.4 Liens and Encumbrances. Unless expresslyauthorizedby Stateinwriting,Port shall

keep the Property freeand clearof liensor encumbrances arisingfrom the PermittedUse or

Port'soccupancy of the Property.

SECTION 3 TERM

3.1 Term Defined. The term of thisLease isthirty(30)years(the"Term"), beginning on the

firstday of September 2011 (the"Commencement Date"),and ending on the thirty-firstday of

August 2041 (the"Termination Date"),unlessterminatedsooner under the terms of thisLease.

3.2 Renewal of the Lease. This Lease does not provide a rightof renewal. Portmay apply
fora new lease,which Statehas discretionto grant.Portmust apply fora new leaseatleastone

(1)year priortoTermination Date. StatewillnotifyPortwithinninety(90) days of itsintentto

approve or deny a new Lease.

3.3 End of Term.

(a) Upon the expirationor terminationof thisLease,Port shallremove Improvements
in accordance with Section 7,Improvements, and surrenderthe Propertyto State

inthesame or betterconditionas on theCommencement Date, reasonablewear

and tearexcepted.

(b) DefinitionofReasonable Wear and Tear.

(1) Reasonable wear and tearisdeteriorationresultingfrom thePermittedUse

thathas occurred without neglect,negligence,carelessness,accident,or

PortofBremerton Page4 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 5 of 33

abuse of thePropertyby Portor any otherperson on thepremises with the

permission of Port.

(2) Reasonable wear and teardoes not includeunauthorizeddepositof

materialprohibitedunder Paragraph 2.2regardlessof whether the deposit
isincidentalto or thebyproduct of thePermittedUse.

(c) IfPropertyisinworse condition,exceptingforreasonablewear and tear,on the

surrenderdatethan on the Commencement Date,the followingprovisionsapply:

(1) Stateshallprovide Port a reasonabletime to takeallstepsnecessaryto

remedy theconditionof theProperty. Statemay requirePortto enterinto

a right-of-entryor otheruse authorizationpriorto thePort enteringthe

Propertyifthe Lease has terminated.

(2) IfPort failstoremedy the conditionof thePropertyina timelymanner,
Statemay take stepsreasonablynecessarytoremedy Port'sfailure.Upon
demand by State,Port shallpay allcostsof State'sremedy, includingbut

not limitedto thecostsof removing and disposingof materialdeposited

improperly on the Property,lostrevenue resultingfrom theconditionof

theProperty,and administrativecostsassociatedwith the State'sremedy.

3.4 Holdover.

(a) IfPortremains inpossessionof thePropertyaftertheTermination Date,the

occupancy willnot be an extensionor renewal of theTerm. The occupancy will

be a month-to-month tenancy,on terms identicaltotheterms of thisLease,which

eitherPartymay terminateon thirty(30)days' writtennotice.

(1) The monthly rentduring theholdover willbe the same rentthatwould be

due ifthe Lease were stillineffectand alladjustmentsinrentwere made

in accordance with itsterms.

(2) Payment of more than the monthly rentwillnot be construedtocreatea

periodictenancy longerthan month-to-month. IfPortpays more than the

monthly rentand Stateprovidesnoticeto vacatetheproperty,Stateshall

refund the amount of excesspayment remaining afterthePortceases

occupation of theProperty.

(b) IfStatenotifiesPort tovacatethe Propertyand Port failsto do so withinthetime

setforthinthenotice,Portwillbe a trespasserand shallowe the Stateallamounts

due under RCW 79.02.300 or otherapplicablelaw.

SECTION 4 RENT

4.1 Annual Rent.

(a) Untiladjustedas setforthbelow, Portshallpay to Statean annual rentof Thirteen

Thousand Three Hundred Twenty-one and 04/100 Dollars($13,321.04)relatedto

thenonwater-dependent use.

(b) The annual rent,as itcurrentlyexistsor as adjustedor modified (the"Annual

Rent"),isdue and payable infullon or beforethe Commencement Date and on or

PortofBremerton Page5 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 6 of 33

beforethe same dateof each year thereafter.Any payment not paid by State's

closeof businesson the datedue ispastdue.

4.2 Payment Place. Port shallmake payment to FinancialManagement Division,1111

Washington St SE, MS 47041, Olympia, WA 98504-7041.

4.3 Adjustment Based on Use. Annual Rent isbased on Port'sPermittedUse of the

Property,as describedin Section2 above. IfPort'sPermittedUse changes,the Annual Rent

shallbe adjustedas appropriateforthe changed use.

4.4 Rent Adjustment Procedures.

(a) Notice of Rent Adjustment. Stateshallprovide noticeof adjustmentsto the

Annual Rent allowed under Paragraph 4.5(b)toPort inwritingno laterthan

ninety(90)days aftertheanniversarydate of the Lease.

(b) Procedures on Failuretomake Timely Adjustment. Ifthe Statefailsto provide

thenoticerequiredinParagraph 4.4(a),Stateshallnot collectthe adjustment

amount fortheyear inwhich Statefailedtoprovide notice.Upon providing

noticeof adjustment,Statemay adjustand prospectivelybillAnnual Rent as if

missed or waived adjustmentshad been implemented attheproper interval.This

includesthe implementation of any inflationadjustment.

4.5 Rent Adjustments for Nonwater-Dependent Uses.

(a) InflationAdjustment. Except in thoseyearsinwhich Staterevaluestherentunder

Paragraph 4.5(b)below, Stateshalladjustnonwater-dependent rentannuallyon

the Commencement Date. Adjustment isbased on thepercentagerateof change

inthepreviouscalendaryear'sConsumer PriceIndex published by theBureau of

Labor Statisticsof theUnited StatesDepartment of Commerce, forthe Seattle-

Tacoma-Bremerton Consolidated MetropolitanStatisticalArea, All Urban

Consumers, allitems 1982-84 = 100. Ifpublicationof the Consumer PriceIndex

isdiscontinued,Stateshalluse a reliablegovernmental or othernonpartisan

publicationevaluatingthe informationused indeterminingthe Consumer Price

Index.

(b) Revaluation of Rent.

(1) At the end of the firstfour-yearperiod of the Term, and atthe end of each

subsequent four-yearperiod,Stateshallrevaluethenonwater-dependent

Annual Rent toreflectthethen-currentfairmarket rent.

(2) IfStateand Portcannot reach agreement on the fairmarket rentalvalue,

thePartiesshallsubmit the valuationto a review board of appraisers.The

board must consistof threemembers, one selectedby and atthe costof

Port;a second member selectedby and atthecostof State;and a third

member selectedby the othertwo members with the costshared equally

by Stateand Port. The decisionof themajorityof theboard binds the

Parties.UntilthePartiesagree to,or thereview board establishes,thenew

rent,Port shallpay rentinthe same amount establishedforthepreceding

year. Iftheboard determines additionalrentisrequired,Port shallpay the

PortofBremerton Page6 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 7 of 33

additionalrentwithin ten (10)days of theboard'sdecision.Iftheboard

determines a refund isrequired,Stateshallpay therefund within ten (10)

days of theboard's decision.

SECTION 5 OTHER EXPENSES

5.1 Utilities.Port shallpay allfeescharged forutilitiesrequiredor needed by thePermitted

Use.

5.2 Taxes and Assessments. Port shallpay alltaxes(includingleaseholdexcisetaxes),

assessments,and othergovernmental charges applicableor attributabletothe Property,Port's

leaseholdinterest,the improvements, or Port'suse and enjoyment of theProperty.

5.3 Right to Contest. Ifingood faith,Port may contestany tax or assessment atitssolecost

and expense. At therequestof State,Port shallfurnishreasonableprotectionin the form of a

bond or othersecurity,satisfactoryto State,againstlossor liabilityresultingfrom such contest.

5.4 Proof of Payment. Ifrequiredby State,Port shallfurnishto Statereceiptsor other

appropriateevidence establishingthepayment of amounts thisLease requiresPorttopay.

5.5 Failure to Pay. IfPort failstopay amounts due under thisLease, Statemay pay the

amount due, and recover itscostin accordance with Section6.

SECTION 6 LATE PAYMENTS AND OTHER CHARGES

6.1 Failure to Pay Rent. Failuretopay rentisa defaultby thePort.Statemay seek remedies

under Section 14 as well as latecharges and interestas provided inthisSection6.

6.2 Late Charge. IfStatedoes not receivefullrentpayment within ten(10)days of the date

due,Port shallpay to Statea latecharge equal to fourpercent(4%) of theunpaid amount or Fifty
Dollars($50),whichever isgreater,todefraythe overhead expenses of Stateincidentto the

delay.

6.3 InterestPenalty for Past Due Rent and Other Sums Owed.

(a) Port shallpay intereston thepastdue rentattherateof one percent(1%) per
month untilpaid,inadditionto paying the latecharges determined under

Paragraph 6.2. Rent not paid by the closeof businesson thedue datewillbegin

accruing interestthe day afterthe due date.

(b) IfStatepays or advances any amounts foror on behalfof Port,Port shall

reimburse Stateforthe amount paid or advanced and shallpay intereston that

amount attherateof one percent(1%) per month from thedate StatenotifiesPort

of the payment or advance. This includes,but isnot limitedto,State'spayment

PortofBremerton Page7 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 8 of 33

of taxesof any kind,assessments,insurancepremiums, costsof removal and

disposalof materialsor Improvements under any provisionof thisLease, or other

amounts not paid when due.

6.4 Referral to CollectionAgency and CollectionAgency Fees. IfStatedoes not receive

fullpayment withinthirty(30)days of the due date,Statemay refertheunpaid amount to a

collectionagency as provided by RCW 19.16.500or otherapplicablelaw.Upon referral,Port

shallpay collectionagency feesin additiontotheunpaid amount.

6.5 No Accord and Satisfaction.IfPortpays, or Stateotherwisereceives,an amount less

than the fullamount then due, Statemay apply such payment as itelects.Statemay accept

payment in any amount without prejudiceto State'srighttorecoverthebalance of therentor

pursue any otherrightor remedy. No endorsement or statementon any check, any payment, or

any letteraccompanying any check orpayment constitutesaccord and satisfaction.

6.6 No Counterclaim, Setoff,or Abatement of Rent. Except as expresslysetforth

elsewhere inthisLease, Port shallpay rentand allothersums payable by Portwithout the

requirementthatStateprovide priornoticeor demand. Port'spayment isnot subjectto

counterclaim,setoff,deduction,defenseor abatement.

SECTION 7 IMPROVEMENTS

7.1 Improvements Defined.

(a) "Improvements," consistentwith RCW 79.105 through 79.145,are additions

within,upon, or attachedto the land. This includes,but isnot limitedto,fill,

structures,bulkheads,docks,pilings,and otherfixtures.

(b) "Personal Property"means items thatcan be removed from theProperty without

(1)injurytothePropertyor Improvements or (2)diminishingthevalue or utility

of the Property or Improvements.

(c) "State-Owned Improvements" areImprovements made or owned by State.State-

Owned Improvements includesany construction,alteration,or additionto State-

Owned Improvements made by Port.

(d) "Port-Owned Improvements" areImprovements authorizedby Stateand (1)made

by Port or (2)acquiredby Port from the priortenant.

(e) "Unauthorized Improvements" areImprovements made on theProperty without

State'spriorconsent or Improvements made by Portthatdo not conform to plans

submitted to and approved by the State.

7.2 Existing Improvements. On the Commencement Date,the followingImprovements are

locatedon theProperty:Boardwalk, Bulkhead, Buildings. The Improvements arePort-Owned.

PortofBremerton Page8 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 9 of 33

7.3 Construction, Major Repair, Modification, and Demolition.

(a) This Paragraph 7.3 governs construction,alteration,replacement,major repair,

modification,demolition,and deconstructionof Improvements ("Work"). Section

11 governs routinemaintenance and minor repair.

(b) All Work must conform torequirementsunder Paragraph 7.4.Paragraph 11.3,

which appliestoroutinemaintenance and minor repair,alsoappliesto allWork

under thisParagraph 7.3.

(c) Except in an emergency, Portshallnot conduct Work, without State'sprior
writtenconsent,as follows:

(1) Statemay deny consent ifStatedetermines thatdenialisinthebest

interestsof the Stateor ifproposed Work does not comply with Paragraph

7.4 and 11.3.Statemay impose additionalconditionsreasonablyintended

toprotectand preservetheProperty.IfWork isforremoval of

Improvements atEnd of Term, Statemay waive removal of some or all

Improvements.

(2) Except in an emergency, Port shallsubmit to Stateplans and specifications

describingtheproposed Work atleastsixty(60)days before submitting

permit applicationstoregulatoryauthoritiesunlessPort and State

otherwise agree to coordinatepermit applications.At a minimum, or ifno

permits arenecessary,Port shallsubmit plans and specificationsatleast

ninety(90) days before commencement of Work.

(3) Statewaives therequirement forconsent ifStatedoes not notifyPort of its

grantor denialof consentwithin sixty(60) days of submittal.

(d) Port shallnotifyStateof emergency Work within five(5)businessdays of the

startof such Work. Upon State'srequest,Port shallprovide Statewith plans and

specificationsor as-builtsof emergency Work.

(e) Portshallnot commence or authorizeWork untilPorthas:

(1) Obtained a performance and payment bond in an amount equalto zero

percent (0.0%) of the estimatedcostof construction.Portshallmaintain

theperformance and payment bond untilPortpays infullthecostsof the

Work, includingalllaborersand materialpersons.

(2) Obtained allrequiredpermits.

(f) Before completing Work, Port shallremove alldebrisand restoretheProperty,to

an orderlyand safecondition.IfWork isintended forremoval of Improvements at

End of Term, Port shallrestoretheProperty in accordance with Paragraph 3.3,

End of Term.

(g) Upon completing work, Port shallpromptly provide Statewith as-builtplans and

specifications.

(h) Stateshallnot charge rentforauthorizedImprovements installedby Port during
thisTerm of thisLease,but Statemay charge rentforsuch Improvements when

and ifPort or successorobtainsa subsequent use authorizationfortheProperty
and Statehas waived therequirement forImprovements tobe removed as

provided inParagraph 7.5.

PortofBremerton Page9 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



s * 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 10 of 33

7.4 Standards for Work. Port shallcomply with State'sStandards forImprovements

currentatthetime Port submits plans and specificationsforState'sapprovalin

accordance with Paragraph 7.3(b).

7.5 Port-Owned Improvements at End of Lease.

(a) Disposition.

(1) Port shallremove Port-Owned Improvements in accordance with

Paragraph 7.3 upon the expiration,termination,or cancellationof the

Lease unless Statewaives therequirement forremoval.

(2) Port-Owned Improvements remaining on the Propertyon the expiration,

terminationor cancellationdateshallbecome State-Owned Improvements

without payment by State,unlessStateelectsotherwise. Statemay refuse

or waive ownership. IfRCW 79.125.300 or 79.130.040 apply atthetime

thisLease expires,Port could be entitledto payment by thenew tenantfor

Port-Owned Improvements.

(3) IfPort-Owned Improvements remain on the Propertyaftertheexpiration,

termination,or cancellationdatewithout State'sconsent,Statemay

remove allImprovements and Port shallpay State'scosts.

(b) ConditionsUnder Which StateMay Waive Removal of Port-Owned

Improvements.

(1) Statemay waive removal of some or allPort-Owned Improvements

whenever Statedeterminesthatitisinthebest interestsof the Stateand

regardlessof whether Portre-leasestheProperty.

(2) IfPortre-leasestheProperty,Statemay waive requirementtoremove

Port-Owned Improvements. Statealsomay consent toPort'scontinued

ownership of Port-Owned Improvements.

(3) IfPortdoes not re-leasetheProperty,Statemay waive requirementto

remove Port-Owned Improvements upon considerationof a timelyrequest

from Port,as follows:

(i) Port must notifyStateatleastone (1)yearbefore theTermination

Date of itsrequestto leavePort-Owned Improvements.

(ii) State,within ninety(90)days of receivingPort'snotification,will

notifyPortwhether Stateconsentsto some or allPort-Owned

Improvements remaining.Statehas no obligationto grantconsent.

(iii) State'sfailuretorespond toPort'srequestto leaveImprovements

within ninety(90)days isa denialof therequest.

(c) Port'sObligationsifStateWaives Removal.

(1) Port shallnot remove Improvements ifStatewaives therequirement for

removal of some or allPort-Owned Improvements.

(2) Port shallmaintain such Improvements in accordance with thisLease until

the expiration,termination,or cancellationdate. Port isliableto Statefor

costof repairifPort causesor allows damage to Improvements Statehas

designatedto remain.

PortofBremerton Page10of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 11 of 33

7.6 Dispositionof Unauthorized Improvements.

(a) Unauthorized Improvements belong to State,unlessStateelectsotherwise.

(b) Statemay either:

(1) Consent to Port ownership of theImprovements, or

(2) Charge rentforuse of theImprovements from thetime of installationor

constructionand

(i) Require Porttoremove the Improvements in accordance with

Paragraph 7.3,inwhich case Port shallpay rentforthe

Improvements untilremoval,

(ii) Consent to Improvements remaining and Port shallpay rentforthe

use of theImprovements, or

(iii) Remove Improvements and Port shallpay forthe costof removal

and disposal,inwhich case Port shallpay rentforuse of the

Improvements untilremoval and disposal.

7.7 Dispositionof Personal Property.

(a) Portretainsownership of PersonalPropertyunlessPort and Stateagree otherwise

inwriting.

(b) Portshallremove Personal Propertyfrom thePropertyby the Termination Date.

Portisliablefordamage to thePropertyand Improvements resultingfrom

removal of Personal Property.

(c) Statemay sellor dispose of allPersonalPropertylefton thePropertyafterthe

Termination Date.

(1) IfStateconducts a saleof PersonalProperty,Stateshallapply proceeds
firsttothe State'sadministrativecostsin conducting the sale,second to

payment of amount thatthen may be due from the Portto the State.State

shallpay the remainder,ifany,tothe Port.

(2) IfStatedisposesof PersonalProperty,Port shallpay forthe costof

removal and disposal.

SECTION 8 ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY/RISK ALLOCATION

8.1 Definitions.

(a) "Hazardous Substance" means any substancethatnow or in the futurebecomes

regulatedor definedunder any federal,state,or localstatute,ordinance,rule,

regulation,or otherlaw relatingtohuman health,environmental protection,

contamination,pollution,or cleanup.

(b) "Release or threatenedreleaseof Hazardous Substance" means a releaseor

threatenedreleaseas defined under any law describedin Paragraph 8.1(a).

(c) "Utmost care"means such a degree of careaswould be exercisedby a very

careful,prudent,and competent person under the same or similarcircumstances;
thestandardof careapplicableunder theWashington StateModel Toxics Control

Act ("MTCA"), Chapter 70.105 RCW, as amended.

PortofBremerton Page 11of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 12 of 33

(d) "Port and affiliates"when used inthisSection8 means Port or Port'ssubtenants,

contractors,agents,employees, guests,invitees,licensees,affiliates,or any person

on thePropertywith the Port'spermission.

(e) "Liabilities"as used inthisSection8 means any claims,demands, proceedings,

lawsuits,damages, costs,expenses,fees(includingattorneys'feesand

disbursements),penalties,orjudgments.

8.2 General Conditions.

(a) Port'sobligationsunder thisSection8 extend to the areain,on, under,or above

(1) The Property and

(2) Adjacent State-owned aquaticlandsifaffectedby a releaseof Hazardous

Substances thatoccurs as a resultof thePermittedUse.

(b) Standard of Care.

(1) Portshallexercisethe utmost carewith respectto Hazardous Substances.

(2) Portshallexerciseutmost careforthe foreseeableactsor omissions of

thirdpartieswith respecttoHazardous Substances,and the foreseeable

consequences of those actsor omissions,to the extentrequiredto establish

a viable,third-partydefense under the law.

8.3 Current Conditions and Duty to Investigate.

(a) Statemakes no representationabout theconditionof the Property. Hazardous

Substancesmay existin,on, under,or above theProperty.

(b) This Lease does not impose a duty on Stateto conduct investigationsor supply

informationto Port about Hazardous Substances.

(c) Portisresponsibleforconducting allappropriateinquiryand gatheringsufficient

informationabout the existence,scope,and locationof Hazardous Substances on

or near thePropertynecessary forPorttomeet Port'sobligationsunder thisLease

and utilizetheProperty forthePermittedUse.

8.4 Use of Hazardous Substances.

(a) Port and affiliatesshallnot use,store,generate,process,transport,handle,release,

or disposeof Hazardous Substances,except inaccordance with allapplicable

laws.

(b) Portshallnot undertake,or allow otherstoundertakeby Port'spermission,

acquiescence,or failureto act,activitiesthatresultin a releaseor threatened

releaseof Hazardous Substances.

(c) Ifuse of Hazardous Substances relatedtoPort'suse or occupancy of theProperty

resultsinviolationof law:

(1) Portshallsubmit to Stateany plans forremedying the violations,and

(2) Portshallimplement any remedialmeasures to restorethePropertyor

naturalresourcesthatStatemay requirein additionto remedial measures

requiredby regulatoryauthorities.

(d) Port shallcomply with the provisionsof Chapter 90.56 RCW Oil and Hazardous

Substance SpillPrevention and Response Act. Port shalldevelop,update as

necessaryand operatein accordance with a plan of operationsconsistentwith the

PortofBremerton Page 12of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 13 of 33

requirementsof Chapter 90.56 RCW. Failuretocomply with therequirementsof

Chapter 90.56 isa defaultunder Section 14.

(e) At a minimum, Port and affiliatesshallobserve the followingHazardous

Substances operationalstandards.IftheWashington Department of Ecology, U.S.

Environmental ProtectionAgency or otherregulatoryagency establishesdifferent

standardsapplicabletoPort'sactivitiesunder thePermittedUse, Port shallmeet

the standardthatprovides greaterprotectiontothe environment.

(1) Portshallnot allow work on overwater structuresor vesselswithout

protectivemeasures toprevent dischargeof toxinsto the water,including:

(i) Port shallnot cause or allow underwater hullscrapingand other

underwater removal of paints.

(ii) Port shallnot cause or allow underwater refinishingwork from

boats or temporary floatsunlesspermittedby an industrial

NationalPollutionDischarge EliminationSystem (NPDES)

permit.

(iii) Port shallnot cause or allow above thewaterlineboat repairsor

refinishingin-waterexcept iflimitedto decks and superstructures
and lessthan 25 percentof a boat isrepairedor refinishedin-water

per year.

(iv) Port shalluse and requireotherstouse tarpsand otherdust,drip
and spillcontainment measures when repairingor refinishingboats

m water.

(2) Portshallnot storeor allow othersto storefueltanks,petroleum products,

hydraulicfluid,machinery coolants,lubricantsand chemicals not inuse in

locationsabove the water surface.

(3) Port shallinspectallequipment using petroleum products,hydraulic

fluids,machinery coolants,chemicals,or othertoxicor deleterious

materialson a monthly basisand immediately make allrepairsnecessary
to stopleakage. Port shallsubmit to Statean annual reportdocumenting

inspectionsand repair.

(4) Port shallmaintain a supply of oilspillcontainment materialsadequate to

containa spillfrom the largestvesselinuse on the Property.

(5) Portshallnot use or allow use of a pressurewasher atany locationabove

thewater surfaceto clean any item thatuses petroleum products.

(6) Portshallincorporatebestmanagement practicestoprevent thereleaseof

chemical contaminants,wastewater,garbage and otherpollutants,as

specifiedinResource Manual forPollutionPreventionin Marinas

publishedby theWashington Department of Ecology, publicationnumber

98-11,availableathttp://www.ecy.wa.gov/biblio/9811.html.Ifthe

Department of Ecology or otherregulatoryagency establishesdifferent

standards,Port shallmeet themost protectivestandard.

PortofBremerton Page 13of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 14 of 33

8.5 Management of Contamination, ifany.

(a) Port and affiliatesshallnot undertake activitiesthat:

(1) Damage or interferewith theoperationof remedial or restoration

activities,ifany;

(2) Resultinhuman or environmental exposure to contaminated sediments,if

any;

(3) Resultinthemechanical or chemical disturbanceof on-sitehabitat

mitigation,ifany.

(b) Ifrequested,Port shallallow reasonableaccessto:

(1) Employees and authorizedagentsof theEnvironmental Protection

Agency, the Washington StateDepartment of Ecology, healthdepartment,

or othersimilarenvironmental agencies;and

(2) Potentiallyliableor responsiblepartieswho arethe subjectof an orderor

consentdecreethatrequiresaccessto theProperty. Port may negotiatean

accessagreement with such parties,but Portmay not unreasonably

withhold such agreement.

8.6 Notificationand Reporting.

(a) Port shallimmediately notifyStateifPortbecomes aware of any of the following:

(1) A releaseor threatenedreleaseof Hazardous Substances;

(2) Any new discoveryof or new informationabout a problem or liability

relatedto,or derived from, thepresence of Hazardous Substances;

(3) Any lienor actionarisingfrom Hazardous Substances;

(4) Any actualor allegedviolationof any federal,state,or localstatute,

ordinance,rule,regulation,or otherlaw pertainingtoHazardous

Substances;

(5) Any notificationfrom the US Environmental ProtectionAgency (EPA) or

the Washington StateDepartment of Ecology (DOE) thatremediationor

removal of Hazardous Substances isor may be requiredatthe Property.

(b) Port'sduty to reportunder Paragraph 8.6(a)extendsto landsdescribedin

Paragraph 8.2(a)and to any otherpropertyused by Port inconjunctionwith the

Property ifa releaseof Hazardous Substances on the otherproperty could affect

the Property.

(c) Port shallprovide Statewith copies of alldocuments Port submits to any federal,

stateor localauthoritiesconcerning environmental impacts or proposalsrelative

to the Property.Documents subjectto thisrequirementinclude,but arenot

limitedto,applications,reports,studies,or auditsforNational Pollution

Discharge and EliminationSystem Permits;Army Corps of Engineers permits;

StateHydraulic ProjectApprovals (HPA); StateWater Qualitycertification;

SubstantialDevelopment permit;and any reportingnecessary forthe existence,

location,and storageof Hazardous Substances on the Property.

PortofBremerton Page 14of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 15 of 33

8.7 Indemnification.

(a) To the extentallowed by law,Port shallfullyindemnify,defend,and hold State

harmless from and againstLiabilitiesthatariseout of,or relateto:

(1) The use,storage,generation,processing,transportation,handling,or

disposalof any Hazardous Substance by Port and affiliatesoccurring

whenever Portoccupies or has occupied theProperty;

(2) The releaseor threatenedreleaseof any Hazardous Substance resulting

from any actor omission of Port and affiliatesoccurringwhenever Port

occupies or has occupied theProperty.

(b) To the extentallowed by law,Port shallfullyindemnify,defend,and hold State

harmless forLiabilitiesthatariseout of or relatetoPort'sbreach of obligations

under Paragraph 8.5.

(c) . Port has no duty to indemnify Stateforactsor omissions of thirdpartiesunless

and only ifan administrativeor legalproceeding arisingfrom a releaseor

threatenedreleaseof Hazardous Substances findsor holds thatPort failedto

exercisecareas describedin Paragraph 8.2(b)(2).In such case,Port shallfully

indemnify, defend,and hold Stateharmless from and againstLiabilitiesarising

from the actsor omissions of thirdpartiesinrelationtothereleaseor threatened

releaseof Hazardous Substances. This includesLiabilitiesarisingbefore the

findingor holding intheproceeding.

8.8 Reservation of Rights.

(a) For Liabilitiesnot covered by the indemnificationprovisionsof Paragraph 8.7,the

Partiesexpresslyreserveand do not waive any rights,claims,immunities, causes

of action,or defensesrelatingto Hazardous Substances thateitherParty may have

againsttheotherunder law.

(b) The Partiesexpresslyreserveallrights,claims,immunities,and defenses either

Party may have againstthirdparties.Nothing inthisSection8 benefitsor creates

rightsforthirdparties.

(c) The allocationsof risks,Liabilities,and responsibilitiessetforthin thisSection8

do not releaseeitherParty from or affectthe liabilityof eitherParty forHazardous

Substances claims or actionsby regulatoryagencies.

8.9 Cleanup.

(a) IfPort'sact,omission,or breach of obligationunder Paragraph 8.4resultsin a

releaseof Hazardous Substances thatexceeds thethresholdlimitsof any

applicableregulatorystandard,Port shall,atPort'ssoleexpense,promptly take all

actionsnecessaryor advisableto cleanup theHazardous Substances in

accordance with applicablelaw.

(b) Port may undertake a cleanup of the Propertypursuanttothe Washington State

Department of Ecology's Voluntary Cleanup Program, provided thatPort

cooperateswith theDepartment of Natural Resources indevelopment of cleanup

plans. Port shallnot proceed with Voluntary Cleanup without the Department of

Natural Resources approval of finalplans. Nothing intheoperationof this

provisionisan agreement by theDepartment of NaturalResources thatthe

PortofBremerton Page15of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 16 of 33

Voluntary Cleanup complies with any laws or with theprovisionsof thisLease.

Port'scompletion of a Voluntary Cleanup isnot a releasefrom or waiver of any

obligationforHazardous Substances under thisLease.

8.10 Sampling by State,Reimbursement, and SplitSamples.

(a) Statemay enterthe Propertyand conduct sampling,tests,audits,surveys,or

investigations("Tests")of the Propertyatany time to determine the existence,

scope,or effectsof Hazardous Substances.

(b) Ifsuch Tests,along with any otherinformation,demonstrate a breach of Port's

obligationsregardingHazardous Substances under thisLease,Port shallpromptly

reimburse Stateforallcostsassociatedwith theTests,provided Stategave Port

thirty(30)calendardays advance noticein nonemergencies and reasonably

practicalnoticein emergencies.

(c) In nonemergencies, Port isentitledto obtainsplitsamples of Test samples,

provided Port givesStatewrittennoticerequestingsplitsamples atleastten (10)

calendardays before Stateconducts Tests. Upon demand, Port shallpromptly

reimburse Stateforadditionalcost,ifany, of splitsamples.

(d) IfeitherParty conducts Testson theProperty,theconducting Party shallprovide

the otherwith validatedfinaldataand qualityassurance/qualitycontrol/chainof

custody informationabout theTestswithin sixty(60)calendardays of a written

requestby the otherparty,unlessTestsarepartof a submittalunder Paragraph

8.6(c)inwhich case Port shallsubmit data and informationto Statewithout

writtenrequestby State.Neitherpartyisobligatedtoprovide any analytical

summaries or thework product of experts.

8.11 Closeout Assessment.

(a) Statemay requirePortto conduct a Closeout Environmental Assessment

("CloseoutAssessment") priorto Termination of the Lease.

(b) The purpose of the Closeout Assessment isto determine the existence,scope, or

effectsof Hazardous Substances on the Property and associatednaturalresources.

The Closeout Assessment may includesediment sampling.

(c) No laterthan one hundred eighty(180) calendardays priortotheTermination

Date, or withinninety(90)days of validnoticeto earlytermination,Stateshall

provide Port with writtennoticethatStaterequiresa Closeout Assessment.

(d) Within sixty(60)days of State'snoticethatCloseout Assessment isrequiredand

before commencing assessment activities,Port shallsubmit a proposed plan for

conducting the Closeout Assessment inwritingforState'sapproval.

(e) IfStatefailsto approve or disapprove of the plan inwritingwithin sixty(60) days

of itsreceipt,Statewaives requirement forapproval.

(f) Port shallbe responsibleforallcostsrequiredto complete planning,sampling,

analyzing,and reportingassociatedwith the Closeout Assessment.

(g) Ifthe initialresultsof the Closeout Assessment disclosethatHazardous

Substances may have migrated tootherproperty,Statemay requireadditional

Closeout Assessment work to determine the existence,scope,and effectof

PortofBremerton Page16of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 17 of 33

Hazardous Substances on adjacentproperty,any otherpropertysubjecttouse by

Port inconjunctionwith itsuse of theProperty,or on associatednaturalresources.

(h) Port shallsubmit Closeout Assessment to Stateupon completion.

(i) As requiredby law,Port shallreportto the appropriateregulatoryauthoritiesif

theCloseout Assessment disclosesa releaseor threatenedreleaseof Hazardous

Substances.

SECTION 9 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

9.1 State Consent Required. Port shallnot convey, transfer,or encumber any partof Port's

interestinthisLease or the Propertywithout State'spriorwrittenconsent,which Stateshallnot

unreasonably conditionor withhold.

(a) In determining whether to consent,Statemay consider,among otheritems,the

proposed transferee'sfinancialcondition,businessreputationand experience,the

natureof theproposed transferee'sbusiness,the then-currentvalue of the

Property,and such otherfactorsasmay reasonablybear upon the suitabilityof the

transfereeas a tenantof theProperty. Statemay refuseitsconsent to any

conveyance, transfer,or encumbrance ifitwillresultin a subdivisionof the

leasehold.Port shallsubmit informationregardingany proposed transfereeto

Stateatleastthirty(30)days priortothe dateof theproposed transfer.

(b) Statereservestherightto conditionitsconsent upon:

(1) Changes in theterms and conditionsof thisLease,including,but not

limitedto,theAnnual Rent; and/or

(2) The agreement of Port or transfereeto conduct Tests forHazardous

Substances on thePropertyor on otherpropertyowned or occupied by

Port or the transferee.

(c) Each permittedtransfereeshallassume allobligationsunder thisLease,including

thepayment of rent.No assignment,sublet,or transfershallrelease,discharge,or

otherwiseaffectthe liabilityof Port.

(d) State'sconsent under thisParagraph 9.1 does not constitutea waiver of any

claims againstPort fortheviolationof any term of thisLease.

9.2 Rent Payments Following Assignment. The acceptance by Stateof thepayment of rent

followingan assignment or othertransferdoes not constituteconsent to any assignment or

transfer.

9.3 Terms of Subleases.

(a) Port shallsubmit the terms of allsubleasesto Stateforapproval.

(b) Port shallincorporatethe followingrequirements in allsubleases:

(1) The subleasemust be consistentwith and subjectto alltheterms and

conditionsof thisLease;

(2) The subleasemust provide thatthisLease controlsiftheterms of the

subleaseconflictwith theterms of thisLease;

PortofBremerton Page17of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 18 of 33

(3) The term of the sublease(includingany period oftime covered by a

renewal option)must end beforethe Termination Date of theinitialTerm

or any renewal term;

(4) The subleasemust terminateifthisLease terminatesforany reason;

(5) The subtenantmust receiveand acknowledge receiptof a copy of this

Lease;

(6) The subleasemust prohibittheprepayment toPortby the subtenantof

more than the annual rent;

(7) The subleasemust identifytherentalamount subtenantistopay toPort;

(8) The subleasemust provide thatthereisno privityof contractbetween the

subtenantand State;

(9) The subleasemust requireremoval of the subtenant'sImprovements and

PersonalProperty upon terminationof the sublease;

(10) The subtenant'spermitteduse must be within the scope of thePermitted

Use; and

(11) The subleasemust requirethe subtenantto meet allobligationsof Port

under Section 10,Indemnification,FinancialSecurity,and Insurance.

9.4 Short-Term Subleases of Moorage Slips.Short-termsubleasingof moorage slipsfora

term of lessthan one (1)year does not requireState'swrittenconsent or approvalpursuantto

Paragraphs 9.1or 9.3. Portshallconform moorage subleaseagreements tothe sublease

requirements inParagraph 9.3.

SECTION 10 INDEMNITY, FINANCIAL SECURITY, INSURANCE

10.1 Indemnity. Each Party shallbe responsibleforthe actionsand inactionsof itselfand its

own officers,employees, and agentsactingwithinthe scope of theirauthority.

10.2 Insurance Terms.

(a) InsuranceRequired.

(1) At itsown expense, Portshallprocure and maintain duringtheTerm of

thisLease, the insurancecoverages and limitsdescribedinthisParagraph

10.2and in Paragraph 10.3,InsuranceTypes and Limits. Statemay
terminatethisLease ifPort failsto maintain requiredinsurance.

(2) Unless Stateagrees to an exception,Port shallprovide insuranceissuedby

an insurancecompany or companies admitted to do businessinthe State

of Washington and have a ratingof A- or betterby themost recently

published editionof Best'sReports. Portmay submit a requesttotherisk

manager forthe Department of NaturalResources to approve an exception
tothisrequirement. Ifan insurerisnot admitted,the insurancepolicies
and procedures forissuingtheinsurancepoliciesshallcomply with

Chapter 48.15 RCW and 284-15 WAC.

(3) All generalliability,excess,umbrella,property,builder'srisk,and

pollutionlegalliabilityinsurancepoliciesmust name the Stateof

PortofBremerton Page 18of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 19 of 33

Washington, theDepartment of NaturalResources, itselectedand

appointedofficials,agents,and employees as an additionalinsured.

(4) All insuranceprovided in compliance with thisLease must be primary as

to any otherinsuranceor self-insuranceprograms affordedtoor

maintained by State.

(b) Waiver.

(1) Portwaives allrightsagainstStateforrecovery of damages tothe extent

insurancemaintained pursuanttothisLease covers thesedamages.

(2) Except asprohibitedby law, Portwaives allrightsof subrogationagainst

Stateforrecovery of damages to theextentthatthey are covered by

insurancemaintained pursuant tothisLease.

(c) Proofoflnsurance.

(1) Port shallprovide Statewith a certificate(s)of insuranceexecuted by a

duly authorizedrepresentativeof each insurer,showing compliance with

insurancerequirements specifiedinthisLease and, ifrequested,copiesof

policiesto State.

(2) The certificate(s)of insurancemust referenceadditionalinsuredsand the

Lease number.

(3) Receipt of such certificatesor policiesby Statedoes not constitute

approvalby Stateof the terms of such policies.

(d) Statemust receivewrittennoticebefore cancellationor non-renewal of any
insurancerequiredby thisLease, as follows:

(1) Insurerssubjectto RCW 48.18 (admittedand regulatedby the Insurance

Commissioner): Ifcancellationisdue tonon-payment of premium,

provide Stateten(10) days' advance noticeof cancellation;otherwise,

provide Stateforty-five(45)days' advance noticeof cancellationor non-

renewal.

(2) Insurerssubjectto RCW 48.15 (surpluslines):Ifcancellationisdue to

non-payment ofpremium, provide Stateten (10)days' advance noticeof

cancellation;otherwise,provide Statethirty(30)days' advance noticeof

cancellationor non-renewal.

(e) Adjustments inInsuranceCoverage.

(1) Statemay impose changes inthe limitsof liabilityforalltypes of

insuranceas Statedeems necessary.

(2) Port shallsecurenew or modified insurancecoverage within thirty(30)

days afterStaterequireschanges inthelimitsof liability.

(f) IfPort failstoprocure and maintain theinsurancedescribedabove withinfifteen

(15)days afterPortreceivesa noticeto comply from State,Statemay either:

(1) Deem the failurean Event of Defaultunder Section 14,or

(2) Procure and maintain comparable substituteinsuranceand pay the

premiums. Upon demand, Port shallpay to Statethe fullamount paid by

State,togetherwith interestattherateprovided in Paragraph 6.2 from the

dateof State'snoticeof the expenditureuntilPort'srepayment.

PortofBremerton Page 19of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 20 of 33

(g) General Terms.

(1) Statedoes not representthatcoverage and limitsrequiredunder thisLease

areadequate toprotectPort.

(2) Coverage and limitsdo not limitPort'sliabilityforindemnificationand

reimbursements grantedto Stateunder thisLease.

(3) The Partiesshalluse any insuranceproceeds payable by reason of damage
or destructiontopropertyfirsttorestoretherealpropertycovered by this

Lease,then to pay the costof thereconstruction,then topay the Stateany
sums in arrears,and then toPort.

10.3 Insurance Types and Limits.

(a) General LiabilityInsurance.

(1) Port shallmaintain commercial generalliabilityinsurance(CGL) or

marine generalliability(MGL) covering claims forbodily injury,personal

injury,or propertydamage arisingon thePropertyand/or arisingout of

Port'suse,occupation,or controlof thePropertyand, ifnecessary,
commercial umbrella insurancewith a limitof not lessthan One Million

Dollars($1,000.000)per each occurrence. Ifsuch CGL or MGL insurance

containsaggregatelimits,the generalaggregatelimitmust be atleast

twice the "each occurrence" limit.CGL or MGL insurancemust have

products-completedoperationsaggregatelimitof atleasttwo times the

"each occurrence" limit.

(2) CGL insurancemust be writtenon InsuranceServicesOffice (ISO)
Occurrence Form CG 00 01 (ora substituteform providing equivalent

coverage). All insurancemust cover liabilityarisingout of premises,

operations,independent contractors,productscompleted operations,

personalinjuryand advertisinginjury,and liabilityassumed under an

insuredcontract(includingthe tortliabilityof anotherpartyassumed in a

businesscontract)and containseparationof insured(cross-liability)
condition.

(3) MGL insurancemust have no exclusionsfornon-owned watercraft.

(b) Workers' Compensation.

(1) Stateof Washington Workers' Compensation.

(i) Port shallcomply with allStateof Washington workers'

compensation statutesand regulations.Portshallprovide workers'

compensation coverage forallemployees of Port. Coverage must

includebodily injury(includingdeath)by accidentor disease,
which arisesout of or in connectionwith Port'suse,occupation,
and controlof the Property.

(ii) IfPort failsto comply with allStateof Washington workers'

compensation statutesand regulationsand Stateincursfinesor is

requiredby law toprovide benefitsto or obtaincoverage forsuch

employees, Port shallindemnify State.Indemnity shallincludeall

fines;payment of benefitsto Port,employees, or theirheirsor

PortofBremerton Page20 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 21 of 33

legalrepresentatives;and the costof effectingcoverage on behalf

of such employees.

(2) Longshore and Harbor Workers' and Jones Acts. Longshore and Harbor

Workers' Act (33 U.S.C. Section901 etseq.)and/ortheJones Act (46

U.S.C. Section688) may requirePorttoprovide insurancecoverage in

some circumstances. Port shallascertainifsuch insuranceisrequired

and,ifrequired,shallmaintain insuranceincompliance with law. Port is

responsibleforallciviland criminalliabilityarisingfrom failureto

maintain such coverage.

(c) Employers' LiabilityInsurance.Port shallprocure employers' liabilityinsurance,

and, ifnecessary,commercial umbrella liabilityinsurancewith limitsnot lessthan

One MillionDollars($1,000,000)each accidentforbodilyinjuryby accidentor

One Million Dollars($1,000,000)each employee forbodilyinjuryby disease.

(d) Property Insurance.

(1) Port shallbuy and maintain propertyinsurancecovering allrealproperty
and fixtures,equipment, Port Improvements and betterments(regardlessof

whether owned by Portor State).Such insurancemust be writtenon an all

risksbasisand, atminimum, cover theperilsinsuredunder ISO Special
Causes of Loss Form CP 10 30, and cover the fullreplacement cost of the

propertyinsured.Such insurancemay have commercially reasonable

deductibles.Any coinsurancerequirement inthepolicymust be waived.

The policymust includeStateas an insuredand a losspayee.

(2) In the event of any loss,damage, or casualtywhich iscovered by one or

more of thetypesof insurancedescribedabove, thePartiesto thisLease

shallproceed cooperativelyto settlethe lossand collecttheproceeds of

such insurance,which Stateshallhold intrust,includinginterestearned by
Stateon such proceeds,foruse according totheterms of thisLease. The

Partiesshalluse insuranceproceeds in accordance with

Paragraph 10.2(g)(3).

(3) When sufficientfunds areavailable,using insuranceproceeds described

above, thePartiesshallcontinuewith reasonablediligenceto prepare

plans and specificationsfor,and thereaftercarryout,allwork necessary
to:

(i) Repair and restoredamaged building(s)and/orImprovements to

theirformer condition,or

(ii) Replace and restoredamaged building(s)and/orImprovements
with a new building(s)and/or Improvements on theProperty of a

qualityand usefulnessatleastequivalentto or more suitablethan,

damaged building(s)and/or Improvements.

10.4 Financial Security.

(a) At itsown expense,Portshallprocure and maintain duringtheTerm of thisLease

a corporatesecuritybond or provide otherfinancialsecuritythatState,atits

option,may approve ("Security").Port shallprovide Securityin an amount equal
to Zero Dollars($0.00),which isconsistentwith RCW 79.105.330,and secures

PortofBremerton Page21 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 22 of 33

Port'sperformance of itsobligationsunder thisLease,with the exceptionof the

obligationsunder Section8,Environmental Liability/RiskAllocation.Port's

failuretomaintain the Securityintherequiredamount duringtheTerm

constitutesa breach of thisLease.

(b) All Securitymust be ina form acceptableto the State.

(1) Bonds must be issuedby companies admitted to do businesswithinthe

Stateof Washington and have a ratingof A-, Class VII or better,inthe

most recentlypublishededitionof Best'sReports,unlessStateapproves

an exception. Portmay submit a requesttotheriskmanager forthe

Department of NaturalResources foran exceptiontothisrequirement.

(2) Lettersof credit,ifapproved by State,must be irrevocable,allow Stateto

draw funds atwill,provide forautomatic renewal,and comply with

RCW 62A.5-101, et.seq.

(3) Savings account assignments,ifapproved by State,must allow Stateto

draw funds atwill.

(c) Adjustment in Amount of Security.

(1) Statemay requirean adjustment inthe Securityamount:

(i) At the same time as revaluationof the Annual Rent,

(ii) As a conditionof approvalof assignment or subleaseof thisLease,

(iii) Upon a materialchange inthe conditionor dispositionof any

Improvements, or

(iv) Upon a change inthePermittedUse.

(2) Port shalldelivera new or modified form of Securityto Statewithin thirty

(30)days afterStatehas requiredadjustment of theamount of the

Security.

(d) Upon any defaultby Port initsobligationsunder thisLease, Statemay collecton

the Securityto offsetthe liabilityof Portto State.Collectionon the Securitydoes

not:

(1) Relieve Port of liability,

(2) Limit any of State'sotherremedies,

(3) Reinstateor cure thedefault,or

(4) Prevent terminationof theLease because of the default.

SECTION 11 ROUTINE MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR

11.1 State'sRepairs. This Lease does not obligateStatetomake any alterations,

maintenance, replacements,or repairsin,on, or about theProperty,or any partthereof,during

the Term.

11.2 Port'sRepairs and Maintenance

(a) Routine maintenance and repairareactsintendedto preventa decline,lapseor,

cessationof the Permitted Use and associatedImprovements. Routine

maintenance or repairisthetype of work thatdoes not requireregulatorypermits.

PortofBremerton Page22 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



* 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 23 of 33

(b) At Port'sown expense,Port shallkeep and maintain the Property and all

Improvements in good order and repairand in a safecondition.State'sconsent is

not requiredforroutinemaintenance or repair.

(c) At Port'sown expense,Port shallmake any additions,repairs,alterations,

maintenance, replacements,or changes totheProperty or to any Improvements on

thePropertythatany publicauthoritymay require.Ifa publicauthorityrequires
work beyond the scope of routinemaintenance and repair,Port shallcomply with

Section7 of thisLease.

11.3 Limitations. The followinglimitationsapply whenever Port conducts maintenance,

repairor replacement.The followinglimitationsalsoapply whenever Port conducts

maintenance, repair,or replacement on theexteriorsurfaces,features,or fixturesof a

floatinghouse.

(a) Port shallnot use or installtreatedwood atany locationabove or below water,

exceptthatPortmay use treatedwood forabove water structuralframing.

(b) Port shallnot use or installtires(forexample, floatationor fenders)atany
locationabove or below water.

SECTION 12 DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION

12.1 Notice and Repair.

(a) In the eventof damage to or destructionof theProperty or Improvements, Port

shallpromptly give writtennoticeto State.Statedoes not have actualknowledge
of the damage or destructionwithout Port'swrittennotice.

(b) Unless otherwiseagreed inwriting,Portshallpromptly reconstruct,repair,or

replacetheProperty and Improvements asnearlyas possibleto itscondition

immediately priortothe damage or destructionin accordance with Paragraph 7.3,

Construction,Major Repair,Modification,and Demolition and Port'sadditional

obligationsinExhibitB, ifany.

12.2 State'sWaiver of Claim. Statedoes not waive any claims fordamage or destructionof

theProperty unlessStateprovideswrittennoticetoPortof each specificclaim waived.

12.3 Insurance Proceeds. Port'sduty to reconstruct,repair,or replaceany damage or

destructionof thePropertyor any Improvements on thePropertyisnot conditionedupon the

availabilityof any insuranceproceeds to Port from which thecostof repairsmay be paid.The

Partiesshalluse insuranceproceeds in accordance with Paragraph 10.2(g)(3).

12.4 Rent in the Event of Damage or Destruction. Unless thePartiesagree to terminatethis

Lease, thereisno abatement or reductioninrentduringsuch reconstruction,repair,and

replacement.

12.5 Default at the Time of Damage or Destruction. IfPort isin defaultunder theterms of

thisLease atthetime damage or destructionoccurs,Statemay electto terminatetheLease and

PortofBremerton Page23 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 24 of 33

Statethen shallhave the righttoretainany insuranceproceeds payable as a resultof the damage

or destruction.

SECTION 13 CONDEMNATION

13.1 Definitions.

(a) "Taking" means thatan entityauthorizedby law exercisesthepower of eminent

domain, eitherby judgment, settlementin lieuofjudgment, or voluntary

conveyance inlieuof formal courtproceedings,over allor any portionof the

Propertyand Improvements. This includesany exerciseof eminent domain on

any portionof theProperty and Improvements that,inthejudgment of the State,

preventsor rendersimpracticalthePermittedUse.

(b) "Date of Taking" means the dateupon which titletotheProperty or a portionof

thePropertypassesto and vestsinthe condemner or the effectivedateof any

order forpossessionifissuedpriorto thedatetitlevestsinthe condemner.

13.2 Effect of Taking. Ifthereisa taking,the Lease terminatesproportionatetothe extentof

thetaking. IfthisLease terminatesinwhole or inpart,Port shallmake allpayments due and

attributabletothe taken Propertyup to the date of taking.IfPorthas pre-paidrentand Portis

not in defaultof the Lease, Stateshallrefund Portthepro ratashareof thepre-paidrent

attributableto theperiod afterthedateof taking.

13.3 Allocation of Award.

(a) The Partiesshallallocatethe condemnation award based upon the ratioof the fair

market value of (1)Port'sleaseholdestateand Port-Owned Improvements and

(2)State'sinterestintheProperty;thereversionaryinterestin Port-Owned

Improvements, ifany; and State-Owned Improvements, ifany.

(b) IfPort and Stateareunable to agree on the allocation,thePartiesshallsubmit the

disputetobinding arbitrationin accordance with therulesof the American

ArbitrationAssociation.

SECTION 14 DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

14.1 Default Defined. Portisindefaultof thisLease on theoccurrence of any of the

following:

(a) Failuretopay rentor otherexpenses when due;

(b) Failureto comply with any law, regulation,policy,or orderof any lawful

governmental authority;

(c) Failuretocomply with any otherprovisionof thisLease;

(d) Commencement of bankruptcy proceedingsby or againstPort or the appointment

of a trusteeor receiverof Port'sproperty.

PortofBremerton Page24 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 25 of 33

14.2 Port's Right to Cure.

(a) A defaultbecomes an "Event of Default"ifPort failsto curethe defaultwithin

the applicablecure followingState'swrittennoticeof default.Upon an Event of

Default,Statemay seek remedies under Paragraph 14.3.

(b) Unless expresslyprovided elsewhere inthisLease,thecureperiod issixty(60)

days.

(c) For nonmonetary defaultsnot capable of cure within sixty(60)days, Statewill

not unreasonably withhold approval of a reasonablealternativecure schedule.

Port must submit a cure schedule withinthirty(30)days of a noticeof default.

The defaultisnot an Event of DefaultifStateapproves the schedule and Port

works diligentlyand in good faithto execute thecure.The defaultisan Event of

Default ifPort failstotimely submit a schedule or failsto cure in accordance with

an approved schedule.

(d) Statemay electto deem a defaultby Port as an Event of Defaultifthe default

occurs within six(6)months aftera defaultby Port forwhich Statehas provided

noticeand opportunityto cure and regardlessof whether the firstand subsequent
defaultsareof the same nature.

14.3 Remedies.

(a) Upon an Event of Default,Statemay terminatethisLease and remove Port by

summary proceedings or otherwise.

(b) Ifthe Event of Default(1)arisesfrom Port'sfailureto comply with restrictionson

Permitted Use and operationsunder Paragraph 2.2 or (2)resultsin damage to

naturalresourcesor theProperty,Statemay enterthePropertywithout

terminatingthisLease to (1)restorethenaturalresourcesor Property and charge
Port restorationcostsand/or(2)charge Port fordamages. On demand by State,
Port shallpay allcostsand/ordamages.

(c) Without terminatingthisLease, Statemay reletthePropertyon any terms and

conditionsas Statemay decide areappropriate.

(1) Stateshallapply rentreceivedby reletting:(1)tothepayment of any
indebtednessotherthan rentdue from Portto State;(2)to thepayment of

any costof such reletting;(3)to thepayment of the costof any alterations

and repairstotheProperty;and (4)tothepayment of rentand leasehold

excisetax due and unpaid under thisLease. Stateshallhold and apply any
balance toPort'sfuturerentas itbecomes due.

(2) Port isresponsibleforany deficiencycreatedby therelettingduring any
month and shallpay the deficiencymonthly.

(3) At any time afterreletting,Statemay electto terminatethisLease forthe

previousEvent of Default.

(d) State'sreentryor repossessionof the Propertyunder Paragraph 14.3 isnot an

electiontoterminatethisLease or cause a forfeitureof rentsor othercharges Port

isobligatedtopay during thebalance of the Term, unless(1)Stategives Port

writtennoticeof terminationor (2)a legalproceeding decreestermination.

PortofBremerton Page25 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 26 of 33

(e) The remedies specifiedunder thisParagraph 14.3arenot exclusiveof any other

remedies or means of redresstowhich the StateislawfullyentitledforPort's

breach or threatenedbreach of any provisionof thisLease.

SECTION 15 ENTRY BY STATE

Statemay entertheProperty atany reasonablehour to inspectforcompliance with theterms of

thisLease,to monitor impacts tohabitat,or survey habitatand species.State'sfailureto inspect

thePropertydoes not constitutea waiver of any rightsor remedies under thisLease.

SECTION 16 DISCLAIMER OF QUIET ENJOYMENT

16.1 No Guaranty or Warranty.

(a) StatebelievesthatthisLease isconsistentwith thePublicTrustDoctrine and that

none of thethird-partyinterestsidentifiedinParagraph 1.1(b)willmateriallyor

adverselyaffectPort'srightofpossessionand use of theProperty,but State

makes no guaranty or warranty tothateffect.

(b) Statedisclaimsand PortreleasesStatefrom any claim forbreach of any implied

covenant of quietenjoyment. This disclaimerand releaseincludes,but isnot

limitedto,interferencearisingfrom exerciseof rightsunder thePublicTrust

Doctrine;Treaty rightsheld by IndianTribes;and the generalpower and authority

of Stateand theUnited Stateswith respectto aquaticlandsand navigablewaters.

(c) Portisresponsiblefordeterminingthe extentof Port'srighttopossessionand for

defending Port'sleaseholdinterest.

16.2 Eviction by Third-Party. Ifa third-partyevictsPort,thisLease terminatesas of the date

of the eviction.In the event of a partialeviction,Port'srentobligationsabateas of the date of

thepartialeviction,in directproportionto the extentof the eviction;thisLease shallremain in

fullforceand effectin allotherrespects.

SECTION 17 NOTICE AND SUBMITTALS

Following arethe locationsfordeliveryof noticeand submittalsrequiredor permittedunder this

Lease. Any Partymay change theplaceof deliveryupon ten (10)days writtennoticeto the

other.

State: DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Aquatic Resources Division,PortsProgram

1111 Washington StreetSE MS 47027

Olympia, WA 98504-7027

PortofBremerton Page26 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



* * 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 27 of 33

Port: PORT OF BREMERTON

8850 SW StateHighway 3

Port Orchard, WA 98367-7487

The Partiesmay deliverany noticeinperson,by facsimilemachine, or by certifiedmail.

Depending on themethod of delivery,noticeiseffectiveupon personaldelivery,upon receiptof

a confirmationreportifdeliveredby facsimilemachine, or three(3)days aftermailing. All

noticesmust identifythe Lease number. On noticestransmittedby facsimilemachine, the

Partiesshallstatethenumber of pages containedinthenotice,includingthetransmittalpage, if

any.

SECTION 18 MISCELLANEOUS

18.1 Authority. Port and theperson or persons executingthisLease on behalfof Port

representthatPortisqualifiedto do businessinthe Stateof Washington, thatPorthas fullright

and authorityto enterintothisLease, and thateach and every person signingon behalfof Port is

authorizedto do so. Upon State'srequest,Port shallprovide evidence satisfactoryto State

confirming theserepresentations.

18.2 Successors and Assigns. This Lease binds and inuresto thebenefitof the Parties,their

successors,and assigns.

18.3 Headings. The headings used inthisLease are forconvenience only and inno way
define,limit,or extend thescope of thisLease or the intentof any provision.

18.4 Entire Agreement. This Lease,includingthe exhibitsand addenda, ifany,containsthe

entireagreement of the Parties.This Lease merges allpriorand contemporaneous agreements,

promises,representations,and statementsrelatingtothistransactionor totheProperty.

18.5 Waiver.

(a) The waiver of any breach or defaultof any term, covenant,or conditionof this

Lease isnot a waiver of such term,covenant,or condition;of any subsequent
breach or defaultof the same; or of any otherterm, covenant,or conditionof this

Lease. State'sacceptance of a rentalpayment isnot a waiver of any preceding or

existingbreach otherthan the failuretopay theparticularrentalpayment thatwas

accepted.

(b) The renewal of the Lease, extensionof the Lease, or the issuanceof a new leaseto

Port,does not waive State'sabilitytopursue any rightsor remedies under the

Lease.

18.6 Cumulative Remedies. The rightsand remedies under thisLease arecumulative and in

additionto allotherrightsand remedies affordedby law or equityor otherwise.

PortofBremerton Page27 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 28 of 33

18.7 Time isof the Essence. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE as to each and every provisionof

thisLease.

18.8 Language. The word "Port" as used inthisLease appliesto one or more persons and

regardlessof gender,as thecase may be. Ifthereismore than one Port,theirobligationsare

jointand several.The word "persons,"whenever used,shallincludeindividuals,firms,

associations,and corporations.The word "Parties"means Stateand Port inthe collective.The

word "Party"means eitheror both Stateand Port,depending on the context.

18.9 Invalidity.The invalidity,voidness,or illegalityof any provisionof thisLease does not

affect,impair,or invalidateany otherprovisionof thisLease.

18.10 Applicable Law and Venue. This Lease istobe interpretedand construedin

accordance with the laws of the Stateof Washington. Venue forany actionarisingout of or in

connection with thisLease isinthe SuperiorCourt forThurston County, Washington.

18.11 Statutory Reference. Any referenceto a statutemeans thatstatuteas presentlyenacted

or hereafteramended or superseded.

18.12 Recordation. At Port'sexpense and no laterthan thirty(30)days afterreceivingthe

fully-executedLease,Port shallrecord thisLease inthe county inwhich the Propertyislocated.

Port shallincludetheparcelnumber of the upland propertyused in conjunctionwith the

Property,ifany.Port shallprovide Statewith recordinginformation,includingthedateof

recordationand filenumber. IfPort failsto recordthisLease,Statemay record itand Port shall

pay the costsof recordingupon State'sdemand.

18.13 Modification. No modificationof thisLease iseffectiveunlessinwritingand signed by
both Parties.Oral representationsor statementsdo not bind eitherParty.

18.14 Survival. Any obligationsof Port not fullyperformed upon terminationof thisLease do

not cease,but continueas obligationsof the PortuntilAlly performed.

PortofBremerton Page28 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 29 of 33

18.15 Exhibits. All referencedexhibitsareincorporatedinthe Lease unlessexpresslyidentified

as unincorporated.

THIS AGREEMENT requiresthe signatureof allPartiesand iseffectiveon the dateof the last

signaturebelow.

PORT REMERTON

Dated: Sy! ,2011

By: CAR BOZEMAN

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Address: 8850 SW StateHighway 3

-PortOrchard, WA 98367-7487

Phone: 360-674-2381 ext.12

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Dated: ,2011

By: PETE OL MARK

Title: Co issionr of Public Lands

Address: 1111 mgton StreetSE M/S 47027

Olympia, WA 98504-7027

Approved as to form this

29 day of June 2011

JanisSnoey, AssistantAttorney General

PortofBremerton Page29 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 30 of 33

REPRESENTATIVE ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF WASHINGTON )

) ss

County of Kitsap )

IcertifythatIknow or have satisfactoryevidence thatCARY BOZEMAN istheperson who

appeared beforeme, and saidperson acknowledged thathe signedthisinstrument,on oath stated

thathe was authorizedto executetheinstrumentand acknowledged itasthe Chief Executive

Directorof thePort of Bremerton tobe the freeand voluntaryactof such partyfortheuses and

purposes mentioned intheinstrument.

Dated: d '-II( .JM M

(Sealor stamp)

(PrintName)

4 0; . . Notary Publicinand forthe Stateof

a .*$+,son Washington, residingat
iti.'SOTAR

My appointment expires I LA

PortofBremerton Page30 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 31 of 33

STATE ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF WASHINGTON )

) ss

County of Thurston )

IcertifythatIknow or have satisfactoryevidence thatPETER GOLDMARK istheperson who

appeared beforeme, and saidperson acknowledged thathe signedthisinstrument,6n oath stated

thathe was authorizedto executetheinstrumentand acknowledged itas the Commissioner of

PublicLands and ex officioadministratorof the De artment of NaturalResources of the Stateof

Washington tobe the freeand voluntaryactof such partyforthe uses and purposes mentioned in

theinstrument.

Dated:

(Signature)

(Sealor stamp)

(PrintName)

Notary Publicinand forthe Stateof

Washington, residing

OF

2 My appointment expires

PortofBremerton Page31 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 32 of 33

EXHIBIT A

Legal Descriptionof Premises and Encumbrances

Current Survey recordedwith Kitsap County
Auditor'sFileNo. 201101030135

March 01,2011

PortofBremerton Page32 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

l
i
n
e
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

L
o
t
s

T
r
a
c
t

1 T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"

1 t
h
r
o
u
g
h

1
0

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

l
i
n
e
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f a
n

u
n
n
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

t
r
a
c
t

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

d
a
t
e
d

3
0

M
a
y

1
8
9
2
,

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1

a
n
d

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

o
f

P
l
a
t
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

a
n
d

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

l
y
i
n
g

e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4

a
n
d

a
d
j
a
c
e
n
t

t
o

a
n
d

a
b
u
t
t
i
n
g

L
o
t
s

1 t
h
o
u
g
h

5 o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1 of

t
h
ew
i
t
h
i
n

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
a
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

1
8
9
2
,

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

3
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
eN
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S 1
0
3
1
'
0
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
3
7
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

l
e
s
s

t
o a po
i
n
t

o
n

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

1
1
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s

S 8
7
*
1
0
'

3
3
"

W 3
4
6
.
9
0

a
n
d

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

E
a
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

S 5
5
0
2
4
'
3
1
"

W 4
9
4
.
2
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

5 o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
a
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

a
s

d
e
l
i
n
e
a
t
e
d

o
n

t
h
e

f
a
c
e

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

t
h
e

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s

a
n
d

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

m
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

a
n
d

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 8
6
6
.
0
0

f
e
e
t
,

t
o

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

a
n

a
n
g
l
e

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
Et
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

r
u
n

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

p
o
i
n
t

i
n

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e
,

r
u
n

N

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

a
n
d

1
1
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

E
a
s
t

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e
,

a
s

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 of

p
l
a
t
s
,

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
, o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

5
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

1
4
9
.
3
8

3
5
.
1
1

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

r
u
n

N 3
1
.
4
8
'
1
2
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

l
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

a
n
d

G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

3
3
.
4
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
5
0
1
6
'
3
3
"

E

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

& G
.
S
.

1
0
3
.
4
9

a
n
d

S 6
4
0
0
5
'
0
3
"
E

4
8
.
1
2

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
5
.
3
0
'
4
6
"

E 2
7
.
3
4
,

N 8
8
*
1
1
'
O
9
"

E 6
7
.
5
8

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
3
*
4
9
'
0
1
"

E 3
0
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 8
8

2
5
'
0
5
"

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

l
i
n
e

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r

N 5
5
"
2
4
'
3
1
"

E f
r
o
m

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S

E 5
3
.
2
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

o
f

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s

N 4
6
*
5
3
'
5
0
"

E 3
1
.
7
8

f
e
e
t
,

N 5
0
0
0
8
'
1
3
"

E 5
5
.
2
4
'
3
1
"
W
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

l
i
n
e

1
7
9
.
6
2

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 5
6
.
7
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 5
3
.
4
7

f
e
e
t
,

N 4
4
*
2
6
'
0
5
"

E 4
1
.
6
5

f
e
e
t
,

N 6
4
.
4
1
'
3
3
"

E 2
2
.
5
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 5
5
.
2
0
'
2
5
"

E 1
7
.
4
6

f
e
e
t
;

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

1
3
7
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

l
i
n
e

o
f

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

r
u
n

S 4
4
o
5
3
'
4
1
"

E 3
7
.
0
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
eb
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

o
f a no
n
-
t
a
n
g
e
n
t

c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S

4
4
.
5
3
'
4
1
"

E 4
9
.
6
4

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e

3
0
.
6
7

f
e
e
t

t
o a T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 8
0
0
1
7
'
2
2
"

E
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
7
0
0
5
'
2
0
"

W 2
7
.
9
2

f
e
e
t

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f a
n

u
n
n
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

t
r
a
c
t

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a po
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
8
2
,

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

s
a
i
d

p
l
a
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 1
0
4
1
'
4
8
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n
,

9
0
.
8
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4

a
n
d

a
d
j
a
c
e
n
t

t
o

a
n
d

a
b
u
t
t
i
n
g

L
o
t
s

8 t
h
r
o
u
g
h

1
0

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1 o
f

D
a
t
u
m
=

M
e
a
n

L
o
w
e
r

L
o
w

W
a
t
e
r

p
o
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

S 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

E f
r
o
m

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
a
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

O
r
i
g
i
n
a
t
i
n
g

f
r
o
m

U
.
S
.
C
.
&
G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

- B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

9
2
.
6
3

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

E
l
e
v
a
t
i
o
n
=
7
1
.
4
5

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
o
.

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T

L
o
c
a
t
e
d

o
n

t
h
e

f
r
o
n
t

s
t
e
p
s

o
f

t
h
e

B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n

P
o
s
t

O
f
f
i
c
e

a
t

T
r
a
c
t

2 C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

6
t
h

a
n
d

P
a
c
i
f
i
c

i
n
B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

l
i
n
e
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
2

a
n
d

1
3
,

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

F
r
e
d
r
i
c
k

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 o
f t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

D
a
t
u
m

P
l
a
n
e

M
L
L
W

N
G
V
D

2
9

N
A
V
D

8
8

P
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

a
n
d

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

F
i
r
s
t

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

H
i
g
h
e
s
t

E
s
t
i
m
a
t
e
d

T
i
d
e
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
1
4
.
7
0

+
/
-

0
.
5

* . .

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

P
l
a
t
s
,

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s

S 8
7
0
1
0
'

3
3
"

W 3
4
6
.
9
0

f
e
e
t

.

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
2

a
n
d

1
3
,

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

F
r
e
d
r
i
c
k

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 5
5
0
2
4
'
3
1
"

W 5
6
8
.
6
9

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

8 o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h
e
r

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
1
1
.
7
4
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
5
.
5
1
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
8
.
9
9

a
n
d

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

l
y
i
n
g

w
i
t
h
i
n

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

B
a
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
dM
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
1
0
.
8
7
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
4
.
6
4
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
8
.
1
2

'

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
,

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
EM
e
a
n

(
H
a
l
f
)

T
i
d
e

L
e
v
e
l
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
6
.
8
5
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
6
2
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
4
.
1
0

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

c
o
n
t
i
n
u
e

S 8
7
*
1
0
'

3
3
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

N
G
V
D
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
6
.
2
3
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
0
0
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
3
.
4
8

' L
i
n
e

3
7
.
2
1

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s
,
t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

8 o
f

s
a
i
d

p
l
a
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N

M
e
a
n

L
o
w

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
2
.
8
3
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
3
.
4
0
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
0
8

* C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
, o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

2
9
.
5
9M
e
a
n

L
o
w
e
r

L
o
w

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
0
0
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
6
.
2
3
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
2
.
7
5

* u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
8
0
1
6
'
3
6
"

W
, a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

5
9
.
9
7L
o
w
e
s
t

E
s
t
i
m
a
t
e
d

T
i
d
e
-
-
-
-
-

-
4
.
5
0

+
/
-

0
.
5

. . .

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

H
a
r
r
i
s
o
n

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
s

d
e
f
i
n
e
d

b
y

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

t
h
et
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

H
a
r
r
i
s
o
n

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
dN
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

t
h
e
r
e
o
f

2
2
2
.
7
3

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

o
n

t
h
eE
q
u
i
p
m
e
n
t

a
n
d

P
r
o
c
e
d
u
r
e
s

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
8
*
5
7
'
0
5
"

E 3
2
.
8
3

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S
7
1
*
2
5
'
5
1
"

E 6
0
.
1
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a

2
0
"

T
h
e
o
d
o
l
i
t
e
,

E
D
M

a
n
d

2
0
0
.
0
'

s
t
e
e
l

t
a
p
e
.

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
*
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
4
8
.
3
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

p
o
i
n
t

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
,

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
;

P
r
o
c
e
d
u
r
e

= T
h
e

c
o
n
t
r
o
l

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
i
s

s
u
r
v
e
y

i
s

i
n

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
, a

c
o
m
p
l
i
a
n
c
e

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

F
e
d
e
r
a
l

G
e
o
d
e
t
i
c

c
o
n
t
r
o
l

c
o
m
m
i
t
t
e
e
'
s

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

2
0
7
.
5
3

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

.

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

E
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

'
G
e
o
d
e
t
i
c

A
c
c
u
r
a
c
y

S
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

a
n
d

S
p
e
c
i
f
i
c
a
t
i
o
n

f
o
r

u
s
i
n
8

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

G
P
S

R
e
l
a
t
i
v
e

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

T
e
c
h
n
i
q
u
e
s
"
,

v
e
r
s
i
o
n

5
.
0

u
p
d
a
t
e
d

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

A
u
g
u
s
t

1
,

1
9
8
9

f
o
r

G
r
o
u
p

C
,

O
r
d
e
r

1 S
u
r
v
e
y
s
.

C
o
r
n
e
r

T
i
e
s

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

5
.
2
7

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

w
e
r
e

m
a
d
e

b
y

F
i
e
l
d

T
r
a
v
e
r
s
e
.

T
r
a
v
e
r
s
e

l
i
n
e
s

w
e
r
e

C
l
o
s
e
d

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 6
5
0
2
4
'
0
1
"

W 3
4
6
.
4
9

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

b
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

o
f a c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

l
e
f
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

.

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 2
4
*
3
5
'
5
9
"

W 2
6
6
.
5
8

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

W
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
eL
o
o
p

o
r

C
l
o
s
e
d

B
e
t
w
e
e
n

K
n
o
w
n

P
o
i
n
t
s
.

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e

8
2
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 6
0
5
4
'
O
9
"

W
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
3
*
0
5
'
5
1
"

W 1
4
3
.
9
9

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

b
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

o
f a c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

l
e
f
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
er
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 6
*
5
4
'
O
9
"

W 4
9
.
6
4

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
dV
e
r
t
i
c
a
l

D
a
t
u
m

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

H
A
R
N

(
G
P
S

2
2
2
)

S
t
a
t
i
o
n
s

B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n

c
u
r
v
e

2
3
.
7
6

f
e
e
t

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 2
0
0
3
1
'
1
6
"

E
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N

A
i
r
,

K
i
n
g

O
l
a
f
a
n
d

S
i
t
a
r

R
M
1

a
n
d

N
O
A
A

V
e
r
t
i
c
a
l

C
o
n
t
r
o
l

N
G
V
D

2
0
0
3
1
7
1
6
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
a
l

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

e
n
d

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e
,

3
1
.
9
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s1
9
2
9
,

A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t

o
f

1
9
4
7

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t
s

P
E
A
T

1
9
3
4
,

P
2
5
5

a
n
d

N
o
.

9 i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

& G
.
S
.

D
a
t
u
m

S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
dM
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 8
6
0
1
8
'
O
9
"

E 1
3
4
.
2
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
8
0
0
9
'
0
3
"

E

H
o
r
i
z
o
n
t
a
l

D
a
t
u
m

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
1

G
e
o
i
d

1
9
9
3

e
x
p
r
e
s
s
e
d

i
n

U
S

S
u
r
v
e
y

9
3
.
7
9

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
9
0
0
4
'
1
7
"

E 9
7
.
5
0

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
0
0
1
5
'
5
0
"

E 6
9
.
1
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
0
0
1
5
'
3
4
"

E 4
5
.
3
8

f
e
e
t
,

S

f
e
e
t

6
3
0
3
6
'
4
7
"

E 1
1
9
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 7
3
0
3
5
'
5
9
"

E 4
8
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

. .

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

w
h
i
c
h

E
x
h
t
b
i
t
S
h
o
w
s
u
g

b
e
a
r
s

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E f
r
o
m

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
-

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

a
l
o
r
i
g

s
a
i
d

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R

T
O
NN
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

3
2
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
4
,

2
2
-
0
A
2
3
5

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0m

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S U
R
V
E
Y
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

f
r
o
n
d
n
g

T
h
i
s

m
a
p

c
o
r
r
e
c
t
l
y

r
e
p
r
e
s
e
n
t
s

a s
u
r
v
e
y

m
a
d
e

b
y m
e

o
r

u
r
i
d
e
r

m
y

d
i
r
e
c
t
i
o
n

i
n F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

O d
a

o
f

C
4
1
C
,
h

2
0 a
t

(
1 n

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2

a
n
d

i
s

n
d

o
r
t
i

R
.

c
o
n
f
o
r
m
a
n
c
e

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
i
r
e
m
e
n
t
s

o
f

t
h
e

S
U
R
V
E
Y

R
E
C
O
R
D
I
N
G

A
C
T

a
t

t
h
e

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

S
A
N

R
a
n
g
e
l

E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

a p o
n

4

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.

U N b d T t

o
f

w
y . r
e
q
u
e

o
f

P
o
r
t

o
f
B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

E
-

u
m

e
r
e

r
a
c

B
y
:

@
,
0

)

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d

d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
yW
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

a
n
d

A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s
-
L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4

L
v
e
l

2
7
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
'
i
(
)
(
p
S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1

1
-
O
c
o
A

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
a

9
8
3
6
6

P
h
o
n
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L
a
t
i
t
u
d
e

N 4
7
0
3
2
'
2
8
.
0
8
"

L
o
n
g
i
t
u
d
e

W 7
2
2
o
3
8
'
O
9
.
4
7
,
,

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

8
0
0
0
3
0
1
0
1
3
5

B
o
o
k

7
5 P
a
g
e

F
i
e
l
d
b
o
k

N
u
m
b
e
r

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

1 o
f 1
2

S
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1



P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

1 P
a
r
c
e
l

2

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2
,
1
3
,

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

F
r
e
d
r
i
c
k

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
l
l

i
n

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3
,

a
l
l

i
n

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2
,

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 of

p
l
a
t
s

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

i
n

t
h
e

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
3
,

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

t
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

r
e
c
o
r
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

b
e
i
n
g

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

.
C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S 1
*
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
ea
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
nN 1
0
3
1
'
0
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
4
8
.
3
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
dt
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
4
8
.
3
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

2
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

2
0
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
a
r
c
e
l

2
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
*
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

3
3
.
0
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

s
h
o
w
n

o
nF
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

3
7
.
2
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

7
5
4
.
6
9

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
a
r
c
e
l

1
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

a
s

a
p
p
r
o
v
e
d

b
y

t
h
e

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

p
e
r

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5
,

d
a
t
e
d

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n
,

1
6
2
.
7
3

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

3
3
.
0
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
e
r

1
1
,

1
9
7
3
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 6
3
o
4
8
'
5
3
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

2
3
7
.
6
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

p
o
i
n
t

2
1
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

7
5
4
.
6
9

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

a
s

a
p
p
r
o
v
e
d

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

a
n
d

2
1
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

8
1
4
.
4
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a

b
y

t
h
e

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

p
e
r

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5
,

d
a
t
e
d

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
e
r

1
1
,

1
9
7
3
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
oR
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 6
3
0
4
8
'
5
3
"

W 4
3
.
6
4

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
8
0
0
7
'
4
9
"

W 6
4
5
.
8
5

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 4
6
.
3
7
'
5
1
"

W 1
6
5
.
1
9

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

2
6
5
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

E
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

1
7
7
.
3
7

f
e
e
t

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

r
u
n

S l
o
4
1
'
4
8
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

L
i
n
e

a
n
d

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

e
x
t
e
n
d
e
d
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

5
2
1
.
8
2

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

N 3
1
.
4
8
'
1
2
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

3
,

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

l
i
n
e

1
7
7
.
3
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

a
n
g
l
e

p
o
i
n
t

i
n

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
;

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

6
5
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 3
1
0
4
8
'
1
2
"

E 2
0
2
.
7
8

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
,

N 4
6
o
5
3
'
5
0
"

W 3
1
.
7
8

f
e
e
t
,

N 5
0
0
0
8
'
1
3
"

E 5
3
.
4
7

f
e
e
t
,

N 4
4
0
2
6
'
0
5
"

E 4
1
.
6
5

f
e
e
t
,

N 6
4
*
4
1
'
3
3
"

E 2
2
.
5
4

f
e
e
t
,

N 5
5
0
2
0
'
2
5
"

E 1
7
.
4
6

f
e
e
t
,

N 4
4
o
5
5
'
4
1
"

W
,

5
.
8
9

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

b
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

a c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

r
i
g
h
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

N 4
5
0
0
6
'
2
9
"

E 2
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y
,

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e

7
1
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

t
o a

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 6
9
0
2
8
'
4
4
"

W
;
t
h
e
n
c
e

S 2
0
o
3
1
'
1
6
"

E 1
1
.
0
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
6
0
1
8
'
O
9
"

E 1
3
4
.
2
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
8
0
0
9
'
0
3
"

E 9
3
.
7
9

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
9
0
0
4
'
1
7
"

E 9
7
.
5
0

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
0
*
1
5
'
5
0
"

E 6
9
.
1
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
0
0
1
5
'
3
4
"

E 4
5
.
3
8

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
3
o
3
6
'
4
7
"

E 1
1
9
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 7
3
0
3
5
'
5
9
"

E 4
8
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

P
a
r
c
e
l

3

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
sr
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

b
e
i
n
g

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,t
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

A
r
e
a

T e R
e
f
e
r
e
n
c
e

S u
a
r
e

F
o
o
t

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S 1
*
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

y
p

q a
g
e

N 1
0
3
1
'
0
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

"
A
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

l
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

3
7
7
8
.
4
s
q
.

f
t
.

* I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5

"
B
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7

6
)

3
3
0
7
.
3

s
q
.

f
t
.

1 o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
4
1
1
.
9
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

1
0
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

a
ss
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

"
C
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

3
9
4
2
.
3

s
q
.

f
t
.

* o
f

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

L
o
t
s

1
0

a
n
d

1
1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

"
D
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7

6
)

5
5
6
0
.
2

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
8
0
1
6
'
3
6
"

W
, a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

E
a
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
0

o
f

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5

"
E
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

7
0
,
0
6
3
.
4

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

1
7
5
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

L
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

L
o
t
s

3

a
n
d

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

l
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
, a

d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

5
2
.
0
5

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

t
o a po
i
n
t

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

l
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

s
a
i
d

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4 o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

"
A
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

2
0
6
9
.
7

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d

5
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

a
n
d

4
9
.
4
9

a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

7
0
.
1
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

1
1
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
i
d
n
e
y

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

"
B
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7

6
)

7
5
4
7
.
0

s
q
.

f
t
.

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

1
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

1
4
.
8
9

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
4

"
C
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
4

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

2
7
0
8
.
8

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

a
n
d

G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
5
.
3
0
'
4
6
"

E 2
7
.
3
4

f
e
e
t
,

N 8
8
.
1
1
'
O
9
"

E 6
7
.
5
8

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
3
.
4
9
'
0
1
"

E

3
0
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 8
8
0
2
5
'
0
5
"

E 5
3
.
2
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 4
7
*
0
8
'
5
1
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
A
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"
)

2
5
7
0
.
7

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

9
4
.
8
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
9
8
9
7

"
B
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"
)

1
0
7
9
.
7
s
q
.

f
t
.

&

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
C
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"
)

7
6
,
0
4
8
.
9

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
D
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"
)

3
0
5
0
.
9

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
E
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"
)

7
5
7
3
.
2

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
F
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"
)

6
6
6
7
.
4

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

T 6
7
9
,
6
2
2
.
0

s
q
.

f
t
.

-
t
-P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

2 7
6
0
,
0
7
5
.
4

s
q
.
f
t
,

+

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

3 T 0
,
5
0
3
.
0

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

A
n
E
P
O
%
2

n

O
N

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
4
,

2
-
0
A
2
2
8
5

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0m

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

/
-
t
i
n
e

i
s

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f
B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2

a
n
d

1
3F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

_
Q
A
_

_
d
a
y

o
f Q
.

2
0
9
9

a
t : a
n
d

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

.
.
-

-
-
-
-
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e

l E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

. o

U
n
-
N
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

T
r
a
c
t

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
i
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

o
f

t
h
e* La

n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e

l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y*
c
o
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
y
.
y
i
n
g

o

G
a
s
I

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d
.
&

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

9 * *

2
1
7
8
i
d
n
e
y
A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L L
A
N

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
t
o
(
p
S
E
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

S
e
c
i
t
o
n

6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
z
p

2 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

,
*
J
S
"
@
.
"
"

' .
"
"
'
"
d
A
s

a
g M
e
n

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

1
)
1
1
7
)
T
C
)
\
f
)
(
T
A

B
o
o
k

P
a
g
e
S

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

2 o
(
1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1



B
e
a
r
i
n
g
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

C
o
o
r
d
i
n
a
t
e

S s
t
e
m

N
o
r
t
h

Z
o
n
e

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
1

a
s

d
e
r
i
v
e
d

f
r
o
m

G
l
o
b
a

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

S
y
s
t
e
m

(
G
P
S
)

t
i
e
s

t
o

H
i
g
h

A
c
c
u
r
a
c
y

C
u
r
v
e

D
a
t
a

( 10

/

R
e
f
e
r
e
n
c
e

N
e
t
w
o
r
k

(
H
A
R
N
)

C
o
n
t
r
o
l

S
t
a
t
i
o
n
s
.

R
e
f
e
r

t
o

A
=

3
5
*
2
3
'
4
1
"

3
=

2
0
4
*
2
2
*
2
5
"

A
=

2
7
*
2
5
'
2
5
"

A
=

1
7
*
4
1
'
5
0
"

c
o
n
t
r
o
l

s
c
h
e
m
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

V
i
c
i
n
i
t
y

M
a

R
=
4
9
.
6
4

R
=
2
0
.
0
0

R
=
4
9
.
6
4

R
=
2
M
.
5
0

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7
a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n
B
o
o
k

4
9
,L
=
3
0
.
6
7

L
=
7
1
.
3
4

L
=

2
3
.
7
6

L
=
8
2
.
3
4

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
.

N
o

S
c
a
l
e

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

3

r

p
e
r

S
t
a
t
e

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5

d
a
t
e
d

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
e
r

1
1
,

1
9
7
3

N 8
8
0
0
7
'
4
9
"

E 6
4
5
.
8
5

0

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

.
.
.
.

.
.

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

H
a
r
b
o
r

e
v o

P
M
A

9
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

[ P
a
r
c
e
l

1
]

A
r
e
a
=

6
1
9
,
6
2
2

s
q
.

f
t
.

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

A
r
e
a
=

6
,
0
5
2

s
q
.
J
.

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

N 8
4
*
3
6
'
O
9
"

W

4
,

'

.

3 8
4
'
3
6
'
O
9

4
,

'
9
6

N
8
3
*
0
5
'
5
l
"

W L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

9
-
0
0
6
9

1
/ 2
7
.
9
2

1
4
3
9
9

I I

N 8
7
*
0
5

2 W

1 I

- 2
6

2
5

A
m
e
n
d
e
5
t

o
f
P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

"
J
r

N 8
8
*
1
6
'
3
6
"

W 7
0
7

O
'
3
3
"

E 3 46
.
9
0A
q
u
a
t
i
c

L
a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
0
9
5
@

I
f

8 1
7
5
0
0

1 1

-

N
u
m
b
e
r

9
-
A
O
3
3
6

6
3 N 8
4 3
6 9 I I

-
-
-

6
2
5
0
0
-
.
.
.
.
.

H
a
r
b
o
r

4

N 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

-
-
-

1
3
7
3
4

,
,
,
7

s

z c
o a

o

6
6
.
0
0 m
e

e
d s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
2
3
4

O e
-
-

A
r
e
a
=

5
,
7
9
5

s
q
.
J
.

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

&

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

9
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

2
6

2
5T
r
a
c
t

"
B
" .

R
o
c
w

(
m
e
t
e
r
s
)

6

o A
r
e
a
=

1
9
,
6
9
9

s
q
.

f
t m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

N
-
6
1
7
7
9
.
3
1
8

O
t
;

O

,
,

5
9
.
9
7

3 E
-
3
6
4
6
7
7
.
8
2
4

N 8
8
*
1
6

3
6
"

o

o

o
e

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

o

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
8
4
,

2
-
0
A
S
2
3
5

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

2

s
t

o a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0o s
n

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
U
D
I
T
O

'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

a
s ,

p
a

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2

a
n
d

1
3

R L
'

F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

J
A
_
d
a
y

o
f

T
r
\

2
0

9 a
t

1 -
9
1

i
n n
d

t
i9
.
.
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e
l

E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

a p
o
r

o
n

U
n
-
N
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

T
r
a
c
t

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

.

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

o
f

t
h
e

1

"
d
D
e
r

e
a
l
o
p
m
e
n
t
S
P
l
a
n
e

a

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

b
e
i
n
g

i
n

2
6

2
5

* Co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y
i
n
g

C
o
u
n

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

-a
s
s

t
y p
o
r
t
s
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
e
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

, .

3
5

3
6

2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L L
A
N

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
0
0
p
S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

c
o
o
9

S
e
c
t
z
o
n

6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

,
o
g
y
g
,
R
t
y
,
"
,
*
M
,
^

$
1
,
,
,
.
,
,
,

,

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I

L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

Z
O
W

O
'
N
)
1
0
1
3
4

B
o
o
k

P
a
g
e

F
i
e
l
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

S o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2

-

1



C
/

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
,
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

p
e
r

S
t
a
t
e

H
a
,
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5

d
a
t
e
d

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
8

0
7

9
1
9
E 6
4
5
.
8
5

.
5

'
\

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
5
0
'

2
5

7
5

c
o

2
c
e

m
m

-

0
5

1
0
0

o
r

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

O
u
t
e
r

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

h
'
a
r
b
o
r

N
8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

w

7
4
e
.
7
2

8
6
9
.
2
5

L
i
n
e

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e

e
n
t

2
2
-

8
0
0
1
6
)

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

P
A
R
C
E
L

1
I
I
n
i
m
u
m
m
i
t

c
o

<
P
o
e

O

-
n

1
3
4
.

-
-

L
E
A
S
E

O
A

2
3
5
"
F

L
M
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
A
"

L
a
s
t

2
2
-
0

5
"
D

.

E
2
2

0
A
2
2
3

"
B

)

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

t
o

2
2
-
0
A

2
3

u
n
e

-

E
A
S
E

2
-

-
-
-
-
-

.
.
.
.
.
.

t
o

a
s

a
s

L
o
r

/
4
0

s
e
e
.

s
s

e
a
s

L
o
r

o
r



e
.

@
C
L

T
g
a
r
b
o
r

s
t
e
d

S
e
p
l
e
a
v
,
b
e
r

1
1
'

o
s
'
^
s
'

R
e
-
@

R
e
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
s
'

C
o
o
p
s
i
s
s

p
e
r

S
t
a
t
e

g
a
r
b
o
y

L
i
s
e

N
8
8
.
0
7
'
4
9
"

E

6
4
5
.
8
5

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
5
0
'

e
x

-
5

2
5

7
5

m
a
a

.
8

2

m
m

-

0
5
0

7
0
0

H
a
r
b
o
r

N
8
4
c
3
6
'
O
9
"

u
t r
e
a
r

8
6
9
.
2
5

L
i
n
e

o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e

e
n
t

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

2
2
-
o
s
o
o
n

e
m

z
z
-
o
s
o
o
2
s

P
A
x
c
a

1
P
A
R
C
H

2

C
C

r
n

2
7
0
.
0
0

0

N
C
L
A

N
8
8
<
1
6

2
5
6
.
O
O

C
o

.
.

'
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

s
o

L
F
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A

2
3
5
"
E

8
t

'
-
-
-
-

9
o

8
O

g
e
s

o
r

'
N

8
4
'
3
6

0
9

-
-
-

C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

H
o
a
l

i
t
s
a
p

T
r
a
n
s
i
t

a
W
a
s
h
i

n
M
u
n
i
c
i
p
a
l

C
o
r
p
o
r
a
t
i
o
'
n
'

s
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b

2
-
0
0
9
6
2
9

"

c
-
,

n
o
,

'

8
'
l
e
'
3
8
"

W
o

.
2
7
s

o
o

a
g
e
s
s
o
3
0
s

t
o

-
-

.
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

o
a

0
t
o

a
o
s

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

7
r
o
.

.
.
.
E

c
.
.

e
m
e

a
o
o
*

s
s

'
h

n
e
r

.
1
1

Q
a
r
b

e
r
-
2
2
-
p

z
z
3
4 A
k

a



f

.
0

m
i
l
m
i
l
l
u
l
l
l
I
I
I
I
I
I
l
l

I l
u
l
u
l
l
a
n
m
M
u
n
i

c
o
m

s
h
o
r

a
n
a

i
s

w
a
s

r
s e
v

N 8
8
'
1
6
'

W 2
5
6
.
0
0

B
I
o

k 1
6E
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
M
i
l
i
l
l
l
U

I
I
I
I
I
l
l

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

- - -
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.

\ 0 O

L
o
t

1 L
o
t

2 L
o
t

& L
o
t

4 L
o
t

5 L
o
t

6

3
6 0
9 o -

-
-
-
-
-
-

. --

C
O
O
C
r
e
t
e

F O
a
(

' K
i
t
s
a
p

T
r
a
n
s
i
t

a
.
a
W
a
s
h
i

g
b

n
2
M
a
c

t
w
2
p
a
l

C
m

'
a
t
i
o
r
l
'

s

0 0

C
O
O
C
r
e
t
e

f
l
o
a
t

N 8
8

1
6
'
3
8
"

W c , 1 q
,

P
M
A

2 0
8
0
0
1
6

.

P
A
R
C
E
L

3

R
a
p

L
E
A
S
E

2
2

0
A
9
8
9
1
"

-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

s
o

a /

N a
s

9
"

L
E
A

E 2
-
0
A
9
8

1
"
B

/

p
s

1 n
e
r .

s
o L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
4
9
8
9
1
"
9

3N
8
8
"
3
3
3
9
"
W

7
5
6
.
2
4

H
a
r
b
o
r

o

-
-

e
g

.
; . o 4 .
2
4
.

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A

8
9
1
"
E
.

B o
c
k

1

L
o
t

6

L
i
t
s
e
2
2
=

2
2
3
4

/ 7
0 L
o
t

5

-
L
E
A
S
E

-
-
8
4
2
2

4
" 6
7 L
o
t

L
o
t L
o 0 o
r

1 o / E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1
"
F

3

o
z
,

S e
d

o
f
S
i

n
e

"

1
1

.
5
0

L
E
A
S
E

9
1
"
C
"

o
t

1

B
L
O
C
K

3

0

l
e 0

4
1
1
1

8

L
o
t

4

3

3
3

N 8
8
'
1
6

3
8
"

"

L
o
t

2

o

L
o
t
8 T
S
t

A
d
d

t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
yo 0 v
o
l
u
m
e

p
a
g
e

T
o

o
f
p
l
a
t
sL
o
t

1 P
O
R
E
T
x

M
w

n

O

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

o
a

L
e
a
,
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
4

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0

0

L
o
r

2

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

L
o
r

1
1 f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
o 9 L
o
r

K
l F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

0
1 d
a
y

o
f

A
c
a
c
k
i

2
0 a
t .

A
n p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

9
4
N

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

a
n
d

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

,
,
l

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

U
n
-
N
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

T
r
a
c
t

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

o
f
U
s
e

* La
n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

.
.
.
.

.
q
g
q
.
v
.

R
x
h
!

\ ,
k
k
V
i
r
d
-
o
n

s
y
:

s
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d

l
a

a
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y* Co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y
i
n
g

, C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

.o
r
t
s
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

)

.2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L
L S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
9
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
0
0
(
a

S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

c
o
o
c
1

S
e
c
t
z
o
n

6
-

o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

.
1
2
1
:
2
'
d
"
"
!
"
'
"
'
i
f
"
"
"
"
"
'
.
^
\
t
?
w
e
s
s
.
.
n
e
s
i
w

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

2
0
(
|

0
3
0
1
0

1
1
$

B
o
o
k

1
5

P
a
g
e
S

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
p

6 o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1

Z
o
4
0
%

O
t
t

"
)
5
-

6 T



N

T
o
e _ _

,
' 3

. r

a
p
p
r
o
x
i
m
a
t
e

- -

1
3
4 8 k c
a
t
i
o
h

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0e m
o
r
e

N 8
6 1

\

.
.

- -

%
'
0
;

- < 0 7 O 2 0 4 0

8
.
5

4
4

2

o

8
F 8 2
3
" .

N / b

C
O

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
A
"

o
O
S
'
S

9
0
<

L
E
A
s

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
D

8
4 1 4
, ,
n s
t
g
n

8
0
0

.
.

a
c
r
e
t
e

p
a
r

; s
i
g

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

H
a
r
b
o
r
A
r
e
a

L

E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A

3
5
"
B

(
C
i
t
y

o
f P
o
r
t r

2
2
-

6
0

1
1
.
9
5

R
=

6
.
4
0

6 q
3 L
=

7
2
.
9
9

N 8
6
*
4
7

5 I o

A
=

T
7
6
'
7
8
'
4
8
"

I

A
=

6
9
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

' l
i
g
h
t

s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

4
"
x
4
*

. * * R
=

4
.
9
0

2
.
4
4o L
=

5
.
9
5

N y
g
o
3
0

2 h s
t
a
n
d
a

9
2
.
6
3

M
a
r
b
o T

E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
C
'

I 5
5
.

a
s

r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

_ _

.
L

1 1

5
5
.

a
s

T

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

5
5
.

a
s

N 8
4 o
3
6
'
O
9
"

(
,
yE
x
h
i
b
i
t

$
t
o
w
i
n
g

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
A
E
M
E
R
T
O
N

O
f

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t
2
-
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

6
6
"

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

s
o
l
o

F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

d
a
y

o
f a
g
g 2
0 a
t

1 5 H
a
r
b
o
r

A a f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

s
e
c
t
i
o
n

a
s

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e

l E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1

a
n
d

1
2

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

U
c

s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S e
y
o
r
s

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y.
o
n

a
s
e
T

A
-
M
A
N

B
y
:

i
d b 0
.
,
(

b
e
i
n
g

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

<
c
o
n
.
e
r
n
e
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
v
i
n
g

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

U G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

3

4
4
-
-

S
e
M
e
e
t
o
K
i
t
e
a
p
a
n
d

O
l
6

)
p
8
i
c
P
e

s
3
u
l
a

L L
A
N

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2

-
0
1
-
1
-
0
0
0
(
p

S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

c
o
o

"
"
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.

M
.

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

W
,
4
w
A
q

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

(
0
1
1

0
3
0
1

(
)

(
3
6

B
o
o
k

P
a
g
e

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

7 o
f

1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

a
l

O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1

a
s
e
s
o
t

o
e
S

7
5 e
s



S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0
'

5 7
5

3
0

c
o

0 T
O

2
0

4
0

T
o
e .
.
.
.
.
.

1 .
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

a
t
?

'

- .
.
.
.

R
o
c
k

a
p
p
r
o
x
i
m
a
t
e

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.

1
3
4
.

o
k c
a
t
i
o
n

-
-
-
.
.
.
.

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-

0
A
2
2
3
5
"
"

@

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
o
o
2
5
5
5
.
7

.
.
.

o .
.
.
.
.
.
.

0
6

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

H
a
r
b
o
r
AE
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
p
2
3
5
"
B
"

(
C
j o
f

e
a 2
2
-
0
A

2
3

R
=

6
.
4
0

L
=

7
2
.
9
9

N 8
6
*
4

5
*

o

A
= 7 T 6*
T

B
'
4
8
"

I

4
6
'
P
O
3
6
'
O
9
"

2
.
4

l
i
g
h
t

s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

4
"
x
4

/

E
x
h
i
b
i
t

S
h
o
w
i
n
g

'

o L = 5
.
9
5

N y
g
o
3
0

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R
T
C

N

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

9
2
.
6
3

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

i
n

,
, F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

0
\

d
a

o
f

Y
O 2
0 a
t

\ 5

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

Y <
t
e
>
1

,
,S
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
w
n
s
h
i
p

R
a
n
g
e

0
\

E W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

s
o
o
C

8 H G
W

i
f

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

o
f

t
h
eL
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

* La
n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

* Bo
u
n
d
a
r
y

a
n
d

L
o
t

S
u
r
v
e
y
s

b
e
i
n
g

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

8
/
*.
e
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
s
.
,

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

3

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f
S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

%
,
d
i
s
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.

M
.

2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)

8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U

M B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

D
C
O
(
o

-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
@

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

T
l
'
.
"
"
.
.
.

. s
h h
a
e
d

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

2
0
0
0
3
0
1

p
t

3
6

B
o
o
k

T
i P
a
g
e

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

8 o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1

2
m
o
s
o
l
o
s
s

7
6
-

s
R



I
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5
"
E

m
.

3
3
.

0
7

.
.
.
.
.
.
.

N 8
4 c
3
6
'
O
9

" I

7 33 S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0

-

O T 0 2
0

4
0

" 6
0

/ d
a
r
d

o - .
.

c
o
n
c
r

e
r

' -
-
.
,

l
e

r
n
e
t
e
r

e
p o

a
t s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

-
- .

R
o
s
s

4
,
4

c
o
n
c
r
e
t

p
a

c
o
*
C

.
.

f
i
r
e

b d
r n
t

a
n
d
a
r
d l
e

O

0
4

-
-
-
.
.
.
.

6
2 O
O b
l
e-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.

,

c
a

5 r

0
4 a
p
p
r
o
x

n
a
t
e

1 5
5
.

a
g

I

8
6
6
.

O
O

5
5
.

t Ma
n
d
a
r
d

4
. :

5
5
.

6
2

p
o

p
o
e -
-
-
-

1

E
x
h
i
b
s
t

S
h
o
w
z
n
g

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R
T
O
N

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
.
4

a
n
d

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

-
A

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0

s
n

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4
'

(
'

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

P
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
2

a
n
d

1
3

o
f
t
h
e

s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

'
o

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

.

b
e
i
n
g

i
n A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A

p
o
r
t
s
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4

L
o
t

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

w
.

F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

A
d
a
y

o
f

i
f
y

o
n

2
0
1
6

a
t

5
9 n

.
.
.

-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

R
a
n
g
e

(
3
)

5 W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

* La
n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

* Bo
u
n
d
a
r
y

a
n
d

L
o
t

S
u
r
v
e
y
s

* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

Q 8

.

* Co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y
i
n
g

. I
S
T
E

+ C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
u
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

0
4
,

L
A2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)

8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

1
1

R
(
o
-

2
.
4

0
\
1

O
D
b
C
o

5 G 0
1

0
0
t
PP
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

,
*
J
S
'

"
.
R
"
"
'
d
?
'
"
"
"
"
'
^

1
"
.
,
,
.
-

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

*
;

0
1
\
0
%
t
O
f
3
6

B
o
o
k

"
D
O

P
a
g
e

F e
d
b

4
0
5
a
n
d
"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t
'
9

o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

"
i
2
7
2
-
1?
o
i
t
o
S
o
l
o
t
@

T
S

-



C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

F
l
o
a
t

K
i
t
s
a
p

T
r
a
n
s
i
t

a

W
a
s
h
i
n
g

o
n

M
u
n
i
c
i
p
a
l

C
o
r
p
o
r
a
t
i
o
n

e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b

9
2
-
0
0
2
6
2
9

i

C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

F
l
o
a
t

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0
'

. o
a

.

C
O o 0 7
0

2
0

4
0

N 8
8 0
1
6
'
3
6
"

W

.
.

1 7
5
.

O
O

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

.
.

R
i
p
-
R
a
p

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
,
n
a
,
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

6 0
9
"7
3
<
3
3

O
O

t
o

0
0 7
0 R
k-
1
4

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4
"
A

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

o
c

O

a
p
p
r
o
x
i
m
a
t
e

7 8
0
9
" E

l
o
c
a

0
8
3
3
4
0 0

M
e
a
n

8
8
5
2
3

0
6
5
"

2 z
s

e N 8
8
0
3
3
'
3
9
"

W

h
e 0
2

N 8
8
0
3
3

3
9
"

W 7
5
6
.
2
4

r
e

a
l
k

1
3
7
.
3
4

H
a
r
b
o
r

l
i t t
a
n
d
a
r
d

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
b
A
2
2
3
4
'

(
"

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2

4
"
C
"

L
o
t

a

L
o

o
f E
x
h
i
b
i
t

S
h
o
w
i
n
g

a e

o P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R
T
O
N

(
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

S n
d s

o
f

S
i

g
n
e

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
9
-
0
A
2
8
4
,

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

a
s

a
.
m
b
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0D
I
T

R
'
S

C
E
R
'
l
l
l
F
I
C
A
T
E

m

o
r

e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

A
f

o
r

c
a
g
d
r
y

2
0

a
t

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

.
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w

s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e

l E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

.
-

L
o
t
s

1 t
h
r
u

8
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e

.

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

o
f

t
h
e"
"
D
e

e
a
n
d
t .

r
o
r
s

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

* Bo
u
n
d
a
r
y

a
n
d

L
o
t

S
u
r
v
e
y
s

b
e
i
n
g

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

* co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
y
.
y
i
n
g

s
t
a
t
P

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

&

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f
S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

L L
A

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.

M

2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)

8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U

M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1

0
0

S
E
-
N
E

6
-
9
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

(
.
)
O
D

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

.
*
,
"
2
'
#
R
"
'
"
/
J
?
"
'
"
T
'
^
"

.
.
,
a
n
.
n
,
.
.
.

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

f
f
)
\
\
f
f
i
O
f

r
)
1
3
1

B
o
o
k
f
P
a
g
e

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k
4
0
5
a
n
d

"
X

S
h
e
e
t

1
0

o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7
2
-
1



O
O

O
B
e
a
r
a
n
g

e
n

w
a
s

n
g

n
C
o
r
n
i
i
n
a
t
e

s
y
s
t
e
m

N
o
r
t
h

Z
o
n
e

O
;

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
2

a
s

d
e
r
i
v
e
d

f
r
o
m

G
l
o
b
a
l

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

S
y
s
t
e
m

I
G
P
S
)

t
i
e
s

t
o

H
i
g
h

A
c
c
u
r
a
c
y

R
4
f
e
r
e
n
c
e

N
e
t
w
o
r
k

(
H
A
R
N
)

C
o
n
t
r
o
l

S
t
a
t
i
o
n
s
.

R
4
F
e
r

t
w
e
n
t
r
o
l

s
c
h
e
m
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
n
f
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
'
2

'
E

e
r
"
t
o
n
j

2
5

n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

B
o
o
k

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f
s
u
r
v
e
y
s
.

0
0

6
0

2
4
"

x
4
"

t

p
a
r

n
.
.

r
e
d

b

o

a
k

t
o

p

o
s

.
.

e
.
.
.

-
.
.

4
s
t

2
7
0
.
9
6

c
4
3
'
2
4
"

E

O
<

N
4

"
-

.
.
.
.

8
0
.

(
2
9
.
8
9

l
i

4
"

x
4
,

,
t

p
a
r
k
i
n

i
g
n

8
.

/
/

J
o
S
o

a
4
"

E

o
a

0
.

o

(
#
4
3

2
4
"

E
0

<
T
s
"

7
2
.

.
2
5
.
9
6

3
'

'
-
-

N
1
'
4
3

"
E

2
0
7
.
5
3

4
"

x
4
"

s
t

8
5
.
1

0
p
a
r
k
,

a
s
i
g
n

O

7
4
3

"
E

i
c

1
0
3
4

'
2
4

E

c
4
3
'
2

"
E

5
0
2
.
7
6

e
x

x
4

s
9
.
3
8

-
-

-
-
-

7

p
a
'

*
a

s
t

"
-

* I

.
.
I



q
.

4
(
1
0

S
.
,
O

os
a
w
u
s
a
o

u
p

p
u
n

os
o
o
v
C
p
y

6o

,
E

7
6

0
3

3
5

7
.

37 N
T

o
4
3

2
4
"

E

0

7
6
,
9
.
7
6

.

2
5
.
9
6

N1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E

7
7
2
.

N1
0
4
3
'

"

E

2
0
7
.
5
3

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

4
8
7
.
7
5

N1
0
4
3
'
2

ox
a
-

s
t

a p
a
r

a
g

s
t
g
n

1
1
5
.

1

0

R
/

c
/
t
a
r

74
3
'"

E

4

d
e

r

s

,

y
/
e

r
,
t
o
t
h
e
r

7p

t
5
oo

P
ae
'

e
r

t
o

1
0
4

'
2
4'

E

N1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E5
0
2
.
7
6

.3
.

1

"
2
9
-
2
6

"

x
4
"

s

-

9
.
3
8

7
.
3

.
-
-
-
-
-

s
t

n
o

p
a
r
k
i

s
t
g
n

p
a
r
k
s

i
g
n

p
a

i
n
g

s
t

1
1

2

-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.

N

7
4
0
2
4
'
p

a

*

y
o
4'

4
"

co
C
b

'

.-
-
- 1T9
.
4
6

b
a
s
m

-

.
.
.

o
h
<f
e

.

eb

7
3
o
s
r
s
a
,
,

J
-

P

g
e

1
0
4

R

c

t
r
b
i
n
g

A
N1
0
4
3
'
2

.8
"o

.
0

1
3
5
.
1
7

7
t
o
r

a
r
t

.

H
e

4
,y
r

o
oW boN
T

4
3
'
2
4
"

E

o

r
T4
0
.
8
8

r
c

e
r
f
o
r
,

.
.

I

c
o
n
d
r
d
t
d

w
a
l
k

1
4
4
.
1
4

c
o

4

y
o
o
6
2

oe
P

T
i
t
l
e

-

s
i e

1
0

1
4

'

3"
E

4
7

B
e
a
r
i
n
g
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

C
o
r
r
d
i
n
a
t
e

S
y
s
t
e
m

N
o
r
t
h

Z
o
n
e

t
o

.

o

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
1
a
s

d
e
r
i
v
e
d

f
r
o
m

G
l
o
b
a
l

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

S
y
s
t
e
m

(
G
P
S
)

t
i
e
s

H
i
e
u
r

e
e
c
N

u
rH
A
'

e
T

r
S
t
a

'
s

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

B
o
o
k

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f

s
u
r
v
e
y
s
.



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 33 of 33

EXHIBIT B

PLAN OF OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE PERMITTED USE

A. Existing Facilities.The Lease areaconsistsof historicallyfilledtidelands

currentlyused as parking area,publicaccess,utilities,and marina support
structures.The Lease areaincludesa rock bulkhead, thepublicaccessboardwalk,
and small portionsof two buildings.There arewater-dependent uses waterward
of thebulkhead. For rentcalcidationpurposes,the bulkhead isnonwater-

dependent landward of thehigh water mark. Only the footprintof thepublic
accessboardwalk iseligibleforno feeuse.

B. Proposed Facilities.No changes tothisbasicinfrastructureareproposed under

thisLease.

2. ADDITIONAL OBLIGATIONS

A. Upland Operations (historicallyfilledtideland). The currentoperationsand

maintenance of the parking area,vegetatedbuffers,and boardwalk structureareto
be conducted using bestprofessionaljudgment. The Port willconduct reasonable
maintenance to avoid excessiveoilstainingon surfacesand to controlgarbage or
wind-blown debris. Specificattentionistobe paid to water qualityresultingfrom

refinishingsurfaces.No contaminatesareto enterthe receivingwaters as a result
of operationsor maintenance. Stormwater runoffisto be conveyed via a

permittedmunicipal stormwater system.SpecificBest Management Practices

(BMPs) can be found inthe most recentversionof the Washington State

Department of Ecology Stormwater Management Manual for Western

Washington.

B. Major Repair and Reconstruction.

(1) Bulkhead. Any major repairstotherock bulkhead requiringa shoreline

permit and/or involvingmore than ten (10) cubic yards of materialmust be

approved by the Stateinwritingpriortoconstruction.Emergency repairs

may be conducted with verbalapproval of the State.Any reconfiguration
of thebulkhead willbe reviewed by the Stateinregardtobiologicaland

environmental impacts and must be approved inwriting.

(2) Boardwalk. Any major repairstotheboardwalk structuremust be

approved in writingby the State.The Statemay requirematerialsand

design modificationsto avoid or reduce impacts towater qualityor to

reduce shading impacts. Treatedwood may not be used inareasindirect
contactwith marine waters.

PortofBremerton Page33of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
West End PortOrchard



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7F Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Approval of Amendment No. 11 to  Prepared by: Nicholas Bond 

 Contract No. 066-20 with Rice Fergus   DCD Director 
 Miller, Inc. for the Community Event      Atty Routing No.: NA 
 Center Project Atty Review Date: 5/23/2023 

 
Summary:  The City is in the final stages of designing the Community Event Center Building and will soon 
apply for building permits to begin the building plan review process.  The city has not yet completed the 
design of the associated adjacent site improvements.  This design work was referenced in the original 
Request for Qualifications issued for the CEC project, but the design work was delayed due to the need to 
coordinate with 3 other adjacent projects including the new Kitsap Bank, the Marina Lift Station Project, and 
the Bay Street reconstruction project.   
 
The scope of work attached (Attachment #1) to Contract Amendment #11 provides the City with a schematic 
design on the pedestrian plaza at the east entrance to the CEC connecting to parking lot improvements that 
will be available to CEC users.  This includes areas of the Orchard Street Right of Way and areas adjacent to 
the Marina Lift Station. 
 
This schematic design work is needed before the City can file it’s Shoreline Substantial Development Permit 
application for a phased project that includes the CEC and all adjacent site improvements.  A upon the 
completion of the schematic design under Amendment #11, a subsequent contract amendment will be 
required to take this design to 100% PS&E. 
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  The CEC project and adjacent plazas and parking are all identified as 
capital projects in the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Plan. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the City Council approve Contract Amendment #11 to Contract 
C066-20 as presented. 
 
Motion for consideration:  “I move to approve Contract Amendment #11 to Contract C066-20 as 
presented.” 
 
Fiscal Impact:  The contract amendment will cost $140,053.00 and will be paid for using Park Impact Fees. 
 
Alternatives: Do not approve Contract Amendment #11. 
 
Attachments: Amendment #11, Attachment #1 Scope of Work 



 
 

Amendment No. 11 to Contract No. C066-20 
 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
RICE FERGUS MILLER, INC. 

 

THIS AMENDMENT to Contract No. C066-20 (“Amendment”) is made effective as of the 13th day 
of June, 2023, by and between the City of Port Orchard (“City”), a municipal corporation, organized under 
the laws of the State of Washington, and Rice Fergus Miller, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of 
the State of Washington, located and doing business at 275 5th St., Bremerton, WA 98337 (“Consultant”).  

WHEREAS, on July 29, 2020, the City executed a Professional Services Agreement with Consultant 
for the South Kitsap Community Event Center Project (the “Project”) (“Underlying Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, on July 27, 2021, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 1 to the Underlying 
Agreement, increasing the contract amount and adding additional scope of work (work within the scope of 
the initial Request for Qualifications); and   

WHEREAS, on September 17, 2021, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 2 to the 
Underlying Agreement, adding additional scope of work (work within the scope of the initial Request for 
Qualifications); and  

WHEREAS, on October 12, 2021, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 3 to the 
Underlying Agreement, increasing the contract amount and adding additional scope of work (work within 
the scope of the initial Request for Qualifications); and  

WHEREAS, on January 25, 2022, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 4 to the 
Underlying Agreement, increasing the contract amount and adding additional scope of work due to 
unforeseen on-site conditions; and  

WHEREAS, on March 21, 2022, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 5 to the 
Underlying Agreement, extending the contract term to accommodate the scope of work; and  

WHEREAS, on April 12, 2022, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 6 to the 
Underlying Agreement, updating the scope and fee for tasks 4 and 5 of C082-19; and 

WHEREAS, on September 13, 2022, the City and the Consultant executed Amendment No. 7 to the 
Underlying Agreement, adding additional design work related to shoreline improvements and permitting; 
and  

WHEREAS, on December 13, 2022, the City and the Consultant executed Amendment No. 8 to the 
Underlying Agreement, adding additional design work LEED Certification feasibility; and  

WHEREAS, in February 2023, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 9 to the 
Underlying Agreement, adding a modification to the architectural plans to meet LEED silver certification; 
and  

WHEREAS, in May 2023, the City and Consultant executed Amendment No. 10 to the Underlying 
Agreement, making design modifications to portions of the CEC space to be occupied by the Library; and  

WHEREAS, the City received funding from the Kitsap Public Facilities District (“KPFD”) via an 



Agreement between the City and the PFD (C082-19) for this 8-phase Project, which will result in a 
Community Event Center; and  

WHEREAS, consistent with the original proposed scope for the  project, the City now wishes to 
commence design services for site improvements for the Project, referenced in the original 2020 Request for 
Proposals, as outlined in proposed contract amendment #11 as attached hereto; and 

WHEREAS, accordingly, Contract Amendment #11 provides for an entry plaza and parking that 
serve the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Consultant was selected as the most qualified firm to perform all phases of the 
Project, and to date the Consultant and City and have completed phases 1-3 as set out in C082-19; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to memorialize their agreement to so amend the Underlying 
Agreement; NOW, THEREFORE, 

 In consideration of the mutual benefits accruing, it is agreed by and between the parties thereto as 
follows:  

1. The Underlying Agreement, including previous Amendments Nos. 1-10, is amended as follows 
(amendment shown in legislative marks):   

a. The Scope of Work is amended to add the tasks as set out on Attachment 1 hereto 
(Amendment #11 Request). 

b. The total contract cost is increased by $140,053.00, plus reasonable reimbursable expenses 
associated with performing the tasks in Attachment 1, and applicable taxes, all as set out on 
Attachment 1 hereto (Amendment #10 Request).  

c. The contract term remains with a termination date of December 31, 2024, unless extended 
or earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of the Underlying Agreement. 
 

2. In all other respects, the Underlying Agreement between the parties shall remain in full force and 
effect, amended as set forth herein, but only as set forth herein. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment on the day and year set 

forth above. 
 



 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, 
WASHINGTON 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney 

CONSULTANT 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Signature 
 
_______________________________ 
Printed Name and Title 
 



275 Fifth Street, Suite 100 Bremerton, WA 98337 
(360) 377-8773   rfmarch.com 

 

April 13, 2023 

 

Nick Bond 

Development Director 

City of Port Orchard 

216 Prospect St 

Port Orchard, WA  98366 

 

Re: South Kitsap Community Events Center 

Amendment 11 Request 

Orchard Plaza Schematic Design  

 RFM Project:  2020002.00 

Dear Nick, 

Rice Fergus Miller (RFM) is pleased to present the following Letter of Proposal to amend our 

contract for the above referenced project.   

I. Project Description 

The City of Port Orchard’s Master Plan includes sites surrounding the above referenced project.  

This proposal is to extend our site design scope to include “Orchard Plaza” from Orchard Avenue 

to Frederick Avenue per the attached Site Scope Delineation map.    

II. Scope of Services 

The following scope includes Schematic Design for the referenced area.  The goal is to identify 

the general program and design of the area.  The following disciplines are included in this scope 

of work: 

• Architect  

• Civil Engineer 

• Landscape Architect 

• Mechanical/Electrical Engineer 

• Cost Estimator 

This proposal excludes work beyond Schematic Design.  Per the City of Port Orchard’s request, 

an estimated budget is being provided for the Design Development and Construction 

Documents phases for financial planning purposes only.  These are not part of this scope of 

work.  A separate future contract amendment associated with that work will be provided once 

the program needs are confirmed. 

III. Exclusions and Additional Services 

Work beyond the listed disciplines and scope described above is excluded. 



South Kitsap Community Events Center        

Amendment 11 – Orchard Plaza Schematic Design  

April 13, 2023 

 

 
 

IV. Owner Responsibilities 

It is our understanding that City of Port Orchard will provide full information, including a 

program, setting forth its design objectives, constraints, and criteria; and, the services of other 

consultants not included here when such services are deemed to be necessary. 

V. Schedule 

A Shoreline Substantial Development Permit (SSDP) is required for this project.  The intent is to 

submit Orchard Plaza along with the Shoreline Restoration and Community Events Center under 

one permit.  Schematic Design will be completed in 2023 and will include submittals needed for 

the SSDP process.   

VI. Compensation 

For the Scope of Services outlined above for Rice Fergus Miller and its consultants, 

compensation shall be a Fixed Fee of One Hundred Forty Thousand Fifty-Three Dollars 

($140,053.00) plus reimbursable expenses and any applicable taxes. 

VII. Terms of Agreement 

Please provide an amendment to our South Kitsap Community Events Center contract upon 

accepting this proposal.   

VIII. Summary 

Thank you for the opportunity to propose on your project. We look forward to discussing our 

proposal further and working with you.  Please contact me if you have any questions. 

Sincerely,      

Rice Fergus Miller, Inc. 

Dean Kelly, Principal 

Architect  
 
Attachment:     230411 SKCEC Site Cost Delineation 

HZorrozua
Stamp



Overal l  Design l  The Vis ion

The overall area is being designed as a 
community destination for daily informal 
gatherings and larger formal weekly, 
monthly and annual events.

Flexibility and shared use of the outdoor 
spaced is key to being able to activate the 
spaces. 

Site Activation and Programming include:
• POCEC events
• Library Children's space
• Library Teen space
• Seating Edge
• Flexible event space
• Food trucks
• Retail/Entry
• Stage
• Waterfront viewing, limited shoreline 

access

PERMANENT
IMPROVEMENTS
FOR LIFT STATION
EXCLUDED FROM
PERMIT SUBMITTAL

INCLUDE
TRANSITIONS TO
EXISTING GRADE

PO

SHORELINE RESTORATION SCOPE

CEC SCOPE

ORCHARD
PLAZA SCOPE

SOUTH KITSAP COMMUNITY
EVENTS CENTER

04.11.2023 SITE SCOPE
DELINEATION



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7G Meeting Date: June 13, 2023 
Subject: Approval of Amendment No. 4 to  Prepared by: Tony Lang 

 Contract No. 053-19 with Robinson  Public Works Director 
 Noble, Inc. for the 2019-2020 ESSB 6091    Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 
 Foster Pilot Project Services Atty Review Date: 06/07/2023 

 

Summary: On September 10, 2019, following a procurement process that complied with state law and 
the City’s procurement policies, the City Council approved Contract No. C053-19 with engineering and 
consulting firm Robinson Noble, Inc. (the “Consultant”) for 2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project 
Services, including streamflow augmentation/restoration, net ecological benefits and hydrogeological 
services (the “Agreement”). On December 3, 2020, and November 15, 2021, consistent with his 
delegated authority the Public Works Director executed Amendments 1 and 2 to the Agreement, 
extending the term of the Agreement.  On May 3, 2023, staff concluded, in consultation with the 
Consultant, that additional time and continued work are needed to support the continuation of the 
2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project.  The City and the Consultant have conferred and agreed to 
an increased fee for the necessary continued work under the existing scope of services and to a revised 
Exhibit E: Fee Schedule.  As amended, the “Not to Exceed” amount of the Agreement is increased by 
$100,000 to a new total of $563,857, inclusive of all work performed and compensated to date. The 
City and the Consultant also propose to extend the duration of the Agreement to December 30, 2024.  
The 2023-2024 Budget includes funding for the continuation of service. 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends the Council authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 4 
to Contract No. C053-19 with Robinson Noble, Inc. for 2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project 
Services to extend the term and increase the contract amount by $100,000, for a total amended 
contract amount of $563,857. 

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 7: Utilities 

 Motion for Consideration:  I move to authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 4 to Contract 
No. C053-19 with Robinson Noble, Inc. for the 2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project Services.  

Fiscal Impact:  The 2023-2024 Biennial Budget includes $50,000 in 2023 and $50,000 in 2024.  
Budgeted under GL Code 411.05.534.10.40. 

Alternative:   Do not approve and provide alternative guidance. 

Attachments: Amendment No. 4, Amendment Authorization, Exhibit E (revised), and Courtesy Copy 
of Agreement 053-19    



CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

Authorization for Amendment No. 4 

Date: June 13, 2023 Contractor: Robinson Noble, Inc 
Project: 2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster 2105 South C Street 

Pilot Project Services Tacoma, WA  98402 
Contract / Job # C053-19 

   

Amount Sales Tax Total Date Appvd by
Original Contract $324,900.00 $0.00 $324,900.00 10-Sep-19 Council
Amendment 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 03-Dec-20 PW Director
Amendment 2 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 15-Nov-21 PW Director
Amendment 3 $138,957.00 $0.00 $138,957.00 28-Jun-22 Council
Amendment 4 $100,000.00 $0.00 $100,000.00 13-Jun-23 Council
Total Contract $563,857.00 $0.00 $563,857.00

Contract History

I have reviewed the Amendment information above and certify that to the best of my knowledge 
descriptions and costs are true and accurate. 

Contractor Approval Signature Public Works Director 

Tony Lang 
Printed Name & Title Printed Name 

 
      Approved: 
      Mayor 

Attest: 
      City Clerk 
 

Council Approval Date 

THIS CHANGE ORDER AUTHORIZES THE FOLLOWING CHANGES TO THE AGREEMENT: 
Section 3. Terms the termination date is extended to December 30, 2024. 
Section 4 (Compensation} of the agreement is increased by $100,000 changing the TIME AND MATERIALS 

NOT TO EXCEED, as amended, from $463,857 to $563,857 (inclusive of all amounts paid prior to the execution of 
this amendment).  Revision of Exhibit E: Fee Schedule   

In all other respects the Underlying Agreement between the parties shall remain in full force and effect, amended 
as set forth herein, but only as set forth herein.   

The amendment provides continuing services for the 2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project. 

Change Orders that do not exceed 10%, with a maximum of 
$50,000, of either legally authorized budget limit or contract 
amount established by City Council can be approved by the Public 
Works Director. 

Change Orders that do not exceed 10%, with a maximum of 
$100,000, of either legally authorized budget limit or contract 
amount established by City Council are to be approved by the 
Mayor. 

Change Orders over $100,000 or exceed a total of 10% require 
Council Action. 

Page 1 of 8

James E. Hay, President



 
Amendment No. 4 to Agreement between City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc. 
Contract No. C053-19 
Page 1 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR 
 

Amendment No. 4 to Contract No. 053-19 
 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
Robinson Noble, Inc 

THIS AMENDMENT No. 4 to Contract No. 053-19 (“Amendment”) is entered into between the City of Port 
Orchard, a Washington municipal corporation (“City” or “Port Orchard”) and Robinson Noble, Inc., a 
Washington corporation (“Consultant”). City and Consultant are each a “Party” and together “Parties” to this 
Amendment. 

RECITALS: 

  WHEREAS, on the September 10, 2019, the City executed a Professional Services Agreement for 
2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project Services with the Consultant (“Underlying Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, on December 3, 2020, November 15, 2021, and June 28, 2022, respectively, 
Amendments 1, 2, and 3 were approved, extending the Underlying Agreement’s termination date to June 
30, 2023, and increasing the Agreement Time and Materials Not to Exceed to $463,857; and 

WHEREAS, continuing services for the 2019-2020 ESSB 6091 Foster Pilot Project are required by the 
City that will exceed the current value of the Underlying Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the termination date of the underlying Agreement needs to be extended to allow time 
to complete the continuing work; and 

WHEREAS, the Consultant and the City have conferred and agreed to extend the termination date, 
Section 3 (Terms), of the agreement, as amended to December 30, 2024, and to increase the “Time and 
Materials Not to Exceed” amount, Section 4 (Compensation), of the agreement from $463,857 to $563,857 
in anticipation of the additional work; and 

WHEREAS, the parties wish to memorialize their agreement and so modify the Underlying 
Agreement;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual benefits accruing, it is agreed by and between 
the parties thereto as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 8



Amendment No. 4 to Agreement between City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc. 
Contract No. C053-19 
Page 2 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR 

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT: 

1. Amendment.

a. Section 3 Terms of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
This agreement shall commence on September 10, 2019 (“Commencement Date”) and shall
terminate December 30, 2024, unless extended or terminated in writing as provided herein.

b. Section 4 Compensation of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
TIME AND MATERIALS NOT TO EXCEED.  Compensation for these services shall not exceed
$563,857, inclusive of all amounts paid prior to the execution of Amendment No. 4 to this
Agreement, without written authorization and will be based on the list of billing rates and
reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit “A thru E” (as revised).

2. Severability. The provisions of this Amendment are declared to be severable. If any provision
of this Amendment is, for any reason, held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of any other provision. 

3. Entire Agreement. The written provisions and terms of this Amendment shall supersede all
prior verbal statements of any officer or other representative of the parties, and such statements shall not 
be effective or be construed as entering into or forming a part of or altering in any manner whatsoever, this 
Amendment.  The entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereunder is 
contained in the Agreement and exhibits thereto, any prior executed amendments and this Amendment. 
Should any language in any of the Exhibits to the Agreement or prior amendments conflict with any 
language contained in this Amendment, then this Amendment shall prevail. Except as modified by this 
Amendment, all other provisions of the original Agreement and any amendments thereto not inconsistent 
with this Amendment shall remain in full force and effect. 

4. Effective date. This Amendment shall be effective as of June 13, 2023.

DATED this 13th day of June, 2023. 

Page 3 of 8



 
Amendment No. 4 to Agreement between City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc. 
Contract No. C053-19 
Page 3 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR 
 

 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON 
 
_______________________________ 
Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

 
_______________________________ 
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________________ 
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney 

CONSULTANT 
 
_______________________________ 
Signature 
 
_______________________________ 
Printed Name and Title 
 

Page 4 of 8

James E. Hay, President



Exhibit E

Page 5 of 8



 

Page 6 of 8



 

Page 7 of 8



 

Page 8 of 8



CITY OF PORT ORCHARD PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS Agreement is made effective as of the lOth day of September 2019. by and between the
City of Port Orchard, a municipal corporation, organized under the laws of the State of Washington,
ivhose address rs:

CITY oF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON (hereinafter the*GITY")
216 Prospect Street
Port Orchard, Washington 98366

Contact: Mayor Robert Putaansuu Phone: 360.876.4407 Fax: 360.895 .9029

And Robinson and Noble, [nc., a corporation, organized under the laws of the State of
Washington, doing business at:

ROBTNSON NOBLE, [NC.
2105 South C Street
Tacoma, WA 98402

(hereinafter the "CONSULTANT")

Contact: Joseph E. Becker, LHG Phone: 253.475.7711
Princ ipal Hydrogeologist

Email : JBecker@robinson-noble.com

for personal services in connection with the following project:

2019-2020 ES,SB 6091 Foster Pilot Project Services

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

l. Services by Consu tant.

A. The Consultant shall perform the services described in the Scope of Work attached to this
Agreement as Exhibit "A thru D." The services performed by the Consultant shall not exceed the Scope of
Work without prior written authorization from the City.

B- The City may from time to time require changes or modifications in the Scope of Work.
Such changes, including any decrease or increase in the amount of compensation, shall be agreed to by the
parties and incorporated in written amendments to the Agreement.

2. Schedule of Work.

A. The Consultant shall perform the services described in the Scope of Work in accordance
with the tasks identified within Exhibit "A thru D" and the terms of this Agreement. tf delays beyond the
Consultant's reasonable control occur, the parties will negotiate in good faith to determine whether an
extension is appropriate.

B. The Consultant is authorized to proceed with services upon receipt of a written Notice to
Proceed.

Ciry of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, lnc
Contract No. C053-19

edits) docx Rev 7/l g20t9
I ofl0



3

4.

E

tr

E

!

Terms. This Agreement shallcommence on Auqggf2(
terminate Decenrber 31. 2020 unless extended ofterminated in writing as provided herein. The

Clty reserves the rlght to offer two (2) otre-year extensions prior to contrect expiretion to
retain the sc ected company'g gervices.

Compensation.

LUMP SUM. Compensation for these services shall be a Lump Sum of $

TIME AND MATERIALS NOT TO EXCEED. Compensation for these services shall not exceed

$324.900 without written authorization and will be based on the list of billing rates and

reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit "A thru 8."

TME AND MATERIALS. Compensation for these services shall be on a time and materials basis

according to the tist of billing rates and reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit "-."

OTHER.

5. Payment.

A. The Consultant shalt maintain time and expense records and provide them to the City

monthly after services have been performed, along with monthly invoices in a format acceptable to the City

for work performed to the date of the invoice,

B. All invoices shalt be paid by City warrant within thirty (30) days of receipt of a proper

invoice, If the City objects to all or any portion of any invoice, it shall so notiff the Consultant of the same

within fifteen ( lS)days from the date of receipt and shall pay that portion of the invoice not in dispute, and

the parties shall immediately make every effort to settle the disputed portion.

C. The Consultant shall keep cost records and accounts pertaining to this Agreement available

for inspection by City representatives for three (3) years after final payment unless a longer period is

required by a third-party agreement, Copies shall be made available on request.

D. On the effective date of this Agreement (or shortly thereafter), the Consultant shall comply

with all federal and state laws applicable to independent contractors, including, but not limited to, the

maintenance of a separate set of books and records that reflect all iterns of income and expenses of the

Consultant's business, pursuant to Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 5 I .08.195, as required by law, to

show that the services performed by the Consultant under this Agreement shall not give rise to an employer-

employee relationship between the parties, which is subject to Title 5l RCW, Indusfrial Insurance.

E. If the seryices rendered do not meet the requirements ofthe Agreement, the Consultant will
correct or modiS the work to comply with the Agreement. The Crty may withhold payment for such work

until the work meets the requirements of the Agreement.

6. Discrimination and Comp iance with Laws

A, The Consultant agrees not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for

employment or any other person in the performance of this Ageernent because of race, creed, color,

national origin, marital status, sox, age, disability, or other circurnstance prohibited by federal, state, or

local law or ordinance, except for a bona frde occupational qualification.

City of Port Orchard and Robincon Noble, Inc.

Controct No, C053-19

rdirr) dosr Rcv 7/tU20t9

2ofl0



B. Even though the Consultant is an independent contractor with the authority to control and
direct the performance and details of the work authorized under this Agreement, the work must meet the
approval of the City and shall be subject to the City's general right of inspection to secure the satisfactory
completion thereof. The Consultant agrees to comply with all federal, state and municipal laws, rules and
regulations that are now effective or become applicable within the term(s) of this Agreement to the
Consultant's business, equipment and personnel engaged in operations covered by this Agreement or
accruing out of the performance of such operations.

C. The Consultant shall obtain a City of Port Orchard business license prior to commencing
work pursuant to a written Notice to proceed.

D. Violation of this Paragraph 6 shall be a material breach of this Agreement and grounds for
cancellation, termination, or suspension of the Agreement by the City, in whole 6r in part, andmay result
in ineligibility for funher work for the City.

7' Relationship of Parties. The parties intend that an independent contractor-client relationship
will be created by this Agreement. As the Consultant is customaiily engaged in an independently
established trade which encompasses the specific service provided io ttr. dity h.r.under, no ug"nt,
employee, representative or sub-consultant of the Consultant shall be or shall be deemed to bJthe
employee, agent, representative or sub-consultant of the City. In the performance of the work, the
Consultant is an independent contractor with the ability to control und dir..t the perfornance and details
of the work, the City being interested only in the results obtained under this Agreement. None of the
benefits provided by the City to its employees, including but not limited to coipensation, insurance, and
unemployment insurance, are available from the City to the employees, agents, representatives or sub-
consultants of the Consultant. The Consultant will bt solely and entirelyiesponriUt" for its acts and for
the acts of its agents, employees, representatives and sub-consultants during ihe performance of this
Agreement. The City may, during the term of this Agreement, engage othei indipendent contractors to
perform the same or similar work that the Consultaniperforms heieunder.

8. Suspension and Termination of Agreement

A. Termination without cause. This Agreement may be terminated by the City at any time for
public convenience, for the Consultant's insolvency or bankruptly, or the Consuliant', asiigrment for the
benefit of creditors.

B. Termination with cause. This Agreement may be terminated upon the default of the
Consultant and the failure of the Consultant to cure such default within a reasonable time after receiving
written notice of the default.

C. Rights Upon Termination.
With or llithout Cause. Upon termination for any reason, all finished or unfinished

documents, reports, or other material or work of the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement shall
be submitted to the city, and the consultant shall be entitled to just and equitable compensation for
any satisfactory work cornpleted prior to the date of termination, not to exceed the total
compensation set forth herein. The consultant shall not be entitled to any reallocation of cost,
profit or overhead. The Consultant shall not in any event be entitled to anticipated profit on work
not performed because of such termination. The Consultant shall use its best efforts to minimize
the compensation payable under this Agreement in the event of such termination. Upon

City of Port Orchard and Robiwon lvoble, lnc
Contract No. C053-19
U;\ENGINEERING\WATER\WeII #13\2018 ' 2o2o well d13 Project\Admin\consultsnt Selection wdl #13\Warcr Rights Foser\RobNob 20t9-2020\pSA_RN 2ol9-2020 Fostcr (wirh SEC
edits) docx 

Rev 7/lgl20l9
3ofl0



termination, the City may take over the work and prosecute the same to completion, by contract or
otherwise.

2. Default. tf the Agreement is terminated for default, the Consultant shall not be
entitled to receive any further payments under the Agreement until all work called for has been
fully performed. Any extra cost or damage to the City resulting from such default(s) shall be
deducted from any money due or coming due to the Consultant. The Consultant shall bear any extra
expenses incurred by the City in completing the work, including all increased costs for completing
the work, and all damage sustained, or which may be sustained, by the City by reason of such

default.

D. Suspension. The Cify may suspend this Agreement, at its sole discretion. Any
reimbursement for expenses incurred due to the suspension shall be limited to the Consultant's reasonable

expenses, and shall be subject to verification. The Consultant shall resume performance of services under

this Agreement without delay when the suspension period ends.

E. Notice of Termination or Suspension. If delivered to the Consultant in person, termination

shall be effective immediately upon the Consultant's receipt of the City's written notice or such date as

stated in the City's notice of termination, whichever is later. Notice of suspension shall be given to the

Consultant in writing upon one week's advance notice to the Consultant. Such notice shall indicate the

anticipated period of suspension. Notice may also be delivered to the Consultant at the address set forth in
Section 15 herein.

9. Standard of Care. The Consultant represents and warrants that it has the requisite training, skill
and experience necessary to provide the services under this Agreement and is appropriately accredited and

licensed by all applicable agencies and governmental entities. Services provided by the Consultant under

this Agreement will be performed in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily
exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing in similar circumstances.

10. Ownership of Work Product.

A. AII data, materials, repofts, memoranda, and other documents developed under this
Agreement whether finished or not shall become the property of the City, shall be forwarded to the City at

its request and may be used by the City as it sees fit. Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to

paragraph 8 above, all finished or unfinished documents, repofts, or other material or work ofthe Consultant

pursuant to this Agreement shall be submitted to City. Any reuse or modification of such documents,

reports or other material or work of the Consultant for purposes other than those intended by the Consultant

in its scope of services under this Agreement shall be at the City's risk.
B. All written information submitted by the City to the Consultant in connection with the

services performed by the Consultant under this Agreement will be safeguarded by the Consultant to at

least the same extent as the Consultant safeguards like information relating to its own business. If such

information is publicly available or is already in the Consultant's possession or known to it, or is rightfully
obtained by the Consultant from third parties, the Consultant shall bear no responsibility for its disclosure,
inadvertent or otherwise. The Consultant is permitted to disclose any such information only to the extent

required by law, subpoena or other court order.

ll. Work Performed at the Consultant's Risk. The Consultant shall take all precautions necessary

and shall be responsible for the safety of its employees, agents and sub-consultants in the performance of
the work hereunder, and shall utilize all protection necessary for that purpose. All work shall be done at

City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc.
Contract No. C053-19

edits) docx Rev 7/1812019

4 of10



the Consultant's own risk, and the Consultant shalt be responsible for any loss of or damage to materials,
tools, or other articles used or held by the Consultant for use in connection with the work.

12. Indemnification. The Consultant shall defend, indemniff and hold the City, its officers, officials,
employees, agents and volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses or suits,
including all legal costs and attorneys' fees, arising out of or resulting from the negligent acts, errors or
omissions of the Consultant in perforrnance of this Agreement, exceptfor injurie. or da.ages caused by
the sole negligence of the City.

Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24,115, then,
in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to property caused
by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the City, its officerr, off.iulr,
employees, agents and volunteers, the Consultant's liability hereunder shall be only to the extent of the
Consultant's negligence. The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this
Agreement.

IT IS FURTI-MR SPECIFICALLY AND EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD THAT THE
INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED HERETN CONSTITUTES THE CONSULTANT'S WAryER OF
IMMLINITY TINDER TNDUSTRIAL INSURANCE, TITLE 51 RCW, SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES
OF THIS NDEMNIFICATION. THE PARTIES FURTFIER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT TTIEY HAVE
MUTUALLY NEGOTIATED THIS WAIVER.

13. fnsurance, The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of this Agreement,
insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in
connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representatives, or
employees.

A. Minimum Scope of Insurance

Consultant shall obtain insurance of the types described below:

l. Automobile Liabili[v insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased
vehicles. Coverage shall be written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 0l
or a substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage. [f necessary, the policy
shall be endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage.

Commercial Ceneral Liabili[v insurance shall be written on ISO occurence form CG
00 01 or a substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage and shall cover
liability arising toT premises, operations, independent contractors-and personal injury
and advertising injury. The City shall be named by endorsement ai un additional
insured under the Consultant's Commercial General Liability insurance policy with
respect to the work performed for the City.

Workers' Contpensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the
State of Washington.

Professional Liabilitv insurance appropriate to the Consultant's profession.

City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc
Contract No. C05j-19
U:\ENGIMERING\WATER\WeII #l3U0l8 - 2020 Well #13 Projcct\Admin\Conrultant Selecrion Wclt #13\Wrrer Riglns- FostoARobNoh 2019-2020\pSA_RN 20t 9-2020 Fosrer (with SEC
edits) docx Rev 7/lgD0l9

5ofl0

at,

J

4



B. Minimum Amounts of Insurance

Consultant shall maintain the following insurance limits:

l. Autonrobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily
injury and propefi damage of $1,000,000 per accident.

2. Cornmercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than
$1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate.

3. Workers' Compensation Employer's Liability each accident $1,000,000, Employer's
Liability Disease each employee $1,000,000, and Employer's Liability Disease -
Policy Limit $ 1,000,000.

4. Professional Liabiliry insurance shall be written with limits no less than $1,000,000
per claim and $1,000,000 policy aggregate limit.

C. Other Insurance Provisions

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions for
Automobile Liability, Professional Liability and Commercial General Liability insurance:

i. The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respect the City.
Any insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage maintained by the City shall
be excess of the Consultant's insurance and shall not contribute with it,

2. The Consultant's insurance shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be

cancelled by either parry, except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified
mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the City.

3. The City wilt not waive its right to subrogation against the Consultant. The
Consultant's insurance shall be endorsed acknowledging that the City will not waive
their right to subrogation. The Consultant's insurance shall be endorsed to waive the
right of subrogation against the City, or any self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage
maintained by the City.

4. If any coverage is wriffen on a "claims made" basis, then a minimum of a three (3) year
extended reporting period shall be included with the claims made policy, and proof of
this extended reporting period provided to the City.

D. Acceptability of Insurers

Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best rating of not less than A:VII.

E. Verification of Coverage

The Consultant shall furnish the City with original certificates and a copy of the amendatory
endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the additional insured endorsement,
evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before commencement of the work.

City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc.
Contract No. C053-/,9

edits) docx Rev 7/l 8/2019

6ofl0



14. Assigning or Subcontracting. The Consultant shall not assign, hansfer, subcontract or encurnber
any rights, duties, or interests accruing from this Agreement without the express prior written consent of
the City, which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of the City.

15. Notice. Any notices required to be given by the City to the Consultant or by the Consultant to the City
shall be in writing and delivered to the parties at the following addresses:

Robert Putaansuu
Mayor
216 Prospect Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366

Phone: 360.876.4407
Fax: 360,895.9029

CONSULTANT
Robinson Noble, Inc.
2105 South C Street
Tacoma, WA 98402

Phone: 253.475.7711
Fax: 253.472.5846

16. Reso ution of Disputes and Governing Law.

A. Should any dispute, misunderstanding or conflict arise as to the terms and conditions
contained in this Agreement, the matter shatl first be referred to the Mayor, who shall determine the term
or provision's true intent or meaning. The Mayor shall also decide all questions which may arise between
the parties relative to the actual services provided or to the sufficiency of tne performance hereunder.

B. If any dispute arises between the City and the Consultant under any of the provisions of
this Agreement which cannot be resolved by the Mayor's determination in a reasonable time, or if the
Consultant does not agree with the Mayor's decision on a disputed matter, jurisdiction of any resulting
litigation shall be filed in Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap Counry, Wasfiingon.

C. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Washington. In any suit or action instituted to enforce any right granted in this Agreement, the
substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its costs, disburiements, and reasonable attorneys'
fees from the other party.

17. General Provisions.

A. Non-waiver of Breach. The failure of either party to insist upon strict performance of any
of the covenants and agreements contained herein, or to exercise any option herein contained in one or more
instances, shall not be construed to be a waiver or relinquishment oirula covenants, agreements, or options,
and the same shall be in full force and effect.

B' Modification. No waiver, alteration, modification of any of the provisions of this
Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized iepresentuiiu. of the City and
the Consultant.

C. Severabilit)'. The provisions of this Agreement are declared to be severable. If any
provision of this Agreement is for any reason held by atourt of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or
unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affectln. uuiiaity or constitutionality of
any other provision.

Citlt of Port Orchard ond Robinson Noble, Inc.
Contract No. C053-19
U:\IiNGINEERJNC\WATER\Wdl flI3UOt 8 - 2o20 Well # l3 Projcct\Admin\Consultrnt Sdection Well I I l\Warer Rights- Foser\RobNob 2ot 9-2020\pSA_RN 2019-2020 Fosler (wirh SEC
edits) docx Rev 7llgll}lg

7 of l0



D. Erttire Agreernent. The written provisions of this Agreement, together with any Exhibits
attached hereto, shall supersede all prior verbal statements of any officer or other representative of the City,
and such statements shall not be effective or be construed as entering into or forming a part of or altering
in any manner whatsoever, the Agreement or the Agreement documents. The entire agreement between
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereunder is contained in this Agreement and the Exhibits
attached hereto, which may or may not have been dated prior to the execution of this Agreement. All of
the above documents are hereby made apart of this Agreement and form the Agreement document as fully
as if the same were set forth herein. Should any language in any of the Exhibits to this Agreement conflict
with any language contained in this Agreement, then this Agreement shall prevail,

18. Title VI

The City of Port Orchard, in accordance with Title VI of the Civit Rights Act of 1964,78 Stat. 252,
42 U.S.C.2000d to 2000d-4 and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Departrnent of Transportation
subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, nondiscrimination in federally assisted programs of the
Department of Transportation issued pursuant to such Act, must affirmatively insure that its contracts
comply with these regulations.

Therefore, during the performance of this Agreement, the Consultant, for itself its assignees, and

successors in interest agrees as follows:

1. Comptiance with Regulations: The Consultant will comply with the Acts and the Regulations
relative to Nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. Department of
Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (F[{WA), as they may be amended from time to
time, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement.

2. Nondiscrimination: The Consultant, with regard to the work performed by it during this
Agreement, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age,

disability, income-level, or LEP in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including
procurements of materials and leases of equipment. The Consultant will not participate directly or
indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the Acts and the Regulations as set forth in
Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, including employment
practices when this Agreement covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of
49 C.F.R. part2l.

3. So icitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment: In all
solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the Consultant for work to be
performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each

potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the Consultant of the Consultant's
obligations under this Agreement and the Acts and the Regulations relative to Non-discrimination
on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, income-level, or LEP.

4. Information and Reports: The Consultant will provide all information and reports required by
the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto and will permit access to its
books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by
the City or the FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Acts, Regulations, and

instructions. Where any information required of the Consultant is in the exclusive possession of
another who fails or refuses to furnish the information, the Consultant will so certiff to the City
or the FHWA, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.

City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc.
Contract No. C053-19
U:\ENGINEERING\WATER\WeII #13\2018 - 2020 Well #13 Prolrt\Admin\Consult8nt Selection Well *lJ\Water Rights_ Fostcr\RobNob 2019-2020\PSA_RN 2019-2020 Fosrer (with SEC

cdits) docx Rev 7118D019

8 of l0



5, Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of the Consultant's noncompliance with the Non-
discrimination provisions of this Agreement, the City will impose such contract sanctions as it or
the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited to:

l. withholding payments to the Consultant under the Agreement until the Consultant
complies; and/or

2, cancelling, terminating, or suspending the Agreement, in whole or in part.

6. Incorporation of Provisions: The Consultant will include the provisions of paragraphs one
through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment,
unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto. The Consultant
will take action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the City or the FHWA may
direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance. Provided,
that if the Consultant becomes involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or
supplier because of such direction, the Consultant may request the City to enter into any titigation
to protect the interests of the City. In addition, the Consultant may request the United States to
enter into the litigation to protect the interests of the United States.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year set forth
above.

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD,
WASHINGTON

By:
Robert

ATTEST/A TE:

By:
MMC

City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By:

CONSULTANT

Joseph E

Becker

Digitally signed by Joseph E

Becker

Date: 20'l 9 08.14 16:27:59
-07'00'By

Mayor
|oseph E. Becker

Name:

President

Ci4' o./'Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc
Contract No. C053-i,9
U:\ENGINEERJNG\WATER\WeII #l3U0lS - 2020 Wcll#13 ProjectV\dmin\Consulrrnt Sdccrioa Well llt i\Wucr Ngfs_fostcr\RobNob Z0l9-2020\PSA_RN 2019_2020 Fostcr (with SEC
edirs),docx Rcv 7/lg20l9

9ofl0



APPENDIX A

During the performance of this Agreement, the Consultant, for itself, its assignees, and successors in
interest agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; including but not
limited to:

Pertinent Non-Discrimination Authorities:

a

a

o

a

o

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42TJ .S.C. S 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); and 49 C.F.R. Part 21.
The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, (42
U.S.C. $ 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has been
acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);
Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1973, (23 U.S.C. $ 324 et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on the
basis of sex);
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. $ 794 et seq.), as amended, (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 C.F.R. Part27;
The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended,(42 U .S.C. $ 6101 et seq.), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of age);
Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC$ 471, Section 4 7123), as amended,
(prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);
The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage and
applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms "programs
or activities" to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-
recipients and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not);
Titles I[ and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibit discrimination on the basis
of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation systems, places
of public accornmodation, and cer.tain testing entities (42 U.S.C. $$ l2I3l-12189) as

implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at 49 C.P.R. parts 37 and 38;
The Federal Aviation Administration's Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. S 47123) (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex);
Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority
Populations and Low-lncome Populations, which ensures discrimination against minority
populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately high and
adverse human health or environmental effects on minorify- and low-income populations;
Executive Order 13166, lmproving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English
Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes discrimination
because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure compliance with Title VI, you must take
reasonable steps to -ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed.
Reg. at 74081 to 74100);
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1912, as amended, which prohibits you from
discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. l68l et seq).

a

a

a

o

o

a

a

City of Port Orchard and Robinson Noble, Inc.
Contract No, C053-],9

cditr) docx Rev 7/182019

l0 of 10



Exhibit A
ROB!NSON

NOBLE

August 13, 2019

Mr. Mark Dorsey
Public Works Director
City of Port Orchard
216 Prospect Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366

Subject: Robinson Noble scope of work and cost estimate for ESSB 6091 'Foster' Pilot Project
Streamflow Augmentation/Restoration, Net Ecological Benefits & Hydrogeological Services

Dear Mark,

ln February, the City of Port Orchard contracted with Robinson Noble to provide hydrogeologic
and water rights consulting in relation to the City's Foster pilot project. ln July, with changes in
the proiect, the City decided to send out a competitive request for qualifications to complete
the work. Earlier today, you emailed me to say that the Robinson Noble team was selected to
continue the Foster pilot work and asked for a new scope of work. We appreciate the City's
confidence in our work.

With this letter, I am providing a new scope of work and cost estimate. lt is based on the
previous scope, as well as new information that has come to light since the previous scope
was written. This new information includes the final guidance from Ecology for the net
ecological benefit analysis (dated July 31) and the latest modeling. As you directed, this scope
includes, as noted below, the work previously completed.

l've broken down the scope into two general tasks: 1) completing the modeling and providing a
hydrogeologic impact report; and 2l providing CRA seryices, including writing the draft Report
of Examinations. Subtasks that are complete or partially complete as of the time of writing this
scope are noted with comments on status. lf a subtask descriptlon does not have a status
comment, work has yet to begin.

Task 1: Modeling and Hydrogeologic lmpact Report

subtask 1A: lnitial Model Modifications and Error Estimates

As a requirement of the preliminary permits forWells 12 and 13, Ecology requires the USGS
Kitsap groundwater model be used to analyze potential impacts of withdrawals from the wells.
Prior using the model, slight modifications were needed, such as inserting Wells iZ and 13 and
changing the number of stress periods. ln addition, an estimate of model error was necessary
so that modeled changes in streamflow can be addressed with respect to modet error. The
estimate of model error was also used to estimate the area of potential influence of the new
wells, i.e. the area in which stream impacts may dse above the leve! of model error,

Status: this work is complete

Subtask 1B: Steady-state Modeling

2105 South C Street
Tacoma, Washington 98402
P2253.475.7711 | F: 253.472.5845

17525 130m Avenue NE, Suite 102
Woodinville, Washington 98072

P:425.488.0599 | F: 425.a88.2330

www. ro bi nso n-no bl e.com



August 13,2019
Mr. Mark Dorsey
Robinson Noble Foster Pilot Project Services Scope of Work
Page 2

As a requirement of the preliminary permits. the USGS Kitsap groundwater flow model needs
to be used to conduct steady-state modeling simulations of the proposed new water
withdrawals under water right applications G1-28476A (Well 12) and G1-28162A (Well 12) as

well as the change applications related to G1-*04166C, G1-24589C, G1-26119P, G1-24437P,
G1-2644P, and G1-264UP which make Well 13 as an additional point of withdrawal for Wells 6,

7, and 10; make Well 11 an additional point of withdrawal for McCormick Wells 1,2,3, and 48;
and make Well 12an additional point of withdrawal for Well 11 and McCormick Wells 1,2,3,
and 48.

Baseline model simulations will first be run using currently allowed water rights withdrawals.
Then predictive simulations will be run with the newly propose withdrawals under the above
listed applications. The results of the two sets of runs will be compared to determine projected

stream flow impairments. Saparate model runs will be conducted for each of the applications
as well as combinations of all the applications.

Status: the majority of this work is complete, and it likely will be all complete by the effective
date of the new contract (unless Ecology requests additional model modifications, see optional
subtask 1E below). The simulations had to be re-run when the projected future water demand
was revised in July.

Subtask 1C: Stream Record Analysis.

ln order to prioritize timing of potential mitigation, as well as examine the relationship between
critical periods of natural streamflow and any projected impacts to stream flow, an analysis of
the hydrographs of the potentially impacted streams needs to be made. We will examine and

analyze existing stream gage records available from Kitsap PUD and the USGS for each of the
potentially impacted streams where such data is available. Results will be provided in the Task

1 report.

Status: the majority of this work is complete, and it likely will be all complete by the effective
date of the new contract.

Subtask 1D: Transient Modeling.

Transient modeling will allow timing of impacts to be defined, However, based on the
provisions of the preliminary permits for Wells 12 and 13, transient modeling is to occur
following consultation with Ecology and the Tribes. ln a previous meeting with Ecology, the City
requested Ecology concurrence on conducting transient modeling. Ecology's concurrence was
grven.

Transient modeling will look at several combinations of the above listed water rights
applications and compare results to baseline simulations under currently authorized rights.
Various simulations will be run including looking at the effects of instantaneously changing to
the new water rights amounts and phasing in the new rights over a SGyear period based upon
projected water demands provided by the City's engineer, BHC. Because of the extremely long
run times for the USGS Kitsap model, most the transient simulations will use year-long stress
periods. However, to investigate the effect of seasonal changes in production, several



August 13,2019
Mr. Mark Dorsey
Robinson Noble Foster Pilot Project Services Scope of Work
Page 3

simulations will be made with month-long stress periods. (A single model run of 50 years with
month-long stress periods takes about four full days.)

Results will be analyzed to look to total projected impairments of streams as well the timing of
the impairments, both annually and seasonally. Results will be presented to the Tribe and
Ecology for comment.

Status: the majority of this work is complete. lt is likely the analysis of results will be
completed by the effective date of the new contract. The simulations had to be re-run with the
revision to the water demand in July. The presentation of results to the Tribe and Ecology is not
yet scheduled.

Subtask 1E: (Optional) RefinemenUModification of the Model

According to the preliminary permits, Ecology may require refinement or modification of the
model (based on the model results) followed by re-running some or all of the previous model
simulations. We will not know whether this will be required until after results are presented to
the Tribe and Ecology. There are two main concerns that may prompt modification of the
model. The first is that the deep aquifer at Well 12 location is poorly represented in the model.
ln the model, the aquifer at Wetl 12 is essentially absent (the modeled Well 12 produces from a
low permeability zoner). The second is the depth of Well '13. The deep aquifer at the Well 13
site in the model is at about 800 feet below sea level. Drilling of Well 13 found the aquifer
considerably deeper, at about -1 100 to -1500 below sea level (this zone is partialty in a confining
unit and partially in bedrock within the model).

lf required, the model will be modified to address these conditions and the simulations re-run
as necessary. ln this case, an additional meeting with the Tribe and Ecology presenting the
revised model results will likely be required.

Subtask 1F: Hydrogeology and lmpact Report.

The deliverable for Task 1 will be a technical memorandum describing the hydrogeology of the
area, the stream hydrographic analysis, the modeling procedures and results, and a summary of
projected tmpacts to area streams. The report will be written so that it is easily incorporated
into a later draft Reports of Examination for the various water right applications.

Subtask 1G: Project Management, Meetings, and other Assistance.

Task 1 includes a number of meetings, including meetings between the team members, two
meetings with the Tribe and Ecology (either together or separately), and attendance Foster
Iegislative committee meetings as directed. lt also includes additional general project
management time. Other non-scoped technica! assistance will be provided as requested by the
City.

Status: several team member meeting have occurred, as wel! as one meeting with Ecology
and one informal meeting with the Tribe.

rThis situation results in the simulated Well 12 producing a very iarge amount of drawdown in the
model. Of course, since Well 12 has yet to be drilled, the lack of a deep aquifer at the site may be real,



August 13,2019
Mr. Mark Dorsey
Bobinson Noble Foster Pilot Project Services Scope of Work
Page 4

Task 1 Schedule

The complexity of the model simulations coupled with changing guidance from Ecology has

significantly changed the scheduling of Task 1 . Currently, Task 1 can likely be completed by the
end of September provided model modification is not required. lf the model needs to be

modified and various simulations re-run, task 1 could potentially run to the end of November.

Task 2: Water Right Processing

This scope of work assumes the applications will be processed through a streamlined Cost
Heimbursement Agreement (CRA) with Robinson Noble acting as the consultant conducting all

work, including drafting the Reports of Examination (ROEs), Matt Rakow with Ecology
previously indicated a streamlined CRA will be allowed. The work is divided into six subtasks.

Subtask 24: Tier 1 Avoidance Analysis.

The ROEs will need to address the three tiers of analysis described in pilot project legislation.
The first tier is avoidance. For this subtask, Robinson Noble will work with Tom Pors to address
avoidance of impairments in the ROEs. Tom Pors has indicated, based on Ecology guidance,

that the tier 1 analysis will be rather simple,

Subtask 28: Tier 2 Minimization Analysis.

This work will involve two set types of mitigation: stream augmentation and replacement water
rights. Work on the stream augmentation portion of this subtask will be completed by Robinson
Noble in conjunction with our subconsultant, Carollo Engineers (Carollo). Carollo's scope of
work is summarized here but the full body of their scope is included as part of this scope and is
attached as Exhibit A. For the replacement water rights portion of this subtask, work will be
completed by Robinson Noble in conjunction with our subconsultant, WestWater Research
(WestWater). WestWater's scope of work is summarized here but the full body of their scope
is included as part of this scope and is attached as Exhibit B, Subtask 2B will start with a team
meeting to discuss the results of the impairment analysis and to coordinate subtask
communications and workloads between team members and the City.

Stream augmentation will be proposed {or those impacted creeks where lt is reasonably
attainable. Currently this includes creeks within the Port Orchard service area (Blackjack, Ross,
Anderson, and Parrish), as well as creeks in within neighboring purveyors service areas where
agreements might be reached to provide augmentation. Specifically, these are Salmonberry
Creek via West Sound Utilities and Gorst Creek (and possibly the Union River) via the City of
Bremerton.

Stream augmentation at Blackjack, Ross, Anderson, and Parrish will use the previous stream
mitigation plan developed for the City in 2006 which provided design concept stream
augmentation on these four creeks provided the sites can handle the (presumed) new larger
flows. Carollo will use the City's hydraulic model to confirm transmission capacities to the sites
Similar conceptual designs will be provided for Salmonberry and Gorst Creeks if agreements
can be worked out with West Sound and the City of Bremerton.



August 13,2019
lVlr. Mark Dorsey
Robinson Noble Foster Pilot Project Services Scope of Work
Page 5

For other impacted creeks, Robinson Noble will provide support for determining that stream
augmentation as being not reasonably attainable. Carollo will assist with definition of
conceptual-level stream augmentation and provide definition of where it is not reasonably
attainable by looking at costs and impediment to extending City service to the rnore distant
impacted streams.

For creeks where stream augmentation is not reasonably attainable (currently scoped as upper
Blackjack, Olalla, Crescent, Purdy, Burly, Huge/Minter, Rocky, and Coulter Creeks), a search will
be conducted for replacement water rights that potentially could be purchased to mitigate
modeled impacts. The water right search will be accomplished WestWater Research. Based on
our experience in the atea, we believe that few if any such water rights will be found. However,
the search needs to be accomplished to satisfy Ecology's tier 2 guidance. Should suitable water
rights be identified by the search, we will attempt to ascertain the owners of said rights and
contact them as to their interest in selling the rights. Negotiating the actual sale of rights to the
City is outside the current scope, More details on the water right search are provided in the
attached scope of work from WestWater.

Subtask 2C:Tier 3 Compensation Analysis.

The third tier is compensation analysis. Work on subtask2C will be completed by Robinson
Noble in conjunction with our subconsultant, Environmental Science Associates (ESA). ESA's
scope of work is summarized here but the full body of their scope is inctuded as part of this
scope and is attached as Exhibit C.

The compensation analysis will consist of several major facets: developing the compensation
plan, completing the NEB analysis to demonstrate the plan adequately offsets impairments,
and working with stakeholders to get general agreement on the plan and the NEB analysis. We
plan for three meetings with stakeholders.

We assume the development of projects for the tier 3 mitigation will occur from potential
mitigation proiects in existing reports and that no new projects will need to be identified. We
also assume no field work will be required for either the selection/development of mitigation
projects or calculations of ecological benefit. ESA will develop an analysis framework with
mitigation projects and preliminary crediUdebit catculations which will be shared with the City
and stakeholders and subject to revisions to address comments.

When the framework is agreed upon, ESA wil! prepare a NEB repoft following Ecology's final
guidance dated July 31't. The report will include an evaluation and description of impacts and
ecological offsets, as well as a matrix that describes all impacts and offsets, summing up the
net benefits in a quantitative or semi-quantitative manner. lt will also include a discussion of
financial and other assurances that mitigation will be implemented and remain in place,
monitoring or evaluations plans to ensure lasting benefits, and descriptions of contingency
plans or corrective actions to be taken if goals are not met. We anticipate the City will need to
participate in developing with the assurances and contingency sections. Assistance from the
City may also be required to obtain support from tribal, state and local resource managers.

subtask 2D: Monitoring, Reporting, compliance, and Assurance.



August 13, 2019
IVlr. Mark Dorsey
Robinson Noble Foster Pilot Project Services Scope of Work
Page 6

This subtask will involve designing monitoring, reporting, compliance, and assurance conditions
for the ROEs. We will work together with Tom Pors, and in consultation with Ecology, to
identify compatible conditions for inclusion as provisions in the ROEs. ESA will provide

monitoring and assurance plans within their subtask 2C report that will be used as input for this
subtask.

Subtask 2E Drafl Reports of Examination.

Robinson Noble will write draft ROEs for the two new and six change applications that are
pending. The results of Task 1 and Subtasks 2A- 2D will be incorporated into the draft ROEs

We presume that preliminary drafts may be submitted to the Tribe for comment. Following
possible incorporation of Tribal comments, the drafts will be delivered to Ecology. Ecology's
comments will be worked into final drafts for posting on Ecology's website.

Subtask 2F: Project Management, Meetings, and other Assistance.

This scope includes five in-person meetings between Robinson Noble and various team
members as the project progresses, attendance at Foster legislative committee meetings as
requested, and attendance at three meetings with Tribal or other stakeholders. This task also

includes proiect management following the end of Task 1 and any assistance of Robinson
Noble with other parts of the process not specified in Tasks 1 and 2.

Task 2 Schedule

Task 2 was scheduled to start in June but has been delayed due to the time Task t has taken.
Task 2 work wil! begin following the effective date of the new contract, assumed to be

September 1't. Because of the evolving nature of the Foster program and the uncertainty of
whether subtask 1E will be required, as well as meetings with and review by the Tribes and
Ecology, the schedule below is an estimate.

Subtask 2A: Tier 1 Avoidance Analysis

Subtask 2B: Tier 2 Minimization Analysis

Subtask 2C:Tter 3 Compensation Analysis

Subtask 2D: Monitoring, Reporting, etc.

Subtask 2E: Draft Reports of Examination

Subtask 2F: PltA, Meetings, Other Assistance

Estimated Cost

September

September - November

September - November

December - January 2020

February - August 2O2O

Septemb er 2019 - Augu st 2020

While this current version of the scope of work is better defined than the version from earlier
this year, it is still expected that the exact nature of the required work may evolve as the
project progresses and with input from the Tribe, WDFW, and Ecology. Therefore, the following
cost estimate is truly an estimate and could be higher or lower depending upon how the project
progresses.

Based on our current understanding of the project and the conditions outlined in this scope, we
estimate the cost of our services for Task 1, as described above, to be $80,500. This includes



August 13,2019
Mr. Mark Dorsey
Robinson Noble Foster Pilot Project Services Scope of Work
Page 7

$17,500 for optional subtask 1 E and $3,500 for other assistance as request under subtask 1G,

Our estimate for Task 2, including the services of ESA, Carollo, and WestWater, is estimated at
$294,400. Together, the total estimated cost is $374,900, This estimate is based upon
Robinson Noble's current fee schedule, attached as Exhibit D.

The estimated cost includes work to date. As of today, we have invoiced $41,659 under the
existing contract and have another $3,472 booked against the project but not yet invoiced. lt is
likely that we will accrue another $4,000 or $5,000 worth of work prior to the end of the current
contract and the start of the new contract. This projects to approximately $50,000 worth of
work being completed prior to the execution date of the new contract. Consequently, the work
yet-tobe completed under the new contract is estimated at $324,900. Of course, this total
depends on how much work we actually complete prior to the new contract as well as the start
date of the new contract.

I hope this scope of work and cost estimate is adequate for your needs, Please contact us if we
can provide additional information or modify the scope of work to better assist the City. lf you
have questions or need additional information, please contact me Thank you for the
opportunity to continue being of service to the City.

Sincerely,
Robinson Noble, lnc.

Principa ! Hyd rogeologist

J+f /vv--\
loseph E, Becker, LHG



Exhibit B

SCOPE OF WORK

ROBINSON NOBLE

PORT ORCHARD STREAMFLOW AUGMENTATION STUDY

SCOPE OF SERVICES

The following Scope of Services has been developed to assist the City of Port Orchard (City) with the

identification of conceptual infrastructure needed for stream augmentation. The task will consider using

City water or wholesale water from Group A water systems and identify the water system infrastructure

needed to deliver the water, including pipes, pump station, etc.

PROJ ECT ASSUM PTIONS

. Carollo Engineers, lnc. will be referred to as "Consultant" in this document.
o The City of Port Orchard and its staff will be referred to as "Caty" in this document.
o Robinson Noble lnc. will be referred to as "Prime".
o Environmental Sciences Associates will be referred to as "ESA"

. All meetings wil! be held at the City offices unless specified as a teleconference.

. Draft deliverables will be provided in electronic copy (PDF and/or Microsoft Word)transmitted
via email or secure file transfer.

. Consultant to provide an agenda, meeting materials, and a meeting summary documenting

discussions, action items, and decisions for all facilitated meetings. Meeting summary and

related materials will be transmitted electronically in MS Word and PDF formats via email.

. The Prime and City will print and produce additional copies of all documents as necessary for
their use beyond what will be provided by the Consultant, as stated within this scope of

services.

o Consultant shall not be responsible for warranties, guarantees, fitness for a particular purpose,

breach of fiduciary duty, loss of anticipated profits, or for economic, incidental or consequential

damages to the Prime, City or any third party arising out of breach of contract, termination, or
for professional negligence. Additionally, Consultant shall not be responsible for acts and

decisions of third parties, including governmental agencies, other than Consultant's

subconsultants, that impact project completion and/or success.

LDRAFT: 6/L3/20L9



The Prime shallfurnish Consultant with available studies, reports, and other data pertinent to
Consultant's services; obtain or authorize Consultant to obtain or provide additional reports and
data as required; furnish to Consultant services of others required for the performance of
Consultant's services hereunder, and Consultant shall be entitled to use and rely upon all such
information and services provided by the Prime, City or others in performing Consultant's
services under this Agreement.

The services to be performed by Consultant are intended solely for the benefit of the Prime or
City. No person or entity not a signatory to this Agreement shall be entitled to rely on
Consultant's performance of its services hereunder, and no right to assert a claim against
Consultant by assignment of indemnity rights or otherwise shall accrue to a third party as a

result of this Agreement or the performance of Consultant's services hereunder.
The City shall arrange for access to and make all provisions for Consultant to enter upon public
and private property, as required for Consultant to per.form services hereunder.
ln providing opinions of cost, financial analyses, economic feasibility projections, and schedules
for potential projects, Consultant has no control over cost or price of labor and material;
unknown or latent conditions of existing equipment or structures that may affect operation and
maintenance costs; competitive bidding procedures and market conditions; time or quality of
performance of third parties; quality, type, management, or direction of operating personnel;
and other economic and operationalfactors that may materially affect the ultimate project cost
or schedule. fherefore, Consultant makes no warranty that the City's actual project costs,
financial aspects, economic feasibility, or schedules will not vary from Consultant's opinions,
analyses, projections, or estimates.
Project is anticipated to last four (4) months. lt is assumed each Monthly Progress Report
and lnvoice requires 3 hours of Project Manager (PM) effort, L hour of Quality Manger/plC,
and t hour for Document Processing,

It is assumed meetings or workshops will be attended by two Consultant Staff: Project
Manager (4 hours) and Professional (6 hours). Document Processing of t hour is assumed for
meeting minutes.

It is assumed teleconferences will be attended by two Consultant Staff: Project
Manager (1.5 hours) and Professional (3 hours). Document Processing of t hour is assumed for
meeting minutes,

It is assumed that each stream augmentation option in Task 200 will require 4 hours of
Professional effort,2 hours of GIS effort, t hourof PM effort, and 15 minutes of euality
Manager Effort.

It is assumed that costing each stream augmentation option in Task 300 will require 2 hours of
Professiona! effort, 1.75 hour of GIS effort, 0.25 hours of PM effort, and 5 minutes of euality
Manager Effort.

a

c

a

o

a

a

a

a

2DRAFT: 6/L3/2019

o



Tasks

Task 100 - Project Management

The objective of this task is to track and execute the project in accordance with the schedule, budget,

and quality expectations that are established. This task includes the following project management work

activities:

L. Monthlv Proeress Reoorts and lnvoices. This subtask includes preparing and submitting the

work-in-progress reports and monthly invoices showing current project scope, budget, and

schedule status and identifying key issues or elements of the project that will need to be

addressed in the proceeding weeks. An electronic version of the rnonthly progress reports and

invoices will be sent to the Prime for review and approval. Provide regular communication on

project progress to the Prime. Conduct internal coordination as required to manage the project.

2. Kick-off Teleconference. Attend a kick-off meeting with City to establish goals and criteria for
analyses. Discuss available data and tools.

3. Ecoloev Coordination Meeting. Facilitate a meeting with Ecology Staff to review and obtain
comments on the Stream Augmentation infrastructure methodology, lncorporate comments

into Tasks 200 through 400.

Task 200 - Stream Augmentation Analysis

The objective of this task is to identify infrastructure needed to provide direct stream augmentation

with potable water. The task will consider using City water or wholesale water from Group A water

systems. lnfrastructure needed to deliver the water will be identified, including pipes, pump station, etc.

Subtasks include:

1. Stream Auementation Meetins. Attend a rneeting with Prime and City to review the location and

quantity of stream augmentation needed based on data and input provided from the City, the

City's water rights attorney, Prime, and ESA. lt is assumed that 15 sites will be considered: four
sites in or directly adjacent to the City Service area and eleven sites outside the City's seruice

area. lt is assumed the City wil! identify Group A water systems that have sufficient available

supply for stream augmentation outside of the City's service area, including West Sound Utility

District, City of Bremerton, and Washington Water.

2. Citv Stream Ausmentation Verification. Evaluate stream augmentation by the City to up to four

existing sites in or directly adjacent to City's Seruice Area that have current conceptual designs.

These designs were based on a previously proposed lower augmentation rates. The evaluation

wil! use the City's hydraulic model to verify the transmission capacity for to the new

augmentation rates. Document any new pressure or velocity deficiencies due to stream

augmentation during the hydraulic rnodeling from the Maximum Day Demand (MDD) and MDD

plus fire flow scenario for near-term and long-term demand projections. Propose improvements

to mitigate new deficiencies. lt is assumed the City will provide a calibrated model and demand

scenarios representing the study conditions and includes the augmentation sites. Review of the

on-site stream augrnentation conceptual design is not included in this task.

3. Outside Citv Service Area Stream Ausmentation. Evaluate up to eleven sites outside the current

service area. Two options for stream augmentation: 1. Extend City service to the site and 2.

3DRAFT: 6/L3l2OLg



Purchase wholesale supply from nearby Group A. Evaluations will be made using engineering
calculations; the City's hydraulic model will not be used,

a. Extend Citv Service. ldentify a potential option to extend the City water system to up to
eleven stream augmentation sites outside of current service area. Assess the
infrastructure needed to convey supply to the augmentation site, based on engineering
calculation, including booster purnp stations and transmission piping.

b, Grouo A Stream Auqmentation. lt is assumed that Group A systems identified by the City
with sufficient available supply will only be identified for two stream augmentation
sites. For those two sites, Consultant will identify infrastructure needed to convey
wholesale supplies. lt is assumed that the City will provide a meter location, available
supply, minimum pressure, and typical disinfection residual concentrations. Assess the
infrastructure needed to convey supply to the augmentation sites, based on engineering
calculations, including booster pump stations and transmission piping. ldentify sites that
cannot be served by Group A system.

4. Transmission Routins Teleconference. Facilitate a teleconference with the Prime and City to
coordinate preferred routes for transmission piping.

5. Stream Ausmentation lnfrastructure Workshoo. Facilitate a workshop with City to review and
comment on the potential infrastructure needed to supply for the 15 potential stream
augmentation sites.

Task 300 -Stream Augmentation lnfrastructure Costs

The objective of this task is to estimate the infrastructure costs for stream augmentation sites. Costs will
be calculated based on capital infrastructure and potential connection charges for whotesale water
purchases for up to 17 stream augmentation options identified in Task 200. Subtasks include:

1. lnfrastructure Costs. Calculate infrastructure costs for up to 25 stream augmentation options.
Capital costs will be based on planning-level conceptual estimates. Transmission costs will be
based on typical cost per linear foot of water main installation. Connection charges for the
purchase of Group A supply is assumed to be provided by the city.

2. Cost Teleconference, Facilitate a teleconference with the Prime and City to review infrastructure
costs.

3. Selection Workshoo. Attend a workshop facilitated by the Prime to review stream augmentation
options.

Task 400 - Documentation

The objective of this task is to document the stream augmentation evaluations in previous tasks.
Subtasks include:

1. Draft Report. Document Tasks in a short report, including stream augmentation locations,
required infrastructure, and costs. Provide a draft Report for Prime review and comment.

2. Citv Review Draft Report. lncorporate Prime comments into a City Review Draft Report. Submit
Report to City for review and comment.

3. Final Report. lncorporate City comments into a fina! signed and sealed Report forsubmittalto
Prime.

4DRAFT: 6/L312079



Meeting List:

o Kick-offTeleconference.
o Ecology coordination Meeting.
r Stream Augmentation Meeting.
o Transmission Routing Teleconference.
r Stream Augmentation lnfrastructure Workshop.
o Cost Teleconference.
o Selection Workshop.

Deliveroble List:

r Meeting Agenda, materials, and summary.
. Draft Report.

o City Review Draft Report.

o Final Report.

5DRAFT: 6/t3/2079



Maln Oflce
805 W ldaho Slreet #310

Boise. lD 83702
(208) 433-025s

Weat Coart
20522 NE 1 16r'Circle

Brush Prairie, WA 98606

(360) 69s-5233

Southuueet
4747 N ThSheet#412

Phoenix, AZ 85014
(602) s9s-7009

Rocky Mountaln
320 E Vine Drive #223

Fort Cdlins, CO 80524
(s70) 672-181 1

t'.s)sq ICh uc

Robinson Noble

WestWater Research

June 10, 2019

City of Port Orchard

Background and Purpose

The City of Port Orchard is attempting to move municipal water supply wells to alternative locations. Hydrologic studies

have shown evidence that doing so may have negative impact on surface water stream flow and senior water right

holders, To reduce these impacts, the city may be required to acquire available water rights to provide in-kind mitigation

for reduced stream flows, New draft legislation aflecting water rights may allow other out-of-kind mitigation efforts if

there is evidence no water rights are "reasonably attainable" for in-kind mitigation. This proposal provides a scope of

work and budget to evaluate water rights within certain regions to determine if there are potentially available water

rights for acquisition that would be considered "reasonably attainable".

Scope of Work

Water Rights Desktop Review

Task 1: Review Ecology Water Rights Data

WestWater will acquire updated versions of Ecology's GWIS geodatabase as well as other

tabular datasets in the WRTS database system. Study area will be determined and delineated

in coordination with client to cover the Blackiack, Olalla, Crescent, Purdy, Burley, Huge/Minter,

Rocky, and Coulter Creek systems.

WestWater will perform initial selection of diversion data for all water rights. GIS data will be

crosschecked to tabular water rights datasets to ensure that all water rights have been mapped

and no water rights are being missed. Any discrepancies between GIS datasets and tabular

data, if any, will be researched and resolved resulting in a master list of water rights within the

defi ned geographic area.

A web based map will be set up to host and maintain data on the ArcGlS online platform to

provide access to original and filtered water rights data, and any other geospatial data utilized

or developed during the process.

Water rights will initially be filtered down based on water rights status, ownership, size, use type

and other screening criteria as determined by WestWater. All records will be properly noted to

identify reason for exclusion. Any remaining waterrights will be reviewed with additional scrutiny

in Task 2.

a

o

a

a

To:

From:

Date:

Re:



Port 0rchard Water Rights Assessment

PageZ

Task 2: Perform a preliminary validity analysis

Any water rights identified from the initial selection and review will undergo further analysis. This

will involve an additional screening based on initial mapping of water rights and may include

aerial imagery analysis, document review, and other research as needed.

Based on the results of the analysis, a list of candidate water rights will be compiled to be further

analyzed in Task 3,

Task 3: Water Right Ownership Research

fo determine if identified water rights are potentially available for acquisition, current ownership
will need to be determined in order to contact water right holders, Current water right ownership
is not actively maintained by Ecology and requires additional review of water rights place of use

information and county land ownership records,

All existing places of use within Ecology's GIS layers will be utilized and verified against water
right documents to assure accuracy. A preliminary review of GIS layers indicates that there are

a significant number of unmapped water rights within the region. Unmapped places of use may
need to be mapped using water rights application maps and/or legal descriptions on water rights

documents. Due to the large amount of unmapped water rights in the subject area, mapping
place of use could require considerable efforts and may affect budget depending on how many
records require review,

Parcel data maintained by relevant counties will be acquired and overlaid on the place of use

data, Water right ownership is generally appurtenant to landownership. Landowner information
for parcels adjoining the place of use of a water right will be recorded. WestWater anticipates

that multiple landowners may be identified for some water rights due to general legal

descriptions of the water right place of use or quality limitations of legal descriptions provided

on water right certificates. This information will assist in further narrowing the list of candidate
water rights. For example, water rights that have been divided through multiple property sales
often do not represent viable acquisition opportunities.

a

a

o

a

o

Task 4: Water Right Field lnspection Analysis

lf potential water right acquisition opportunities arise, field inspections for each candidate water
right may be conducted if determined necessary and beneficial to determining if the rights are
reasonably available. Data developed in the ArcGlS online webmap under Task 1 will be utilized

to collect pictures, additional notes, and any other relevant data supporting water rights. The
field inspections provide an opportunity to verify the location of the water rights, ownership
information, as well as determine the cunent use of the water right.

Task 5: Water Right Owner Outreach

Letters of inquiry may be sent to landowners that fulfil criteria of potential acquisition
opportunities to determine willingness to sell. WestWater will consult with R&N, Port Orchard
and other legal counsel to determine if this task is necessary and the best approach to execute.

a

a

wtYw.wate rerchange"com



Port 0rchard Water Rights Assessment

Page 3

Task 6: Summary report of findings

A summary report outlining the research process and findings will be developed. Accompanying

maps will be developed to display diversions researched and any identifled candidate water

rights, Detailed profile maps of candidate water rights will be identified along with field

observations and photos if applicable.

Project Schedule

Work will be completed within 12 weeks of engagement. At approximately the 4th week of the project a conference call
will be held to discuss the results of Task 1 and 2 to determine next required steps of project, lf candidate water rights
are identified, Task 3 will be completed to furlher filter the results at approximately week 5. A second conference call

may be required to discuss findings, lf determined that field visits are required, Task 4 will be completed at

approximately week 6 followed by Task 5 if water rights are determined to be potentially available for acquisition, A
report will be furnished at the completion of the project.

Task/Week 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Task 1: Review Ecology Water Rlghts Data

Task 2: Perform a preliminary validity analysis

Task 3:Water Right Ownership Research

Task 4: Water Rlght Field lnspection Analysis

Task 5: Water Rlght Ovner Outreach

Taek 6: Summary report of ftndlngs

Project Deliverables

Project deliverables to the following,

, Web map built displaying Points of Diversion information and filtered datasets displaying

analysis results
. Up to 3 conference calls to discuss results and findings
, Summary report discussing methodology and research results

a

www.watercxchange.co m



Port Orchard Water Rights Assessment

Page 4

Project Budget

To complete all tasks within the scope it is estimated to cost between $31,300 and $44,240. Depending on the results

of the analysis, field verification and water right owner outreach (Tasks 4 and 5) may not be necessary,

Task 1: Review Ecology Water Rights Data

Taek 2: Perform a preliminary validity analysis

Taek 3: Water Right Ownership Research

Task 4: Water Right Field lnspection Analysis

Task 5:Water Right Owner Outreach

Task 6: Summary report of findings

S12,560

s7,180

s6,o0o

59,350

Sl,sgo

S5,560

Subtotal $g1,300 S12,940

Optional Tasks Subtotal

Grand Totals s3t,goo - $44,240

Required
TasksTasks Optional Tasks

www.watc rclchangc.com



5309 Shilshole Avenue NW

Suite 200

seattle, wA 98107

206.789.9658 pltone

206.789.9684 iax

r 949.20r I

Exh ibit

Scope of Work
Preparation of Net Ecologica Benef t Analys s

For the C ty of Port Orchard ESSB 6091 P ot Project

June 4,2Ot9

Project Understand ng

The City of Port Orchard's (Cityl application for an additional municipal water right has been accepted as a pilot
project for the joint legislative task force on water mitigation formed by the Washington State Legislature in

ESSB 6091. RCW 90.94.090(8) outlines a mitigation sequence that the City, as a pilot project participant, must
follow when creating a mitigation plan to offset impacts from the proposed projects. The mitigation sequence

includes avoidance, rninimization, and compensation. As part of the compensation step, "net ecological benefit"
to fish and related aquatic resources are to be provided using in-kind and/or out-of-kind mitigation,

The City has applied for water right changes and new water rights for new Wells 12 and 13. To mitigate for the
water withdrawal effects, the City is planning for both in-kind and out-of-kind mitigation actions, Achieving "net
ecological benefit" necessitates that the anticipated benefits of the mitigation portfolio offset the anticipated
impacts of the project. A scientifically-sound, defensible analysis framework is needed characterize the
anticipated impacts and benefits. ln May 2Ot9, Ecology published Droft Finol Guidonce for Determinino Net

Ecoloaicol Eenefit which provides an overview of the information Ecology will be looking for in such analysis.

This document is out for public comment which will be addressed in a final version. This scope of work is based

on the Draft Final Guidance and may need to be adjusted pending changes included in the final version expected

to be issued in July 2019.

Robinson Noble has been hired by the City to provide hydrogeological and water rights services for the pilot
project. However, they need assistance in performing the required net ecological benefit analysis. This proposed

scope of work is for Environmental Science Associates (ESA) to develop and implement an analysis comparing

the anticipated water withdrawal impacts to the anticipated mitigation benefits. This analysis will document the
extent to which the proposed mitigation portfolio meets the net ecological benefit threshold. Following is ESA's

understanding of the anticipated impacts and mitigation portfolio:

The City's water rights applications are forthe deep sub-sea level aquifer, which will reduce impacts on

Kitsap County streams from existing shallower municipal wells, but which could result in smaller impacts

to a larger Beographic area.

The geographic area of potential effect includes approximately 20 named creek systems in the project

vicinity. Preliminary analysis indicates the largest magnitude of flow depletion is on the order of 0.15

cubic feet per second (110 acre-feet per year).

a

a



City of Port Orchard Foster Pilot Project
ESA Scope of Work

June 2079

Scope of Work

Task 1. Stakeholder Meetines

ESA will participate in up to three meetings with project stakeholders to introduce the net ecological benefit

analysis requirements and gain meeting participants' approval of the analysis method being implemented. Up to
two ESA staff wi!l participate in each meeting. ESA will prepare PowerPoint presentations and handouts, as

needed, to support the planned topic for each meeting. Additional discussions with stakeholders to follow up on

specific topics or questions are anticipated.

Assumptions:

. The City or Robinson Noble, with input from ESA, will develop the list of stakeholders and will be

responsible for stakeholder outreach.
o ESA is not responsible for stakeholder meeting logistics. ESA will communicate with rneeting organizers

to help set the agenda for net ecological benefit topics.
o Each meeting will be in the vicinity of Port Orchard or Poulsbo and last up to 3 hours in length.
r lf stakeholder meetings identify tasks or effoft that is beyond the established scope and budget, ESA will

notify the City and Robinson Noble and provide a written amendment to the scope and/or budget. ESA

will undenake such additional work only upon the City's written authorization.
r ESA will prepare summary notes of the net ecological benefit topic of each meeting.
. Up to 24 hou rs of discussions with stakeholders outside of the meetings are expected to follow up on

specific topics or questions about the mltigation or net ecological benefit analysis.

Deliverobles:

o Summary of meeting discussions focusing on net ecologica! benefit in electronic format
o PowerPoint presentations and handouts, as needed, to support each meeting.

Task 2. Analvsis Framework Development

ESA will review available background materials and develop a structured and transparent analysis framework to
use as the basis for making a net ecological benefit determination. The framework will be developed to meet the
requirements of Ecology's 2OL9 Draft Final Guidance document. The framework will calculate the anticipated
ecological impacts associated with surface water flow depletions as well as the anticipated ecological benefit
associated with the proposed out-of-kind mitigation. The impacts and benefits are expected to be calculated by
assigning points.

Ecology's 2008 lmplementation Plan for the Adoption of Water Resources Management Programs in WRIA 27
(Lewis) and WRIA 28 (Salmon-Washoueal) will be introduced to stakeholders as a potentialfrarnework to use. lt
is anticipated that the overall concept of scoring impacts and benefits will be accepted by the stakehotders, but
that revisions will be necessary. Up to three iterations of the analysis framework will be conducted to test and
refine the scoring system and address comments from stakeholders. The development of iterations wil! include
review and documentation of scientific literature to support the framework scoring assignments,

2



City of Port Orchard Foster Pilot Project
ESA Scope of Work
June 2079

Flow depletion inputs to the analysis framework will be provided to ESA. ESA will work with Robinson Noble to
obtain information onthe anticipated impacts of the waterwithdrawals. These inputs are expected to be in
terms of the magnitude of surface water reductions (to nearest 0.1 cubic feet per second) and the length of river
(to nearest 0.1 river mile). The location of the impacts relativeto proposed in-kind mitigation (i.e., upstream or
downstream) will also be needed.

Habitat type and quantity inputs will be calculated by ESA using GlS, ESA will work with Robinson Noble to
identify up to six potential habitat mitigation projects from existing reports. ESA will use GIS tools to prepare
conceptual polygons by habitat type in the project area and guantify the area and/or length, The habitat types
may include: side channels, wetlands, and connected floodplains among others. The area calculations may need
to be made under up to two flow scenarios (e.9., late surnmer low flow and extreme storm event).

Assumptions:

The development of the mitigation projects and calculation of ecological uplift will be a desktop exercise
and does not include fieldwork or survey.

No new potential mitigation projects will need to be identified by ESA other than those in existing
reports.

Framework development discussions with the stakeholders wil! use the surface water depletion
estimates provided by Robinson Noble.

Robinson Noble will provide surface water depletion inputs for the framework that indicate the spatial
extent, time duration, and magnitude of water depletion. For example, X rniles of 0.1 cubic feet per
second (cfs) depletion over three weeks and Y miles of 0.2 cfs depletion over two weeks.

Habitat type and quantity inputs will be developed by ESA using information from existing reports. lt is
anticipated that assumptions about the project footprint, area of influence, and design features will be

necessary and ESA will document those in the framework
Up to three iterations of the analysis framework will be conducted to address comments from the City
and stakeholders.

Deliverobles:

Analysis framework table with preliminary credit and debit calculations.

o

a

a

a

O

o

o

Task 3. Net Ecoloeical Benefit Analvsis Report

ESA will prepare a Net Ecological Benefit Analysis Report per the requirements of Ecology's 2019 Draft Final

Guidance document. The report will describe the methods and results of the analysis framework developed in

Task 2. The analysis will be a structured and transparent ledger or matrix describing allthe impacts and offsets.

The documentation of net ecological benefit analysis required in Ecology (2019) includes elements that ESA and
Robinson Noble will need to work together to prepare. Table 1 lists the elements required in Ecology (2019) and
the responsible com pany.

3



City of Port Orchord Foster Pilot Project
ESA Scope of Work
June 2079

Table 1. Net Ecological Benefit Elements and company Responsibilities

Element Responsibility

Demonstrate that complete avoidance and minimization of impacts is not
reasonably attainable with water offset projects.

Robinson Noble

Structure the analysis in the form of a ledger or matrix that describes all
the impacts and offsets in detail and sums up the net benefits in a

quantitative or semi-quantitative manner.

ESA

Describe any ecological impacts that are not offset through in-place and
in-kind replacement of consumptive water use,

ESA

lnclude an evaluation of impacts and offsets based on a detailed
hydrologica I analysis, con ual model, or numerical model.

ESA

Document financial and other assurances that the mitigation will be fully
implemented and remain in place for the full duration of the new water
use (likely in perpetuity).

ESA/ Robinson Noble

lnclude monitoring and evaluation plans that describe or detail
maintenance needed to ensure lastin benefits.

ESA

lnclude contingency plans or corrective actions to be taken if goals and
measures are not achieved.

ESA/ Robinson Noble

lnclude information that describes the level of support for the proposed
mitigation pilot from tribal, state and local resource managers (which
m be in the form of letters of su rt or reement)

Robinson Noble/City
of Port Orchard

ldentify and document scientific sources and methods of ana lysis ESA

ESA will prepare a draft report in electronic format. Three rounds of review of the draft report are anticipated.
The first draft will be provided for City review. ESA will address comments and submit a second draft for
stakeholders (tribe(s)) review. ESA will address comments and submit a third draft for Ecology review, ESA will
address comments and electronically submit a final report.

Assumptions:

. City will provide compiled written comments on first draft.
o Robinson Noble or City will provide compiled written comments from stakeholders (tribe(s)) on second

draft.
o Robinson Noble or City will provide compiled written comments from Ecology on third draft.
o Robinson Noble will respond to comments on text prepared by them.
o lf the com ments require more effort than is included in the established scope and budget, ESA will

notify the City and Robinson Noble and provide a written amendment to the scope and/or budget. ESA

will undertake such additional work only upon the City's written authorization,

Deliverables:

Three drafts and a final Net Ecological Benefit report will be delivered in etectronic format.

4

o



City of Port Orchord Foster Pilot Project
ESA Scope of Work
June 2079

Task 4. Proiect Manasement

ESA wil! conduct project management activities including communication with the City, Thomas Pors, Robinson
Noble (prime consultant), and the ESA project team. ln addition, monthly invoices and progress reports will be
prepared.

Assumptions:

o The project is anticipated to last up to 20 months from NTP to project closeout.

Deliverobles:

r lnvoices and progress reports.
o Monthly, or more frequent, project updates via email and/or teleconference with the Robinson Noble

project manaBer.

Budget

The ESA budget for each task is presented in Table 1. The project will be billed on a time and materials, not-to-
exceed basis. The total authorized amount for all tasks is 588,950.00. Surplus budget from completed tasks can
be moved to other tasks.

Table 1. Task.
Task Budget

Task 1, Stakeholder Meetings

Task 2. Analysis Framework Development

Task 3. Net Ecological Benefit Report

Task 4. Project Management

S15,+to,oo

s32,000.00

S3+,2so,oo

s7,290.00
Total s88,950.00

5



ROBINSON
NOBLE

General Fee Schedule Exhibit Janua 1 201 I

Thi s fee schedule is subject to change according to contract or Professional Services Agreement conditions

Fee per HourProfessi ona I Positions

Principal Engineer, Hydrogeologist or Environmental Scientist

Associate Engineer, Hydrogeologist or Environmental Scientist

Senior Engineer, Hydrogeologist or Environmental Scientist

Senior Project Engineer, Hydrogeologist or Environmenta! Scientist

Project Engineer, Hydrogeologist or Environmental Scientist

Staff Engineer, Hydrogeologist or Environmental Scientist

Senior Field Staff

Field Staff

Leg a I Su ppo rUE xpert Witness Servi ces/Testi mo ny

$1 87

$1 71

$146

$1 26

$113

$1 02

$e3

$80

150% of above rates

Support Positions

Senior GIS/CAD Special ist

Senior Technician

Senior Administrator

GIS/CAD Specialist

Technician

Administrator

Clerical Support

$e5

$95

$83

$83

$83

$72

$72

Other Fees and Costs

Other Costs

Field and laboratory testing/equipment rental See following pages

15%
15o/o

15o/o

Subcontracts/
Management Fee

Professional services
Outside laboratory services
Construction subcontracts

Travel (auto)

Travel (otherl
Per diem
Other direct expenses

$0.64/mile
Cost +10%

Prevailing State rate +10%
Cost +10%

Robinson Noble, lnc rates effective January l, 2019



Equipment

Water Level Transducer and Data Logger

Field Laptop Computer

Electric Water Level Sounder(s) 0 to 300 ft
over 300 ft

DC Submersible Purge Purnp (Single Stage)

DC Submersible Purge Pump (Dual Stage)

Double-Ring I nfiltrometer

Schonstedt G radient Mag netom6ter

Geonics EM-61 Metal Detector

Downhole Ga m rn a/Resistivity/Tem peratu re
Logging Equipment

Downhole Caliper Logging Equipment

Draw Works

Mechanical Sieve Sample Equipment

2-inch Gasoline-powered Centrifugal Pump
(includes hoses)

2-inch Submersible Pump + Controller

Generator & Fuel

Hand Auger

Survey Gear (laser level & rod)

FlowTracker Acoustic Doppler Velocimeter
Stream Gaging Equipment

pH Field Meter

GPS

Other Equiprnent

Digital Camera

Unit

Per day

Per day

Flat fee per project
Flat fee per project

Per pump

Per pump

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Flat fee per well

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Negotiated

Per day

Rate

$25

$40

$30
$60

List price + 10Vo

List price + 10o/o

$50

$75

$500

$500

$350

$600

$50

$1 00

$1 80

$70

$50

$85

$200

$25

$20

Negotiated

$10

Hydrogeologic Equiprnent Rental Schedule
Janua 1 2019

This fee schedule is subject to change according to contract or Professional Services Agreement conditlons

Robinson Noble, lnc, rates effective January l, 2019



Eguipment
Water Level Transducer and Data Logger

Field Laptop Computer

Electronic Water Level Sounder

Electronic lnterface Probe

DC Operated Peristaltic Pump

2-inch Gasoline-powered Centrifuga! Pump
(includes hoses)

2-inch Submersible Pump + Controller

Generator & Fuel

LowFlow Bladder Pump

Photoion ization Detecto r

Cornbusti ble Gas lndicator

GPS

Water Ouality Meter

Teflon Water Bailer

Soi! Sampling Equipment (manual)

Mechanical Sieve Sample Equipment

Survey Gear (laser level & rod)

pH Field Meter (soils)

Soil Vapor Extraction System

Digita! Camera

Hand Auger

Other Equipment

Unit
Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Per day

Flat fee per project

Per day

Per day

Per month

Per day

Per day

Negotiated

$3s0

$70

$1 75

$75

$65

$20

$200

$30

$25

$50

$85

$50

$750

$10

$50

Negotiated

Rate

$50

$40

$30

$zs

$45

$1 00

Consumable ltems:
Polyethylene Pu rge/Sampling Tu bi ng

DC Submersible Purge Pump (Single stage)

DC Submersible Purge Pump (Duat Stage)

Silicone Peristaltic Pump Head Tubing

Bladders for Low-Flow Bladder Pump

Water Sample Bailer

Bailer Rope/String

Each 10 feet

Per pump

Per pump

Each foot

Each

Each

Each 10 feet

$2.50

List price + 10o/o

List price + 10%

$4.00

$5.00

$10

$1.00

$50PerPersonal Protection E ut ment person

Environmental Equipment Rental and Consumable Schedule
Janua 1 2019

This fee schedule [s subject to cha ng to contract or Professional Services Agreement conditions.

Robinson Noble, lnc

nge accordi

rates effective January l, 2019



Test
Portable Nuclear Density Gauge

Slope lnclinometer

Direct Shear

Moistu re-Density Relationsh i p Cu rves:

Sieve Analyses (Gradations-Wet Sieve)
Bulk Sieve (if gravelly or >101b)

200 Wash

Hydrometer Analysis

Falling Head Permeability

Atterberg Limits
(Liquid Limit and Plastic Limit)

Moisture Content

Dynamic Cone Penetrometer
Points

Resistivity 4-point Gauge

Hand Auger

Consolidation Test lncremental Loading
(9 loads, 0j25 TSF to 32 TSF, 4 unloads)

Shelby Tu be Extrusion/Sample Description

Sing le-Ri ng lnfiltrometer

Per Hour

Per day

Point

Each
Each

Each
Add

Each

Each

Each

Each

tu
ss.00

$250

$200

1 pt $120
Multiple pts $225

$1 50
$70

$80

$175

$1 65

$220

$12

$225
$20

$300

$50

$550

$50/each additional load

$40

$50

Each

Day
Each

Day

Per day

Per day

Geotechnical Field and Laboratory Testing Schedule
Janua 1,2019

This fee schedule is subject to change according to contract or Professional Services Agreement conditions

Robinson Noble, lnc. rates effective January 7, 2019


	4C 01 - SR Building Code Ordinance
	Agenda Staff Report

	4C 02 ORD_Bldg Code Update - AMENDMENT(10681990.1)
	4D 01 Staff Report Personnel Policies re Military Family and Family Care leaves FINAL
	Agenda Staff Report

	4D 02 Resolution Personnel Policies re Military Family  WA Family Care leaves FINAL
	4D 03 Exhibit A
	8.17 WA Family Cares Act draft 2.pdf
	8.16 Military Family Leave draft 2.pdf

	4E 01 SR Surplus City Equipment
	Agenda Staff Report

	4E 02 Res Declaring Surplus
	4F 01 - SR - Planning Commission Rules
	Agenda Staff Report

	4F 02 - ORD - POMC 2.20 Planning Commission Ordinance
	4G 01 SR Waste Management Amend. 4_2023-2025(10687334.1)
	City of Port Orchard

	4G 02 Res_Waste Management Amend. 4_2023-2025(10687344.1)
	4G 03 Port Orchard-Fourth Amendment to Contract for Solid Waste Services-03292023(10663265.2)
	RECITALS
	AGREEMENT
	CITY FACILITY NAME
	WM ACCOUNT #
	ACTIVE CLUB

	4G 04 Redline for Council - Showing Amendment to Solid Waste Services Agreement(10688340.1)
	CITY FACILITY NAME
	WM ACCOUNT #
	ACTIVE CLUB

	4H 01 STAFF REPORT-Krazan Amend #3(10687321.1)
	Agenda Staff Report

	4H 02 C036-20 Krazan Amendment#3&Exh
	  CITY OF PORT ORCHARD                                         
	Authorization for Amendment No. 3

	4H 03 C036-20 Krazan & Associates, Inc-Orig
	4I 01 STAFF REPORT -PSE Easement 46250000030103(10687488.1)
	Agenda Staff Report

	4I 02 RESOLUTION-PSE Easement 46250000030103(10687492.1)
	4I 03 ESMTt_City of Port Orchard OH Frontage Easement - Parcel 4625-000-003-0103
	4J 01 STAFF REPORT-Towmaster Trailer(10687455.1)
	Agenda Staff Report

	4J 02 RESOLUTION  -Towmaster Trailer(10687456.1)
	4J 03 Ex. A- ERR-Monroe Towmaster Trailer T-30T- Replacement or Addition Purchase  Request Form-EXECUTED
	Quote_Part1-BobcatQ42535DO42797-.Revised.Towmaster.Trailer.T30T.Sourcewell.City of Port Orchard.pdf.pdf
	Product Quotation


	4J 04 Interlocal-GPO Agreement (piggyback)Checklist- CA approved
	4K 01 Staff Report -Fireworks ILA(10687595.1)
	Agenda Staff Report

	4K 02 Resolution - Fire ILA(10687717.1)
	4K 03 City of Port Orchard Fire Works ILA - 6.7.2023(10687286.2)
	4L 01 STAFF REPORT-C125-22_SroufeWaterMainReplace CO4(10687499.1)
	City of Port Orchard
	Agenda Staff Report


	4L 02 C125-22 KR Homes-SroufeWaterMainChange Order #4 - Signed
	4L 03 C125-22 KR Homes, LLC-Orig
	5B 01 Staff Report Kitsap Bank Presentation
	Agenda Staff Report

	5C 01 Levy Discussion with Chief Faucett-PO City Council
	5C 02 Levy Quick Facts_final
	6A 01 Staff Report PH Development Agreement Kitsap Bank
	Agenda Staff Report

	7A 01 Staff Report Development Agreement Kitsap Bank
	Agenda Staff Report

	7A 02 ORD - Kitsap Bank Development Agreement(10683399.2)
	7A 03 Kitsap Bank Development Agreement - 5-24-2023 - Exhibits Renumbered
	[PROPOSED] DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
	RECITALS
	AGREEMENT
	Section 12.  Required Public Improvements, Payment in Lieu of Fredrick Avenue Improvements.
	Section 13.  Existing Fees and Charges; Credits for Prior Development.
	Section 16. Waiver of Permitting Deadlines.
	The Bank will waive the 120 day permit processing deadline contained in POMC 20.24.110.3.
	Section 19. Default.
	KITSAP BANK: CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

	7A 04 Exhibit A - LegalDescriptionNewBankSite_LU23-Dev Agreement-02
	7A 05 Exhibit B - LegalDescriptionParkingLot_LU23-Dev Agreement-02
	7A 06 Exhibit C - Street Improvement Details_LU23-Dev Agreement-02
	7A 07 Exhibit D - Kitsap Bank Schematic Design
	General 
	G-001 - COVER SHEET
	G-002 - PROJECT INFORMATION
	G-004 - PRESPECTIVE VIEWS
	G-005 - PRESPECTIVE VIEWS

	ALTA survey
	Civil 
	Landscape 
	L-100 LANDSCAPE KEY PLAN 
	L-111 LANDSCAPE LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - WEST
	L-112 LANDSCAPE LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN - EAST
	 L-141 IRRIGATION PLAN - WEST 
	L-142 IRRIGATION PLAN - EAST
	L-151 PLANTING PLAN - WEST 
	L-152 PLANTING PLAN - EAST
	L-501 LANDSCAPE DETAILS 
	L-541 IRRIGATION DETAILS 
	L-551 PLANTING DETAILS 
	L-641 IRRIGATION SCHEDULE AND NOTES
	L-651 PLANTING SCHEDULE

	 Architectural 
	A-100 - SITE PLAN
	A-111 - OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 1
	A-112 - OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 2
	A-113 - OVERALL FLOOR PLAN - LEVEL 3
	A-120 - OVERALL ROOF PLAN
	A-200 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS - SOUTH / EAST
	A-201 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS - NORTH / WEST
	A-300 - BUILDING SECTIONS


	7A 08 Exhibit E - Kitsap Bank Preliminary Civil Engineering Plans
	7A 09 Exhibit F - Engineering Study_LU23-Dev Agreement-02
	7A 10 - Suquamish Tribe Comment 20200531
	7A 11 - DAHP Comment 20230607
	7B 01 - SR - Housing Action Plan
	Agenda Staff Report

	7B 02 - RESO HAP(10682172.1)
	7B 03 - Port Orchard Housing Action Plan_DRAFT CLEAN_23-0524
	Thank You
	Contents
	Executive Summary
	Research Questions
	Housing Actions and Strategies
	Next Steps

	1 – Background Information
	1.1 – Project Purpose
	1.2 – Housing Needs
	1.3 – Geographic Equity within Port Orchard
	1.4 – Racially Disparate Impacts
	1.5 – Military Population
	1.6 – Public Engagement
	1.7 – State Law Updates

	2 – Regulatory Strategies
	2.1 – Expand the Allowed Uses
	2.1.1 – R5 Zone
	2.1.2 – NMU Zone
	2.1.3 – Congregate Living Housing
	2.1.4 – Adult Family Homes
	2.1.5 – Supportive Housing
	2.1.6 – Tiny Homes
	2.1.7 – Backyard Cottages and Accessory Dwelling Units
	Building Type Standards
	ADU Standards – General Requirements
	ADU Standards – Bulk, Location, and Design
	Zoning Standards
	Subdivision Standards


	2.2 – Streamline the Building Types
	2.2.1 – Adjust Cottage Court Standards
	2.2.2 – Consolidate Duplex Types and Standards
	2.2.3 – Rename the Fourplex Type
	2.2.4 – Adjust Townhouse Type Standards
	2.2.5 – Consolidate the Live-Work Type
	2.2.6 – Adjust Shopfront House Standards
	2.2.7 – Building Height
	2.2.8 – Minimum Private Useable Open Space
	2.2.9 – Ground Floor Elevation
	2.2.10 – Blank Walls
	2.2.11 – Transparency

	2.3 – Adjust Form & Intensity Standards
	2.3.1 – Adjust Minimum Lot Dimensions
	2.3.2 – Adjust Height Limits and Add Affordable Housing Bonuses
	2.3.3 – Minimum Residential Density
	2.3.4 – Religiously-Owned Land Density Bonus

	2.4 – Adjust Other Standards
	2.4.1 – Residential Design Standards
	2.4.2 – Significant Tree Standards
	2.4.3 – Family Definition
	2.4.4 – Elevator Penthouse
	2.4.5 – Parking Lot Landscaping
	2.4.6 – Service Areas and Mechanical Equipment
	2.4.7 – Single-Stair Buildings
	2.4.8 – Apply the International Residential Code to Middle Housing
	2.4.9 – Create Standards for Unit Lot Subdivisions
	2.4.10 – Prohibit Subdivision Covenants on Middle Housing


	3 – Programmatic Strategies
	3.1 - Anti-Displacement Strategies
	3.1.1 – Local Tenant Protections
	3.1.2 - Other Anti-Displacement Strategies
	Tenant Legal Services
	Tenant Opportunity to Purchase
	Rental Assistance Programs
	Housing Rehabilitation
	Community Control of Land
	Foreclosure Assistance
	Living Wage Ordinance
	Childcare and Early Education Subsidies


	3.2 – Homelessness Strategies
	3.2.1 – Coordination
	3.2.2 – Adopt a “Housing First” Approach

	3.3 - Support Staffing Needs

	4 – Citywide Planning Strategies
	4.1 – Housing Element Updates
	4.2 – Land Use Element Updates
	4.2.1 – Corridor Zoning
	4.2.2 – Neighborhood Commercial Uses
	4.2.3 – Park-Oriented Development
	4.2.4– Parking

	4.3 – Public Land for Affordable Housing
	4.3.1 – Disposition Policy
	4.3.2 – Land Acquisition
	4.3.3 – Tremont/Pottery Roundabout Property (Parcel 342401-4-016-2001 & 342401-4-015-2002)
	4.3.4 – Mitchell Avenue Property (Parcel 252401-3-045-2009)

	4.4 – McCormick East Future Neighborhood Planning
	4.4.1 – McCormick East Overview
	4.4.2 – McCormick East Summary
	4.4.3 – McCormick East Recommendations


	5 – Funding Strategies
	5.1 - Multifamily Tax Exemption Program
	5.1.1 – MFTE Overview
	5.1.2 – Port Orchard MFTE Summary
	5.1.2 – Recommendations

	5.2 – Development Fee Adjustments
	5.3 – Local Bank Funding
	5.4 – Tax Increment Financing
	5.5 – Funding for ADU Development
	5.6 – State Advocacy

	6 – Implementation
	6.1 – High Priority Implementation
	6.2 – Monitoring

	Appendix A Downtown Height Limit Considerations
	Appendix B Existing Conditions Report & Housing Needs Analysis
	Port Orchard HAP Existing Conditions Report_23-0414.pdf
	Introduction
	Section 1 – Community Profile
	Population and Demographics
	Historic and Future Population
	Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Language

	Household Characteristics
	Household Size, Type, and Tenure
	Income
	Vehicle Ownership

	Employment Trends
	Puget Sound Naval Shipyard

	Section 2 – Housing Inventory and Production Trends
	Total Housing Units
	Housing Age and Production
	Vacancy Rates
	Vacation Housing
	Short-Term Rentals
	Affordable Housing
	Public Land
	Project Spotlights
	Valley Quadplex
	Haven Apartments
	McCormick Village
	The Ramsey
	Downtown Mixed Use Projects


	Section 3 – Cost Trends
	Housing Cost Trends
	Construction Costs
	Impact Fees

	Section 4 – Housing and Service Needs
	Market Rate Housing
	Low-Income and Cost-Burdened Households
	Special Needs Housing
	People Facing Homelessness
	Transit

	Section 5 – Housing Funding and Monetary Tools
	Existing Funding
	Other Funding Options
	Multifamily Tax Exemption
	Overview
	Port Orchard MFTE Review


	Section 6 – Housing Policies
	Comprehensive Plan Goals and Policies
	Development Regulations
	Residential Zones: Allowed Residential Development
	Residential Zones: Dimensional Standards
	Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Allowed Residential Development
	Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Dimensional Standards
	ADU Standards
	Other Development Regulations
	Design Standards
	Zoning Map

	Building Code
	Landlord-Tenant Regulations
	State Land Use Law
	Federal Incentives

	Section 7 – Land Capacity Analysis
	Appendix A – Kitsap County Impact Fee Comparison
	Appendix B – Comprehensive Plan Policies
	Housing Element
	Land Use Element
	Transportation Element



	Appendix C Public Engagement Report
	Port Orchard HAP Public Engagement Report_Final_23-0329.pdf
	1.0 – Introduction
	2.0 – Stakeholder Interview Summary
	2.1 – Housing Challenges
	2.2 – Housing Production and Code Considerations
	2.3 – Homelessness and Social Services
	2.4 – Employment and Businesses
	2.5 – Transportation
	2.6 – Opportunities

	3.0 – Housing Survey Summary
	3.1 – Target Audience and Response Rate
	3.2 – Housing Information
	3.3 – Housing Stability
	3.4 – Housing Stories
	Overview
	Renter Stories
	Homeowner Stories
	Family and Friends

	3.5 – Housing Types
	3.6 – Amenities and Features
	3.7 – Concepts Evaluation
	3.8 – Demographic Information
	3.9 – Outreach Information

	Survey Appendix A – Written Comments for “Other” Answers
	Appendix A.1 – Question 9 “Other” Answers
	Appendix A.2 – Question 11 “Other” Answers

	Survey Appendix B – Housing Stories
	Appendix B.1 - Housing Stories from Owners
	Appendix B.2 - Housing Stories from Renters




	7B 04 - Port Orchard Housing Action Plan_DRAFT_REDLINE_23-0524
	Thank You
	Contents
	Executive Summary
	Research Questions
	Housing Actions and Strategies
	Next Steps

	1 – Background Information
	1.1 – Project Purpose
	1.2 – Housing Needs
	1.3 – Geographic Equity within Port Orchard
	1.4 – Racially Disparate Impacts
	1.5 – Military Population
	1.6 – Public Engagement
	1.76 – State Law Updates

	2 – Regulatory Strategies
	2.1 – Expand the Allowed Uses
	2.1.1 – R5 Zone
	2.1.2 – NMU Zone
	2.1.3 – Congregate Living Housing
	2.1.4 – Adult Family Homes
	2.1.5 – Supportive Housing
	2.1.6 – Tiny Homes
	2.1.7 – Backyard Cottages and Accessory Dwelling Units
	Building Type Standards
	ADU Standards – General Requirements
	ADU Standards – Bulk, Location, and Design
	Zoning Standards
	Subdivision Standards


	2.2 – Streamline the Building Types
	2.2.1 – Adjust Cottage Court Standards
	2.2.2 – Consolidate Duplex Types and Standards
	2.2.3 – Rename the Fourplex Type
	2.2.4 – Adjust Townhouse Type Standards
	2.2.5 – Consolidate the Live-Work Type
	2.2.6 – Adjust Shopfront House Standards
	2.2.7 – Building Height
	2.2.8 – Minimum Private Useable Open Space
	2.2.9 – Ground Floor Elevation
	2.2.10 – Blank Walls
	2.2.11 – Transparency

	2.3 – Adjust Form & Intensity Standards
	2.3.1 – Adjust Minimum Lot Dimensions
	2.3.2 – Adjust Height Limits and Add Affordable Housing Bonuses
	2.3.3 – Minimum Residential Density
	2.3.4 – Religiously-Owned Land Density Bonus

	2.4 – Adjust Other Standards
	2.4.1 – Residential Design Standards
	2.4.2 – Significant Tree Standards
	2.4.3 – Family Definition
	2.4.4 – Elevator Penthouse
	2.4.5 – Parking Lot Landscaping
	2.4.6 – Service Areas and Mechanical Equipment
	2.4.7 – Single-Stair Buildings
	2.4.8 – Apply the International Residential Code to Middle Housing
	2.4.9 – Create Standards for Unit Lot Subdivisions
	2.4.10 – Prohibit Subdivision Covenants on Middle Housing


	3 – Programmatic Strategies
	3.1 - Anti-Displacement Strategies
	3.1.1 – Local Tenant Protections
	3.1.2 - Other Anti-Displacement Strategies
	Tenant Legal Services
	Tenant Opportunity to Purchase
	Rental Assistance Programs
	Housing Rehabilitation
	Community Control of Land
	Foreclosure Assistance
	Living Wage Ordinance
	Childcare and Early Education Subsidies


	3.2 – Homelessness Strategies
	3.2.1 – Coordination
	3.2.2 – Adopt a “Housing First” Approach

	3.3 - Support Staffing Needs

	4 – Citywide Planning Strategies
	4.1 – Housing Element Updates
	4.2 – Land Use Element Updates
	4.2.1 – Corridor Zoning
	4.2.2 – Neighborhood Commercial Uses
	4.2.3 – Park-Oriented Development
	4.2.4– Parking

	4.3 – Public Land for Affordable Housing
	4.3.1 – Disposition Policy
	4.3.2 – Land Acquisition
	4.3.3 – Tremont/Pottery Roundabout Property (Parcel 342401-4-016-2001 & 342401-4-015-2002)
	4.3.4 – Mitchell Avenue Property (Parcel 252401-3-045-2009)

	4.4 – McCormick East Future Neighborhood Planning
	4.4.1 – McCormick East Overview
	4.4.2 – McCormick East Summary
	4.4.3 – McCormick East Recommendations


	5 – Funding Strategies
	5.1 - Multifamily Tax Exemption Program
	5.1.1 – MFTE Overview
	5.1.2 – Port Orchard MFTE Summary
	5.1.2 – Recommendations

	5.2 – Development Fee Adjustments
	5.3 – Local Bank Funding
	5.4 – Tax Increment Financing
	5.5 – Funding for ADU Development
	5.6 – State Advocacy

	6 – Implementation
	6.1 – High Priority Implementation
	6.2 – Monitoring

	Appendix A Downtown Height Limit Considerations
	Appendix B Existing Conditions Report & Housing Needs Analysis
	Port Orchard HAP Existing Conditions Report_23-0414.pdf
	Introduction
	Section 1 – Community Profile
	Population and Demographics
	Historic and Future Population
	Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Language

	Household Characteristics
	Household Size, Type, and Tenure
	Income
	Vehicle Ownership

	Employment Trends
	Puget Sound Naval Shipyard

	Section 2 – Housing Inventory and Production Trends
	Total Housing Units
	Housing Age and Production
	Vacancy Rates
	Vacation Housing
	Short-Term Rentals
	Affordable Housing
	Public Land
	Project Spotlights
	Valley Quadplex
	Haven Apartments
	McCormick Village
	The Ramsey
	Downtown Mixed Use Projects


	Section 3 – Cost Trends
	Housing Cost Trends
	Construction Costs
	Impact Fees

	Section 4 – Housing and Service Needs
	Market Rate Housing
	Low-Income and Cost-Burdened Households
	Special Needs Housing
	People Facing Homelessness
	Transit

	Section 5 – Housing Funding and Monetary Tools
	Existing Funding
	Other Funding Options
	Multifamily Tax Exemption
	Overview
	Port Orchard MFTE Review


	Section 6 – Housing Policies
	Comprehensive Plan Goals and Policies
	Development Regulations
	Residential Zones: Allowed Residential Development
	Residential Zones: Dimensional Standards
	Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Allowed Residential Development
	Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones: Dimensional Standards
	ADU Standards
	Other Development Regulations
	Design Standards
	Zoning Map

	Building Code
	Landlord-Tenant Regulations
	State Land Use Law
	Federal Incentives

	Section 7 – Land Capacity Analysis
	Appendix A – Kitsap County Impact Fee Comparison
	Appendix B – Comprehensive Plan Policies
	Housing Element
	Land Use Element
	Transportation Element



	Appendix C Public Engagement Report
	Port Orchard HAP Public Engagement Report_Final_23-0329.pdf
	1.0 – Introduction
	2.0 – Stakeholder Interview Summary
	2.1 – Housing Challenges
	2.2 – Housing Production and Code Considerations
	2.3 – Homelessness and Social Services
	2.4 – Employment and Businesses
	2.5 – Transportation
	2.6 – Opportunities

	3.0 – Housing Survey Summary
	3.1 – Target Audience and Response Rate
	3.2 – Housing Information
	3.3 – Housing Stability
	3.4 – Housing Stories
	Overview
	Renter Stories
	Homeowner Stories
	Family and Friends

	3.5 – Housing Types
	3.6 – Amenities and Features
	3.7 – Concepts Evaluation
	3.8 – Demographic Information
	3.9 – Outreach Information

	Survey Appendix A – Written Comments for “Other” Answers
	Appendix A.1 – Question 9 “Other” Answers
	Appendix A.2 – Question 11 “Other” Answers

	Survey Appendix B – Housing Stories
	Appendix B.1 - Housing Stories from Owners
	Appendix B.2 - Housing Stories from Renters




	7B 05 Doug Skrobut Comment 06-01-2023
	7B 06 M Neiner Public Comment 20230510
	7C 01 STAFF REPORT- City Hall Improvements CN(10675629.1)(10687332.1)
	City of Port Orchard
	Agenda Staff Report


	7C 02 RESOLUTION-City Hall Improvements CN(10674941.1)(10687331.1)
	7C 03 1-Final Ch Renovation Contract-Lincoln CN-unsigned
	Contract
	City Hall RENOVATIONS
	I. General Provisions.

	Exhibit C – Project Bid Set
	All Exhibits to this Contract are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof as if set forth in full.
	II.  Non-Discrimination.
	During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; including but not limited to compliance with the following ...
	Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
	The City of Port Orchard, in accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. 2000d to 2000d-4 and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of Transportation subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, nondi...

	III. Public Records Act Chapter 42.56 RCW
	Contractor understands that her/his bid response documents, and any contract documents may be subject to release under the Public Records Act Chapter 42.56 RCW and the City may be required to disclose such documents upon a request.  Contractor acknowl...
	IV. Termination
	The City may terminate this contract for cause or for convenience.
	 Termination for Cause. The City may, upon 7 days written notice to Contractor and to its surety, terminate (without prejudice to any right or remedy of the City) the contract, or any part of it, for cause upon the occurrence of any one or more of th...
	 Termination for Convenience. The City may, upon written notice, terminate (without prejudice to any right or remedy of the City) the contract, or any part of it, for the convenience of the City.
	 Settlement of Costs. If the City terminates for convenience, Contractor shall be entitled to make a request for an equitable adjustment for its reasonable direct costs incurred prior to the effective date of the termination, plus a reasonable allowa...

	V. Corporate Surety Bond
	With this Contract, Contractor is furnishing a Corporate Surety Bond in the amount of
	The parties intend that an Independent Contractor-Employer Relationship will be created by this Agreement and that the Contractor has the ability to control and direct the performance and details of its work, the City being interested only in the resu...
	NOTICES TO BE SENT TO:
	CONTRACTOR:     CITY
	NAME __________________________ NAME:  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor
	ADDRESS _______________________ 216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA  98366
	TELEPHONE _____________________ TELEPhone:  360 876-4407
	Email ___________________________  Email: CityClerk@portorchardwa.gov
	With a copy to the City Clerk at the same address  EXHIBIT   C
	5% RETAINAGE INVESTMENT OPTION0F
	Contractor: _______________________________________________________________
	Project Name: _____________________________________________________________
	Date: __________________________________ Project Number:  __________
	Pursuant to RCW 60.28.010, as amended, you may exercise an option as to how the 5% retainage under this contract will be invested. Please complete and sign this form indication your preference. If you fail to do so you will miss the benefit of any int...
	1. Savings Account: Money will be placed in an interest-bearing account. The interest       will be paid to you directly, rather than kept on deposit. If this is your choice, then please complete attached SAVINGS ACCOUNT AGREEMENT.  Please state the n...
	Bank:____________________________________________________________
	2.       Escrow/Investments: The City will deliver retainage checks to a selected bank,                   pursuant to an escrow agreement. The bank will then invest the funds in securities or bonds selected by you, and interest will be paid to you as ...
	SAVING ACCOUNT AGREEMENT
	TO BANK: _______________________         SAVINGS ACCOUNT NO: ___________________
	BANK’S ADDRESS: _____________________________________________________________
	_____________________________________________________________
	AGENCY:   CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
	216 Prospect Street
	CONTRACT NO: ________________________________________
	PROJECT TITLE:
	The estimated completion date of contract is: _________________________________________
	The undersigned, ______________________________________________________, herein referred to as the CONTRACTOR, has directed the CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, Washington, hereinafter referred to as the AGENCY, to deliver to you its warrants which shall be paya...
	INSTRUCTIONS
	1. Warrants or checks made payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly upon delivery to you shall be endorsed by you and forwarded for collection. The moneys will then be placed by you in an interest-bearing savings account.
	2. When and as interest on the savings account accrues and is paid, you shall collect such interest and forward it to the CONTRACTOR at its address designated below unless otherwise director by the CONTRACTOR.
	3. You are not authorized to deliver to the CONTRACTOR all or any part of the principal held by you pursuant to this agreement, except in accordance with written instruction from the AGENCY. Compliance with such instructions shall relieve you of any f...
	4. The CONTRACTOR agrees to pay you as compensation for your services hereunder as follows:
	Payment of all fees shall be the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR and shall not be deducted from any moneys placed with you pursuant to this agreement until and unless the AGENCY directs the release to the CONTRACTOR, whereupon you shall be grant...
	5. This agreement shall not be binding until executed by the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY and accepted by you.
	6. This instrument contains the entire agreement between you, the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY. You are not a party to nor bound by any instrument or agreement other than this. You shall not be required to take notice of any default or any other matter n...
	7. The foregoing provisions shall be binding upon the assigns, successors, personal representative and heir of the Parties hereto.
	___________________________________                      CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
	Contractor                                                                                  Agency
	BY:_________________________________                   BY:______________________________
	Title: ________________________________
	Date: ________________________________                  Date: _____________________________
	Address: _____________________________
	The above savings account agreement and instruction received and accepted this _______________ day of _______________, 20___
	____________________________________
	Bank Name
	____________________________________
	Authorized Bank Officer
	ESCROW AGREEMENT
	TO BANK: __________________________  ESCROW NO.: ______________________________
	BANK’S ADDRESS: ______________________________________________________________
	______________________________________________________________
	AGENCY:                    CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
	216 Prospect Street
	Port Orchard WA 98366
	CONTRACT NO.: ___________________________________
	PROJECT TITLE:_________________________________________________________
	The estimated completion date of contract is: ________________________________
	The undersigned, _____________________________________________, herein referred to as the CONTRACTOR, has directed the CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, Washington, hereinafter referred to as the AGENCY, to deliver to you its warrants which shall be payable to yo...
	INSTRUCTIONS
	1. Warrants or checks made payable to you and the CONTRACTOR jointly upon delivery to you shall be endorsed by you and forwarded for collection. The moneys will then be used by you to purchase, as directed by the CONTRACTOR, bonds or other securities ...
	2. When and as interest on the securities held by you pursuant to this agreement accrues and is paid, you shall collect such interest and forward it to the CONTRACTOR at its address designated below unless otherwise directed by the CONTRACTOR.
	3. You are not authorized to deliver to the CONTRACTOR all or any part of the securities held by you pursuant to this agreement (or any moneys derived from the sale of such securities, or the negotiation of the AGENCY’S warrants) except in accordance ...
	4. In the event the AGENCY orders you to do so in writing, you shall within thirty-five (35) days of receipt of such order, reconvert into money the securities held by you pursuant to this agreement and return such money together with any other moneys...
	5. The CONTRACTOR agrees to pay you as compensation for your services hereunder as follows:
	Payment of all fees shall be the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR and shall not be deducted from any property placed with you pursuant to this agreement until and unless the AGENCY directs the release to the CONTRACTOR of the securities and money...
	6. This agreement shall not be binding until executed by the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY and accepted by you.
	7. This instrument contains the entire agreement between you, the CONTRACTOR and the AGENCY with respect to this escrow and you are not a party to nor bound by any instrument or agreement other than this; you shall not be required to take notice of an...
	The foregone provision shall be binding upon the assigns, successors, personal representative, and heir of the Parties hereto.
	_______________________________________       CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
	Contractor                                                                     Agency
	By: ____________________________________      By: __________________________________
	Title: __________________________________
	Date: __________________________________      Date: _________________________________
	Address: ________________________________
	The above escrow agreement and instruction received and accepted this ___________ day of  ___________, 20__.
	____________________________________
	Bank Name
	____________________________________
	Authorized Bank Officer
	SECURITIES AUTHORIZED BY AGENCY
	1. Bills, certificates, notes or bonds of the United States;
	2. Other obligations of the United States or its agencies;
	3. Obligation of any corporation wholly-owned by the government of the United States;
	4. Indebtedness of the Federal Nation Mortgage Association; and
	5. Time deposits in commercial banks.

	PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BOND
	CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
	CITY HALL RENOVATIONS PROJECT
	PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT NO. PW2023-004
	Bond to City of Port Orchard, Washington
	Bond No. _____________
	We, ___________________________________, and___________________________________
	(Principal)      (Surety)
	a _________________________________ Corporation, and as a surety corporation authorized to become a surety upon Bonds of Contractors with municipal corporations in Washington State, are jointly and severally bound to the City of Port Orchard, Washingt...
	NOW, THEREFORE, this Performance and Payment Bond shall be satisfied and released only upon the condition that Principal:
	Faithfully performs all provisions of the Contract and changes authorized by Owner in the manner and within the time specified as may be extended under the Contract;
	Pays all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material-persons, and all other persons or agents who supply labor, equipment, or materials to the Project;
	Pays the taxes, increases and penalties incurred on the Project under Titles 50, 51 and 82 RCW on:  (A) Projects referred to in RCW 60.28.011(1)(b); and/or (B) Projects for which the bond is conditioned on the payment of such taxes, increases and pena...
	Posts a two-year warranty/maintenance bond to secure the project. Such bond shall be in the amount of twenty percent (20%) of the project costs.
	The surety shall indemnify, defend, and protect the Owner against any claim of direct or indirect loss resulting from the failure:
	Of the Principal (or any of the employees, subcontractors, or lower tier subcontractors of the Principal) to faithfully perform the Contract, or
	Of the Principal (or any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor of the Principal) to pay all laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, lower tier subcontractors, material person, or any other person who provides supplies or provisions for carrying out t...
	The liability of Surety shall be limited to the penal sum of this Performance and Payment Bond.
	No change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the Work to be performed under the Contract shall in any way affect Surety’s obligation on the Performance Bond. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, extens...
	If any modification or change increases the total amount to be paid under the Contract, Surety’s obligation under this Performance and Payment Bond shall automatically increase in a like amount. Any such increase shall not exceed twenty-five percent (...
	This Performance and Payment Bond shall be governed and construed by the laws of the State of Washington, and venue shall be in Kitsap County, Washington.
	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument in two (2) identical counterparts this _______ day of _________________, 20 ___.
	___________________________________
	Principal     Surety
	Signature of Authorized Official  Signature of Authorized Official
	By
	Printed Name and Title   Attorney in Fact (Attach Power of Attorney)
	Name and address of local office of
	Agent and/or Surety Company:
	Surety companies executing bonds must appear on the current Authorized Insurance List in the State of Washington on file with the Office of Insurance Commissioner.
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
	Corporation, Partnership, or Individual
	STATE OF     )
	)ss.
	COUNTY OF     )
	On this _____ day of____________, 20____, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared________________________, to me known to be the (check one of the following boxes):
	⌂ _______________________ of __________________________________, the
	corporation,
	⌂ _______________________ of __________________________________, the
	partnership,
	⌂ individual,
	that executed the foregoing instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said ⌂ corporation, ⌂ partnership, ⌂ individual for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that they are authorized to execute said instrument.
	WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first above written.
	Print or type name
	NOTARY PUBLIC,
	in and for the State of Washington
	Residing at
	My Commission expires:
	SURETY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
	STATE OF     )
	)ss.
	COUNTY OF     )
	On this _______ day of________________, 20_____, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared___________________, to me known to be the _____________________________ o...
	WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first above written.
	___________________________________
	Print or type name
	NOTARY PUBLIC,
	in and for the State of Washington
	Residing
	My Commission expires:
	Notary Seal With Ink Stamp
	NOTE: This form must be completed at Contract Completion.  Before the Performance Bond or the retainage can be released, the City must receive the two year Maintenance /Warranty Bond
	CHECK FOR ATTACHED NOTARY SIGNATURE
	______Developer/Owner (Form P-1)
	______Surety Company (Form P-2)




	7C 04 1-Proposal-Lincoln Construction
	7D 01 Staff Report -Asset Mgmt Ph2-TEMPLATE(10687585.1)
	Agenda Staff Report

	7D 02 Resolution - Asset Mgmt Ph2-TEMPLATE(10687583.1)
	7D 03 CONTRACT&EXH-KCI Asset Mgmt Program Development & On Call_KCISigned_20230605
	( TIME AND MATERIALS NOT TO EXCEED.  Compensation for these services shall not exceed $150,000.00 without written authorization and will be based on the list of billing rates and reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”
	( TIME AND MATERIALS.  Compensation for these services shall be on a time and materials basis according to the list of billing rates and reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”
	( OTHER_____________________________________________________________
	11. City’s Right of Inspection and Audit.
	12. Work Performed at the Consultant's Risk.
	The Consultant shall take all precautions necessary and shall be responsible for the safety of its employees, agents, and sub-consultants in the performance of the work hereunder and shall utilize all protection necessary for that purpose.  All work s...
	EXHIBIT B


	7E 01 Staff Report re Sublease with POB for Marina Pump Station(10687752.1)
	Agenda Staff Report

	7E 02 Res 0XX - Sublease POB for Marina Pump Station(10687733.1)
	7E 03 Sublease - DNR - Port of Bremerton for encroachment - Final(10684970.1)
	7E 04 Sublease - Exhibit A - Legal Description of Sublease Area
	7E 05 Sublease - Exhibit B - Depiction of Sublease Area
	7E 06 Sublease - Exhibit C - MOU City of Port Orchard re DNR Lease Pump Station - POB FINAL 121322
	1. RECITALS
	3. PREMISES
	4. EFFECTIVE DATE
	5. TERM
	6. PERMITTED USE
	8. RESTRICTIONS ON USE; COMPLIANCE WITH LAW
	9. INSURANCE
	10. RECIPROCAL INDEMNIFICATION
	11. PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS
	12. DEFAULT BY CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
	13. NOTICE
	14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

	7F 01 SR RFM Amendment 11
	Agenda Staff Report

	7F 02 Amendment #11
	7F 03 230413 SKCEC Amend 11 Orchard Plaza SD
	7G 01 SR-C053-19 RN Amd4(10687447.1)
	Agenda Staff Report

	7G 02 C053-19 Robinson Noble, Inc AmendmentNo4&Exh
	  CITY OF PORT ORCHARD                                         
	Authorization for Amendment No. 4

	7G 03 C053-19 Robinson Noble, Inc-Executed-ORIG
	agenda.pdf
	...
	Mayor:
	Mark Trenary (Mayor Pro-Tempore)
	E/D & Tourism Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Transportation Committee
	KRCC-alt
	Shawn Cucciardi
	Finance Committee
	E/D & Tourism Committee
	Lodging Tax, Chair
	Fred Chang
	Economic Development & Tourism Committee
	Land Use Committee
	Transportation Committee
	Jay Rosapepe
	Finance Committee,
	KRCC, PSRC-alt, PSRC Transpol-alt, KRCC Transpol-alt, KRCC Planpol-alt,
	John Clauson
	Finance Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Kitsap Public Health District-alt
	Cindy Lucarelli
	Festival of Chimes & Lights Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee, Chair
	Kitsap Economic Development Alliance
	Scott Diener
	Land Use Committee, Chair
	Transportation Committee
	Department Directors:
	Nicholas Bond, AICP
	Development Director
	Tony Lang
	Public Works Director
	Tim Drury
	Municipal Court Judge
	Noah Crocker, M.B.A.
	Finance Director
	Matt Brown
	Police Chief
	Brandy Wallace, MMC, CPRO
	City Clerk
	Meeting Location:
	Contact us:

	agenda.pdf
	...
	Mayor:
	Mark Trenary (Mayor Pro-Tempore)
	E/D & Tourism Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Transportation Committee
	KRCC-alt
	Shawn Cucciardi
	Finance Committee
	E/D & Tourism Committee
	Lodging Tax, Chair
	Fred Chang
	Economic Development & Tourism Committee
	Land Use Committee
	Transportation Committee
	Jay Rosapepe
	Finance Committee,
	KRCC, PSRC-alt, PSRC Transpol-alt, KRCC Transpol-alt, KRCC Planpol-alt,
	John Clauson
	Finance Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Kitsap Public Health District-alt
	Cindy Lucarelli
	Festival of Chimes & Lights Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee, Chair
	Kitsap Economic Development Alliance
	Scott Diener
	Land Use Committee, Chair
	Transportation Committee
	Department Directors:
	Nicholas Bond, AICP
	Development Director
	Tony Lang
	Public Works Director
	Tim Drury
	Municipal Court Judge
	Noah Crocker, M.B.A.
	Finance Director
	Matt Brown
	Police Chief
	Brandy Wallace, MMC, CPRO
	City Clerk
	Meeting Location:
	Contact us:


	Description of item: Towmaster Trailer T-30T
	Procurement method: Cooperative Purchasing- Sourcewell
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1: 
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1_2: 
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1_3: 
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1_4: X
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1_5: 
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1_6: 
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1_7: 
	Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD Police AdminRow1_8: 
	Addition or ReplacementRow1:                   
	Addition or ReplacementRow2: 
	Addition to Fleet Please state business case for addition Replacement Vehicle  Equipment being replaced: The new skid steer requires a larger trailer for transporting it to project sites.  The existing trailer is insufficient and is not wide enough to fit the unit on the deck.  This trailer will also be large enough to transport a larger roller when we upgrade our existing roller and a variety of other large equipment that we do not have the means of transporting.  
	Fleet StandardizationRow1: 
	Fleet StandardizationRow2: 
	Requested Vehicle  Equipment DOES NOT follow Standardization  List items that are not fleet standard and reason for addition: 
	Text4: 
	CostRow1: $53,895.59
	CostRow2: $500.00
	Fleet standard cost Additional cost for consideration and business case TOTAL: licensing- $500
	Department Director: 
	Date: 
	Text2: $54,395.59
	Text3: 
	Text1:        X
	ERR Representative: 
	Date_2: 
	Button1: 


